




David, Young Air Force Sergeant: 
He Was One Of The Victims. 

"Ever since I got out of the service I haven•t been able to give a day-by-day 
account of what happened to me during those four years. The scary thing is that I 
still have a horrible fear of talking. I have a tendency to speed up my speech when 
rm being pressed on something: and I get very tense when anyone asks me about 
my service duties. 

"Something has happened to my mind. .. " 
• 
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This expensive gold pin, in which is set a rare white jade, diamonds, and emeralds, was worn 
on special occasions by a ·Presidential Model". Each of the stones as well as the symbol of 
the butterfly were used in programming the woman who wore it. The pin also served as a 
signal to handlers. It told them that the beauty who wore it had received the ·Monarch 
Programming• and would fall under the spell of anyone who possessed the codes, cues and 
triggers. Operation Mind Control was largely a male chauvinist's game. 



About llle Author 
W.H. Bowart was awarded the McMahon Scholarship in journalism to the 
University of Oklahoma. In 1965 he founded the New York Weekly The East 
Village Other. That same year he founded The Underground Press Svndicate 
which quickly grew to include 200 papers around the world. Since that time he 
has edited The Aspen Daily News, The Port Townsend /JQi/y News and Palm 
Springs Ufe. He has written numerous articles and several novels under a variety 
of noms de plume. He is on the Advisory Board of The Freedom of Thought 
Foundation and, at present is making a documentary based on this book. 
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Page numbering errata: 

Several pages had to be inserted and are marked with"a". For example if a page had to be inserted 
between this one and the next one it would be marked "4a". There is no page 571 so please don't 
look for it, or write us asking for it. 
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This book is dedicated to the survivors of. Operation Mind ControL 

Also, this book is dedicated to my best paL 
without whose support it could not have been accomplished. 
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This is a limited Researcher's Edition of 
Operation Mind Control. 

Information in this book 
differs from information 
previously made public. 
This book is an inquiry 
into the discrepencies. 
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"I know of no safe depository of the ultimate powers of society but the people 
themselves, and if we think them not enlightened enough to exercise their control 
with a wholesome discretion, the remedy is not to take it from them, but to 
inform their discretion by education." 

-- Thomas Jefferson 

"In the technotronic society the trend would seem to be towards the aggregation 
of the individual support of millions of uncoordinated dtizens, easily within the 
reach of magnetic and attractive personalities effectively exploiting the latest 
communication techniques to manipulate emotions and control reason." 

-- Zbigniew Brzezinski, National Security Advisor 

"I don't believe the Constitution of the United States gives you the right to commit 
a crime if you want to; therefore, the Constitution does not guarantee you the 
right to maintain inviolable the personality forced on you in the first place- if 
and when the personality manifests strongly antisocial behavior. TM new 
behavioral control techniques make even the hydrogen bomb look like a child's 
toy, and, of course, they can be used for good or evil ... " 

--- Dr. James V. McConnell, Professor of Psychology, University of Michigan 

"Only puny secrets need protection. Big discoveries are protected by public 
incredulity." 

-Marshall McLuhan and Barrington Nevitt 
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Note for the second edition 

A WARNING TO SURVIVORS! 
This book contains information that will trigger you. Give it to your 
deprogrammer, rather than try to read it yourself unless you have a thoroughly 
reintegrated personality. Some of this information is wrong and can be hannful to 
you. Inevitably it is impossible to weed out the triggers, since programming varies 
from person to person, from handler to handler. Thus, know that if you have ever 
been programmed you may be triggered by information in this book 

At the end of the book is an information sheet about the Freedom of Thought 
Foundation which, as of this writing, is an ad hoc committee of swvivors, 
researchers, therapists, deprogrammers, counselors, lawyers, doctors and civil 
rights activists. We hope that this will, in the short term, evolve into a reliable 
referral service so that more swvivors can be directed to qualified deprogrammers 
and that more therapists, doctors and counselors can learn the efficient 
teclmologies to help victims of classical trauma- based programming. In the long 
term we hope that it will also become an effective political organization to curb 
human experimentation and attacks on the human mind on both an individual 
and collective basis. 

In order to protect us all from cross-pollination or contamination, certain specific, 
but bivial information is deliberately false and has been planted as a sort of "tag". 
Thus if suvivors start corning up with the planted information we will know that 
there's a probability that they have been corrupted by this book. 

The author, editors or publisher take no responsibility for any triggering that may 
occur. 
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Author's Note 

Trus book is an exercise in citizens intelligence. The editorial "we" is used herein 
literally. This book is the result of a collaboration of many. The author and the 
majority of those who have contributed to it are private citizens working on their 
own in a synergistic effort, without major funding or corporate support, without 
government privilege or "need to know," other than that need cited by Jefferson -­
the need for infonned discretion in a democracy. Without the help of these many 
people who, like the author, were motivated by shock and outrage that citizens 
have been so victimized by their own government this book would not have been 
undertaken. 

Thanks first to the survivors of mind control who had the courage to come 
forward and tell their stories. Since this book first came out I have interviewed 
countless more mind control survivors. Alas, while adding much to the content 
of my files, few have shed new light on the processes involved. The network which 
produced this book will continue to look for the codes, cues and triggers by which 
to unlock the multi-personalities - appropriate states from the past which are 
moved forward to this inappropriate present - so that they can join in the life of 
the whole human being within whom they have been locked. 

A number of professional people gave valuable teclmical assistance and patient 
explanations. My thanks to Harry Arons, Robert Brauers, David Bruce, Dr. and 
Mrs. Sidney M. Cohen, Drs. Gary and Gwen Dean, Robert Dunn, Dr. Remo 
Dicenso, Betty Dumaine, Dr. Milton E. Erickson, Morris Ernst, Bernard 
Fensterwald, George Griffin, Col. Laird Guttersen, Dr. Corey Hammond, Averell 
Harriman, Dr. Paul Henshaw, Edward Hunter, Hon. Louis K. Lefkowitz, John 
MacDonald, Dr. Colin Ross, V.R. Sanchez, Alan W. Sheflin, Dr. Edgar Schein, 
David WISe, Mrs. E.D. Yeomans, and CoL Joseph H. Ziglinski. 
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I received a great deal of assistance from a number of researchers and writers 
around the world. Thanks to David Bareglass, Chip Berlet, Martin Cannon, Steve 
Bratcher, Nancy Bressler, Jeff Cohen, Loren Coleman, Richard Crowe, David 
Emory, Edward J. Epstein, William Grimstad, Paul Hoch, L. Ron Hubbard, Trevor 
Harvey, John Judge, Larry Lee, Charles Maierson. John Marks, Jim Martin, John 
McGuffin, David McQueen, Sandra Meiersdorff, Janet Michaud, Beverly Ogden, 
George O'Toole, Kenn Thomas, Wes Thomas, Richard Popkin, Jeff Quiros, Sir 
William Stevenson, Scoop Sweeny, Civia Tamarkin, Harold Weisberg, David 
Williams, Cheryl Welsh, Peter Watson, Charles Zeps and the many people who 
sent me clippings, documents and testimonies over the years. 

Mae Brussell kept in contact with me from the time this book was originally 
released until her untimely death. She illuminated my understanding on Project 
Paperclip, the cryptocracy's illegal importation of Nazis into the U.S. intelligence 
systems after WWII, and called my attention to the circumstances of the probable 
programming of the assassin of Jolm Lennon and the attempted assassins of 
Gerald Ford and Ronald Reagan. 

Other valuable assistance was given by the following institutions and 
organizations: The Rare Books and Special Collections Division of Princeton 
University Library, Brain Mind Bulletin, Zodiac News Service, Freedom News 
Service, Pacific News Service, The Fifth Estate, Network Against Psychiabic 
Assault, The Assassination Information Bureau, American Society of Clinical 
Hypnosis, Sanity Now, Society for Clinical and Experimental Hypnosis, Center for 
National Security Studies, Group for the Advancement of Psychiatry, World Wide 
Photos/ United Press, Library of Congress and the National Technical Information 
Service. 

Anthony Robbins and the staff of Robbins Research Institute trained me in 
Neuro-Iinguistics Programming and stuck with me through all sorts of 
adventures until I earned my certification, fmally assimilating what Milton 
Erickson had been trying to get me to understand in 1976. So-called NLP, was a 
big Eureka. I saw it as ( if applied for the highest purposes ) a great tool of 
liberation, discovery and human achievement. Even though NLP has been a 
valuable tool of the cryptocrats, there are always many more good guys than bad 
guys. 

My understanding of the intelligence community was molded by exchanges with a 
number of intelligence and military people. Most of them wish to remain 
nameless. 

Special overt thanks to Colonel L. Fletcher Prouty for his patient accounts and 
interpretations of the Cold War history which he witnessed from within the 
fledgling cryptocracy. Thanks also go to Michael Kradz and Alan Bell of Dektor 
Counter-intelligence and Security who trained me in the use of the Psychological 
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Stress Evaluator, and Carl F. Boode of Desert Security who made his equipment 
available to me to examine the stress patterns of those I interviewed.. 

Tom Miller gave me much of his time and expertise, as citizens 
counter-intelligence agent extraordinare. His interest in the subject never waned, 
and research for his own book '1'he Acisassination Please Almanac" (1977, 
Contemporary Books) uncovered leads for this one. 

Kudos to Johanna Moore Gruneck, Martha Sowerwine and my mother, for their 
patience and support. 

Between the first edition and this one, seventeen years have passed. My thanks go 
to all those who kept demanding that this book be brought back into print. It was 
their demand which drove the price of the original paperback to a remarkable 
$250 per fine copy and finally created the market demand for this Researchers 
Edition. 

I owe a special thanks to a number who insist on anonymity. Thank you all for 
providing the additional research for this expanded edition and, as always, to 
Richard Condon who gave me early encouragement and offered his valued 
commentary in the mid 70's, at the beginning of my quest for the truth. Last and 
foremost I am indebted to my Enid High School journalism teacher, Miss Ruth 
Scott, who started me on the path of citizens intelligence so long ago. 

Walter Bowart 

November 11, 1994 

Paradise, Arizona 
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Foreword 
by Richard Condon 

Author of The Manchurian Candidate 

The father of Grock the clown, having had his legs broken in eight places by his 
father for professional reasons broke Grock' s legs in eight places to be certain that 
the child would grow up walking grotesquely so as to ensure his eminence as a 
clown. The act brought much pain and indignity forever but, Crock's father 
reasoned, was there not a wholly justifiable element involved? Was not the 
clowning tradition immortally enhanced by those unnatural legs? 

As demonstrated inescapably by W.H. Bowart in this book, our Father who art in 
the American secret police has endowed hundreds of scientists at American 
universities to unravel methods for fracturing American minds. That this 
research in so many great halls of learning has exceeded a cost of untold secret 
millions of dollars (the only yardstick remaining by which we are willing to 
measure anything) indicates that this Grockian entertainment being produced by 
our secret police is a matter of ambitious policy rather than the happenstance of 
cloak-and-dagger adventure. 

In this book W.H. Bowart has proven each step of this official, tenninal, 
government anarchy, even though that appears to be a contradiction in terms. To 
alter and control human minds is the ultimate anarchy. What is offered by official 
apologists as a tribute to the deeds of daring-do by romantic spies are acts of 
hatred and sadism against all people in an insane and degraded determination to 
extirpate conscience from society. 

W.H. Bowart underwent a long and expensive process to assemble the hard facts 
which comprise this book. Each document attesting to secret police intent had to 
be ferreted out of government archives by badgering persistence until, page by 
page, the information was released to him by his right under the Freedom of 
Information Act. The essence of that law seems to be that one need only write 
away to a federal agency for information about the general areas in which the 
citizen is interested. Not so. W.H. Bowart needed to expend large sums of money 
to employ researchers in Washington and elsewhere in order to discover the 
precise name, number, and description of the contents of each document toward 
which he was groping through black streams of informational darlmess. Without 
this it would have been impossible to apply for the transfer of copies of these 
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documents to himself for this book. He had to comb the United States for people 
from many walks of life who knew, vaguely remembered, or suspected that they 
had been under the mind control of secret police and military agencies, then had 
to backtrack again with infonnation gleaned from them to labyrinthirie research 
among thousands of federal archives. 

Please keep fearfully in mind that the astonishing information published in this 
seminal work of investigative reporting, concerning avenues taken to decision and 
execution by our secret police to fracture or dissolve human minds, then to 
operate a Yo-Yo, for purposes of counter-intelligence military "efficiency," and the 
destruction of democratic institutions, was drawn directly from federal records 
and from official laboratory archives of the highest educational purpose - as well 
as from the reviving memories of those who had already undergone the 
dehumanizing process. 

The prostitution of the mind by our secret police preceded the murder of the 
mind. To attain the advanced techniques now available to "magnetic and 
attractive" political personalities, it was necessary to turn out the laboratories of 
science as a pimp turns out his heartless whores upon the winter streets; our 
hallowed educators, army and navy and air force commanders and personne~ the 
beloved medical profession, august and inspiring temples of the law, our 
esteemed statesmen, and all Americans living and dead. Each one of those groups 
is involved in this dismembering of the mind. 

Taxes and the collective conscience make the urination of the secret police upon 
the human mind possible. "Brainwashing" per se is no news to any of us. 
Controlled assassins are not known to us only through fiction. Advertising 
assaults on behalf of poisonous materials to induce us successfully to buy and 
consume are early on bastions of mind controL 

No one -- not anyone -- needs theologians to answer the question: "Where does 
the soul live?" We know the soul lives in the mind because the soul is the mind in 
all of its unfathomably intricate individual conditioning. It is the mind of intent, 
of hope, of purpose, of achievement by the spirit beyond achievement by physical 
action. 

When Grock' s father broke his son's legs in eight places there may have been 
alann, on the one hand, that a man could do such a calamitous thing to his son 
but, on the other, the same people responded to Grock's genius to which those 
hopelessly deformed legs had contributed, and roared with laughter. That was the 
normal reaction when we were the audience and crazy-legs Grock was the clown. 
But W.H. Bowart demonstrates to us in this book that we have become Grock. 
We are the spinning, hobbling, waddling clowns in the eyes of our vividly 
delineated secret police. 
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"Oh, no!" (Can you hear the outcry?) Oh, yes, writes W.H. Bowart in this fearful 
record you now hold in your hands. 

Apologists rush in, hired for all such occasions from everywhere, by the secret 
government crying out, "you are, as usual, like all of your exaggerating kind, 
making a mountain out of a molehill. While it may (or may not) be true that our 
secret police occasionally swing the sledgehammer on little minds, it is (or is not) 
being done as a patriotic act to protect our beloved people." They reel backward, 
hands clutching chests as the full realization seems to hit them. "My God! 
Bowart cannot believe that our government of the people, by the people, and for 
the people would use such loathsome forces against citizens. If such research was 
done (or was not done) then it would be for purely abstract research reasons- for 
the expansion of human knowledge." 

W.H. Bowart' s book is also a freezing vision of the mutations of the aspirations of 
science. Scientists, educators, and their leaders, The Great Men, Having stumbled 
upon the possibility of controlling the human mind, might well have withheld this 
knowledge from the secret police and brought it forward for all to share, would 
you not say? If the means are at hand actually to enter and control the mind -
not through the far-off smoke signals of psychiatry and psychoanalysis - can we 
conceive of what might be found in terms of medical triumphs, the conquest of 
pain and of group hatreds, and mental energy released by unraveling the Garden 
knots of mental perplexity to make one straight laser line that might then pierce 
the doubts and fears which beset each one of us? In terms of education 
light-years ahead of the educational means we presently employ, in basic and 
advanced of cultures, languages, and skills; in short, understanding each other 
across the face of the world, this development of Mind Control makes the 
invention of movable type seem like a primordial grunt from the shadows of a rain 
forest lost in time. 

What has been achieved by the secret police in relation to mind control is 
scrupulously set down in W.H. Bowart's extraordinary book. The question the 
book puts is this: do you wish this immeasurably important technique to remain 
as a weapon to be used against you and your children by what Bowart calls the 
Cryptocracy, or do you wish to use it as a universal key to unlock a thousand new 
chances that your children will not be murdered in future wars? 

In an epigraph to this book, Zbigniew Brzezinski measures the political 
probabilities of mind control use when he says, "exploiting the latest 
communications techniques to manipulate emotion and control reason." To day 
our secret police and our military establishment have demonstrated in Vietnam 
and elsewhere (examined by Bowart herein), the powers to create assassins out of 
our children. The expansion of these powers, which are able to turn young men 
and women into murderous criminals at will, goes on unchecked by the oft-called 
"investigative" press, by "moral" leaders at the bar, in the pulpits, in high 
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government, and on campuses. Yet the people they call the public have long 
suspected that it has become government policy to control minds. If there is 
general infonnation abroad on this subject, then consider that which must be at 
the disposal of the congressional investigating committees as they bugle their 
detennination to control the powers of darkness within our secret police. 

Zombie is a quaint, old-fashioned folklore word which, by its meaning, becomes 
obscene when our children's minds are being controlled by any one of dozens of 
federal secret police agencies. Have government agencies perfected methods 
sustained by the taxpayers to control the minds of the people who shot the 
Kennedy's, Martin Luther King, and Orlando Letelier, the fonner Chilean 
economist and diplomat Were the assassins programmed to forget they did it or 
were they programmed to do it? We may never know for they stand bewildered, 
idiotically grinning for the cameras. Have the technicians developed a model 
Giant, Economy-Size Government ksassin which can easily be turned out by the 
thousands? 

The murders of a few hundred humans by a few hundred other humans is 
commonplace enough but, for the flavor of horror and terror, of endless 
nightmare rampant upon a landscape of what was once American democracy, 
consider this expansion of the Brzezinski epigraph which cannot repeated often 
enough: "In the technetronic society the trend would seem to be toward the 
aggregation of the individual support of millions of uncoordinated citizens, easily 
within the reach of magnetic and attractive personalities, effectively exploiting 
the latest communications techniques to manipulate emotion and control 
reason." 

The threatening state of American political leadership over the last fifteen years 
may seem to murmur that the "magnetic and attractive personalities" might 
rather not resist the destruction of democratic institutions by "effectively 
exploiting" these shocking gains into the control of minds. It might even be wise 
to consider W.H. Bowart's real evidence herein, then do what we can to protect 
ourselves if that proud right, with the love of freedom, has not been atrophied by 
"the latest communications techniques." 

There is an alternative. We can all forever more be transfonned into the image of 
Crock the clown. 

Richard Condon 

Kilmoganny, Ireland 

31 May 1977 
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THE CRYPTORIAN CANDIDATE 

It may have been the biggest story since the atom bomb. The headline, however, 
was small and ignored the larger issue. "Drug Tests by CIA Held More Extensive 
Than Reported in '75," said the New York Times on July 16, 1977. What it should 
have said is "U.S. Develops Invisible Weapons to Enslave Mankind." 

The testing of drugs by the CIA was just a part of the United States government's 
top-secret mind-control project, a project which had spanned thirty-five years and 
had involved tens of thousands of individuals. It involved techniques of hypnosis, 
narco-hypnosis, electronic brain stimulation, behavioral effects of ultrasonic, 
microwave, and low-frequency sound, aversive and other behavior modification 
therapies. In fact, there was virtually no aspect of human behavioral control that 
was not explored in their search for the means to control the memory and will of 
both individuals and whole masses of people. 

The CIA (and the Pentagon) succeeded in developing a whole range of 
psycho-weapons to expand its already ominous psychological warfare arsenal. 
With these capabilities, it was now possible to wage a new kind of war -- a war 
which would take place invisibly, upon the battlefield of the human mind. 

"Literature always anticipates life," Oscar WJ.lde said. "'t does not copy it, but 
molds it to its purpose." By Wude's definition, then Richard Condon's The 
Manchurian Candidate would appear to be literature. 

Condon published his tour de force in 1958. It was the story of an American 
Anny sergeant who was captured by the enemy during the Korean conflict and, in 
an improbable nine days, was hypno-programmed to murder on cue. The 
sergeant returned to the United States and was post-hypnotically triggered to kill 
by the sight of the queen of diamonds in a deck of cards. The sergeant 
automatically killed several people, among them a candidate for President of the 
United Stated. After he killed, his memory of the event was forever sealed by 
amnesia. 

At the time The Manchurian Candidate was published few people in the world, 
Richard Condon included, lmew that total control of the mind was possible. 
Condon was writing fiction; he had merely read up on popular Pavlovian 



24 W.H. Bowart 

conditioning manuals and imagined the rest He had no way of knowing then 
that mind control had already been the subject of years of secret research within 
the clandestine agencies of the U.S. government The tricks of mind control he 
described were employed (right down to the queen of diamonds cue) by the 
programmers of real political assassins who developed foolproof techniques for the 
control of thought, memory, emotions, and behavior. 

The Manchurian Candidate brought the idea of "brainwashing" to public 
consciousness. Brainwashing is the use of isolation, deprivation, torture, and 
indoctrination to break the human will. But what the book actually described was 
something more than brainwashing. It was mind control: a total takeover of an 
individual's mind by someone else. The someone else in Condon's version was a 
mad Chinese psycho-scientist 

Always the satirist, Condon brought the Fu Manchu myth up to date. But, 
ironically, the techniques he described were first perfected and used not by the 
Chinese or the Communists, but by the United States. 

Condon's portrait of POWs during the Korean conflict went against the accepted 
scientific and medical opinion of the time, which held that a man could not be 
made to commit a criminal act against his own will or inner moral code by any 
known means. Although Condon's book was not completely on target about the 
details of GI mind contro~ he did accurately describe some of the motives, 
coercive methodology, and psychological results of real-life mind controL 

The psychological techniques described in The Manchurian Candidate had 
secretly become a reality a decade before Condon saw his story set in type. A 
decade later it appeared was as if Condon's fiction had been used as the blueprint 
for the creation of an anny of hypno-programmed "zombies". Some were 
assassins prepared to kill on cue. Others were infonners, made to remember 
minute details under hypnosis. Couriers carried illegal messages outside the 
chain of command, their secrets secured behind posthypnotic blocks. Knowledge 
of secret information was removed from the minds of those who no longer had 
the "need to know" -- they were given posthypnotic amnesia. 

The fact is, induced amnesia had been used at least since World War Two. In the 
Journal of Traumatic StresS we find the story of a World War two veteran who 
had been discharged from the service in 1947. According to Karen L. Cassiday and 
Judith A Lyonns, the veteran had been treated at a V .A hospital for Post 
Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) since the war and had enjoyed good health and 
a lasting relationship until he had his first cardio-vascular accident (CVA), known 
in layman's tenns as a stroke. Then he began to recall all the memories of his 
intelligence service in the Pacific theater during the Second World War. In 1988 

1Wm L Cu.iday and Judith A. Lyons. R«~~O oi1Numolic /tkmoria FolbDing Cnmol Vascular Acc:itlm, 
JOURNAL OF TRAUMATIC STRESS, VoL 5, No. 4, October, 1992, p. 627, Plenum Ptillisbing Corp., 233 Spring Street, NYC, 
10013. 
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he suffered two CVA's that resulted in right side weakness, speech difficulties, loss 
of motor control, and disorientation to situation, time, and place. These 
symptoms gradually resolved and he was able to resume psychotherapy in 1989. 
During therapy he began to recall combat memories and details of his service as 
an intelligence officer for which he had previously been amnestic. 

According to the journal he particularly recalled "being captured and tortured by 
administration of intravenous hallucinogens. He also recalled being bayoneted in 
the right side during hand-to-hand combat, thus explaining the scar previously 
noted. Newly recalled memories depicted the content of many of hiS nightmares 
and dissociative episodes ... He recalled his escape and military debriefing in which 
h£ underwent hypnotic procedures to help him forget his combat experiences. 
Although his recall of these procedures is sketchy, he remembers that these 
hypnotic sessions occurred almost daily for several weeks during which time he 
was also given medications. These procedures focused upon helping him develop 
an identity and personal history that excluded intelligence service and traumatic 
evens ... Additionally while hospitalized, (he) had a flashback in which he mistook 
IV (intravenous) apparatus for being bayoneted. An Asian physician observed him 
speaking an Asian dialect during this flashback. Collectively, these data led us to 
conclude that military events occurred as reported and cannot be dismissed as 
delusions or fabrications." 

The authors noted that in this man's case, "it appears that amnesia for traumatic 
memories was disinhibited. .. His case indicates that cognitive impainnent, such 
as that due to declining health and aging, may also impair previously successful 
defenses and lead to delayed PTSD {post traumatic stress disorder)." 

Those who led us to believe that the intelligence agencies were searching for a 
"Manchurian Candidate" have to go back and rewrite their false assumptions. The 
fact came well before the fiction. 

Most of the ordinary foot soldiers who fought in the dirty, televised Vietnam 
conflict were released to civilian life without debriefing. For them there was no 
"decompression" from the rage of war. They were released with all the reflexes of 
trained assassins intact. Those who had been conditioned in the black science of 
the war of torture, terror, and technology were debriefed with special attention. 
Their memories like those of the World War Two veteran mentioned in the 
Journal ofTraumatic Stress were completely erased before they were turned out 
of the military that they returned to civilian life with only the minimum, 
fragmented knowledge of who they were or what they had done. Their memories 
had been smudged or removed by drugs, hypnosis, behavior modification, 
conditioned reflex therapy, or some other evil wonder of mind controL 

During my 1978 tour promoting this book , a call came to the KPIX-TV Good 
Morning San Francisco Show while we were on the air. It was a retired Navy 
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Commander who spoke of losing his memory after being admitted to a Navy 
hospital after a lengthy tour of duty in which he and his "black pajama team" had 
assassinated "charismatic" local political leaders behind a "fixed border in 
Southeast Asia". In a private phone conversation later, the Commander told me 
that the "fixed border" was indeed that of China. "I got the flu. Almost everybody 
on the returning team got this heavy flu. We went to the hospital and came out 
with cardboard memories," he said. "It's taken me 13 years to remember what we 
had been doing. I'm not proud of it, and I'm afraid to talk." 

I had encountered my first case of mind control in the midst of the Watergate 
scandal. A young man I'd known since childhood had returned from a tour of 
duty in the U.S. Air Force, with amnesia, remembering nothing of his service, 
except having had a good time. He subsequently learned, through intensive 
private psychotherapy, that he'd been hypnotized and conditioned. His mind had 
been unmade, then remade: his mind had been controlled. 

I was completely fascinated by his story, but naturally, in 1973, I thought it was 
an isolated, single event Then, quite by accident, a few months later, I overheard 
another man in my hometown telling what was essentially the same story: how 
he figured he'd been hypnotized and had his memory erased at a "debriefing" 
prior to his separation from military service. 

After hearing the second story I began to wonder how many more men had their 
memories erased. I decided to run the following classified ad: "Researcher/writer 
interested in contacting anyone with knowledge of the use of hypnosis by the 
military, including ex-servicemen who have reason to believe they were 
hypnotized (or drugged) while in the service and subsequently exhibited signs of 
amnesia or hypennnesia (improved memory). All info held in strictest 
confidence •.. " 

I placed the ad in Soldier of Forhme (a magazine which reports on the activities 
of mercenaries), a number of small publications aimed at hypnotists, behaviorists, 
neurologists and other professionals, and popular magazines such as Rolling 
Stone. To my amazement, I received more than a hundred replies to the ad. 
Many stated that they had amnesia. 

Ignoring the obvious crank letters, I followed up on the others and discovered that 
too many were unable to say just what had caused their loss of memory. In some 
cases, it was obviously a result of the trauma of war -- what came to be called "the 
post- Vietnam syndrome." So I concentrated on those who had not seen combat 
but who either had high security clearances or were employed at the periphery of 
the intelligence services. 
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Letter and telephone exchanges narrowed the field down to eighteen persons who 
fit the pattern of the first two men who had reported their amnesia to me. All 
eighteen had security clearances - and could only recall isolated events from their 
GI experience. I narrowed the field still further to those who remembered enough 
to have at least some idea, however fragmentary and incomplete, of what had 
happened to them. 

Their stories were believable, but they shed little light on how amnesia had been 
induced and what behavior had been controlled. To answer those deeper 
questions I went to the libraries, and after two years of research I was able to find 
enough scientific reports and government documents to tell the whole story of 
what I call Operation Mind ControL 

Though the documented trail of mind control extends back many decades, it was 
not always called by that name. The church and the state have always engaged in 
psycho-theology and psycho-politics, the psychological manipulation of belief, 
opinion, and actions for political and/or religious ends. But the complete control 
of the human mind was only managed in the late 1940s by the U.S. government 
It had to have existed in a variety of sub-cultures throughout human history. 

My research concentrated on the period from 1938 to the late sixties, the period 
during which I found there was an effort made by the agencies of the U.S. 
government to develop sophisticated techniques of psycho-politics and mind 
control in the modern sense (I thought). 

The objective of Operation Mind Controf during this period has been to take 
human beings, both citizens of the United States and citizens of friendly and 
unfriendly nations and transform them into unthinking, subconsciously 
programmed "zombies," motivated without their knowledge and against their 
wills to perform in a variety of ways in which they would not otherwise willingly 
perform. I learn that this is accomplished through the use of a number of various 
techniques most of which amount to pain and trauma-based classical 
conditioning. 

Mind control is the most terrible imaginable crime because it is committed not 
against the body, but against the mind and the soul Dr. Joost A.M. Meerloo 
expresses the attitude of the majority of psychologists in calling it "mind rape," 
and warns that it poses a great "danger of total physical destruction. .. " 

Various meditation groups use the words •mind contror to describe 
meditation, contemplation, and self-hypnosis,- all these are usually harmless if 
not bene/ida! practices. These techniques might more properly be called •mind 
self-control, • for the individuals who use them seek control over their own minds 
and bodies to obtain desired effects. The mind control examined in this book is 
the control of one individual's mind by another, against the target's will and 
without their conscious knowledge. 
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Development of mind control was accomplished largely through the efforts of 
individual psychologists, psychiatrists, and chemists, working in isolated 
conditions under government contract Each researcher or research team was 
allowed to lmow only what he or she needed to lmow to accomplish his or her 
fragment of the research or testing. The contracts were let through a number of 
government and private agencies and foundations so that the researchers were, by 
and large, ignorant as to the intended use of their research. 

While the CIA was a major funder of the mind-control research, virtually every 
major government agency became in some way knowingly or unwittingly 
involved. While I began my research believing that a "cult of intelligence" was 
behind the mind-control program, I found that there is, in fact, no single 
originating force, but several The operation is too widespread and complex for it 
to be created by a "cull" If a cult there must be, then it is a cult within a cult, in 
an interlocking chain of invisible mini-govennnents with unwritten rules, 
unwritten plans, and unwritten loyalties. It is the plan of a secret bureaucracy -­
what I call a cryptocracy - which conspires against our laws and our freedoms. 

"Cryptocracy" is a compound of crypto, meaning "secret", and- cracy, meaning 
"rule, government, governing body." The cryptocracy, then, is the secret 
government whose identity and whereabouts have slowly and reluctantly been 
hinted at by the Congress through its investigations into Watergate, the CIA, and 
the rest of the intelligence community. 

(l'he word cryptocracy is conspicuously absent from all dictionaries, even to this 
day. I was told by one source within the cryptoaacy that this word alone was 
reason enough to keep this book off the market, for if, whenever the word 
democracy is used, the word cryptocracy is placed against it, a powerful 
propaganda effect takes place. As if one word alone could awaken the U.S. 
citizenry to the fact that their democracy was overthrown by the National Security 
Act of 1947.) 

While the CIA, near the top of the intelligence pyramid has been drawing most of 
the fire, the evidence of a cryptocracy clearly implicates the National Security 
Agency, the National Programs Office, the Defense Intelligence Agency and its 
subsidiaries in military intelligence, The Federal Bureau of Investigation as well as 
the Civil Service. The crypto-alliance has extended in an ever expanding network 
among private contractors and institutions and religious organizations. With the 
Central Intelligence in the vanguard, the cryptocracy is composed of persons 
operating within the office of Naval Intelligence, Anny Intelligence, Air Force 
Intelligence, Department of Justice, Department of Health, Education and 
Welfare, Bureau of Prisons, Bureau of Narcotics, Atomic Energy Commission 
(Department of Energy), Veteran's Administration, General Setvices 
Administration, National Science Foundation, and even major American 
corporations, especially certain airlines, oil companies, and aerospace contractors. 
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The cryptocracy invades the privacy of citizens and corporations. It meddles, 
often violently, in the internal politics of foreign nations, and has hired, trained, 
and equipped mind-controlled assassins for the murder of heads of state. The 
cryptocracy may have been involved in attempts to control U.S. elections. It 
controls key figures in the U.S. and world press. 

When CIA Director Robert M. Gates publicly promised "a greater openness and 
sense of public responsibility" at the intelligence agency in April of 1992, he was 
acting on the recommendations of a special task force that had studied ways to 
make the agency more visible, credible and responsive to the outside world. But 
when '1'ask Force Report on Greater CIA Openness" was submitted to Gates, it 
was stamped "Secret" CIA officials refused to disclose any of the report 

Mter receiving a public scolding at a House hearing, Gates approved the 
declassification of almost the entire report Significantly, the report touted the 
accomplishments of the agency's existing "media program:" 

PAO (the Public Affairs Office of the CIA) now has relationships with 
reporters from evezy major wire service, newspaper, news weekly 
and television network in the nation. This has helped us tum some 
'intelligence failure' stories into 'intelligence success' stories, and it 
has contributed to the accuracy of countless others. 

In many instances, we have persuaded reporters to postpone, 
change, hold or even scrap stories that could have adversely affected 
national security interests or jeopardized sources and methods.3 

The story within the story, I discovered, is an astonishing one of a psychological 
war waged by this U.S. cryptocracy against the American people. The scientific 
reports and histories place the story in time, and at the government's door. 
However, the literature of the cryptocracy ignores the very real human factor. 
There is no written record of the mental anguish, the torture to the soul that 
comes from loss of memory and the resulting identity crisis. That mental 
anguish is the story of mind control. 

The stories that follow are told by the failures of Operation Mind Control -­
failures because the victims remember something; for where mind control is 
successful there is no memory left 

(Due to editorial considerations, many of the stories I uncovered have been left on 
the editing room floor. Each individual in this book stands for and tells the story 
of many victims of mind control. In many cases the individuals I interviewed 
believed their lives or sanity would be in danger if their names were made public. 
Others wanted their names mentioned. I have, for a variety of reasons, chosen to 

Washi1¢n Post Notional Wll!dig, May 3, 1992. 



30 W.H. Bowart 

withhold real names and places whether requested or not Except in these details, 
the first-person stories in this book are completely true, and in this edition I have 
risked committing the literary crime of redundancy so that the researcher can get 
a more well-rounded sense of the varieties of the mind control experience as 
described by several individuals. A video documentary is now in progress which 
shows many heartbreaking moments of abreaction from victims of mind control 
which could not be included in this book. ) 

One of the characters in The Manchurian Candidate described his reClU'!'jng 
dream that resulted from the suppression of memory. "'t's not so much that I 
can't sleep. Ifs more that I'd rather not sleep. I'm walking around punchy 
because I'm scared. I keep having the same nightmare ... " The nightmare 
Condon's hero described was actually the memory of having killed on cue. On 
stage, before an audience of Communist mind controllers, he strangled one of his 
fellow soldiers with a scarf, and blew out another's brains with a high-powered 
pistol at point blank range. Several of the men I interviewed had dreams which 
could have been written by Condon. 

Tex was an army sergeant stationed in the Mediterranean area. He came back 
from service with amnesia. But in his dreams a vivid scene was replayed again 
and again: "'n the dream my buddy-- I know him real well, We've shared things 
together - my buddy is taken with his hands behind his back. I'm standing in 
rank in a line of other soldiers and we are like a firing-squad. I keep thinking I 
won't shoot my friend, I'll tum the rifle on the commander. But we don't have 
rifles. 

"My buddy is marched into an open area in front of us with his hands tied behind 
his back. He is blindfolded and some Ay-rab is talking to him or reading to him. 
Another Ay-rab comes up and hits him behind the knees with a rifle butt and he 
falls to a kneeling position. "Then, while he's on his knees, one of the Ay-rabs 
takes a big sword and cuts his head off. His neck squirts blood, but surprisingly 
little ... his head rolls on the ground. His face has a peaceful expression. His body 
twitches and squirms like a chicken. That's when I always ~e up ... " 

In their sleep, the memories of atrocities surface to vivid awareness among the 
victims of mind controL Night after night terrible images, suppressed by deeply 
conditioned responses, emerge as terrifying nightmares. Are they mythological? 
The stuff of dreams? Or are they recovered memories? Tex's dream is a mere 
fragment of many thousands of pages of such testimony. 
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ONLY ONE MIND FOR MY COUNTRY 

Through the gray waters of amnesia he drifted, coming back from blind coma. 
First the echoes, like electronically amplified voices speaking from a deep, deep 
welL. then, far off, the dim pink molecules of lighl.. 

David's body lay still in the military hospital bed. Only his eyes rolled beneath the 
lids. For several hours he lay that way, perfectly still-- just eyes fluttering. The 
fluttering became more intense. Then his eyes opened. 

"When I woke up," David said, "I couldn't remember anything. I couldn't 
remember how I'd gotten there or why I was in the hospital." 

He asked nurses and aides why he was there. They told him he'd have to ask his 
doctor. When David finally saw him, the doctor said, "You tried to commit 
suicide." 

That came as a great surprise to David. He didn't think he was the suicidal type. 
He asked the doctor how he'd tried to commit suicide. 

"You took an overdose of Sleep-eze," the doctor told him. 

David knew that Sleep-eze was a patent medicine, that it was related chemically to 
an antihistamine, and that it could produce drowsiness; but David also knew it 
was not nearly as dangerous as a prescription sleeping pill. Although he began to 
sense that something was fishy, he did not challenge the doctor, nor did he let on 
that he suspected the story to be untrue. For the next several days he simply lay 
in the hospital bed puzzling over the odd chain of events that had landed him 
there. 

I intetviewed David several times over a period of two years. Each interview 
produced additional information as David's memory returned in fragmented, 
isolated bursts. The following is taken from thousands of pages of transcript and 
has been edited so that the tedious process which uncovered David's memories is 
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absenL It is sli!!htly misleading only in that David did not remember his story in 
one continuous sequence. Nor did the other victims quoted in this book. 

David had joined the U.S. Air Force in 1969. During his high school years the 
draft had still been in effect, and after graduating on the honor roll, David decided 
to attend a small community college to get as much education as he could before 
his name was inevitably called by selective service. 

As his induction date approached David realized he could obtain a deferral from 
the draft because of his high scholastic standing, but he decided instead to take a 
break from education and fulfill his military obligation as profitably as he could. 
Although he questioned America's reasons for fighting, he did feel that military 
service was his duty. 

David had not been a part of the sixties "revolution." He had never smoked 
marijuana nor taken LSD, nor had he demonstrated against the war in Vietnam 
like so many of his friends. He was a studious, intelligent young man who was 
not inclined to rebellion. He was described by friends and family as one possessed 
of unusual common sense. In keeping with his cautious and practical nature he 
negotiated a "contract" for medical corps service with his local air force recruiter 
and enlisted for a four year tour of duty, thinking this would help him fulfill his 
ambition to become a doctor. 

After an uneventful in-processing, David was sent to Lackland Air Force Base for 
the usual six weeks basic training, and then on to a technical school for another 
six weeks of special training. But when the time came for his job assignment, to 
his great disappointment, he was assigned to the supply corps rather than the 
medical corps. 

He felt betrayed by the air force, and immediately after receiving his AFSC job 
assignment number, he retired to his barracks to rehearse a protest to his 
commanding officer. Moments later, a nonuniformed man entered the empty 
barracks and asked him to step outside and take a walk. David was puzzled but 
went along without commenL 

When the two had reached a quiet spot on the base, the man told David that he 
gu~sed he was disappointed about receiving the AFSC of a "box pusher" in a 
supply warehouse. David was surprised by the man's knowledge of his situation. 
Before he could reply, the man told David that the AFSC was just a cover, that he 
had actually been chosen to work in a sensitive area of intelligence. 

The assignment sounded glamorous to David, and lifted his sagging spirits. He 
immediately decided to go along with the change of plans and accept the special 
assignment without protesL The unidentified man told David to be patient, and 
to learn well the special techniques of computer programming he would be 
trained in while waiting for his security investigation to be completed. 
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Within a few weeks David was issued a top-secret crypto-security clearance and 
assigned to the air base at Minot, North Dakota. At Minot, he continued to feed 
supply numbers into a computer, developing his already excellent memory. He 
did his job well and soon he received a letter of commendation and was promoted 
to sergeant. 

But for all his accomplishments, he had begun to grow restless. Although he 
lmew his computer programming was just a cover for intelligence work, he was 
still not satisfied with air force life. 

"' was beginning to not like the extreme regimentation and, I suppose, inside 
myself I was beginning to build up a resentment about being there. 

"But after I woke up in the Hospital I was not resentfuL I was passive. I lay there 
thinking, trying to recall the last memories I had before I woke up in that bed. I 
didn't remember anything. It was like I'd been asleep for my entire life up to that 
point. Like I was Rip Van Wmkle. 

"The memories of what had happened I did recover over a period of time. But 
they were fuzzy at first. It seemed like somebody was violating me - raping my 
mind. 

"' was strapped down in the bed. I was yelling and screaming about something. 
I'm not the type of person that cusses that much. I hardly ever use foul language, 
but I know that I said some pretty foul things to those men who were with me. 
They were officers, and in the service you can't call a superior officer an obscene 
name without getting punished. Yet I don't think I was ever reprimanded. 

"One guy would ask me questions in an accusatory manner. Another guy would 
come over and say comforting things. The first guy would come back and accuse 
me again. Then the second guy would come and pat my arm and be friendly. I 
could remember their faces and their tone of voice, but I couldn't remember the 
content of what they were talking about" 

David thought about his situation; suppose he had tried to commit suicide. He 
probably would be kicked out of the service. At best he might be given a medical 
discharge, so he began to prepare himself for that eventuality. He thought he 
wouldn't mind getting out of the service under any circumstances, even with a 
psychological discharge. 

It didn't happen. Instead, David was visited by men in civilian clothes who told 
him that he'd been chosen for a special intelligence assignment They said the 
details of his assignment could not be revealed until the proper time, and then he 
would not be allowed to talk to anyone about it. They said he would be receiving 
his orders soon. 



34 W.H. Bowart 

"' had expected at least to have some stripes taken away for the suicide attempt," 
David said. "Instead, five different sets of orders came down. They were all typed, 
military orders, regular orders, but they had me going to five different places at 
once. It was impossible. 

"I took the orders to headquarters and told them that somebody had goofed. It 
was plain to see that somebody had screwed up. The way the military runs, it was 
not unusual. No one got excited about it The guys in the office said that they 
would straighten it out 

"Then I was told that I had two weeks leave coming. They ordered me home to 
wait while they got my orders straightened out" 

Happy to get a break after eighteen continuous months of military life without 
leave, David went home. 

"' was hoping they'd forget all about me, I was praying that this time the 
computer would completely lose me." 

The first evening at home something compelled David to break security. Alone 
with his mother, he told her that he knew he had not really attempted suicide. 

"' suppose that my first duty was to my family, and my second duty was to my 
country. After I'd discharged my moral duty to my mother, I was free to obey my 
government's wish and not remember anything about it That's probably how it 
worked, in spite of their programming." 

Mter David had been at home for the full two weeks, and was just beginning to 
think that maybe the computer had lost him after all, a telegram came. There 
were no written orders, no official seals, just a Western Union telegram ordering 
him to report to a base in northern California and from there to embark to the Far 
East on overseas duty. There were numbers on the face of the telegram, but at 
the time David gave them no special notice. These numbers may have been an 
assignment authorization, for seldom are servicemen sent overseas on the 
strength of a telegram alone. 

"When I got to the base in California, I showed them the telegram and the air 
police hustled me to another airplane and flew me to Guam." 

On the plane to Guam, David ran into an airman he'd known at Minot The 
airman's name was Max. Like David, Max had been attached to the supply wing at 
Minot, but he had been in a different type of supply operation. 

In all the time they were together on Guam, David never learned the details of 
Max's assignment Both of them were supposed to be supply men, but David 
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thought Max had some pretty unusual qualifications for a supply man: for 
instance, he held a flfth- degree black belt in karate. 

"Max and I had checked into the barracks when we got there, but after 
preliminaries we were put on a bus and taken to an isolated place eight miles 
outside the base. There were six L-shaped barracks set up inside a high electrified 
fence with barbed wire at the top. Inside the compound there was a movie 
theater, a store, a barbershop, a chow hall, and a recreation center. There were 
several hundred guys living in that compound. 

"We could leave anytime we wanted. All we had to do was show the proper 
credentials to the air police at the gate. The compound seemed to be regular air 
force. The place was called Marbo, and as far as I could tell, there were guys there 
who had all sorts of different functions in the air force, but nobody really 
discussed their jobs. 

"Several of the guys at Marbo had been in the supply wing in North Dakota. But 
at Marbo they were working in other areas .•. In other words, guys who'd been in 
the supply wing in North Dakota were in the civil engineers or the air police. One 
air policeman on Guam, I remember, had been shoving around boxes just like 
other supply men when he was at Minot Suddenly now he was an air policeman. 
I couldn't figure it out, and I wasn't about to ask questions. 

"'guess we all assumed that we were all on special assignment, and I'm pretty 
sure that if I'd asked any one about it, they would have avoided an answer. I 
certainly would have, if somebody had asked me." 

David made rank fast in the air force. He was a good airman, a good supply man. 
Yet anybody he talked to about supply duties didn't know what he was t:.alking 
about. His duties weren't like the others. 

"My air force file shows that the first three digits of my AFSC are 647. A 647 is 
some kind of a box pusher. Yet, I never pushed a box all the time I was in the air 
force." 

Mter their tour of duty, Max and David returned home together on the same 
plane. At the airport Max was called over the intercom and went off to answer the 
page. Two air police returned for his luggage and David did not see Max until 
after he was separated from the service for some months. Then it was a strange 
meeting. 

David was walking down the streets of Disneyland and his eye fell on Max walking 
toward him in the crowd. David was delighted to see his old buddy again, but Max 
was strangely distant. "He didn't seem very interested in our reunion." David 
said, "He shook hands with me, and I began to talk, but he seemed kind of 
passive. I wanted to sit down and tell all the things that had happened to me 



36 W.H. Bowart 

since we last saw each other, but Max didn't want to talk. He cut me short, said 
good-bye and left. 

"That's something that's always puzzled me. How can a guy who was your 
constant companion for so many months, a guy who has fought for you and 
gotten to lmow you inside and out, not want to talk to you? How could he have 
just brushed me off like that? 

"When I first got out of the service, all I could remember about my four years was 
that r d had a lot of fun. I mean, all the pictures I have, and all the recollections I 
had, were of Max and Pat and I having fun, skin diving, laying on the beach, 
collecting shells, walking in the jungle. It never dawned on me until later that I 
must have done something while I was in the service." 

Pat was a young woman from the Midwest who was assigned to serve as David's 
secretary. Almost instantly, when they met on Guam, they fell in love. 

"Pat was something special. She was everything I would have ever dreamed of in 
a woman. I suppose she felt that I was everything that she wanted in a man. It 
didn't take long for us to go to bed after we met, and from then on, throughout 
my tour of duty Max, Pat, and I were inseparable." 

David was not talking about a menage a trois. Max was not attracted to Pat nor 
she to him. They all held each other to be good friends, but David and Pat's 
feelings for each other were the strongest 

David now thinks it odd that the three of them got along so perfectly from the 
first moment they met Max was David's kind of man, and Pat was David's kind of 
woman. In the years that have passed since he got out of the air force, David has 
come to believe that Max and Pat and he were matched up by a computer. 'We 
hit it off from the start. We had the same interests, we were nervous about the 
same things, and we would laugh at the same kind of jokes. We were three 
individuals who were very dose and where one lacked a quality another had 
something that filled that lack. 

"The air force takes your psychological tests - your cumes - the cumulative 
progress reports which have been kept on just about every individual in the 
United States from the first grade through high school. These records have your 
IQ, your aptitude tests, and all the things they accumulate on you through your 
school years ... they give them a complete examination to determine your 
psychological profile and everything about your likes and dislikes. They feed 
selected information, any information they are looking to match up, into a 
computer and run yours with other people's until they have a psychological 
match. 
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"In spy books I've read, undercover agents sent to foreign countries are usually 
teamed with a spy of the opposite sex. Even if two people are both married and 
have left families at home, the directors of intelligence usually send along 
someone who can take care of the natural human sexual needs of the other 
without risking a breach of security. That way, no horny agent is going to have 
to associate with a prostitute or someone who might tum out to be a double 
agent or counterspy. 

"I'd talk with the other guys in the seJVice and they'd talk about getting laid in 
Hong Kong or Japan or Korea. I didn't have to talk about anything. I didn't have 
to brag, I'd just smile at them, secure in my love for Pat" 

David said that there were several other women in the barracks who, like Pat, were 
secretaries but had security clearance. And, as was the case with Pat, many of 
them also had close relationships with the men to whom they had been assigned. 

Two months before their tour of duty was to expire David and Max were sent 
home. Pat stayed behind on Guam. But David and Pat arranged to meet onee 
they were both out of the service. They exchanged home addresses, but somehow 
David lost hers and he is strangely unable to remember her last name or even the 
town from which she'd come. David never saw Pat again. 

"Looking back on it, it looks like it was awfully convenient Pat was a liberated 
woman, she knew exactly who she was. And that's just the kind of woman I like 
to have around. She fulfilled every need that I ever had, to such a degree that it's 
a problem now. I can't meet a girl that's as good as she was. When you've been 
in paradise, it's hard to find paradise again. You always want to go back. 

"I think of her all the time, but I just can't remember her last name. It's a total 
blank. I just can't remember." 

During the entire thirteen-hour flight home David had to debrief himself into a 
tape recorder while sitting between two air policemen. He doesn't remember 
what he talked about No one was "questioning" him; he just talked. 

Upon his return, he was assigned to a base in California. hnmediately upon 
reporting for duty, he found that he no longer had a security clearance. His job 
was to answer telephones on the base and to listen to complaints. He'd take calls 
from the wives of air force personnel and relay their complaints to the proper 
channels. That's all he did during his entire last year of service. 

"When it came time to get processed out, I wanted to get the medals I earned 
when I was stationed in Guam. They were actually theater ribbons. I had so 
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many ribbons when I left Guam that the officer I reported to told me not to wear 
them because I would attract attention to myself. 

"During the out-processing they brought out my file. They do that regularly every 
year anyway. They show you your records and have you go over them and make 
sure that they're correct. Then you sign a paper that states the records have been 
approved by you. The last time I was shown my records, they'd been changed. 
Instead of all the typed, dog-eared reports that were in my file before, there was 
this clean computer print -out 

"' asked the officer in charge what had happened to the notices of my being 
awarded those theater ribbons. He told me that since I had such a high security 
clearance some of the things that were in my files made it necessary to expunge a 
lot of the information from the record. He said that there was a top-secret file on 
me which was available to people who had the right clearances. The file he had 
me approve was the one which would be shown to anyone who did not have the 
highest clearances. He said that because this was more or less a public record, it 
could not have anything on it of a sensitive nature. It was very misleading, that 
report. It looked like I had been a supply man, a box pusher, and I'd done nothing 
else, except tty to attempt suicide. The phony hospital story was in the report -
so deniability was built in. 

"Then I went through the normal out-processing and went home. All I can say is 
that everybody, my folks, my friends, everyone who'd known me before, noticed 
how changed I was. I was fearful and under tight controL" 

David decided that he would first reorient himself to the civilian pace of life and 
then look for a job. But when he began to look for employment, he suddenly 
realized that he had some deep psychological problems. 

At his first job intetview, he was routinely asked to fill out the company's job 
application fonn. He sat down at a desk and started writing. He wrote his name 
and noticed that his hands were sweating. As he began to enter his address his 
heart began pounding so loudly it was audible. He became short of breath and 
felt like the walls were closing in. He fought to remain calm, but within a few 
moments he snatched up the fonn and bolted out the door. 

That evening he discussed the strange physical effects that had come over him 
with his parents. They assured him he was probably just very anxious about 
getting the job. 

The next day he went on another interview. Again he was asked to fill out a job 
application. This time he got further in filling out the fonn: he put down his 
name ... address ... date of birth. .. Social Security number ... health infonnation ... 
but when he came to the place in the fonn which required work infonnation 
about the past four years, the pounding in his ears, the shortness of breath and 
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the terrifying feeling of being confmed in a small space came over him again, and 
he left the building with the form wadded up in his hand. 

Over the next few months David applied for many jobs. The results were always 
the same. He could not overcome the terror that gripped him whenever anyone 
asked him for information about how he had spent the last four years. 

David's parents suggested that he try to get a job working with computers and 
take advantage of the training that the air force had given him. The mere 
mention of computers made him fly into a rage. "' still couldn't face whatever it 
was that was blocking me. To this day, I can't stand the thought of a computer. 
I'd like to smash them all up. I realize, of course, that is irrational." 

David remained hopeful that whatever was causing his anxiety would pass with 
time. Meanwhile, he decided to go back to college. He had no trouble getting 
into a major university since his high school and community college grades were 
high, and no one asked him for details of his service years. But during his first 
semester he encountered the same blocks that had kept him from getting a job. 

"'n my psychology course you had to get up in front of a circle of people and talk. 
You had to bare your soul. I just couldn't do it. I couldn't stand up and be calm 
and let people question me. They were all harmless questions, but I'd get the 
pounding h~ the sweaty pahns, the shortness of breath and the feeling of 
claustrophobia again. I'd just clam up and leave the room." 

It was then that David understood that he could no longer face the problem by 
himself. He sought out a psychiatrist who'd been recommended by a friend. 

"The first psychiatrist I went to was male. He had used hypnotherapy with me, 
and he found me to be a very easy subject. I'd go into a trance at the drop of a 
hat. But whenever he tried to regress me-- saying, 'I want you to go back' -- I'd 
just bring myself out of the trance, even if it was a deep trance. My heart would 
be pounding, my pahns would be sweating, and I'd feel the same claustrophobia 
I'd felt whenever I'd confronted those application forms. n 

David found that he was much more relaxed with his second psychiatrist, a 
woman named Alice. Alice was also more successful with hypnotherapy. David 
would go into a trance quickly and deeply, yet whenever Alice tried to regress him 
to his air force period, he would bring himself out of the trance as he had done 
previously. But she found that by regressing David to his childhood and 
approaching the air force period from earlier years, remembering was less difficult 
for him. 

"At first she tried to have me relax. She talked in a very soothing voice, telling me 
to close my eyes. I felt like I was surrendering to her. It was easy to get me into a 
light trance. I laid down my defenses and was going deeper and deeper, but as 
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soon as she said, 'Now we're going to go back,' I sat straight up and was wide 
awake. 

"Alice couldn't get over how fast I went under. One time, she said, she was just 
talking to me and her voice put me completely under when she wasn't even 
b'ying. I was highly suggestible. 

"But whenever she'd say, 'Let's go back,' all the muscles in my neck would strain, 
and I would grip the anns of the chair until my knuckles turned white. Once I 
was holding a piece of paper in my hand, and when I came out of hypnosis, the 
paper was completely soaked with sweat Only a minute after she'd said, 'We're 
going to go back/ I was wide awake. 

"Alice never did succeed completely with hypnosis, but something must have 
been released because of her attempts. As soon as we were able to go back to the 
usual talking teclmique of psychotherapy, I started talking about my childhood. 
I'd never thought that much about it, I guess, but I couldn't remember much of 
my childhood. For instance, my grandfather had died when I was fourteen and 
he had lived with us. Everyone says he and I were very close, But I had no mental 
picture of him at all. That's when Alice started trying to get me to remember 
my childhood. I don't know if I remembered my childhood before I went into the 
service or not It seems like I did, because it wasn't a problem, but to this day, 
still, I can't remember much, and everything before the age of ten is completely 
blank. 

"Alice and I kept working. At first, the memories we recovered were all painful 
memories. Alice thought that this was most unusual. Usually people remember 
the pleasurable things first Then she tried to get me to remember only painful 
experiences. And once I'd remembered a lot she started trying to get me to 
remember the pleasurable ones." 

David and Alice continued to work with standard psychiatric techniques and with 
hypnosis. Finally, after sixteen months of three sessions a week, Alice asked David 
to make a choice. 

"We probably can penetrate the blocks around your air force years and find out 
how they were planted and why, but it may take a long time. On the other hand, 
we can work on every other area and get you to function normally without anxiety 
reactions whenever anyone asks you about those years," Alice said. "Now you 
have to decide if you just want to function normally, or if you want to unravel the 
whole mystery and find out who did it, why it was done, and what they have 
hidden from your own mind." 

Since the therapy had nearly depleted his family's savings, David knew what the 
answer must be. He told Alice he would be content to just function normally. 
After two more months of treatment, Alice and David had their last session. 
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11After two hundred and six therapy sessions, Alice and I had one eight-hour 
session which more or less recapped all the information we had collected. She 
told me that when I firSt came in I'd talked in a monotone. I was very, very, 
controlled, I showed no emotions and had no inflection in my speech. I'd talked 
to her for the first three months that way. She said there was a wall that she 
couldn't break down ... Alice recommended that I continue working on my own by 
going to group therapy. 

"I went to a couple of sessions, but when I got in front of a group I became fearful 
again. It was more than just stage fright, it was a horrible feeling. I still have it 
when I get up in front of a group to be asked questions. 

"Alice did not figure out what this was about. I am now beginning to, but 
figuring something out is one thing, and actually overcoming it is another." 

Alice's expert guidance and her deft use of hypnotherapy were helpful. While he 
did not recover his memory at once, in time David began to remember isolated 
events. He is now able to reconstruct a picture of at least some of the things he 
did while in hypno-service to his country. 

"One day I had a vivid dream. Then it was like, little by little, memory cells 
exploding in my brain. I began to remember certain incidents. At first I didn't 
know if these were real memories or just dreams. Today, I still don't know if they 
are accurate or not, but they are so real in all their details that I believe they are 
the truth. Naturally when you've had amnesia you're not really going to trust 
your memories at first, but if the memories settle in - if you can recall more and 
more detail about an event -- you know that you are recalling a true event. 

"The most vivid memory I have is about Vietnam. I was standing at a long table 
on a beach. There were North Vietnamese soldiers sitt:ing on one side and 
American officers sitting on the other. Everyone was in uniform. Our men were 
from the air force, navy, and marines. The marines had sideanns , and no one 
else had a weapon. 

"What honified me was that out in the harbor, off shore at some distance from 
the beach, was one of our battleships, and another battleship or gunboat. I guess 
that it was Vietnamese or Russian, but I'm not expert at naval craft identification. 
All I know is I was tenified because the big guns on the ships were trained, not on 
each other, but on us ... I guess they were prepared to blow us all up should 
anything go wrong on the beach, or should there be a double cross. 

'We had our interpreters, who were air force men. They did the translating and 
our officers waited for the translations. The discussion was very heated, but for 
some reason I remember vividly, nothing was being written down. That may 
have been the reason that I was standing there at one end of the table. I 
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remember that they had been trying somewhere along the line, to get me to have 
total recall. I can't remember the details, or the progression of events. 

"I know that I had memory training. At Marbo, for some reason, I'd get up three 
hours earlier than anyone else and report to somewhere I can't remember and 
then go to work at eight-thirty. I remember riding the bus from Marbo to the 
base on Guam, and I was the only one on the bus. But I can't remember where I 
went before I reported for regular duty. 

"I suspect that the computer work was part of the memory training, but I can't 
say that's exactly what it was. There must have been more to it I just don't 
remember the details. But I have the impression that I was used as a human tape 
recorder. 

"I do know one thing about that beach scene. When I came back from overseas, 
only three days after I came back it was announced that the North Vietnamese 
were going to give our prisoners of war back in an exchange. The meeting on the 
beach might have been an early parley about ending the war and exchanging 
prisoners. At least that's what strikes me as the best answer to the question of 
what that meeting was about 

"I might have been a witness. I really don't understand why - or why the 
gunboats were pointing at us. I can't remember the date, or anything that places 
that memory in time. 

"The thing that really bOthers me about this whole thing is that I can sit here and 
talk to you, but I still can't sit down and say, 'Okay, I joined the service on such 
and such a day and this is what happened to me during a four-year period in 
chronologir ' -a.; .. ' Ever since I got out of the service I haven't been able to give 
a day-by-r The ~e:rt ~roup ' .. _ ........ Anrinf:1 those four years. 
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psychiatric help, which I paid for myself, made the experiment, if it was one, a 
failure to me. 

"I never thought about laying down my life, but maybe I laid down a lot more 
than my life in service to my country. My soul?" 

[Sixteen years later David is still sleeping only two hours a night He is still having 
nighbnares, hearing voices and seeing shadows. Otherwise he functions normally. 
Yet, many of his symptoms are identical with the symptoms of those psychiatrists 
call people with Dissociative Identity Disorder. 

I hadn't talked to David in, what, ten years? And now that I'd learned so much 
more about the survivors of Operation Mind Contro~ I thought I'd check in to see 
how he was doing. I found him fascinated with tattoos. 

"Every time I see a tattoo anywhere, on anyone, I'm drawn to it," David said. "''ve 
got to look at it I want to fmd out if it's a butterfly, a rose or a. .. " and in 1994 we 
said the word together " ..• bluebird." 
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An early U. S. Army test of hypnosis circa 1940. The enlisted man is being 
guided in a 1est" of his trance state. From the physiology of the enlisted man, it 
would appear that a deeply dissociated state has been achieved. Some experts 
who have viewed this photo suggest the subject is under the influence of 
"narco-hypnosis" which was the focus of a lot of the experimentation in the early 
mind control experiments. 
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THE MIND LAUNDRY MYTH 

David's own assessment of his mental confusion after his air force experience 
was that he had not been "brainwashed." By the time David had his mind 
controlled, "brainwashing" had become a catchall phrase, but what David had 
suffered was a much more subtle and hideous form of tyranny. 

George E. Smith was a POW during the early days of the Vietnam War. Unlike 
David, George did not have a good education. It can even be said that he was a 
little naive, and therefore a good candidate for brainwashing of both the American 
and the NLF (Viet Cong) varieties. He was one of the first of the Green Berets 
captured in the Vietnam conflict in 1963. 

It was the practice of the U.S. Anny in those days to indoctrinate its men with 
poorly constructed lies, which, it was hoped, motivated them to fight a War in 
which the U.S. had only dubious legal business and little moral argument. The 
"credibility gap" existed not only within the confines of the U.S. borders, but also 
in the far-flung fields of battle, all the way to Southeast Asia. 

If brainwashing is making a person believe in lies, then our troops were already 
brainwashed by their own government. It was a simple job for the Viet Cong to 
gain the POWs' cooperation by telling them the truth-- truth which was easily 
documented. 

Smith described the attitude which was instilled in the American soldiers by their 
military indoctrination: "We were arrogant... the army is a separate society; it has 
its own hierarchy, and I could rise to a stratum in the army that I couldn't attain 
in the outside world. They'd driven arrogance into us in the Airborne, which is a 
high level in the army, but Special Forces was the highest level you could reach, 
the elite of the elite. Elitism was the philosophy they taught at Bragg: 'Y au are 
professors of warfare, you shouldn't fight unless attacked. It costs thousands of 
dollars to train one of you and you're too valuable to send into battle.' 
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"I believed il I believed every thing the anny said. I never questioned anything 
they told me until I got to Vietnam, and then things didn't quite fit anymore." 

Smith and three other men were captured in a midnight raid which followed a 
heavy mortar bombardment of their location. The Viet Cong took them deep into 
the jungles. When they reached the VC compound they were forced to build their 
own prison out of bamboo. Then, after the primitive compound was completed 
and the POWs had settled in, the interrogations began. 

These were nothing like Smith had been led to expecl They were "friendly chats" 
with an interpreter Smith called the "Man with Glasses." Every day he would tell 
his prisoners about the history of Vietnam and the U.S. role in that country. "It 
was right out of the movies," Smith said. "The prisoner was confronted by his 
interrogators, who were sitting on a higher level and making him look up to 
them. 

"Look at you," Man with Glasses began. "You are pitiful." It was a typical 
brainwashing tactic, designed to make the prisoner think poorly of himself, to 
undennine his self-image. Sergeant Smith, like many others, already had a poor 
self-image long before he was captured, even before he enlisted in the anny. That 
image wasn't enhanced any by finding that the authorities to whom he had been 
so obedient had misinfonned him. 

"We had lmown interrogation was inevitable and had feared it for so long, but it 
didn't go the way it was supposed to," Smith said. "The guards were off 
somewhere out of sighl No one shone lights in our eyes. In fact, I sat in the 
shade while prevaricator (one of the interrogators) served me tea and candy and 
cigarettes. 

"Man with Glasses did most of the talking, though he encouraged me to say 
anything I wanted to. He insisted on giving me their side of the story -- why they 
were there in the jungle and why the NLF had gotten together and was fighting 
the U.S. and the Saigon regime. 'We are fighting for Vietnam. We do not try to 
take over your country. This is not in our plans. We are worried about our 
country. We love it very much. We are proud people, and we want to keep our 
country.' Didn't I lmow I was wrong to be part of the United States effort in 
Vietnam? And if I did, would I write a statement saying so? He talked to me for 
about an hour, and at the end of the session he gave me a pack of the Cambodian 
cigarettes. 'For your enjoyment Take them with you. When you are resting and 
smoking, I would like you to think deeply of what we have discussed.' 

"If sitting in the shade drinking tea while I listened to this old guy talk was 
brainwashing, then it didn't fit any description I had ever heard. I recalled the 
stories I'd heard about Korea - the scene where they hypnotize you, or drop 
water on your head, or put you in complete stillness -- something that will drive 
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you out of your mind. Then once they've taken everything from your mind they 
start over again. When somebody says 'brainwashing,' this is what I consider 
they're talking about -- the classic Korean example. Or the stories that came out 
of there anyway."4 

The word "brainwashing" summoned a terrifying image, but like so many other 
words it became corrupt in usage. It was applied to describe situations in which 
mere propaganda or influence were used. Indeed, the word may have been 
corrupt from the very beginning when it was coined by a CIA propaganda 
specialist, Edward Hunter. In his book Brainwashing in Red China he claimed 
that "Brainwashing, with the even more sinister brain changing in reverse, is the 
terrifying new Communist strategy to conquer the free world by destroying its 

· d ftS mm . 

In the words of the noted Yale psychiatry professor Robert J. Lifton, brainwashing 
was popularly held to be an "all-powerful, irresistible, unfathomable, and magical 
method of achieving total control over the human mind. 196 It was in fact none of 
these things. Techniques which seemed to change the beliefs of American POWs 
and others behind the Iron Curtain employed no hypnosis, no drugs, no new 
methods for the control of the mind and certainly nothing magicaL 

Hunter revised Brainwashing in Red China and reissued it in 1971. In the 
introduction of the updated edition he continued his attack on the Communists, 
much as he did in his psychological-warfare journal Tactics. 

"Change the word China to Cuba, and this book is a description of communist 
warfare against the mind- brainwashing- in Cuba, as well as in China. This is 
the world pattern the Communists employ; what might, in military parlance, be 
called mind attack. It is the new dimension in warfare, added to artillery attack, 
naval attack, rear and frontal attack, air attack. Brainwashing's dual processes of 
softening up and indoctrination have been added to the arsenal of warfare, girding 
the Trojan Horse in twentieth century accoutrements." Though Hunter may have 
been correct about the Communist use of coercive psychological techniques on 
its own populations, he never once hinted that the U.S. government might just be 
establishing practices employing similar techniques of its own. 

In 1958, in his testimony before the House Committee on Un- American Activities 
(HUAC) he continued to present brainwashing as a communist weapon: "Since 
man began, he has tried to influence other men or women to his way of thinking. 
There have always been these forms of pressure to change attitudes. We 
discovered in the past thirty years, a technique to influence, by clinical, hospital 
procedures, the thinking processes of human beings ... Brainwashing is fanned 
out of a set of different elements ... hunger, fatigue, tenseness, threats, violence, 

etorge E. Smith. P.O.W. (Berbley, IWnJWts Pre:ss.l971) 
Edward HWlttr, ~in R«l elmo, 3rd ed. (New York. Vanguard, 1971) 
Robcrl J~y Lifton. ThougN Rmrm tmd 1M Ps,cllolow o!Tolillism <New York. Norton. 1961) 



48 W.H. Bowar/ 

and in more intense cases where the Reds have specialists available on their 
brainwashing panels, drugs and hypnotism. No one of these elements alone can 
be regarded as brainwashing, any more than an apple can be called apple pie. 
Other ingredients have to be added, and a cooking process gone through. So it is 
in brainwashing with indoctrination or atrocities, or any other single ingredient. 

Given the anti-Communist climate of the Cold War years, Hunter,s zeal did not 
seem excessive, even though few of his conclusions were supported by the 
eyewitness accounts given by the repatriated POWs. According to them, no drugs 
or hypnosis were used overseas; they told only of persuasion techniques. 

Hunters Brainwashing in Red China was widely quoted. Through front page 
news stories, the American public became aware, for the first time, that 
govenunents (though only Communist ones were mentioned) could control 
people,s thoughts and motivate them against their will and without their 
knowledge. 

Two years later, in May of 1960, Francis Gary Powers was shot down over the 
Soviet Union and cries of brainwashing again made U.S. headlines. At his public 
trial in Moscow, Powers apologized to the Russian people for doing them wrong. 
Even though the CIA had told him that if caught, he could admit everything, the 
voices of the "soldiers" within the U.S. were quick to brand him a traitor, and 
those who were inclined to be more sympathetic said he had simply been 
"brainwashed." 

One psychiatrist, Wtlliam Jennings Bryan, who had been the head of an air force 
medical survival training program which employed hypnosis to prepare pilots for 
resistance to brainwashing, went so far as to coin a tenn for the subtle new 
teclmique which he thought the Soviets had developed since the Korean conflict 
and had used on Powers. The U-2 pilot, Bryan said, had been "Powerized." 

Bryan said that Powers, apologetic manner during the Moscow trial, his 
submissive, ahnost crippled words of testimony, his trancelike acceptance, all 
showed an amazing personality change since his capture. 

"The pilot's apparent lack of real emotion during the Moscow trial was the most 
startling evidence that the Russian brainwashing through hypnosis has destroyed 
the nonnal, aggressive confidence and the cockiness characteristic of the air force 
fliers ... The big tip-off came," Dr. Bryan said, "when Powers apologized for his 
American assignment, testified he knew he was wrong and said he felt no ill will 
toward his country's Cold War enemy. 

"It is no longer a secret that Russia uses hypnosis as a powerful instrument to 
destroy the resistance of individuals she wishes to conquer," he said. 
"Brainwashing hypnosis as apparently used on Powers is vastly different from the 
permissive type of medical hypnosis •.. and the self-hypnosis used by air force fliers 
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in caring for themselves after a crash ... Powers exhibited no telltale marks of 
physical abuse or torture during the Moscow trial, and indeed, he may have even 
thought himself that he was being treated rather well, but his manner and 
personality were obviously so unlike the typical American pilot that only a brand 
new type of other powerful technique could have changed his personality in so 
short a time. "7 

Francis Gary Powers was returned to the U.S. in 1962 in a tiade for Russian spy 
Rudolf Abel He wrote in his book Operation Overflight (which was withheld from 
publication by the CIA until1970) that the tactic he decided upon when captured 
was in accordance with his CIA instructions. He said, "When questioned, I would 
tell the truth." 

Powers insisted that he did not tell the Russians anything which he thought they 
did not already know. In fact he often agreed to things they suggested simply to 
mislead them. 

As for sophisticated, "Powerizing" techniques, Powers denied their existence. He 
even went so far as to suggest that the Russians were actually highly overrated in 
their intelligence-gathering methods. 

"From what I had been taught about brainwashing, I had anticipated certain 
things: I would be lectured about communism, given only propaganda to read. 
Food would be doled out on a reward-punishment basis; if I cooperated, I would 
be fed; if I didn't, I wouldn't Interrogation would be at odd hours, under bright 
lights. No sooner would I fall asleep than I would be awakened, and it would start 
all over again, until eventually I lost all track of time, place, identity. And I would 
be tortured and beaten until, finally, I would beg for the privilege of being allowed 
to confess to any crime they desired. None of this happened." 

Immediately after Powers crossed the bridge from East Berlin he was examined 
by a West German flight surgeon under orders from the CIA. The surgeon took 
blood from his arm. Powers says the doctor told him "the blood samples were 
necessary to determine whether I had been drugged. This seemed to be the first 
question of almost everyone to whom I talked: Had I been drugged? They seemed 
almost disappointed when I told them I hadn't" 

Powers was then flown to the U.S. "I still couldn't comprehend that after 
twenty-one months of captivity I was once again a free man," he said, "which was 
perhaps best, for though I was yet to realize it, I wasn't quite free, not yet In a 
sense, I had been released by the Russians to become a de facto prisoner of the 
CIA" 

William J. Bryan Ill, Ci1J Nt!llls Smlia, (a suspected CIA wet) September, 1960. 
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The CIA men told Powers they would like to talk to him for a couple of days. The 
"couple of days" turned out to be over three weeks, in which Powers was 
thoroughly debriefed by a team of intelligence analysts and psychiatrists. The first 
question the psychiatrists asked was, again, had he been drugged by the Soviets? 
The second question they asked was, had he been brainwashed? When Powers 
answered "no" to both questions he was given tranquilizers, which were the first 
drugs he had received since his U-2 left Turkey for the overflight of the USSR 
Powers noted with some irony, that "Americans are much more disposed to the 
use of drugs than are the Soviets.118 

Perhaps even more Ironic was the public disclaimer issued by CIA Director Allen 
Dulles, which said the U.S. had no use for brainwashing: "What had popularly 
become known as 'brainwashing,' while of great psychological interest to the 
West, as it is important to study defensive techniques, is never practiced by us ... 
for the simple reason that we are not interested in converting people to our way of 
thinking either forcibly or by trickery, which is its main intent We have never 
felt, as obviously the Soviets and the Red Chinese and the North Koreans have, 
that there is much to gain in putting a brainwashed person on the air to 
denounce his own countzymen. We have enough people who come over to us 
voluntarily from communism and who need no prompting. "9 Dulles, it seemed, 
was either a reader of Hunter's or they both had been briefed by the same 
propaganda section of the CIA. 

Brainwashing was the tenn the psychological warfare unit of the CIA thought up 
to explain why American POWs cooperated with the enemy in Korea. 
Brainwashing was explained as severe deprivation of food, clothing, and shelter, 
during which time a series of punishments and rewards were applied so effectively 
that a person's fundamental beliefs could be made to change 180 degrees from 
their original position. This brutal technique was not called torture; there was no 
propaganda value in something as old as torture. 

The CIA thought up the tenn "brainwashing" to lead people in the Western world 
to believe that the inscrutable Orientals had again, like Fu Manchu, invented a 
revolutionaty technique controlling the human mind. The word "brainwashing" 
and the official government explanation of what happened to the Korean POWs 
was propaganda. It was aimed at fueling a home-grown fear of the Communists 
upon which the Cold War so greatly depended. Propaganda, of course, was 
nothing more than artful deception; the careful planting of "misinformation" and 
"disinfonnation," Cold War euphemisms for what had been called "the big Lie" in 
WorldWarll. 

Modem propaganda began when Nazi Gennany perfected the art of "the big lie." 
The Soviet Union and other Communist countries took the methods of the Nazis 

Prancis Gary Powers, ()pmllion o-fligN (New Y«k. Holt. 1970) 
ADen Dulles, T1w CraR of lnleiJigma ( N_, Yorl:, ~. 1963) 
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and improved upon them. The United States did not actively engage in wide-scale 
propaganda until World War II, when the OSS and the Office of War Information 
started. But then it was well understood that the guiding principles of 
propaganda were: "When there is no compelling reason to suppress a fact, tell it. .. 
Aciide from considerations of military security, the only reason to suppress a piece 
of news is if it is unbelievable ... When the listener catches you in a lie, your power 
diminishes ... For this reason, never tell a lie which can be discovered." 

h far back as 1940, American propaganda services had orders to tell the truth. It 
·was a sound premise for effective propaganda, but it was a premise which was 
ignored by the succeeding generations of Cold Warriors. 

Somewhere along the line the CIA's Covert Action Staff lost sight of the value of 
using the truth as the main weapon. Taking over from OSS, they soon became 
experts in "the big lie." 

This policy surfaced to the attention of the American people during isolated events 
such as the U-2 incident and the Bay of Pigs invasion of Cuba when Presidents 
Eisenhower and Kennedy took the blame for what were obviously CIA lies. In the 
light of recent history it would appear that these chiefs of state were somehow 
convinced that it was better to issue a false confession that they had lied to the 
nation than to admit that they had been lied to by their own intelligence agency. 

In the years since the founding of the National Security Act in 1947 there were 
hundreds of such lies and false denials and domestic propaganda campaigns 
which did not immediately gain public attention. 

Since the administration of Lyndon Johnson, the executive branch of government 
seemed to be following Machiavelli's advice: "If you don't get caught, it can't be 
wrong." The executive privilege, the legacy of the National Security Act-- the art 
of falsehood -- lies have left our history strewn with the rubble of uncovered 
cover-ups and stonewalls. The administrations of Nixon, Reagan and Bush lied, 
not because they were misled by the cryptocracy - but because they were part of 
it. If they hadn't been, they probably wouldn't have been elected. 

Few seemed to notice that George Bush was an intelligence agent before he was 
appointed Director of the CIA. That was before he was elected Vice President of the 
United States, during which time his hand articulated a mentally impaired puppet, 
a movie actor playing President, to succeed him after eight years. Through Bush 
the cryptocracy had its hands directly on the helm of state for twelve highly visible 
years. 

Brainwashing, as planted in the press, was one little propaganda weapon in a vast 
arsenal. But it was a weapon that was supposed to be effective against 
communism, cropping up in news accounts whenever it was needed -- whenever 
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the Cold Warriors' domestic covert action ann thought that the public was going 
''soft on Communism." 

Albert K. Bidennan, a senior research associate of the Rand Corporation's 
subcontractor, the Bureau of Social Science Research, conducted a study of the 
news items published about our POWs in Korea. Bidennan's analysis confmned 
that this kind of propaganda was "successively dominant in the press during and 
after the Korean War. During the war, Propaganda focused on prisoner atrocities; 
when the war had ended, the focus shifted to stories involving the brainwashing 
ofPOWs.10 

"Beginning with exchanges of prisoners," he wrote, "prisoner misconduct received 
gradually increased attention until, several months after the war, it came to 
overshadow the other themes." 

Throughout the Korean conflict, propaganda and counter-propaganda campaigns 
on both sides grew in intensity until eventually POWs became the most aitical 
issue of the war, the "stumbling block" in the drawn-out truce talks that delayed 
the war's tennination. 

In 1953 some 4000 surviving American POWs became the subjects of another 
type of propaganda -- propaganda by Americans, about Americans, directed at 
Americans. According to Biderman, "The theme of this propaganda was that there 
had been wholesale collaboration by the American prisoners with their 
Communist captors and that this unprecedented misbehavior revealed alarming 
new weaknesses in our national character. This post-truce propaganda. •. was an 
outgrowth of propaganda activities during the war." 

Desperately trying to believe that U.S. propaganda was motivated by good 
intentions, Bidennan suggested that the "brainwashing theme" was pushed at 
home because the Cold Warriors were "apparently worried that a number of 
American prisoners would return espousing the Communist view." Bidennan 
noted that "the Defense and State Departments and the Central Intelligence 
Agency issued a stream of press releases during the days prior to the first prisoner 
exchanges in Korea to prepare the public for the shock of fmding that many of the 
POWs had been brainwashed. The theme of these releases was that evidence of 
Communist indoctrination or pro-Communist statements by Americans when 
they were released would be discounted because the prisoners would have been 
subjected to the well-known tortures that Communists used to brainwash their 
opponents." 

And just what were these "well-known tortures"? the general principles of the 
Chinese brainwashing techniques were repetition, pacing of demands, the forced 
participation in classes of prisoners, propaganda which would insert Communist 
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ideas into familiar and meaningful contexts, punishment, threats, rewards, 
suggestion, pleas for peace, manipulative tricks, and deprivation of all but the 
minimum necessities of life. There was little that was new or innovative about 
the techniques used by the Chinese. They did not use drugs or hypnosis, nor did 
they invent any mysterious new devices for breaking the mind and will of a man. 

Actually the Chinese controlled infonnation in their POW camps just as they 
controlled the mass media in their own country. The system they used in the 
camps -- propagandizing through lectures, movies, reading, and testimonials -­
was based on the same system used on the Chinese population and is not without 
parallel in Western education and advertising practices. 

Nor are the punishment-and-reward techniques used by the Chinese in their 
interrogations exclusively Oriental. These same practices are employed by 
Western intelligence agents, police, and more subtly by reporters trying to elicit 
infonnation from a hostile subject Confession and self-criticism have been used 
in religious movements as a basis of conversion, or as a way of perpetuating the 
faith, from time immemorial. 

Dr. Edgar H. Schein of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology was one of 
many persons who contributed to the anny study of the returned POWs. Of the 
central reason behind the brainwashing propaganda which the army study 
disclosed, he wrote "When things go wrong, it is far less ego-deflating to say that 
we have been brainwashed than to recognize our own inadequacy in coping with 
our problems. A crucial question, however, is whether such changes in our 
society and such preoccupations represent weaknesses and signal the 
deterioration of some of our highly valued institutions, or whether they are 
merely the symptoms of the changing world ... " 

Is this then to be a continuing trend in the so-called free world? 

" .. .Are we becoming mentally apathetic and hence more prone to totalitarian 
solutions," Schein continues," or are we fmding new ways in which to relate 
ourselves to our international and internal problems? Many observers of the 
contemporary scene, among them the novelist and philosopher Aldous Huxley, 
and Joost Meerloo, a psychoanalyst, feel strongly that we are headed squarely in 
the wrong direction -- that the combination of certain social forces and the 
weapons against the mind now available will inevitably lead to the destruction of 
the democratic way of life and the freedom of mind wlu·ch goes with it, unless we 
recognize clearly what is happening and put cotmter-forces into operation. • 
[Empasis added.)11 

In succeeding years, talk of "brainwashing" continued. Usually it was heard that 
the Communists had "brainwashed" somebody, but on April7, 1967, presidential 

II Edgar Schein.Joumal of World Poli/ia, April 1959. 
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hopeful Governor George Romney turned that around. Romney, who had gone to 
Vietnam believing in the rightness of the U.S. involvement there, came home 
saying that he had suffered "the greatest brainwashing that anyone can get when 
you go over to Vietnam, not only by the generals, but also by the diplomatic corps 
over there, and they do a very thorough job." 

Nine governors who had accompanied Romney on the tour disagreed with him. 
Governor Philip H. Hoff said that Romney's brainwashing statement "tends to be 
almost incredible." Finding he had no support among his colleagues, Romney 
quickly told reporters that he had not been talking about "Russian type 
brainwashing, but LBJ type brainwashing." He said he meant the same thing the 
press meant "when you write about the credibility gap, snow job, and 
manipulation of the news." 

Webster".s Third New lnlematiorull Dictionary gives the second meaning of 
brainwashing as "persuasion by propaganda or salesmanship," but the press and 
Public thought that Romney had meant the word in its first sense: "A forcible 
indoctrination to induce someone to give up basic political, social, or religious 
beliefs and attitudes and to accept contrasting regimented ideas." 

And the public let it be known that it would not vote for a brainwashed 
presidential candidate. Romney's popularity fell so dramatically in the polls that 
he eventually dropped out of the race for the presidency. The word 
"brainwashing" proved to be more charged with emotions that anyone had 
supposed. 

In one of the first mass market books published on the subject following the 
anny' s release of the study of the Korean POWs, Eugene Kinkead wrote, 
"Unfortunately, the distinction between brainwashing and indoctrination is far 
from clear to the average American. The anny defines indoctrination as an effort 
to change a man's viewpoint while he is still a thinking individual by regulating 
his thoughts and actions. This falls far short of the effect produced upon some 
defendants seen in Communist courts, defendants who had obviously been 
completely broken, and had ceased to be thinking individuals. I am afraid that the 
general conception has been that Communist techniques of manipulating human 
beings are so persuasive, so completely irresistible that no prisoner can keep his 
integrity in the face of them -- and, by analogy, that no people, including ours, 
can stand against such an enemy. This is what distresses me so much about the 
popular and improper use of a word like 'brainwashing' ... "12 

Perhaps. But by 1967, when George Romney claimed he had been brainwashed, 
our own government was already far beyond what Kinkead referred to as 
"brainwashing." The United States government did not have to stoop to the slow 
and exhausting process the Chinese and Russians used. In the age of electronic 

" Eugene Kinllad, In Ewt7 Wor but Orw (New York. Norton, 1959) 
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brain stimulation, neuro-psychopha.nnacology, and advanced methods of 
behavior modification and hypnosis, the government certainly didn't have to 
resort to methods as unsophisticated as brainwashing. 

The techniques of mind control developed, even by 1967, were making 
brainwashing seem like the metaphor it was: a washboard and scrub-bucket 
technique which had little use in a world where the sonic cleaner, with 
high-frequency sound, higher than the human ear can hear, vibrates the dirt from 
the very molecules of matter -- or the mind. 

Brainwashing was largely a campaign waged in the United States home press. It 
served as a sharp-edged propaganda weapon and was aimed at the American 
people to add to the already considerable fear of the Communists. It also covered 
official United States embarrassment over a seeming rash of defections and 
collaborations with the enemy, and perhaps most important, offered moral 
justification for immoral and illegal experiments to scientists working under 
government contracl They were urged as a matter of patriotism to "beat the 
Communists in the mind-control race." 

It is doubtful that all of the "collaborators" in the Korean conflict succumbed to 
brainwashing. The eyewitness testimony of air force CoL Laird Guttersen, one of 
the few heroes of the Vietnam conflict, and a real hero of the mind-control war, 
would suggest that they didn't 

Guttersen had been in charge of the air force seminar on Korean brainwashing at 
Maxwell Air Force Base. An expert hypnotist, he later used self-hypnosis to block 
pain and keep himself alive in a North Vietnamese POW camp where he spent 
more than twenty-seven months in solitary confinement He took the time during 
his campaign for the U.S. Congress to offer me his views on brainwashing and 
mind control. 

As early as 1956 Colonel Guttersen realized that what was called brainwashing was 
nothing more than psychological indoctrination. "Controlling the mind is one 
thing," he told me, "but remember, this does not occur with psychological 
indoctrination. Nor does it occur, nonnally, with hypnosis. The concept of 
complete and total mind control was projected by the brainwashing myth, and it 
was the theme of the book The Manchurian Candidate; but mind control is not 
what happened to the Korean or Vietnamese POWs. What the Chinese, the 
Russians, the Vietnamese did was mind influence, not mind control." 

Guttersen said that while it was generally believed that brainwashing was the 
result of drugs and hypnosis, to his firsthand knowledge, from the Korean conflict 
to Vietnam, "there are no documented cases of drug- or hypnosis- induced mind 
control. Reading the examples of what the POWs stated in both Korea and 
Vietnam, and what I saw in Hano~ there are only men saying, 'I couldn't have 
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done those things unless I had been drugged.' There are no specific reports of 
anyone saying, 'They stuck a needle into me and I did so and so.' or 'They gave 
me something to eat, and then I did so and so.' There were men who said, 'I 
acted in a very strange way, just like I was in a dream or something. I must have 
been drugged.'" 

There was a cover-up for a snafu in some of the original Korean briefings of our 
combatants who, Guttersen said, were told to cooperate if captured. 

"' remember a specific briefing, though later it was denied, where a group of us 
were told that we would be well advised, if we got shot down, to whip out a bottle 
of vodka and a red flag and start waving it We were advised to cooperate in any 
possible way with the enemy because anybody back home would know that we 
were cooperating under duress. We were told that if we cooperated with our 
captors, it would not give them an excuse to torture us. That was a specific 
briefing given to us. Of course, now we know that a good number of our captive 
men followed that advice and did collaborate on the basis that 'What the hell, 
nobody would ever be told to collaborate with the enemy again." 

The word "brainwashing" became commonplace after the Soviet Union presented 
evidence before the United Nations that charged the United States with the use of 
germ warfare in Korea - a major violation of the Geneva Convention. The Soviet 
evidence contained the confessions of several captured United States pilots stating 
both in documents and on fihn that they had dropped germ bombs on North 
Korea. By the time these men were repatriated their stories had changed. 

Marine Corps Colonel Frank H. Schwable was the first American to sign a germ 
warfare confession. His confession named names, cited missions, described 
meetings and strategy conferences. Before a military court of inquiry Schwable 
said: "' was never convinced in my own mind that we in the First Marine Air Wmg 
had used bug warfare. I knew we hadn't, but the rest of it was so real to me - the 
conferences, the planes, and how they would go about their missions .•. 

The words were mine," the Colonel continued, "but the thoughts were theirs. 
That is the hardest thing I have to explain: how a man can sit down and write 
something he knows is false, and yet, to sense it, to feel it, to make it seem real." 

A CIA memo dated April ll, 1953 addressed to the Chief of CIA's Plans and 
Preparations, contained a report of an exchange that took place between then 
United Nations Ambassador Henry Cabot Lodge and an unidentified CIA agent 
The CIA agent began to brief Lodge on the germ warfare confessions of Schwable 
and others when according to the memo, Lodge interrupted expressing " •. .a 
profound distaste for the entire matter," adding that "he hoped he would never 
hear of it again - it had been a nasty and difficult issue, principally because of 
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the difficulty of explaining away the fllrn and the statements of the American 
fliers ... " (Emphasis added.) 

The CIA memo continued with the agent reporting. "' said that we fully shared 
his view that 'the issue was finished in the United Nations,' but that it had been 
our experience that 'the bug' comes from a very hardy strain and had exhibited 
appalling vitality. For this reason, I said that I thought it would be a mistake to be 
too complacent about the matter. To the last statement Senator Lodge replied 
with a question as to just what explanation we could give of the statements of the 
American Fliers - how did we account for this and what could be done about it? I 
said that our best guess was that the statements had been in one way or another 
forced out of the captive airmen and that one of the techniques which we thought 
had possibly been used was the Soviet (and now Chinese) techniques of 
brainwashing:• Senator Lodge said that he thought the public was very 
inadequately informed about 'brainwashing' and that in the absence of a much 
larger quantity of public information than now exists on the subject, the impact of 
the fliers' statements is terrific. I replied by stating that we shared his view and 

· pointed out that the Department of Defense is expected to issue a lengthy 
statement .. " (Emphasis added.) 

Shortly thereafter, the word "brainwashing" was on the front page of every paper 
in America. We had not used germ warfare, CIA propaganda claimed, the 
Communists had used brainwashing. 
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Marine Sgt. Frank H. Schwable was the first American to confess to his North 
Korean and Chinese captors that the U.S. had dropped germ bombs in the 
Korean War (which was true}. Thus, because of the CIA's successful coverup, he 
was the first person in the world to be "brainwashed" - a propaganda term 
coined for the occasion by Edward Hunter. 
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WITHOUT KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT 

"I can hypnotize a man - without his knowledge or consent- into committing 
treason against the United States," boasted Dr. George Estabrooks in the early 
1940s. 

Estabrooks, chairman of the Department of Psychology at Colgate University, was 
called to Washington by the War Department shortly after Pearl Harbor. Since he 
was the ranking authority on hypnosis at the time, they wanted his opinion on 
how the enemy might be planning to use hypnotism. "Two hundred trained 
foreign operators, working in the United States," Estabrooks told the military 
leaders, "could develop a uniquely dangerous army of hypnotically controlled 
Sixth Columnists. "13 

At that time, only a handful of men knew of the government's experiments with 
hypnosis for the purpose of controlling minds in the interest of "national 
security." In that decade there had been no concentrated assassinations of 
presidents, candidates, or civil rights leaders. There had not yet been Watergate, 
nor any disclosures of government agencies invading the privacy of the United 
States citizens. The CIA had not yet been conceived, and even its parent, the 
Office of Strategic Setvices (OSS), did not exist 

It was unthinkable at the time that an agency of the U.S. government would 
employ mind-control techniques on its own people. Therefore it was natural for 
George Estabrooks to believe that if Americans were threatened by hypnotic mind 
controL the threat would be posed by a foreign enemy working within the United 
States. 

So in 1943 Estabrooks sounded his public alarm, and planted the seed for what 
would become priority top-secret research for the next twenty-five years. 
Couching his disclosure in hypothetical terms and saying that the hypnotized 
mind "could be" put to military use, he then portrayed a scene which he said 
could "very easily take place." 

It would be possible, he said, for "the enemy" to plant a foreign agent as a doctor 
in a hospital or his own office. This "doctor" could, by means of fake physical 

IJ 
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examinations, place thousands of people under his power over a period of time. 
Estabrooks projected how, by hypnotizing key officers and programming them to 
follow suggestions, this "masked maneuver" could enable a lowly ftrst lieutenant 
to take-over the reins of the entire U.S. Anny. 

His alternate scenario depicted the General Staff swnmoning a colonel from 
Intelligence to an emergency meeting in the pentagon two days after an outbreak 
of war. Shortly after entering the room where Pentagon "brain trusters" were 
gathered, the colonel is put into hypnotic trance by an anny psychologist and told 
there has been a change of plans for the defense of major territory. The details of 
the plan have to be conveyed in absolute secrecy to the pacific command. Since 
the enemy has been very successful in monitoring U.S. communications, a new 
highly reliable procedure is needed to slip the message past the enemy. The 
colone~ under the influence of hypnosis, will carry the top-secret message. 

"When you wake up, the hypnotized colonel is told, "you will no longer have the 
slightest knowledge of the secret infonnation carried in the lower layers of your 
mind." The colonel is then given instructions to proceed by airplane to Honolulu. 
He is told that in his nonnal waking state he will hold the impression that he is on 
a routine mission and must report after his arrival to General Y. 

"He is the only man in the world who can hypnotize you again. Put to sleep by 
General Y. - and only him - you will correctly recall all the details of this 
conversation and disclose the secret instructions we have just given you." 

Estabrooks said later he had given the pentagon episode only as a practical 
example of how the new science of hypnotism could be used for military 
purposes. 

Going even further with his alarming predictions, Estabrooks told how disguised 
techniques of hypnosis could be employed to create an entire army of saboteurs 
within our own country. "Let us suppose that in a certain city there lives a group 
of a given foreign extraction. They are loyal Americans but still have cultural and 
sentimental ties to the old country. A neighborhood doctor, working secretly for a 
foreign power, hypnotizes those of his patients who have ties favorable to his 
plans. Having done this he would, of course, remove from them all knowledge of 
their ever having been hypnotized. 

"Next comes a one-month period of indoctrination under hypnosis. By various 
means, including the offer of substantial rewards and educational processes 
designed to strengthen their ancestral loyalties, their cooperation is obtained." 

Estabrooks explained how individuals so controlled would have no conscious 
aversion to Americans and would continue to behave as good citizens. 
Subconsciously, however, they would be saboteurs and agents of the enemy. 
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"All right you say. This sounds beautiful on paper. But what about the 
'well-known psychological principle' that no one will do anything under hypnosis 
that he wouldn't do when he's awake?" Estabrooks asked. 

"My experiments have shown this assumption is poppycock. It depends not so 
much on the attitude of the subject as on that of the operator himself ... In 
wartime, the motiyation for murder under hypnosis doesn't have to be very 
strong," Estabrooks warned. 

"During World War I, a leading psychologist made a startling proposal to the navy. 
He offered to take a submarine steered by a captured U-boat captain, placed under 
his hypnotic contro~ through enemy mine fields to attack the German fleet 
Washington nixed the stratagem as too risky. First, because there was no 
disguised method by which the captain's mind could be outflanked. Second, 
because today's teclmique of day-by-day breaking down of ethical conflicts 
brainwashing was still unknown. 

"The indirect approach to hypnotism would, I believe, change the navy's answer 
today. Personally," Estabrooks concluded, "I am convinced that hypnosis is a 
bristling dangerous annament which makes it doubly imperative to avoid the war 
of tomorrow. "14 

George Estabrooks may have greatly contributed to the U.S. government's 
interest in hypnosis. For during the years that followed, seeking ways both to 
improve the mind and to control it, various government agencies, many of them 
with intelligence functions, secretly pursued research in hypnotic teclmiques. 

A number of related events during the 1940s demonstrated the extent of the 
government's interest in hypnosis. Beyond changing beliefs, they sought ways to 
motivate people to commit acts which they would not commit in a nonnal state. 

Dr. Bernard C. Gindes wrote of an amnesia experiment he undertook for the U.S. 
Anny in the late forties. "A soldier with only a grade school education was able to 
memorize an entire page of Shakespeare's Hamlet after listening to the passages 
seven times. Upon awakening, he could not recall any of the lines, and even more 
startling was the fact that he had no remembrance of the hypnotic experience. A 
week later he was hypnotized again. In this state, he was able to repeat the entire 
page without a single error. In another experiment to test the validity of increased 
memory retention, five soldiers were hypnotized en masse and given a jumbled 
code consisting of twenty-five words without phonetic consistency. They were 
allowed sixty seconds to commit the list to memory. In the waking state, each 
man was asked to repeat the code; none of them could. One man hazily 
remembered having had some association with a code, but could not remember 
more than that the other four soldiers were allowed to study the code 

1• Estabrooks. J[Jpnolism, 3d ed. (New York. Dutton,l!l-U) 
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consciously for another sixty seconds, but all denied previous acquaintance with 
il During rehypnotization, they were individually able to recall the exact content 
of the coded message. "15 

In 1947, J.C. Watkins induced criminal behavior in deeply hypnotized subjects 
during another anny experiment- Watkins suggested a distorted view of reality to 
his subjects by inducing hallucinations which allowed them to avoid direct 
conflict with their own moral concepts. He carefully chose his suggestions to be 
in line with his subjects' pre-existing motivational structures, and so was able to 
induce so-called antisocial behavior. 

Watkins took a normal, healthy anny private, a young man whose tests indicated 
a most stable personality, and put him in a deep trance. Though merely striking a 
superior officer is a court- martial offense in the anny, Watkins wanted to see if he 
could get his subject to strangle a high ranking officer. 

Mter the subject was deep into trance, Watkins told him that the officer sitting 
across from him was a Japanese soldier who was trying to kill him. He must kill 
or be killed, Watkins suggested, and immediately the private leapt ferociously at 
the officer and grabbed him by the throal In his waking state, the private would 
have been aghast at the thought of trying to strangle a superior officer. But under 
hypnosis, believing the officer was a dangerous Japanese soldier, the young 
private had to be pulled off his superior by three husky assistants. The officer 
came within a hairsbreadth of being strangled, as the young man was most 
persistent in his attempt to kill what he regarded as the enemy. 

Watkins repeated this experiment with other subjects. The second time he used 
two officers who were good friends. One of them was given the hypnotic 
suggestion that the other was a Japanese soldier and that he must "kill or be 
killed." the man who had received the command not only made a powerful lunge 
at his friend, but as he did he whipped out and opened a concealed jack knife, 
which neither the doctor, his assistants, nor his friend knew he had. Only the 
quick action of one of the assistants, who was a judo expert, prevented a 
potentially fatal stabbing. 

In both cases, reality was so distorted that the subjects took murderous and 
antisocial action. If they had accomplished their "defensive" acts, both men could 
have been convicted of murder, since the law did not recognize motivation 
through hypnosis as a fact. The courts, in all but a few cases, had adopted the 
traditional scientific view that criminal behavior cannot be induced under 
hypnosis. That view still stands today. 

To test the premise, which was then widely held, that a normal person under 
hypnotic trance could not be made to divulge information which would be 

u Bemud c. Gindes, Ne~~ ~in Hl'f""'Sis (Wilshire Boob, N. Hollywood, Cal.. 1973) 
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self-incriminating, Watkins conducted a number of experiments where a 
monetary bribe was offered to withhold information. Watkins discovered that 
"when placed in a trance they 'spilled' every time, either verbally or in writing. 

The subject of one of these experiments was an enlisted WAC in military 
intelligence. Her commanding officer ordered her not to reveal a list of what were 
made to appear to be real military secrets. Under hypnosis she "spilled" 
everything. 

Another experiment was discontinued when it was discovered that a research 
worker in the government arsenal was spilling vital and top-secret war 
information to the friendly army hypnotist, who did not have a "need to lmow." 
He did this loud and clear while in a trance before an audience of 200 military 
professionals. If the subject had been allowed to continue, the disclosures of 
information would have resulted in a general court martial, no matter how the 
doctor might have tried to persuade intelligence headquarters that this was "just a 
test" 

Much of the army's experimentation with manipulation by hypnosis was inspired 
by the reports of Wesley Raymond Wells, a doctor at Syracuse University. Wells's 
research, in turn, had been inspired by the fiction of the 1880's and 1890s, which 
described criminal acts as being induced by hypnosis. Wells was taken by the idea 
that "the most striking feature in a hypnotized subject is his automatism." 
Although earlier experiments had elicited no immoral or criminal behavior from 
subjects under hypnosis, the results of experiments which asked subjects to resist 
various suggestions indicated to Wells that people might be more sUggestible than 
was generally believed. 

In the late 1930s, Wells conducted a simple experiment with a student volunteer. 
He chose a subject who had stated that he expected he would be below average in 
hypnotizability and claimed he could not be put into a trance. Before inducing 
trance, Wells urged him to do his utmost to resist, in every possible way, first 
going into the trance, and then doing anything against his own moral code. 

When the student told Wells that he was ready to begin the contest, the doctor 
put his hand on the subject's chest, counted to seven, and found that the subject 
had already fallen into a deep trance! Mter testing the subject's muscle control 

'and ability to obtain amnesia and hallucinations, Wells proceeded to suggest that 
the subject get up from his chair, go over to Wells's overcoat which was on a coat 
rack across the room, and take a dollar from the right-hand pocket Wells 
suggested that the subject see the coat as his own, and take the dollar thinking 
that he had left it in the pocket When the subject followed all of Wells's 
suggestions, he then told him to put the dollar in his own breast pocket and 
return to his chair. As he was about to sit, Wells said to him that when he sat in 
the chair he would spend the dollar, just as if it were his own. 
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Mterwards, during the student's recall of his experiences, Wells found that 
everything had worked according to the hypnotic program he had implanted. 
This was, of course, a clinical sort of test for amnesia. 

"Whether his amnesia would have withstood third-degree methods of the police or 
the lie detector methods of the psychological laboratory is another question," 
Wells said. "On the basis of my previous experimental study of posthypnotic 
amnesia, I would state it as my opinion that hypnotically induced amnesia in the 
case of so good a subjecl •. would have withstood any possible tests if added 
precautions had been taken in the hypnotic production of the amnesia. "16 

Wells' report of this experiment, published in a psychology journal in 1941, 
brought a negative reaction from the scientific community. Milton Erickson was 
among the first to say that Wells's experiments were at best inconclusive. 
Erickson reported that after attempting to duplicate similar hypnotic inducements 
of crime with fifty subjects, he had failed. He concluded from his own 
investigations that "hypnosis cannot be misused to induce hypnotized persons to 
commit actual wrongful acts either against themselves or others ... " The so-called 
antisocial acts induced by Wells and others, Erickson maintained, were most 
likely motivated by factors other than hypnosis or suggestion. 

'We know that it is possible, without recourse to hypnosis, for one person to 
induce another to commit a wrong, a fact we may explain loosely as the influence 
of one personality upon another," Erickson explained. "To settle this question is 
difficult, since it involves three inseparable factors of unknown potentialities -­
specifically, the hypnotist as a person, the subject as a person, and hypnosis as 
such to say nothing of the significant influence upon these three, both 
individually and collectively, of the suggestion and the performance of a 
questionable act "17 

But even Erickson conceded that the primitive being, the libido, which dwells in 
everyone, makes almost any crime possible. When a hallucinatory state has been 
induced and the subject thinks he or she is acting out of self-preservation, the 
primitive mind takes over and the killer instinct is unleashed. 

{Milton W. Erickson's insights into human behavior were used to develop (with 
the CIA watching over the scientists shoulders) whllt is perhaps the 20th 
Century's most important technology of empowerment or enslavement, a science 
known as Neuro-Iinguistics Programming (NIP). } 

In the late 1930s psychologists began grappling with the problem of human will, 
as the theologians before them had done for centuries. Some maintained that 
"will" meant conscious volition; others, that it meant nothing but the 
manifestation of the belief system, that is to say, the result of the earliest 
n Wesley Wells, 11w Joumal of Ps,c:holo(m, 1941. 
If Milton Ericbon.Jooma/ of Biolon om Prl/holow of JrU~l Rttilllions, August, 1939. 
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conditioned responses. The area of will still lies outside the limits of modem 
psychology. Many experts are loath even to use the word "will" since it represents 
a most ill-defined dimension of human nature. 

Summing up a carefully constructed semantic argument, psychologists often say, 
"A person cannot be made to do anything against his will or basic moral precepts." 
That statement, taken at face value, is certainly true. A nonnal person would not 
wittingly kill a friend. But if he was made to hallucinate that his friend was an 
enemy, and it was a "kill or be killed" situation, he would initiate a natural 
response to preserve his own life. In the process he might even take the imagined 
enemy's life. After the hallucination passed, he would realize he had killed his 
friend. This criminal act would be considered in one sense, an act of will; but the 
real cause of the action would not be understood outside the hallucinated 
state. Only the killer's grief would remain, to attest to his knowledge of what he 
did, and that he really did not want to do it. 

Whether or not hypnosis can be used to deeply motivate people to commit 
antisocial acts despite the call of their own conscience is still an open question in 
academic circles. 

George Estabrooks had evidence which made him conclude that "one in every five 
of the human race are highly suggestible, at least half are suggestible to a very 
considerable degree." And he warned, " ... mere figures do not tell the story. That 
one fifth has a power far beyond its numbers; for this type of man, acting under 
direct suggestion, is no mere average person. He is a fanatic, with all that 
fanaticism may imply for good or evil. .. Can this prospective subject - this one in 
five individual- be hypnotized against his will?" 

"The answer to this very vital question," Estabrooks concluded, "is 'yes,' though 
we prefer to say 'without his consent' instead of 'against his will.' We do not need 
the subject's consent when we wish to hypnotize him for we use 'disguised 
technique ... "18 

Believing in Estabrooks' logic, pragmatists in the government began to explore 
the possibilities of ways to change belief and motivate behavior." They let scores of 
contracts for research into hypnosis, behavior modification, conditioning, and 
virtually anything that held even a slim chance of being able to give them control 
over the individual human mind and will. 

Meanwhile foreign governments unfriendly to the United States were involved in 
similar psychological research. But the U.S. government's fear of losing 
superiority in this new and untested field ran away with it. Intelligence analysts 
believed a "mind-control gap" existed, and to close it they mobilized "think tanks" 
to develop a usable program of experimental research, at once. 
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From one such think tank, the Rand Corporation, came a report entitled Are the 
Cominfomz Countries using Hypnosis Techniques to Elicit Confession In Public 
Trials? Dated April25, 1949, it helped set the stage for using national security as 
the rationale for resorting to mind control to motivate criminal acts, both at home 
and abroad. 

The successful use of hypnosis," the report said, "Would represent a serious 
threat to democratic values in times of peace and war. In addition, it might 
conbibute to the development of unconventional methods of warfare, which will 
be widely regarded as immoral. The results of scientific research in the field 
under discussion would obviously lend themselves to offensive as well as 
defensive applications and to abuse no less than use. It must be assumed that 
almost all of the scientific personnel in the field of hypnosis are keenly aware of 
these social implications of their work and that they are interested in limiting the 
practice of hypnosis to therapeutic applications." That assumption proved to be 
untrue. 

The Rand report recommended "that these moral and political implications of 
experimental research on hypnosis be explored as fully as possible prior to official 
encouragement or sponsorship of such research, so as to establish the most 
effective safeguards against its unintended consequences." 

The Rand study dwelt at length upon Soviet experiments in hypnosis dating back 
to 1923. "At the State Institute of Experimental Psychology in Moscow," the 
report stated, "it was demonstrated that hypnosis could be used in inducing an 
irmocent person to develop intense guilt feelings and to confess to a criminal or 
immoral act which he did not commit In 1932 the experiments on hypnotically 
implanted 'crimes' were reported (in English translation) by A R. Luria, who at 
that time was a professor in the Academy of Communist Education." 

Quoting Luria, the report described how hypnosis was used as a device for 
producing emotional disturbances in order to control behavior. "We suggested to 
the person under test, while in a sufficiently deep hypnotic state, a certain 
situation, more often a disagreeable one, in which he was playing a role 
irreconcilable with his habits and contrary to his usual behavior - we thus 
obtained an actual and rather sharply expressed acute effect After awakening the 
person under test .. we had a subject who was 'loaded' with certain definite 
affective complexes, which mostly remained unknown to himself ... " 

Luria described an experiment with a twenty-year-old female college student who 
was told under deep hypnosis that she was sitting in her home studying when a 
neighbor child, a boy of six, came into the room. She was told that the child 
shouted when he came into the room. She asked him to stop, but he did not 
listen. The young woman was then told that she would get angry and forget 
herself. She would take a stick and beat the boy, first on the back and then on the 
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head. The boy would CI)' out from the wounds on his head, but she would keep 
on beating him. She would then feel vezy ashamed and would be unable to 
understand how such a thing could happen, how she could beat up a child. 
Finally, she was told that she must try and forget the incident altogether. 

Luria explained that he had chosen this situation with a definite purpose. Since 
the hallucinated event was entirely unacceptable by the moral standards of the 
young woman's personality, it was natural that she would feel repentant He 
reinforced her natural desire to forget by suggesting to her that she remove the 
memozy of the event from her mind. 

In subsequent trances the subject was questioned about the "beating." With great 
difficulty she reconstructed the event, but shifted the emphasis on several points 
so that the imagined event would conform more to her basic moral code. At first 
she refused to remember that she had "beaten" the child. She then conceded that 
she had "pulled his ears." Then, finally, she admitted she had "beaten him," but 
she maintained she had not beaten him with a stick. Luria said that this showed 
how unacceptable the situation was to her personality. The student said twice, 
"my conscience has tortured me." Luria said this showed the effectiveness of the 
hypnotic suggestion. 

Of the experiment, Irving Janis, author of the Rand report, observed, "in this 
particular case, the implanted memozy was initially referred to by the examiner as 
a 'dream' rather than as a real event But from the detailed reports of other 
investigators, this procedure does not appear to be necessazy for eliciting a false 
confession: a hypnotized subject will often accept and confess to an implanted 
memozy as a real event in his own past life." 

The Rand report itself suggested that this trick of hypnotic suggestion might be 
used on a defendant awaiting trial. The defendant could be "prepared" in a series 
of hypnotic sessions to accept guilt about a criminal act he did not commit, and 
then, if placed in a hypnotic trance while in the courtroom, the prosecutor's 
interrogation would elicit a false confession. 

Fearing the Communists' use of hypnosis, the Rand report warned that hypnosis, 
once accomplished, is hard to detect Contrary to reports in the nineteenth 
centuzy, "a hypnotized subject is not blindly obedient, nor does he act like an 
automaton when in a trance. Hypnotic suggestions are acted out and elaborated 
in a way that is consonant with the individual's habitual social behavior and his 
basic personality traits." The report stated that while often "the hypnotized 
subject seems literal and humorless ... he appears entirely unselfconscious, and 
vezy often he acts abstracted, inattentive, almost as if he were insulated against 
his surroundings," this is not always the case. A number of experienced 
hypnotists had been able to train their subjects to perform "in such a way that 
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observers could not tell that the subject was in a trance or that he was acting 
under hypnotic suggestions." 

The Rand report outlined the following procedure that would elicit a false 
confession. "First, make the subject feel guilty about some acts he had thought 
about or had actually carried out in the past. Second, make him feel guilty about 
having committed some crime of which he was actually innocent. The implanted 
guilt would compel the subject to confess when examined by a hypnotist or any 
one else designated by the hypnotist. Third, train the subject, by means of 
post-hypnotic suggestion, to go into a trance whenever a simple signal was 
encountered." The subject would be trained to give his false confession in a 
normal, convincing manner, so that observers would not be able to detect the 
trance state. 

To induce hypnosis in an unwilling subject, the report suggested any of three 
possibilities which were then well supported by research findings: 

1. As part of a medical examination, talk relaxation to the subject, thus disguising 
the hypnotic induction. For example, the person could be given a blood pressure 
test, told that he must relax completely in order to give an adequate test record, 
and then be given suggestions to go to sleep which would result in a hypnotic 
trance. 

2. Induce hypnosis while the person is actually asleep from normal fatigue. This 
could be done by simply talking softly into the sleeper's ear. 

3. Use injections of drugs to induce hypnosis. the hypnotic drugs would relax the 
subject and put him in a "twilight state" where the subconscious mind is very 
susceptible to suggestion. 

Subjects who refuse or resist the simple "talking" methods of hypnotic induction 
could be given a few grams of paraldehyde or an intravenous injection of sodium 
pentothal or sodium amytal. The appropriate dosage of these drugs invariably 
induces a state of light hypnotic sleep. During sleep, the subject could then be 
given suggestions which would produce the characteristic deep hypnotic trance. 
While in the first drug-induced trance, the patient could be given posthypnotic 
suggestions to the effect that he would be susceptible to hypnosis thereafter 
without the use of drugs. Subsequently the subject could be allowed to practice 
carrying out posthypnotic suggestions. He could then be rehypnotized, still 
without his conscious cooperation, but this time without the use of drugs. 

The report admitted that at the time of its writing there was no certain knowledge 
of just how successful each of the three methods described might prove to be with 
individuals "who are on their guard against being victimized by hostile 
authorities." 
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"The drug technique," suggested the report, "would probably tum out to be the 
simplest and most efficient of the three and so it would be the most likely 
candidate for ... hypnotizing defendants against their will." 

Another important use of hypnosis for the government the report said, would be 
the induction of amnesia: "Once a deep hypnotic trance is achieved, it is possible 
to introduce posthypnotic amnesia so that [a subject] •.• would not know ... that he 
had been subjected to hypnosis, to drugs, or to any other treatment" 

The report then turned to the problem of producing the deep hypnotic trance 
essential to post hypnotic amnesia. It stated that, based on research reports of 
that time, "in about 90 percent of any unselected population it should be possible 
to produce the deepest (somnambulistic) type of trance. According to numerous 
authorities, a light trance is sufficient to elicit a 'confession' of actual misbehavior 
which might otherwise be withheld; but, for canying out complete posthypnotic 
amnesia, it is a somnambulistic trance that is required." 

The Rand document expressed fear that Soviet investigators had found other 
techniques which could produce deep hypnosis in perhaps 90 percent or more of 
all individuals. Anticipating future advances, the report speculated on more 
efficient ways to develop greater depth in hypnotic trance. It suggested that a 
subject could be placed in a trance many times each day until a sufficient depth 
of trance was achieved. It was thought that hypnotizing the subject and then 
awakening him several times in the same session might speed up the process. 
This teclmique of successive and rapid trance induction would, it was hoped make 
the subject easily susceptible to deep trance in a few days. 

To increase speed and depth of hypnosis, special uses of hypnotic drugs were also 
suggested. "For example, a series of drug-induced trances, as against only one 
such treatment might serve to develop the majority of cases into somnambules. 
Moreover, certain unique drug compounds may be especially effective in 
inducing very deep states of hypnosis." (NLP practicioners have developed ways of 
reaccessing any drug state, or any state at all for that matter, once it has been 
achieved. NLP added to that which is described above can exponentially amplify 
the effects.) 

The report then said, "Conceivably, electroshock convulsions might be used as an 
adjunctive device to achieve somnambulism in a very high percentage of the 
cases. Many studies have shown that there is a temporary intellectual 
impairment, diffuse amnesias, and general 'weakening of the ego' produced 
during the period when a series of electroshock convulsions is being 
administered. 

From my own and others' investigations of the psychological effects of such 
treatments, I would suspect that they might tend to reduce resistance to hypnotic 
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suggestions. It is conceivable, therefore, that electroshock treatments might be 
used to weaken difficult cases in order to produce a hypnotic trance of great 
depth." 

In 1958 the Bureau of Social Science Research (BSSR), a subcontractor to the 
Rand Corporation, issued a "teclmical report" on hypnosis to the air force that 
took up where the earlier Rand report had left off. Once again a "think tank' was 
calling for action in the mind-control race against the Communists. 

"To both the lay person and the behavior scientist," the author, Seymour Fisher, 
wrote in the introduction, "hypnosis has long been regarded as a potentially 
powerful instrument for controlling human behavior. Undoubtedly, the 
intelligence divisions of many counties have given serious thought to this 
potential and have done classified research in various areas of hypnosis ... it is 
conceivable .•. that these teclmiques could have been used and covered up so 
successfully that they might be impossible to recognize ••• " [Emphasis added.] 

Fisher outlined areas of future research where Americans could advance in the 
mind-control race. He urged the govenunent to develop test to determine who 
was and who was not a good hypnotic subject He urged further research in 
phannacology, suggesting that a number of drugs little known at the time might 
prove to be effective in inducing hypnosis. 

He predicted that some drugs would prove useful in reducing the amount of time 
required to induce complex hypnotic behavior and that others would be useful in 
reinforcing the lasting effects of hypnotically induced behavior controL He 
predicted that drugs would be developed which would pennit far greater control 
over autonomic processes. Some drugs, he suggested, would be found to pennit 
control over learning and perception as well. He also predicted that new drugs 
would be discovered which would be capable of inducing deep hypnosis in 
virtually any individual regardkss of his degree of cooperativeness. • [Emphasis 
added.PP 

All of these teclmiques, involving drug-induced hypnosis and electroshock 
conwlsions, were eventually developed and used to reduce some of our own 
citizens to a zombie state in which they would blindly serve the government. 
Regardless of the Constitution and the laws which supposedly protect the 
individual against government coercion, "zombies" were covertly created to do the 
government's more unsavory bidding. Such "zombies" asked no questions about 
the legality of their assignments. Often their assignments were never consciously 
known. And if they were ever questioned about their own actions, amnesia 
protected them from self-incrimination. 
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What had started out a race against the Communists slowly turned into a war 
against Americans. It was waged by a cryptocracy that had taken over the country 
once the electorate had been lulled into a hypnotic trance by the techniques it had 
developed to win the mind-control race against the boogey-men Commies. 
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In an early hypnosis test circa 1940, the enlisted man with his head back, is in a 
trance. Holding out his hand at the command of the hypnotist, a match is put to 
his fingers. While the flesh sizzled, no blisters formed due to the suggestions of 
the hypnotist. 



5 
HOLY ACID WARS 

In 1951, a former naval officer described "a secret" of certain military and 
intelligence organizations. He called it "Pain-Drug-Hypnosis" and said it "is a 
vicious war weapon and may be of considerably more use in conquering a society 
than the atom bomb. This is no exaggeration. The extensiveness of the use of 
this fonn of hypnotism in espionage work is now so widespread that it is long past 
the time when people should have become alanned about it. .. Pain-Drug­
Hypnosis is a wicked extension of narcosynthesis, the drug hypnosis used in 
America only during and since the last war ... 1120 

That naval officer was none other than L. Ron Hubbard. Before the war an 
explorer and prolific science fiction writer he went on to found one of America's 
fastest growing IF controversial religions, Scientology. (In an exchange of/etters, 
Hubbard told me that he had written a book called Excaliber which had been 
stolen. The information in the book, he said, had all been subsequently published 
in his many other books. Excaliber, was, he intimated, the guts of wlwt would be 
published as Dianetics, a work which tokes all the mind control insights Hubbard 
was exposed to both in his travels in the east and in Naval Intelligence, and 
applies them to empower the human spirit- the exad opposite of mind control 
as it came to be. He was subsequently kidnapped, and of course we know that he, 
and The Church of Sdentology were hounded by the government much as 
others like Willhelm Reich had been hotmded, for spreading the truth about 
technologies which may have the potential to liberate, rather than ens/Qve. 
Several gears aRer Hubbard's death, The Church ofSdentologg was granted, in 
1993, offidal recognition by the Internal Revenue Service. It linallg granted 
them the tax-deductible status which nm-of-the-miO religious groups have little 
trouble obtaining.) 

Hubbard's statement on "Pain-Drug-Hypnosis" was the tip of a vast iceberg of 
mind-control research using drugs as an aid to hypnotic induction. In the 1950s, 
under air force (and ultimately CIA) guidance, a series of papers were written 
defining the limits to which a government (ours or an enemy's) could go "to 
make persons behave against their will." In the introduction to one of these, the 
authors stated that the purpose of their study was "to review available scientific 
knowledge on the use of pharmacologic agents to influence the communication of 
information which, for one reason or another, an informant does not wish to 
reveal." 

1.. Ron Hubbard. 1'1111 Sc:ina o! Survitxll (Chttth of Scientology, LA. c..l.,l951) 
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They went on to say that, contrary to the alleged necessity for conducting such 
drug experiments, "no published reports have come to attention ... detailing the 
scientific application of drugs by intelligence agencies of any nation as a means of 
obtaining information. The methods of Russian interrogation and indoctrination 
are derived from age-old police methods that have been systematized, and are not 
dependent on drugs, hypnotism, or any other special procedure designed by 
scientists." 

The report, expressing concern over "proper" drug experimentation, urged that 
control placebos be administered "silently" so that no one would know who was 
getting what or when. Also discussed were the effects of drugs on different 
individuals in various settings, the relation between dosage levels, the effect of 
food, drink, and other physiological needs, and the effects of individual variables, 
such as sex, intelligence, medical and psychiatric status, life situation, and so 
forth, upon drug reactions. 

The top priority for testing in mind control were those drugs which were found to 
induce hypnosis. The administration and effects of barbiturates, amobarbital, 
seco-barbital, pentothal, and sodium amytal were studied. Nonbarbiturate 
sedatives and calmatives such as etho-chlorvynoL glutethimide, methyprylon, 
methylpa.rafynoL captodramin, and oxanimide were also tested. A whole range of 
amphetamines and their derivatives were discussed as good tools to "produce a 
'rush'- an outpouring of ideas, emotions, memories, and so forth." New drugs 
such as ritalin, marsilid, and mescaline were thought to hold great promise for 
mind-control applications. Perhaps the most promising of this last group was a 
"consciousness-expanding" drug called LSD-25.21 

Four months after the first nuclear reaction was created in a pile of uranium ore 
in Chicago, the psychotropic effects of LSD-25 were discovered by a thirty­
seven-year-old Swiss chemist working at the Sandoz research laboratory in BaseL 
Switzerland. On Aprill6, 1943, Dr. Albert Hofmann accidentally absorbed a 
minute quantity of the rye fungus byproduct with which he was experimenting. 
He later filed a report which described history's ftrst LSD "trip." 

"I was forced to stop my work in the laboratory in the middle of the afternoon and 
to go home, as I was seized by a peculiar restlessness associated with a sensation 
of mild dizziness ... a kind of drunkenness which was not unpleasant and which 
was characterized by extreme activity of imagination ... there surged upon me an 
uninterrupted stream of fantastic images of extraordinary plasticity and vividness 
and accompanied by an intense kaleidoscope-like play of colors ... "22 

Sandoz Laboratories had actually been manufacturing LSD since 1938, when it 
was fll'St used in an experiment with monkeys. Their scientists observed then 

,. louis GolbciWk, T1w u~ of Drugs in Jnformoliort-Snlting ln/mMrtJs. 
11 A11at Hoffnwl. High times, July, 1976. 
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that the substance caused a marked excitation of the animals, but these results 
did not motivate scientists to follow up with further research. Work with LSD fell 
into abeyance until the spring of 1943 when Hofmann prepared a new batch for 
the storeroom, and accidentally ingested some himself. 

Dr. Hofmann described that LSD experience: " .. .1 did not know what was going to 
happen, if I'd ever come back. I thought I was dying or going crazy .•. My first.. 
experiment with LSD was a 'bum trip' as one would say nowadays." 

Dr. Hofmann's new discovery was investigated by the European psychiatrists as a 
possible key to the chemical nature of mental illness. In 1950 LSD was 
introduced to American Psychiatrists, and interest spread rapidly in the scientific 
community here. 

In 1953, the CIA made plans to purchase ten kilograms of LSD for use in "drug 
experiments with animals and human beings." Since there are more than 10,000 
doses in a gram, that meant the CIA wanted 100 million doses. The CIA obviously 
intended to "comer the market" on LSD so that other countries would not be 
ahead of the U.S. in their potential for "LSD warfare." (Later the cryptocrats were 
to say that they'd merely gotten milligrams and micrograms confused.) 

That year Sandoz Laboratories Filled many orders for LSD from the CIA and the 
Department of Defense. According to Hofmann, they continued to do so up until 
the mid-sixties. The anny would visit the labs every two years or so, to see if any 
teclmological progress had been made towards the manufacture of LSD in large 
quantities. Dr. Hofmann said that he had never been told the reason for the 
anny' s interest in the drug, but he assumed, from the large quantities being 
discussed, that it was to be used for weapons research. 

As an employee of the phannaceutical house, Dr. Hofmann was in no position to 
warn the anny researchers away from the drug despite his belief that it would be 
extremely dangerous if used improperly and despite his personal distaste for their 
work. 

"I had perfected LSD for medical use, not as a weapon," he said. "It can make you 
insane or even kill you if it is not properly used under medical supeiVision. In any 
case, the research should be done by medical people and not by soldiers or 
intelligence agencies." 

In 1963 Hofmann received a letter from a scholar at HaiVard requesting 
twenty-five kilograms of psilocybin for research purposes. Psilocybin was a 
psychedelic substance similar in effect to LSD but more subtle and much less 
powerfuL Before the sales department at Sandoz would act on this order for "the 
extraordinarily large quantity of psychedelic compounds," they asked the scholar 
to provide them with the necessary import license from U.S. health authorities. 
He failed to provide it Later Hofmann Commented on "the unrealistic manner 
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with which he handled this transaction [which) left the impression of a person 
unconcerned with the regulations of society."23 The scholar's name was Timothy 
Leary. 

Leary came to the CIA's attention through a drinking buddy at Berkeley named 
Frank Barron. Barron had guided Leary through the creation of his first book, a 
supposed landmark in 1956 psychology circles entitled: Interpersonal Diagnosis 
of Personality. Barron introduced Leary to CIA officials and set him up for his role 
in the "Psychedelic Sixties." 

Shortly after Leary entered the circle of the cryptocracy his wife died and he was 
left with two children to raise. Miraculously he was offered a well-paying job on 
the faculty of Harvard University. His boss was fonner OSS official, David 
McClelland, the editor of the secret service's important work Assessment of Men, a 
book which outlined the framework by which individuals were selected for 
espionage work during W. W. n. 

At Cambridg~ Leary launched himself into his work which was funded by 
Harvard, which in tum was funded by NIMH, which in tum was funded secretly 
by the CIA's MKultra program. Leary began experimenting with LSD on prisoners 
in the Concord Correctional Facility in Concord, Massachusetts. On the books, 
this research was funded by the Uris Brothers foundation in New York City, under 
the auspices of Harvard. What Leary learned from the Concord prisoners was 
published in 1962 in his paper entitled How to Change Behavior. In it, Leary 
explained what a powerful tool LSD was for changing ways of thinking and living. 

By 1960 Leary had become fascinated by the effects of LSD upon creativity, so he 
went to Greenwich Village in New York City. There he began to recruit artists as 
LSD guinea pigs. He claims to have "guided trips" for about 3,000 volunteers 
among them Allen Ginsberg, Charles Olson, Jack Kerouac, Robert Lowell, Charles 
Mingus, Miles Davis, John Lennon, Jim Morrison, Aldous Huxley, Arthur Koestler, 
Alan Watts as well as "swamis, gurus, mystics, psychics by the troop." It was poet 
Allen Ginsberg who, after experiencing the mystical effects of LSD himself, 
persuaded the up-tight Dr. Leary to try it That marks the time when a very 
different Leary began to emerge. 

While Leary had received NIMH grants at the University of California at Berkeley 
from 1953-56, and while working for the U.S. Public Health Service from 1954-58, 
at first he denied that any of his psychedelic research projects at Harvard were 
funded by the government Yet when I fmally sat with him face-to-face after 
Operation Mind Control had been published (1979), and naively asked him if he 
was "witting" or "unwitting" of his collaboration with the CIA, Leary answered 
with: "Who would you work for, the Yankees or the Dodgers? I mean, who was I 
supposed to work for, the KGB?" 

• Ibid. 
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Previous to my interview with Leary I had queried National Institute of Mental 
Health Director Bertram Brown. Brown said that, although such research at Harv­
ard University was funded by HEW and NIMH grants from the period of 1956-63, 
"records available for projects supported during that period generally do not go 
below the major institution level; e.g., awards are identified as being made to 
Harvard University, but not to departments or centers within that institution ... " 
Here we encounter another example of the government's built-in deniability. 

Harvard claimed that its records on Leary's research could not be located. 

Leary told ABC Newshack Paul Altmeyer." The CIA funded and suported and 
encouraged hundreds of young psychiatrists to experiment with this drug (LSD). 
The fallout from that was that young psychologists (like himself) began taking it 
themselves and discovering it was an intelligence enhancing, consciousness 
.. g . 24 

ratSm expenence •.. 

"' give the CIA total credit for sponsoring and initiating the entire consciousness 
movement, counter culture events of the 1960s," Leary said. 

The CIA's former chief psychologist, John Gittinger obviously was asked by 
Altmeyer if the CIA did indeed provide Leary with the LSD which fueled the 
"Psychedelic Sixties." Gittinger replied on camera:" The countercase that I would 
make in relationship to that is that, remember the people who were doing the 
research were people who would be doing the research regardless of who was the 
sponsor; that it was not the CIA who asked these people to work on these. These 
people were working on it and the CIA helped them (emphasis added) to do that 
particular work." 

In the spring of 1962 Leary was approached by Mary Pinchot Meyer, wife of CIA 
executive Cord Meyer. Leary says he looked up from his deck to see a 
good-looking woman leaning against the door post with her hip tilted 
provocatively, studying him with a bold stare. "She appeared to be in her late 
thirties," he said, " ... Flamboyant eyebrows, piercing green-blue eyes, fine-boned 
face. Amused, arrogant, aristocratic. 

"'Dr. Leary," she said coolly, "''ve got to talk to you.'" 

She introduced herself to Leary as Mary Pinchot and told him, "I've come from 
Washington to discuss something very important. I want to learn how to run an 
LSD session. 

" •• .1 have this friend who's a very important man. He's impressed by what I've told 
him about my own LSD experiences and what other people have told him. He 
wants to try it himself. So I'm here to learn how to do it. I mean, I don't want to 
goof up or something." 
,. Timothy Lary, Mission Him Cortrol, ABC-'IV News Docummbry , Paul Allmeyt:r, Producer, 1979. 
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Leary invited her to bring her friend to Massachusetts for a couple of days and 
he'd run a session with them. But Mary refused the idea, saying her friend was 
such a well-lmown public figure that'd be impossible. 

"People involved in power usually don't make the best subjects," Leary told her. 

"Don't you think that if a powerful person were to tum on with his wife or 
girlfriend it would be good for the world?" Mary asked. 

"Nothing that involves brain-change is certain," Leary said. "But in general we 
believe that for anyone who's reasonably healthy and happy, the intelligent thing 
to do is to take advantage of the multiple realities available to the human brain. .. " 

Later, while Leary and Mary were sharing a glass of wine, according to Leary, 
Mary said: "You poor innocent thing. You have no idea what you've gotten into. 
You don't really understand what's happening in Washington with drugs, do 
you?" 

Leary admits he said he'd heard rumors about the military. 

"'t' s time you learned more," Mary said. "The guys who run things - I mean the 
guys who really run things in Washington-- are very interested in psychology, 
and drugs in particular. These people play hardball, Timothy. They want to use 
drugs for warfare, for espionage, for brainwashing, for controL" 

"Yes," Leary writes in 1983, describing what he lmew in 1962 or before, "We've 
heard about that." 

" .•. Teach us how to run sessions, use drugs to do good," Mary said. 

Leary said he felt uneasy, like "that hit you get from people who live in the hard 
political world." There was something calculating about Mary. 

Still, apparently Leary did tum her on and a couple of days later he put her on the 
plane back to Washington. Six months passed before he saw her again. With no 
warning she called him to a clandestine meeting in Room 171 at the Ritz Hotel in 
Boston. 

" •.. Everything is going beautifully," Leary reports she said. "On all fronts in fact. I 
can't give details, of course, but top people in Washington are turning on. You'd 
be amazed at the sophistication of some of our leaders. And their wives. We're 
getting a little group together, people who are interested in learning how to tum 
on." 

Leary repeated his doubts about getting high with "power-oriented" people, but 
Mary protested, saying that there were a lot of very smart people in Washington 
those days, but agreeing that power was important to them. "And these drugs do 
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give a certain power. That's what it's all about Freeing the mind. " ... Until very 
recently control of American consciousness was a simple matter for the guys in 
charge. The schools instilled docility. The radio and TV networks poured out 
conformity ... " Leary reports Mary saying. 

According to Leary, Mary told him that drugs were of the most vital interest to the 
power elite in Washington. She said that a few years before "they" (she was 
obviously talking about her husband's employers) had become "absolutely 
obsessed with the notion that the Soviets and the Chinese were persuading our 
POWs in Korea to defect by brainwashing them with LSD and mescaline ... " 
( There is yet no evidence that this was true.) 

"That's certainly possible, "Leary quotes Leary saying. "With what we've 
discovered about set and setting, we know that almost anyone's mind can be 
changed in any direction." 

"Any direction?" he says, Mary asked. 

"With a minimum of information about the subject's personal life and two or 
three LSD sessions, you could get the most conventional person to do outrageous 
things." 

"Suppose the person wanted to be brainwashed in a certain direction ... wanted to 
change himself?" 

"Easier yet," Leary quotes himself saying. "Our research is conclusive on this. 
Changing your mind, developing a new reality-fix, is a simple and straight­
forward proposition. Of course, altering your mind is one thing. Changing the 
outside world to conform to your new vision remains the difficult problem for 
us ... " Leary says he struggled with the word. "Utopiates." 

Mary was delighted. "' told you the first time we mel I want to learn how to 
brainwash." 

After talking with Leary about making it a better world, she again asked Leary to 
teach her how to "brainwash". He said that didn't sound very ladylike and she 
burst into laughter saying: " If I can teach the use of utopiates to the wives and 
mistresses of important people in our government, then we can ... well shit, 
Timothy, don't you see what we can do?" 

"What?" Leary says he said. 

"We can do on a bigger scale what you are already doing with your students -- use 
these drugs to free people. For peace, not war. We can tum on the Cabinel Turn 
on the Senate. The Supreme Court Do I have to explain further?" 
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One wonders, who, besides Abbie Hoffman, would have the courage to say 
something like that in public? The cryptocracy took Hoffman seriously when he 
threatened to dose New York City's water supply. 

Leary says his response was to feel scared. "But come to think of it, it was close to 
what we Harvardites in our session rooms, lazily architecturing hopeful futures, 
had spelled out as the goal of psychedlic research. 

So Leary told her," What do you want from me? The drugs?" 

"Just a little bit to get started. With our connections we'll be able to get all the 
supplies we want. And all you need too. Mainly I want advice about how to handle 
sessions. And how to handle any problems that come up," Leary reports Mary 
saying. 

Leary describes giving her a "cram course" on psychedelic sessions, then he drove 
her to the airport to catch a plane back to D.C. 

Tim Leary and Richard Alpert were flfed from Harvard in 1963, ostensibly for 
giving LSD to an undergraduate, but basically because they were giving it 
indiscriminately to just about anyone who asked, and the news got out. A 
controversy over the nature of their research exploded into headlines, so Leary 
and Co. retreated to Mexico, where they attempted to carry on LSD experiments 
outside the purview of the press, or do-gooders in local government. In June of 
1963 they ran afoul of even the notoriously cormpt Mexican government and 
were expelled from that country for "engaging in activities not permitted to a 
tourist." 

From Mexico they moved to a huge estate outside of Millbrook, New York, which 
was owned by Margaret Mellon Hitchcock and her sons, Tommy and Billy. ( It 
may have been mere coincidence that the father of Tommy and Billy, Tommy 
Hitchcock Sr., an Air Ace ofW.W.I who lost his life in 1943 over England, was 
connected to the highest levels of U.S Intelligence. And there are more suspicious 
circumstances which might be explored at another time which could indicate 
that the Hitchcocks were very tight with elements of the cryptocracy .) With 
Hitchcock support, Leary, Metzner, Alpert and company established the 
International Federation for Internal Freedom (later to be called the Castalia 
Foundation). These organizations served as a platform for Leary to propagandize 
for LSD which, he now claimed, could save the world from nuclear perdition by 
"blowing the mind." 

In late November, 1963, just after Leary had returned from Mexico, a phone call 
came from Mary Pinchot. With urgency in her voice, she insisted on seeing him. 
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"Oh, you reckless Irishman," She said," You got yourself in trouble again. It's 
magnificent, these headlong cavalry charges of yours. Mais ce n 'est pas la 
guerre." 

"What'd I do wrong?" Leary says he said. 

"Publicity. I told you they'd let you do anything you want as long as you kept it 
quiet. The plan to set up psychedelic training centers around the country was 
ingenious from all sides. They would have infiltrated every chapter to get some of 
their people trained. But they're not going to let CBS ftlm you drugging people on 
a lovely Mexican beach. You could destroy both capitalism and socialism in one 
month with that sort of thing," Leary says Mary said. 

Leary says he was struck by the brittleness Mary had picked up from ( and here 
Leary knows of what he speaks, turning admirable phrases in the process): "those 
stem-eyed business-suited WASPs who shuttle from home to office in limousines 
- the information brokers, editors, board members, executive branch officials -
youngish men with oldish eyes ( faces you used to see around Harvard Square or 
in the Yale quad), initiated early into the Calvinist conspiracy, sworn to the 
forever reliable, working for WJ.ld Bill Donovan in Zurich, for Allen Dulles in 
Washington, for Henry Luce as bureau chiefs and then shuffling from Newsweek 
to the Post~ manipulators of secret documents, facts, rumors, estimates, anns 
inventories, stock margins, voting blocs, industrial secrets, gossip about the 
sexual and drug preferences of every member of Congress, trained to grab and 
maintain what they can, all loyal to the Protestant belief that the Planet Earth 
sucks." 

Mary was scared. She burst into tears. "You must be very careful now. Don't make 
any waves. No publicity. I'm afraid for you. I'm afraid for all of us." 

Leary tried to calm her, inviting her back to the big house on the estate in 
Millbrook. 

"I know what you're thinking. But this is not paranoia. I've gotten mixed up in 
some dangerous matters. It's real. You've got to believe me." Leary says she glared 
at him. "Do your 

The next call from Mary came the day after the assassination of Jack Kennedy. "I 
had really been expecting it," Leary says. 

He could hardly understand her. He said she thought she was either drugged or 
"stunned with grief." 

Leary says, Mary Pinchot Meyer said, "They couldn't control him any more. He 
was changing too fast. He was learning too much. .. They'll cover everything up. I 
gotta come see you. I'm scared. I'm afraid. Be careful." 
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That was the last time Leary heard from Mary. He kept waiting for her to call 
again but she never did. He didn't know what happened to her until he saw an 
article in The New York Times: 

Woman Painter Shot and Killed on Canal Towpath in Capital 

Mrs. Mary Pinchot Meyer was a Friend of Mrs. Kennedy; Suspect is Arraigned 

Mary had been shot twice in the left temple and once in the chest at 12:45 in the 
afternoon of October 13, 1964. Dressed in a sweatsuit she had been walking alone, 
along the Old Chesapeake and Ohio Canal towpath in Georgetown. A friend told 
reporters that she sometimes walked there with her close friend Jacqueline 
Kennedy. 

Mary's brother-in-law was the Washington bureau chief of Newsweek, Benjamin 
C. Bradlee. It was he who identified her body. The article described Bradlee as 
having been an intimate of the late President Kennedy. The Times article also 
mentioned Mary's ex-husban~ Cord Meyer, Jr., identifying him as a fonner leader 
of the American Veterans Committee and the World Federalists, "now a 
government employee". The CIA, of course was not mentioned. 

Police said that the motive was apparently robbery or assault Her purse was 
found in her home. The suspect, a black male, was held without bail. 

Distraught, over the news of Mary's death, Leary asked his well-connected friend, 
Van Wolfe, to see what he could find out Wolfe had been movie mogul Mike 
Todd's partner in business and his attractive young wife was a Rothchild. Over the 
years Wolfe had developed an incredible network of friends in high places. 

" ••. Police intelligence knew all about the Mary Pinchot Meyer case," Wolfe said. 
"Apparently a lot of people are convinced it was an assassination. Two slugs in the 
brain and one in the body. That's not the M.O. of a rapist And a mugger isn't 
going to shoot a woman with no purse in her hand." 

Leary says that he didn't find out what happened until he read an article in the 
San Francisco Chronicle some time later. Leary paraphrases it 

"James Truitt, the source for this sensational story, was identified as a fonner 
assistant to Philip Graham, publisher of The Washington Post. In interviews with 
The National Enquirer, Associated Press and The Washington Post, Truitt 
revealed that a woman named Mary Pinchot Meyer had conducted a two-year love 
affair with President John Kennedy and had smoked marijuana with him in a 
White House Bedroom. A confidant of Mary Meyer, Truitt told a Post 
correspondent that she and Kennedy met about 30 times between January 1962 
and November 1963, when Kennedy was assassinated. Mary Meyer told Truitt that 
JFK had remarked, "This isn't like cocaine, I'll get you some of that" Truitt 
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claimed that Mary Meyer kept a diary of her affair with the president, which was 
found after her death by her sister Toni Bradlee and turned over to James 
Angleton, chief of CIA counter-intelligence who took the diary to CIA 
headquarters and destroyed it. According to the Post another source confinned 
that Mary Meyer's diary was destroyed. This source said the diary ... contained a 
few hundred words of vague reference to an un-named friend. 

"Mary Meyer's sister was quoted by the Associated Press as saying, "I knew 
nothing about it when Mary was alive. 

"The article," Leary says," also revealed that the fanner husband of Mary Pinchot 
Meyer was Cord Meyer, Jr., one of the most influential officials in the CIA- the 
only agent who had been awarded the Distinguished Intelligence Medal three 
times." 

Leary frequently smoked marijuana and took LSD himself. His speeches, which 
were (and still are) addressed to overflow audiences, were tailor-made for true 
believers in the new drug cult. Leary issued many public statements on the 
benefits of LSD to the individual and society. Always pretending to be politically 
naive, he predicted that there would come a day when "a new profession of 
psychedelic guides will inevitably develop to supervise these experiences." 

Finally, in the mid-sixties, Leary coined his famous slogan, "Tum on, tune in, 
drop out," and spoke at college lectures to the legions of young people who had 
illegally experimented with LSD and other psychedelic substances. Through 
magazine interviews, television appearances, movies, records, and books, Leary 
projected himself as the culture hero of a new generation which was fighting for 
an individual's right to alter his own consciousness -- a right, Leary then 
maintained, which was guaranteed by the Constitution of the United States. 

A declassified CIA memo dated November 1, 1963 features Dr. Leary, Dr. Richard 
Alpert and their organization which advocated the expansion of consciousness 
through psychedelic chemicals, the International Federation for Internal Freedom 
(IFIF). In alanning tones the memo ordered all CIA groups involved in mind 
control operations to report if any agency personnel were involved with either 
Leary or Alpert or IFIF. The responses to this in-house memo have not yet been 
released by the CIA. 

By 1968, society seemed to become divided into those who had taken psychedelic 
drugs and those who hadn't. Eventually LSD, marijuana, and cocaine were 
available on street corners and schoolyards throughout the land. The cryptocracy 
had covertly supported Leary and associates, and the snowballing effects of their 
LSD propaganda now caused an apparent reversal of policy, Was it that LSD and 
the other psychoactive drugs were politically dangerous in that they suspended 
the conditioning of people, if only temporarily, long enough to see the lies they 
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were being fed? Was it that they suspended the conditioning long enough for 
people to see through the indoctrination of the government, span the credibility 
gap, and the government propaganda for the Vietnam War? The "acid heads" 
began to act with visionary fervor. They started to actively criticize the war in 
Vietnam and call for many social reforms. The "psychedelic revolution" 
embarrassed the government at every tum. 

But if the gavemment didn't deliberately create the "psychedelic revolution," it 
certainly was responsible for shutting it down. It did this by controlling the 
availability and quality of drugs. The very underground LSD labs which the CIA 
bad helped set up were raided. Then it wasn't long before the quality of LSD 
degenerated and the supply dried up. Several studies have shown that when LSD 
became illegal (October 6, 1966) pure LSD became scarce and the habits of the 
drug culture changed. 

Domestic counter-intelligence agencies began to manipulate the press, trying to 
overcome all the favorable publicity psychedelics had received. A Sdence article 
run in 1967 which claimed that LSD caused damage to chromosomes proved to 
be untrue. The article was picked up and carried by The Journal of the American 
Medical Association, which warned of LSD-induced "malformations, fetal loss and 
mental retardation." This article was widely quoted, even in the sub-culture press. 
In 1971 Science ran a survey of all the available literature, and concluded that LSD 
did not cause genetic damage. 

In 1969 Diane Linkletter jumped from a window to her death. Her father, 
talk-show host Art Linkletter, blamed her death on the effects of LSD. "It was 
murder," he said. "She was murdered by the people who manufacture and sell 
LSD. LSD can kill!" Linkletter got a lot of press and a private audience with 
President Nixon. In 1982, Linkletter told author Jeremy Alderson that there was 
never any proof that LSD was involved with his daughter's death. 

Rumors in the underground press had it that LSD caused "flashbacks". 
Psychedelic sojourners of the Sixties are still waiting for those flashbacks to 
happen. The Journal of Psychoative Drugs did a survey which showed no more 
"flashbacks" from those that had taken LSD than from thoses who practiced yoga 
or other forms of meditation. 

But, simultaneous with the negative press about LSD, the supply began to dry up, 
and large supplies of heroin mysteriously became available. It was strong heroin, 
imported from the Golden Triangle in Southeast Asia (largely under CIA control). 
Many young people who had their "consciousness expanded" too far to distinguish 
between one drug and another turned to heroin. The government-inspired 
hysteria over drugs led many to think, "Well, they lied to us about pot, they must 
be lying about heroin." And so when psychedelics were no longer easily obtained, 
and heroin was, many young people became addicts. 
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The political visions of the psychedelic generation faded, as many who had 
"turned on" dropped out of city life and fled to the country. Those who stayed in 
the cities followed Leary's advice and dropped out from participation in the main 
stream of the society. Many of them followed an alternate route in the American 
tradition by living as pushers and bootleggers, making large sums of money from 
the newly created demand for illegal drugs. 

In 1958, Dr. Louis Gottschalk, the CIA's "independent contractor," had prepared a 
think tank report which suggested that the intelligence agencies might control 
people through addiction. 

Presaging the cunning behind the unwinnable "War on Drugs," Gottshalk's report 
put it this way: '1'he addiction of a source to a drug which the interrogator could 
supply, obviously would foster the dependence of the source on the interrogator. 
Where the source was addicted previous to the situation, the interrogator might 
find, already established, a pattern of evasion of laws and responsibilities which 
the addict had developed to meet his need for the drug in a society which 
proscribes its use." 

The report went so far as to recommend that wounded Gls who had become 
addicted to pain-killing drugs be recruited from hospitals. It stated: "Where the 
source had become addicted in the setting as a sequel to the treatment of injuries, 
the ability of the interrogator to give or withhold the drug would give him a 
powerful weapon against the source ... 1125 

In the late sixties, when it became lmown that thousands of Gls serving in 
Vietnam had become addicted to Laotian heroin, the U.S. Bureau of Narcotics 
bied sending a team of agents to Laos, but its investigations were blocked by the 
Laotian government, the State Department, and the CIA. While the Laotian 
government's hostility toward the bureau is understandable, the reticence shown 
by the American government and the CIA requires some explanation. According 
to U.S. narcotics agents serving in Southeast Asia, "the Bureau encountered a 
good deal of resistance from the CIA and the Embassy when it first decided to 
open an office in Vietnam ... " Did this policy bear some relation to Gottschalk's 
think-tank statement, made some thirty years earlier -- to create an anny of drug 
dependent people who could be controlled by their suppliers -- in this case the 
CIA? 

The CIA also contributed indirectly to the heroin traffic by training men who then 
turned to smuggling. In the 1974 Pulitzer Prize-winning study of the heroin 
trade by the staff and editors of Newsday, it was revealed the U.S. Bureau of 
Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) agents in Miami cross-checked a list of 
men who landed at the Bay of Pigs against police records. They found that at 

Gotbchilk. op.dL 
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least 8 percent of the 1,500-man CIA-trained force had subsequently been 
investigated or arrested for drug dealing. 

"'f it hadn't been for their CIA training," one BNDD agent was quoted as saying, 
"some of these might never have gone into the [smuggling] business." He added 
that their training in paramilitary operations, weapons use, and smuggling of 
equipment and men from one place to another is well suited for illegal drug 
importing. 

The head of the Office of Strategic Intelligence at BNDD, John Warner, said, "The 
key to heroin trafficking is the principle of compartmentability. It's the same way 
the CIA operates. Most people don't know what the whole project involves; most 
just know their particuiar job.fl26 

Fonner CIA agent, Victor Marchetti was reported as stating "The CIA is implicated 
in the drug traffic in several counbies. The Mafia, thanks to the CIA, has a free 
hand in the vast opium traffic from Turkey through Italy to the United States.1127 

On July19, 1975, Sen. Charles H. Percy, (R., lli.) released a letter charging that the 
CIA had the Justice Department drop a drug case to protect its own involvement 
in drugs. Percy's letter said that the CIA refused to give federal prosecutors 
evidence in a case against Puttaporn Khramkhruan, a CIA employee, and one 
other person. Percy complained that "apparently CIA agents are untouchable -
however serious their aime or however much hann is done to society." 

The senator's letter said he had written the Justice Department to find out why 
charges were dropped against the two men, who were allegedly attempting to 
smuggle fifty-nine pounds of opium into the United States from Thailand. The 
reply he received, from Deputy Assistant Attorney General John C. Kenney, stated 
that CIA Associate General Counsel John Greany had "insisted that there were 
other considerations at stake and that the material sought by the prosecutors 
would not be turned over." Kenney said Greany had explained that if 
Khramkhruan and his associate went on trial, "the situation could prove 
embarrassing because of Mr. Khramkhruan's involvement with CIA activities in 
Thailand, Burma, and elsewhere." 

The CIA knew that heroin causes no "consciousness expansion." It brings on a 
physical feeling, a wann, glowing "high," and then dullness and insulation. But 
the government was interested in behavior control, and heroin, like LSD, was an 
important tool in gaining such control. 

While some clandestine agencies of government were busy distributing drugs to 
pleasure-seeking underground America, in the laboratories they were studying 

• Alfred W. McCoy, ~thJeen 8. Reed, and Leomrd P. Adams, The PoJiJics of lktoin in SouJheasi AAa /New York. 
Hlrper, 1973) 
17 VICtor Mlrcbetti, Freedom News Service, August.I976. 
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drugs for their capacities to provide access to the mind for purposes of behavior 
control. Seeking the perfect "incapacitating agent," army chemists at Edgewood 
Arsenal came up with a drug known as "BZ" whose effects were ten times more 
powerful than LSD. Described as a hallucinogenic "superdrug," BZ was said to be 
so powerful that a person who took it often experienced amnesia for long periods 
of time afterwards. 

To test its effects BZ was given to 2,490 "volunteers." Gen. Uoyd Fellenz, fonner 
commander of the Edgewood facility, said that the purpose of the BZ experiment 
was to produce an incapacitating gas ( sprayed from the sky as in the film Jacob's 
lAdder) or drug which could be placed in an enemy's water supply. 

Dr. Solomon Snyder, professor of psychiatry and phannacology at Jolms Hopkins 
University Medical SchooL had fonnerly worked at Edgewood. "The army's 
testing of LSD was just a sideshow compared to its use of BZ," Dr. Snyder said. 
"Nobody can tell you for sure it won't cause a long-lasting effect. With an initial 
effect of eighty hours, compared to eight hours for LSD, you would have to worry 
more about its long-lasting or recurrent effects.1128 

Dr. George Aghajanian, who had also worked at Edgewood, confirmed Snyder's 
opinion. "With LSD," Aghajanian explained, "you tend to dwell on the experience 
and recall it and that can lead to flashbacks. But with BZ an amnesia occurs 
allerwards that blocks the experience out."{Emphasis added.)29 

Predicting the course of future events, Gottschalk's report stated: "the volume of 
effort devoted to studying the behavioral effects of drugs has expanded 
tremendously in recent years and will probably continue to grow. In part, this 
may be atbibuted to the ready financial support such activities have achieved. 
The interest of scientists in employing drugs in research, however, transcends an 
interest in drug effects, per se. Drugs constitute valuable tools for 
experimentation directed toward developing basic physiological and psychological 
knowledge. Work by scientists in several such areas, in particular, will increase 
knowledge of drugs which may be exploitable by interrogators." 

Gottschalk's conclusion was that "drugs can operate as positive catalysts to 
productive interrogation. Combined with the many other stresses in captivity 
that an individual may be obliged to undergo, drugs can add to the factors aimed 
at weakening the resistance of the potential informant.. But for many reasons, 
the use of drugs by an interrogator is not sure to produce valid results. The 
effects of drugs depend to a large extent on the personality makeup and physical 
status of the informant and the kind of rapport that the interrogator is able to 
establish with the infonnant Knowing the predominating pharmacologic actions 
of a number of psychoactive drugs, an interrogating team might choose that 

• , Solomon SD)'Cler, Zodiac News SeMce. July 29, 1975 
W~n Post, July 25, 1975. 
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chemical agent which is most likely to be effective in view of the informant's 
personality, physical status and the various stressful experiences he has already 
~ d t"rl 1130 un e.6 one ... 

This study and subsequent ones verified the fact that a number of drugs could 
conveniently be used to take over the human mind against the will of the 
individual. Through the use of drugs, the skilled mind controller could first 
induce a hypnotic trance. Then, one of several behavior modification techniques 
could be employed with amplified success. In themselves, without directed · 
suggestions, drugs affect the mind in random ways. But when drugs are 
combined with classical conditioning and the language of hypnosis, an individual 
can be molded and manipulated beyond his own recognition. 

The government's interest in controlling minds and motivating involuntary 
behavior was focused not only on individuals but also on large groups. Mass 
hypnosis and "crowd psychology" were well-known phenomena, and to that end 
propaganda teclmiques had already been developed. But mass "narcosis" was a 
new concept out of which grew the idea of "nonkill" warfare, where vast 
populations could simultaneously, or in one action, be drugged into submission. 

In 1961, in an appearance before the Subcommittee on Science and Astronautics 
of the House of Representatives, Maj. Gen. Marshall Stubbs, head of the Anny 
Chemical Corps, gave a speech cautioning that "we have not gone far enough in 
our research on these incapacitating compounds to be confident that they have 
real potential in warfare. We do not want to exaggerate claims for them to create 
the impression that we are on the verge of bloodless war." 

General Stubbs admitted, "We are attempting to completely separate the 
incapacitating agents from the lethal agents so that any castigation nonnally 
given to toxic agents will not be associated with them, since they do not maim or 
kill. As a result we hope to have a weapon which will give the commander much 
freer rein in its use as compared to the toxic agents. It is my hope that through 
the use of incapacitating agents, the free world will have a relatively clear and 
rapid means of both fighting and deterring limited war, which has come to the 
forefront in the international political scene in the last several years. It is one 
means by which we can maintain some degree of equality in the face of 
overwhehning manpower superiority of the Communist-dominated nations." 

One idea consistently expressed in the utterances of government employees was 
the idea that "we must beat the Commies to the punch." To that end the anny 
launched a crash program investigating nerve gases, riot control gases, defoliants, 
herbicides, and biological agents such as anthrax, Rocky Mountain spotted fever, 
and bubonic plague. It also developed what it called "harassing agents" -
chemicals that cause headaches, vomiting, and severe pain. 

Cottsbalk. op cit 



Operation Mind Control 89 

The idea was that one saboteur would be able to cany enough in his pocket to 
temporarily incapacitate the population of a city the size of New York. A 
two-suiter piece of luggage could hold enough drugs to disable every man, 
woman, and child in America. Most of the drugs the government experimented 
with were odorless, colorless, and tasteless and therefore undetectable. They were 
easily soluble in water, and only slowly would they lose their potency in 
chlorinated water supplies. Food which came in contact with these chemicals 
remained contaminated for days unless thoroughly washed. The inhalation of 
particles of these drugs suspended in the air produced the same effects as 
ingestion. Dissolved, they could penetrate the skin and enter the bloodstream 
without having been ingested. 

The army assumed that a city exposed to such chemical attack would cease to 
function, the inhabitants so confused by the "trip" that the army could march into 
the city and take over, facing only minimal resistance. And the next day, the 
populace would return to nonnal consciousness and be fit to work for the 
occupying army. 

To test their assumption, the army gave a squad of soldiers LSD in coffee without 
their knowledge. Mer the drug effects began the soldiers were ordered by their 
sergeant to perform normal and routine tasks while they were being filmed by a 
hidden camera. They could not follow even the simplest conunand nor 
accomplish the most ordinary task with an acceptable degree of competency. 
Two of the men simply giggled helplessly throughout the entire afternoon. As the 
platoon sergeant was not a coffee drinker, he did not receive the drug. Neither 
had he been told about the test. Accordingly he grew more and more frustrated 
and perplexed as his men acted more and more erratically. 

Further studies indicated, however, that in actual warfare things would not be 
that easy. Urban populations spend relatively little time out of doors. Since most 
of these drugs settled out of the atmosphere quickly and did not pass through 
air-conditioning systems, they would therefore not affect everyone. If the water 
supply were lightly laced with a psychedelic, an individual would have to drink a 
pint of tap water before being affected. The concentration could be made heavier, 
enough so that one would only have to brush his teeth or wash his face before 
getting "high," but with concentrations that large, even an infant's formula or a 
cup of tea would be a dangerous poison. 

Further, those exposed to minute amounts of these "incapacitating agents" might 
be able to fight off the symptoms. Those heavily dosed would suffer enormous 
mental distortions and could become wildly irrational. Mildly intoxicated persons 
might go about as if in a normal state, unaware that their judgment and motor 
skills were impaired. The resulting number of accidents would be monumental. 
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The anny pretended to shelve its plans for "nonkill" warfare. But the major 
obstacle, as they saw it, was only the drugs. It was not that they might kill the 
enemy, but that as of yet the anny was unable to immunize its oum troops 
against drug effects. Not untill975 was a reliable LSD antidote developed. 

Timothy Leary's mysterious 
girffiend Mary Pinchot Meyer, 
(far right) former wife of top 
~lA man Cord Meyer along 
with her sister, Tony Bradlee 
(far left) and President John 

F. Kennedy. Backrow: Leary 
as he's arrested at JFK 
International Airport returning 
from Algeria. Foreground: 
Leary in more recent times, 
pensive, enjoying his only 
addiction. (Montage of photos 
from the John F. Kennedj l.bary 
and Stearnshovel Press.) 
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THE GUINEA PIG ARMY 

In June, 1975, it was revealed publicly for the first time what many had suspected 
-- that the CIA and a number of government agencies under its direction had 
actually been giving behavior-influencing drugs to citizens within the United 
States for more than twenty years. 

I was in Washington at the time, searching the catalogue card flies at the National 
Teclmical Infonnation Service. A previous search by friends in military 
intelligence of the MJ. Classified Index had revealed nothing but peripheral 
references to the object of my study: government research in drugs, hypnosis, 
behavior modification, and related subjects. 

The NTIS file is supposed to contain a complete numerical listing of all 
government contracts, by contract number, whether or not they are classified. 
The contract cards were indeed numbered in consecutive order, but the ones I 
was looking for were missing; the index simply skipped over them and continued 
on in numerical sequence. Other cards in the index were marked "classified," and 
I would not have been able to obtain the papers to which they referred. But the 
reports I was looking for were not even cited in the index, although references to 
them in scientific journals indicated that they had once existed. Classified or not, 
these documents had been removed from the record. 

That afternoon press accounts of the Roclcefeller Report to the President on CIA 
Activities said, "Beginning in the Late 1940s, the CIA began to study the 
properties of certain behavior-influencing drugs (such as LSD) and how such 
drugs might be put to use in intelligence activities." 

Further, according to the report, "The primary purpose of the drug program was 
to counter the use of behavior-influencing drugs clandestinely administered by an 
enemy, although several operational uses outside the United States were also 
considered." 

The Drug program," the report went on to say, "was part of a much larger CIA 
program to study possible means for controlling human behavior. Other studies 
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explored the effects of radiation, electric shock, psychology, psychiatry, sociology, 
and harassment substances." 

As it would do two years later, the press played up the drug angle and ignored the 
other experiments. The CIA had been actually experimenting with all kinds of 
mind-control teclmiques for twenty-odd years. 

It gave me little comfort, but it reaffirmed my sanity, to read in the report that 
"unfortunately only limited records of these drug programs are now available. All 
the records concerning the program were ordered destroyed in 1973, including a 
total of 152 separate files." 

As I left NTIS, George Orwell's prophecy in 1984 came to mind: "Who controls the 
past controls the future. Who controls the present controls the past" How long 
would it be before our society would perfectly mirror that state Orwell envisioned 
when he said; "All that was needed was an unending series of victories over your 
own memory. 'Reality control,' they called it •. 'double-think.'" 

In Orwell's book 1984, the government continually changed its past by creating 
new historical fictions to justify its present In 1975 I was wondering if we hadn't 
already gone beyond 1984, where, as Orwell said, "truth is falsehood," and 
"ignorance is strength." 

Five days after the Rockefeller Report was released, the public flap began. The 
children of Dr. Frank Olson were informed by the DIA that their father had been 
the individual the Report cited as the "employee of the Department of the Army 
who was given LSD without his knowledge while he was attending a meeting with 
CIA personnel working on the drug project" Olson had died when he fell, jumped 
or otherwise exited from a twelfth-floor hotel window in New York, while still 
under the influence of what was then billed as the most powerful mind-altering 
drug known to man. 

For twenty-two years the cause of Olson's death had been concealed. His family 
had been led to believe that he had committed suicide because of a mysterious, 
unexplained "mental breakdown." At no time after Olson's death was his family 
offered a true explanation of the real circumstances which had caused it 

Eric, the eldest son of Dr. Olson, said, "I'm very angry at the CIA because they let 
us grow up thinking our father had inexplicably committed suicide," YoWlg 
Olson said that his family had decided to sue the govenunent, not only out of 
desire to collect monetary damages but because "we think there's more 
information involved in this. It's also a way of holding the CIA publicly 
accoWltable for what they did." 

The Olson family discovered that an individual damaged while in govenunent 
employ cannot sue the govenunent But this didn't stop them. They asked the 
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Senate to vote them a special bill of recompense for the death of the head of their 
household. On May 18, 1976, the full Senate approved S.B. 3035 by voice vote 
and sent it on to the House. Senate Bill3035 specifically authorized 
appropriations totaling $1.25 million to be paid to the Olson Family. The House 
of Representatives, being more conservative at the time, cut the Senate's 
generous award and the Olson family eventually received only $750,000. A similar 
case, hied in civil court, might have brought the Olson family as much as three 
million dollars. 

Months before Olson plunged to his death, Harold Blauer, a professional tennis 
player, died after being given repeated doses of experimental psycho-chemicals by 
the anny at New York State Psychiatric Institute in New York City. For years the 
Blauer family had been trying to no avail, to find out the true cause of Harold 
Blauer's death. In the wake of the Olson scandal, the anny relaxed its cover-up 
and finally surrendered Mr. Blauer's medical file to his daughter, Mrs. Elizabeth 
Barrett. 

The chemical identities of the drugs he had received were not given; the drugs 
were listed only by number. The numbers were said to represent various 
hallucinogens, but because of "national security" it has never been revealed what 
the chemicals were that killed Harold Blauer. 

The crucial part of the anny's medical report stated: "Prenarcosis: - apprehensive 
- considerable persuasion required- injection administered at 9:53 a.m.; 
postnarcosis: - 9:59, subject so restless has to be restrained by nurse -- out of 
contact with reality- anns flailing- sweating profusely; 10:01, rapid oscillation 
of eyeballs; 10:11, body rigid all over, 10:15, stimulant administered; 10:20 to 
11:45,deep coma; 11:50, artificial respiration administered; 12:15, doctor 
pronounces subject dead; 12:30, hospital authorities notified; 3:30, body 
transferred to city morgue." 

Harold Blauer died without ever knowing what drug he received. And from the 
words in the report- "considerable persuasion required"- it looks as though he 
hadn't volunteered, either. 

Both Blauer's and Olson's deaths were covered up by the excuse of "national 
security." Their families were deliberately misled about the cause of death. No 
monetary compensation was offered except for the pensions or allotments due the 
families under normal circumstances. 

In the wake of these personal tragedies, increasing public pressure led other 
government agencies to make their confessions. The anny announced that since 
1956 it had tested LSD on nearly 1,500 unwitting servicemen, and on several 
thousand more volunteers, a total of 6,940 in all. At the same time the anny 
made this disclosure, it requested permission from the Defense Department to 
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conduct further tests with at least two new drugs -- drugs which were many times 
more powerful than LSD. Permission was granted with the stipulation that the 
"guinea pigs" be volunteers only. 

Within days of the anny' s admission of drug testing, the Department of Health, 
Education and Welfare revealed that it had administered LSD to about 2,500 
prisoners, mental patients, and paid volunteers between 1954 and 1968. HEW 
said further that it had given seven and a half million dollars in grants to more 
than thirty university researchers who independently ran LSD tests on human 
subjects. 

What was not revealed until much later was that the CIA had used every possible 
military and civilian agency of government, as well as a number of universities 
and private research groups, to test LSD and other drugs, plus a whole array of 
psycho-teclmologies in an all-out search for reliable methods of controlling the 
human mind. 

But the CIA's record was pretty good; for out of all the thousands of individuals 
who were given LSD or other drugs without their knowledge, only three are 
known to have died. 

· In 1955 a new drug-testing program was begun at the Edgewood Army Chemical 
Center. Volunteer soldiers were reauited but were not told what drugs they 
would be given, nor that men had died as a result of similar experiments. They 
were told they'd suffer only temporary discomfort. Seven thousand soldiers 
underwent the Edgewood Arsenal's tests. Five hundred eighty-five men were 
given LSD; the rest were administered other unspecified drugs. 

Dr. Gerald Klee was one of the first psychiatrists to work on the drug-testing 
program for the anny. When questioned by television aews as to how the 
volunteers had been reauited, he said that he didn't really know. They had come 
from all over the country, believing only that they were going to the Chemical 
Center to be used as subjects in chemical experiments. 

"Most of them were not highly educated, and even if they had been told exactly 
what they were to be given, they wouldn't have understood it," Dr. Klee said. 
"The advantage to them was time off to get away from some place they didn't 
want to be, to be near their family, girlfriends, whatever, and they had a pretty 
good life while they were there, as a matter of fact They spent very little of their 
time in the experiments and had a lot of free time ... " 

Wendell Queen was an army sergeant in 1964 when he volunteered for the drug 
experiments at Edgewood. Years later, when the Olson case was made public, Mr. 
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Queen tried to find out what drugs he had been given. He ran into a wall of 
security. The anny stated that it had no record that he was ever given drugs. 

But Sergeant Queen remembers differently. He had been given a drug that 
penetrated his skin, not through injection but simply by being placed on his arm 
with an eye dropper. "They just took a small drop and put it on my arm and my 
ann became inflamed and kinda itchy, something like a bad mosquito bite," he 
said. He was not told what drug it was. He was told only that the effects would 
be temporary. 

Several hours afterwards, he began to float. "' began to feel kinda happy and the 
room started turning around," Sergeant Queen related. "'had lost all my senses. I 
had no sense of balance or sense of the environment around me... Later on that 
night I really got paranoid and if anybody would come close to me I would think 
that they were going to kill me ... " 

Sergeant Queen had "flashbacks" for several months after that experiment when 
he would relive the states of mind he had experienced on that day. 

"My roommate told me later that one night I woke up screaming and hollering 
'don't kill me, don't kill me.' He $aid I became so violent that I began tearing my 
bed up," Sergeant Queen said. 

Sergeant queen remembers that at Edgewood he tried making a joke about being 
a human guinea pig. The medic administering the test didn't appreciate his sense 
of humor. "He said that the doctors were the only human guinea pigs around 
there because they took every new drug first. he said that they always got a 
bigger dose than anyone else ever did." 

According to the army, their LSD testing program came to an end in 1967. An 
anny spokesman promised a follow-up study on the 585 men who had been given 
LSD, but actually carried it out with only thirty-five officers -- and superficially, at 
that. Still, the army maintained that there had certainly been no LSD since Olson 
and Blauer. Once again it was not telling the whole truth. 

George Danald, a colonel at the Army Chemical School in Fort McClellan, 
Alabama, agreed to become a guinea pig in 1959. He believed in progress, and he 
believed that without experimentation and research there could be no progress. 
Thus, when the opportunity presented itself to him, he readily submitted to an 
injection of what was said to be LSD. 

Immediately after he took the drug, according to his wife, "his overall 
characteristics seemed to change, his attitude changed, mannerisms changed, and 
I'm sure a great deal more that I didn't notice at the time." 
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A year after Colonel Danald's psychedelic experience he was transferred to 
Edgewood Chemical Center. Every day it was his habit to pick up his daughter 
Dawn promptly after school. One day he didn't meet her and Dawn walked to the 
Officers' Club looking for him. His car was in the parking lot, so assuming her 
father was inside, she went into the club and asked if anyone had seen him. 
When nobody seemed to remember that he'd been there that day she went up to 
their apartment on the floor above and lmocked on his door. There was no 
answer, so she went in. The sitting room was littered with papers. She walked 
into the bedroom and noticed that the twin beds were apart. When she turned on 
the lights, she saw her father's body slumped at the foot of the bed. 

In shock, she went to her room next door and telephoned her mother, who was at 
work. "Mommy, I found Daddy," she said. "He's on the floor and he looks awful 
white." 

Colonel Danald had been dead for five hours when Dawn found him. He had 
taken his own life by putting a .25 caliber bullet through his temple. The pistol 
was still in his hand. 

Colonel Danald did not have a history of mental instability. Until the time of his 
experience at Fort McClellan, he had never had a depressed moment The only 
clue his family had to his apparent mental anguish was that, a few months before 
he died, he had once threatened to kill himself in a family argument No one had 
paid any attention to that since he bad been such a stable person in the past 

Mrs. Danald believes that her husband's death was caused by the mind-bending 
effects of the experiment, but she has so far been unable to prove her case. She 
and her family have received no compensation except the benefits which would 
normally accrue to a lifetime anny officer. 

Mary Ray was a research assistant at a psychiatric hospital which held military 
contracts to test LSD from 1958 to 1969. She helped doctors conduct 
experiments on more than 900 people. Some of them were mental patients. In 
1966 she offered herself for LSD testing. Her description is typical of a "bum trip." 

"' was in a state of becoming the universe. I became objects," she said. "' was no 
longer a person. Then, I got to a state of absolute terror. The closest thing I can 
remember being like that was as a chlld, when I was given ether ... it was the 
feeling like just before losing consciousness." 

But Mary was able to bring herself back from the LSD void: "' realized that I was a 
person, out of this billowing black seething weirdness, this horror ... 
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"I looked down and I saw my arms which were two white rivers with black threads 
and they were my veins. I realized that, and I felt that if I tried really hard, 
somehow I could sever the veins. I realized even though I was not really a person 
that I could end all this living nightmare, this hell, by cutting my veins. 

"Then I concentrated on this problem for what seemed centuries, because time 
did not exist It was a strange time distortion. I tried desperately to try to kill 
myself. There is no question in my mind, that if I'd had some sort of sharp 
instrument, and if I were alone, I would have killed myself .•• " 

The doctors and medics were helpless. "No one seemed to know how to handle 
the situation. No one knew what to do. It seemed like they were kids playing 
scientists.1131 

Mary Ray reported no amnesia, and no recurring after-effects. She never felt 
another overwhelming compulsion to conunit suicide, nor any compulsion to 
keep her experience secret 

In June of 1958, William F. Chaffm was a sergeant in the U.S. Air Force, stationed 
at Dover Air Force Base in Delaware. He had been a basic training instructor in 
biological, chemical, and radiological ( CBR) warfare earlier in his career and 
thought, when he read the bulletin offering volunteers a thirty day tour of duty at 
Edgewood Arsenal, that it would be easy duty. It would be a nice break in his dull 
routine and a thirty-day leave at government expense. He assumed that he'd be 
involved in a program much like the one he'd taught in basic military training on 
chemical and biological warfare tactics and defenses. 

On September 10, 1975, before a joint session of the Senate Subcommittee on 
Health and the Senate Subcommittee on Administrative Practice and Procedure, 
Chaffm testified to the lasting effects of his volunteer tour of duty at Edgewood. 
He told the committee that upon his anival at Edgewood, he was placed in a 
barracks with approximately thirty other volunteers. Daily, some of the 
volunteers were taken to various points on the base, given gas masks, and used in 
experiments involving DDT and other relatively mild chemicals. But at first 
Chaffm was simply ordered to report to a certain station each morning and then 
he would be released for the remainder of the day to pursue his own interests. 

Today Chaffm cannot say with any certainty how long this procedure went on. 
He can't remember whether he was there for one week, two weeks, or three 
weeks, before he was actually used in a test 

"At some point around the middle of the month of July [1958]," Chaffm told the 
committee, "myself and four or five o.ther individuals were taken to a hospital on 

n Mary IQy, Doc:umtntuy "Cuinu Pig Solditn," Granada Television Ud. 
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the base. We were, at that time, taken into a room and a psychologist or 
psychiatrist -- I cannot remember which -- who I believe was associated with the 
University of Maryland, infonned us that we would be administered a drug or a 
substance in distilled water. We were further infonned that this drug or 
substance would be odorless, tasteless, and colorless. We were asked to perlonn 
certain tests prior to the ingestion of the substance. My best recollection of these 
tests is that we were simply asked to estimate certain amounts of elapsed time by 
any means other than a watch or clock. We were then taken back to our various 
wards and a short time thereafter, I was given a beaker of colorless, odorless, and 
tasteless substance by an orderly or an attendant. 

"' have no recollection whatsoever that I was infonned of the nature or qualities of 
the substance. Certainly, no reference was made to any possibility of detrimental 
psychological or physical effects on myself, or my future family, by taking of the 
substance. 

"' cannot estimate adequately the length of time that elapsed after I took the drug 
until I first began to notice the effects, but my best recollection is that it was in 
the nature of one-half hour. 

"At that time, I remember being taken back to the psychiatrist or psychologist and 
again asked to estimate various lengths of time by any means except observing a 
clock or watch. It is exb em ely difficult for me to describe adequately what 
occurred in the next hours of that day. I have to this day, distinct recollections of 
vivid and colorful events that made no sense whatsoever to me. I have distinct 
recollections of either myself hallucinating or other individuals hallucinating and 
imagining that they were seeing certain objects and things. I do not recall if they 
were in fact hallucinating, or if I was simply imagining they were. 

'I was obsessed with a feeling that I can only describe as utter and total 
depression. I don't think these words adequately convey the meaning of that 
which I experienced, but I simply do not have the words to set forth the 
occurrences of that day. 

"Later, I was released from the hospital. I cannot recall if this was after a period of 
twelve hours, twenty-four hours, or thirty-six hours or more. It is simply 
impossible to adequately detennine what lengths of time elapsed." 

Shortly thereafter, Chaffin returned to his base. His life returned to its usual 
routine, but for some reason, he found it extremely difficuh to talk to anyone. He 
could not even bring himself to tell his wife about his Edgewood experience. 

"Since that time," Chaffin said, "I have experienced what I believe to be LSD 
flashbacks on at least three separate occasions. The feelings that encompassed me 
on those three different occasions were again what I can only describe as a total 
depression accompanied by a nearly uncontrollable desire to take my life ... " 



Operation Mind Control 99 

(Extensive research has shoum that there is no more chance of 1/a.shhacks with 
LSD than with alcohol.) 

"After Chaffin's return, his wife became pregnant In November of 1958, she 
miscarried. The Chaffms' doctor informed them that in all likelihood the fetus 
had been deformed. "I do not know at this time if this was attributable to LSD 
which I was administered at Edgewood, Maryland, or not We do not at this time 
know if various other problems which have arisen in one of my children are 
directly attributable to LSD or not Conversely, we do not at this time know that 
there is no relation. 

Actually there is no scientific evidence that ingestion of even large amounts of 
LSD-25 can cause genetic malformation. There is only evidence that if laboratory 
animals and eggs are saturated with a pure concentration of LSD, chromosomal 
damage can occur. Dr. Jolyn West did manage to kill an elephant with a huge 
dose of LSD at Oklahoma University, but that's about as far as the lethal studies 
ever went 

"After the ingestion of the substance in July of 1958," Chaffin said, •mg 
personality and behtluior began to change [emphasis added}. After seven years of 
marriage, I was certainly not an individual that tended to depression. However, 
after an ingestion of LSD, I have undergone, as I mentioned earlier, several 
occasions of the same total and extreme depression that occurred when I was 
given the LSD initially. Additionally, my wife bas related to me one incident that 
occurred and which I have no recollection of whatsoever. This incident involved 
my actually taking a gun and attempting to leave our home for the purpose of 
taking my own life." 

Then Chaffin told the Joint Committee, "I would like to state for the record that I 
believe that the United States Air Force was always extremely fair to me in my 
military career. I enjoyed my military career and consider myself to be a loyal 
member of the United States Air Force, retired. I must also state that the trauma 
that I have undergone as a resuh of being surreptitiously administered this drug 
is something I consider to be totally out of keeping with my concept of the 
selVice. I can only hope that the Committee will take every means available to 
make sure that the other individuals who were administered LSD receive 
notification and help." 

Anny records show that William Chaffin was given a drug known only as EA1729. 
On August 5, 1975, after the Olson disclosure, Chaffm wrote a letter to the army 
stating that he thought he might have been given LSD. He requested the medical 
follow-up the army had promised. Michael V. Jolmston of the Anny Surgeon 
General's office responded to his letter. "In checking our records" Jotmston 
wrote, "we find that you did receive LSD in the anny research program. Medical 
consultants in the Office of the Surgeon General are now making plans for a 
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follow-up study of persons who took LSD. You will be contacted within the next 
two months and invited to be examined ... " 

Chaffm was called in for a physical subsequently but he feels the examination was 
inadequate. He has only the anny's word that the drug he received was LSD. 
Probably it was not LSD is not known for its abilities to induce amnesia, to cause 
depression, or to place a lock on the tongue. If anything, LSD could be used in 
interrogation to loosen the mind and the tongue. 

Until that day in Edgewood, William Chaffin had always had a finn grip on reality. 
Either he was given one of several drugs far more powerful than LSD, and with 
different properties to affect the mind, or he was given LSD and put through some 
extreme behavior modification procedure which programmed him to remain 
silen4 and later, after his connection with the Edgewood experiment had been 
severed, to wish to take his own life. 

Tennis pro, Harold Blauer on his ass in happier days, before he was "persuaded" 
to take an "experimental" CIA drug which killed him. 
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THE MKULTRANS 

Following the release of the Rockefeller Report, John D. Marks, author and 
fonner staff assistant to the State Department Intelligence Director, filed a 
Freedom of Infonnation Act appeal on behalf of the Center for National Security 
Studies requesting documentation from the CIA. I filed an identical request at 
about the same time. Marks and I both requested documentation for the evidence 
cited in the Rockefeller Report on the CIA's mind-control activities conducted 
within the United States. 

Seven months later, Marks was given more than 2,000 pages of top-secret and 
"eyes only" documents by the CIA's Infonnation Review Committee. A short time 
later I began to receive what Marks had gotten. These pages were said to be the 
bulk of the infonnation upon which the Rockefeller Commission had based its 
report. 

Exempted from release were portions of or entire documents which contained 
infonnation said by CIA officials to pertain to "intelligence sources and methods 
which the Director of the Central Intelligence has the responsibility to protect 
from unauthorized disclosure pursuant to section 102 (d) (3) of the National 
Security Act of 1947." But in the photo-copied pages obtained was a statement to 
the effect that within a few hours of his resignation (forced by the disclosures of 
the Watergate and Church Committees), Director Richard Hehns ordered the 
records shredded and burned. 

The remaining documents, which were judged by the CIA to be "safe" to keep for 
subsequent release were all highly sanitized. They contained few names of 
participating individuals or organizations and none of the details of the 
long-range experiments designed to mold and control the minds of American 
citizens. 

In addition to offering a superficial review of the CIA's involvement in research on 
mind control, the documents Marks obtained gave the Agency's own officially 
censored version of what had happened to Dr. Frank Olson. 
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According to the CIA, at a "liaison conference" with Fort Detrick personnel at Deep 
Creek Lake, Maryland, on the eighteenth and nineteenth of November, 1953, Dr. 
Olson and seven other men were given LSD in glasses of Cointreau, an 
orange-flavored liqueur. The unsuspecting "guinea pigs "were told twenty 
minutes later that they had been given LSD. 

Olson suffered "serious aftereffects," and later the same day, he was sent, at CIA 
expense to New York City with an escort, Dr. Robert Lashbrook. There he was 
taken to see a psychiatrist, Dr. Harold A. Abramson. After five days of observation 
and treatment, Dr. Abramson decided that Olson had to be hospitalized. 
Arrangements were made for his admittance to a private sanitariwn near 
Rockville, Maryland. 

Following that consultation with Abramson on November 22, Olson and 
Lashbrook returned to their rooms at the Statler Hotel and retired for the evening. 
At 2:30 a.m. the next morning, Lashbrook was awakened by a loud crash. 
According to the "eyes only" investigation report, he went into Olson's bedroom 
and found him missing. The window, "glass and all," and the blinds were also 
missing. Lashbrook asswned that Olson had dived though them. 

Before Lashbrook notified the hotel desk he called Dr. Sidney Gottlieb, the chief 
medical officer of the CIA drug project, and infonned him of Olson's fate. 
Lashbrook then called the desk man who called the police. 

When the police from the Fourteenth Precinct arrived, Lashbrook told them that 
Olson was employed by the U.S. Anny. He also told them that he, too, was a 
government employee and a friend of Olson's, but nothing else. Police, however, 
found Lashbrook in possession of government identification, including a CIA 
badge, and made note of this identifying data. The CIA and the Department of 
Defense quickly took over liaison with the police and succeeded in covering up the 
cause of Olson's "suicide." 

Three months later, CIA Director Allen W. Dulles wrote three notes of reprimand 
and sent them to the chiefs of the Technical Services Staff, Technical Operations 
and Chemical division. The "eyes only" reprimand to the Chief of the Chemical 
Division said,"' have personally reviewed the files from your office concerning the 
use of a drug on an unwitting group of individuals. In recommending the 
unwitting application of the drug to your superior, you apparently did not give 
sufficient emphasis to the necessity for medical collaboration and for proper 
consideration of the rights of the individual to whom it was being administered. 
This is to infonn you that it is my opinion that you exercised poor judgment in 
this case." It was signed, "Sincerely Allen W. Dulles, Director." 

In 1975, President Gerald Ford apologized to the Olson family on behalf of the 
government and made a monetary settlement The Olson case was also the 
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. subject of congressional investigations and a government-appointed commission. 
which found that there was no evidence of homicide. 

There was no change of operations. The research on mind control continued 
unabated. The coverup continued. The official story was Olson fell, but the family 
of Frank Olson always suspected that he was pushed because he had become a 
security risk. According to his son, Eric Olson, the nonnally cheeful researcher 
sank into a deep depression after the CIA slipped acid into his drink. He told his 
wife he had made a "terrible mistake" and wanted to quit his job. Nine days later 
he was dead. 

Eric Olson, is now a psychologist who has access to any number of people 
working within the cryptocracy.ln 1994 Eric and his brother, Nils, had the 
40-year-old remains of their father exhumed. The body was found in a 
"mummified" condition. The CIA said that it had no reason to think that Olson's 
death was a homicide, but the sons had the body sent to the nation's top forensic 
pathologists who would by to detennine if Frank Olson was dead before he hit the 
New York City pavement. "It's been a pressing question for me all the time and 
the questions certainly were not laid to rest with the CIA story in 1975," Eric said. 

'1'he remains are in exeedingly fine condition and that's attributable to the 
embalming done in New York and to the container," said James E. Starn, 
professor of law and forensic sciences at George Washington University. "We have 
remains that are in mummified condition. We even have the opportunity to get 
fingerprints." 

Forensic experts analyzed hair, brain tissue, fingernails and bones for injuries not 
attributable to the fall, Starn said. They looked for toxins and drugs, including 
LSD and other hallucinogens. The chairman of the behavioral science department 
at York College. Dr. JohnS. Levisky, examined the skeleton.32 

Starrs found new forensic evidence which suggested that Olson may have landed 
on his feet shattering both legs and causing massive internal trauma that would 
have led to death in minutes.33 But, curiously, Starn found "so many fractures in 
the skull that it is not possible that he received this type of injury simply from 
falling out of a window ... It would not be possible unless he were on a trampoline. 
You don't bounce around like that; when you hit pavement, you hit pavement" 
Starrs also found no evidence of cuts from smashing through the glass window 
which were reported in the original autopsy. Starn characterized the new 
evidence as "sinister," but decided (as of September 1994) to hold off his 
concluding remarks pending toxicological results and a final inquiry. 

a ASJociated Preu,Los ~ ?mws." BoclyofMan in 1953l.SDTestE:lhumed", June 10, 1994. 
• Terry ADm. CIA DisJ,oso/ ProiMm, Cowrt Action Quarterly, No. 50, Fa.U 1994. 
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Mter toxicological results were turned in, in November, Starn said, "I am 
exceedingly skeptical of the view that Dr. Olson went through that window on his 
own." 

The CIA issued a hasty statement saying that it "wil cooperate fully" if the case is 
reopened, saying that if the private investigation has uncovered new evidence, it 
should be brought to the attention of the authorities. 

Starn singled out the presence of several bruises on Olson's skull that suggested 
he may have been smashed on the head before he plunged 173 feet at 65 
miles-per-hour to his death on the sidewalk below. 

The aiminal and dishonorable ways of the CIA again surface. Despite 
Congressional hearings, despite exposure in the press, despite Presidential 
apologies, Operation Mind Control continued. 

According to the documents, the CIA mind-control program was run under four 
different project names. "'R 1949 the Office of Scientific Intelligence (OSD 
undertook the analysis of foreign work on certain unconventional warfare 
techniques, including behavioral drugs, with an initial objective of developing a 
capability to resist or offset the effect of such drugs. Preliminary phases included 
the review of drug related work at institutions such as Mount Sinai Hospital, 
Boston Psychopathic Hospital, University of Minnesota, Valley Forge General 
Hospital, Detroit Psychopathic Clinic, Mayo Clinic, and the National Institute of 
Health. 

"This first project, code-named Project BLUEBIRD, was assigned the function of 
discovering means of conditioning personnel to prevent unauthorized extraction 
of infonnation from them by known means. It was further assigned to investigate 
the possibility of control of an individual by application of special interrogation 
techniques, memory enhancement, and establishing defensive means for 
preventing interrogation of agency personneL" 

(A number of the "survivors" of Operation Mind Control have been tattooed with 
bluebirds. Several think that this was a mark of rank , that it meant they had 
received special "Bluebird" programming and could be accessed with certain 
triggers. This has not yet been sufficiently tested to my knowledge.) 

In August, 1951, Project BLUEBIRD was renamed Project ARTICHOKE, and was 
subsequently transferred from the Office of Scientific Intelligence (OSI) to the 
Office of Security (OS). OSI, however, retained the responsibility for evaluating 
foreign intelligence aspects of ARTICHOKE. In 1953, the OSI proposed that 
experiments be undertaken to test LSD on Agency volunteers. Records do not 
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indicate however, whether or not such experiments were made. According to the 
information released, OSI's involvement in Project ARTICHOKE ceased in 1956. 

The emphasis originally given ARTICHOKE by the OS became focused on the use 
of drugs such as sodium pentothal in connection with interrogation techniques 
and with the polygraph. During this period there was an informal group known 
as the Artichoke Committee which had representatives from OSI, OS, Medical 
Services, and Technical Services. True to form, only brief records were kept, so 
that the details of the exchanges of this committee are still secret 

A CIA memo to the Director of Central intelligence dated July 14, 1952, cited a 
successful application of narco-hypnotic interrogation undertaken by a team of 
representatives from the CIA. This memo revealed that by that date two 
successful interrogations had already been conducted using drugs and hypnosis. 
The subjects were Russian agents suspected of being double agents. The cover 
was called "psychiatric-medical" (they were admitted to a hospital). The control 
methods were by narcosis, by hypnosis, and by a combination of both. The 
subjects were regressed by hypnosis and made to relive past experiences. When 
the interrogation was completed posthypnotic suggestion succeeded in giving the 
subjects amnesia of the actual interrogations. The interrogations were regarded 
by the CIA as being very successful. 

"'n each case," the CIA memo read, "a psychiatric-medical cover was used to bring 
the ARTICHOKE techniques into action. In the first case, light dosages of drugs 
coupled with hypnosis were used to induce a complete hypnotic trance. This 
trance was held for approximately one hour and forty minutes of interrogation 
with a subsequent total amnesia produced by posthypnotic suggestion. In the 
second case (an individual of much higher intelligence than the first), a deep 
hypnotic trance was reached after light medication. This was followed by an 
interrogation lasting for well over an hour. However, a partial amnesia only was 
obtained at this time, although a total amnesia was obtained for a major part of 
the test Since further interrogation was desired, a second test was made on this 
individual in which the ARTICHOKE technique of using a straight medication was 
employed- On this test, highly successful results were obtained in that a full 
interrogation lasting two hours and fifteen minutes was produced, part of which 
included a remarkable regression During this regression, the subject actually 
'relived' certain past activities of his life, some dating back fifteen years while, in 
addition, the subject totally accepted Mr. (deleted) [the case officer and interpreter 
at this time) as an old trusted, and beloved personal friend whom the subject had 
known in years past in Georgia, USSR. Total amnesia was apparently achieved for 
the entire second test on this case." 

The memo revealed that sodium pentothal and the stimulant desoxyn were the 
drugs used to aid the hypnotic trance. The memo continued: "For a matter of 
record, the case officers involved in both cases expressed themselves to the effect 
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that the ARTICHOKE operations were entirely successful and team members felt 
that the tests demonstrated conclusively the effectiveness of the combined 
chemical-hypnotic technique in such cases. In both cases the subjects talked 
clearly and at great length and furnished information which the case officers 
considered extremely valuable." 

According to the Agency Inspector General Chamberlain, "There is reference in 
papers in the records held by the Office of Security, of something referred to as an 
ARTICHOKE Team traveling overseas in 1954, with indications of operational 
applications to individuals representing a Communist Bloc country. There is no 
record of the operation or its results." 

A summary of a conference on July 15, 1953, offered a clue to other kinds of 
operations conducted under ARTICHOKE. The report, addressed to the Chief of 
Security, CIA, said, "Mr. (deleted) then discussed the situation of a fanner Agency 
official who bad become a chronic alcoholic and who at the present time, was 
undergoing operative treatment in (deleted) for a possible brain tumor. This 
individual had called the Agency prior to the operation and warned that when 
given certain types of anesthetics (sodium pentothal), previously he had been 
known to talk coherently. The matter was taken care of by placing a 
representative in the operating room and by bringing the various personnel 
participating in the operation under the secrecy Agreement Mr. (deleted) stated 
that the subject did talk extensively under the iflfluence of sodium pentothal and 
revealed internal problems of the Agency. Dr. (deleted) added that he was 
acquainted with the details in the case. 

"(Deleted) then commented that this type of thing had been a source of great 
concern to himself and others in the operations work and stated that he hoped 
that the ARTICHOKE efforts to produce some method that would perhaps 
guarantee amnesia on the part of those knowing of Agency operations in vital 
spots would be successful. He stated that some individuals in the Agency had to 
know tremendous amounts of infonnation and if any way could be found to 
produce amnesias for this type of infonnation- for instance, after the individual 
had left the Agency - it would be a remarkable thing. Mr. (deleted) stated the 
need for amnesia was particularly great in operations work. Mr. (deleted) and Mr. 
(deleted) both explained that work was continually being done in an effort to 
produce controlled amnesia by various means. 

"Mr. (deleted) called attention to the fact that at the preceding conference, Colonel 
(deleted) had advanced the idea of testing new methods, new chemicals, and new 
techniques (and combinations thereof) on certain carefully selected employees of 
the Agency, probably individuals in the training groups ... " 

One of the docwnents John Marks obtained was dated July 30, 1956. Under the 
heading "Schizophrenic Agent" the memo stated that bulbocapnine, an alkaloid, 
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could cause catatonia or stupor from its affects on the central nervous system and 
the cerebral cortex. The report stated: "We desire to have certain psycho-chemical 
properties tested on man, using the bulbocapnine which we were fortunate to 
obtain from (deleted), a sample being enclosed herewith. More bulbocapnine is 
available if needed." 

Along with the sample was the request that subjects be tested for loss of speech, 
loss of sensitivity to pain, loss of memory, and loss of will power." 

Another memo in 1956 authorized psychiatrists in universities and state 
penitentiaries (names were deleted) to test these drugs on unwitting subjects. 

An even earlier memo said, "it was essential to find an area where large nwnbers 
of bodies would be used for research and experimentation. Dr. (deleted) stated 
that in connection with the testing of drugs, he was quite certain a nwnber of 
psychiatrists all over the United States would be willing to-test new drugs, 
especially drugs that affect the mind. .. " 

ARTICHOKE evolved to become project MKULTRA which, according to CIA 
documents, was "an wnbrella project for funding sensitive projects ... approved by 
Allen Dulles on April3, 1953. Cryptonym MKDELTA covered. •• policy and 
procedure for use of biochemicals in clandestine operations .•. " 

Besides drugs, MKDELTA and MKULTRA experimented with radiation, 
electroshock. psychology, psychiatry, sociology, anthropology, harassment sub­
stances, and what were called "paramilitary devices and materials." Contacts were 
made with individuals at prominent hospitals and drug "safe houses" under 
Bureau of Drug Abuse controL Through the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous 
Drugs (BNDD) and federal institutions such as prisons, drugs could be 
administered to unsuspecting individuals. 

One hundred thirty-nine different drugs, including various amnesia potions, were 
first tested under laboratory conditions (See Appendix B), then beginning in 1955 
the most promising drugs were given to unwitting subjects "in normal social 
situations" through the informal arrangement made between the CIA and BNDD. 
The CIA inspector General's report indicates that this part of the mind-control 
program was terminated in 1963, but that a project to test various drugs "in an 
inquiry into improvement of learning ability and memory retention" did continue 
until1972. 

Document 32 in the MKULTRA file, sheds a more direct light on the CIA's 
involvement in Mind-control research. The "Memorandum for the Record" was 
written by an unidentified intelligence officer. It is reproduced below in its 
entirety. 

17 January 1975 
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MEMORANDUM FOR THE RECORD 

SUBJECT: MKUL TRA 

1. The following represents the best of my unaided recollection 
regarding the MKULTRA program. I was first briefed on it in 1962. At 
that time it was in the process of a significant decrease in activity and 
funding. As Chief, Defense and Espionage (C/DU), I continued to 
decrease funds significantly each year until the program was phased out 
in the late 1960s. 

2. MKUL TRA was a group of projects most of which dealt with drug or 
counter-drug research and development. The Diiector Central 
Intelligence (DCI) and the Deputy Director of Plans (DDP) were kept 
informed on the program via annual briefings by Chief Technical Services 
Division (Cfl'SD) or his Deputy. Most of the research and development 
was extemally contracted and dealt with various materials which were 
purported to have characteristics appealing for their covert or 
clandestine administration under operational conditions. The objectives 
wem behavioral control, behavior anomaly production and 
counter-measures for opposition application of similar substances. Work 
was perfon:ned at U.S. industrial, academic, and govemmental research 
facilities. Funding was often through cut-out arrangements. Testing 
was usually done at such time as laboratory work was successfully 
completed and was often carried out at such facilities as the (deleted) 
and (deleted). In all cases that I am aware of, testing was done using 
volunteer inmates who were witting of the nature of the test program 
but not the ultimate sponsoring organization. 

3. As the Soviet drug use scare (and the amount of significant progress 
in the MXUL TRA program) decreased, the program activities were 
curtailed significantly as budgetaiy pressure and altemate priorities 
dictated. 

4. Over my stated objections the MKUL TRA files were destroyed by 
order of the DCI (Mr. Helms) shortly before his departure from office. 

CI OFFICER 

By Authority of 102702 

As for the unidentified intelligence officer's claim that the experiments "in all 
cases that I am aware or were perfonned on "volunteer" and "witting" subjects, 
one can only suggest that this man may not have had the "need to know" about 
the unwitting subjects. Records of court proceedings indicate that many "guinea 
pigs" in federal institutions were not fully infonned of the long-range 
consequences of drug-enhanced behavior modification. 
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One such experiment on Human "guinea pigs," conducted at the California 
Medical Facility at Vacaville, involved the use of the drug anectine, a strong 
muscle relaxant which leaves the victim totally without involuntary muscle 
controL The body lets loose its waste, breathing stops, and without proper 
attendance, death can result 

Whether or not the subject dies, he experiences the feeling that he is dying. 
According to chief Vacaville psychiatrist Dr. Arthur Nugent, anectine induces 
"sensations of suffocation and drowning. The subject experiences feelings of deep 
horror and terror, as though he were on the brink of death." While in this 
condition a self -styled therapist scolds him for his misdeeds and tells him to 
reform or expect more of the same. Dr. Nugent told the San Francisco Chronic!£, 
"even the toughest inmates have come to fear and hate the drug. I don't blame 
them. I wouldn't have one treatment myself for the world." 

Writing about the anectine therapy program, Jessica Mitford noted that of those 
given the drug, nearly all could be characterized as angry young men. "Yet some 
seem to have been made even angrier by the experience. For the researchers said 
that of sixty-four prisoners in the program nine persons not only did not decrease, 
but actually exhibited an increase in their overall number of disciplinary 
!-'-cti ~ UIUd Ons. 

Experimentation with drugs and behavior modification became so widespread in 
prisons and mental institutions that in the middle and late 1960s court dockets 
became crowded with lawsuits filed on behalf of the "human guinea pigs" who 
were victims of such research. By 1971 the number of lawsuits had reached such 
proportions that the Senate Subcommittee on Constitutional Rights began an 
investigation. Three years later, the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, chaired 
by Senator Sam Ervin, released a report entitled "'ndividual Rights and the 
Federal Role in Behavior Modification." It was largely ignored by the press, yet it 
revealed some interesting infonnation. 

Two years before the CIA and its subcontractors owned up to their mind dabbling, 
a large number of behavior modification projects were already underway. The 
report disclosed that thirteen projects were run by the Defense Department; the 
Department of Labor had conducted "several experiments"; the National Science 
Foundation conducted "a substantial amount of research dealing with 
understanding human behavior"; even the Veterans' Administration participated 
in psychosurgery experiments, which, in many cases, were nothing more than an 
advanced fonn of lobotomy. 

One of the largest supporters of "behavior research" was the Department of 
Health, Education, and Welfare, and its subagency the National Institute of Mental 
Health. the subcommitee said that HEW had participated in a "very large number 

14 Jeuica Mittford, Kind arrd Uruuol Puwislu•••'ll (New York. Knopf, 1974) 
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of projects dealing with the control and alteration of human behavior." Largest of 
all the supporters of behavior modification was the Law Enforcement Assistance 
Administration (LEAA) which, Wlder the Department of Justice, funded hWldreds 
of behavior modification experiments. All the above agencies were named in 
secret CIA documents as those who provided research "cover" for MKULTRA. 

The subconunittee foWld that controls and guidelines, where they existed, were at 
best loose. the poorly organized and loosely accoWltable research operations 
included not only traditional conditioning techniques, but also more advanced 
modifiers such as chemotherapy, aversive therapy, neurosurgery, stress 
assessment, electric shock, and the well known fonn of psychological 
indoctrination popularly call "brainwashing." 

Another of the documents released to John Marks was one dated February 10, 
1951 entitled "Defense Against Soviet Mental Interrogation and Espionage 
Techniques." . It began: "'nternational treaties or other agreements have never 
controlled the experimental development and actual use of unconventional 
methods of warfare, such as devices for subversive activities, fiendish acts of 
espionage, torture and murder of prisoners of war, and physical duress and other 
unethical persuasive actions in the interrogation of prisoners." 

According to this document, the Technical Services division of the CIA contracted 
with officials of what was then known as the Bureau of Narcotics to have 
mind-influencing drugs given to Wlwitting subjects. The CIA felt that the drugs 
needed to be tested in "nonnallife settings," so that the full capabilities to produce 
disabling or discrediting effects" of the drugs would be known. 

With the full approval of Allen W. Dulles, and arrangement had been made with 
the Bureau of Narcotics whereby the CIA financed and established "safe houses" in 
which federal narcotics agents could dispense the drugs and record the reactions 
of those who took them. No CIA men were present when the drugs were 
administered. The report did not reveal the number of "Wlwittingt' subjects given 
drugs nor the identities of any but Olson. But it did acknowledge, for the first 
time, the scope of the ayptoaacy's interest in mind control 

The CIA Inspector General, Donald F. Chamberlain, was stimulated by Olson's 
death to investigate the above cited drug program himself. In a summary dated 
February 5, 1975, he wrote "Records do not permit a desaiption of such 
relationships as may have existed between these various activities; it is apparent 
there was some sharing of information between these various components in the 
Agency, and some overlap in time, but there also are indications of independent 
approaches to the problem." 

Naturally, the CIA allows itself to be questioned and examined only by loyal 
employees. But even the in-house inspector general could not avoid reporting 
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that the CIA had a recurring interest in behavioral drugs for more than 
twenty-five years. The earliest record of this interest dated to the post-World War 
n period, when the CIA, heir to the OSS mind control research and perhaps the 
victim of its own motivating propaganda, thought that the Soviets were using 
drugs and other behavior-influencing techniques. 

In 1949, Irving L. Janis of the Rand Corporation, wrote: "Defense against these 
[mind control] actions will depend largely upon lmowledge of enemy capabilities. 
Reports of experimental and actual use of illegitimate interrogation techniques-by 
the Soviets to obtain intelligence and court confessions against the interrogatee's 
will indicate clearly the need for medical investigation," the report claimed. 

"The implications refemd to above embrace several categories. The behavior of 
defendants in Soviet courts and in those of the satellite counbies, together with 
the whole pattern of Soviet trial procedure, makes it essential for us to consider 
Soviet use of drugs, hypnotism, hypno-narcoanalysis, elecbic and drug shock, 
and possibly the use of ultrasonics." 

The report continued, "There is documentary evidence to support the belief that 
the Soviets have been conducting medical research, have actually used various 
techniques, and have made provision for large-scale productions of uncommon 
drugs known for their speech-producing effects ••• " Only a few drugs with which 
the Soviets were supposed to be experimenting are named. No hard evidence is 
presented that they were in fact experimenting with such drugs. The report goes 
on to point to the trial of Joseph Cardinal Mindszenty, who was accused of 
collaborating with the enemy (the United States), as an example of the Russians' 
use of drugs in obtaining forced confessions in court procedure. "Behavior 
patterns, rapport, symptoms of residual effects of treatments, and the physical 
condition of the defendants all indicate the use of drugs. Several documents refer 
to memorized testimony and departures from text, indicating forced false 
confessions." 

It was later learned that the elicited confessions were false. By Mindszenty's own 
admission, they were not induced by drugs or sophisticated teclmiques of mind 
contro~ they were simply forged, and rather poorly forged at that Mindszenty's 
foggy mental state at the trial had resulted from psychological indoctrination, 
isolation, and intem>gation, and generally can be regarded as standard police 
procedure, for most counbies of the world. 

The report clearly stated that "the use of these drugs does not usually result in 
amnesia of past interrogations unless the victim's mental faculties have been 
destroyed by their effects." Thus, even if drugs were used on Mindszenty, by the 
CIA's own conclusion he would have remembered getting the drugs and 
something about the subsequent interrogation sessions. The fact was he 
remembered neither. It is surely not a coincidence that the CIA "eyes only" report 
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which claimed Mindszenty was narco-hypnotized was issued the same year that 
Edward Hunter, the CIA "propaganda specialist," released Brainwashing in Red 
China. Most newspaper reporters would never go to press on the kind of 
sourceless generalized infonnation provided in the CIA report; yet are we to 
believe the cryptocracy had launched a thirty-odd-year research and development 
project based on evidence which amounted to hearsay? 

Another CIA report uncovered by Marks, "Defense Against Soviet Medical 
Interrogation," revealed the alarming statistics that "although susceptibility to 
narco-hypnosis varies from person to person, skilled operators can readily 
hypnotize about twenty-five (25) percent of a given group of average persons." It 
added "at least eighty (80) percent, however, would be susceptible following the 
use of certain drugs ••. " 

This second document also discussed the plan of the CIA's organization of "a 
Special Defense Interrogation Program." In addition to outlining the use of drugs 
and hypnosis, the report brought up two other mind-bending possibilities: 
electroshock and ultrasonic sound. 

"Psychiatrists in many nations," the report said, "have used insulin and electric 
shock as methods of choice under certain circumstances in their psychiabic work. 
Electric shock is more rapid than any of the above techniques [drugs or 
hypnosis 1. It is instantaneous. It can be applied with or without the recipient's 
knowledge. Amnesia of interrogations equals that of hypnosis. If the enemy uses 
electric shock for interrogation purposes and the victim is available after recovery 
from the shock, highly trained specialists should be able to reveal the past use of 
electric shock by electroencephalographic analysis." 

The report went on to recommend that groups within the CIA, the anned forces, 
and the FBI be organized and coordinated to give high-level direction to this 
project. "Civilian capability for solution of some of the problems should be 
utiliz~" the report said. "Close liaison between CIA and Armed Services has been 
established, but it is not as effective as it should be. 

Liaison within the Armed Services appears to be inadequate, and they do not seem 
to be aware of some civilian sources of knowledge. Liaison with the FBI on this 
subject may be desaibed as 'cooperct.tive,' although somewhat mutually evasive. 
A satisfactory guiding organization could be set up under high-level direction for 
the development of an integrated program. If feasible, a committee to accomplish 
this purpose should be appointed." the report concluded by recommending that 
"a technical committee should include medical intelligence representatives from 
the CIA, Navy, .Army, Air Force, probably the FBI and ad hoc Government and 
non-Government consultants." 
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From the first days of Project BWEBIRD, and throughout all the ensuing CIA 
projects the goal was the same - find answers to the following questions: 

"Can accurate infonnation be obtained from willing or unwilling individuals? 

"Can Agency personnel (or persons of interest to this Agency) be conditioned to 
prevent any unauthorized source or enemy from obtaining infonnation from 
them by any known means? 

"Can we obtain control of the future activities (physical and mental) of any 
individual, willing or unwilling, by application of [mind control) techniques?" 

Beyond the laboratory and operational research on unwitting subjects, the CIA set 
up training teams which included polygraph operators, interrogation specialists, 
hypnotists, and others in what was a long-range, all-out effort to develop reliable 
mind-control and counter-mind-control techniques. In all, fifteen separate 
research areas were defined by the CIA planners. 

' 
Most of the drug projects came under the operating authority of the U.S. Navy. At 
Bethesda Naval Hospital, under the direction of a Dr. Gaefsky. The drug project, 
begun in 1947, continued unti11972. the CIA reports defined the project as one 
which sought to "isolate and synthesize pure drugs for use in effecting 
TJS!Ichological entry and control of the indiuidtd (italics added). 

Also under the navy's direction was a project headed by a Dr. Ellson at the 
University of Indiana called "Detection of Deception." this project was aimed at 
determining the physiological changes which occur when a person is engaged in 
deception. Mechanical and electrical devices were developed to measure these 
changes. 

At the University of Rochester, again under navy direction, a Dr. Wendy 
investigated motion sickness. The CIA report desaibes that study as one to 
determine "the effect of drugs on the vestibular function of the ear and the 
development of side effects which indicate the possibility of psychological entry 
and controL" 

Besides mind-control drugs and techniques, also investigated were tools which 
might be effective in compromising individuals. One report stated that in spite of 
the intensive research, as late as 1960, "no effective knock-out pill, truth serum, 
aphrodisiac, or recruibnent pill was known to exist" Towards that goal under the 
auspices of the U.S. Army Surgeon General's Office, a Dr. Beecher at Harvard 
University was given $150,000 to investigate, "the development and application of 
drugs which will aid in the establishment of psychological controL" 

And, under air force guidance, a Dr. Hastings at the University of Minnesota was 
engaged to research the effects of LSD on animals. His research area, as defined 
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by CIA, also included the use of electric shock in interrogation, with particular 
emphasis placed on the detection of prior use of electric shock and the 
"guaranteed amnesia" it produced. 

According to the documents, the investigation of hypnosis as a mind-control tool 
was kept under the aegis of the CIA. Their prime research interest was the 
"investigation of the possibilities of hypnotic and post-hypnotic controL" 

While MKULTRA was the code name for the research and development period of 
mind controt MKDELTA was the code name for the operational phase, during 
which all of the techniques of mind control were applied to individuals. 

What followed next was the MKULTRANS, acting out their "mindless" roles at the 
. behest of the ayptocracy. 

Dr. Frank R. Olson, a former biochemist at Fort Detrick, Md. whose body was exhumed 
in 1994. While the CIA aDeged that Olson had committed suicide in 1953 when he · 
jumped or tell from the tenth floor of a New York buDding, the 1994 autopsy showed 
that Olson was dead before his body hit the pavement 
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THE MATA HARI OF MIND CONTROL 

Candy Jones was a sex symbol during World War ll. Born Jessica Wilcox, with 
her catchy stage name and shapely legs she rose to a standing second only to 
Betty Grable as America's most popular pinup girl. She was a favorite of the 
troops at the front, and she felt it a duty to entertain them near the battlefields. 
After her advertised beauty faded and she could no longer serve to raise the 
morale of the troops with her appearance, she served her country in another way. 
She served under MKULTRA as a hypno-programmed CIA courier for twel:ve years. 

While on a USO tour in the Pacific in 1945 Candy contracted a case of undulant 
fever and, shortly thereafter, malaria. On top of that, she caught the contagious 
fungus known as "jungle Rot" Within a week, her hair had begun to fall out, and 
her complexion had turned a sickly yellow. 

The combination of these diseases sent her to a military hospital in Manila, where 
she met a young medical officer whom she identifies only by the pseudonym 
"Gilbert Jensen." Later, he would offer her the opportunity to become a CIA 
courier. 

In 1959 Candy started a modeling school in New York. She rented office space in 
a modem skyscraper across the hall from an office occupied by the one-time 
heavyweight boxing champion, Gene Twmey. One night Candy noticed a 
"cleaning lady" fumbling for keys to open Tunney's door. The next day Tunney 
reported that his office had been burglarized, but nothing important had been 
stolen. 

Later the same week Candy observed a young couple approaching Tunney's door. 
She watched as the young man took out a set of keys and went through the same 
trial-and-error process that the cleaning lady had performed a few nights earlier. 
Candy went into the hallway and asked the young man what he was doing. He 
told her that he was supposed to meet Tunney there. Candy informed him that 
Tunney had left hours before and was not expected back that evening. The couple 
hurriedly left. 
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The next day Candy told Tunney about the incident. He was not alanned nor did 
he even seem to be interested that a second burglary of his office had been 
attempted. 

One day later, in the lobby of her building, Candy ran into a retired army general 
she'd known in the South Pacific. The general had not known her well in the 
past, but now he was more than courteous. He mentioned that he was on his way 
to have lunch with Tunney so Candy invited him to her office first and showed 
him around. Then she brought him across the hall to Tunney. Tunney seemed 
quite surprised that Candy had known the general, and, after a brief conversation, 
the two men went to lunch and Candy continued with her business. 

A few days later Candy was visited by a man who introduced himself as an FBI 
agent. he asked her about the burglary of Tunney's office, and Candy told him 
what she had told both Tunney and the superintendent of the building. The FBI 
man then unexpectedly went over to the window ledge and picked up a micro­
phone Candy had obtained from Allen Funt of "Candid Camera" fame. The agent 
wanted to know what use Candy had for the microphone. She explained that she 
used it to tape her models' voices to help them develop their speech. The agent 
said that he'd been looking for just such a microphone to use in a surveillance job 
on Fifty-seventh Street. He asked Candy if she would mind if he borrowed it. 
Flattered that she'd been asked to help the FBI, Candy offered it for as long as it 
was needed. the FBI man thanked her and left with the microphone. 

When he returned a month later, he was accompanied by another agent. After 
making casual conversation for a few minutes, the FBI men asked Candy if she 
would allow them to have some of their mail delivered to her office. There would 
be letters addressed to fictitious names in care of her modeling school Some of 
the letters, he said, might be mailed from Europe and addressed to her, or to a 
specified fictitious man's name. If that happened she was supposed to call a 
number and report the arrival of the mail. Candy, once again flattered, said she'd 
be happy to help. 

Two weeks after Candy took the job with the FBI, Gene Tunney moved out of his 
office. The general, however kept in touch with her all during that year. He 
invited her to several parties, and even sent her a Christmas cani. 

In the summer of 1960, Candy received a letter at her apartment from the first 
FBI man, and the next day the general called her at her office. Somehow he knew 
she was taking a trip to speak at the all-male Tuesday Night Supper Club in 
Denver, and afterwards going on to San Francisco to attend a fashion show. the 
general wondered if, since she was going to California anyway, she would mind 
carrying a letter from a government agency. He told her the letter was to be 
delivered to a man who would call at her hotel and identify himself. 
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Again flattered to be called upon to serve her country, Candy agreed to act as a 
courier. The important letter was hand-delivered to Candy's office a few days after 
the general's phone call. There were two envelopes-- a large one inside of which 
were her instructions and a smaller one which contained the actual letter. Candy 
carried the letter with her to Denver, then on to San Francisco where she waited 
for her contact. 

Within a few days she received a call at her hotel from a man who identified 
himself as Gil Jensen; it was the same man who had been Candy's doctor in the 
Philippines. 

Jensen invited her to dinner that evening at the Mark Hopkins Hotel. During 
dinner Candy Brought up the subject of the letter, but Jensen avoided the subject, 
saying they could talk about it at his office the next day. 

Candy protested she had to go back to New York the next day, but Jensen would 
not take no for an answer. He told her it would be worth her while to stay on for 
a few days. "There's some interesting work you could do for the Central 
Intelligence Agency, Candy, without interfering with your business." 

He told her that the work could be quite lucrative and since at that time she 
needed money, she decided to stay and find out what the CIA was offering. 

The next day a car picked Candy up at her hotel and drove her across the Bay 
Bridge to the Oakland office of Dr. Jensen. That was the beginning of what 
Candy's biographer Donald Bain (who told Candy's story in the book The Control 
of Candy JanUS ) described as twelve years of adventure which would eventually 
take her to the Far East as a covert operative of the CIA. 

"She would be harassed, badgered and even tortured." Bain wrote. "Her role was 
small, a earner of messages, and the fad that she chose initially to perform such 
duties, for pay, renders the misfortunes that befell her 'occupational hazards.' 

"What Candy hadn't bargained for, however, was becoming a human guinea pig 
in a secret CIA scientific project in which mind control was the goal 

"She was an unwilling and unknowing laboratory subject for twelve years, and 
only her chance marriage saved her from the final stage of her adventure -- her 
own suicide as choreographed by Dr. Gilbert Jensen." 

In 1973 Candy Jones married an old friend, "Long John" NebeL the host of a New 
York all-night radio talk show. Candy had met John in 1941, at the height of her 
career, when he was working as a free-lance photographer assigned by a magazine 
to photograph her. After losing contact with each other for more than a decade, 

• DonUt Bain. 17rt Como/ o!Cimdl lona((Chiago, Playboy Press, 1976) 
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they accidentally renewed their acquaintance and were married twenty-eight days 
later. 

On their wedding night, John noticed his bride was suddenly acting out of 
character. She had left the bed and gone into the bathroom to look in the mirror. 
When she returned, John said, "I saw somebody who only resembled the woman 
I'd married." He stressed the word "resembled" because, although the body which 
walked out of the bathroom belonged to Candy, the being inside it did not Her 
voice was cold and distant, and her expression was cruel. Soon the strange bitter 
mood passed and the wann and loving Candy returned. 

The next evening Candy's strange "mood" returned. John naturally became 
auious about his wife's psycho-history and began asking questions about her 
past Candy told him about her contact with the FBI in 1959. She also told him 
that from time to time she would still have to take little trips for the government 

-
On June 3, 1973, Jolm and Candy came home early in the morning after doing 
one of his all-night talk shows. Candy tried to sleep, but found she could not 
She tossed and turned and when she complained to John of her sleeplessness, she 
was near tears. 

Jolm told Candy that he'd read that hypnosis could relax insomniacs, and 
although he never had tried to put anyone into the trance state, he'd read a lot 
about it and he suggested perhaps they ought to try it Candy laughed and said, "I 
can't be hypnotized, John." but a short while after John began to hypnotize her, 
Candy was deeply asleep. 

Although John had no way of knowing it then, Candy was already a highly 
suggestible subject since she had been hypnotized on many previous occasions by 
the CIA. Because of this, whenever John sought to induce trance in Candy, she 
rapidly became relaxed and was able to get a full nights' natural sleep. 

One night, while under John's hypnosis, Candy suddenly and spontaneously 
began to relive her childhood. During these age regressions, she revealed many 
terrible incidents in what had been, an obviously lonely and troubled past In 
dreamlike monologues she related how her father had abused her. Once when she 
was eleven he'd crushed her fingers, one by one, in a nutcracker because she 
wouldn't cry when he was about to leave. 

Candy's portrayal of her mother depicted a person only a little less cruel than her 
father. A calculating woman, she often locked Candy inside a closet as a fonn of 
punishment 

In several hypnotic monologues Candy revealed how she had developed an alter 
ego named Arlene to defend her from the blows of her fonnative years. Later, 
Jolm was to discover the despicable personality which he had observed taking over 
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his wife's consciousness on their wedding night was the same alter-ego she'd 
developed in her childhood. John Nebel began tape-recording his wife's hypnotic 
monologues. 

(Bain fails to say whether or not Candy's alter ego playmate was a manifestation 
of what was then thought to be the rare illness known as Multiple Personality 
Disorder (MPD). Since 1976 the psychiatric community has come awake to the 
fact that there are tens of thousands of people suffering from what is today called 
Dissociative Identity Disorder( DID), but then there were only a handful of cases 
diagnosed. We now know that DID children were reauited by the cryptocracy 
which made good use of their many outstanding capabilities.) 

One day, while under hypnosis, Candy told Jolm about working with Dr. Jensen in 
California. She revealed that Jensen worked for the CIA and she did, too, but John 
was not interested in the CIA story. 

John became interested, however, when his wife described how Dr. Jensen had 
tried to hypnotize her. According to Candy, when Jensen had suggested she 
submit to hypnosis and she had told him with great certainty that she couldn't be 
hypnotized, he had agreed with her that this was probably true, judging from 
what he knew of her personality. 

John had read that the best way to deal with a subject who believes he cannot be 
hypnotized is first to agree with him, then to proceed to demonstrate how a 
hypnotist might try to induce trance. John's subsequent hypnotic sessions with 
Candy verified that was exactly what Jensen had done. But he'd gone one step 
further. 

According to the memories dredged up from Candy's subconscious, Jensen had 
regularly given her injections of 'Vitamins." John thought these might actually 
have been hypnotic drugs. Although Candy had probably always been a good 
hypnotic subject, narco-hypnosis provided access to greater depths in her already 
pliable personality. 

When John began asking Candy about Jensen in her conscious state he found that 
she could provide little information about him. She could only recall visiting 
Jensen on that first trip for the CIA. She had no memory of what had happened in 
his office, nor of the events of her life which immediately followed that visil Jolm 
began to fear that the CIA doctor still possessed a hold over his wife's mind. 

Over the course of many hypnotic sessions with Candy, Jolm Nebel gathered up 
her fragments of memory and wove them into a picture of a satanic CIA doctor. 
But reports Donald Bain, "the major difficulty in dredging up this material is that 
Candy Jones was programmed by Jensen not to remember, and this programming 
proved frighteningly effective." 
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John later discovered that on that first visit, Jensen had obtained from Candy the 
important piece of information about her imaginary playmate named Arlene. This 
single fact provided the basis for the methodical splitting of her personality, for it 
was Arlene that Jensen wished to cultivate as a courier, not Candy. 

Candy's willingness to carry messages was the extent of her conscious 
cooperation with the CIA. But from the fU'St visit to Jensen's office she had 
become an unwitting victim of Operation Mind Control. Jensen had her sign a 
security oath which officially made her an employee of the government, and as 
such she forfeited her right to legal compensation for the harm done her by the 
ruthless mind-control operation. 

Jensen also placed her against a large sheet of paper and traced her silhouette. 
Then he photographed her and asked her to pick a pseudonym for a new passport. 
She suggested her actual middle name Arlene. 

In answer to Jensen's questions she revealed that her imaginary playmate had 
spelled her name A-r-1-e-n-e. Jensen said that he didn't care which way she 
spelled it and asked her to pick a last name as well. Candy suggested the name 
Grant, which was the last part of her grandmothers's name, Rosengrant and 
"Arlene Grant" was agreed upon. It would be an easy name for Candy to 
remember since that was the very name she had given her alter ego in childhood. 

As time went on, John found that he was talking more to Arlene than to Candy. 
In one session Jolm asked Arlene if she thought Jensen had in any way aippled 
her. Arlene scornfully replied that Candy had not wanted to be programmed, but 
that "she didn't know what end was up." 

John asked Arlene who had developed her, and she replied, "Mother Jensen. He 
hatched me like a mother hen." Jensen had told her to come through Candy's 
stomach. she said. He'd say, "AG.! AG.r and Candy would experience a severe 
stomach pain before Arlene took over her personality. When she refused to come 
when she was called, Jensen would give Candy an injection, and one day he 
miscalculated and gave her three injections, which put Candy to sleep for fourteen 
hours. Jensen had quite a scare because he had a difficult time reviving her. 

Under John's hypnosis, Candy revealed that she had been given a number of 
drugs by Jensen: possibly aminazin, reserpine, and sulfazin, as well as the "truth 
drugs" sodium amytal and sodium pentothal. She was programmed not to allow 
any doctor except Jensen to treat her, and never to allow anyone to give her 
thorazine, the powerful tranquilizer. 

The details of Candy's role as a mind-controlled CIA courier were pieced together 
from hundreds of hours of tapes of her hypnotic monologues. She worked for the 
CIA under her professional name Candy Jones, under the name Arlene Grant, and 
under her given name, Jessica Wdcox. She was first ordered to lease a post-office 
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box at Grand Central Station in the none of Jessica Wtlcox in August of 1961. She 
maintained this box untill968 or 1969 and paid for it herself. Mail seldom arrived 
at the box, but when it did Candy would take it to her office and hold it for an 
unidentified man who always made the pickup, or sometimes, a phone call would 
order Candy to deliver certain letters to various locations around the city. 

Slowly it began to dawn on Candy that some of the people she was delivering mail 
to might be just the kind of people who could kill her for reasons of their own. To 
protect herself, she wrote a letter to her attorney and put two copies in safe 
deposit boxes at different banks. The letter stated that for reasons she couldn't 
disclose she often used the names Arlene Grant, Jessica Wtlcox, and Candy Jones. 
She wanted to put on record the fact that these different names all referred to her. 
In the event of her death she wrote, whether it was due to accident or sudden 
illness, whether it happened in the United States or outside the country, there 
should be a thorough investigation. She wrote that although she was not at 
liberty to divulge her sideline activities, she was not performing illegal, immoral, 
or unpatriotic acts. 

Candy held that assumption to the end of her days, even after hearing her own 
voice under hypnosis tell tales of physical torture, of illegal entries and exits from 
the country, and of the most shocking kind of abuse at the hands of the CIA. 
Candy probably still would do almost anything out of this hypno-cultivated sense 
of patriotism. 

Eventually John tried to get his wife to see a psychiatrist, but she refused, saying 
that if she did so she would get very sick and might even have a conwlsion. 
Evidently Jensen had told her this. Even talking about possible therapy gave 
Candy severe stomach cramps. 

Candy had been programmed so that she would not only be protected from 
foreign intelligence operations, but from everyone, the CIA included. Jensen 
planned to use her for some evil design of his own. 

Candy Jones was, in fact, not one, but two zombies, Candy and Arlene, sibling 
rivals trapped inside the same skin. 

They would talk to each other but never about each other to anyone but Jensen. 
They traveled together on the CIA assignments, Candy Jones being the person 
who acted within the United States, and Arlene Grant, the alter who took over 
once the airplane left the country. 

Usually when Candy arrived in San Francisco from New York she would 
immediately go to Jensen's office. There she would change clothes, don a black 
wig, and pick up her fake passport in the name of Arlene Grant. Jensen would call 
forth the Arlene personality and send her off to Southeast Asia to deliver her 
messages. In his book. Donald Bain writes that Arlene often carried an envelope, 
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but he wonders, wisely, if in fact there was any thing in the envelope. The 
possibility is strong that Candy carried her secret messages within her mind, 
locked behind posthypnotic blocks which could be released only by hearing the 
proper cue. 

In 1966 she was sent on several missions to Taiwan where three businessmen 
were her contacts. 

On her first mission to Taiwan, Arlene was met at the airport by one of them. She 
immediately offered him the envelope, but he insisted that she accompany him to 
his home, which turned out to be a large and institutional-like structure located 
on an impressive estate twenty miles outside Taipei In front of the house a long 
row of trees lined the driveway which circumscribed a lush green lawn. There 
were other buildings on the property some distance from the main house. 

As he escorted Arlene into the house she noticed two Chinese women dressed in 
lab coats on the lawn. She asked him who these women were, and he explained 
that they were only household help. During that first three-day visit the man 
entertained Arlene royally. he took her to extravagant dinners and on an 
extensive sightseeing tour of the island. 

When she returned to San Francisco, Jensen met her at the airport and drove her 
back to his office. There he gave her an intravenous injection of drugs and 
restored her to the Candy Jones personality. She turned in her Arlene Grant 
passport and put her black wig, dark makeup, and clothing in a closet in Jensen's 
office. On that trip she also turned over to Jensen several rolls of exposed film 
which she had taken on her sightseeing tour. On her return to New York, she 
found her staff at the modeling agency very upset because she had forgotten to 
tell anyone where she was going or how long she would be gone. 

A month later, Candy was again summoned to San Francisco. Jensen put her 
through the same procedure as before, having Arlene Grant emerge and travel to 
Taiwan. Again, the same man met her at the airport and took her to his country 
home. Again she stayed for three days. But this time she was not a guest but a 
prisoner. 

Candy recalled, through John's questioning under hypnosis, that she was hooked 
up to an electric box of some kind and was shocked repeatedly on her shoulders, 
anns and breasts. The Chinese grilled her about the contents of the envelope 
she'd just delivered. She protested that she did not know anything about its 
contents, but that answer did not satisfy her torturers. 

When she wouldn't change her story, they turned to questions about Dr. Jensen. 
Arlene maintained that she did not know Dr. Jensen. Obstinately, she stuck to her 
programmed cover story, even though she was severely and repeatedly shocked. 
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Although the real event had taken place almost ten years earlier, the physical 
impressions revived by reliving these experiences under her husband's hypnosis 
were so strong that her lymph system responded protectively and pumped fluid to 
her shin producing blisters in the exact places where the electrodes had been 
attached. 

According to Candy's recollection, the torture stopped only after the Chinese man 
talked with someone on the telephone. Following his conversation he unstrapped 
her from the chair and seemed most friendly and apologetic. He told her the 
electrodes had been used not to torture her but to try and jog her memory. After 
lunch he drove her to the airport and put her on a plane for San Francisco. She 
remembers that on the return flight she wore gloves in order to hide the blisters. 
She also recalls that her hands smelled of sulfuric acid, although she has no 
recollection of having been burned with it 

At San Francisco, Jensen met her and gave her the customary injection after they 
reached his office. He told her that the torture had been a mistake, the result of a 
typographical error in the message she had carried. 

In 1968 Candy was again sent to Taiwan. Nonnally an individual would not 
knowingly and willingly place herself in a position to be tortured a second time, 
but Jensen's control over Candy was so complete that she did his bidding without 
the slightest hesitation. 

The final trip to Taiwan brought her into contact with other Taiwanese. She 
delivered her envelope, this time to a girl in an art gallery. She remembers that 
after the girl took the envelope from her, she spit in her face. Under hypnosis 
Candy could not recall any reason why the girl had done so. 

Mer delivering the message, Arlene was picked up by the same man and driven to 
his home. Again she was tortured with electrodes and questioned about the 
contents of the message she'd delivered. When she would not or could not 
answer, her torturers put her hand in a box which contained a scorpion. This 
apparently was supposed to be a scare tactic, for when the scorpion bit her, the 
torturers immediately stopped the shocks and gave her antibiotics and 
administered other medical treatment 

Candy told her husband that on another occasion her thumbnails had been cut to 
the quick in an attempt to make her talk. She remembered that this had taken 
place on January 24, 1968. On still another occasion, something had been put in 
her ears to cause pain. But throughout all this torture, Jensen's programming 
held. She said nothing. 

In another hypnosis session Arlene told about getting dizzy in a Taiwan hotel after 
having one drink. She began to sweat profusely and went to a bathroom which 
had a little dressing room and a bed in it. An attendant accompanied her and took 
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her clothes and hung them up since they had become drenched with perspiration. 
She was given a dressing gown and allowed to lie down. Eventually a doctor 
came to see her. He gave her an injection and she drifted off to sleep. 

After the doctor left the room, the female attendant came over and began to pinch 
her on different parts of her body, asking her where "the papers" were. When the 
attendant began to pinch Arlene's nipples, she fainted from the pain. The woman 
persisted, repeatedly pulling her to a sitting position and severely pinching her 
nipples. 

When the woman finally left the rootn, Candy remembers, she tried to crawl 
under the bed to hide. The doctor came back and gave her another injection. The 
next day when she awoke and dressed, she was courteously escorted to the airport 
by her torturers as if nothing had happened. 

When she got back to Jensen's office, she reported the incident to him. He 
seemed most concerned about it but when he asked to see her bruises, she 
refused to show him her black and blue nipples. 

On a number of occaSions Candy was sent to the Central Intelligence Agency's 
training ground called "The Fann." Known to the outside world as Camp Peary, it 
appeared to be an ordinary military installation. There Candy learned how to 
search a room, and various guerrilla warfare tactics including how to commit 
undetectable arson. She was taught how to use a poison lipstick to take her own 
life, and how to use the same lipstick to kill someone else by sticking a pin inside 
it, then jabbing the intended victim. She learned how to use acid as a defensive 
and offensive weapon. She learned how to fire various weapons, how to climb 
ropes, and how to write coded messages on her fingernails and cover them with 
polish. The training at "The Farm" was known as 3-D: "Detect, Destroy, and 
Demolish." 

At one point Candy told her husband of an especially outrageous incident which 
took place at CIA headquarters in Langley, VJ.rginia. She had been taken to an 
amphitheater where more than two dozen CIA men were gathered to witness a 
per{onnance of Dr. Jensen's stable of zombies. There were eight subjects 
scheduled for the per{onnance and Candy was the first 

In a deep hypnotic trance, she was made to lie naked on a table. The table was 
wheeled before the CIA audience and Candy was introduced to the group as Laura 
Quidnick. She wore her Arlene wig during the entire performance. 

Dr. Jensen demonstrated his complete control over the prone, disrobed figure of 
Candy Jones. He lit a candle and told his nude subject that she would not feel a 
thing. Then he shoved the burning candle deep into her vagina. Several of the 
witnesses tried to break through Jensen's contro~ but they all failed. "Candy is 
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perfect," Arlene told John. "Jensen proved in Vrrginia how impossible it was to 
break his controL" 

Piecing together such fragmented incidents of Candy's secret CIA past, John 
Nebel discovered that his wife had been programmed to commit suicide once she 
was no longer useful to the CIA. The self-destruct program was to be activated in 
Nassau. She was to check into the Paradise Beach Hotel on December 31, 1972. 
She'd stayed at the hotel many times before on normal business trips, so there 
was nothing unusual about that. But on this occasion Arlene was primed to 
spontaneously take over Candy's body upon receiving a phone call from Jensen. 
She was programmed to walk Candy's body to a steep cliff overlooking the sea and 
there to make a high dive. This was to be the last dive of Candy Jones' life, for 
from that location her body would certainly have crashed into the rocks on the 
beach below. 

It was extremely fortunate that Candy married John Nebel on the very day she was 
supposed to check into the hotel. The marriage, by putting off the Nassau trip, 
had short-circuited Jensen's program of suicide, which was scheduled for the 
same month. 

Even to the end of her life, despite John's help in countering much of Jensen's 
programming, Candy was still not completely free of his control over her mind. 
Still, whenever she looked into a mirror, she felt Arlene struggling to take over her 
consciousness. 

Although Candy told Jensen that she was through working for the Agency in the 
middle of 1972, more than six months after she and John were married a strange 
phone call was recorded on their answering machine. The message was: "Japan 
Airlines calling on the 03 July at 4:10 p..rn. ... Please have Miss Grant call . 
759-9100 ... She is holding new reservation on Japan Airlines ffight 5, for the sixth 
of July, Kennedy-Tokyo, with an open on to TaipeL This is per Cynthia that we 
are calling. Thank you." 

A check with Japan Airlines disclosed that the nwnber 759-9100 was indeed the 
reservation nwnber for the airline. There was, however, no record in the airline's 
computer of the reservation or a record of who made it. Neither was there a 
reservation clerk named Cynthia, or anyone else at the airline by that name. the 
"per Cynthia" phrase may have been a code which was supposed to trigger 
Candy's automatic program, or it may have been a thin disguise for the Agency 
represented by Cynthia's first and Last two letters. 

Candy's controlled mind and John Nebel's sense of patriotism prevented the 
whole truth of the story from emerging. For some reason John Nebel, Candy 
Jones and Donald Bain conceal the real names of Candy's programmers. In 
Bain's book the name Gilbert Jensen is said to be a pseudonym. 
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Another doctor, who supposedly conditioned to hate and distrust people, is given 
the name "Dr. Marshall Burger" in the book, though at one point there is a 
footnote stating that Nebel wondered if Burger wasn't a cover name for the 
California hypnotist Dr. William Jennings Bryan. (In a samisdat document 
supposed to have come from a CIA briefing, ( see Chapter 37) it was noted that 
Bryan had been one of the programmers of Sirhan Sirhan.) 

Bryan, as noted in an earlier chapter, was the hypnotist and physician who offered 
the long-distance, instant diagnosis that Gary Powers had been "Powerized" by 
the Soviets. He was fonnerly a hypnotist for the air force and has been linked to 
the CIA. He was also the technical consultant for the film The Manchurian 
Candidate. 

According to the April22,1969, Los Angeles Times, the California State Board of 
Medical Examiners found him guilty of "unprofessional conduct in four cases 
involving sexual molesting of female patients." For this offense Bryan was only 
placed on five years' probation - the lightness of the penalty might well have been 
accomplished through his connections with the CIA. 

Alan W. Scheflin, and attorney who spent five years researching the subject of 
mind control for his book The Mind Manipulators, said he has evidence which 
suggests that the Nebels and Donald Bain may be concealing the fact that the 
"doctor'! who programmed Candy is the same doctor who programmed Lee 
Hmvey Oswald, James Earl Ray and Sirhan Beshara Sirhan. 

In early 1976 Candy Jones and I both spoke on a KSAN radio special on mind 
control I was interviewed via telephone and Candy was interviewed in the studio. 
We did not meet face to face, but KSAN provided all the participants with . 
duplicate tapes of the program. 

On the KSAN program Candy Jones and Donald Bain both insisted, despite my 
own evidence and arguments, the testimony of Jessica Mitford, and the evidence 
provided by two other investigative reporters that Candy had been only a human 
guinea pig used for experimental purposes. The records of the CIA mind-control 
project clearly show, however, that during the 1960s the cryptocracy's mind 
control had gone far beyond the experimental stage. On that radio show, Candy 
herself revealed that Sir William Stephenson (A Man Clllled lntrepitf) believed that 
she was no guinea pig. She reported that Stephenson wrote her that as far back 
as the early days of World War n he had used zombie agents like her in the service 
of British Intelligence. 

Shortly after the program was aired I called Nebel's office to try and make contact 
with Candy or John. They had ignored my previous letters and my calls were 
taken by their producer, who tried to help me but finally had to report that the 
Nebels were not interested in being interviewed. I subsequently learned that 
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neither would they grant an interview to Jolm Marks of the Center for National 
Security Studies. 

My Attempt to clarify the question of whether or not Dr. William Jennings Bryan 
had anything to do with programming Candy Jones was also frustrated by his 
avoidance of me. I persisted in trying to get an interview with him until March of 
1977, when Dr. Bryan died prematurely at the age of fifty, allegedly of a heart 
attack. He was a rather flamboyant man who toured the country holding 
"conferences" where he would lecture on the uses of hypnosis in police 
interrogation. He died at one such conference in Las Vegas, Nevada, only months 
after his name was raised in connection with Candy Jones. 

Both Long Jolm and Candy are now moulding in their graves. Among the legacy 
they left are questions which begged for their answers: What are the real names of 
the men who programmed Candy? Why weren't they included in the book? What 
are Candy's and Jolm's personal political affiliations? Why were they not outraged 
by Candy's manipulation? Why are they attempting to protect the guilty and 
justify the rape of Candy's body and mind by the "national security" rationale? 
Why wouldn't they sit still and let me interview them in detail? 

In light of Candy's disclaimer, and the Nebels' refusal to clear up these questions, 
I can only ask the reader to decide whether or not Candy Jones was a courier in a 
fully operational sense, or only an experimental guinea pig, as she hied to make 
us believe. 
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The late Candy Jones, Powers model, CIA courier, Dissociative Identity 
Disordered by the cryptocracy. ( Note her pupils are dilated in the strong light. 
This could indicated that she was in a drugged state when this photo was 
taken.) Today Candy is recognized as among the first "Presidential Models" by 
the survivors of the so-called Monarch Project. 
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THE STORY OF 0 

Due to the volatile nature of the information contained in her story, I am 
withholding this victim's identity. The evidence is still being uncovered. Others 
are coming forward with corroborating information. While detills of her 
testimony is still being checked, we do know, that what she describes in her story 
is entirely possible, so, from the perspective of students of mind control this story 
has great value as it is here presented. Future editions may contain more. 

We'll call her 0. She was born in 1957. Her first memories are of being suffocated 
by her father's penis in what was to be a childhood of continual sexual abuse. 
After six years of "deprogramming" with Mark Phillips, 0 has come to reintegrate 
her fragmented personality and has gained access to most of the shocking 
memories of her abuse by, among others, high government officials. 

In her unpublished autobiography 0 writes: "I recall as a toddler being unable to 
run ( I could barely walk) to my mother for help as my instincts demanded..: 
describing one moment of the lurid details which drove her to a condition many 
call Multiple Personality Disorder. Instead of helping, her mother abused her. 

"Multiple Personality Disorder (MPD)," she explains, "is the mind's sane defense 
to an insarie situation - a way of dealing with trauma that is literally too horrible 
to comprehend. By compartmentalizing the memory of such horrendous abuse as 
incestuous rape, which violates primitive instincts and surpasses pain tolerance, 
the rest of the mind can function "normally"' as though nothing has happened. 
This compartmentalization is created by the brain actually shutting down neuron 
pathways to a specific part of the brain. These neuron pathways are triggered open 
again when the abuse recurs, whereby the same part of the brain that is already 
conditioned to the trauma deals with it again_. and again •.. as needed. .. " 

The results of this childhood abuse left little 0 unable to recall her father's sexual 
assaults. Until she saw or felt his penis thrust at her in another attack she 
remained innocent and open, amnesic of the previous abuses. "As quickly as I felt 
the terror from conditioned response (to his sexual assault)," she writes, "my 
neuron pathways opened up instantaneously to the part of my brain that had 



130 W.H. Bowart 

previously endured the trauma. This part of my mind developed into a personality 
of its own which belonged to my father ... which he rented out and later sold to the 
U.S. Government" 

Her father (through her own investigations) was apparently a multigenerational 
incest victim himself from a large, poor and "horribly dysfunctional family where 
his mother earned a living as a prostitute to locallwnbennen ... My father's 
brothers and sister," 0 says, "were all sexually and (occult) ritually abused just as 
he was, and they grew up to be drug addicts, prostitutes, street derelicts and 
pedophiles who also sexually abused me and my brothers and sisters: (By occult 
ritually abused, 0 means such as in the black rites of Satanism.) 

0' s case duplicates the mind control effects described by the cases of David, Luis 
Castillo and Candy Jones. But it goes further because 0 says she's regained her 
memocy and reintegrated her multiple personalities, remembering the process 
that she was a courier (like David and Candy) who carried secret messages locked 
behind posthypnotic blocks, and she muled drugs (mostly cocaine) for the CIA 
and perfonned perverted sex acts for a number of leading politicians including 
two Presidents of the United States while they were in office and one before he 
came to office. Her father prostituted her to his friends, local mobsters, Masons, 
relatives, Satanists, strangers and police officers before he entered her into savice 
of the cryptocracy. 

Young 0 and her siblings were used in child porn fihns by her father and her 
uncle. As a child she was forced to perfonn sex acts before the cameras with her 
Uncle's boxer dog, Buster. 

It was her uncle, she says, who informed her father of "the U.S. government 
Defense Intelligence Agency's mind control operation that was recruiting 
multigenerational incest abused children with Multiple Personality Disorder for 
its •.. mind control studies. I was a prime candidate, a "chosen one .. , and my 
father seized the opportunity as it would provide him immunity from prosecution 
(for the child porn charge he was facing)." Her father, she says was hurriedly 
flown to Boston for a two week course on •how to raise me for this off-shoot of 
the MKultra Project, Project Monarch." · 

When he returned from Boston, she says, he was smiling and pleased with his 
knowledge of what he termed •reverse psychology." This she desaibes as puns 
and "phrases that stuck in my mind like 'You earn your keep, and I'll keep what 
you earn.'" Her description of her father's newly acquired linguistic techniques 
include what David called •audio-reversals." 

It is slowly coming into acceptance among the psychiatric community that people 
suffering from Multiple Personality Disorders often exhibit unusual abilities in 
their different personalities. While the •control" or day-to-day normal personality 
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might be seriously nearsighted, another personality might have 20/20 vision. 
Quite common is the hypennnesia David described, and the high tolerance to pain 
we fmd in Candy Jones' story. 0 has her own version of these abilities. 

"I learned to read at the young age of 4 due to my photographic memory which is 
a result of MPD. Our government researchers," 0 says, "knew about the 
photographic memor:y aspect of MPD, as well as the increased visual acuity which 
is 44 times greater than that of the average person, the unusually high pain 
tolerance, and the compartmentalization of memory, all of which were appealing 
for military and covert operations development. Additionally, my sexuality was 
primitively twisted since infancy •.. which was appealing to perverse politicians 
who could hide their actions deep within my memory compartments referred to 
as personalities ... 

"I had personalities for pornography, a personality for bestiality, a personality for 
incest, a personality for withstanding the horrendous psychological abuse of my 
mother, a personality that witnessed my occult father ritually murdering a man, a 
personality for prostitution, while the rest of 'me', functioned somewhat 
'normally' at schooL My 'normal' personality provided a cover for the abuse I was 
enduring, but best of all it had hope - hope that there was somewhere in the 
world where people did not hurt each other .. : 

0' s young mind was scrambled with the "Project Monarch methodologies", she 
says, which confused fantasy with reality. Disney stories, Cinderella and the 
WJZard of Oz were placed at the base of her programming. 

When she was 13, with her breasts beginning to swell, she was judged to be "too 
old" for pedophile perversions. It was then that she was "sold" to U.S. 
Congressman, Senator Robert C. Byrd (Demoaat West Vaginia). From that point 
on, she says, "my MPD existence became more regimented ... I was kept physically 
worn down to the point of exhaustion in order that I be sufficiently receptive to 
my father's limited hypnotic programming capabilities ... 

"My television, books, and music became even more strictly controlled and 
monitored than before, not only to infringe on my last minuscule freedom of 
choice, but for total mind control conditioning purposes. 

"For example, the annual television of Judy Garland's WJZaTd of Oz was celebrated 
as a holiday around my house to prepare my mind for future base programming 
on the theme that I, like Dorothy, could 'spin' into another dimension 'over the 
Rainbow.' After all, 'Birds (Byrds) fly over the Rainbow .. .' 

"My father insisted I watch the Walt Disney movie 'Cinderella' with him, 
paralleling my existence to Cinderella's- 'magically trance-forming from a dirty 
little slave to a beautiful Princess' - and in typical 'reverse psychology' humor, 
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he referred to pornographic photos when singing 'someday my prints (Prince) will 
come', or by placing literal sexual emphasis on 'will come.' 

•My brother, who was often featured in kiddie porn with me, was not a 'chosen 
one' for Project Monarch (beyond supplying more children to be dedicated in later 
years), yet my father figured what was good for me would be good for my brother. 
He took us to see Walt Disney's "Pinnochio•, explaining that my brother and I 
were his puppets still in the carving stage. The distortions of reality that these and 
other Disney theme movies provided when coupled with my father's controlling 
conscious and subconscious influence, began to further erode our ability to 
discern fantasy from reality. My brother, now 37, remains psychologically locked 
in to those traumatic childhood years and is obsessed with Disney to this day, 
decorating his house in Disney memorabilia, wearing Disney clothes, listening to 
my father's instructions on his Disney telephone, and maintains 'When you wish 
upon a star' as his favorite song, with no conscious idea as to why .•. " 

Every other Project Monarch •slave" she met, had been programmed along 
similar lines as she had. •1 had to watch such programs as 'I Dream of Jeanie', 
'The Brady Bunch', 'Gumby and Pokey', and 'Bewitched'. I could relate to the 
Genie pleasing her master, who was a Major in the Air Force in 'I Dream of 
Jeanie.' This served to confuse the reality of my own experiences with the fantasy 
of the TV production. I told all outsiders that my family was 'just like the Bradys'. 
Through 'Gumby and Pokey' I was led to believe that I was as flexible as these clay 
figures, capable of being physically maneuvered into any sexual position. In 
'Bewitched' it is the nonnal next door neighbor that is considered crazy rather 
than the witches, another reversal that applied to my bizarre existence ... • 

0 says her father took advantage of his new political connections and advanced 
himself in his work. •Soon he was promoted. .. due to who he knew within the 
Pentagon Procurement Office and General Services Administration, and what he 
had learned about double bind hypnotic persuasion ... In true pedophile fashion, 
he surrounded himself with children by coaching little league sports, chaperoning 
school and Catechism activities, and becoming involved with the Boy Scouts, all 
of which made him appear to be a pillar of the community. The illusion was 
£ • g , .ormm ... 

Abused by both government representatives and priests in the Catholic church, 0 
says that there are strong •political ties between the Catholic Church and the U.S. 
government" which was •evidenced by the much publicized relationship between 
the President and the Pope during the Reagan Administration. But this political 
relationship was evident to me years before through experiencing •.. direct 
involvement in Project Monarch's physical and psychological conditioning" and 
abuse. 
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Satanic rituals, she says, were often used to traumatize her in attempts to further 
fragment her personality. But that, she says, "did not promote the helpless 
attitude" that was desired. What they wanted, she says, was to make people 
believe that there was "spiritual warfare" going on which was beyond mankind's 
ability to stop. 

"I knew it was my father, not Satan, that murdered the unsuspecting hunter in 
the woods during a ritual. And I knew no spirits or demons were being appeased 
by my Uncle Bob's slaughter of numerous pets, even when Bunny screamed like a 
woman while being tortured to death. Regardless of my spiritual beliefs. I 
experienced the 'results' just the same, being subjected to and witnessing trauma 
so horrible it literally drove me out of my mind, while my body was raped, 
tortured, and ravaged by men .. " 

"Whether I was in a military, NASA, or government building, the procedure for 
maintaining me under total mind control remained consistent with Project 
Monarch requirements. This included physical and/or psychological trauma; sleep, 
food, and water deprivation; high voltage electric shock; an4 hypnotic and/or 
hannonic programming of specific memory compartments /personalities. The 
high tech equipment and methods I endured from that time on gave our 
government absolute control of my mind and life since I had been literally driven 
out of my conscious mind, and I existed only through my programmed 
subconscious. I lost my free will, ability to reason, and I could not think to 
question anything that was happening to me. I could only do as I was told." 

In the summer of 1975, O's family drove her from Michigan to the Teton 
Mountains of Wyoming. There she was introduced to Dick Cheney, Wyoming's 
Congressman who had become the White House Chief of Staff to President Ford 
and eventually Secretary of Defense to George Bush. 

0 says Cheney enjoyed a sadistic ritual called "A Most Dangerous Game." 
Originally devised to train the military in survival and combat maneuvers, it was 
used on 0 as a means of further conditioning her mind to believe that "there was 
no place to hide," as well as to more deeply traumatize her for ensuing 
programming. 

"It was my experience over the years," 0 says, "that A Most Dangerous Game has 
numerous variations of the primary theme of being stripped naked and turned 
loose in the wilderness while being hunted by men. In reality, the 'wilderness' 
area was enclosed in military fencing and it was only a matter of time until I was 
caught, repeatedly raped and tortured. 

"Dick Cheney has an apparent 'addiction' to the 'thrill of the sport', and appears 
obsessed with playing A Most Dangerous Game as a means of traumatizing mind 
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control victims, as well as for his own sexual kink. My introduction to t he game 
occurred upon arrival, and it physically and psychologically devastated me ... " 

0 says she was so traumatized by the event that after it she stood trembling -
"'naked in his dark hunting lodge office after being hunted down and caught 

•cheney was talking as he paced around,"' she says. " I could stuff you and 
mount you like a jackalope and call you a two-legged dear. Or I could stuff you 
with this (he unzipped his pants to reveal his oversized penis) right down your 
throat, and then mount you. Which do you prefer?"' 

While 0 stood silently trembling, not knowing what to say, blood and sweat and 
dirt slid down her legs and shoulders. 

•Make up your mind, Cheney shouted,"' 0 says. "You don't get a choice anyway. I 
make up your mind for you. That's why you're here. For me to make you a mind 
and make yoU mine/mind. You lost your mind a long time ago. Now I'm going to 
give you one. Just like the WJ.Zal'd (of Oz) gave Scarecrow a brain, the Yellow Brick 
Road led you here to me. You've come such a long long way for your brain, and I 
will give you one. • 

When 0 asked to use the bathroom Cheney's face turned red with rage, she says, 
and he was on her in an instant, slamming her back into the wall, growling, "If 
you don't mind me, I will kill you. I could kill you ••. Kill you ••. with my bare 
hands. You're not the first and you won't be the last rn kill you any time I 
goddamn well please.• 

•He flung me on the cot that was behind me, and finished taking his rage out on 
me sexually, • 0 says. During that assault Cheney used an electric cattle prod on 
the young woman. 

The following year, 0 says, she was "dropped ofr' at the Kermedy Space Center in 
Titusville, Florida where she was subjected to her first NASA programming. "From 
then on, I was obsessed with following the Yellow Brick Road to Nashville, 
Tennessee where she got involved with people in the country music business who 
were working undercover for the ayptoaacy. 

"'In the early 1980's, my base programming was instilled by US Army Ll Col 
Michael Aquino, who holds a Top Seaet clearance in the Defense Intelligence 
Agency's Psychological Warfare Division (Psyops ) . Aquino is a professed 
Neo-Nazi, the founder of the Himmler inspired occult Temple of Set, and has 
been charged with child ritual and sexual abuse at the Presidio Day Care in San 
Francisco, Ca. But like my father, Aquino remains 'above the law' while he 
continues to traumatize and program CIA destined young minds in a quest to 
create the 'superior race' of Project Monarch mind controlled slaves. I quickly 
learned that Aquino did not adhere to his profoundly professed occult superstition 
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any more than I did, and that his "satanic power" was in the fonn of numerous 
variations of high voltage stun guns, which he used on me regularly. Although 
Aquino used occultism (blood trauma) as a trauma base, his programming was 
high tech and "clean" - not muddled in a proverbial witches brew of ignorance. 
He quickly dispelled the ... influence (of her previous programmers), and began 
programming me according to Byrd's specifications ... as his 'own little witch' for 
sadistic sex and covert CIA drug muling, blaclanail and prostitution operations." 

"Aquino provided the ancient instructions on how to mutilate me," 0 says. Silver 
nitrite and hot exacto knives were used to carve the details of the "witch" on her 
vagina without any form of anesthesia. The muscles were cut so that when she 
flexed, they would protrude from her body showing the hideous face. This was 
done, not only as a •curiosity" but because, according to 0, it made her vagina 
•suited to Byrd's tiny, underdeveloped penis," and made her "Byrd's own little 
witch" for "which witch is which" programming. 

In 1981, Byrd joined Aquino at Huntsville, Alabama during one of the 
programming sessions. 0 says, ~ASA cooperates with Byrd since it is Byrd's 
Appropriations Committee that determines how much and/or whether or not 
NASA receives any govermnent funding. I laid naked on the cold metal table, 
tranced and photographically recording every word and detail of my programming 
and every word that Byrd and Aquino exchanged. Byrd was providing Aquino with 
specific details of certain perversions he wanted me equipped to fulfill or perform. 
Additionally, they talked about scrambling my immediate memory with two 
private porn films they were arranging to have produced locally ••. •How to Divide 
a Personality• and "How to Create a Sex Slave. • These fihns are the kind NASA 
became involved in producing for the dual purpose of "scrambling« memoey as 
well as documenting their mind control procedures. The resident pornographers 
were two local police, one of which was a Sergeant, and this serves NASA and CIA 
well when cover-up is necessary. I photo-identified the Sergeant and his (jailer) 
officer in 1990, and my life was threatened as a result of this revelation. 

"The 'How to Create a Sex Slave' film depicts the common 'spin' programming, 
which in essence is the combination to unlocking or accessing a specific 
programmed act. For example, the compartment of the brain that holds memory 
of incest is stimulated to open when the abuse occurs again. Seeing my father's 
penis would 'trigger' specific responses, supposedly opening the neuron pathways 
of my brain to allow the part of my brain that dealt with him before to deal with 
him again. With 'spin' programming, the 'trigger of seeing my father's penis is 
replaced with a combination of specific verbal commands and a specific number 
of revolutions in turning my body so that anyone with the combination could 
access that particular part of my brain. The part of my mind originally abused by 
my father learned to 'like' sex... painful sex. Byrd wanted me programmed in such 
a way that he could decide if he wanted me to scream and cry when he whipped 
me, or if he wanted me to become sexually aroused and beg for more. Mter 
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programming when I met with Byrd, I would 'dance' like a music box dancer, 
twirling 'round and 'round until Byrd's fiddle 'music' stopped. My brain knew 
how many revolutions I had made whether I was capable of conscious counting or 
not, and the desired results were produced (and the appropriate state) accessed. 

-nus is but one simplified example of sex programming, and I was programmed 
for more than sex. But this particular incident of programming at the US Anny 
Redstone Arsenal would change my existence entirely and set the stage for my 
role in covert government operations as a 'Presidential ModeL'" 

-rhe majority of my programming," 0 continues, -was Oz theme based, which 
meant the combination of codes, keys and triggers to access me were related to I.. 
Frank Baum's Wazard of Oz. CIA ayptic language is a manipulation of the English 
language in such a way that words have double meaning, much the way people 
famUiar with each other have 'inside jokes.' Since a mind controlled slave exists 
through their very literal subconscious, which has no way of discerning fantasy 
from reality, or intended meaning from literal, ayptic language is especially 
effective. Many CIA covert operations I was involved in occurred in public, and 
anyone who might have overheard the conversation would have heard something 
very different than what actually 'trance-spired.' Por emnple, my escort linked 
anns with me like Dorothy's companions did with her when walking theY ellow 
Brick Road in the WIZald of Oz, which must have appeared nonnal or even 
romantic to outsiders, but signaled me that I had better follow 'directions.' He 
read the sign on the door 'Service Entrance'-· accentuating syllables ever so 
slightly so that I heard him command 'Serve us. En-Trance.' 

"After Aquino instilled my base sex programming, I was often taken._ to 
Youngst~ Ohio to attend the sa slave training camp referred to as 'Chann 
Schoo~,. 0 says. Often 0 was trained "with other CWMob slaves. • Whenever 
'Charm School' was in session, 0 says, "there were several girls being tortured 
and trained at once. I have seen and known numerous girls to go through 'Chann 
School', but understandably very few are reported to have survived or recovered 
their minds enough to talk about it • 

This scrcalled 'Charm School', 0 says, was owned and operated by a member of a 
prominent banking family, who took the name and role of 'Governor' from the 
movie 'My Fair Lady' in an attempt to confuse reality with movie fantasy." (In the 
movie, •Governor" is the cockney title given Professor Dolittle who transfonns a 
female street urchin into a high society lady.) • Additionally, the title of 'Governor" 
was intended to create a scramble for the real Governor who often frequented the 
school as though it were a whore house." (The Governor of Pennsylvania at that 
time was Richard Thornburgh.) 

"Chann SchooL" 0 says, "meant I would be channed, mesmerized (hypnotized), 
and programmed to be a high-class prostitute for politicians. I did learn their way 
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to walk. I learned when to talk, how to dress, how to sit, stand, etc. .. table 
manners were not taught as they were not needed since slaves endured food and 
water deprivation when working .•. " Noticeable in O's behavior is her conditioned 
way of sitting, walking, talking, and smiling, in a quite channing if artificial 
manner, not unlike the behavior of sorority girls in the South during the late 'SO's 
or early '60's. 

A typical three-day course at •charm School", 0 says, included the •usual factors 
of sleep, food and water deprivation, trauma and high voltage programming 
(aversive conditioning with electric shocks.) "Often experimental drugs or 
tried-and-proven CIA manufactured 'designer' drugs were administered which 
produced specific brain wave activity to maximize and/or compartmentalize 
programs. I usually spent the first day hanging in the dungeon. 

Chann School was housed in a historic stone railroad magnet's former residence, 
in the basement wine ceDer. "It is dark, damp and mustyt" 0 sayst "and has been 
decorated in classic torture chamber fashion complete with hanging chains, 
stretching rack, whips, alter and animal altars. 

"As I hung by my wrists, I could hear and smell the animals in the next cells.-• A 
managerie of animals were kept in the 'Charm School dungeons. According to 0 
there was a black Nubian goat called "Satan", a small donkey named "Nester', and 
a small white pony called •Trigger" and various dogs, and snakes. 

The animals were trained to respond sexually to the smell of urine. As 0 desaibes 
it, •when someone entered my cell and urinated on me, I knew I would soon be 
released from my chains and led to the animal altar for bestiality lessons, 
pornography, or to please a perverse onlooker.! was hung by my ankles, stretched 
on the rack, burned and tortured repeatedly. My feet and hands were chained to a 
wall for what was tenned 'off the wall sex', and I was taught 'Silence!' in Oz 
fashion since screaming did not produce results anyway. I was repeatedly filmed 
pornographically, and always taken upstairs to 'the Master's Chambers' for 
prostitution to various participants_.• 

Other programming took place at Tinker Air Force Base Near Tulsa, Oklahoma. 
• At Tinker, the Disney theme of Peter Pan's Never Never Land was ayptically 
used to further convince my chlld personalities that reality was fantasy, and that I 
would 'Never grow up' due to the timelessness of my existence. I was ayptically 
labeled a "Tinker-Belle", which signaled 'those in the know' that I had endured 
government military programming consistent with Tinker AFB mind control 
research and development. My 'Tinker-Belle' conditioning further enhanced my 
photographic memory through direct control for receiving and delivering 
government messages -a computerizaton/compartmentalizaiton of my brain, so 
to speak. I was also trained in covert criminal operations, such as international 
drug transactions for funding the Pentagon's and CIA's Black Budgets,4C 0 says. 
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She was led to a secret NASA installation at Maxwell Air Force Base in Nebraska. 
There she experienced what she calls ,the 'you can run, but you can't hide' 
conditioning. 

•1 was taken underground to a secret circular room where the walls were covered 
with numerous screens showing satellite pictures from around the world. These 
satellites are referred to as the 'Eye in the Sky', and an Air Force official explained 
to me that my every move 'could be monitored via satellite'. On a separate 
four-screen viewer, he demonstrated what in retrospect was a contrived 
pre-recorded slide show, with the scenes changing as rapidly as he spoke and 
typed it into the computer. 'Where will you run? To the Arctic? The Antarctic? 
Brazil? The mountains? The desert? The prairies? The hills of Afghanistan? The 
city of Kabul? Devils Tower (Wyoming)? Would you tzy to run to Cuba and live 
among our enemies? We can find you there. There is truly no place to run and no 
place to hide. The US Senate? (The picture ~ of Byrd) The White House? Or to 
your own backyard? (My father was waving from his front door, cupping his 
hands over his mouth saying 'come back' just like Aunt Em in the WJZard of Oz.) 
The moon? We got you covered. You can run, but you can't hide.' • 

This well-produced and tailor·made multimedia presentation convinced 0 that her 
every move could be monitored. 

0 says that her •owner" Senator Byrd prostituted her routinely to other high 
ranking politicians in Washington, D.C. And when Byrd used her for his own 
pleasure it was usually with a whip and a pocket knife. 0 says he •picked up where 
my mother left off to destroy any self esteem I might have had left... He often 
threatened me ( and told me) that I was considered 'disposable' because, after all, 
'The first Presidential Mode4 Marilyn Monroe, was killed right in front of the 
public -· and no one knew what happened.'" 

•Byrd justified mind control atrocities, • 0 says, • as a means of thrusting mankind 
into accelerated evolution according to the Neo-Nazi principals he adheres to. He 
justifies manipulating mankind's religion to bring about the prophesied biblical 
'world peace' through the 'only means available' - total mind control in the New 
World Order- because, after all, 'even the Pope and Monnon Prophet know this 
is the only way to peace_. (they) cooperate fully with the projecL. 

"Byrd justified our countzy's involvement in drug distribution, pornography and 
white slavery as a means of 'gaining control of all illegal activities world wide' to 
fund Black Budget covert activity that will bring about 'world peace' through 
world dominance and total controL 'Ninety-five percent of the people want to be 
led by the five percenf is Byrd's justification for mass mind control world wide, 
and he claims this can be proven because 'the ninety-five percent do not want to 
know what really goes on it government'·- • 
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Literally Byrd's captive audience, 0 absorbed and remembered information that 
the "masterminds" behind the New World Order would never have revealed for 
security reasons. Since Byrd regarded her as his object, a game-piece that could 
be moved through life as though he were playing chess, he felt it safe to make her 
listen to his hidden political beliefs. 

"Bryd likely would have talked to a post," she says, "and I filled the role as his 
silent sounding board. To date, I apply much of what I absorbed from his 
recitations to my swvival and ultimately exposure of who is running our 
government, and the mind control atrocities and crimes proliferating against 
humanity for ushering in the New World Order ... " 

0 identifies several of the hidden mind control centers in the U.S. One she says is 
at Mount Shasta California. It is used as a training and operations camp for a 
variety of paramilitary projects. Among other things, robot soldiers are trained 
there. Usually this training is done with the highest tedmology in invisible 
weaponry even, what she calls, "Star Wars electromagnetic mind control 
equipment. • 

She reveals that there is a CIA "Near Death Trauma Cen~ at Lampe, Missouri, 
and several more across the country. At these centers 'A Most Dangerous Game' is 
played. As her discipline and programming took over what was left of her, she was 
forced to do strenuous exercise for two hours a day and was programmed to • eat 
like a bird (Byrd) ... (to keep a stunning figure.) My public image was a 
programmed personality that always smiled, looked and talked like the proverbial 
air-head blonde, and kept outsiders away by socializing only within my controlled 
environment. .. " One of the most frequented centers for her programming was 
MacDill Air Force Base in Tam~ Florida. 

"Presidential Modeling" action, for 0, consisted in taking auise ships from 
Miami, Florida throughout the Caribbean and Mexico muling cocaine. "While I 
was robotically carrying out transactions as ordered, I was also prostituted to 
Central and South American drug lords and politicians and often times filmed 
poflnogtaphically ... " 

In the early 1980's her duties included passing messages to and from Senator 
Byrd to Baby Doc Duvalier, and Puerto Rican drug lord Jose Busto. "The working 
relationship between the CIA and Haiti was abruptly concluded with Baby Doc 
being whisked away from an uprising in Haiti by our govenunent. •. along with his 
CIA drug profits. 

"The only Drug Wars I ever witnessed in the US, Caribbean and Mexico were those 
launched by the CIA against its competition ... The drug business was booming for 
the CIA. •. I brought suitcases of cocaine into the Port of Miami ... " 
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According to 0, her mind-controlled existence became more complicated after 
Byrd introduced her to President Ronald Reagan in 1983 at a White House party. 
Byrd told her, she says, -when you meet the Chief, imagine him with his pants 
down. He's most comfortable knowing you are imagining him with his pants 
down. He doesn't want formality." 

Apparently Reagan had seen the videos made at Huntsville: .. How to Divide a 
Personality" and "'How to Create a Sex Slave." •He was very pleased with me as 
though I had participated in them willingly," 0 says. •Within the first few 
minutes of meeting Reagan, he was giving me acting tips to utilize in 
pornography!!" 

•When you become your part," 0 reports Reagan saying, «your perfonnance 
increases, which in tum increases your ability to do your part._ for your 
countzy_. 'Ask not what your counby can do for you, Ask what you can do for 
your counby~-· your part.• Here was Reagan using one of her bigger phrases. 

•Reagan explained to me that the illegal CIA covert activities I was forced to 
participate in were 'justified' as they funded covert activities in Afghanistan and 
Nicaragua.• 0 says Reagan said: •America's Freedom Train is spanning the globe 
and sex is but a sidetrack to the ultimate course of freedom. Our job of procuring 
and transporting anns is the most difficult part of all. But it can and must be done 
How can a man with no anns fight?• She says he told her that covert activity was 
«necessary as American people raise too much hell about violence, and it is better 
they're not informed of our supporting wars they cannot understand-: 

0 says that Reagan twisted reality to fit his personal perceptions rather than 
adhere to Byrd's philosophies of providing rationalizations for what he deemed 
•the order of things. • 

•m typical Reagan fashion, • 0 says, • he did not perceive mind control as slavery, 
but as an opporh.mitg for those who otherwise would 'have been nothing in life_'• 

•Mwtigenerational incest abused children like myself, • she says, or previously 
impoverished baseball players from 3rd world countries and slums are provided an 
opportunity to 'be all they can be' through making a contra-bution to society, our 
nation, and the world by utilizing their talents to maximum potential and 
becoming programmed machines. With this attitude, Reagan was proud of the 
role he played as 'The WIZard of Oz' to Project Monarch slaves like myself, • 0 
says. 

The night she met Reagan, she says, Byrd acted in the capacity of a pimp and 
prostituted her to the President •He informed me that 'Uncle Ronnie doesn't 
sleep with his mommy', preferring his L.L. Bean flannel sheets, nightshirt and 
nightcap because 'they're wanner, softer, more comfortable and don't snore.' 
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"Reagan accessed my sexual programming, and I became 'my part' as a prostitute 
to 'Uncle Ronnie'." 0 says he did not move during sex. "After all that was 'my 
job: And my job was to please him, whatever it takes ... and it takes more time 
than anything." 

She says Reagan never hurt her, but "he made sure someone else did that". "He 
used this as a bond to the little child personality he always accessed for sex." 0 
says that Reagan's "biggest kink" was bestiality pornography, and his "passion for 
pornography escalated its manufacture and distribution during his 
administration. He wholeheartedly approved and encouraged porn for funding 
covert activity. • 

Many porn fihns were manufactured solely for the president's pleasure, 
sometimes according to his instructions, 0 says. These were referred to as "Uncle 
Ronnie's Bedtime Stories!' 

After meeting President Reagan, 0 says, she endured additional base 
programming by Lt. Colonel Michael Aquino. She says this was done largely for 
security reasons in order to override Byrd's control. 

"Since Reagan had been shot," she says, "he took extra precautions to ensure his 
safety which included directing Aquino as to how he wanted me programmed. 
Much to Aquino's dismay and embarrassment, Reagan loved the occult role that 
this Anny Lt. Colonel played for mind control traumatization purposes as it fit in 
with the public promotion of religion Reagan had launched. 

"The 'masterminds' behind the New World Order,• 0 says, "wanted to project the 
illusion that their mind control operatives were 'demon possessed' and that the 
atrocities people were witnessing were 'biblical in proportion' in order that they 
would feel helpless to oppose them. Without Christianity, Satanism loses its 
effectiveness .. but together Reagan, like Byrd, the Pope, Aquino and so many 
others, believed world peace would be acquired by controlling the minds of the 
masses through their religion. Aquino's role delighted Reagan, and he demanded 
that Aquino wear his black robes to a White House party to influence the 
superstitions of a few South American diplomats. Aquino appeared foolish in the 
eyes of his peers who knew Aquino's image was only a guise for Psychological 
Warfare, as it made Aquino look like he believed in his own facade. Aquino paid 
Reagan back. Minutes before I was prostituted to Reagan that evening, Aquino 
ordered me into a closed side room of the White House and very quickly had 
intercourse with me, slapped me on the behind and disrespectfully said, 'Take that 
to the Chief. • 

Later, Reagan instructed Aquino to use 0 for various military and government 
installations to provide "Hands on Mind Control Demonstrations of the latest 
advancements in training." According to 0, Reagan said the 'hands on 
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demonstrations' would 'educate our boys in the military to the wonders of the 
mind control phenomena'. And, says 0, "Hands on meant sex. .. After all 
'entertaining the troops is a long American tradition'." 

0 goes on to describe her programming and use as a "pigeon", one who carries 
secret messages locked behind post-hypnotic suggestions which must be 
triggered to be released. 0' s pigeon act was much more sophisticated than Candy 
Jones'. 

After the Iran/Contra scandal had broken in the news, 0 says she was the one who 
delivered secret instructions from the president to Manuel Noriega. She was 
escorted aboard his yacht by Michael Aquino. 

"I was helped onto the back of the yacht by Panamanian military guards who kept 
me there at gunpoint until I was cleared. .. • 0 says. After she was escorted to 
Noriega, he pressed a baby's ear shell into her hand which triggered the release of 
the message which was, as she remembers it: 

"If you please, Sir, I have a message from the President of the United States of 
America; The successes we have enjoyed in our shared endeavors are now history 
in the making, who's (sic) course can not be altered- regardless of the 
imminent lifting of the veil by well-intentioned do-gooders. As this veil is lifted, it 
may shed light on you. So you must have your house in order, as does Ollie 
North, and cease any and all detectable activity. I will do my best to keep you 
under shield and out of view if you comply with these orders and cease all 
detectable activity at once. • 

0 says Noriega acted insulted by this message and a moment of "ensuing chaos• 
reigned during which • Aquino hypnotically waved his hands in front of Noriega 
and dramatically spread out his satanic black cape which appeared to fin the 
room. • Noriega was apparently a superstitious believer in something like Santeria, 
a Christian sect which mixes magic with practices which border on Voodoo. 

"Aquino's manner was side-show-style rather than the usual somber tones used 
on Military bases for the Hands On demonstrations, • 0 writes. "General, for your 
entertainment and in respect and appreciation of your successful enterprising 
'Contra-bution', the Chief has sent his Presidential Model to demonstrate the 
latest technology in mind control advancements. With the flip of a switch, this 
pigeon becomes a kitten ( I began undressing). Quite a different animal. • 

0 says that because of Noriega's superstition, the personality switch frightened 
him. "Noriega believed wholeheartedly in mind control, • she wrote, "but could 
not grasp the concept of Multiple personalities (which he perceived as demonic 
possession) and therefore did not adhere to the idea of one slave being trained for 
business and pleasure. Aquino was manipulating these beliefs of Noriega's 
masterfully, compounded by the notion of Aquino being a 'devil' working for 
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Reagan. The impact of this demonstration ... would prove to be psychological 
warfare of the highest order administered to force Noriega to be more discrete. • 

Aquino then ordered her to lie on the bed and he invited Noriega to look closer at 
what the "WIZ3l'd" - "his Chief' - (Reagan) could create, 0 said. "Noriga 
stepped closer to see what Aquino was pointing out to him between my breasts. A 
large, carved baphomet appeared. Aquino had hypnotically regressed me to the 
time of its making which caused it to seemingly 'suddenly appear' right before 
Noriega's eyes ... " 

Noriega jwnped back, terrified. "I believe Noriega stayed in the room for the rest 
of the demonstration simply because he was frozen in fear," 0 said, "Aquino hit 
me with a cat-o-nine-tails and I shrieked in pain. Noriega jumped. Aquino hit me 
with it again, this time activating me to respond sexually as though pain were 
pleasure -a mind control concept that Noriega more readily grasped. Then 
Aquino pointed out that the baphomet had disappeared as he cut me with a knife 
between my breasts using Byrd's hypnotic induction 'In like a knife, sharp and 
clean. I'D carve out what I want' 

•My trance had been deepened to the extent that my circulatory system was 
slowed, • 0 said, • and I did not bleed until Aquino hypnotically changed my 
trance level. Aquino told Noriega that the baphomet carving had 'retreated to the 
depths of my body and soul, possessing me and evoking the 'heat of hell' as he 
commanded me to show my vaginal mutilation carving of the bapbomet face. As I 
did, Aquino offered Noriega my se:x, which Noriega refused as predicted with his 
eyes bulging in terror and revulsion. Aquino told him his 'rejection of me had 
killed me', and I ceased breathing and moving as conditioned. Noriega was 
dumbfounded as Aquino laughed wickedly and threatened, 'Even death would not 
permit me escape from the Wtzard's (Reagan's) power'. He explained that I was 
the 'Wazard's own' and 'under his speD' and would 're-energize myself and come 
back to life_' He banded me the vaginal prod to masturbate myself, pushing the 
button to electrically jolt myself internally upon command. Noriega's eyes were 
enormous, he paled to a sickly gray, his mouth fell open and he ran out the door 
as Aquino assured him that he had 'no where to run, no where to hide from 
Reagan's powers. • 

According to 0 , Noriega interpreted the demonstration as a •threat from the 
depths of hell, which should have been enough to (make him) heed Reagan's 
commands to break the drug trafficking ties immediately ... " 

After I'd made the excerpts from her book I sent a draft to 0 for corrections. I 
hope I made them all. She added a few points in her letters to me that I think are 
worth sharing about the process of deprogramming she experienced with Mark 
Phillips: 
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Mark taught me the ins and outs of my own mind within the first 30 
days of the process in order that I retrieve my memory myself ... free 
of outside influence. By trancing myself deeper (1 was already 
entranced), I was able to unlock various memory compartments with 
his knowledge of keys, codes, ttiggers, formulas, and accurately 
retrieve memory. I had to logically learn to decipher scrambles from 
reality. By common definition. MPD is the mind's sane defense to 
trauma too horrible to comprehend ... 

Mark's greatest influence on my deprogramming process was to help 
me deal with reality in order that the -mcomprehensible' become 
comprehensible. Otherwise I would bave fragmented further. He 
accomplished this by teaching me the I&Vivification memory recovery 
method vs. the commonly used regression/abreaction method ( NLP 
caDs this -aiple dissociation'.) Rather than :mliving the events, I 
watched them on my mind's screen. deepening my trance as needed 
for realitY checks. I untangled scrambles by using common 
sense(s)l ... smelling the smells, seeing the views, tasting the sweat, 
etc ... without baving to m experience the pain. .. 

I am now :mintegmted and most evaryoJJ& who is qualified to judge it 
clinically speaking and who possesses common sense knows it. . 

My choice of tenninology has been leamed since childhood. You must 
remember that I bad a photographic memory and I recorded an 
conversations going on around me. LikB surgeons who don't give 
thought to the fact that their anesthetized patient can subconsciously 
bear them as they perform surgery, Aquino didn't give thought to my 
overhearing him tal'Jring with his -understudies' during my 
programming sessions and/or Hands on Demonstrations .. 

Mark went to extmme lengths to malm sura that I mintegrated and 
deprogrammed into ME ... not him. I bad to 'follow some long, bard 
roads' to learn certain things (seemingly) unnecessarily, just because 
Mark was concemed with my individuality. He could have provided 
me with 'shortcuts• by sharing wbat be knows ... including certain 
language ... but nol He put ms through the paces of learning all on my 
own. stumbling along the way ... I mspect him and love him an the 
mom for his p:mcautions to enswe he not influence me ... especially • 
considering where I have beenl 

This is personal ... but I fah compelled to tell you so that you will 
better understand this aspect of my individuality and the importance 
of the Love Factor in the deprogramming process ... 
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MIND WAR 

In 1981, Major Michael A. Aquino collaborated with Colonel Paul E. Vallely to 
produce a paper entitled From PSYOP to MindWar: The Psychology ofVictorg. 
The paper was submitted to Militarg Review and Ptm11Tieler, the publication of 
the U.S. Anny War College. It was widely circulated among the psyop community 
and among mind control researchers without a copyright notice. Finally it 
appeared in its entirety in Milton William Cooper's Behold A Pole Horse,36 a 1991 
work that deals largely with the question of Unidentified Flying Objects. In that 
this paper has unquestionably been placed in the public domain, and due to its 
brevity, it is included here in its entirety: 

LTC John Alepnd«r's Jlilitary Bniew uticJe in suppon of~·­
im:digenoe and operational emp]oymant of ESP- wu decidedly ptuvucatiw." 
Cr:iti.cism of r-.ud1 in this area, bued u it is em 'a:istincJ fruntics of .cjentific: 

law, brings to mind tM laughter that gnteted b Italian scientist SpaD•nnni in 
1'7'94 when he ~steel that bats navigate in U. dark by mMDS of what we now 
call •onar. ~ t1wy ... with thm ems, tbm do t1wy bMr with their .,..or w.nt u. 
joa, but 1 suspect that the u .s. Navy is glad IICJlmoD8 took u. idea Mriowlly 
enough to pumue it. 

Psycbotrunic r...uch is in its infancy. but U. U.S. A:tmy ab'Ndy poanees an 
openaeiaual WMp)D8 .,.wm dllsigDIId to do what LTC AJenncier would liD ESP to 
do - acept that this WMP01UI 8YIItem u.ses aisting c::ommunic:ations m.dia. It 
..... to map tM minds of DMJtral and cemy individuals and tt.n to change them 
in aooordance with U.S. national inwr.sts. It does this em a wide scala, embrac:ing 
military units, r.gions. nations, and bloc:s. In its JDMilt imn it is called 
Psycbologic:al Operations (PSYOP). 

Does PSYOP work, or is it mamy a ocm::n.tic: with which field commandem would 
rather not be botbeNd? 

• Cooper, WaDiam, &hold .A PiU Hmv, J..igbt Technoloi>', P.O. Bal l495. Sedona. Az.. 86336. 1991 

1711 hllOfDing KJolnoks to Mint/WilT tnY b11 Vilfllllll aJWi Afluino.· 

11 Alcwlder. LieutEnant Colonel Jotm B., ,.he New Mental Battie.field:' Beam mt up, Spock"' in 
Ml/ilarv Rtvile. VoL LX. No.l2, December 1980. 
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Had that question been ask8d in 1970, the answer would have been that PSYOP 
woms wry well indeed. In 1967 and 1968 alone, a total of 29,276 armed Viet 
Cono!NV A (the equivalent of 95 enemy infantry battalions) summderad to ARVN or 
MACV forces under the Chieu Hoi amnesty program- the major PSYOP effort of 
the VMrtnam War. At the time MACV estimated that the elimination of that same 
mmtber of enemy troope in combat would have co.t us 6,000 dead. 31 

On the other band. we lost the war - not because we were out-fought, but becawle 
we w.re out-PSYOP.d. Our national will to victory was attacDct more etfect:i'Nly 
than we attacDd that of the North VJetn•meee and V:wt Cong, and perception of 
tbis fact encouraged the enemy to bang on until the United States finally broke and 
mnmbome. 

So our PSYOP faUecl it faiJ8d not becauM its princ;ipl• w.nt UMOimd, but ratlwr 
t.cau.. it wu outmatched by the PSYOP of the enemy. Tbe Army's eflbrta en~ 
some battJefield IIUCOeSS, but MACV PSYOP ~not rMlly ~ the minds of the 
c.my ~. ncr did it c:Wmd the U.S.~ at home~ the 
propaganda of the eom19. Furthmmont 1:bt ezwmy's PSYOP wu ao strollQ that it -
not bigger az:min or~ wupcms -~all oftbe Cobras and Spookys and 
ACA Vs and B-52s we fius.d. Tbe Jesson is not to ignore our own PSYOP 
capUX)ity, but rather to chwnge it and su.ngtbm it 80 that it can do ~that 
kiDd of thing to our eoemy in the .DUt war. Bett8r budware is nice, but by itMlf it 
will change DOtlWag if we do not win the warm the miDd. 

The first thing it is n.cesacy to Oftfcc::m» is a view of PSYOP tbat limits it to 
routine, ~. aver-obvious, and lwnce marginally e&ctiw "'eaflet and 
loudspeabr' ~. BattlebJd devices of this BOlt haw their plaice, but it 
•baWd be that of an acoenory to the main effort. That main effort canDOt begin at 
the campusy or c::tivisionlnal; it must originate at the national -...L It ttDWt 
~ our D&tioDal will to victory and it must attack and uJtimately dHtrcy 
tbat of the enmuy. lt both canMS and is affected by physical combat, but it is a 
type of war wbich is fought on a far more mbtle basis u w.l1 - in the minds of ttw 
national populations in'90lved. 

So let us begin with a simple name change. We shall rid oumelva of the 
nlf-ccm8Ciowl, almolrt "emburaued" acmoept of~~·. In its 
place we man create lliDdWar. n. wm is bamh and ilar·inlpUiDQ, and so it 
•bauld be: It is a term of attllck and victory - DOt cme of mt;ion•lizeticm and c:omring 
and concili•tion. Tb8 ezwmy may be ofietlded by it; tbat is qua all right u long u 
be is dafM.ted. by it. A dCDitioD is o&r.d: 

llbadwlll' • U. clellberate, ilfil_. • ., cwa•tDc::hao of all parlic:tpata ill a Will' 

tbd .. wm wm t11at Will'. 

It is daliberac. in that it is a pJ•nned, .,wtamatic, and ~ effort 
involving all JewJs of activity from the strategic to the tactical It is ~ 
becau8e opiniqns and attitudes must be actively cbanged from those antagonistic 
to us to those supportiw of us if we a. to achiAtw victory. We will not win if we 
content ourselws with countlerino opinions and attitudes i.nstiUed by enemy 
~nt:s. We must INCh the people befo.rw tt.y ~to support their azmies, 
and we must reach tboM armies befo.rw our combat tloOp8 ewr _. 1:btm on 
battlefields. 

• "Chieu Hoi: The Winning Tmt". MN:V Command Wormation Pamphlet 0-69. Much 1969. 
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Compare this definition with that of psychological warfare as first offered by 
General Wllliam Donovan of the OSS in his World Warn - era Buic E.ltimate of 
PqcboJogi~ Waztar.: 

"Psychological warfare is the coordination and use of all ~mans, including moial 
and physical. by which the end is attained - otbar than these of recognizl8d 
military operations, but including the psychological ezploitation of the ~ of 
tboBe rwcognimd militmy actions - wbich tend to ~stray the will of the enemy to 
achieve victory and to damage his political or ecxmomic capacity to do so; which 
tend to deprive the enemy of the support, assistance, or sympathy of his allies or 
usociates or of neutrals, or to prnmn his acquisition of such support, usi.st:ance, 
or sympathy; or which tend to create, maintain, or inc:nNase the will to victory of our 
awn~ and allies and to acquire, maintain or to mcr.ue the support, 
usistance, and I"JJDPC}ly of DeUtrals ... 

If the eupbmnism ~al opezwtions" raultecl from. u one general officer 
put it in a 1947 Wtter, "a grMt DMd for a synonym which could be used in 
peacWme that would not shoc:k the HDSibiliti.. of a c:m.n of dmDoc::racy, • tbm1 it 
may haft succeed.ci domntically.411 On the ottwr hand it does not seem to haft 
reauured the~ of the SovWts who in 1~ de8c::ribe U.S. Army PSYOP u 
including: • ... ~methods of ideological sabotage inch1ding cot just 
flagrant lies, slander, and djsinformation. but also political blackzn.ail provocation. 
andtmror.•1 

n. muctanD& with which the Army bu eooepted wen an·~ PSYOP 
~ is well-doc:umanted. in Cokmel Altr.cl Paddock's brilliant tr.atise on tbe 
histo%y of the PSYOP estahli•brrwnt Again and again d'orts to forge this weapon 
into its moR etr.ctive configuration were fNstratled by leaders who could not or 
would not ... that wars AN tougbt aad won or loA DOt an batUWelds but in the 
minds of men. ~ ColoDBl P•ddock so aptly concbJCS.s: · 

"'n a r.al Mn8e, the manner in wbic:h psychological and unconwntional w&lf:ar. 
nolwd from 1941 until their union as a formal Army capU.ility in 1D52 suggests a 
bme that runs throughout the history of speci.al warfaN: the lltory of a hesitant 
and relucW:lt Army attempting to cope aad ooaoepts and organizations of an 
UDCOimmtion.al D&tur. . .., 

According to pr .. ant doc:t:riDe, PSYOP is con.sider.d an a.ooeaory to the main effr:lrt . 
of winDing betles and wars; the tcm ~ UMd in -mroe multiplier. • It is 
certainly DOt~ • pnocmctition to oommand ~ems. 'n111s PSYOP cannot 
pred8termine the political or pepcbologicalafiM:tiw of a giwn military action. 
It can only be u..:1 to paint that actlon in the baR poellihle colon as it is taDn. 

• Roosewlt. Kennit (Ed.) Wm RfiJOI'f oftlw OSS. New Yortc Wa1Rr and Company, 1976, Volume I. 
paQe 99. 

• Lett2r, Major Cenml W.C. Wyman to Major General Lauri.s Norstad. 22 July 1947, quoted in 
Paddock. Colonel .Alfred H., "Psychok>gic:al and Unconwntional Wufm, 1941-1952: ~of a 'Special 
Wamn' capability for the United Stala Army.• Carfis)e Banacks: U.S. Army War CoBege, NOYmJber 1979, 
page 77. 

41 Bdashchmko, T .. '"Black Propaaanda' from Fort BraQit' in SoD«Uiv Yom, Moscow, June 1980, 
pages4~7. 

G Paddock, OfJ. dJ., page 258. 
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MindWar cannot be so relegated. It is, in fact, the strategy to which tactical 
warfare must conform if it is to achieve maximum effacti\1'8De8s. The MindWar 
scenerio must be preeminent in the mind of the commander and must be the 
principallaccar in his evmy field decision. Otherwise be sacrifices maaswes which 
actually contribute to winning the war to m.asur.s of immediate, tangible 
satisfaction. (Coasidctba rationale for ~y counts' in Vietnam) 

.Acocmiingly PSYOP 'combe suppo~ units as we now lmaw them must become a 
thing of the put. MindWar teams must o&r webnical apertiae to the commander 
from the onset of the pi enning process, and at allleftls down to that of the 
battalion. Such teams cannot be COD 1J A'l88Ci - u tn.y am now - of 
bn.Dch-immaterial officers and NCOs wbo maw simply the buies of tactical 
propaganda operations. They must be coz:apoeed of full-tm. apen:s wbo striw to 
translate the strategy of D&tional MindWar into wctical goals which mezimi• tbe 
e&c:t:iw 'Winning of the war and mjnim;• lou of Wie. SUch MmdWar tMmS will 
win cgmrnenden' r.pect ODly if ttwy can delivwr on tt.ir promis•. 

What the Army DOW considcs to be its mo.t e&ctiw PSYOP -tactical PSYOP -is 
actually the most limit.ecl aDd primitiw effort. due to the diftic:ulties of fomallating 
and ~ mus~~QBS un.dc batt.ldeld COD8tl'aiDts. Such effa!ts must ocmtiu~a, 
but ttwy am propcly seen u a~ of tba main MindWar effort. If w. do 
Dot attack the en.my's will \UltU be reac:b- the Weld, m. nation will haw 
~it as best it can. We must attack that will belora it is thus locDd in 
place. We must instill in it a ~n to innitatMe deiHt. Strategic MindWar 
must begin the IDim*lt war i8 ccmsidered to be~. It ml8t Hek out the 
&U8Dtioa of tba eDemy Dation through evwry ...u.ble medium. md it must stz:iD 
at that Dation's pot;entialiiOldiem before by put on thmr umforms. It is in their 
bomn and their c:ommunitWs that tt.y am most~ to MindWar. Was the 
United States dafMted in the jungJ- ofV.mam, orwu it detNted in the attwtl 
of American citi•? 

To this end MmdWar D:IUirt be *Rc.gjc in emphesis, with tactical applications 
playing a~. ~role. In its atzategic cxmtazt, MindWar must 
~out to friends, ..mes. and DMJtrahs aliD acroa the globe - n.itbar through 
tbe primitiw ~·leaflets and loudspeaDrs of PSYOP nor tbolaugh the 
media posaeued by the Untied StatM which haw the capetriJmes to r-.ch 
vi%tually all people on the faoe of the Barth. n- media u., of oomw, the 
el8ctronic media - talrrision and radio. SW. of the art c::WwJopmants in satellia 
comrmmjcation. video r.ccm:tinq tec:lmiqun, and luer aDd optical ansmjnion of 
mo.dcasts mallie possible a penetraticm of the miDda of the world web as would 
ha,. been irsconce~ just a faw J'N%8 .go. Lilla the sword Bxr:etil-m, we ha'¥8 
but to n.ac:h out and ..U. this tool; and it can transform the world for us if we ba'V8 
but the counage and the integrity to guide civilization with it. If we do DOt accept 
B:zcelibur, thml we NliDquish our al:lility to mapu. foreign c:u1tures with our 
I!Kality. If ttwy tJ::.n dnise moralities UDS&tiafactory to us, w. baw DO cboice but 
to fight them on a J:DON brutish lewl. 

MindWar must targ.t all participants if it is to be e&c:tiw. It ma.wt not only 
wealmn the eJWmY; it must st:r8llgtbml the Unit8d atat.s. It~ the Uan.d 
States by denying enemy propaganda access to our peop., and by aptam;ng and 
em;pbasjzing to our people the rationale for our national iDterest in a specific war. 
Undc aisting United States law, PSYOP units may not target Ammican citDellS. 
That prohibition is based upon the presumption that ·~· is !*»SSarily a 
lie or at least a mjslMding half-tnnh. and that the gowrmnent has DO right to lie to 
tbe people. The Pzopaganda Ministry of Ooebbels must not be put of the American 
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way of li.fa. Quite right, and so it must be uiomatic of MindWar that it always 
speaks the truth Its power lies in its ability to focus recipients' attention on the 
tnltb of tbe future as wall as that of the pntS8Ilt.. MindWar thus involves the stated 
promise of a truth that the United States has r.solwd to ma.b real if it is not 
aliH.dyso. 

MindWar is not new. Nations' greatest - and least costly- victories have resulted 
from it, both in time of actual combat and in time of thntatened combat. Consider 
the atomic attacks on Hiroshima and Nagasaki The physical destruction of those 
two cities did not destroy Japan's ability to con1:inue fighting. Rather the 
~logicalshDck of the w.apons deabo,.d what ram.am.d of Japan's national 
will to fight. S\m'ender ~ along and costly ground invasion was awrted. 

MindWar's efl8cti.veness is a function of its skillful use of cxmnmmications media. 
but no gruter error could be made than to contnM Mil:ldWar with~ a gntater 
and more unprinci.p*i propaganda effort. ~· as defi1wd by Harold 
Lasswell "is the apNssion of opinions or actiODa carried out deliberat:ely by 
individuals or groups with a view to ~the opinions or actiODS of atbc 
individuals or~ for~ ends and through prycholog:ical 
maDipula1;iaDs . ., 

Propaganda. when it is I*Xlg!liz.ci as such - and u,1tbi.Qg prodnoed by a -psyopa 
unit is so reongnimd - is automatically &8S\l!:l.:i to be a lie or at least a distortion 
of truth Tberefo~ it works OZJ1y to tba at1mt that a militarily- pr8SMd enemy is 
willing to do what we want him to do. It does DOt wor:k beca'u8e we haw 
convinced him to ._the truth as we ... it. 

In his "conclusions" chapter to the ArmY• tarbanst:iw 1976 cue-study of PSYOP 
t.clmi.ques, L. John Martin affirms this coldly and bluntly: 

"What all tbia bolls c:Jawn to is that if our persuasiw oomzmmication ends up with a 
n.t pcocitiw effect, we must attribute it to luck. not scieDCe ... The e&ctiv.ness of 
~may be .wn less~ and OODUollable than the effectiv.nesa of 
mma pemuasiw comzmmieati.on. ... 

~propagandists are a.ssumed to be liars and byp:x:rites, willing to 
paint anything in ~ colors to dupe the gullible. M J.cquu BJlul puts it: 

-n. propagandist is not, and cannot be, a 'believw.' :Moreover he cannot beline in 
the ideology be must UN in biB pro~ He is merely a man at tbe aeiVi.ce of a 
party, a state, or !~()EM atbc org•nintion. and biB task is to insum the efficiency of 
that organization. .. If the pro~ bas any political COD'Victioa, be must p.rt it 
aside in order to be able to UN scm. popular mass ideology. He camxrt .wn share 
tbat ideology, fer be must use it as an object and manipulate it without the respect 

tbat be would bav. for it if be beliewd in it. He quickly .cquiru CODtan4:lt for tbe8e 
popular images and beliefs ..... 

• Lasswell. haJOid D. in Ellul. Jacques, Propaganda: 71w Fonntltian of Man's Alliluda. New Yoric: 
random House, 1965, PIQeS li-sii. 

.. MaJtin. L. Jon. "EtJectivalss of lnt2mational Propaganda" in De1wtment of the Army Pamphlet 
52> 1-21M .A1t and Sdma of PsvcmfO{Iiall ()pmltiqns: C4S1 SludiG of NiJilmv A/ltJiiallkm. Volume 
Two. Washington. D.C.: American lnstitl.rta forResearth.l976, page 1020. 

• EUui. Jacques, ProtxzgantkL· The F01"mJ11ion of Men's MliluiiG. New York: Random House, 1965, 
pages 19&197. 
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Unlike PSYOP, MindWar has nothing to do with deception or nan with 'selected' -
and therefore misleadino • truth. rather it states a wbole trutb that, if it does not 

now Gist, will be ton:.d mto .mtaDce by the will of the United States. The 
ezaz:nples of ltennedy's ultimatum to Xhrushchev ciur:ing the Cuban Missile crisis 
and Hitler's stance at Munich may be cited. A MindWar message does not haw to 
fit conditions of abstract cradibility as do PSYOP themes; its source IDUu it 
cr.dible. & Livy once said: 

-rhe teaor of the Roman name will be such that the world ahaillmaw that, once a 
Roman army has laid siege to a city, nothing will mow it - not the rigors of wiDter 
nor the weann.ss of months and JN1S - that it lmows no end but vi.c:tory and is 
ma.c:ty, if a swift and sudden stma will not ..rv., to pruern until that vi.c:tory is 
IU:hiewd . ..., 

U:r::ililla lmul's cynical propagandist. the MindW ar operatiw mwrt .bow that he 
speaks the truth. and be must be pencmal1y ~ to it. What be uys is on1v a 
part of Mi.DdWar; the rest - and the test of its .u.ctiwnns - lies in the comriction 
be projects to bi.s audience, in the rapport be establisbM with it. And this is not 
aom.thing which can be eui1y falald. if in fact it can be faDd. at an -rtappott' 
which the~ ~etiOJWy of ~cal aDd ~CIIl Tenu 
defines as ~ zelations of mutual ccmfidcloe", approaches the 
snbljmjnal; .ame ra.arcbers haw suggested that it is itH1f a subconsc:iOWI and 
perhaps tmm BSP-bu.c:l '"acoent" to an 0981t achange of information. Why does 
one beliew one television n.wsman more than another, ewn though both may 
report the same hMcf!jnes? The answer is that there is nappon in the m:m.r cue; 
and it is a rapport which is ~ and cultivated by the most INCOIISSfu1 
broadcasters. 

We haft cowmd the stat.emmrt of iDnitable truth and tbe ccmvict:ion behind that 
stetcrwrrt; these are qualities of the Mmd'War operatift hi'"Mlf. n. Neip.nt of 
the statez:r.nt will judge such musagu nat only by bUI COD8Cious ~ 
of them. but also by the mental conditicms under wbich be receiftS then n. 
tMory behind "brainw..m.ng- was that pbysjcal toJ:Q.1;N and depiivation woulcl 
w.alam the mind's resistaDoe to sugg.stion, and tbis was true to a point. But in 
the Long nm brainwasbil:lg does not woDr. bec&UM intaDigent minds lawr IMliZ8 
their wggestibility UDder such ccmditions and therefore discount ia:lpnsaions and 
opinions iDculcated according}y. 

For the mind to belieV'a in its own decisions, it must iMl that it made those 
ct.c:isions without coercion. Coercift J:DN.SUreS UMd by the MindWar operatiw, 
consequently, must not be ~ by ordinary means. There is no n..ci to :resort 
to mind-wwlgmjng drugs such as those aplontd by the CIA; in fact the aposunt 

of a singw INCh m.thod would do tm•oceptab&e damegoe to MindWar'a reputation 
for~ • Bzisting PSYOP identifies pmtly aoaiological factors which suggest 
appropriate idioms for messages. DoctziDe in this area is highly a.v.loped. and the 
task is basically ODe of~ and maintaining mdividual8 and teams with 
enough ~ and aperienoe to apply the doct:rine e&ctiwly. This, bownw is 
only the sociological dimension of target :ceoeptiND~SS measures. Thma are 80ml 

purely natural conditions under which minds may become men or less receptive to 

., Keller, Werner, 17w Elrusazta New Yorlc Alfred A. Knopf. 1974. page 262. 

• Set in particular 8owart.. W.H., o,.ration Mind Dmhol New York: Dell PublishinQ Company, 
1978. 
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ideas, and MindWar should take full advantage of such phenomena as atmospheric 
electromagnetic activity,* air ioniAtion10 and extremely low frequencywav.s.11 

At the root of any decision to institute MindWar in the U.S. defense establishment 
is a very simple question: Do we wish to win the net war in which we choose to 
become involved, and do wa wish to do ao with r:nir\imum loss of human U.., at 
minimum ezpense, and. in the least amount of time? If the answer is yas, tlwn 
MindWar is a necessity. If we wish to trade that kind of victory for more American 
lives, ecoDOmic disaster, and negotiated stalemates, than MindWar is 
inappropriate, and if used superficially will actually contribute to our defeat. In 
MinciWar theta is no substitute far victory. 

Within this article there looms layer upon layer of meaning. It's obvious that the 
authors of MindWar are familiar with the techniques of NeuroLinguistics 
Programming and/or hypnosis. They argue that a clear future should be 
suggested, which is a powerful tool of commtmic:ating with the unconscious 
c:alled "future-pacing". They also suggest that the MindWar be waged covertly, 

• AltntJqJiwric ~/PWiic (EM) «<it!ity. The human body communicates intemaUy by EM and 
electrochemical impulses. The EM field displayed in Kiriian ~ the efedMness of aarpuneturt. 
and the body's physical ftSJ)Onses tn various types of EM radiation (:1-nys. infrand radiation, visible~ 
specba. etc.) are all eDmJ)Ies of hUDWl sensitivity tn EM forces and fields. .Abnospheric EM activity is 
regularly aJmftd by such phenomena as sunspot eruptions and Qmoitational strases which distort the 
Euth's maQnetic field. Undervaryina atemal EM conditions. humans are m~ or as disposed tn the 
consideration of new ideas. MindWar should be timed accordi"'*. Per Dr. W. Ravitz: •EJectroclynamic field 
constructs add fuel to the ISSmlption mifying living matt2r harrnoBousJy with the operations of nabm. 
postulating that each bio~c tm1g is orQarUed by a total dynamic pattem, the aprusion of an 
elecbomagnetic field no as than norHivinQ systems; and that as points on spectrums, these two entities 
may at last t3lGe their positions in the otQaJUation of the mi\tme in a ~ both e:Jpticahle and rationaL A 
tmabk theOTy has been provided for emeJ11enCe of the nerwus systau, ~ not from functional 
demands, but instead deriving as a result of dynamic lorces imposed on cell groups by the total field pattern. 
living ~r now has a definition of It* based on relativity field physics, through which it has been 
possible tn detect a measurable property of total stm functiom. • (Ravitz, LeonaJd J., M.S .. M.D., F .R.S.H.. 
~magnetic Field MonitminQ of c~ State-Function, lncludinQ Hypnotic staaa• in JoumaJ of 
Ammam Soci«J1 of~ Dmlistrii and Nelidtw, Voll7, No. 4, 1970.) 

M JorbaJkm Of IJw IIU: An abundance of neQatjve condensation nuclei rarr ions•) in ingestld air 
enhanc.es alertness and ezhilaration, wBlc an acess of positiYe ions enhances drowsiness and depression. 
calculation or the ionic balance of a taraet IUdienc.f's abnospheric environment wiD be co~ 
useful Again this is a~ condition - caused by such VU)'inQ agents as solar ultmoioltt 
~ liQhtninQ. and rapidly-movinQ water- rather tban one which must be artificiaDy crated. (Detonation 
of nuclear weapons. however, wiD alter atmospheric ionization kvek.) See m aampie Soykit. Fred and 
Edmonds, Alan, 17w Jon EIT«::. New York: E.P. Dutton, l9'n. 

61 Eltftmely Low Frequency ELF waws: ELF waws (..., tn 100 tU) are once 11101t naturally 
occurring, but they an also be produced utificially (such as for the Navy's Project Sangujne for submarine 
cornmuniation). ELF-waves aft not normally noticed by the lJN!ided senses, yet their resorwtt effect upon 
the human body has been connected tn both p~ disonlers and emotional distortion. lnhuound 
vibration (up tn 20 tU) can subtiminaDy inftumc::e blain actMty tn uan itself to delta, theta, alpha, or beta 
wa'Ye paltmls, inclining an audience towud ~ from aJmnas tD passivity. lnhuound could be 
used tacticaliy, as ELF-waYeS endure for great distances; and it could be used in conjunction with media 
broadcasts as wd1. See Playfair, Guy L. and Hill. Scott. 17rt CJIC/IS ofHiltiiWtl. New Yortc: Sl Martin's Prtss, 
1978, pages 130-140. 

End of Mind War Notes 
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invisibly, which any NLP practitioner knows has more effect than addressing the 
problem up front, to the conscious mind, which would only lock a state in, 
bringing forth all sorts of defense responses and making change more difficult 

Aquino and Vallely's footnote referring to the first edition of Operation Mind 
Control, methinks, protests too much, especially since this book does not single 
out drugs as the main tool of mind controL and a successful psyop of that day was 
"Just say No" to drugs. Most students of NLP know that negative phrases can be 
used as effective embedded commands to produce the opposite effect. Most 
parents know, when dealing with a young child, to try a little reverse psychology. 
The "just say no" slogan, and the billboards with a photo of a man with a gun up 
his nose and the slogan "Say No to Cocaine" under it, may have been just part of a 
successful psyop campaign which got Americans to take more drugs. It's 
well-known by now that the "war on drugs" is a complete failure. The extent to 
which the cryptoaacy' s black funds depends upon the drug trade is also widely 
noted. George Bush gave the game away, many believe, during one of his 
televised debates with Clinton when he wiped his nose in an involuntary response 
after he said the word "cocaine.• 

The MindWar article is quite revealing even though it is written to appeal to the 
War College and the community which, it turns out, is the number one target of 
mind controL the military. The authors of MindWar have a vested interest in 
playing the old standby "War on Drugs" tune, in the "garbage in/ garbage out" 
system which makes up not only the standard American education, but especially 
the standard military education when it comes to the "soft" subjects. 

The authors give their Nazi leanings away when they cite Goebbels and Nazi 
examples, but that fits right in with the large Nazi German contingency which 
was incorporated into the ayptoaacy under Operation PaPerclip. 52 "Denying 
enemy propaganda access to our people", the authors suggest is desirable without 
so much as a glance at the Bill of Rights which guarantees freedom of speech etc. 
Goebbels would be proud of them, yet they claim that the "Propaganda Ministry of 
Goebbels must not be part of the American way of life." Whatever that means -
perhaps an example of good MindWar deniability technique, first you say one 
thing in a disguised fashion, then you deny that it means what it means. Does 
this seem aD too familiar? And as Paul Wilcher's letter to Janet Reno ( in the 
chapter FIRES OF WACO) indicates PSYOP units have, at least on that occasion, 
for 51 days, targeted American citizens within the U.S. The authors state that U.S. 
law does not pennit thal But they cleverly deem no recognition of the existence 
of a cryptocracy which operates above the Jaw. 

u Simpson. Christopher, BLOWBACK. Amtria2's R~ of Nam and Its Elkds ort U. Cold 
WGT. WeidenftJd & Nicolson. New Yorlc. 1988. 
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One of the authors, Michael A Aquino was a disciple of Anton Levey's Church of 
Satan for ten years. The C of S was among a half dozen Satanist churches and 
organizations which were influenced by the magical seaets of National Socialism 
in Gennany. A number of radical-right groups had tried to ally themselves with 
The Church of Satan, including the American Nazi party and Robert Shelton's 
United Klans of America. Publicly, LaVey had maintained his distance. Secretly, 
there was reason to believe that a strong bond existed. 

As author, Arthur Lyons notes in Satan Wants You, • -·the historical affinity 
between occultism and the radical right has been well documented. Both believe 
and adhere to the conspiracy theory of history - that is, the events are shaped by 
the workings of small, elite, but concealed groups - and both believe in the ability 
of one man, whether it be a Magus or a Hitler, to alter global events through the 
sheer force of his wilL 

"Radical rightists saw an ally in LaVey presumably because of his Machiavellian, 
power-oriented philosophy and because of public statements he'd made 
advocating establishment of a "benign police state: not to mention the strong 
Germanic flavor of some of his rituals_.1153 

A 1971 Newsweek article expressed concern about LaVey's political intentions: "'f 
there is anything fundamentally diabolic about LaVey, it stems more from the 
echoes of Nazism in his theories than from the horror-comic trappings of his 
cull tt54 

That the cryptocracy hides within the radical-right goes without question. 
Perhaps through outright rightist patriotism or insidious effects of mind control a 
number of Nazi and Satanist organizations are funded, guided and controlled by 
the ayptocracy. 

The editor of the Church of Satan's newsletter, Michael Aqujno, ac:c:used LaVey of 
selling priesthood's and, in 1975 broke with him to found the Temple of Set (Set 
being a lesser known name for the Devil himself.) .Acc:ording to one declassified 
Army Intelligence file (#81-776) the Temple of Set "is a small group but 
nonetheless has several hundred members and operates on a National level. 
Aquino is the official head of the organization and rules the organization through 
a council of nine, who are in fact his chief lieutenants." An 1981 check of files of 
the FBI by Colonel Donald Press, concerning the Temple of Set "reflected no 
record of suc:h an organization." 

u Lyons. Arthur, SATAN WANTS YDlT. 17w Cull of DeoiJ Wmslip in Ammal, Mysterious Plus. 666 
F"tfth Avenue, New Yorlc. N.Y. 10103 

w N•awk. "EW.Anyone~.Aug.l6,1971. 
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While spokespersons for the Church of Set would deny that the Church is 
politically aligned with Nazism, they admit to a fascination with Nazi black magic. 
In fact, following the footsteps of SS leader Heinrich Himmler, on October 19, 
1992, Aquino held a magical "wol'kint' in the Hall of the Dead in the North tower 
of Wewelsburg Castle. Wewelsburg was conceived by Himmler to be the focus of 
the Hall of the Dead, and was frequently used in secret Nazi SS rituals to summon 
the powers of darkness at this "their most powerful locus." 

In a paper entitled The Wewelsburg Working, Aquino describes the results of his 
black magic ritual: 

First, the suction-liD imz;nuion of U. inflow of certain Nalizations and kiDds of 
lmowledge ( acoompenied by an almost 'electrical' sort of abilaration), which 
._D*i to haw 'zwmaineci dormant' pending an 'activating' Working of this 80rt. 

Second. an atanded 'zwwrberation' or 'echoing' of U. focus of this Working within 
the Walhalla, culminating in its wending-forth into the material world. 

Th8 c.ntral t.atw.s of the various pdn.cipal occul1:isms of U. 19th and 20th 
oemw:ies CB ran. through my can8Ciousness almost as a p&QMDt. I understood the 
object of tm. to be an aposure of cc:mtruta, ~. and iDccmsist8ncies • a 
vast, spiraling dialectic designed to clNr away the debris of 8eCtariani.sm and 
superficiality in the search for the by principjles of the true Pow.s of De.rkness, 

Conoepts of 'will', 'intelligence', 'self. consciousn.us', ' i.Diti.a.tion', and 'magic' 
appear.d in tum and Wl aside as well .. Th8 intellig.nt mind canDOt be 'escaped' 
80 euily. If it is argued. ccmviDoed. ~ ~~or cbeued 
into non-rational channels, tbm its Nlf-consc:iousrwss will mm.ly ruuert itself in 
some ather fDm1. This, I UDdmBtood in U. W.w.!sburg, was the 'magical epitaph' 
of Nazi Germany: that, in fighting" against cen:ain futures of tl» mind. it had 
•eenwd at first to wcceed • but tbm had tbus unlM•hed other, nan leu desirable 
t.atur.s of that same mind wbicb Met prft'iously mnairwd in IIOJDe rough degree of 
soc:ially-contzoDed equilibrium befoN tm. u1tizn.at.ly diAstlowl apenm.nt in 
'conscious evolution' was at1emptwci 

Th8 chamber in which I stood, I DOW ~NJii-d, was DOtbing len than an SS 
laboratory far aperiments in 'conscious .volution' • a sort of 'Xrel mechirw' witbout 
computerimd.. science-1iction ac:coutennmts. It was not dMigDed to 1IMch or 
educate, rathc to mimJr and enhance thoughts aDd impulMs Ueady in aistence. 
Henoe its e&ct on the coni'Ciourness oouJd be devastating in" t.tter or for war. .. 

HeN in tl» Hall of the Dead. Heinrich Himmler's Sanctum Sanctorum and 
"lolitWlpunkt de Welt' , was the Earthly focus of that which has been thus 
symbolized by the Order of the Ttapuoid. n. Nality of this chamber rum.d in 
upon ma. This wu DO Hollywood Mt, no Oldi.nary room pUnted and d.corated to 
titillate the eenMs. 1,235 inmates of the Niederbagen ocmoeuttatiaa comp died 
during the raconstruction of the Wewelsburg" for tbe SS. If the Marble Hall and tbe 
Walhalla were memorials to a certain unique quality in mankind, they also serve as 
grisly reminders of the penalty which mankind pays for that quality .. • 
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Lyons offers a chilling quote by Aquino, one which, in light of present 
developments has the uncanny ring of the prophecy of a cryptocracy insider: 

"We are fortunate that the Auschwitz taboo prevents people from looking too 
closely at .. Nazi Germany, or from experimenting with any of its regular 
governmental doctrines. Because they work. They are the essence of true political 
power. Anti-Semitism is irrelevant to them .•. It is ironically true that a right-wing 
backlash in the United States -- which is what the neo-Nazis are hoping for -
would wipe them out first If an American Fuehrer does appear, he won't be 
wearing a unifonn with a swastika annband. He will wear a business suit, and he 
will be calling popular attention to the patriotic virtues in 1776.1155 

One has to wonder, is Aquino himself a victim of mind control? Could he simply 
be mentally ill? Or both, for as you shall no doubt begin to ask, where does one 
begin and the other leave off, for the victimizers as well as the victims? 

An article in the NaliOTUll EnquireJP> was headlined: "Devil Wonhiper Holds 
Sensililk Army Post and Top Brass Say 'No Problem.' Written by Chris Fuller the 
article said: " A senior U.S. military intelligence officer with a secret security 
clearance admits he's also the founder and high priest of a satanic church- and 
amazingly the Anny says "no problem"! 

The article quoted Aquino saying:" My religion has been no secret in the Anny." It 
said CoL Aquino served as a psychological warfare specialist in Vietnam and "is 
now a reserve officer working full-time on extended duty at the Anny's reserve 
personnel center in Sl Louis." He admitted satanic terminology is used in his 
church's rituals, adding: "We are quite proud of thal" 

"CoL Aquino's satanic church is advertised in the yellow pages in San Francisco, 
where he was stationed from 1981 to 1986," the article said. "He says most 
members are in the U.S. and Canada although 'we have a sprinkling of members 
in places like Western Europe and the Pacific.' 

"The Constitution's guarantee of freedom of religion protects CoL Aquino from 
action by the Anny," the article quoted Ueul Col Greg Rixon, an Anny public 
affairs officer in Washington, D.C. saying."' As long as an individual's religious 
practice remains within the limit of the law, there is no problem." 

The 1981 intelligence file previously cited reports: "Allegedly, Aquino has sexual 
identity problems and is known to frequent prostitutes in San Francisco in order 
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to become involved in various forms of Sadomasochistic sexual activities. It is 
believed that Aquino is bi-sexual" 

In the November 1987 issue of Newsweek magazine tabbed him "the second beast 
of revelation" in the wake of a criminal investigation by the San Francisco Police 
Department involving allegation of child molestation. A year earlier, a civilian 
child day-care worker at the Presidio Army base was charged by police in 
connection with the alleged molestation of as many as 60 children. The 
allegations against the day-care worker, Gary Hambright were: 

He had taken children to private homes, including two on anny property, 
where they had been semally molested. 

Other children talked about a 'googoo' game in which they were urinated and 
defecated on by 'Mr. Gary.' 

Pencils were used to doodle on the skin and genitals of the children and were 
also inserted in at least one child's anus. 

A gun was pointed at the head of an adult in front of the children. 

There were five confinned cases among the children of clamydia, a sexually 
transmitted disease. 

All charges against Hambright were eventually dropped. The parents of the 
children said it was because strong pressure was put on the federal investigators 
and the San Francisco police. 

Then, Aquino's face appeared much older in a 1988 article in the San Jose 
Mercury News. Bylined Unda Goldston the article read: •six months after the U.S. 
Attorney's Office dosed the Presidio child sex abuse case, the Anny has launched 
a new investigation of one of the original suspects in the matter - a high-ranking 
officer who founded a satanic church, according to those close to the probe. 

"Lt. Col Michael Aquino, founder and high priest of the Temple of Set, has been 
Connally notified of the crimina1 investigation and had his top security clearance 
suspended, according to sources. Most of the sources would speak only on the 
condition that they not be named. 

"Neither Army officials nor Aquino would discuss the investigation which revolves 
around allegations that children were sexually abused at the day care center run 
by the U.S. Army at the Presidio of San Francisco." 
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Aquino, 42 at the time, ·was by then stationed in Sl Louis. He had been branded, 
he said, in the earlier probe by allegations against him and his wife. He called the 
investigation a witch hunt, and vehemently denied any wrongdoing. No charges 
were filed against Aquino in the earlier investigation and charges against another 
man were dropped. 

U. CoL Greg Rixon, spokesman for the Department of the Anny at the Pentagon, 
said, "'t's still a privacy matter until charges are brought.. I don't know what will 
transpire next." 

Others "close to the investigation" which was being conducted by the Anny's 
Criminal Investigation Division in Washington - said that parent3 involved in the 
original sex abuse case were being re-interviewed and told about the new probe. 

"'n our~ we've been told that he's (Aquino) under investigation for 
kidnapping, sodomy and knowingly and maliciously making false charges against 
another officer," said Michelle Adams-Thompson whose ·then-3-year-old daughter 
first accused Aquino of molestation 

Adams-Thompson and her husband, the Rev. Larry Adams-Thompson, the former 
assistant chaplain at the Presidio, were infonned of the new probe Nov. 23 by an 
investigator for the CID. "He has officially been titled,' said Larry 
Adams-Thompson. 

According to Mary Melanson, spokeswoman for the CID in Washington, being 
titled under the uniform code of military justice means "we feel there is sufficient 
evidence to believe a aime has been committed," the article said. 

'The closest thing in civilian tenns would be a grand jury indicbnent,' Melanson 
said. 

"The new investigation is the latest move in the case, which began when one boy 
said he was molested in November 1986 at the day care center, and grew to 
include allegations that as many as 60 children were involved. 

"Charges were filed and withdrawn twice by U.S. Attorney Joseph Russoniello 
against Gary Hambright, a Southern Baptist minister and former civilian worker 
at the day care center. Russoniello's controversial decision to fonnally close the 
case in June came after an 18-month investigation by the FBI and the Army," the 
article said. 

Russoniello had said he did "everything we could to build a case, • but, he said, he 
thought prosecution would not be successfuL In addition to the 60 alleged cases 
of sexual abuse, investigators looked into two arson fires at the day care center. 
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They confinned that five children had contracted chlamydia, a sexually 
transmitted disease. 

"The seriousness of the new investigation is reflected in the suspension of 
Aquino's top security clearance," sources told the San Jose Mercury News. His 
security clearance had not been suspended during the previous investigation of 
the same case. 

Aquino said in November 1987 that,"' have consistently since 1969 held either a 
secret or a top secret security clearance." 

Aquino first was investigated in August 1987, after the Adams-Thompsons' 
daughter recognized him and his wife, Lilith, at a store at the Presidio, according 
to a San Francisco police report The little girl identified Hambright from a photo 
lineup and said she had been driven to the Aquinas' San Francisco home by 
Hambright 

When she was driven to wvenworth Street by investigators and asked to identify 
any of the houses she had been to before, the girl identified the Aquinas' home. 
The child also accurately desaibed some features of the home, including a room 
with black walls. To police she identified Aquino as "Mikey" and his wife, Ulith 
Sinclair (aka Pat WISe) as "Shamby." 

In statements to therapists and investigators, some children said they were 
abused at the day care center; others said they were abused while on field bips to 
private homes away from the center. 

Twenty-two families filed $66 million in personal injury claims against the Army 
in connection with the case. Parents alleged that the Army's negligent operation 
of the day care center led to the abuse of their children. The Army refused to 
comment 

Aquino began to fight a media campaign against his persecutors. On February 17, 
1988, Oprah Wmfrey invited the Aquinas to answer for themselves before a 
national television audience. 

On the show Aquino told Wmfrey:" The Army has lmown about my religion for 
the entire span of my Anny career, which began in 1968, and there was a 
resonable amount of curiosity, as there has been all the way along, with what 
exactly is this strange and unusual thing. And I have talked about it, much the 
same way that I've talked here today on your show about it And other than that 
the Anny has paid very little attention to it, the same as it would to anybody 
who's, say, a follower of Hinduism or of Buddhism or any other slightly unusual 
religion today?" 
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Continuing from the transcript of the Orah Wmfrey Show prepared by Journal 
Graphics, Inc.: 

WINFREY: So you just go about yom Army duties and it's fine? 

AQUINO: Uh-huh. 

Following her usual fonnat Wmdrey takes questions from the audience: 

2ND AUDIENCE MEMBER: _How do you apply your fom of Nazi occultism within your brand of 
~atanism? When you review yot.D" matErial. you'll see Nazi occultism retlected through it 

AQUINO: How do we approach the Nazis' attitude towards -

2ND AUDIENCE MEMBER: How do you apply yom fonn of Nazi occultism into yom brand of 
~atmism? 

AQUINO: We do not adwcate any of the Nazis' political principles, whate\ler. There was a good 
deal of occult study that went on during the Third Reich in Germany, and because the records of 
that emt, we have studied that much the same as we have studied magical records from a great 
many cultura througiv>ut history. But I think if you have reviewed our literatme at all. you will 
also find that there is a very strong prohibition against the sort of political and sociaLvalues. 

WINFREY: What you're telling us, Dr. Aquino, is that you are a good ~atmist? 

AQUINO: We are indeed. 

2ND AUDIENCE MEMBER: Are you pro-Hitler? 

AQUINO: No, I am not pro-Hider. 

2ND AUDIENCE MEMBER: Are you against Hitler? 

AQUINO: I am against Hitler. 

2ND AUDIENCE MEMBER: But when you look in the material that you have, which I have some 
of it here, you can see the endorsement of Nazism. 

MRS. AQUINO: You don't see any endorsement of Nazism. We're talking about occult practices of 
the Third Reich. We're not talking about their political and their social behavior, their criminal 
behavior. And that's very aplicit in our literature, and it's pointed out in great detail. simply 
because people will misinterpret it just as you have done. 

2ND AUDIENCE MEMBER: I just read it 

MRS. AQUINO: Read it again. 
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And yet later Wmfrey brings on the usual panel of experts, among whom is 
Johanna Michaelsen, author of The Beautiful Side of Evil after one of the 
audience has said they witnessed the murder of a man when they were a member 
of the church, and another has brought up the alleged satanic practice of ritually 
murdering children. 

MS. MICHAELSON: Well, I think that what's important to I8Alize is that, in a sense, 
Colonel Aquino has a point in that :cot n.cessarily ewry single satanist goup 
would do that (n:mder infants). Certainly we can't sit here or Officer Jones can't sit 
here and say, "Yes, we can prove that Mr. Aquino and his people ant doing this.• 
Howevw, it is rather-

WINFREY: Because wouldn't it be hard for him to be a lieutenant color* in the U.S. 
Army-

MS. MICHAELSON: Oh. :cot at all. 

WINDRBY: No? 

MS. MICHABLSON: And in fact I firmly beliew that many in the U.S. Arrrly ant 
deeply imolwd and perhaps haft gone t.yond what he publicly is willing to 
admit to going to. I mMn, tt.y'za DOt going to sit baza and say, "Y_., we murder 
cbildr.n. .. 

A short time after that Detective Lany Jones , an investigator of satanism, joins 
in the discussion. 

DET. JONBS: .. We'za baarlng r.pons from survivors from across tbe country there 
ant documentaticms coming in. Tba police aza educating their own. In the last two 
or tbrM YNIB we'w accepted the firefighters' philosophy that where thmt's amoa 
tbere's fire, and we're o-tting enough reports, we'r. 81:a%tiDg to be1ieft it. 

WINFREY: Of child molestation. You. were acc::useci abo of child molestation. w.a 
you nat. Dr. Aquino? 

AQUINO: And what he zat.rs to is one of the cruelest ez•raples of persecution that 
ar.nds :cot just to people who ant aclmow~ u.tanists but to a great many 
in!ll')Q8nt people around this country who aN being acc::useci wrongfully of ritual 
abuse of childrcl on virtually no mdenoe at aiL And to dispute what ba has said in 
cue after cue after cue for ?N%8 and ,.ars, wlwn U... haw been brought 
bei:ne in'vutigation, wber. tt.y'w been brought into indictments and trials, again 
and again tbey'w been thrown out because the so-called evidence -

WINFREY: Tbey'w been thrown out because nobody beliews the children, nobody 
beliews the childNn. .. 

MRS. AQUINO: Ther.'s no evidence. 

MS. MICHAELSON: Well. that's ezactly right. Who's going to believe in a modem 
civmz.d society that people aza ca~ of such honors? Few of us are willing to 
deal with it. So that when a three-.,.ar~ and a fow'-.,.ar~lcl or a six-yaar~ld or 
even an adult survivor com.s up and says, ez haw sean c:hildr.n mwdantd. I haft 
been a part of slaughtering little •nimels. I'w been told my family wiD be killed if I 
speak up. I was placed in a co1fin. I wu forced to drink things that are hideous 
beyond belief, • who's going to believe them? Which of you would say, -c>h, yes, this 
happens every day7 And I think this is one of the things which people, who are 
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indeed apart iD brainwashing techniques, as I know you ( to Aquino) yourself are 
a recognized upert in that, would count on that. 

And a few moments later Wmfrey is talking in the audience to a man identified 
only as 3rd .Audience Member. 

3RD AUDIBNCE AIZAIBJ!:B: With the doctor here, he was mentioning that no ana's 
coming up with the bodies. I'm a criminal inv.stigator; I inftStigate court-~lated 
crimes. And I'v. bean now invom.d in a number of cues with the last, well, one 
indiviual. of CIOUl"M, killing his IIICJtMr and stepfather as well as a CUt:J. 
convenience lrtore clerk, wombippin.g hefom his altar, hefi:mt be went aut to d.o this, 
and o&ring them up in hnman sacrifice. 

WINFREY: And Dr. Aquino would say, Well. w~ is his card to prow that he is a 
certified member of h satanic church?" 

3RD AUDIBNCE WIIBJI!R: Well. tim of all. Dr. Aquino, he's in priJion. Okay, that's 
DUmber on.. The second cue, which h altar was :brought into h cowtroom md 
tried; h body was nnw found, h »gs was found, and he was wry much a 
satani.st. Ev.ry one of the cues that I'w i.mutigated :caw a:t4Tlding over 200, I 
haw bmd this particular book that bas been there. 

3RD AUDIBNCE .IIDIBJ!:B: And I undm'stand that theN's traditional satanists, and 
I focus mainly em the non-traditional or 88lf-stylist satanist. I understand that. But 
to say that h~ is no bodiu and that tbne people ~DOt committing c:zimes is 
the farthest from the truth. 

WINFREY: Y ... ma'am? You wanted to say~ 

AQUINO: Are you in fact a law Clfloroamem oflici.al yourseJf attached with a law 
enfotcement ag.ncy? 

WINFREY: Yes, he is. 

3RD AtJDmNICE .IIDIBJ!:B: Y•. I am. I'm a comminiQned.law enboemmlt of5cer 
as well as with the courts in Logan County. 

AQUINO: I would respoad to that. that there may he indMd a number of people 
with wuped pemcmal value systems wbo, considering the devil to be something' 
evil. migbt GCU88 their vicious deeds because of that. But I would dm:ry that that's 
part of the Ntanin ~ligicn 

Earlier when Wmfrey asked if human or animal saaifices were performed at his 
temple, Aquino became indignant He said that such talk "perverts" the idea of 
Satan. Aquino said that Satmists work "for the good of humankind," and that 
Satanism is a distinctive brand of human psychology. 

Aquino brought suit against the Secretary of the Army in 1991 seeking to amend 
the Anny report of aiminal investigation about him and to recover damages 
caused by "inaccuracies in the report." Within two months Circuit Judge 
Niemeyer found: " that the seaetary's decision not to amend was not arbitrary or 
capricious. Finding no reversible error, we affirm." 
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Judge Niemeyer's judgment went on to reveal that the investigation against 
Aquino was closed because "all further leads involved adults who refused to 
cooperate, and the applicable three year statute of limitations had expired in June 
1989_. 

" •.. The child-abuse charges remained, because 'the evidence of alibi offered by 
LTC Aquino was not persuasive." · 

In The Book of Coming Forth by Night, written in 1985, Aquino describes a 
number of peculiar dreams and visions, expressing a consistent interest in mind 
control. Paraphrasing Crowley's Book of the Lmo, Aquino wrote: 

The Kquinax has succumbed to my Solstice, and I. Set, am reweled in my 
Majuty ... I am tlw ageless Intelligence of this Univ.rwe ... and from my ~st 
Mmhlanoe, which alone is not of Barth. ~ u the Hebrew Satau, I c:hoee to 
bring fortn.& Magus, acoording to tha fashion of my word. He was c~ to form 
a Chmch of Satan. that I might -'IT IOucb u.. llflllld6 or..., (emphasis ~)in 
this age tn.y had cut for me. 

Aquino is bright and "well educated." He graduated with honors from Santa 
Barbara High School in 1964 and was the National Commander of the Eagle 
Scout Honor Society of the Boy Scouts of America in 1965-66. He received a 
Department of the Anny scholarship to the University of California and after 
graduation served his country as a Psyops officer in Vietnam where he received 
the Anny Commendation Medal, Air Medal, Bronze Star, Vietnamese Cross of 
Gallantry from the Vietnamese Government, an Oak Leaf Cluster to the Anny 
Commendation Medal, and a second Oak Leaf Cluster in 1980. 

Not only is Aquino a citizen in good standing with the U.S. military (now the 
reserves), he's a member in good standing in academia. He is, in fact, a doctor, 
having obtained his Ph.D. in Political Science from the University of California, 
Santa Barbara in 1980. His dissertation was entitled The Neutron Bomb. His 
resume says he's qualified in International Relations, Comparative Politics, 
American Government and Political Theory. For several years he was a consulting 
faculty member of the U.S. Anny Command and General Staff College at Fort 
Leavenworth Kansas. He's a member of the National Advisory Board of the 
American Security Council, a member of the World Future Society and the L5 
Society and the Academy of Magical Arts, Inc. ( the "Magic Castle" of Hollywood.) 

Michael Aquino speaks fluent Gennan as did his mother, the late Betty Ford. His 
interest in Nazism and intelligence may have been inherited from her. She was a 
child prodigy who was the youngest writer for The Son Frandsco Chronicle, and 
one of the youngest graduates of Stanford University. In the 1930's she lived in 
Gennany and became close to a high-ranking SS officer, whom, it is said, she 
sculpted in the nude. It is not known whether Ms. Ford worked for Axis or Allied 



Operation Mind Control 163 

Intelligence agencies. She was certainly qualified for such spy duties during 
wwn. But perhaps she did no more than pass on unfulfilled interests in 
intelligence and Nazism to her son. 

Other tlwl his hard-core catechisms for the Temple of Set, one of Michael 
Aquino's resumes cites three books he's written as "future sequels to the film Star 
Wars: Secret of/he Silh, PantechniJron, and Xronos. He bas been reported as 
having been identified standing outside the gate at Sky Walker Ranch forcing 
copies of these manuscripts upon people employed by George Lucas. Since Lucas 
does not received "unsolicited manuscripts" the manuscripts were returned 
unopened upon several occasions. One was subsequently published in a monster 
magazine. 

The bizam theatrical nature of Michael Aquino would appear unbounded. At least, 
~o says more than one eyewitness to some of his more ingenious mind control 
work. 
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Satanic U.S. Army Psyops Col. Michael Aquino's religion is protected under the 
Constitution of The United States of America. Not only does he have the right to 
worship any god he chooses, a recent Supreme Court ruling found that a 
soldier in the army had the right to practice satanic rituals. At least one satanic 
soldier has been buried in Arlington National Cemetary for many years. !Photo 
courtesy of Unda Blood author of The New Satanists.J 

·· ··~ 
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PROJECT MONARCH? 

Project Monarch, according to Mark Phillips57
, is a U.S. Defense Department 

project begun in the 1960's. Its code name was assigned to a subsection of the 
CIA's Operation Artichoke which later became Project MKultra. The Oxford 
English Dictionary might shed some light on why this code name was chosen: 

llcmarch 1. In early use, a sole and absolute ruler of a title of king, 
queen. emperor, or empress, or tbe equivalent of one of these ... 

3. A very large red and black butterfly (Danais Plesippus) ... The 
Monarch. .. is one of the commonest species throughout a gmat part of 
North America. 

Buu.rfJy 1. An insect belonging to any of those diumal species of 
Iepidoptera, or scaly-winged flies, which have knobbed antennae, 
and cany their wings erect when at rest. 

2.fig'. A vain gaudily attited person (e.g. a courtier who flutters about 
tbe court); a lightbeaded, inconstant person; a giddy trifler. 

b. Applied to something flimsy, like a butterfly's wings. 4.. The guide 
for the reins on the front of a hansom cab, named from a fancied 
resemblance to a butterfly with extended wings ... 

So-called "Presidential Models", the most highly prized products of the Project 
Monarch mind control factories have a distinct (conditioned) habit of sitting very 
erect with their legs daintily perched. They serve kings and presidents and high 
ranking govenunent officials as sex slaves. They are controlled by invisible reins. 
The Presidential Models have "fluttered about the White House" and European 
hideaways which, in another day, would have been the "courts." While they appear 
to be "lighthearted" and "inconstant" sex slaves, they are trained at the art of 
pillow talk and do, in fact, have memories like human ta~-record~. 
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Phillips says Monarch was spawned from the collected research of top SS Nazi 
Scientists over the years 1927-1941. The identified leader of this research was 
Heinrich Hinunler who was, as we have learned from Michael Aquino, a master of 
the "black arts". Fascinated by both occultism and genetic theories, Himmler's 
team of scientists took a" genealogical approach to transgenerational behavior 
modification". The idea was, apparently, in Phillips tenns, to apply "tramna based" 
mind control to children for three or more generations so that the psychological 
aberrations which were conditioned would "breed true" 

"The Gennan government Top Secret ("BLACK ARTS") research was originally 
considered to be a significant "bonus" by-product of the US Department of 
Defense's Project 63 also known as Project National Interest Project 63 was 
dedicated to the secret importation of a group of German Nazi and Italian fascists 
scientist whose areas of expertise were primarily physics, psychiatry, microbiology 
and phannacology. Although Project Monarch has not been declassified. .. it 
nevertheless has become a household word among a multitude of Intelligence 
Community operatives." 

Mark Phillips is a respected if controversial figure among researchers. Some think 
he's telling the truth about his background. Others think that he is a former 
ayptocrat who had a change of heart and is running great risk telling what he 
knows. Still others believe that he's still working for the ayptocracy as a 
disinfonnation agent Three of his clients I've talked to sing his praises. All say 
that he helped them in ways in which the other psychologists or psychiatrists who 
treated them could not Amid the swamp of name-calling and suspicion which 
makes up the "conspiracy underground" one researcher said he thinks that 
Phillips' most articulate client is a CIA agent and Phillips is under her control. 
None, however, have come forth to refute the information he gives, or dispute his 
credentials, so we can do no harm in repeating the infonnation he offers, 
especially since it's been confinned by others. 

Phillips came by the Project Monarch information, piecemeal, when, as a young 
man, he was hired by a government sub-contractor (which he does not want to 
name as a precaution against lawsuits.) His job was in the sales and engineering 
department of one branch of this firm which had developed through its 
independent research an amy of electronic devices which could be of great use in 
the ayptocracy's burgeoning mind control research. Through his exposure to 
some rustomers (milituy bases and State mental institutions) that were so 
sensitive, the government required him to obtain a .,.op Seaet" clearance from 
the US Department of Defense. 

"' was required to take battery after battery of psychological tests ... and when they 
were through they knew I would keep my mouth shut before I saw or heard 
anything," Phillips says. 
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"Then, I saw sensory deprivation tanks, electric grid rooms, hannonics 
generators, chairs wired for shock and sound, special "hehnets" now known as 
"virtual reality" hehnets which allow the wearer to see in three dimensions. 

"' heard of formulas for mind altering hypnotic drugs that made LSD look like 
aspirin. I personally met scientists who were traveling the world, gathering seeds, 
leaves, roots and herbs from such places as the jungles of Zimbabwe. They were 
even consulting witch doctors looking for drugs that could affect the human 
brain and make predictable zombies. 

Phillips said he talked to agents who studied with African witchdoctors like Credo 
Vusa'mazulu Mutwa. The stories of tokoloshe's they told Phillips matched this 
excerpt from Mutwa's story MY PEOPLE, Writings of a Zulu Witch-IJoc:tor:M 

A tokolosbe is DOt a ghostly or supamatural pbanomenon. He is a physical blnnan 
being, and he operates along perfectly scientific lines. Mulnndi had uaec:t a wry 
small pigmy whose weight be had drastically ndu08d with a sevwe m.t. He had 
furthem::IOI8 tumed the little craatum into a rmnbie by a simple interf8renoe with 
his brain. A sharp awl can do the trick He was ~up the marula tree and 
along a branch that r.act.d across to the roof of Eambela's but. Wrth along thong 
be lightly d...,.ndecl upon the roof of the hut and wriggled his ~little fnun8 
through the gran roof. He e.caped the ame way. 

This weird practice has today been perfected into a fine art. Cues are known to 
me where wizmds have aaangect the fall& death of a pcticu1ar person whom they 
haw aalected for a prcspectivw zcmbie. Tbe person is actually buried, but ahumed 
the same night and revived He is then tumed into a zombie and m.my days or 
~ later hMvily ct.corated with puts of ottwr people's bodies, also ahumed 
from graws, the ~is induced to pay a particular victim an unapeeted visit. 
The victim simply dies of fright. It is as simple as that. Arly chance eye-wimess 
will relate a beautiful tolmloshe story to the police, and the police will dismiss it as 
so much nonsense. 

In later gwnerations the wisards perliacted their art of tlloloahe-making and they 
started breeding tokclosbn from c:hildhood. As recently as 1922 tbera was a NCret 
toll:oloshe farm apt .by a gang of wizards in the DAJcansberg in Buutoland. 

With the amval of the white man and Christianity, the killing of cbilciNn who went 
bom cmtins and idiots wam out of fashion, and tt... grotaque speQmens of 
mmanity gnrw plentiful. But an idiot is soawthing no one mines should it 
mysteriously disappear - the parmrts least of all - and many of these idiots, 
particularty fmnala, l•nded up in th8 hands of these wizards. They ntared them, 
and when they wer. adult. tbeJ mated with them and k8pt them in dark ca'V'es for 
thair children to be born. Often in Basutoland - the land of ritual murder - the 
babies went brought into the worlcl the cesarean way with DO concatn ovw tlw 1iflt 
of the mather. Parts of her bociy went used for medicines that were administered to 
her own baby to maim it grow up in an atmosphere of deep evil. 

The baby was nuared by other idiot woman who fed it a miztunt of the milk of dogs, 
donlDeys and cows, and the blood of raws and wltunts. At the age of siz momhs it 

" Mutwa. Credo Vusa'rnazulu, NY PEOPLE, Wrilings of A Zulu WddH>odor, Anthony Blonde, 
London. 1969. Penguin, 1971. 
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was subjected to specialiJled treatment for its particular task of the tutut.. it was 
made to develop a c:rookBd or hunc:h back by strapping it to a curwd piece of wood. 
Tbe legs too were strapped into attitudes that encouraged their growth into 
grotesque shapes. At the age of tw.lw the tongue was damaged to dastroy 
speech. The child was taught to hate tha world and idolize its wizard master. 

It was then put through a caurM of queer tricks ranging from trM c1imbi.ng with its 
croobd limbs to bwrawing underground. It was taught ways to commit mwder 
and to :ntmOV8 all its tracks abrwards. When it had rHCh.d the age of about 
twelve, the wizard Md in bis bands a lean ilatblrwaight puppet-tilll8 creature, u 
authjnhng tobot tbat obeyed nmy command /empharrjr added}- a crwatur. worth 
a hundred hMd of stolen cattle to the one who br.ci and trained him 

Oem•ine toJIIok)sbes are today bmd. cmly in BuutolaDd and Nyualand. wt.r. 
biding p1aoes in tha lDCWltaiDs can still be bmd for tb8m. 

With the c:tif5cultias in ~. ruriDg and IaMping this kiDd of toko)osbe tbHe 
days, the wizanis haw r.eorted to usiDg babocms and monlalys. Tbair young are 
nowadays tum.d into the w.ildut manstrcsitiu and can be taught to do 
considerable clamag. to their mute' a enemiM. 

TheN is c:uzrently a growing marlatt for toiiDiosbes in South Africa. A trained 
~or baboon tokDioshe iW:hu u much as twenty-eight pounds. 

The toJD:>blt. is DO figmmt of the imagination. The wozd toiiDio8he lnt&DS 'a gNat 

mysterious evil'. The Bantu will...,. p:nttay em. in a ca:rviDg. Wt.n a Bantu 
c::le8cribes soEnllthmg as a ~. be ...,. 'a mysterious evil' and mNDS 'mind 
your awn bnsjnen'. 

Cryptoaats on both sides of the "'ron Curtain" aeated modern tokoloshe's. 
Phillips read the "pin.lcs" (classified doa.unents) which summarized the KGB's 
progress in selective and mass mind control techniques. To his surprise he found 
that the U.S. ayptoaacy had cooperated with the Soviets and others in their 
mind control development 

"There was even a Top Secret Soviet weapons system which incorporated yet 
another "exotic" version of mind control- electromagnetic directed energy - the 
Scalar Weapons System." 

One variety of mind control he found to be "hideously simple. It did not require 
any sophisticated electronics such as Ether Wave (Harmonics)," Phillips said. 

This simple mind control technique involves only isolation (incarceration) 
deprivation of stimulace, docks, and sleep; controlled intake of food and water; 
electroshock at precise intervals, high voltage for pain, lower voltage for the 
induction of implanted suggestions, hypnotic suggestions (often drug induced) all 
in combination. 

"This," Phillips said, "was considered a 'secret weapon'. 
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"' was told that we tested this 'secret weapon' on captured spies. We found out 
everything they knew and made them forget how we found out Then we 
reprogrammed them to return to their mother country and spy for us, then 
return when triggered to be reprogrammed. 

"'t seemed humane enough for the espionage business, but then I heard of 
'suicide agents' programmed to perfonn a task they could not possibly complete 
without being captured by the enemy. I knew then that our spies no longer 
needed to cany a cyanide capsule with them on their missions. The use of this 
'secret weapon' made it possible that, if a spy was caught, there would be a 
'natural' failure of one or more of their organs. Their subconscious mmd bad 
been reprogrammed right over the top of their genetically encoded mind to 
facilitate this self-induced suicide. Better blue lips than loose lips! If they were 
caught, this program would 'kick in' and they would 'die of natural causes, ... 
Phillips said. 

From the circle of ayptoaats with whom Phillips associated, he heard many 
bizarre tales. One was that Idi Ami had learned from a book by an obscure Nazi 
scientist how to somehow facilitate his sudden rise to power by cannibalism -
particularly eating the small walnut shaped pituitary gland and spinal cord of 
hwnan beings. He heard of "electronic possession" which is created by 
transmitt:ing voices into the minds of "expendable" individual test subjects via 
compressed wiaowaves. 

"' heard of hideous aimes being committed by members of 'brainwashed' cults," 
Phillips said. .. Serial killings were on the inaease 200 fold. Some of the killers 
blamed Satan for their exploits and aimes, others could not legitimately 
remember anything. I heard that the leader of one religious cult had been 
'educated' at the cost of over 2 million US doUars by a Pakistani seaet service 
agent, who himself was educated by the same US Intelligence unit that President 
Carter denied existed, the one which trained a Cuban spy, Manuel Noriega, who 
later became a double agent, fonnerly of Panama, now a F1orida 'resident'- of one 
of our best prisons. 

"'noticed how Rev. Jim Jones' fonner lawyer, Tim Stone, was apparently running 
'containment' for the CIA in Marin County, California. And I personally knew of 
this US Anny ~or promoted to Lt. Col., attached to the Psychological Warfare 
Division and the Defense Intelligence Agency, who had ingeniously organized a 
"church", legal under the First Amendment of the Constitution. I learned that this 
Lt. Colonel, Michael Aquino, had, like Jim Jones, been supported by politicians 
and the CIA. 

"What I didn't know at the time," Phillips said, "was that this operation would 
encompass every evil known to mankind. Sexual perversion, slavery, tortures of 
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the mind and body, even ritual cannibalism. Age seemed to be no barrier -­
children were being used in Satanic rituals, filmed pornographically, and beautiful 
young women used for Project Monarch, trained to sexually service politicians, 
bankers, law enforcement officials, and to mule drugs, and carry secret messages 
locked behind post-hypnotic blocks. These people are now being bought and sold 
-- specifically programmed to tasks too disgusting to describe." 

Phillips is talking about slaves of the ayptocracy, human "butterflies" aeated by 
Project Monarch. Many were assassinated after they were no longer useful. They 
were "thrown from the Freedom Train," Phillips says. 

According to Phillips, Project Monarch has four distinct levels of behavior 
modification named Alpha, Beta, Delta and Theta. 

Alpha is considered "'regular programming.' This is actually what would be 
considered the 'base control personality'. Originally the purpose of Alpha 
programming was to condition the mind through torture so that Black Ops 
mercenaries and espionage agents could perform certain difficult tasks. This 
program also locks in photographic memory and improves physical strength. 
VISual acuity is radically improved. It develops in the individual a number of 
almost super-human traits.. 

"Alpha programming, • Phillips says, "is accomplished through deliberately 
subdividing the victim's personality, which in essence causes a left-brain-right­
brain division, which then allows for a triggerable reprogrammed union of left and 
right through neuron pathway stimulations. Once this is accomplished you have a 
person who can utilize both sides of their brain at once for any simple task. 

"Beta programming deals with the primitive mind's reproductive system and sex 
• programming. It eliminates learned moral convictions and stimulates the 

primitive sex instincts devoid of inhibitions. This training program is for 
developing the ultimate prostitute - a sa machine. This is used most by the 
abusers knowledgeable of the MKULTRA Project Monarch program," Phillips said. 
(Apparently there are good guys and bad guys even within the ayptoaacy?) 
"Children of knowledgeable persons are being preconditioned through incest and 
"sold" into the conspiracy for a(iditional Beta conditioning to eventually satisfy the 
bizarre perversions of politicians, bankers, drug lords, or anyone deemed 
valuable." 

Phillips says that Delta programming, -was originally designed to train special 
Black Ops and espionage agents' minds for becoming terrorists devoid of fear and 
basic self preservation instincts capable of incredible feats of physical endurance 
and murder. Delta eventually was used to train 'a new breed', one who kills and, if 
caught, self -destructs. This program is now applied to some Beta prostitutes who 
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double as drug mules - to protect the identity of their owners. If they are caught, 
they die of 'natural causes' or suicide. 

Theta programming is: "Psychic programming which evolved into bio-medical 
human telemetry and directed target energy involving lasers and/or 
electromagnetics, the results of which are referred to as 'electronic possession'. 
Ifs the ultimate challenge for the 21st century exorcist, providing he works a day 
job as a skilled CIA supported neurosurgeon. • 

Theta programming, Phillips said, "involved the surgical implantation of 
sodium/lithium powered high frequency receiver/transducers coupled to a 
multi-range discharge capacitor that , when signaled by remote contro~ would 
electronically stimulate designated parts of the brain to signal the victim to 
respond according to his or her hypnotic program. 

"These "Delgado" experiments were only partially successful," Phillips said, "with a 
high mortality and paralysis rate. However, the technical mind control equipment 
evolution has advanced to levels well beyond the grasp of most people. 
Non-implanted, non-programmed victims will hold the largest majority since, in 
the 1990's breakthroughs were made which allow mind control without either 
implant or trauma base". 

The new Theta programming," Phillips said, "operates by computer driven satellite 
directed energy. Now, anybody can become a target of the new technology. 

The original physical apparatus for mind control were, according to Phillips, 
"rather complex and cumbersome. There were elaborate sound and light -proof 
sensory deprivation isolation chambers using exotic suspension fluids that could 
mimic weightlessness. Direct current high voltage and very low amperage 
electroshock devices, plus designer drugs, were the most important tools of the 
trade as the brain is electrically and chemically powered. 

Voltages ranged from .072 volts to 200,000 depending on application and to what 
part of the body it was to be administered. There were 'strap on' head and foot 
devices that could deliver a mild altering shock of an exact duration according to 
he subject's brainwave activity and/or heartbeat Other portable handheld stun 
gun type devices can delivered shocks up to 200,000 volts for the instant control 
of the human conscious mind. 

"A great deal of successful research and development went into the effects of 
harmonics or inaudible sound waves that affect the RNA covering of the neuron 
pathways to the subconscious," Phillips said. "Hannonics generators, code named 
ether-wave, are capable of subconscious mind embedding detailed messages­
commands linked to audible triggers. This is lmown as electronic programming 
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and is a standard programming device in all fonns of Project Monarch. Hence the 
reason many Monarch survivors (drug mules and prostitutes) recall being taken 
onto certain US military bases and "Freedom Ranches," that are trauma centers 
for 'reprogramming.' 

"Mind altering drugs, both natural and synthetic compounds," Phillips said, "were 
discovered and developed which can instantly alter certain brain/thought 
functions. These were developed from modem medical technology and discovered 
from ancient shamanic and witchcraft fonnulas. 

'7he components list is not immense. A sowtd proofed bwial casket makes a 
great sensory deprivation chamber similar to the one being used at a Kentucky 
(CIA) conditioning camp in which Delta, Alpha, and Beta victims are regularly put 
for 'reconditioning' and 'programming' for drug muling assignments. The only 
other components needed are devices to hang victims upside down by their 
ankles, cattle prods ... the cylinder type - that are inserted deep into the vagina or 
rectum for a simulated 'orgasm with the devil.' 

"High voltage (up to 200,000 volts DC) hand-held law enforcement type sbm guns 
are a must tool for the victim's owner to erase certain memories, • Phillips said. 
~ are used on the muscle area of the victims within two hours of the 
'to-be-forgotten' event, and to control the victim's 'insane' fits of rage if they are 
mistakenly triggered to perform a pre-conditioned task when they are at the 
moment in the 'wrong personality.' 

"The only other component the Beta owner must posses,• Phillips said, "are a 
diary or a damn good memory of their programs, keys/triggers, and a working 
knowledge of hypnosis. In other words, a small briefcase will contain everything a 
Beta owner needs to control his slave._ completely-· forever-· 

"The formula for Beta programming is the aact same as for Alpha. The only 
difference is that through a series of specific tortures and commands the Beta 
victim retreats deeper into their (71% are female, 100% are MPD's most recently 
called DID) primitive mind: The results are, you have a person with a child-like 
insatiable sexual appetite. This re-t:apped sexual appetite is 'developed' in the 
fonnative years through constant incest with a father figure. 

"What begins as unbearable pain to a child's mind," Phillips said, "quickly 
switches to a sexual desire for the very person who was abusing her - daddy 
and/or uncle. This mind-altering phenomena is known now as the Stockhobn 
Syndrome. This reversal is the key to all programming. Pain becomes pleasure, up 
is down. Hence the reason Colonel Michael .Aquino adopted the satanic philosophy 
of reversing everything including bad is good." 
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Phillips said the fust victims of Project Monarch were captured spies and 
dissidents from friendly and unfriendly nations. "Unfortunately for the second 
group," Phillips said," there weren't enough (victims) caught to properly study 
the so-called Manchurian Candidate. 

"The second group, it is alleged," Phillips said, " were bright aggressive young 
men who had applied to Officers Candidate School (OCS). These men took 
entrance eJaiilS and psychological tests that revealed whether or not they would 
become 'candidates' for Project Monarch. If their entrance psychological exams 
revealed they were victims of child abuse they were most often chosen. 

"These eager young men were allegedly told that they couldn't go to OCS for 
whatever reason but they could 'volunteer' for a career in intelligence and with 
their Top Secret 'training' they could develop incredible super human physical 
and psychological abilities. These hwnan guinea pigs volunteered for the 
destruction of their persona with a 'just sign here."' 

Phillips says he knows the identities of some of the main villains of Project 
Monarch. They existed, he says, at the top of the U.S. Government They appear to 
have focused, he said, •not on reaeational sex, but on drugs - billions of dollars 
annually in heroin and cocaine muled into the US via auise ships and private and 
commercial airplanes, etc., etc., etc. 

'The sale of these drugs is allegedly supporting the CIA's illegal covert action 
habits," Phillips says. "The CIA doesn't have a "Black Budget' like the Pentagon 
boys. They earn theirs the • old fashioned way', by importing and selling drugs 
through elaborate networks of distributors to users that the CIA has decided to 
cultivate. They also consume a lot of their own product! 

"There are drug lords, politicians ( federal, state and local) corrupt law 
enforcement personnel (federa4 state and local) big name entertainers who 
themselves usually own a Beta victim or two which they trade among themselves 
like livestock. 

"When one of the Betas reach 30 years of age or so, they are often used in snuff 
porn movies, or what is tenDed 'thrown from the Freedom Train.'" Phillips has 
passed out a lengthy list of the abusers, many of whom are high on the 
Washington, DC social register. He hopes the media will evenb.Jally wake up and 
target them with a legitimate investigation. 

"Psychological mind control teclmiques, fonnulas and equipment, unlike nuclear 
weapon systems, can be reproduced without exotic and expensive component 
systems," Phillips said. "In the privacy of one's own home, virtually anyone of 
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average intelligence , a little infonnation and no conscience can create their own 
mind control slaves. 

"Mind control is out of controL It's just as lethal as nuclear war byproducts, 
however through genetic engineering psychology, the 'evil' seed is passed on 
generation to generation," Phillips said.. "Trauma based mind control promises a 
world of 'white slavery' for the Chosen Ones of the 21st Century. It could tum out 
to be the largest 'cottage industry' in the world. Immense in tmns of profits, 
death and destruction of the innocent, unless the trend is stopped and those 
responsible in government and the private sector are pwtished and the 
survivors/victims given rehabilitative psychiatric care." 

As has been pointed out, according to Phillips, the majority of Project Monarch 
victims are female (71 %) who have Multiple Personality Disorder aka Dissociative 
Identity Disorder (1 00%). They have been or are used in commercially and 
privately produced pornography (1~ interviewed) which is often the 
"wtderground" kind containing bestiality, child/adult, child/child, adult!mfant, 
sad~masochistic, satanic/occult films, videos and magazines. 

"Older victims were frequently tattooed for easy identification with a S<H:alled blue 
monarch butterfly, a rose, or bota 58 This practice became more or less abandoned 
in the early 1970's and was replaced by the victim wearing butterfty hair barrettes, 
large butterfly earrings, pins, necklaces, bracelets or embroidered insignias to 
'advertise' their art of expertise to insiders. This rule applies to 100% of the 
victims fve interviewed, • Phillips said. 

"All Monarch survivors were victims of brutal sexual child abuse, who have been 
found to be multi-generational incest victims whose upbringing seems to cluster 
around Jesuit Catholic, Mannon or Charismatic Christian believers, or U.S. 
Intelligence families. Many victims have been adopted. Survivors, once in the 
standard therapies are usually triggered to possess homicidal and/or suicidal 
ideations. This has only recently been determined to be the result of the 
sophisticated trauma based psychological programming. 

"Victims ahnost always possess multiple electric prod (sbm gun) scars and/or the 
resultant moles in the muscled areas of the back, anus, neck and thighs, • Phillips 
said. "Some victims are also vaginally mutilated through 'body piercing' (rings 
placed in nipples, vaginal lips or clitoris) or through elaborate carving of the 
vaginal area. Also they often possess branding scars from irons or hot knives over 
various parts of their bodies." 

• The blue Monarth buttafty, whic.h Philips says was oftm tattooed on the •mOOds• bodie:s in the 
early days of the project is minct. The last one was seen in the early part of this century, on the slopes of 
the San Francisco Bay area not tar. he says. from whm Michael Aquino made ti.s home. 
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Monarch witnesses tell of pornographic sessions, tortures and "programming" 
taking place at the following bases: Papillion, Nebraska; Ft. Campbell, Ky.; MacGill 
AFB. Tampa. Fla;, Kirkland AFB, Albuquerque, N.M.; Homestead AF; Langley 
Research Center, Langley, Va;, Panama City, Panama; and Redstone, McClellan, 
Patrick. Grissom and Maxwell Air Force Bases. 

Seeing the use of brainwave frequency names to desaibe types of programming 
brings us to a couple operating under the name Social Movements Recovery 
Center (SMRC) out of Boulder, Colorado. Survivors have told me that SMRC may 
be a "damage control" operation whose purposes are part of the ayptoaacy's 
effort to smudge the memories of the many recovering "Monarch" victims. The 
two instructors who present SMRC "training to law enforcement personnel on 
deviant social movements and ritual aime" according to infonnation circulated at 
their seminars, are Jim McCarthy, M.A. and Cynthia Byrtus. McCarthy holds 
degrees, their hand-out says, in Philosophy of Religion, Systematic Theology and 
Comparative Religion, and has "'perfonned doctoral work in Social Psychology 
through the University of Colorado." 

According to the bio circulated, McCarthy has been a research assistant and 
associate for a research team fm1<led by the National Institute of Mental Health 
and The Center for the Study of New Religious Movements at the Graduate 
Theological Union at Berkeley. He was the co-founder and executive director of 
the "Bethesda Psychealth Institute", a center for research and treabnent of 
"deviant ritual behavior and abuse," in Denver. According to the bio he is also a 
member of the Institute of Police Technology and Management of the University 
of North Florida, where he instructs courses for "law enforcement personnel on 
deviant social movements and ritual crime." He is also an adjunct staff member of 
the Adanta Group, Behavioral Health Services in Somerset, Kentucky and has 
seJVed as a consultant for "over two hundred agencies here in the U.S. and 
abroad." He has defined an alleged "syndrome" which he calls "Marionette Abuse 
Syndrome". He describes his work as "deprogramming". 

McCarthy's partner in SMRC is Cynthia Byrtus, a self-desaibed "survivor of 
multigenerational intrafamilial ritual abuse (incest, sexual, physical and emotional 
abuses)." According to the company bio she was diagnosed as having Multiple 
Personality Disorder in 1980 and has been involved in intensive psychotherapy 
since that time. In 1989 Cynthia developed an instructional program according to 
the hand-out "for law-enforcement on MPD and ritualistic abuse. She teaches this 
program to the expanded class of the Deviant Social Movements course at the 
Institute of Police Technology and Management in Jacksonville, Ftorida. and 
various other police agencies across the country." 

At present, the hand-out says, both are "engaged in discussions with professionals 
who are training and consulting on the treabnent model, 'Eye Movement 
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Desensitization and Reprocessing Procedure' EMDR (which sounds like the 
source might be NLP) in order to better understand and work with clinicians 
using this procedure and to possibly recommend applicable integrative aspects of 
this procedure into our specific areas of expertise." 

At first I bied to interview McCarthy who told me that he'd never heard of any 
government or military programming from any of his clients. That statement 
contradicted the infonnation published in the SMRC hand-out A follow-up 
interview with Byrtus under one of my pseudonyms found a seemingly overly 
defensive woman who wanted to know my aedentials. She said that she knew 
nothing of Candy Jones, yet Candy's book is cited (the title is wrong) in their list 
of resources. When I spoke of the mysterious mindcontroDer reported by the 
"survivors", Dr. Green, Byrtus was adamant about his authenticity. She told me 
that the Dr. Green, or Greenbaum myth was true, as the "survivors" are saying. 
Byrtus indicated that she had proof that there was a Nazi mind control doctor by 
that name. She also said that there was a "Project Monarch" and their literature 
gives a comparative chart which lists Alpha, Beta, Delta, Omega, Theta and 
Gamma/Epsilon with a different explanation than that supplied by Mark Phillips. 

A survivor who has "been around the track of aisting treatments•, so to speak, 
attended SMRC seminars, heard their tapes, and received the treabnent of Byrtus. 
The survivor told us that, while Cynthia Byrtus' material includes many of the 
symbols and systems of programming which she knows are true, Byrtus "puts her 
ego into the therapy. It doesn't work. It actually suppresses memories. It doesn't 
unlock th~ like Phillips' therapy does." This survivor suspects that SMRC is a 
government affiliated "damage contror project aimed at keeping the survivors of 
"Monarch" from remembering too much. 

Maybe it's just one survivor's opinion, but this survivor took the trouble to 
prepare her own paper several years ago on the so-called Marionette 
Programming: 

Dr. Green is allegedly a Nazi war criminal who was hired by tbe CIA 
and was thus given access to children tbroughout tbe U.S. because 
be traveled to militaiy bases and appeai8d to bave worldwide 
resources. He is also known by other aliases including Herr Doktor, 
Faraday, and David. Dr. Green is also associated with Heinricb 
Muller, head of the Gestapo and Heinrich Mueller, a Nazi doctor who 
did experiments on animals that wem grotesque (survivors believe 
them is a Nazi Dr. Green- they saw similar experiments). 

We have other infonnation on the possible identity of Dr. Green but will withhold 
it from this edition pending further research. 
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The goals of the doctor appear to be to train a force to prepare for the 
return of the antichrist .. . and overthrow the world in 1999. The 
callback was to be for 1991 for cults to gain all possible manpower for 
the final takeover. It also gives a year for reprogramming and 
retraining for the antichrist's appearance ... 

There are significant internal names in these marionette systems and 
include some of the following: Sisters of Light, Mothers of Darkness, 
Program DUector, Master Programmer, Grandmother (with 3 faces), 
Grand Wizard, Grand Master and others. 

At least two parallel program systems which aie first implanted in 
the very young children by teaching them to sing nursery rhymes and 
through fairy tales. These aie built on year after year with hypnotic 
suggestions so that when the client begins to remember one part of 
the memory, it triggers many memories. 

The following books and tales have been known to be used: Snow 
White, Alice in Wonderland. Rose White and Rose Red, Lost Horizons, 
Wizard of Oz, tall book of Malm-Belleve, Sleeping Beauty, and also the 
game Candyland. They aie often programmed while very young, then 
let go with a heavy call-back program to retum approzimately 18-21 
years - beyond the rebellious years. 

Something like this is desaibed in O's book. 

There are usually computers within the system. Sometimes there is 
one in every level, or one in each section of the matrix (depending on 
the foim the matrix takes). The program often used the Greek 
alphabet. 

Spllt-brain prognu:nming is done with a specific kind of tort:me and/ or 
hypnosis that leads the surrivor to believe they cannot have access 
to both sides simultaneously without amnesia There are usually 
biidges between the sides, and sometimes they are actually alters. 

There are oommon intemal. images in these surrivors. It includes 
trees; ie. tree of knowledge, green tree, kabe.la tree. Doll house 
(which may hold the computer}, vortexes or black holes which can 
pull alters between levels (a Uttle Uke booby-traps}, hourglass (may 
be a matrix), ribbons, cords, wires, mi:aors, jewels, mazes, alters of 
the man with glasses, Dr., or Dr. Green, seeds, dots, waves, riptides 
wind/ooean. daisies, birds, porcelain faces, pits, elevator shafts, 
worms, glass balls, ships, sheDs (for silence), and cylinders. 

The number of layers has to do with levels of power ... The layers may 
include names like external world, our world, Atlantis, Troy, 
Hellopolis, Phoenix, the ship, Shangri-La, the computer, etc. Their 
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names are often dependent upon the type of rituals that were used 
(i.e. Satanic, Pagan, Etc.) 

Alters can go back and forth between systems and can have no 
hearts and no faces. There may be clones (robots)- that is artificial 
alters that are made of plastic or metal that look like human alters, 
but have switches or keys on their backs or necks. Some of the 
programming is done with c:ricket noises (or a noisemaker that is a 
clicker). 

At the end of this report there is a disclaimer: 

These notes are not to be taken for fact - they are ideas and c:linical 
observations as shared by survivors. There are probably variables 
and difierences within each marionette survivor, and the accuracy of 
reporting what's inside is a subjective experience often changed by 
time and/or severe tortum. It is also possible that some of this 
information is disinfoimation designed to confuse tbe survivor or 
anyone else attempting to help them out of these many hypnotic and 
torturous suggestions and images. 

Another survivor desaibed the coded programming of the "Rainbow" variety: 

I am an intergenerational ritual abuse survivor who is struggling to 
get to tbe bottom of cult-mlated behavior and programming, past and 
pmaent. At a recent confamnce on child abuse, with some emphasis 
on ritual abuse, I beard Cory Hammond and Roberta Sachs speak of 
Greek letter programming, a rather complez combination of using 
Greek letters to stimulate certain pm-induced cult-mlated behavior, 
in combination with an imaginary computer keyboard in the 
survivor's braiD. The implication was that programming in the ritual 
abuse survivor had become so complez as to be virtually 
impenetrable by the therapist train&d to deal with -melings and 
behaviors." Wbat I left with was a feeling of helplessness and 
hopelessness, that there was no way for a conventionally trained 
therapist to deal with this Dl&2e of codes, and, therefore, one might as 
well give up. 

I was intrigued by the information. nonetheless, and determined to 
find a way to manage this iDformation in my own life. In discussing 
the codes with ather survivors, we began coming up with COilCUIIent 

information about access codes of a simpler natuie. I presented the 
information I had gleaned from these discussions to my therapist, 
who has been my guide and helper in my painful joumey. He has 
been ever willing to leam from his clients and seemed undaunted by 
tbe prospect laid before him. and was willing to listen. leam and 
assist. In follow-up, I was able to, with his help, abreact situations 
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where codes were induced, where codes were used, and where 
codes were reintroduced due to destroying baniers between certain 
feeling states in the process of therapy. I have verified this 
infonnation with other survivors, who have been able to see the use 
of codes in eliciting behavior on their part, and uncovering memories 
of code induction and code-related cult activity. 

The following is a list" of codes used in the life of this survivor (and apparently the 
lives of other survivors) to obtain certain programmed behaviors: 

1) CODE GREEN: Used to induce self-destructive or suicidal behavior. 
Code green usually refers to code induced suicide or self·mutilation. 
Sometimes survivors associate this code with a Dr. Green. Generally, 
this program is induced and in place for the event when the survivor 
begins therapy or therapy bas proceeded to such a state that much 
memory is being recovered It related directly to the -no taJkl code of 
secrecy. A survivor would rather 1die than talk. • Sometimes it is 
necessary to dismantle this code first so that a survivor feels free to 
remember, and the possibility of self-destructive behavior is 
eliminated or reduced. 

2) CODE BLUE: Induces freeze mechanism where a victim is 
essentially unable to move until another code is induced. Code blue 
acts like a verbal •stun gun. 1 

3) CODE RED: Used to induce anger and rage and elicits cult-related 
murderous activity. 

4) CODE YELLOW: Induces jealousy in combination with rage, and an 
attitude of •get even.• 

5) CODE BLACK: Induces participation in rituals; i.e ., 'put on your 
black.. 

6) CODE WHITE: protective code indicating unthouchability. I am not 
certain as to its use ather than to keep law enforcement at bay when 
white cars are parked in the vicinity of cult-related activity. I have 
suspected this to be in use when I see persons heading for a ritual 
dressed in a ~ig white shirt. 1 

7) CODE 911 EMERGENCY: Used to induce superhuman strength or 
behavior of a self-protective or emergency nature. When used it 
induces trancing and then deliberate course of action minus any 
feelings. Sometimes used as protection for cult members who, as they 
are survivors themselves, have a tendency to freeze or panic or 
otherwise are unable to act in self-protective manner in an 
emergency situation. or when they need to •covet' for the group. This 
code carries with it a resistance to calling the real 911 number when 
a person is threatened or harassed. 
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8) CALL YOUR OPERATOR, CODE 911: Used on an answering 
machine when a survivor is screening calls or is otherwise unable to 
answer a telephone call The answering machine automatically 
answers a phone call, at which time the following recording is 
played: -u you would like to make a call please bang up and try your 
can again. If you need assistance, please dial your operator. Code 
911.• This message is sometimes repeated several times, 
accompanied by the beep-beep-beep sound of a phone left off the 
hook. and then by a dial tone. The survivor is pre-programmed to call 
a certain phone number,~ operator', for further instructions. 

HOW CODES ARE INTRODUCED: 

These codes are pre-programmed using the usual induction methods 
of torture, drug-induced trances and accompanied by electroshock. 
The coding itself requires little time to induce in a person already 
dissociated, and may not even be seen as ,ost time• in an ordinary 
day's activities. The codes call upon feeling states cunently in place, 
although walled off, and usually are associated with one or two such 
feeling states per code. They are also sometimes paired with a cult 
alter with a name and a prescrlbed role attached to the name. In 
other words, sometimes it is only Decessary for a particular name to 
be mentioned for the feelings to surface and the code related 
behavior to be acted upon. Therapists frustrated with the task of 
•getting at feelings• can use these codes as an indirect approach to 
helping a survivor see haw he/she is accessed (oftentimes cunently), 
and then approach from a feeling level. 

EFFECTS OF CODE USAGE ON ADULT AND CHILD SURVIVORS: 

I have seen a stepped-up approach to using these codes because of 
the occult's 1999 (some therapists report the date a multiple of 666 X 
3 = 1998, which. following occult numerology, would make the exact 
day June 6, 1998 - WHB) timetable, and their frustration with so 
many survivors remembering and attempting to heal themselves. The 
coding is so often accompanied by cunent day harassment. reducing 
the survivor to a child-like state of fear and panic, maJring them open 
to further assaults by tbe group. It is a hideous way of reintroducing 
trauma iiito the life of a person struggling to regain control of his/her 
life. 

In my own life, I have been able, with the help of my therapist and 
my child, to uncover not only the original coded infoimation. but to 
access memories where the codes have been used not only to access 
me, but to induce in my child the fear and helplessness necessary to 
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control my child so as to give access to me. My child, who is not yet 
18, was used to such a degree that we bad to move into separate 
residences, therefore, eliminating from my child's life the presence of 

. a caring, nurturing individual ready and willing to share with my 
child the pain and suffering of that childhood. This divide-and­
conquer mechanism seems to be a last-ditch effort on the part of 
occult groups to ensure animosity between survivors who would 
otherwise be of great value in the nurturing, support, and validation 
essential to the healing process. 

RESPONSIBILITY, A TEAM EFFORT: 

Understanding of the codes means knowledge that the behavior 
induced by the codes is subconscious versus conscious. This does 
not mean that the person induced to peifor:m certain behaviors is not 
accountable for that behavior. What it does mean. I believe, is that it 
is incumbent upon each individual to uncover their own particular 
codes and to make an effort to dismantle them as quickly as possible. 
To do so does not mean just to know of their existence. It also 
requires a conscious effort to really •see• the feelings behind the 
coded material, to nurture the -umer children• and sometimes the 
inner adults, and to replace the coded behavior with conscious 
behavior aimed at reducing the code's effectiveness. To inculcate this 
conscious behavior requires repetition of replacement behavior as the 
coded behavior does not miraculously disappear once the codes are 
made conscious. Until feelings are uncovered and dealt with. the 
codes retain some of their power. 

(Note: The above would not be recommended by many therapists. Getting in 
touch with traumatic feelings can reinforce the trauma. Perhaps something along 
the lines of the "Six Step Reframe" as explained in Jolm Grinder and Richard 
Sandler's book Reframing would be more effective - or a "triple dissociation 
pattern," using the dissociated state to further dissociate from the trauma an~ 
shifting submodalities, to desensitize the survivor from it Also it is important to 
communicate a full understanding that survivors are not their behavior, that they 
can have choice in all future behaviors, once they're free of their pn>gramming.) 

This gifted survivor issues another stem warning: 

I would hope tbat therapists readlDg tbis would DOt clismlu tbU 
material out of baDd ldmply bec&UM lt Is DOt tbe work of a traiDN 
tb8raplst. I would hope tbat theraptst. would be open to tbe 
poa:lbDlty tbat tbls c:;ocllng ez:lsts iD their clients, aad they could 
work with SW ViVOJ"' In uncovering previously UDCODSCious coded 
programs and behavior. Working wltb the codes does require a 



182 W.H. Bowarl 

certaiD amount of caution., u 110matimes just saying a particular 
color wiD lDduce code related t .. liDga. Therapists llhould also be 
aware that thae codes can also be illtrocluced limply by weariDg a 
garment ID tbe code-related color. Tbis is DOt to illtaoduce an 
elea.nt of hysteria, but an element of caution aad coacem for tbe 
aunrivor Uld bl8/Mr particular triggers. Tbla material can be 
managed, aDd tt Is • truly ucltiDg procea; to become aware of 
otb8r-dlrec:ted couboL It eiUibln a mrvlvor to regain a large 
amoum of comc:lous control anr lltuat:loaa aDd behavlon tbat 
would otherwtae put tbem at riM for current clay acceu. 

"We adult survivors," this survivor eoncludes, "need to be aware that much effort 
was used in our childhood's to program participation in cult activities. As we 
reach adulthood and uncover buried trawna, the cult has an even greater stake in 
"helping" us forget. We are lifelong members in their eyes, and every effort will be 
made to keep JIS "in contror and "under controL" We have a choice as to whether 
or not we allow this to continue. Remembering our own programs can help put 
us on our own road to recovery and safety." 

NOTE TO SURVIVORS: We would like to collect the codes, cues and triggers you 
have remembered so that we can map the evolution of this programming over the 
years in different situations and locations. 

NOTE TO THE LAY READER: Until you've seen a survivor of Project Monarch 
triggered, you may have no idea what all this means. Perhaps our video ()peralion 
Mind Control will give you some reality on the subject. 
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Above are some examples of the visuals in Monarch Programming. These could 
trigger a variety of survivors both Project Monarch and others. 
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Survtvor's dra111ngs of fom cUfterent types of diagrams used tn progr&mmmg. 'lhe one at lower left 
ia the Cabbala Tree, aomettmea called the Green Tree, the uae of whlah one of the doctor's deacrfbes 
tn Chapter 40. 
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THANKS FOR THE MEMORIES 

I met Lois first in Palm Springs, when I was the editor of Palm Springs life. She 
was sitting, looking pretty, at one of the many events that bear Bob Hope's name, 
the Bob Hope Classic golf tournament or the Hope Center which houses the Palm 
Desert opera. Her real name was not Lois and I was not introduced to her, but 
when I saw her again, several years later, she had come along with a Project 
Monarch survivor just to watch the interview I was doing with their 
deprogrammer. I knew I'd seen her before, but at first, couldn't remember where 
or when. 

When I saw her that first time, I knew nothing about her. She was just another of 
the many "hostess'' types that you find working the parties in the Coachella Valley. 
I did not know she was a (so-called) Monarch survivor. I didn't even know there 
was such a thing as Project Monarch which took DID' d children and made 
"patriotic" sex slaves out of them. Now I was looking at her again, in an entirely 
different context than the one in which I'd met her. A friend who is a psychiatric 
registered nurse had come along to support me in the interview and she spent a 
good deal of the time talking with Lois while I interviewed the depre>grammer. It 
wasn't long before we learned that Lois was a case very similar toO's. When I 
learned that I asked her if she'd grant me an interview. She gave me a novel she 
had written which was a fictional account of her story. 

Her depre>grammer said the novel was still "full of her programming" and that 
Lois was not yet reintegrated/fused and therefore still had fiction mixed up with 
fact in her mind. He suggested that we both wait for an interview until fusion was 
complete - after her functional personalities were working together, and after she 
had better recall of specific events which were now occluded by amnesia from 
what amounts to classical, trauma-based, conditioning. 

After several months I was contacted by Lois. She gave me an entirely new book, 
"the truer story" she had remembered and written down over the past several 
months of fusion/therapy. It was a readable account which I've excerpted and 
edited for presentation here. 
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Today Lois is 43 years old and recovering from her dissociative disorder. She 
began to remember small, inconsequential things at first when she was 
thirty-five. By 1988, six years before she fmished her book, she thought she was 
simply a survivor of ritual abuse. Then, as she began to heal and remember more 
of her past, she realized that ritual abuse was "merely a mind control trauma base" 
her paedophile father, among others, had used to condition her for future 
participation in what she says is "the still active Central Intelligence Agency's 
white slavery operation, Project Monarch." 

"._From my earliest recollections, my father began the rigorous training and 
torture required to splinter my base personality with the intention of creating 
many separate and individual personalities for training and use by others as I 
grew older_." 

She was physicaDy, psychologically and sexually abused continually, by her father, 
his friends, and at Baptist Sunday school at which the Minister and Church 
Secretary oversaw a planned program of torture and ritual abuse. 

"'n addition to Christianity," Lois said the church secretary "also practiced 
witchaaft in her darkened home, isolated and protected from outside intrusion by 
drape-covered windows. As a toddler, my father would get me up early on 
Saturday or Sunday mornings and take me and a carrot down the street to 'feed 
the horsies.' We always did feed the horses but the actual purpose of these outings 
was to get me out of the house to go see Mrs. M. for what they called 'my 
trairtirlg' ••• " 

Lois was raised in the afiluent area of the San Femanco Valley in Southern 
California. She was abused her entire childhood in many locations in and out of 
California, including U.S. military bases, where she was subjected to 'high level' 
use, abuse and programming. The results of many years of trauma intentionally 
inflicted on her by her father and others, created within her many separate 
personalities that were amnestic of each other. 

"Over time, I became a totally programmed robotic slave that could not, due to 
electronic programming and abuse, think to tell anyone what happened to me. I 
was used frequently in child pornography and child prostitution." 

By the age of 16, Lois had many separate personalities, several specially trained to 
be the perfect sex slave. One was a "presidential model" with a photographic 
memory used to deliver cryptic messages, most often during sexual encounters 
with top government officials, entertainers, and other world leaders. 

From 1988 to 1991, she was in daily therapy in California. She began 
remembering a complex past that now has been validated, in part, through 
intelligence community and FBI contacts (active and retired), as well as through 
investigative journalists and knowledgeable mental health professionals. In her 
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quest for understanding and self-knowledge, Lois also attended graduate school to 
obtain her Master's Degree in Psychology. In April of 1991, she was forced to leave 
her home and family in California, due to a threat on her life. 

"' fled to Hawaii and began writing a book about my experiences. I began having 
vivid, detailed memories of being used as a sex slave and/or human computer to 
some of our nations highest level government officials in and out of the White 
House - Lyndon Johnson, Richard Nixon, Ronald Reagan, Gerald Ford, Henry 
Kissinger, George Bush and many others_. including "top entertainment 
professionals •.. " Prominent among them was her "owner", Bob Hope. 

"My abusers made sure that I was instilled with very complex programming that 
would insure my death should I begin to remember or tell:' 

But, despite the programs for her to have an accident, or self-mutilate or kill 
herself should she begin to remember, today she is healthy, in control of her own 
mind and has no intentions of hurting herself in any manner. 

"'am taking extreme precautions," she says. "That's why I'm publicizing this 
message. I expect it to encumber these aiminals who would stop me from 
recovering further memories and obtaining expert help." 

"'n conjunction with the traumas at church and schoo~ my father reinforced my 
programming by the use of fairy tales. His favorites were from Disney themes and 
The WIZard of Oz. Sometimes in the middle of the night, my father would 
traumatize me in order to get me to dissociate, which created the perfect trance 
state for mind programming. In this state, he would tell me that 'over the 
rainbow' was a 'bridge to the other world' and that I would walk over the 'rainbow 
bridge' into the 'other world' and it would remain separate from my evezyday 
world. He told me what happened over the rainbow would feel unreal, like a 
dream." 

Lois was conditioned to forget her most recent covert encounters when she heard 
the word "home." The trigger phrase began with a phrase from the Wizard o(Oz: 
"there's no place like home" and was associated with being back in bed, sleeping, 
after a night of being used in child pornography, or as a child prostitute and later 
after being prostituted to mobsters, celebrities, politicians or anyone else her 
owner directed her to accomodate. 

"These words functioned as a way to reorient me back into my everyday world, 
without carrying the reality of what had happened back with me. I was instructed 
to 'sleep and wake up at home in bed with the Land of Oz so vezy far away. That 
place that felt like a fairy tale - that I must have made up_. was only a dream -
was now very far away.' I was now on the other side of the rainbow and I was 
conditioned to forget that those experiences ever happened. If I remembered them 
at all, I remembered them as merely a dream. 
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"Later, in my teen years, all it took was for my mother or father to say, "f ou can 
sleep all the way home,' and I was conditioned, like Pavlov's dog, to respond to 
the word home, with total and complete amnesia of what had happened to me 
that evening." 

Lois now remembers that she was taken to military bases around the country for 
more sophisticated programming. She was hooked up to high tech electronics 
that perfonned a variety of functions, interfacing mind and body responses. 

"' was put in isolation chambers and left in isolation, sometimes spun, with 
colored lights, always with only one color at a time. I was placed in sophisticated 
chairs with electrodes attached to my head and shocked. Sophisticated audio 
equipment was used. I don't know what exactly they were accomplishing, but I 
felt tortured by it, " Lois said. 

By the age of five Lois was conditioned through torture and by the use of 
hypnotic techniques to hurt herself in many ways should she ever begin to 
remember her secret activities. 

"Per programmed suggestion," she said, "if I began to remember anything, I 
would stub my toe or bum myself on the stove, thus removing my focus from the 
remembered secret experience and diverting my attention to my wound. 

"' was instructed in successful ways to cut my wrist in order to take my own life, 
should I begin to remember or tell. There were also accident programs instilled to 
insure my death if I remembered. Many programs were installed early in my life 
that were available for use in suppressing the activities of my hidden personalities 
for years._" 

Over years of torture Lois remembered hearing her programmer say: "'f you 
remember, you will kill yourself. If you tell, people will think you're crazy and lock 
you up in a mental institution. If you don't obey us, we will kill your family and 
your dog and cat If you teD, we will kill you." 

Lois had witnessed killings for years therefore she believed they were not kidding. 

"' was used in child pornography and child prostitution from the time I was two 
years old, maybe even before. My father, who was a welder, sold me as a 
prostitute to neighbors and business contacts_. My father had a group of 
paedophile friends, with daughters my own age. They traded us sexually and each 
independently participated in filming us pornographically, sometimes including 
bestiality. I had many personalities trained in both porn and prostitution. 

"At age seven I was further trained by older women prostitutes. I was taught 
'tricks of the trade,' most of which I already knew from years of sexual abuse and 
training. The prostitution and pornography was a organized activity. 

-
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"There were times when I was a child that I was used to entice and kidnap other 
children off the street into a black car. The kidnapped children were initially kept 
in cages in back rooms and then used in pornography and usually killed, 
sometimes in snuff films. We were all shocked with cattle prods or stun guns for 
different offenses. I was locked in a room and sold as a prostitute to lots of men. 
The people in charge always left ropes, whips, and sex toys for use by the people 
who were paying for sex with me. Pornography was filmed with other children, 
women, men, and animals. They filmed me in many different secluded locations 
around Turlock Lake, California, the Colorado River and places my family and 
family friends went for 'water-skiing vacations."' 

Lois tells of being filmed by friends of her fathers. One man filmed her and his 
own daughter having sex. Another forced his daughter of the same age to have sex 
with Lois and animals while they filmed it. 

"To all outward appearances, all of these families appeared like nonnal upstanding 
citizens of the community. No one would have ever suspected that in secret, all of 
this abuse was occurring. The mothers kept clean children and clean houses, 
smlled and acted polite and caring in public, and the fathers acted channing and 
were considered responsible businessmen in the community. What went on 
behind closed doors - that no one wanted to believe or hear about, not even my 
elementary school principal - was the physical, psychological and emotional 
devastation of many, many chlldren._ 

"By age ten-and-a-half, I had gone through puberty and was fully developed. This 
was much sooner than any of the other girls in my class at schooL Despite the 
abuse, I was a pretty good student, with many "school" personalities who helped 
me act like a 'nonnal kid ... "' 

Lois displayed behavior problems in school, often acting out what was secretly 
going on at home, but her teachers merely passed off her joking and constant 
disruption as typical mischievous behavior. 

"' had personalities who were totally amnestic of any of my abuse and able to 
function perfectly nonnal in the school setting. I did the things that nonnal kids 
do; I was a cheerleader, perfonned in the chorus, sang solos in junior high, and 
won awards for the most beautiful smile and for being the class clown. I was Girl's 
League President and a member of the Student Council, and I received a number 
of awards of merit. And my mother had the cleanest house in the neighborhood. 

"'started menstruating. This heralded abuse in rituals involving getting raped and 
impregnated, sometimes twice a year. When the fetuses were two to three months 
old, they were aborted at rituals and ingested to fulfill the beliefs of the group that 
it made those participating more powerful. These were devastating, deeply 
traumatizing and painful experiences that were repressed along with the other 
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traumas. They served as mind control reinforcement, to insure amnesia of my use 
in pornography and prostitution ... " 

Lois was taken to her grandfathers house in another state. Her grandfather, a 
local politician, like her father, was a paedophile and a member of the same 
organization which practiced ritual abuse. Lois was impregnated several months 
before they arrived at her grandfather's house, where the first of several forced 
abortions were performed, Lois said, in a "torturous fashion by a local doctor." 

"Although I was raped and made pregnant at a ritual, I was humiliated and 
shamed for becoming pregnant - everything was a double bind. I was blamed and 
shamed for everything that happened, none of which I ever had any control over. 
My baby, which was not yet old enough to be born alive, was nevertheless, a 
perfectly fonned fetus. My grandfather and my father bad a ceremony behind my 
grandparent's house in which they convinced me that I had killed my own baby 
(which was obviously born dead), and they ate it and forced me to participate. 

"During the rest of the time we were there, I was forced to entertain my 
grandfathers business and political friends. I danced naked on the table at 
meetings and performed sexual favors for many of his associates. To demonstrate 
my programmed abilities, my father prompted the men to use a cigarette to bum 
me in my vagina as I kneeled down in front of them. My father wanted to 
demonstrate that I would smile and show no signs of the bums due to (reinforced 
dissociation) mind controL .. " 

Lois attended junior high school and in the 8th grade (age 14) she met a young 
man, Clarke, about whom her mother said," He's the boy you will marry." 

About that time, President Kennedy was killed. Lois' programmers used the 
gruesome murder to reinforce her belief in their power over her. They told her, 
"We are so powerful we can kill the President without anyone knowing, so don't 
think anyone will ever find out about you." 

"Over the next several years Clarke and I were 'bonded' to each other through 
cross-programming and shared trauma to insure that Clarke was under sufficient 
mind control to serve as my 'handler.' A ritual at a Presbyterian church I attended 
regula!y, served to seal our bond, and soon other, more sophisticated means of 
programming were utilized. 

"Large vans with men in suits picked us up at a location in Ventura, California. 
They had specialized equipment in briefcases and other large equipment in the 
van. They routinely beat Clarke in front of me to show me what a weakling he 
really was and how powerful and in control of me they were. They would slap me 
around in front of him to show him how powerless he was to help me, and how 
much in control they were. 
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"Electroshock was used on both of us, frrst by inserting and activating an electric 
prod in my vagina and then delivering the same to Clarke on his penis. We each 
had to watch robotically as the other was tortured. 

"The bond that was fonned by shared trauma was powerful It created feelings of 
being in this whole mess together and enforced the feelings that we would never 
be able to get out After they had sufficiently worn us down, they would strap us 
into sophisticated chairs and hook us up to the electrodes. Tones were combined 
with the electroshock in order to create access cues that gave them quick and easy 
access to us both later on. Hypnotic suggestions and love songs were presented to 
us, in order to facilitate our 'falling madly in love ... ' 

"All these conditioning experiences served to 'prepare Clarke to deliver and hand 
me over to other men, then step aside while I serviced them sexually. It was 
always his job to make sure I was delivered to the right place, at the right time, to 
the right person. And for many years, that is exactly what he did. 

"Bob Hope was one of the first 'high powered' men Clarke delivered me to. For 
my 16th birthday present (1967), Clarke surprised me with a trip, by train, to the 
San Diego Zoo for the day. We boarded the train, and after a while Clarke delivered 
me to a private car where Bob Hope, U.S. Senator Alan Cranston, and a couple of 
other men were waiting. Clarke left me with them and robotically went back to his 
seal I had sex with each of them as the others watched. They were all ' old men', 
even in those days ... " 

Lois' paedophile father went to UCLA Neuropsychiatric Institute in Westwood, 
when she was 16 years-of-age, for what everyone said was 'brain surgery." When 
he returned home he kneeled on the floor next to his daughter's bed and wept 
Lois describes her father saying, "Honey, big things are happening. I've lost 
control over you: Lois says she didn't lmow how to react, since her father never 
cried before. "I couldn't think to question~" Lois said, "or to wonder just what 
it was he was trying to tell me. So I let it go along with hundreds of other 
thoughts and questions that any normaL unprogrammed daughter would have 
thought to ask." 

H Lois' recollections are correct, her father sold her to the famous British born 
comedian, Bob Hope, who promptly began setting his new prize up with the likes 
of Ronald Reagan. The story she tells about Hope makes you wonder about his 
connections with British Intelligence in addition to the CIA 

Lois says she met Reagan for the first-time at "the small theater that is part of the 
Motion Picture Country Hospital (MPCH) located in Calabasas, California. The 
hospital is owned and operated by the Screen Actors Guild. 

1 was instructed to watch many movies that were for 'programming purposes' to 
instill certain preferred attitudes within me. To name a few: My Fair Lady, The 
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UnsinJCllb/e Molly Braum and the Wizard of Oz. I was programmed to go to the 
MPCH to watch some of the movies taht played in the small theater on the 
hospital grounds. At other times, seeing a movie was just a cover for privately 
meeting with Ronald Reagan. 

".-I was told beforehand that I would have 'an important guest' and that I was to 
'make a good impression on him, to give him the full treatment.' 

"When Reagan and I were alone in the theater ..• the 'full treatment' consisted of 
me singing and dancing on the small stage for him and ending with a striptease. 
After my seductive a~ I walked out to where he was sitting alone and climbed, 
naked, into his lap to recite my program. Following my programmed instructions, 
I told him that I could satisfy every desire he could imagine, that I eame complete 
with instructions and was referred by his friend Bob Hope. 

"He seemed embarrassed (a reaction that would follow him over the years in 
relation to me) and a bit overwhelmed, but his response to me was, 'I'm sold ... tell 
Bob I'm sold.' 

"Having carefully recorded his exact response within my photographic memory as 
instructed, I slipped out of his lap, collected my clothes from the stage floor and 
got dressed. 

"' had several personalities that were specially created to please Reagan sexually. 
One was created for total devotion to him over the years. 

"'was used extensively on and around 1968 by then Governor Reagan and soon 
after with United States President, Richard Milhouse Nixon. These top politicians 
were guaranteed by the Central Intelligence agency that my training in Project 
Monarch. .• insured the highest level of security. The level of mind control I 
possessed guaranteed that I could be used with these leaders who were involved at 
the highest levels of 'national security', without my own awareness. 

"' overheard conversations where the President of the United States and other top 
politicians were offered the services .of 'escorts', the CIA's latest technology-- top 
secret Project Monarch trained sex slaves. They were encouraged to use them to 
satisfy their sexual and emotional needs, instead of exposing themselves to 
outside individuals, because these 'escorts' were guaranteed safe, had passed 
many tests to insure their security, and were able to provide guaranteed secrecy. 

"The presidents and others were highly discouraged from seeking other avenues 
of sexual indiscretions for fear of public exposure. This fear of political 
incorrectness, of seeking outside sexual gratification (instilled in these top officials 
by the CIA), fear of adverse publicity, and other security risks created a heavy 
demand for the use of this latest human technology." 
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According to Lois and other survivors, Project Monarch "Beta-trained" sex slaves 
were called "million dollar babies" referring to the large amont of money each 
slave would bring in from a very early age. 

Lois said, "My father had done his homework, insuring that I had been MPD' d 
certifiably under complete mind control before I was ready for use by certain 
individuals in top political and entertainment positions. I was sixteen years old. •. 

"But what many of the CIA may or may not have been aware of was that a 
powerful group of men, whom I will call The Council, secretly ran the 
government The Council was also able to access me and had programmed me to 
subversively influence top government officials in ways that benefited them. The 
CIA's latest technology was being used against our own govenunenl. 

"Our family doctor, had me taking a continuous supply of the antibiotic 
Tetracycline •.. to insure I did not infect the government leaders with any social 
diseases. He also prescribed mood elevators and mild tranquilizers for me during 
times when I was extremely depressed. These helped to keep me 'happy.' During 
the times I was being used by others, they accessed personalities that were 
cheerful and energetic, so my moods were never a problem. 

"'was programmed," Lois said, "to stay~ tan and silly- a typical dumb 
blonde._" 

"Clarke and I had been going steady since we were fourteen, and, except for a brief 
one-year break-up in high scboo~ I did not date any other boys. I was unaware 
that secretly laced into my life was a whole amy of discreetly hidden sexual 
rendezvous with men in influential positions .•. 

"'was ftlmed pornographically in many locations, including Woodland Hills, 
Malibu, Hidden Hills, BelAire, and other places in the San Fernando Valley. At this 
stage of my life, the level of pornographic fihning was more professional. There 
were themes, costumes, music, professional make-up, and lighting. Personalities 
inside of me were taught how to work with the lighting to catch the best poses, 
and how to move my body so the film crew could get the best shots. Upon 
completion of the fibning, I would go home to my mother and father in Woodland 
Hills and later might even go out on a date with Clarke, believing that I was an 
innocent, loyal and loving girlfriend. Due to the mind control I was under, I had 
no way of knowing that I was leading anything other than a normal life, as a 
normal teenager, in a normal family in Woodland Hills. 

"The extensive contact I had with Bob Hope as a teenager and in my early 
twenties showed me that Bob was much more than an entertainer. Entertainment 
was actually just a clever hobby of his. I witnessed his participation as a 
strategically placed, influential, and integrated part of an underworld group that 
secretly sought to control the world. He maintained direct ties to the White 
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House. Through my affiliation with Bob Hope, I was to meet and interact with 
many powerful businessmen, politicians and celebrities ... 

"' was often flown into a small airport in Pahn Springs to be with Bob and his 
aonies. I was picked up by a silver limo and taken to his house. The men in suits 
would meet me and take me to Bob wherever he was - at home, on the golf 
course, or in town. They would provide me with clothes, shoes, and jewelry in 
which to dress. 

"One day, I accompanied Bob to the golf course in the (Palm?) Springs. He was 
dressed casually, in light blue slacks, pastel yellow shirt, white belt and white 
canvas shoes. There were several other men golfing with him. I was there just to 
be with Bob. I was 17, thin, tan, blonde and dressed in a tiny white dress, like a 
tennis outfit with spaghetti straps. I had on white sandals that came up from my 
toe and met at a strap around my ankle. I wore a gold heart anklet (slave bracelet) 
on my left ankle. I was not invited to play the golf game, but was instructed to 
watch and SMILE. 

"Bob enjoyed having people around. He would have parties attended by lots of 
famous people. Usually they were held at his home in Palm Springs. Sometimes I 
was given as a gift to one or more of his friends for the night, but was 
programmed to return to his room to sleep. Dolores Hope was usually not 
around. 

"But when she was, it was strange to see Dolores at the parties, knowing that I 
was having sex with Bob and had accompanied him to different places with his 
friends and business associates. Dolores never appeared to know exactly WHAT he 
did! 

"Although my programming kept these activities hidden from my conscious 
mind, I would wake up late in the mornings in my own bed in Woodland Hills, 
with red eyes, feeling totally exhausted after what I thought was a full night's 
sleep. I was not able to understand that the exhaustion was actually caused by 
food, water, and sleep deprivation, coupled with electroshock tortures," Lois said. 

"Dolores was already well-along in years when Bob was fooling around with me. 
She seemed not to like it when I was around and unfortunately, Bob did not offer 
much of an excuse for my presence, like Reagan did. He could not say I was his 
secretary or aide, but he did tell her he was needing to spend lots of time with me 
to 'groom me' for some of the USO Shows for the troops. 

"' can remember hearing Dolores' voice, nagging at him one morning after a 
party while I was still there. He lied and told her I was there with some other man 
at the party. Not that I did not have sex frequently with many of this friends and 
business associates, but this time I had nol.. 
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"Bob referred to me in the earlier days (my teenage years) as his 'little bunny.' 
Through his USO involement, he was friends with Hugh Hefner and he came to 
the parties sometimes. Mr. Hefner always brought at least two women with him -
usually blondes. He never victimized me and I believe he and perhaps others that 
met me may not have known I was a mind-controlled slave. 

"Starlite was a name Bob gave me. Starlite was one of my alter personalities. She 
was to become his 'starlet". He told Starlite, and other people when I was 'on his 
arm', that he was giving me a 'leg up' in the industry. At other times, he 
introduced me to people as his 'favorite niece.' My instructions were that Starlite 
always wore her hair parted on the side with it combed down over one eye to look 
sexy. She was to be very sexy. When Bob took me to parties he would tell 
everyone he was showing me the ropes, and that I had endless talent and great 
potential in the industry ... 

"Bob took me to several of Hugh Hefner's penthouse parties in Los Angeles. There 
were windows all around and at night you could see all the twinkling lights of the 
city. Bob told me that when I was 'on his ann' for the evening that he was mine, 
but at other times he was someone else's. Sometimes Bob prostituted me to 
Sammy Davis Jr., Dean Martin, and others, while Frank Sinatra served as a 
handler. 

"Hefner had bazaar, exotic entertainment at his parties. Naked women who were 
painted like zebras, appeared to walk through the livingroom fireplace without 
being burned. Or he would have wild (tamed) animals, like a lion that was 
'whipped into shape' by a Playboy Bunny. One time he even had a man dressed 
like Tarzan whipping a girl dressed like Jane. Everyone said the girl was not really 
being hurt, that it was just an illusion. I don't know if that was true. It was like 
that a lot- a magic sex show .. ". 

Bob Hope took Lois to Hefner's because he wanted her to be ~Bunny trained." He 
asked her to pay close attention to the way the Playboy Bunnies moved so that 
she could move that way when she "entertained the troops," or Bob and his 
friends privately. 

Lois had been programmed much as David, 0, Candy Jones and the others - to 
carry secret messages locked behind posthypnotic blocks. She said "the Council" 
often programmed her to deliver a message to some entertainer, celebrity, or 
politician at a party they knew she was going to attend."' don't think Bob even 
lmew some of the messages I was delivering," she said. "' would be told to hold 
the message until I had zeroed 'in' on the targeted person. Then, when I had 
made eye contact and had their full attention, I was to carefully 'drop the 
message,' while maintaining eye contact. 
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"' was usually very quiet, and when I would deliver these messages, Bob was not 
aware I was going to speak. He would be caught off guard and would make a joke 
about loving to be with me because he never knew what would come out of. my 
mouth from one minute to the next. 

"He told people that I had natural wit, but I was really programmed by others to 
deliver ayptic messages, cleverly made for certain select individuals," Lois said. 

"'twas during these early years that I began being heavily accessed and 
programmed by The Council, for use with many influential men and women in 
positions of power. In addition to my use with Bob Hope, and Ronald Reagan, 
who was then Governor of California, I began being used with President Richard 
Nixon as a sex slav~ and Henry Kissinger utilized my "computerized mind files." 
0 never had sex with Henry Kissinge or George Bush). My use within government 
circles was seen as security J»''::f. They felt my programming kept the 
information I carried from my own awareness and from access by others who did 
not know the keys to my system. But what those in government did not seem to 
know was that The Council also had the ability to access me and that they were 
secretly slipping in their own psychologically tested and carefully researched 
messages for me to deliver to presidents, governors, senators, foreign leaders, 
entertainers, and many other people who were in positions of power or public 
influence. 

"The Council studied people's psychological profiles and knew exactly what their 
likes and dislikes were, their sexual preferences, what perfumes they liked, and 
any other infonnation that could be used to influence individuals in ways of 
which they were never even aware. The Council would pre-program me with 
instructions (all based on careful research of the targeted person) of what to wear, 
how to act, what type of sexual stance to take_ .. specific words or phrases to say, 
and the best time to deliver them. The Council always worked up a complete 
strategy and never sent me to a person unprepared." 

In these ways, Lois says, they influenced government leaders, to act in their own 
favor to pass or veto laws or bills that benefited their corporate holdings, to bring 
into office people who would be used as pawns, to influence judges and 
government agencies, and to control people in all walks of life. 

"My experience was that The Council's membership was publicly nameless and 
unknown and their true power and ability to manipulate the masses came from 
the fact that they were publicly unlmown. From my perspective, these individuals 
acting in the shadows, actually dictate the direction our government takes. They 
were connected to people like Bob Hope through a secret liaison with me, of 
which I was programmed not to even be aware. They felt they had their identities 
and security locked up tight 
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"Parties were given in New York at the Rockefeller mansion around Christmas 
each year. My reliability had been tested for several years and at nineteen I seemed 
to "graduate" to a higher level of use. What could be higher than the President of 
the United States? In my experience The Council and certain international 
individuals like the Rockefeller's were a higher leve~ standing head and shoulders 
above the government and mere politicians. 

Lois would be flown to New York by commercial airline and met at the airport. 
She would be taken to get her hair and nails done, then brought back and dressed 
to be used to 'entertain' top people from all over the world. At the parties, Lois 
was dressed formally in expensive evening gowns, and often provided a diamond 
broach or huge diamond necklace to wear. The evening would usually end in a 
sexual encounter with the targeted individuals. 

"Nelson Rockefeller was connected to Bob Hope and many presidents - Nixon, 
Ford, Reagan, and Bush_. otherwise known as The Republican Party_. Yet is 
wasn't only the Republican Party -- Democrats were not exempt from 
involvement There were both Democrats or Republicans involved with The 
Council. •. 

At these "bi-partisan" parties Lois observed a small group of men who usually met 
in the back room after the party to discuss world strategies and business. It was 
not unusual to see some of the guests spend the night from among the select few 
who were invited to the party. 

"' watched the men who literally ran the world. Men who decided when it was 
profitable and/or strategically important and politically correct to start a war. They 
even had it planned who would begin the ftghting and where. It always added up 
to big money, power, and controL. 

"People in America think they elect their presidents but from what I witnessed, 
they do nol The process of putting someone into office is a controlled and 
corrupt one. The media is also so controlled that the American people do not get 
the full and accurate story. The presidents are selected long before they are voted 
into office. It is no accident that Ronald Reagan or Pete Wtlson won by a large 
majority. It was all rigged through financial, business and political connections 
from this group, right down to business and political factions and then on down 
into the public," Lois said. 

"They own the press. They own key television stations and famous anchormen. 
They have key members who own the newspaper companies. They buy magazine 
companies and own many corporations that allow them to have the leading edge 
on media exposure, thus allowing them to control the infonnation people see on 
the news, read in the newspaper, or hear on the radio. They are funded by some of 
the richest men and corporations in the world who aid them in getting what they 
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want, when they want it, by whatever means it takes to do so. They operate above 
the law, above the Federal Government 

"' witnessed and recorded in my photographic memory many of these encounters 
as I was bounced around the globe in the company of varied but influential 
"people in the know." Lois' book chronicles all the details. 

"'n my late teens and early 20's, I was taken aboard U.S. Navy carriers when Bob 
was doing a show on his USO tours. I had several personalities who were 
specifically trained to sing and dance and several who were expertly trained to 
dance and sbip. Usually Bob and I would be flown into a base and then 
helicoptered the rest of the way to the ship. 

"On tour with Bob there were always large bands, with lots of music and lights set 
up on the stage. Red, white and blue banners decorated the stage where we 
performed. The shows were very festive, high energy performances. Sailors would 
be standing, packed together to watch the show. 

"'f the media was there, Bob totally controlled what they captured on camera, 
what segments could be filmed, and when they had to leave. 

"What the 'boys' didn't know was that Bob knew how to engage their emotions 
with certain specific words and phrases and songs. He knew how to 'lighten them 
up,' get them really 'emotional' and worked up and then he would slip them 
suggestions, keyed to conditioning, that 'helped them with certain unwanted 
attitudes.' 

"' overheard The Council making jokes about the 'herds' (the troops) and how 
stupid and easily led they were... 

"Mter shows, I was usually taken to the Commanding Officer's quarters to further 
'entertain' him in the privacy of his room. My perception was these officers had 
big egos and felt inflated about all their medals and ribbons. The Council often 
'slipped' messages (embedded commands) to the officers, through me, possibly 
without the officers' lmowledge. 

"Mter the show, some man would put a stun gun to my body and I would totally 
collapse into his anns. He would carry me over and lay me down until it was time 
to leave. The sensation inside was white hot, then very cold. This was my reaction 
to the electroshock. 

"The man delivering the electricity also delivered programming to me. Before and 
after he zapped me he said: 'You are fat and ugly and no man could ever be 
attracted to you.' I never would have believed I was attractive enough to perform 
on stage, had I begun to remember il I was often in poor condition when I was 
helicoptered away ••. 
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"' felt like I was on every naval base in the United States at some time or another 
to accompany Bob on some of his USO tours or for my own programming. The 
programming at the bases was torturous. As a child in the late SO's, I was taken to 
a base where I was put in total isolation. Bright lights were put in my eyes and 
bands were put around my wrists, ankles, and forehead and I was given 
electroshock coupled with food and sleep deprivation and whatever other tortures 
programmers decided to use including being hung upside down for extended 
periods of time. As I got older, programmers on military bases repeatedly drugged 
me and inflicted varied physical, sexual, emotional, and/or psychological tortures 
that assaulted all of my senses. I was put into a large cylindrical chamber, where I 
was tied by the wrists and ankles ot the sides and left in isolation. There were red, 
yellow or green lights flashing inside the chamber, but never two colors at once. 
Other times I lwas left alone in total darkness and stark silence for what felt like an 
eternity. Drugs, food and sleep deprivation always accompanied the programming 
and afterwards I felt extremely tired, achy, and nauseated but mistakenly assumed 
I just contracted the flu. 

"With people Bob really wanted to own or use he would take pictures of a rape 
with hidden cameras. He knew just how to get these people. He would show the 
man a picture of the rape of a child and say, We sure don't want these pictures, 
or any others like these, to get into the wrong hands and ruin your career, do we?' 
Then he would simply tell the man what he wanted. It usually had to do with 
getljng another 'friend' of his into a 'key' position in the government, looking the 
oth~ way when a case came down, or getting a bill passed or vetoed. He knew 
just how to control these men and they usually complied. .. " 

From 1988-1991 Lois was in therapy seven-days-a-week, during which time, she 
says, she "uncovered pages of programming from inside." Then, one day, she 
received a dollar bill in her wallet and on top of it was written:" April12 -- 2042." 
Lois knew these were programming numbers and since she had two serious 
accidents on Aprill2, 1985 and 1987 she was convinced April was to be her next 
programmed "accident date". At her next session with her deprogrammer, the 
doctor told Lois she didn't think she was safe and had better leave Los Angeles. 

"A friend came and offered me a place to stay in Hawaii, and I flew to her home 
on April13, 1991. She introduced me to a man who helped me deprogram myself. 
I taught him what I knew and he read some books on MPD and ritual abuse and 
applied it to the knowledge he already had. I ceased all contact with my husband, 
Clarke, staying on the island for five weeks, but, then I came home when my 
attorney told me I would lose custody of my children if I didn'l 

"Later," she said," I discovered that I had been at a 'contairunent center' for 
mind-controlled slaves." And Lois would eventually learn that her original lawyer 
worked as a 'containment asset'. 
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"I lost custody of my children anyway, and my financial support was very limited, 
due to being a 'high level' modeL My children visited me summers and Christmas 
on Hawaii. But, even after I thought I was free," Lois said, " I was still being 
prostituted .. .'' 

While now, for the first time in her life, Lois says, she is free "thanks to some 
unusual therapy with a deprogammer who had the expertise to really help me." 

Sadly, Lois believes her children carry on the multigenerational custom, so 
commonly found with Project Monarch. She believes they are programmed, 
carrying out their robotic intelligence functions under the control of their father, 
and the watchful eyes of his 'Council' -appointed handlers. 
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Through innocent eyes Lois smiles at the camera. One of the many pieces of 
identification provided by this real life survivor of the so-called Project Monarch. 1 
have eradicated the vital statistics on this driver license so that Lois cannot be 
identified. Obviously her real name is not Lois. Should anyone care to come 
forward with further corroboration of her story, contact the author. 
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MONARCH CORROBORATION 

A number of friends and fellow researchers couldn't bring themselves to believe 
the stories of "0" nor Lois. In the beginning, neither could I. Both dropped too 
many famous names. Both had witnessed too many important events in history. 
Both told hideous stories of abuse. How could our high government officials fall 
to such low perversions? Would they violate the human spirit just for lust? Greed? 

After a little thought, once one has processed the horror, one realizes that in each 
case, celebrities and high government officials were controlled by their vices 
which were fed by the cryptocracy using one of Project Monarch's programmed 
"presidential models." In each case it was the survivor's remarkable 
"programmed" gifts, which were the invisible reins of control the cryptoaacy held 
over Senators, Presidents, and Kings. In fact, it looks as if our executive branch of 
government is now controlled by new innovations in the usual Machiavellian 
options: bribery, blackmail, threat of death, and/or ultimately assassination. 

Then, again come the doubts. Here we are taking the word of a .. reintegrated" 
person who's suffered a lifetime of Multiple Personality Disorder (MPD) which is a 
relatively new idea in itself. One doesn't want to believe this. 

Sure, we'd all seen the films Three Faces of Eve and Sibyl, but MPD is new to 
psychoscience. (And to confuse things more it was renamed DID for Dissociative 
Identity Disorder in 1994.) In 1980 there were only 200 plus cases of MPD 
reported to the American Psychiatric Association (APA). In 1990, however, there 
were 24,000 cases. That doesn't mean they weren't there all the time, it only 
means that the 11mental health industry'' has just caught on to how to diagnose it. 
Based on the testimony we've heard trauma-based programming has existed for 
hundreds of years, which means there have been programmed people among us 
with multiple personalities for hundreds of years. 

While psychiatrists are still struggling with effective treatments, radical new 
techniques are emerging such as those adapted from NeuroUnguistics 
Programming and Ericksonian hypnosis. These and similar techniques can effect 
quick and complete "reintegration" or ''fusion" for people suffering from MPD. As 
the treatments become more effective, more MPD sufferers are remembering their 
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"core" selves and some are discovering that those "core" selves are stamped "made 
by the U.S. Government. 11 

A woman whose story is remarkably similar to O's is Victoria Vulpes (another nom 
de plume.) With the help of therapists in Florida, Texas and Minnesota, Vulpes 
recovered a harrowing assortment of memories, the first of which was of incest 
with her father, which came out of a dream she had in 1989. Next she 
remembered being abused by other relatives, dangled upside down over a cliff, 
taken to Satanic rituals where a baby was killed and eaten, and subjected to 
mind-control experiments by the military and CIA 

The owner of an elegant clothing shop, Vulpes sued her uncle (her father was 
dead) based on the memories she recovered of incest she said occurred 34 years 
ago. The uncle vigorously denied the charges, and the case was put on hold until 
the Florida Supreme Court decided that the statute of limitations had expired on 
this delayed-memory case, thus sidestepping a decision. 

In an interview with a local paper, Vulpes would not discuss the lawsuit or her 
uncle, but she spoke to a reporter for three hours about the other memories she'd 
recovered. She said she wanted the govenunent to admit its wrongdoing, and 
release the results of the "Monarch mind-control Project" and compensate its 
victims. Vu]pes said she wasn't interested in naming names or getting anyone in 
trouble. "''m looking for a negotiated peace settlement with the government. 11 She 
said she only wanted to know " the keys to my programming so that I may 
complete my therapy and healing process." 

According to the paper, a CIA spokesman said he wasn't familiar with the 
mind-control experiment Vulpes described. "'t's existence isn't likely," he said."' 
wouldn't deny her her memory of her experience, but I would be very surprised to 
see the CIA involved in any way." 

The article said Vulpes points to the fact that she has found three other women 
who have recovered similar memories. All three women are members of a support 
group run by a therapist who was a past president of a prominent society for the 
Study of Multiple Personality and Dissociative Disorders. The therapist, the paper 
said, "has diagnosed about 30 cases of multiple personality disorder, (and) does 
not question the accuracy of the satanic-abuse and military mind-control 
memories. 

"' don't think these folks are making it up," the therapist said. "They're too 
together." 

Vulpes was separated from her husband and is the mother of two grown children. 
She built a thriving business and developed a busy social life, the article said. 
"She has too much going on to be inventing this kind of fantasy," the therapist 
said. "Besides, people worldwide describe the same things. It couldn't be a 
coincidence." 
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"'t' s not a coincidence, "said FBI agent Kenneth Lanning, who studied allegations 
of ritual child abuse by satanic cults and others. He said in a phone interview to 
the paper that the Monarch Project was "just kind of a myth or legend that's being 
spread by a small number of people at a variety of therapy conferences." 

"Absurd urban legends about the corporate logos of Procter and Gamble and Liz 
Claiborne being satanic symbols persist in spite of all efforts to refute them with 
reality," Lanning told the paper. "Just because individuals who never met each 
other tell the same story doesn't mean its true." 

Another person who questions the accuracy of the memories was the attorney 
who represented Vulpes's 70-year-old uncle. · 

"'t' s extremely unlikely for this woman to have suppressed the extraordinary 
events she alleges occurred to her in her childhood and adolescence," the paper 
quoted the attorney saying. "This is not just Daddy sneaking into the bedroom. 
This is torture. Murder." 

According to the paper the attorney blames therapists for creating, or at least 
perpetuating "mass hysteria" through the current fad for repressed-memory 
therapy. 

Vulpes said her father was a Cuban-American who went into the U.S. military and 
was stationed in Panama, Germany and several U.S. bases, including MacDill in 
Tampa. She was one of seven children. 

In 1959, the paper said, Vulpes's father left the military and returned to Cuba for 
about a year. Then he was asked by the Cuban government to leave. Vulpes 
regards this as evidence that he was a CIA agenl During that year in Cuba, her 
alleged abuse at the hands of her uncle occurred, according to her lawsuit The 
accusations included rape, sodomy and unusual sexual practices. 

Memories of the abuse by her uncle, as well as others, remained beyond her 
conscious mind until after her father's death in 1989, Vulpes said. At an intensive 
four-day session of therapy in Minnesota, she got the idea she might have some 
kind of sexual-abuse problem but she had no memory of any. Then she had a 
dream in which her father was chasing her and laughing saying, "You can't get 
away from me." She said that when she awoke, she lmew what the dream meant 
It shocked her, she said, "Because this was certainly not the image I had of my 
father nor that anyone else had of my father." 

Other memories came later through work Vulpes did with a number of therapists 
and on her own working with pen and paper, letting her subconscious take over 
and instruct her what to write. 

Vulpes remembered her father taking her to a satanic ritual in Panama where 
"'ndians killed a small baby and ate il" Her father took her to the ceremony 
purposely to traumatize her on instructions from his bosses in the CIA," Vulpes 
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said. She said she "split" several times that nigh4 depositing the painful memory 
with several alter personalities. 

"'donl know how many parts of me there are," Vulpes said 

Memories of military mind control emerged during treatment at Charter Hospital 
in Dallas, where she was sent by Dr~ Colin Ross, well-known expert in the field of 
multiple personality disorder. There she was given paper and told to draw. Her 
memories of programming sessions by her 'controls" grew out of that time, the 
article said. She was only one of many children who were h"aumatized and 
programmed into total obedience, she said. 

"' believe these were experiments to see how much you could control human 
beings," Vulpes said 

Dr. Ross confirmed that Vulpes told him she was a military-programmed multiple 
personality, the article said. "His take on it? 'It's a very complicated matter, 
difficult to figure out how much is real and how much is not real. It warrants 
serious study.'" 

Vulpes told the paper "The Monarch Project experiments are still going on." But 
she declined to discuss current activities because her 'controls' might hann her. 
She offered a manuscript from a group called "Ritual CIA (Cul4 Incest or Abuse) 
Exposed" in Santa Rosa, Calif. that describes the project pretty much the way she 
did. 

The paper reported that FBI agent Lanning said it's important to note that people 
who describe memories of Satanic abuse and military mind control often really 
believe they took place and aren't knowingly lying. "'t's possible that something 
abused them - not a Satanic cul4 not the CIA, but something - did happen to 
Vulpes while she was growing up." 

"The trouble, though," Lanning told the paper, •is that once she starts talking 
about her wilder 'memories', she loses credibility in the courtroom." 

"That isn't lost on (the attorney)," the article reported."' don't know which of her 
personalities is suing," he said. "Due process requires that the real abusee stand 
up ... I'm looking forward to the cross-examination." 

Are you laughing? Mark Phillips isn'l Phillips has been dealing with the victims 
of Project Monarch for quite a while. 

"Serial killings are on the increase 200 fold," Phillips said. "When caugh4 some of 
the killers blamed Satan for their exploits and aimes, others could not 
legitimately remember. I watched the FBI stand finn on their "no such thing" 
philosophy_.'' Remind you of what the detective said on the Oprah Wmfrey show? 

When I managed to get Vulpes on the phone, she talked freely: 
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"AIDS was lmown about in 1968, or earlier," she said. "I lmow three different 
(Monarch survivors) people. We all got vaccinations - inoculations against auto 
immune deficiency. We got it in 1968. AIDS didn't come out until the 1970's. I 
said then, I'm never going to talk about this. People would say that I'm crazy. So I 
never talked about il Then when I did, in the group, three other people said, 'Oh 
yeah, we were inoculated too.' (A 1953 Artichoke document references the CIA's 
interest in a synthetic virus.) 

"You lmow how many people died because of aids. I won't sign an affidavit to that 
affect They'd kill me. But didn't you ever wonder why the politicians in D.C. 
don't get AIDS? They had the cure for aids before they let it get oul Now they're 
going to release the cure because they hadn't anticipated that it was going to cost 
this much money. They've developed a whole line of racially specific viruses -
they've got things so bad you can't imagine." 

We talked about psychic phenomenon as it is seen in patients diagnosed as having 
Dissociated Identity Disorder (MPD). 

Vulpes told of her memories in the reahn of the arcane: "I remember a room full 
of men around a conference table. I was maybe five. They put the chair in the 
middle of the conference table and had me demonstrate my psychic and intuitive 
powers. They had me knock the glasses off of some man's nose without moving." 

"'will deny I ever said this. I remember being in Area 51. I think that's where it 
was. They had a room full of men around a conference table. They got a chair and 
they were having me demonstrate my psychic and intuitive powers. 

"They had me pinpoint the person who was the least loyal. Everybody went 
berserk. I had to tell them what I was doing. I had to get under the table 
psychically and touch his private parts, so that he'd know he was going to be 
touched. He jumped when I touched him. 

"Did they did a lot of psychic stuff. Yes. It was not unusual." 

I asked Vulpes if she'd taken part in any remote viewing experiments? 

" I don't remember thall remember being told by somebody way up in the 
government - very high that I was better than Jean Dixon - an elected official 
who was not aware of the programming I'd had. I was told what to answer and 
not to answer. I was only a German girl I was not allowed to be an American 
citizen. I perfonned all sorts of things, read his mind, found hidden objects in the 
room. 

"'t's one of the side affects of MPD," Vulpes said. "Then we were trained to use il 
The one other female I have the most in common with has also had a lot of 
training. 

"She told me she saw the results of genetic experiments -- a hybrid 
hennorphadite. Somebody told her that was impossible." 
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It has become clear that the cryptocracy developed aspects of the human mind of 
which the psychiatric community would not become aware for many years. 

In his book The Osiris Complex, Case-Studies in Multiple Personality Disord~, 
Dr. Ross writes: "Why should people who have been abused as children, and who 
have complex dissociative disorders, also be psychic? In one sense, it doesn't 
matter if the psychic experiences are real; real or not, this is an important 
unanswered question in psychology. There is something about the human mind 
we don't understand, an aspect of experience which has been banished from 
mainstream psychology and psychiatry ••. Psychic and extrasensory experiences 
are so characteristic of people with MPD that they statistically differentiate MPD 
from other diagnostic groups such as schizophrenia, panic disorder, eating 
disorders, and temporal-lobe epilepsy. I have met many people with experiences 
similar to Martha's ( the pseudonym of Ross's patient who describes paranonnal 
phenomenon), and all of them have considered their experiences to be real 

"The ability to dissociate and the ability to have extrasensory experiences are 
closely linked- I mean psychologically, not genetically, although they could also 
be linked genetically. I think that the ability to have frequent complex dissociative 
experiences can be latent in the absence of serious child abuse, and that it often 
gets activated when there is childhood trauma. Being psychic is not so closely 
related to having been abused as a child, but this range of human experience is 
also prone to activation by trauma. .. 

"The relationship between paranonnal experience, dissociation, and child abuse is 
something psychologists and psychiatrists should study. A whole dimension of 
human experiences is simply left out of modem academic psychology, although it 
is universally present in religion, folklore, mythology, and literature. Martha and 
others like her have taught me to think clinically about the paranonnal in a way 
which is not skewed by the ideological biases of twentieth-century psychiatry ... " 

We know that the CIA funded J.B. Rhine's famous telepathy experiments at Duke 
University and other explorations of the paranormal. We also can present evidence 
that the CIA supports public debunking of the paranormal on a full time basis. 
Adding the reports of the Monarch victims and others to the fifty-year-long body 
of reports found in Ufology (activities of the Men In Black etc.), you might 
conclude that one of the ayptocracy's purposes is to disempower human 
potential through debunking anything that might be evidence of an evolutionary 
development of human psychic ability, on the one hand, while working in secret 
to develop that ability for its own dark purpose on the other. 

Within the cryptocracy-controlled scientific community, Dr. Ross notes the 
pattern in a less sinister way: "One of the key strategies of the mechanistic­
reductionist philosophy that dominates twentieth-century medicine is to defme 
the reductionist model of medicine as th£ medical modeL This is a clever, though 
ID Ross, Colin A.. M.D~ 7'hr Ositis Contpkr ~ in Mu/liple PmonDJiq Dirorrllr, l1rriwnq oiTorotNo 
Prrtss, Toronto, Onl ~ 1994 
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unconscious, strategy because it implies that all other models of medicine 
are-medical: reductionism has claimed a monopoly, in effect, over medicine, and 
has borrowed the prestige of science to cloak itself in an aura of power, sobriety, 
and rationality. 

"Galileo was put under house arrest by the Catholic church for saying that the 
earth went around the sun. In the late twentieth century, the orthodox scientific 
establishment ostracizes anyone who considers the existence of demons (or 
extrasensory perception) to be a serious scientific problem, though it lacks the 
totalitarian control to implement house arrest In both cases, what is going on is 
orthodox dogma suppressing free intellectual inquiry," Ross said.( The deliberate 
suppression of the belief (both in the scientific and general public) in the innate 
human psychic ability by the cryptocracy could be the subject of an entire book.) 

For some reason, recently the so-called Monarch survivors are recovering their 
memories. Thousands of alter personalities are coming forth to tell on their 
handlers. Many are beginning to walk away from their handlers, to drop out of the 
mind control system. (We've heard professionals guestimate that there could be 
millions of trauma-based individuals in the United States and probably an equal 
number or more in Europe.) 

"One day, a few years ago I just started to walk, and I didn't lmow I was walking." 
Vulpes said. " I figured I was just leading the same life I'd always been leading, but 
doing real good therapy. But meanwhile in my memories these guys are 
saeaming at me: "What are you doing?" 

"'t's a very crazy story. I ended up getting together with someone who told me he 
was an ex-CIA agent When they're a CIA agent they want to be able to talk to 
someone. That's why they told me he was 'ex.' We know that you can't stop 
working for the CIA. There's no ex. It's like working for the Mafia, but that's what 
he told me. 

"He ended up coming very close to me and giving me a little bit of grief. But it 
was interesting because I asked him, 'What did you do for the CIA?' 

"He said,' My job was to go after CIA agents who went bad.' It wasn't until a year 
later that I realized that was probably the reason he was hanging around me. They 
considered me an agent that went bad. And I'm saying, meanwhile, I don't even 
lmow what's going on around here. Now I'm getting the memories and now I 
lmow what they're talking about But when I started to walk I didn't know I was 
walking. 

"So, then there was a negotiating process. I think that more of us are involved 
with that than we are aware. You lmow we all have reporters inside, don't you? 
And who do you report to? You think you have people from 20 years ago to report 
to? No. 
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"And we all report on each other -- unless we've been deprogrammed. And 
personally I haven't met anyone who's been completely deprogrammed. I think 
we still report to people. " 

I asked her if she thought they were still programming people this way and Vulpes 
said,"' don't think they do this anymore because it's not necessary. I hope we can 
be reintegrated. 

"At some point the codes, cues and triggers have got to come out I'm not going 
to be the one to do it Let some of the other women do it I want to live. But, 
somebody's going to say it Somebody on their death bed. Somebody with a death 
wish..." 

Vulpes had no sexual mutilations like 0. Commenting on that she said; "'t 
depends on how valuable your body was to them. It depends on where you were 
in the hierarchy. 0 was used mainly as a body and as a parrot, so this was 
acceptable. She may not have had the training a lot of us had, 

"' remember that there were rules having to do with the handling of me and my 
body. There could not be any mutilation. I had to be clean - immaculate. You 
could not create any dent, any wrinkle, any breaking of bones, any breaking of the 
skin, nothing that could damage the goods. 

I asked if she'd experienced any bestiality like 0 had? 

"That's Satanic stuff. Everybody goes into that I don't have any specific 
memories of that but I wouldn't doubt it I haven't done much of my satanic 
work, but I know, I remember when I was very young those being the rules, and I 
told my therapist before I knew what was going on, when I just thought it was 
only my father abusing me. I said, "these are the rules." I remember them. 

I wondered if she had any tattoos or scars or unusually shaped or place moles, 
since stungun shock points can bring the melanin to the surface and cause 
unusually shaped moles? 

"' have a mole on my right cheek which I do not have in photographs of me as a 
child. I don't know when it came," She said. 

"My service was all in the line of espionage. When I read The Control of Candy 
Jones, I almost collapsed. It was the same story as mine. 

"People I've spoken to who've had training similar to mine -- we can hypnotize 
people. That was one of the things we were trained to do. And it's interesting, I've 
always known, before I lmew I was MPD, if I got into a certain mode I could get 
anything I wanted from anybody, even if they had just said no to somebody 
previously. 

"Mark Phillips talks about people who've had the military programming - how 
they carry themselves erect Well, that's the way I carry myself, and that's the way 
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I speak. I don't look that way. I'm feminine. I'm not bad looking, but I carry 
myself and handle myself in very much of a military fashion. Though I'm not a 
winsome personality at all. But somebody else can be told , 11n011 and I'll walk up, 
with no chann and get what I want, and not through intimidation, though I know 
how to intimidate also. That was also a part of my training. 

"' must have done good with the language of the unconscious. 

"We do all understand that if we talk about these things people won't believe it, so 
that's why we don't talk about these things. They also spend a good deal of time 
debunking ESP and things because they don't want people to believe in their own 
abilities. They don't want everybody to discover that they have strong psychic 
abilities which could ( through remote viewing?) make all their secrets public. 

"This is not an integral part of the story - the psychic phenomena part -- so, if 
that part of the story is told later on down the line, that's okay. 

"They're using us as workers, workers, workers," she said. 

"Didn't you volunteer," I asked facetiously. 

"' was three years old," she said. "Hello? 

"' turned in my letter of resignation four years ago," she said. "They have yet to 
accept it." 

Stating the obvious I said, " So all this happened to you without your consent" 

"' n~er knew a thing. I never had any beliefs in my regular life. 

I asked a burning question: "Are you telling your handler what you're telling me?" 

"My control has my phone tapped. Everything I've told you they know," she said. 
"' think they told me not to read your book. I have a mental block about reading 
your book (a photocopy of the 1978 edition.). When I got it today I just dove into 
it I didn't think about it, I got the book and I read it I have not been able to make 
myself read it 

"'have a mental block. Normally, when I'm excited about something I rush right 
through it But I'm having trouble getting through it I haven't got past three 
chapters. I can feel a wall. I know there's something preventing me and it's not 
me. 

"Basically I assume that everything I say gets back to them. I have an agreement 
with them -- whichever part of me still meets with them and deals with them - I 
don't say names, I don't say dates. I'm a real team player. I will never sell anybody 
down the river. I tell people where I'm coming from. I don't want anybody to die. 
I just got a life, I don't want to die. 

"They already agreed on this two years ago that they would not get prosecuted." 
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I couldn't believe my ears. "You're telling me the handlers have been given a deal 
- a pardon of some kind? What are they trying to do, straighten you guys out and 
put you on your feet again?" 

"' think they're trying to keep it from being a royal mess and ending up in the 
court system across the land and destroying the coWttry," Vulpes said. "The 
settlement is not the issue. Ifs not what they did to us, it's what we did for them 
-for the country. They cannot afford to have it land in court. They can't afford to 
have it land in a mode of anger in the press. I think - I know they're ready to 
deal with tis. 
"They couldn't get any of us to lift our heads up. Evezybody was too frightened. I 
know there's negotiating going on. I know the people who were in control and the 
people who could have gotten hurt have been told that they were - from what I 
understand - given a presidential pardon by George Bush before he left office. 
That's what I Wlderstand, but there's no proof. But, it doesn't make sense any 
other way. 

"When they started this in the beginning, they never thought it'd come unraveled. 
They never thought they'd get caught Never. They thought you could erase a 
person's mind forever. Now, they lmow we come unraveled, but they could still 
fix it 

"' was given electroshock as recently as six months ago. They have a little travel 
kit that looks like electric rollers. That's the size of the thing. You plug it in to a 
regular socket. 

"Next time you see it, steal it, so we can figure out the amps and volts," I said, 
thinking that if one could spend time with one of those who were active, one 
might be able to stick in enough programming to gather a lot of information and 
begin to effectively empower these "Monarch" survivors to Wlcover the whole 
system. But, it'D probably wait for someone who was a fonner programmer to 
begin the deprogramming. Inevitably, I believe, this is what will happen. The 
robots will tum on their masters. 

Vulpes continued talking about the shock equipment "Whenever I'm near one of 
those things, I'm never in a good position to do anything. I'm not negotiating 
when that thing is aroWtd.l'm totally a victim when that thing's aroWtd. But I 
have two memories within the last year and one half, and I lmow it's something 
evezybody's not that familiar with. When it was used on me the first time, the 
person that I had been dealing with, needed to bring someone else with that 
apparatus. 

"There needs to be some knowledge behind it Am I right?" she asked me, as if I 
was expert with shock teclmiques. Since this interview I've learned a lot more 
about the process, but we all still have a lot to learn. 
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"All of us have so much missing time, we don't know what missing time is. When 
I was first diagnosed they asked, "do you miss time." I said no. It wasn't until a 
year later that I knew what they were talking about I never understood what a 
normal person's concept of time was. I never had a normal person's memory. I 
never missed any time, because I never had a continuous run. 

Vulpes said some things about her background. She was part Cuban, part German 
she said. Himmler's Lebensbom project came to mind. "Was your dad your real 
father?" I asked. 

"He was my genetic father. I have six siblings who are half brothers and sisters 
with the woman who raised me. I was the only one who was an illegitimate birth 
from a Gennan woman, 11 Vulpes said. "' was the only one who was not an 
American citizen_ I got thrown out of Cuba on 24 hours notice. All of a sudden 
there was an emergency in 1960 and I had to leave the island at age 12. My Dad 
was Cuban but he was in the U.S. Air Force. 

"The story was that he came to New York, got caught in Communist activities and 
got put on Ellis Island. And I always thought that's where he got recruited there. 
He ended up in Germany at the end of the Second World War in the Air Force 
which was his cover for being in the O.S.S. Then I was born and got put in that 
program. There is no doubt but that I was in a program. 

"One of the girls in my group and I talked because she had to go to the dentist So 
we talked and compared notes and discovered that we had been sent to the dentist 
almost every week as kids. I think that was the time they did a lot of the training. 
My kids today have perfect teeth. We have good genes for teeth. 

"'don't think they put us under, I don't remember drugs. I think they 
traumatized us there. But all we agreed upon was we had too many bips to the 
dentist, 11 Vulpes said. 

Another survivor of the "Monarch" program told me about her vivid memories of 
having her baby teeth removed so that she could transform secret information in 
the little tooth cavities -- one at a time. Some tooth fairytale. 

"My friend, this girl in my group I'm talking about, did not to her knowledge have 
military training or military service. She was programmed by her father in the 
basement But because her programming is so similar to mine, I believe that her 
father was trained by the same people who trained the people who programmed 
me. Mine was done under military circwnstances, even though my father had 
homework that was not done on the base, but these people's parents had nothing 
to do apparently with the military but they were getting the same kind of 
training," Vulpes said. 

"One of the reasons we have not gone full steam ahead with my deprogramming 
is that I am still too tightly knit into this. If these guys want to talk to me, I think I 
want to talk to them. I don't want to make it so difficult so that I end up getting 
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run over. If I happen to get a little off track, I want to know. I hope they give me 
some warning, .. Vulpes said. 

"''m totally aware that they have ways of dealing with me without my ever 
knowing about it You may know a lot, but I lived it You're doing a good job, and 
if you didn't remain once-removed you wouldn't be doing such a good job. 

"You have things in this edition of the book that you talk about, some of the Air 
Force programming of David that made me real uncomfortable when I read it It 
triggered me. 

"' have accepted the fact that they probably have a camera in every room I have 
ever been in - inside my head, inside my car. I have something in my car that 
buzzes. It's not from the car. It goes on for a minute or so. It used to come from 
the back, now it comes from under the dash. They bad my old car wired, I just 
can't believe they've wired my new car already. 

"' wake up every night in the middle of the nighl Do others tell you they wake up 
at 2:30 in the morning? Why do they do that_?" 

"Yes. I've heard that People say 2:30 - 3:00 in the morning. Maybe they're 
turning on the brain washing machine? I've heard people say that certain cities 
have signals that go on at night People say there's an attempt to manipulate and 
program a large number of people. What content do the signals carry? I don't 
know. Work harder, longer, faster?" I said. 

"'was told it was going to go down quietly. Everybody knew what they were going 
to do. I heard that Dan Rostenkowski was one of the mind controllers and they're 
getting him. (He since was defeated at the polls.) I've noticed a lot of others whose 
names have come up from survivors are being driven from office," Vulpes said. "' 
think there were a lot of people who weren't into agreement with this mind 
control thing. I think there are a lot of people inside the government who were, 
say, handlers, that didn't know how big this thing got They didn't knoW how 
many others were doing it Because of the compartmentalization, because of the 
need to know, the individuals didn't realize they were part of this insidious, all 
pervading system of mind rape_. 

"' was a victim of the Cold War. I was victimized in the name of the Cold War. 
Now we know what a sham it was. There was no war. The Communists had 
nothing. Whafs their excuse now?" 

"Do we have a Constitution in the United States or don't we?" I asked. 

"We have a set of rules that we are supposed to follow and then we have a separate 
group of people who are doing damned weD what they please. I never had a Bill of 
Rights. I was a U.S. resident who was not a citizen of the U.S. My father was 
military personnel. I had every right to be a U.S. citizen. I was not allowed to be a 
citizen. Five years ago I got to be a U.S. citizen and I got the right to vote, but I 
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still don't have the freedom to think for myself. So how the hell can I have free 
speech. 

"The National Security Act, obviously, takes precedent over the Bill of Rights," 
Vulpes said. "It's main purpose today is to keep secret the criminal activities that 
first started taking place during the so-called Cold War. 

"Now that they've cut the electorate out of the process, they've laid the foundation 
for the failure of this republic. 

"But we're networking now. Things are going well. I'm talking to you and 
tomorrow I can go to the beach and not get killed. A few years ago, I couldn't have 
said that. 

"'have all the names filed away, so that if anything happens to me, the names get 
released. I'm taking precautions to protect my life. I was once in real danger, but 
now, they've settled, and they've gotten a pardon. They were murdering, selling 
children, white slaving, drug smuggling - doing whatever the hell they wanted 
and hiding it all behind mind controL Everybody had their side deals going. None 
of their wives knew about this. Now they've all gotten a pardon." 

"We've found a lot of sergeants, a lot of menial government employees involved in 
doing the trauma-abused programming," I said. 

"Yes," Vulpes said, "There was a guy in Miami who was nobody. He had nothing to 
say. A Post Office guy, but behind the scenes he was a heavy hitter. He wasn't 
happy that I began to remember what he'd done. Nothing he did would have been 
tolerated by his social group. If.it was exposed he would have lost his social 
standing. He would have lost his intelligence capability because he was working 
under deep cover, and haH of the politicians in Miami would have killed him. 

"Everybody was playing both sides of the street. They were all double agents, 
selling to both sides, any sides, people who were on no side. People just feeding 
their own habits, doing deals with the declared enemy and everybody up the line 
knows it and doesn't care because they're getting theirs. 

"They all knew what they were doing. The stupid people were the American 
Public. A lot of their stuff is still going on extracurric:ularty. People who were in 
the Monarch Project and were supposed to be eliminated and weren't, I think, are 
now being accessed by the former handlers who have retired from government 
service and are still doing what they were doing when they were in government 
service. They're no longer smuggling drugs for the CIA's black ops fund, their 
smuggling drugs for their own fund, and selling sex slaves and trauma­
programming children so that they can have little MPD's to sell as sex slaves to 
paedophiles and so on_. It happened across the board ••. 

"That's how this king and that king was controlled, how this Senator and that 
Congressman was controlled, how Prince Charles was controlled and interfered 
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with, and manipulated so that he'll never be King of England. .. It was done with 
so-called Presidential Models ... 

"Now, they're getting their cumuppins, I think. There's momentum here. .. " 

Now, we have to remember we're talking with a person suffering from MPD or 
DID here. And, while they believe what they are saying, it is all accurate and true? 
Perhaps we should look at what's known about this disorder. In his landmark 
book, Multiple Personality Disorder: Dio.gnosis, Cliniazl Features, and Treatment 
Colin Ross ten us61

: 

... multiple personality disorder is a little girl imagining that the abuse 
is happening to someone else. The imagining is so intense and 
subjectively compelling, and is reinforced so many times by the 
ongoing trauma, that the created identities seem to take on a life of 
their awn. though they are all parts of one person. 

Two basic psychological maneuvers form the foundation of multiple 
personality disorder. First, the little girl who is being :repeatedly 
sexually abused has an out-of body experience: detached from bar 
body and what is going on, she may Boat up to the ceiling and 
imagine that she is watching another little girl being abused. Since 
that unfortunate little girl on the bed below may have a diffemnt 
name and a different physical appearance, the abuse is not so 
teiiifying and overwhelming because it is happening to someone 
else, and the child is buffemd from the dimct impact of the trauma. 
Second, an amnesia banier is emcted between the original child and 
the newly created identity. Now not only is the abuse not happening 
to the original little girl, she doesn't even remember it: this process is 
reinforced over and over as the abuse continues. Various identities 
may be created to deal with diffemnt aspects of the trauma, resulting 
in an eventual total of ten. twenty, or mom alter personalities. Once 
the mind is in the habit of creating new identities in this way, alter 
personalities may be generated to cope with many non-trauma 
events, tasks, or functions in life, including going to school and 
dealing with peers. 

Adult patients with MPD experience a m1mber of core symptoms that 
should be inquired about in psychiatric assessments. These include 
voices in the bead and ongoing blank spells or periods of missing 
time. The voices are the different personalities talking to each other 
and to the main, piesenting part of the person who first comes for 
treatment. The periods of missing time occur when diffeient 

II Dr. Colin E. R011, MuJ1it* Pnsattlllq Disotdlr. DitJgnotsis, ClirDI FetJiuJIG, tmd T1WIImm , Uniwnity of 
Toronto Press, 1989. 
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personalities take turns being in control of the body, and are 
attributable to the memory baniers between the personalities. 

MPD patients also experience numerous other symptoms such as 
those associated with depression. anxiety, eating disorders, 
substance abuse, sleep disorders, sexual dysfunctions, and 
psychosomatic disorders, and symptoms that mimic those of 
schizophrenia. The assessment and treatment of multiple personality 
disorder must take this large array of trauma-related symptoms and 
problems into account. The complexity of the patients' symptoms 
often results in misdiagnosis and the institution of treatments that 
are not effective. In fact, in two different published research studies, 
MPD patients were found to spend an average of just under seven 
years in the mental health system before being correctly diagnosed 
(Putnam 1989; Ross 1989). During this time, they received many 
different diagnoses and treatments, none of which took the trauma 
into account. 

Although MPD patients are, by definition. diagnosed as having more 
than one personality, they in fact don't. The different 'personalities' 
are fragmented components of a single personality that are 
abnonnally personified, dissociated from each other, and amnesic for 
each other. We call these fragmented components •personalities' by 
historical convention: much of the skepticism about MPD is based on 
the eiiOneous assumption that such patients have more than one 
personality, which is, in fact, impossible12

• 

The programmed MPD's such as Vulpes, are a different thing than MPD's who 
have dissociated from less systematic occurring traumas than those imposed 
during the trauma-based programming. The education of the mental health 
profession has just begun. Within the year they will have the tools they need to 
begin the adventure of deprogramming the survivors of Operation Mind Control. 

• ColiD E. Ross, T'hl Osiris~ Uniwrsily ofToroniD Pras., 199-t. 
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Victoria Vulpes is a pseudonym for the child . 
shown· at right and below. At right is her 
passport photo as it appeared actual size 
in the newspaper. When the photo 
was blown up the butterfly and 
rose appeared on young Vulpes' 
blouse much to her surprise. A lot 
has been written about the butterfly, 
but Vulpes, at this time is afraid to 
learn what programming the 
rose could mean. Her therapy 
continues. · 
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HIMMLER'S GUINEA KIDS 

Heinrich Himmler's Lebensbom program may have been the grandparent of 
Project Monarch. Monarch sought to create junior Manchurian Candidates with 
multiple personalities, each trained to perfonn a specific specialty. The kids were 
programmed to respond to codes, mnemonic cues, and audio-reversed triggers 
and tones. They were trained in killing techniques and the rapid assembly and 
de-assembly of exotic weapons. They were educated about poisons, explosives, 
languages and computers, then programmed to forget it all or remember only 
selected areas upon command. 

Monarch produced a cadre of child spies who were directed to prey upon high 
placed military, government and high society paedophiles, sometimes hauling 
them into blaclanail situations. As in the Nazi Lebensborn program there is 
evidence of selected breeding, adoption of the children, and a peculiarly large 
number of twins among them. There is mounting evidence that the directors of 
Project Monarch were former Nazis, and that, like Nazism, the Monarch program 
was interlaced with satanism. 

Did this pet project of Heinrich Himmler rear it's head 50 years after the demise of 
the Third Reich in the cornfields of Nebraska? While the last gavel has yet to fall in 
the on-going litigation, and the major vein of the criminal conspiracy has yet to 
be opened in court, it appears that Himmler's dream came home to roost on the 
Great Plains in the good old U.S.A 

John DeCamp was a Nebraska state Senator for 16 years, during which time he 
was one of the most effective legislators in Nebraska history. A highly decorated 
Vietnam War veteran, a practicing lawyer, he's taken time from his demanding 
practice to write a book, self-publish it and sell it at lectures around the country. 
The Franklin Cover-up, Child Abuse, Satanism and Murder in Nebraslaz,63 is a 
no-holds-barred exegesis of Omaha Nebraska's Franklin Community Federal 
Credit Union which was raided by federal agents in November 1988. The raid sent 
shock waves all the way to Washington, D.C. when it was learned that $40 million 
was missing. The credit union's manager was Republican Party activist Lawrence 

a Decamp, John. The FrrmkJin Cooer-fJl), Chid Abuse, Salllnism, and Murder in N«Jraskll, Awr. 
Inc.. Box 85461 , Lincoln. Nebtaska 68501, 1992. 
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E. Larry King. Jr. Behind him stood George Bush and other powerful figures in 
local politics and business, and in the nation's capitaL 

DeCamp used public records to teD the story. In the face of opposition from local 
and state law enforcement, from the FBI and powerful Omahtl World-Herald 
newspaper, a special Franklin committee of the Nebraska Legislature launched its 
own probe. "What at first looked like just another savings and loan swindle, soon 
exploded into a tale of drugs, Iran-Contra money-laundering, a nationwide child 
abuse ring, and ritual murder", DeCamp said. '1'he Franklin cover -up followed the 
ugly precedent of the Warren Commission." 

"On June 21, 1991, 21-year-old Alisha Jalm Owen was pronounced guilty by a jury 
in Douglas County, Nebraska, on eight cotmts of felony petjury. On August 8, 
1991, she was sentenced to serve nine to twenty-seven years in prison," begins 
Decamp's book. "Owen was indicted for telling a grand jury, before which she 
testified in 1990, that she was sexually abused as a juvenile, by a Nebraska district 
court judge, by the Chief of Police of the City of Omaha, by the manager of the 
Franklin Community Federal Credit Union, and others. Alisha Owen also 
witnessed, she said, the abuse of other children by figures in Nebraska's political 
and financial establishment whom she named, among them the publisher of the 
state's largest newspaper, the Omahll World-Herald. She testified that she was in 
a group of Nebraska children who functioned for years as illegal drug couriers, 
traveling nationwide, for some of Nebraska's wealthiest, most powerful and 
prominent businessmen_. 

"'f King was involved with CIA money laundering," DeCamp wrote, " that jibes 
with a report from a member of Concerned Parents: 'I heard from two different 
black people in North Omaha that King used to send limousines down to Offutt 
Air Base ( home of the Strategic Air Command) to pick up CIA personnel for 
parti ' es. 

The sometimes expansive Lany King used to talk fondly about his friends. In a 
Sept. 7. 1988, interview with the Metropolitan King said, "' know some of the 
people I admire aren't very popular. Ed Meese. The late Bill Casey of the CIA. And 
I love fonner Chief Justice Burger. Those are the people I really like to talk to. Bill 
Casey ... I just thought so very highly of him ... 

"Larry King adored Bill Casey," Decamp said, "but what about one of Casey's 
predecessors at Central Intelligence - George Bush? Ever since July 23, 1989, 
when the lead editorial in the World-Herald said that "one child. •• is said to 
believe that she saw George Bush at one of King's parties." King's connection 
with Bush has been a frequently asked question about the Franklin case. Anxiety 
on this account has run especially high in Omaha's black community, where in 
December 1990, one young lady stood up at the public meeting and proclaimed, 'I 
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think George Bush is involved in this child abuse case, and that is why all these 
people have been dying.' 

"'nside investigators of Franklin, and the Webb case before it, know that Bush's 
name came up at the very beginning and it came up more than once. The July 
1989 World-Herald column, in an attempt to discredit this and other 
victim-witness testimony, attributed the mention of Bush to a person 'under 
psychiatric care,' meaning Loretta Smith. In reality, the report was from Nelly 
Patterson Webb. 

"Nelly first brought up Bush in 1986,'' Decamp said," when she told Julie Walters 
about the sex parties she was flown to in Washingt~m and Chicago. She saw Bush 
at two of these parties, she said, one in each city ••• 

"Bush's name surfaced again in Lowe's May 1989 review of reports by Thomas 
Vlal10ulis from the state attorney general's office: 

Sorenson told Vlahoulis that both Kimberly and Nelly brought up the 
name of George Bush and indicated that they had both met him ... 

On June 10, 1989, Lowe received a letter from a citizen: 

Them is a psychologist in Omaha who used to work for the CIA. In 
response to a direct question by an Omaha psychiatrist regardsing 
George Bush's private life, this psychologist reported hearing rumors 
when Bush was head of the CIA, that correspond directly with one of 
the infetences made by Nelly Webb, and 

" ... In August 1990," Decamp said, "Bush appointed Ronald Roskens of Nebraska, 
to head the Agency for International Development (AID). Roskens had been fired 
the previous year as chancellor of the University of Nebraska, where Larty King 
was a member of his 'chancellor's advisory committee.' 

"Gary Caradori's daily notes from Feb.19. 1989 record: 

I was informed that Roskins (sic) was terminated by the state 
because of sexual activities reported to the Regents and verified by 
them. Mr. Roskins was mported to have had young men at his 
residence for sexual encounters. As part of the separation from the 
state, he had to move out of the state-owned house because of the 
liability to the state if some of this sexual behavior was 'illegal. • Upon 
Roskins vacating the house, he was provided a house by Joe Secrist 
(sic) of the Lincoln Journal-Star. 

"The leadership of AID is the kind of sensitive job - AID assignments have been 
used as a 'cover' by CIA agents, for instance - for which appointees undergo a 
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background check that would have to tum up what Caradori also heard. 
Nevertheless, George Bush appointed Roskens ... 

"'What do Ronald Reagan, President George Bush, fonner CIA Director William E. 
Colby, Democratic presidential candidate Bob Kerry, billionaire and second richest 
man in America and now head of Salomon Brothers - Warren Buffett, and Ronald 
Roskens, the current ('93) administrator of the Agency for International 
Development, all have in common?' I asked my close friend and adviser William 
Colby," DeCamp wrote."'! give up,' fonner head of the Central Intelligence Agency 
Colby said. 'What could that group have in common?' 

'"Three things,' I replied,' all of them a burden at times for those who have to 
cany them. The three things are me (John Decamp), a case called Franklin and a 
man named Larry King. 

"'Are you serious?' Colby asked. 

"'Dead serious,' I responded. 'And I hope that word 'dead' does not tum out to be 
a prophetic pronouncement, as it has for at least fifteen other Franklin-related 
personalities.' 

"My statement to Bill Colby was not made lightly," Decamp said. "Colby and his 
wife, Sally Shelton Colby, a United States ambassador under President Jimmy 
Carter, were at that very moment warning me to get away from the Franklin child 
abuse investigation, Larry King, and anybody else linked with Franklin, as quickly 
as possible for the sake of my own life and safety. 

"Sally and Bill had never talked to me like this before. They sat me down, made it 
clear that this was not one of our routine discussions about life and health and 
happiness, and emphasized to me the serious nature of what and whom I was 
dealing with. 

"'What you have to understand, John, is that sometimes there are forces and 
events too big, too powerful, with so much at stake for other people or 
institutions, that you cannot do anything about them, no matter how evil or 
wrong they are and no matter how dedicated or sincere you are or how much 
evidence you have. That is simply one of the hard facts of life you have to face. 
You have done your part You have tried to expose the evil and wrongdoing. It has 
hurt you terribly. But it has not killed you to this poinl I am telling you, get out 
of this before it does. Sometimes things are just too big for us to deal with, and 
we have to step aside and let history take its course. For you, John, this is one of 
those times,' Bill warned, with Sally nodding her head in affinnation.' 

"When a caution of this nature comes from someone of the stature and 
experience of Bill or Sally Colby, you have to take it seriously, even if you do not 
want to. I had already had warnings enough, that unless I backed off from the 
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Franklin situation, I might be looking at life from a pine box six feet 
underground." 

John Decamp couldn't see how he could just lay the issue down and walk away 
from it. He couldn't see how anybody would want to live in a country where 
children were being sexually abused and killed by the nation's most respected 
citizens and business leaders who were also involved in drug dealing and official 
corruption. 

"-.Every bone in my body tells me that evil is triumphing and everybody who is 
anybody is scared beanless to do something about it, for fear of one thing or 
another?" Decamp said. "If I, or someone like me, do not keep pursuing this, then 
who will? And if we quit now, then when, if ever, will the truth come out and 
something be done about this evil and this corruption?" 

So, Decamp kept on keeping on. He is a capable attorney and a fearless man who 
was largely instnunental in bringing the eyes of the world to focus on Larry King 
and the Lincoln S&L cabal. He gathered the evidence that brought the criminal 
conspiracy before two grand juries. Without lmowing it, he stepped right into the 
middle of a Project Monarch operation. Happily he's still with us. Here's what 
happened. In his own words: 

"Two grand juries, one local and one federal, had a mandate to consider these and 
other charges of child abuse connected with the Franklin Credit Union They 
indided the vidim-wibzesses for perjury instead! [Emphasis is Decamp's.) 

"This is unprecedented, probably in the history of the United States," commented 
Dr. Judianne Densen-Gerber, a lawyer, psychiatrist and nationally prominent 
specialist on child abuse. ( Denson-Gerber is an MD who is thought to be a CIA 
asset. Her husband was on the Warren Commission.) During her visit to Nebraska 
in December 1990 she said: 'If the children are not telling the truth, particularly if 
they have been abused. they need help, medical attention. You don't throw them 
. 'ail'' IDJ . 

"Both grand juries," Decamp continued, "admitted that Alisha Owen and Paul 
Bonacci, whose testimony extensively corroborated Owen's, had been badly 
abused. But this was done, they concluded, by persons other than those the 
young people named. BonaccL too, was indicted for perjury. Two other 
victim-witnesses, whose stories buttressed those of Owen and BonaccL recanted 
under immense pressure. Alisha Owen and Paul Bonacci refused to recanL." 

This was the first time the tip of the Monarch iceberg surfaced in public. It is a 
story which matched with others in all its lurid details-- perverted sexuality, 
bestiality, ritual abuse, trauma and mind controL 
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In late 1993 a key Franklin S&L witness, Troy Boner, admitted that the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation terrorized and forced him to lie for the protection of 
criminal perpetrators. Boner's coerced testimony was used to discredit the case 
against the powerful political figures, and to falsely convict for petjury Alisha 
Owen. 

Attorney John DeCamp filed for a new trial for Miss Owen. He also pressed an 
explosive civil rights suit on behalf of Paul Bonacci who continued to give 
evidence, against anned forces and intelligence community personnel-and 
political leaders including fonner President George Bush. 

The existence of Troy Boner's sworn statement, and the application for a new 
trial for Alisha Owen, were covered in a small detail-poor article Oct. 30, 1993 in 
The Onwhtl World-Herald, a newspaper which is a central party in the Franklin 
case. Otherwise, aside from a Nov.1, 1993 Omaha radio interview with Boner 
and his attorney Decamp, the new evidence was subjected to a tight press 
blackout 

Mter the Nebraska Senate investigating committee found that over 100 chlldren 
could testify to an international child abuse ring, related to black Republican 
Party activist Lany King, Franklin's chief executive, the FBI, Nebraska officials, 
and the news media attacked the legislative committee and its witnesses in an 
abnosphere of rising violence and intimidation. In the course of this terror, the 
committee's chief investigator, Gary Caradori, was killed when his airplane 
unexplainably disintegrated. Troy Boner's brother was found shot to death at 
Offut Air Force Base. Alisha Owen's brother was found hanged in jail. 

In a separate Oct. 27, 1993 affidavit, Troy Boner's mother said "Troy had 
promised me right after Gary Caradori was killed that he was going to quit lying 
for the FBI and (attorney Mark) Delman •••. He did go and see Senator Sclunit_. 
Sometime after that, my son, Troy's brother, Shawn was killed ... and I am quite 
certain was executed as a message to Troy that he had better stick with his lies at 
the upcoming Alisha Owen trial or else." 

In his affidavit, Troy Boner said that after Caradori's death he spoke to Caradori's 
widow "Sandy and told her I had in fact lied to the Grand Jury and that what I 
told Gary Caradori was the buth and that I only lied out of fear that the FBI and 
others ... would hurt me or my family." 

In a Nov.1, 1993 KKAR-radio interview, Troy Boner claimed that he had also met 
with Omaha World-Herald reporter Gabriella Stem out of fear for his life. He had 
sought the reporter's protection so he could "do what was right" by Caradori, to 
whom he had told the truth. He said he had asked her to get the story out but not 
to use his name. He was then 23 years old. 
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The World-Herald in fact had carried an article on July 12, 1990 by Robert Dorr 
and Gabriella Stem, headlined "Caradori' s Airplane Broke Up in Flight" The 
article quoted state Senator Loran Sdunit saying the people who wanted to see 
Caradori dead "got their wish"; and that "Schmit told AP that Caradori recently 
had been trying to obtain pictures that some alleged victims said were taken of 
them during the time they were abused. n 

The article further included the following three paragraphs: 

A 23 year-old man-who last November gave Caradori a videotaped 
statement saying he had been sexually abused, but later recanted 
part of his account--said the investigator's death frightens him. 

He said Caradori bad warned him that people involved in the Franklin 
investigation could be in danger. The 23-year-old man, who hasn't 
been publicly identified, said he fears someone might try to bann 
him. 

The 23-year-old, who said he had flown with Caradori several times 
during the investigation, said the investigator was meticulous about 
checking the plane before taking Off. 

Decamp filed suit in the United States court in Nebraska, on behalf of Paul 
Bonacci, the courageous survivor of nearly two decades of torture. The suit asked 
damages from: 

-the Catholic archdiocese of Omaha, relating inclusively to sex 
abuse at the Bays Town orphanage; 
--Lawrence King, Peter Citron, Alan Baer, Harold Anderson, and 

Robert Wadman for sex crimes, slavery, beatings, and bumings; 
-Omaha police officers for harassment in an attempt to prevent 
Bonacci from testifying; . 
--and the conupt Douglas County Grand Jury, its foreman Michael 
Flanagan. and its special prosecutor Samuel Van Pelt. 

During raids on Peter Citron's home, police seized a large number of videotapes, 
on which were recorded the degraded criminal acts committed by many elite 
citizens against Paul Bonacci, Alisha Owen, Troy Boner and other children. These 
tapes were prized by the perpetrators as pornography-and had great value as well 
for blackmail. 

Paul Bonacci filed an affidavit, detailing the individuals and the crimes on the 
tapes, and asking for release of the tapes to his attorney John Decamp. Although 
former World-Herald society columnist Peter Citron had been classified as a 
"mentally disordered sex offender," Citron's attorney Lyle Koenig opposed the 
release of the tapes to the young man his client victimized, because of the 
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likelihood of "injury to otherwise innocent people .... There will be people in this 
State whose lives will be in a hopeless shambles as a result of these disclosures." 

Since the 1992 publication of DeCamp,s book, Paul Bonacci has ftled new 
affidavits and has given extensive interviews to investigators including reporters 
for Erecutive InteOigence Review and The New Federalist. Bonacci,s disclosures 
correlated with evidence supplied by authorities in law enforcement, psychiatry 
and the intelligence community. The results go a long way to explain the high 
stakes involved, and the frantic nature of the Franklin cover-up. 

"The tight little circle of Nebraska corporate and financial interests, • wrote Anton 
Chaitkin, Mn intertwined with the Franklin Credit Union defines the first level of 
national power that is threatened with exposure in the case. 

"A clique of freemasons-the chief executives of Union Pacific Railroad, Con .Agra, 
Peter Kiewit and Sons, Mutual of Omaha and the Omaha World Herald- served 
on Franklin's Advisory Board and conduited funds from their own firms and from 
the Boys Town orphanage into Franklin's accounts. 

"Union Pacific boss Michael Walsh, for example, was chairman of finance for Boys 
Town. The Union Pacific headquarters office in Omaha is reportedly completely 
gripped by homosexuality at the executive level. • 

Chaitkin pointed out that the foreman of the grand jury which indicted the 
sex-aime victims, Michael Flanagan, was himself employed in the legal 
department of Union Pacific-a company deeply involved in the Franklin case. 
The Bonacci suit charged that Flanagan "violated his Grand Jury duties by sharing 
Grand Jury information with -· lawyers and others he met with on a regular basis 
almost every day following Grand Jury proceedings at Union Pacific headquarters 
-· receiving advice and guidance from them on how to proceed in the Grand Jury 
proceedings and providing them information on the supposedly secret Grand 
Jury proceedings themselves." 

"Flanagan had," Chaitkin wrote, "not long prior to the grand jury sessions, himseH 
been accused of homosexual pandering directed at a young Union Pacific 
employee, and the company on his behalf had reached a settlement to silence the 
complaining young man.• 

In his Oct. 28, 1993 affidavit, Paul Bonacci stated: "The real activity I and Alisha 
and on occasion Troy Boner ... were engaged in was functioning as drug couriers 
and recruiters (of children] for Alan Baer and Lany King .... (They] were ... buying 
and selling large quantities of cocaine into the mid-west and using us as 'mules' 
(drug couriers) to obtain the goods from the various airports and get the drugs 

14 Anton Chaitlcin. FRANKLIN W17NESSES IMPUCA'IE FBI AND U.S. EUTES IN TOR1tJRE AND 
NURDER OF CIIJLI)REN, The New Fedmlist. 1993. 
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delivered back to Omaha. Other prominent and wealthy Omaha citizens were also 
involved in this. 

" ... [T) he sex activities we did and were paid so well for were just tools to 
blackmail or compromise or pay off some judge or businessman or policeman or 
politicians generally .•. here in Omaha or at Larry King's place in Washington or 
other places we went." 

Now-imprisoned Franklin Credit Union manager Larry King became infamous as 
the host of child-sex parties held in the seats of power, such as at Republican 
national conventions. DeCamp's book placed King in the middle of a "national 
and international organized aime syndicate, engaged in paedophilia, 
pornography, satanism, drugs, and money-laundering." 

Chaitkin wrote: "The use of these crimes to 'blackman or compromise or pay off' 
powerful men leads to extremely serious questions of national security." 

Larry King's prime Nebraska sponsor and accused sex aime associate, former 
World-Herald publisher Harold Andersen, was chairman of the World Press 
Freedom Committee which Chaitkin called "a front for the Oliver North 'Project 
Democracy' faction of the intelligence services, managing political power relations 
within Eastern Europe." 

Harold Andersen's reported best friend in Washington, D.C. was Nebraskan Robert 
Keith Gray, a shadowy power broker at the Hill and Knowlton political 
management finn. "Over many years, Gray and his associates in the intelligence 
community are said to have managed homosexual compromising operations to 
keep congressmen, judges, military officers, diplomats, and foreign leaders 'in 
line'," Chaitkin said. 

The Franklin Credit Union was (from all the evidence) among the savings 
institutions used for money-laundering by the CIA and others for Iran-Contra 
adventures. 

"This precisely defines where,'' Chaitldn said,"Omaha's Larry King showed up in 
Washington, D.C.-in the bizarre homosexual wing of the Republican Party, which 
managed financing and public relations for the Iran-Contra guns for drugs 
trading games." 

Paul Bonacci described in detail being dragged to Washington for use as a sex toy 
for Larry King's clients. Bonacci told investigators he was in one of the private 
White House tours for young male prostitutes conducted by lobbyist Craig 
Spence, a close political associate of Larry King in the cloak and dagger Contras 
enterprise. Spence turned up dead in a Boston hotel room in 1989, soon after his 
and King's "compromising" business was exposed in a Washington Times June 
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29, 1989 story, headlined: "Homosexual Prostitution Inquiry Ensnares VIPs with 
Reagan, Bush." 

In one instance detailed in The Franklin Cover-Up, Paul was taken by Lany King 
and others to a wooded area in California-identified after publication as the 
Bohemian Grove. There Paul and another boy were forced to perfonn unusual sex 
acts with and to consume parts of a child whom they had watched being 
murdered by the cultists. The body was to be disposed of by "the men with the 
hoods." A 11Snutr pornography film was made of these events; it was directed by a 
man the party had picked up in Las Vegas whom Paul identified as "Hunter 
Thompson"- the same name as a well-known author. 

At Offutt, and later at other military installations, Bonacci said this ring 
programmed him through torture, heavy drugging, and sexual degradation, 
instructing him in military arts of assassination. Bonacci's "personal knowledge in 
these realms," Chaitkin said, "can scarcely be accounted for other than by 
crediting the indictments he has made: 

Lany King, FBI agent Gerry Wall, Alan Baer, Harold Andersen, and former Omaha 
Police Chief Robert Wadman have all been reported as collaborators with this 
Satanic military-based ring. King reportedly told Paul's captors at Offutt, "He's 
young-but you trained him good." A member of Nebraska's Concerned Parents 
group reported hearing from two North Omaha witnesses that "King used to send 
limousines down to Offutt Air Base to pick up CIA agents for parties." 

"Psychiatrists who have treated a growing number of MPD cases, victims of 
Satanic ritual abuse, report an alarm.ing pattern of findings in many of their child 
patients," Chaitkin wrote. "There is a structure to the personalities, confonning to 
what is evidently a deliberate breaking and reshaping of the mind." 

This phenomenon was identified to Paul Bonacci by his tormenters, and to other 
victims and witnesses, as the 'Monarch' project. At Offutt Airbase, Bonacci was 
told that what he and other children were being subjected to was in the interests 
of national security. 

"The use of mind-altering drugs, sensory deprivation, and other brainwashing 
techniques on U.S. citizens as subjects was the admitted practice of the CIA, 
certain military arms and private institutions joined in the MK-ULTRA, Artichoke, 
and Bluebird projects beginning in the early 1950s. A national security pretext 
often cited was the need to keep up with the Soviets in the race to develop a 
workable Manchurian Candidate human robot," Chaitkin wrote. "With the 
'Monarch' project, the idea is extended to the production of a horde of children in 
whom the soul is crushed, who would spy, whore, kill, and commit suicide. 

"Professionals probing the child victims of "Monarch" say there are clearly two 
respo:u;ible elements at work: the government/military, and cooperating satanic 
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(or more exactly pagan) cults. These are multi-generation groups, where parents 
donate their own children--who are proudly called "bloodline" or simply "blood .. 
cultists-to be smashed with drugs and electric shock, and shaped., .. Chaitkin 
wrote ... Other children are kidnapped and sold into this hell, or are brought in 
gradually through day-care situations. 

"Paul Bonacci and other child victims have given evidence in great depth on the 
central role of U.. Col. Michael Aquino in this depravity," Chaitkin wrote. 11Aquino, 
alleged to have recently retired from an active military role, was long the leader of 
an Anny psychological warfare section which drew on his "expertise" and 
personal practices in brainwashing, Satanism, Nazism, homosexual paedophilia 
and murder." 

"A fonner director of the CIA (one assumes this was William Colby) was asked 
directly, 'what about Monarch?' He replied angrily, and ambiguously, We 
stopped that between the late 1960s and the early 1970s.' If a statement of fact, 
this would presumably relate to official participation of the CIA," Chaitkin said. 

The disclosures of Paul Bonacc~ which jibe with reports of MPD professionals in 
other cases, point to several peculiar artificially induced memories common to 
many Monarch victimized children. Chaitkin said that a number of the victims 
were recovering "memories of tonnenters dressed as space aliens or Mickey 
Mouse or in Wtzard of Oz costumes. 

"There are said to be such other personality levels as Master Programmer, Black 
Master, and different mental levels of backup programs," Chaitkin said. "There are 
reported to be personnel who have large numbers of child-victims' assignments 
and triggers neatly filed in their little computers. " 

Paul Bonacci reported the following "Monarch"-related activities, often involving 
his "Commander" at Offutt AFB, Bill Plemmons, and Ll Col. Michael Aquino: 

---Picking up cash in exchange for drugs at various Tennessee 
locations identifying several country music personalities as his 
contacts. 

--Trips on behalf of the North American Man-Boy Love Association 
(NAMBLA), the paedophile group now given semi-official status by 
the United Nations. Bonacci cited travel to Netherlands and Gennany 
carrying child pornography for subsequent "import" to the U.S.A. to 
avoid prosecution. In Amsterdam, he named •Charles Hester, .. and the 
British -r'ommie Carter: who had on computer a global list of child 
pornography users. NAMBLA was also cited for organizing auctions 
of children. 
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---Travel to Hawaii, New York, Washington (in connection with Craig 
Spence) to compromise public figures by performing homosexual 
pedophile sex with them. 

--The trip to California where the boy was ritually murdered, 
accompanied by "Monarch" contact, Mark Johnson of Denver, 
Colorado. 

--Travel to Mexico for the transportation of drugs, guns, and children. 
Paul was accompanied by the gangster-figure ~milio,• who 
otherwise diiected the kidnapping of Johnny Gosch of Des Moines, 
Iowa. Johnny Gosch's parents commend Paul Bonacci as an accurate 
witness mlative to that crime. 

-Training under •captain Fostet' (survival skills) at Fort Riley 
Kansas, under -r.t. Dave Banniste~ (intelligence) at Fort Bragg, North 
Carolina, under -col Hanis I.iviJtl' at Fort Defiance, Virginia, who is 
said to run a military school and to have housed "Monarch• boys. 
-col. Bill Rishet' of Bamberg, South Carolina is said to have supplied 
children for Michael Aquino. 

--Travel to Dmsden in communist East Germany, where weapons 
were inspected. There and in the Federal Republic of Geiii18IlY, the 
"Monarch• personnel were frequently neo-Nazis. This area, Bonnaci 
said, was a special project of Lt. Col. Aquino, who was a West 
European adviser to the U.S. Chiefs of Staff. Bonacci had extensive 
experience in the Aryan Nation and other White Supremacist cults. 

Bonacci told the story of the teenaged concentration camp inmate allegedly 
named Greenbaum, who had participated with the Nazis, to save himself, came to 
the United States under Project Paperclip, the secret and illegal importation of 
Nazi war criminals by the U.S. intelligence agencies. Known later as "Dr. Green," 
Bonacci said he became a high-level mind controller, and, according to Bonacci is 
widely represented today in mind control programs which have a distinctive 
magic theme. 

Precise details of all these horrors lie deeply buried in national security archives, 
perhaps. But this history, as told to psychiatrists, dovetails with what is 
definitively known about Anglo-American intelligence operations and the German 
Nazis. 

The killers in the Nazi camps were themselves trained and organized by 
psychiatrists and eugenicists, operating from the "T 4" bureau. These psychiatrists 
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had long been the pets of white supremacist British and American financier 
networks. 

"At least some of these Nazi doctors were spirited out of Germany under the 
supervision of fonner Bank of England Governor Montagu Nonnan and Tavistock 
Institute Director John R. Rees on behalf of the British government," Chaitkin 
wrote. "Nonnan, had been chief of a prewar pro-Nazi faction within England, and 
Rees, organized postwar propaganda and continuing psychological warfare 
activities, and created 'Orwellian' groupings within U.S. psychiatry and mental 
health fields." 

Much of this criminal history comes together in the person of Robert A. Lovett 
(1895-1986). Robert Lovett and his closest associates have run the state of 
Nebraska during much of this century. 

Lovett was the chief executive of the Harriman-owned and Omaha-based Union 
Pacific railroad, as his father had been. Robert Lovett was a partner in the Brown 
Brothers Harriman international banking finn, with Averell Harriman and 
Prescott Bush, father of President George Bush. Chaitkin wrote: "Montagu 
Norman arranged many of the intrigues on behalf of Hitler and the Nazi Party 
through the Harriman, Lovett, Bush finn, in which Nonnan himself had been a 
hereditary partner." 

Under President Truman, Robert Lovett chaired the Lovett Committee, which 
made the decision that the U.S. should have a central intelligence agency modeled 
on the British Intelligence Service. Lovett was Secretary of Defense in 1951-53; 
his attorney, Allen Dulles, then took over the CIA. 

"Lovett, Harriman, the Bush family, and a very select group of their 
associates--owners of drug and defense multinationals, many from Yale's Skull & 
Bones Society-maintained homes on Jupiter Island, off Hobe Sound north of 
Palm Beach, Florida. Jupiter Island is the headquarters for the so-called Utopian 
faction in military strategy, the heavy Anglophiles, as opposed to the 
Traditionalists typified by Douglas MacArthur," Chaitkin wrote. 

Troy Boner, a witness in the Franklin Credit Union case, swore out a new affidavit 
on October 27, 1993. In that affidavit Boner said: 

.. . I, my mother and family, are exhausted from living in fear of death 
or injury as a result of ... the Franklin matteiS .... I lied at the Grand 
Jury hearings and I lied at the Alisba Owen trial .... I lied because I 
truly believed and still do believe that it was a situation where I must 
either "lie or die," and at the insistence primarily of the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation officials ... Mr. (Mickey] Mott and Mr. (Rick] 
Culver .... What I told Gary Caradori in the original taped interviews 
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In my first contact with the F.B.I., [they) ... made it clear to me that ... 
(they] were only interested in disproving everything I bad told them. 
They (took) the position that ... "if you will tell us you are lying then 
we will. let you off the hook but if you insist on sticking with the story 
you told Caradori then we will stick you in prison ... for twenty years 
each on a lot of diffemnt charges of pexjury. If you insist on sticking 
with your story, you will go down." 

... The F.B.I. in conjunction with my new attorney, Marc Delman ... 
(made me] say that the truth was a lie and the lies they wanted to 
tell me wem the truth. ... I told tbe Grand Jury what the F.B.I. and 
Delman wanted me to tell the Grand Jury which is that the story to 
Gary Caradori was a~· But, as stated, the exact opposite is true. 

(Then) ... Gary Caradori was killed. I have no proof but (since] I ... 
believe( d) he was deliberately killed ... as part of a cover-up and as a 
result of my lies to the Grand Jury, I immediately called his home ... 
(and) spoke to his wife Sandy[. 1} ... told her ... that what I told Gary 
was the truth and that I only lied (to the Grand Jury) out of fear that 
the F.B.I. and others .. would hurt me or my family and [bad] 
promised me they would put me in jail if I did not say what (they] ... 
wanted me to say .... 

I also met Senator Bemieoe Labedz at the Caradori funeral and 
agmed I would meet her and Senator Schmit for lunch immediately 
following the funeral Ito] ... go over my alleged -recantation' and ... 
tell her and the Committee all the facts. At the funeral. however, the 
F.B.I. agents ... made it clear to me tbru their actions that they knew 
what I was up to and gave me the clear impression that I was in 
•great danger" if I went ahead and met with the Legislative 
Committee and tried to tell them the truth. So ... I told my mother ... 
that ... I was going to stick with my lies to the Grand Jury .... 

{Later,} Marc Delman and Mickey Matt saw Senator Schmit say on 
T.V. that I had been in his, Schmit's office, and my -recantation" had 
been false .... Even though Marc Delman knew I had been at Schmit's 
office and that what Schmit was saying was the truth. he ... asked me 
whether the conversation bad been taped or whether them was any 
other record of my having been in Schmit's office to talk to Schmit. I 
told Delman there was no tape or any other mcord .... 

(O]n Delman's instructions I publicly lied and denied any meeting or 
discussion with Senator Schmit and Delman (did too] .... Delman's 
exact words to me wem, "'t's your word against his ... as long as 
there aie no tapes." 
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Mickey Mott the F.B.I. man ... [then) ... said something I interpreted 
... to have been a direct and personal threat that later came to pass. 
When I told ... the F.B.I. people ... that Alan Baer and others 11COuld 
not afford• to do anything to hurt me now because too much publicity 
was focused on me ... Mott ... told me that they probably would not 
do anything directly to me, that instead "they will do something to a 
family member.•• And ... that is what happened shortly thereafter ... 
when the F.B.I. and ... Baer and others thought I might break away 
from them. ... 

I am completely certain ... that my brother Shawn was killed as a 
message to me ... not to ... tell the truth at the Alisha Owen trial. 
After Shawn got killed, I had no doubt at all ... that they would do 
anything and kill anybody to keep the truth contained and to keep me 
lying for them; and I complied with [their] every request .... 
Before the Alisha Owen trial I was carefully rehearsed by the F.B.I. as 
to what I would say .... 

(T]he F.B.I . ... had actual pictures ... in their possession including ... 
Alan Baer (1983 picture of he and me [at age 15 or 16) in very 
pornographic sexual acts) as well as checks from Alan Baer to me. So, 
they had to absolutely know I bad a relationship with him and that 
they were forcing me to lie when I denied such relationships (in 
court] ... [T]he F.B.I. had seized photos and tapes involving among 
others myself and ... and Larry King .... I know from having seen tapes 
at Peter Citron's house that the F.B.I. had access to tapes which 
clearly documented [what] I and the other kids had identified .... 
I know the ... F.B.I. and ... others ... will say lin reply): "You can't 

believe ... Troy Boner now. If be lied once, be will lie again. He's a 
drug addict. He's a sex pervert .... Besides, these kids were ... using 
the drugs and ... selling their bodies and ... getting paid well for it 
and they did it all voluntarily." 

... Yes, we kids, from early age, sold our bodies. We became drug 
addicts. We got lots and lots of money from these people. But today 
we are ruined because of that. And we were turned into sex perverts 
and drug addicts by these people .... Alan Baer ... was the one who 
first taught me to mainline and who first ... injected heroin directly 
into my veins--same as he did to a lot of other boys. He .. . made me a 
prisoner of drug addiction to ... completely control me and use me to 
deliver drugs or deliver sex or anything else .... Alan Baer ... first 
injected me with a •speed ball," ... a heroin/ cocaine mix that zips you 
up ... but brings you down mellow .... 
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Marc Delman ... claimed that I had not met with Senator Schmit to tell 
the truth and I followed his instructions in denying it ... . This ... can 
be checked out. There were people who saw me with Schmit {and] 
with Senator Labedz . 

... I saw the picture the F.B.I. had of me and Alan Baer. Some official 
sure ought to be able to get this picture to prove who is lying--me or 
the F.B.I . 

... Lots of kids ... knew about Alan Baer, Lany King and the major 
drug dealing activity they and other prominent people were involved 
in. But, as long as they axe scared for their lives because of what 
happened to Alisha and me, they are not going to say anything .... 
(An] honest prosecutor (should] step in and offer immunity and 
protection to these kids .... 

... (A)sk me ... or any of the other kids ... to take ... lie detector ... tests 
side by side on the same questions with the people we are accusing of 
these things .... 

Researcher, writer, producer, Andy Boelun interviewed Paul Bonacci with 
Decamp's assistant Denise Meyer in 199365

• He corroborates the stories of the 
other Project Monarch victims. (Please note that Boelun as well as Chaitkin 
question whether "Monarch" is the true code name of the project.) 

Paul Bonacci encountered Michael Aquino at Offutt Air Force Base several times 
wearing an army unifonn. "Mainly it was on his trips to_. I think it was St. 
Louis," Bonacci said, "And cause he came here for a couple of different Satanic 
holidays." Bonacci said Aquino and other members of the Temple of Set dedicated 
a part of the Old Market in downtown St. Louis to Satan, walking around the area 
in street clothes, performing the ritual. 

"I encountered a lot of things that were with Monarch that were somewhere else," 
Bonacci said. "We went to different military bases. I went to Ft. Riley, Kansas. I 
went to the Prisidio out in California for some training ... a base in Colorado which 
is where they did a lot of the 'alien' training. What they would do is have a couple 
of ships that would look like alien ships, and they would drug you up. Cause I 
remember doing this to other kids. And they'd use some of the other kids and 
they would put them in unifonns and they would use LSD which would make you 
feel like you were already out of it anyway ... 

" ... They would be wearing uniforms and they would do little experiments. They 
would actually take little metal - they looked like implants - and they would let 
• Boehm. Andy, leti2r to the author dated Febnmy 6, 1994, with atb.ched rough tnnscript 
numbe~ pages 17-45 entitled: &moa:i on Nonarr:h and~ Cl993 Andv Boehm. Excerpted with 
pennission. 
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you see what they were doing. Some people would implant them, and then take 
them out. •. later on. I know some of them were locators. Because they wanted to 
know where the person was at all times. I mean they had this little thing. it was 
on the satellite and they could fmd that person. The reason they were doing that 
- I overheard some of them talking about it -- this sounds weird - as they had 
soldiers in action or something in different countries, that they would know 
where all their men were and they would know what the status of them was, 
whether they were living or dead, and they would be able, if they were dead, to 
find their body. So, that's why they were testing them. But on the kids they were 
using it to make sure they knew where they were ... " 

Boetun to Bonacci: "So aside from Aquino .•. did you see some •.. wherever you 
were with these Monarch activities.- (did you see) some of those people (who 
were) at the Satanic activities too?" 

"Some of them yes," Bonacci said. "The adults were wearing military unifonns 
when they were training us and so were we ... They kept everything at the base •.. 
but during most of the training we wore regular street clothes ... When we went 
through the 'alien' programming (we wore street clothes) •.. The reason that 
anybody could come out of Monarch (alive) was because they all would be talking 
about little green men." 

Giving some insight into the difficulties all Monarch victims have, Bonacci said," I 
remember when I first started talking . Everything was so jumbled up and that 
was their programming. Because people would try and get infonnation out of me 
and the codes that they would use to scramble everything was the very same 
thing people were asking me. They were asking me a question, (but) what they 
were doing is getting everything scrambled up." 

When Bohem asked Bonacci where he got the name Monarch, the young man 
said: "I got the name Monarch because Monarch was the name that was part of a 
code that was supposed to destroy all my memories of the Monarch activities .. .' 
(Another more fully recovered "Monarch" victim says that she doubts if Bonacci 
ever heard the word Monarch.) 

Bonacci explained that when the word Monarch was heard, it "almost started to 
erase everything I knew ... " But, that must not have been the entire code, just the 
name, because it would trigger enough of his (sic) multiple personalities so they'd 
start coming out in random order, telling everything_. " they thought this was 
deprogramming time, so it's time to start telling everything." But then, Bonacci 
said, the programmers weren't there to "pull them (the personalities) out one at a 
time , so it's like each one of them came out, as you know, in different orders •.. " 

Bonacci said that there were two groups of Project Monarch slaves. "Some were 
put into society," Bonacci said. '1'hey were the ones that went into entertairunent, 



233 W.H. Bowart 

and a lot of them were used for transporting drugs, which is the way they paid for 
the programming." They used the entertainment industry because they could 
input their messages for the future. "'f they wanted to start a revolution," Bonacci 
said," they'd put it right in the music and it would go out over the airwaves ... " 

It was not easy for Paul Bonacci to remember certain things. At the time of 
Boehm's interview with him he was still in intensive therapy and had not 
completely reintegrated his multiple personalities. 

Boehm asked how they went about planting things in his mind, things which he 
said would make him sound absurd if he told anyone about them. 

"They would play things - show things on a screen," Bonacci said. .,.hey would 
have that person sitting there and saying something, but you couldn't really tell 
what he was saying, yet you'd hear the words real plain, but it might not have 
been in his voice. Uke, he was talking, you could see that he was talking, but the 
words and the mouth didn't match, but you would put it together" like an actor 
speaking in a poorly dubbed foreign film. 

Bonacci said one part of the training was trying to get him to read other people's 
minds. "Everybody says I basically read their mind. They'd ask and I'd answer it 
for them before they got it oul The ones they used for that (extrasensory 
perception) were the ones they trained in satanism. They trained them as 
magicians because - this is going to sound even aazier - when they trained us 
we could actually do it, because there are spiritual forces and they do teach you to 
control - how to get demons to do stuff for you. I can't say controL because those 
demons are going to tum on you someday. But having your own demons that 
would do il They would be the ones that would do il .• " 

"So," Boehm said, "You were instructed in that sort of context._ not that it was a 
physical force from ah-." 

"Yourself," Bonacci said. 

"But, it's actually like a little spiritual," Boehm said. "'t's spiritual rather than 
scientific._" 

"Yes." 

'Was it always on the negative side," Boehm asked. 'Was it a demon rather than 
God or an angel or a fairy?" 

"'twas always on the demonic side," Bonacci said, "because that's the only ones 
that you could work with. And if somebody asked you, you never told them about 
the demonic stuff ... It was always: You're in control. You can do il'" 
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Bonacci went on describing what sounded like a bad acid trip. "I was able to do a 
lot of things ... Such as, at the time, which I can't do now because I don't have 
demons under my controL I don't want them. But turning on TV's, turning off 
lights, blowing things up, like light bulbs or something ... We could make tires go 
flat on people's cars, and we could make them so they couldn't start. •. this is stuff 
that I did after I was away from them." 

So, far it sounds like there's an army of zombies being trained from a very early 
age in Sat.anism, magic and certain skills of psychoscience. That was surprising 
enough, but it was infuriating to hear that at a very early age Bonacci was trained 
to hate black people. 

"They trained me to hate black people," Bonacci said. 

"The Aryan Nations did?" Boehm asked. 

"No. The government program. That's why I didn't like Larry King at all. I mean it 
was kind of like, to me, I hated him from the time I met him." 

Andy Boehm said, "Paul says a lot of outlandish things, but despite initial doubts, 
I now believe that everything he told me is either true, or he sincerely believes it 
to be true. 

"I've seen people like (fonner FBI bigwig) Ted Gunderson try to lead him into 
lying and try to test his tales with uncaptioned photos. Paul never comes out 
having uttered an intentional falsehood. 

"CBS lambasted him for having said that years earlier he had seen 
now-Omaha-Mayor P J. Morgan engaging in sex with little boys -- or more 
accurately, he said they were told he was P J. Morgan. The Mayor heatedly denied 
this in a CBS special about innocent folks wrongly accused of child abuse, " 
Boehm said. 

"Had CBS bothered to look more deeply into the case, they'd have noted that 
Mayor P J. Morgan used to have a son named P J. Morgan Junior. I say "used to 
have a son" because Morgan Jr.- a well known Omaha pederast- killed himself 
the day after the kiddie-sex aspects of the Franklin Scandal became public. Right 
name, right family, wrong guy (or maybe not; some say the Mayor himself has 
some unusual appetites)." 

Bonacci said his Monarch programming started when he was five and continued 
until he was 22. "Most of the people that they train were probably fairly young, 
probably 4 or 5 ... up until the time they were out of high school because as soon 
as you're out of high school their plan is for you to go into the military._" 
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One is advised to take Bonacci's testimony as that of a non-integrated MPD. Much 
of Bonacci's state of confusion might be an example of the adverse affects of 
"Christian" coWlSeling. The guilt bip laid on survivors by a belief system that 
places the blame for a mind control victim's behavior on themselves is not 
helpful. One should not be asked to identify with one's own behavior, unless one 
has made free choice of that behavior. Apparently the U.S. legal system would not 
agree. Such is the legal and judicial ignorance of the capability of mind controL 
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15 

FlNDERS,HlDNAPPERS,NA2JS 

According to a Customs Service memorandum66
, the CIA and FCIA (Foreign 

Counter Intelligence Agency a distinct and autonomous organization within the 
FBI ) were both involved in a mysterious group with behaviors similar to the one 
in Nebraska. Known as the Finders, CIA ownership of this organization was kept 
secret for seven years after local law enforcement uncovered its practice of child 
abduction, kiddie-porn, ritual abuse, and slavery. 

In early February 1987, an anonymous tip to the Tallahassee, F1orida police 
brought cops out like bloodhounds. The caller said two ''well dressed men" 
seemed to be "supervising" six disheveled and hungry children in a local park. The 
two men were identified as members of the Finders. They were charged with child 
abuse in Florida. In Washington, D.C., police and U.S. Customs Service agents 
raided a duplex apartment building and a warehouse connected to the group. 
Among the evidence seized were detailed instructions on obtaining children for 
unknown purposes. Several photos of nude children were found, one of which 
appeared "to accent the child's genitals.tt67 

The Customs agents determined that the children may have been enroute to 
Mexico from Washington, D.C. Customs had been contacted because police 
officers suspected the adults of being involved in Child pornography and they 
knew the Customs Service bad a network of child pornography investigators in 
their Child Pornography and Protections Unit 

When the Customs agents came on the scene, police had two well dressed white 
males, Douglas Edward Ammerman and James Michael Howell. The six children 
were identified with full names, but we shall use only first names since they are 
defmtely innocent The children were Mary, age 7; Max, age 6; Benjamin, age 4; 
HoneyBee, age 3; B.B~ age 2 and John Paul, age 2. All were taken into custody. 
• Customs Service memorandum, February 7, 1987, Customs coope1rdiorrinlerest in 
T~fJSNngton MPD di/d tlbuse irRslifl(llion, 12 pages. 
" Witkin, Gordon; Caly, Peter; Martinez, Ancel; T11roogha Glass, Vey Dartly- Cops, S,W And A 
Vey Odd JrllH!Siigaliqn, December Zl, 199l'January 3, 1994, U.S. News and World Report. page 30. 
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According to the Customs Memorandum: "The children were poorly dressed, 
bruised, dirty, and behaving like animals in a public park in Tallahassee" when 
they were taken into custody. The subjects were living in a white 1979 Dodge van 
with Vrrginia plates. "When taken into custody, the adult white males refused to 
cooperate." One of them produced a 'business' card with a name on one side and 
a statement on the other. The statement indicated that the bearer lmew his 
constitutional rights to remain silent and that he intended to do so. 

"Upon interviewing the children," the memorandum said, "the police officers 
found that they could not adequately identify themselves or their custodians. 
Further, they stated they were enroute to Mexico to attend a school for 'smart 
kids.'" The children were unaware of the function and purpose of telephones, 
televisions and toilets, the memorandum said. " •.• the children stated they were 
not allowed to live indoors and were only given food as a reward." One wonders 
for what? 

In the van, the Tallahassee police discovered large quantities of records, computer 
discs and a U.S. passport. From some of the records the police obtained 
identification of the two adults, and partial identification of the children. This led 
to search warrants of two Washington D.C. addresses owned by the Finders 
group. 

An infonnant gave the police information regarding a "cult" by that name, 
operating at various businesses, one of which was a "warehouse" for the children. 
"The information was specific in describing 'blood rituals' and sexual orgies 
involving children, and an as yet unsolved murder in which the Finders may be 
involved," the memorandum said. "With the information provided by the 
infonnant, Detectives were able to match some of the children in Tallahassee with 
the names of children alleged to be in the custody of the Finders," the 
memorandum said. 

"During the execution of the warrant at 3918/20 W. St., " the memorandum said, " 
I was able to observe and access the entire building. I saw large quantities of 
children's clothing and toys. The clothing consisting of diapers and clothes in the 
toddler to pre-school range. No children were found on the premises. There were 
several subjects on the premises. Only one was deemed to be connected with the 
Finders. Stuart Miles Silverstone was renting space to other tenants. He was 
located in a room equipped with several computers, printers, and numerous 
documents. 

"Cursory examination of the documents revealed detailed insbuctions for 
obtaining children for unspecified purposes. The instructions included the 
impregnation of female members of the community known as Finders, 
purchasing children, trading, and kidnapping. 
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"There were telex messages using MCI account numbers between a computer 
tenninal believed to be located in the same room, and others located across the 
country and in foreign locations. One such telex specifically ordered the purchase 
of two children in Hong Kong to be arranged through a contact in the Chinese 
Embassy there. Another telex expressed an interest in "bank secrecy" situations. 

"Other documents identified interests in high-tech transfers to the United 
Kingdom, numerous properties under the control of the Finders, a keen interest 
in terrorism, explosives, and the evasion of law enforcement Also found in the 
'computer room' was a detailed summary of the events surrounding the arrest 
and taking into custody of the two adults and six children in Tallahassee, Florida 
on the previous nighl There were also a set of instructions which appeared to be 
broadcast via a computer network which advised participants to move 'the 
children' and keep them moving through different jurisdictions and instructions 
on how to avoid police attention_." 

At the other Washington address, the customs agent writing the memo was again 
granted unlimited access to the premises. "' was able to observe numerous 
documents which described explicit sexual conduct between the members of the 
community known as F"mders. 

" I also saw a large collection of photographs of unidentified persons. Some of the 
photographs were nudes, believed to be of members of Finders. There were 
numerous photos of children, some nude, at least one of which was a photo of a 
child 'on display' and appearing to accent the child's genitals. I was only able to 
examine a very small amount of the photos at this time. however, one of the 
officers presented me with a photo album for my review. 

"The album contained a series of photos of adults and children dressed in white 
sheets participating in a 'blood ritual' The ritual centered around the execution of 
at least two goats. The photos portrayed the execution, disembowelment, 
skinning· and dismembennent of the goats at the hands of the children. This 
included the removal of the testes of a male goat, the discovery of a female goat's 
'womb' and the 'baby goats' inside the womb, and the presentation of a goats 
head to one of the children," the memo said. 

"Further inspection of the premises disclosed numerous files relating to activities 
of the organization in different parts of the world. Locations I observed are as 
follows: London, Germany, the Bahamas, Japan, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Africa, 
Costa Rica and 'Europe. There was also a file identified as 'Palestinian.' 

"Other ftles were identified by member name or 'project' name. The projects 
appearing to be operated for commercial purposes under front names for the 
Finders. There was one ftle entitled 'Pentagon Break-In,' and others which 
referred to members operating in foreign countries. 
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"Not observed by me but related by an officer, were intelligence ftles on private 
families not related to the Finders. The process undertaken appears to have been a 
systematic response to local newspaper advertisements for baby-sitters, tutors, 
etc. A member of the Finders would respond and gather as much infonnation as 
possible about the habits, identity, occupation, etc., of the family. The use to 
which this infonnation was to be put is still unknown. There was also a large 
amount of data collected on various child care organizations. 

"The warehouse contained a large library, two kitchens, a sauna, hot-tub, and a 
'video room.' The video room seemed to be set up as an indoctrination center. It 
also appeared that the organization had the capability to produce its own videos. 
There were what appeared to be training areas for children and what appeared to 
be an altar set up in a residential area of the warehouse. Many jars of urine and 
feces were located in this area. 

"' should also mention that both premises were equipped with satellite dish 
antennas." 

"U.S. Customs interests," the memo concludes, 11 now lie in the purpose behind 
the inquiries into bank secrecy laws, the type and purpose of high-tech transfers 
outside of the U.S., and the purpose of the organized procurement and smuggling 
of children across the U.S. international borders. The possibility still exists that 
the children are being smuggled for a primary or secondary purpose of producing 
child pornography. 

"Other agencies with interest may be the Internal Revenue Service, the 
Immigration and Naturalization Service, the Department of Conunerce, the 
Department of Defense, and the FBI. The FBI is already involved in the 
investigation of the transportation of the children already discovered across state 
lines as it pertains to the Mann Act. 11 

In an attached memo dated Aprill3, 1987 the cryptocracy's secret unraveled. 
Referring to the previous memo by date and description, Subject: "Finders", 
From: Special Agent, this memo reads: " I spoke to a third party who was willing 
to discuss the case with me on a strictly 'off the record' basis. I was advised that 
all the passport data had been turned over to the State Department for their 
investigation. The State Department in turn, advised Metropolitan Police 
Department that all travel and use of the passports by the holders of the passports 
was within the law and no action would be taken. This included travel to Moscow, 
North Korea, and North Vietnam from the late 1950's to mid 1970's. 

"The individual further advised me of circumstances which indicated that the 
investigation into the activity of the Finders had become a CIA internal matter. 
The Police report has been classified Secret and was not available for review. I was 
advised that the FBI had withdrawn from the investigation several weeks prior and 
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that the FBI Foreign Counter Intelligence Division had directed the police not to 
advise the FBI Washington Field Office of anything that had transpired. No further 
information will be available. No further action will be taken." 

An attached Chronology points out that "the CIA made one contact and admitted 
to owning the Finders organization as a front for a domestic computer training 
operation, but that it had 'gone bad.' CIA defers all further contacts to FCIA ( 
Foreign Counter Intelligence Agency). FCIA is distinct and autonomous 
organization within the FBI." 

The conclusion of the Chronology reads: "Children discovered in Tallahassee were 
eventually turned over to individuals claiming to be parents or guardians. No 
further MPD, FBI or Customs involvement. 

"As far as is known, no details of CIA or FCIA involvement ever became public," 
was the final line of the Customs report. 

As best we could determine the Finder's memo was "leaked" to former People 
magazine and ABC News correspondent Civia Tamarkin by a patriotic person or 
persons she will not name. Tamarkin is a long term investigator of the ritual 
abuse phenomenon. We telephoned her in Chicago and asked for her opinion on 
the documents. 

"The problem is the whole ritual abuse network is corrupted," Tamarkin said. "The 
survivors even have a forum on Prodigy. They're cross-pollinating and corrupting 
the information- maybe it's on purpose." 

"A lot of people in the mental health community would like to fit this all into a 
neat little package, and it doesn't. 

"If I get one more call from therapist who says "I have a Monarch patient," 
Tamarkin said. "There's no official evidence that Project Monarch exists. So, then 
you start pushing, 'How did you know it's called this. How do you know this 
term? You find out someone else gave them the term, and one told another and 
pretty soon it's the all-encompassing term for mind controL.'. 

"You gotta be real careful with this stuff. See, the minute any survivor has recall 
of torture of electroshock, sensory deprivation etcetera there's a tendency to leap 
on it and say, 'It's mind contro~ it's MKultra, Monarch and whatever.' The fact is 
that a lot of it is torture, as simple as that. It's used in the Greek military, the 
Latin American military •.• across the board, you name it. There's this tendency-­
the minute there's a disclosure about electroshock-- for therapists who say,' Ah 
ha! Mind control...' 
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"There were documents about a camp in New Hampshire, six documents. The CIA 
went out and looked for people who were doing the research that played into what 
they were looking into, and they funded il 

"There is a perponderance of survivors who claim to have a military background -
their parents do or whatever. I do not believe that all of them were victims of 
MKultra or some CIA program. 

"There was a recent study that came out showing the high rate of domestic abuse 
among military families. I think that's consistent" 

I said," Yeah, that's the fertile field that they fanned, I guess." 

"Exactly," Tamarkin said. "That's the fertile field. Along the same lines that there 
were quid pro quos with known molestors, lmown perpetrators. There was an 
attempt to deal with a subject group that had a trauma base ... 

"Hysteria factors into this," Tamarikin said. There's the tendency to generalize, 
and, of course, I've been fighting for years this cult stuff. I've heard 
weD-recognized, reputable therapists talk about the cult personality, the cult 
trying to get the swvivor back, the cull .• cult, cult when they should be talking 
about the perpetrators, offenders, sex rings whatever. It has become a catch-all. 

"'gave a speech in February (1994) and looked at this group and I asked them 
'what's a cult?' Let's count how many we can. You talking about Moonies, Hari 
Krishnas, whal •• ? · 

"The point is they use the cult term as a catch-all tenn. 

"Now, what about the Finder's documents?" I asked. 

"' had the finders documents for years," Tamarkin says. "' had them back in the 
1980's. Everyone jumps at this. 

"They don't say the CIA's involved," she said. "What they say is,~t we do know 
is that the Finders group was a CIA front as an information gathering 
organization.' 

"The fact that some of these kids may have been molested by members of the 
group who are living a communal lifestyle, and the fact that the investigation was 
scuttled and turned over to FBI counter-intelligence, does not mean anything. 
People who don't know how this operates have a tendency to lump it together and 
say, 'This is proof!' 

"AU it means is that an intelligence operation became vulnerable because 
members of this group may or may not have been acting irresponsibly and 
criminally with children. To whit- there was never any proof by the way. 
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"They covered it up to protect the intelligence end of it, which is not conclusive in 
any way. Intelligence communities -- law enforcement at any level use 
informants, have operatives ... and if those operatives go out on a limb, whether 
it's money laundering, whether it's pornography, whether its drug use -- you 
name it- you cover that up because you're protecting your sources. And that's 
what happened here." 

"But if we repeal the National Security Act the way we repealed the Volstead Act, 
then all of these secrets will come out, huh?" I said. 

"Yeah," Tamarkin said. "And all the informants will be known and there will be no 
plea bargaining any more and people are gonna get fair trials and there's going to 
have to be a 12 man jury system and the Bill of Rights will be in effect once 
again ... 

"How do you feel about that1" I ask her. 

(Laughs, as if you say, you must be kidding.) "You know what1 They should have 
done that years ago. This is a shadow government it's not surprising. And that's 
how this Finders thing has gotten so distorted. 

"'f you look at the customs agent report, it's not conclusive. I've studied it for 
years, I've dealt with the agent involved. .. " 

"There was no follow up on it?" I asked. 

"Well, they began looking at it again, back in January, 1993, because some of the 
legislators were making a big stink about it But nothing ever came of it" 

"Was the Finders a computer whiz kid kind of thing?' I asked. 

"Sure," she said. " They were involved in transferring money. Yes, but that doesn't 
mean they were involved in satanism ... " 

"Certainly looks like they were transporting little kids to Mexico," I said. 

"Well," Tamarkin said, "the group that was caught in F1orida alleged they were 
taking these kids on a field trip to Mexico. The two adults were members of the 
Finders group and they had CIA connections. But, again ... given the fact.. if one 
assumes that all that is factual and that they were in fact prostituting kids, or 
molesting them, it doesn't mean it was a CIA operation ... " 

I began to get the impression that Tamarkin was stretching things a long way in 
favor of the cryptoaacy. Maybe she somehow believed the National Security Act 
was a good thing? 
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"Let me ask you this the," I said. "Back in the 70's during the Vietnam war, there 
was a big ring smuggling heroin sewn up in the dead bodies of soldiers killed in 
the war. Three guys were brought to trial. A DOD guy showed up, flashed his ID, 
took the judge into chambers and said, 'In the interest of National Security you 
can't prosecute these guys.' The case was dismissed. Who was smuggling the 
heroin? The three guys or the cryptocracy?" 

"We do know," Tamarkin said, sticking to the official records, the crimes that had 
been uncovered and officially acknowledged," offshore activities that Congress 
had prohibited were being funded through heroin trafficking. We know that Now 
we knowthal 

"See, there's a whole lot of peres going down in the intelligence biz," she said. 

"Doesn't it look like the same black ops thing hanging over the Finders?" I asked. 

"No." she said, because we don't know if it was sanctioned by the CIA. We know 
the heroin trafficking was." 

Is this why nobody relies on the newsmedia to keep them up to date - by the time 
the ayptocracy confesses, the crime has been over for twenty years? Is this an 
example of 'playing it safe journalism' or is Tamarkin an asset of the Mossad, as 
the conspiracy underground whispers? (Why the Mossad? Why not Turkish 
intelligence?) Or is Tamarkin trying to stay in good with the ayptocrats so they'll 
throw her a bone now and then? Or was she merely conditioned by media peer 
pressure --pressure from her peers to not dare use common sense? Pressure from 
peers in a profession that is, by a fonner CIA Director's candid admission, 
thoroughly co-opted? 

What kind of counb)' has this one become? What kind of world? What evil infests 
the land which allows innocents to be corrupted in the cradle? What evil seeks 
children to torture? What civilization abandons its children, gives them drugs, 
shocks them, hypnotizes them and harbors sexual assault upon them by their 
family, their clergy and representatives of their government? 

And what kind of people in what kind of institutions are these which encourage 
such perversions, as if the success of the system depends on providing for sexual 
deviates? What agency protects the paedophiles, the small-clicked sadists, the 
satanists, and blood sacificers who can then be controlled through their carnal 
desires by the invisible hand of blaclanail? 

It is a world in which the most decadent and barbaric Romans would feel at 
home? It is a world in which the Nazis are at home? It is the Fourth Reich by 
design of the conquering heroes of World War Two? Did the victors, the Allies, 
become the enemy they fought? Breeding children in a l...ebensbom program, or 
simply to sell as child staves to paedophiles? 
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It didn't take long to discover more about Silverstone: 

Silverstone turned out to be a recognized expert on desktop publishing and 
graphics, who had written for leading computer magazines on a regular basis. He 
also worked as a writer for one of the national news services and in his capacity as 
a computer whiz, he worked for both the White House and the Pentagon. His 
main area of expertise was war rooms, which is what the Pentagon hired him to 
consult on. He traveled to Russia and wrote articles about that country's use of 
computer teclmology. 

Silverstone was a colleague of Nicholas Negroponte, who runs the ARPA-funded 
Media Lab at MIT. He studied architecture at MIT and taught there for a while. He 
had his own key to the most secure areas of the Media Lab and he would take 
friends there at night He is a student of futurism, practices meditation, and uses 
one of the more expensive online services to access Internet Once he confessed , 
jokingly, that he worked for the "DIA", which he said was a ludicrous organization 
called "Dim Idiots &sociation." Still he did know war rooms and he did have the 
keys to this defense contractors's most secure areas. 

The Finders had communal houses in Los Angeles, San Francisco, Albany and a 
nwnber of other U.S. cities. In Washington, D.C. they kept two houses. The 
Finders travel internationally to hot spots around the globe. The profile of their 
leading members fits well the silhouette of an intelligence asset 

A person once close to the organization told us that the Finders have several 
people "affiliated" with them who are writers who "function like a loose-knit 
intelligence agency." They travel to such "hot spots" as Japan, China and Russia_ 

The Finders are allegedly funded by the earnings of their members and by 
"donations". Members can often be found working in "service" jobs. They work as 
carpenters, clerks, resarchers, and in Washington a number of them worked for 
the Ubrary of Congress, congressional offices, and in corporate offices. 

Their leader, Marion Pettie, was thought of as a guru by devoted members who 
called him '1'he Student," "The Stroller," "The Game Caller" or '1'he Pathfiner" and 
believed that when Pettie lectured them at their Washington house about the 
"New Age way of living" and Eastern Mysticism, he could peer into their souls.68 

A series of interviews conducted by John Mintz and Marc Fisher of The 
Washington Post revealed that the origanization was completely dominated by the 
(then) 66-year-old Pettie who lives on a large fann in Vuginia_ 

Pettie was an Air Force master sergeant who retired in 1956 and bought extensive 
woodland property in rural Madison County, Va. He started the Finders in the late 
1960s as a communal experiment which was supposed to look " characteristic of 

• RELJGJON UNUSUAL CHIWREN ABlJSE, San Jose Mercury New, Feb. 9, 1987. 
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the period." The Washington Post said "he sought intelligent, well-educated people 
who could discuss the latest thought in philosophy, psychology and human 
development" 

Since I wrote this I obtained a complete set of the Finder's documents, just as 
they appeared in the original, with all the names includecl Publishing the names 
of the investigating officers might bring hann to them, or some other innocent 
parties. If you are an avid researcher, your own so:misdflt network will tum up 
photocopies of the originals, then you too will know all the names. 

With the complete set of docwnents was the following introduction, which I will 
excerpt 

For many years there has been rumors and hearsay comments by 
individual law enforcemem officers that a certain U.S. government 
intelligence agency was kidnapping children and using them as sex 
toys to entrap, blackmail and manipulate politicians, diplomats and 
other officials. Up until now there has been no clearcut, iirefutable 
evidence available to the public. But now, finally the public bas 
•smoking gun• evidence of paedopbile kidnapping /abuse rings 
operated by a U.S. government intelligence agency. 

These official U.S. customs investigation reports are irrefutable 
evidence of: 

1. A case of obvious child neglect/abuse involving child paedophile 
sexual abuse/child pornography/satanic cult ritualistic abuse 
wherein the perpetrators were caught directly in the act by law 
enforcement, anested on the basis of irrefutable evidence at the 
scene, and faced serious charges which typically bring sentences 
of decades in prison. 

2. Whereas, search warrants were obtained for the "Finders• cult 
office in Washington, D.C. and a complete search was enacted by 
law enforcement which provided iirefutable pictures, movies and 
documents of such above abuse/neglect and evidence of access to 
the confidential anest reports on the "Finders" cult from the 
arrests in Tallahasee which occuned only a day earlier 
(suggesting very high level connections to U.S. intelligence 
agencies in and of itself). 

3. Whereas, all investigation of the 'finders• cult by the FBI, U.S. 
Customs and local law enforcement was ordered stopped by the 
U.S. Justice Department on grounds of 'National Security' and the 
matter of the "Finders" cult was tumed over to the Central 
Intelligence Agency as an 'Internal Security Matter, • since the 
"Finders' is and has been a domestic and international covert 
operation of the Central Intelligence Agency. 



Operation Mind Control 246 

4 . Whereas any and all investigation of the "Finders" cult was 
immediately stopped, all evidence was suppressed and denied, 
the abused child victims were released back to the adult 
perpetrators who had been arrested "in the act' and the CIA 
resumed its ongoing covert operation of the Tinders" cult which is 
used to procure and produce: 

The development of child/assets to be used to entrap 
politicians, diplomats; and corporate, and law enforcement 
officials; to sell such child/victims to wealthy perverts to raise 
money for covert operations, to train some of the child/victims 
to be professional operatives and assassins of a totally cold, 
multiple personality, mind-controlled nature. 

This most disgusting perversion perpetrated by our government 
needs to be exposed. To date only one media outlet has dared 
publish anything about this (U.S. News). 

Please, make copies of this packet, give it to aD your friends, 
associates and neighbors. Send it to your local media and demand 
investigation and coverage. Send it to all your congressmen, senators 
and state and local politicians and demand investigation. Give a copy 
to your local police chief and any police officers or government 
officials you know. Make a minimum of five copies and much more if 
you can afford it. This information can be distributed as a "chain 
letter" and can create massive exposure, thus posing a major force to 
manipulate the CIA to stop the perpetration of these major felony and 
capitol criminal acts of the most disgusting variety. 

In the last few years there have been other •smoking guns" proving 
that U.S. Intelligence agencies traffic in Children, sell them and 
abuse them. Some of these covert operations have been tied to long 
term and massive importation, distribution of narcotics into the USA 
by the same intelligence agencies. 

Write and demand that your Congressman and Senators repeal the 
National Security Act and destroy the use of the false cloak of 
'national securtw-, which is frequently and habitually used as a 
means of covering up the most serious Rico type criminal acts 
imaginable by U.S. Intelligence agencies and our U.S. Justice 
Department. 
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MAY THE FORCE BE WITH US! 

The first evidence of the use of hypnosis as a reliable operational tool of the 
ayptocracy, according to John Marks,69 can be found in the work of Morse Allen 
in 1954. Of course hypnosis itself had been used by shamans and fakirs to 
manipulate and control people for centuries. Marks explains that Allen's work 
came at the height of the Project ARTICHOKE explorations in which the spooks 
attempted to use hypnosis to "programme" an assassin. CIA documents also 
reveal that in 1959 John Gittinger recommended the use of hypnosis in 
operational experiments. ( Of course our latest evidence shows that Navy 
Intelligence had been using mind control in the 1940's, at leasl) 

The CIA files contain a translation of a Soviet research project entitled 
Unperceived Manifestations of Mental Processes in Deep Hgpnosis10 which 
described the success of their psychoscientists: "We succeeded in programming 
not only the subject of dreams (I would like to visit Africa in my dream...), but to 
program color perception (let my dream be blue .•. ), as well as inducing a specific 
mood after sleeping," 

The CIA's active interest in the use of posthypnotic suggestions is further 
evidenced in their October 1966 - confidential Technical Report - Hypnosis in 
lnJeUigence11

• The report states: "Most of the proposed uses of hypnosis in 
intelligence work, particularly the defensive applications, involve posthypnotic 
suggestions." They discovered that; "conservatively, a posthypnotic suggestion is 
believed to remain effective for several months, and beyond this, for years, if 
periodically reinforced.72

" The CIA paid equal attention to self-hypnosis and 
autosuggestion. Of course, one can suspect anything found in any CIA document 
obtained under the FOIA The emphasis on these relatively harmless forms of 
hypnosis is probably just part of the "cover story" planted in the mes for persistent 
researchers to discover. We know from the scientific literature that hypnosis can 

" Maries, John, The Search for the Manc:lvrian Cmvlillt*, Times Books, 1979. 
" V l.. Raykov, Unperceived MtmifeslaJions of Menlill Proasses in Deep HJ/11110$is, Moscow Voprosy 
Filosofii in Russian No. 4, 1978 pp 107-114. (Article by Vl.. Raykov) Translated for the CIA's ~Officia1 Use 
Only." 
n HYPNOSIS IN INrelllGENCE - TECHNICAL REPORT (Confidential - CIA), October 1966. 
" ibid 
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be used to cause "spontaneous" death, through manipulation of the histamines in 
the body, control of the respiration (induction of severe astlunatic attacks), and 
the control of other involuntary functions by post-hypnotic suggestion. 

Of course any technology can be applied to hann a person as well as help a 
person. Whatever can kill can also cure. 

In the 1970's, Jotm Grinder stood on one side of the stage and said, "There is no 
such thing as hypnosis." 

Richard Sandler stood on the other side of the stage and said, "Everything is 
hypnosis." 

Grinder and Sandler, the creators ofNeuroLinguistics Programming, were both 
correct in what they said. 

Hypnosis is a nonnal, everyday process. We all go in and out of "trance" several 
times every day. It's so ordinary, so much a nonnal part of our life, it doesn't 
deserve to be isolated from the rest of our everyday mental processes and given a 
special name. Hypnosis is not sleep, but hypnosis has something in common with 
sleep - in both states one accesses one's "unconscious" or "subconscious" mind. 
If hypnosis (and NLP) is anything it is the art ofaddressing the unconscious 
mind. 

Go along with me for a momenl 

Remember a time when you wore a costume. It could hllve been to a Halloween 
party or some costume ball or in a play. See yourself in that costume? Now, what 
would you do, if you were going to wear the same costume today? How would 
gou improve it? See yourself in the new improved costume. 

If you were really letting my words guide, you were looking into your mind's eye 
imagining what you must have looked like in the past in some particular costume_ 
Maybe you remember a photograph of yourseH in the costume and you were 
looking at that in your mind's eye. At first you were accessing the remember part 
of your visual filing system. Then, when you decided you'd improve it for today, 
you were accessing a different part of your mind's eye, where you keep the 
creative visual deparbnenl In any event what you were doing is the same thing 
people have done since the days of Anton Mesmer (the inventor of mesmerism), 
or way back, in the days of the prehistoric shamans. You were enjoying the use of 
your "trance" state. 

You were dissociated from your surroundings moment:arily and looking within­
seeing with your "minds eye." You had put yourself into a "hypnotic trance." You 
might just as well call it "creative visualization." It's a very useful too~ well known 
to actors and athletes. 

Go along with me again 
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Stand up where you are. (I'm assuming you have enough room to swivel your 
body from the hips.) Tum around (to your right or to your left, it matters not) 
and go as far around as you can with your arm extended and your finger 
pointing. When you've gone as far around as you can go, site down your arm 
and make a note og something which your linger is pointing o1 as a marker. 

Now come back around to the front. Take a deep breath, then exhale. Close your 
eyes alter you've finished reading this, and in your minds eye, without moving 
your body, imagine yourself turning around again, the same way you did before, 
only this time you go far, far beyond where you'd gone before. Now see yourseU 
coming back to the front. ()pen your eyes. Take another deep breath Now, when 
you feel like it, tum around again and see how far you can go. 

Your results prove the value of the trance state. And if that doesn't do it, read 
Inner Tennis and Inner Skiing and anything about the Feldenkreis teclmique. 

I learned about the power of "creative visualization" in Anthony Robbin's NLP 
class, and had it reinforced when I interviewed a skyscraper climber, 22-year-old 
Dan Goodwin13 who climbed the 102-story Jotm Hancock building in Chicago. 

Goodwin told me that he sat down beneath the building a few days before he 
climbed it, visualizing every inch of the climb. "When I planned the climb, long 
before_. whenever I visualized the building in my mind's eye, I saw water coming 
down it," Goodwin said. 

The day of the climb Goodwin wore a wet suit instead of the Spiderman suit he 
usually wore. On the 37th floor he found out why he'd worn the wetsuit when an 
ax shattered the window near him and overzealous firemen tried to knock him off 
the building by spraying him with a powerlu1 jet of water from a firehose high 
above. 

"They were trying to kill me," Goodwin said. "The Chicago Fire Department 
wanted to knock me. off the building! 

"As if a torch had been lit beneath me, I burst into a ball of detennined energy, 
climbing at a rate that would surely have broken the speed records," Goodwin 
said. "The higher I rose, the stronger the water pressure grew. The frequency of 
the broken glass and flying axes increased ... " 

In the end Goodwin negotiated a settlement with the City of Chicago. Charges 
were dropped in exchange for some autographed photos of the mayor shaking 
hands with Goodwin. 

"'don't think I'd have made it if I wasn't wearing the wet suil And I wouldn't 
have been wearing the wetsuit unless I'd seen myself climbing that building 
soaking wel" 

Polm Springs Life, July 1985. 
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Such is the power of the human unconscious, and the usefulness of 
"visualizations''. 

Here are a couple of exercises that will prove that 1. people are accessible to you 
and 2. you too can be a "hypnotist," and use the "language of the unconscious" to 
get what you want, no matter what it is. 

Tony Robbins told me this one, and you might want to adapt it to your own 
situation. 

Tony went to lunch with a couple of men he wanted to invest in one of his 
businesses. He was explaining to them that NLP worked and that it was a tool of 
communication that would eventually be included in our culture from 
kindergarten, through family upbringing, military training and so on. 

At some point he realized that no amowtt of logical explanation would get these 
guys to understand and believe in what he was trying to tell them. Both his 
companion's attention had been captured by an attractive bnmette who entered 
the restaurant Following her lunch date, the woman walked past their table to be 
seated against the opposite wall of the dining room. She sat facing away from 
Tony but still within his view, and behind his two prospective investors. 

Mter Tony realized it would take too much time to educate his prospective 
investors, he remembered the language of the wtconconscious and decided to 
apply it to achieve his outcome. 

"See that attractive bnmette over there?" he said, gesturing toward the woman. 

Both men turned around and looked at her. 

"'f, without saying a word to her, or leaving my chair," Tony said," I get her to 
come over here and introduce herself to me, will you invest in the business?" 

Both men agreed that it would be impossible for him to do that, but reluctantly 
they agreed they would invest if in fact he could make that happen. 

So Tony went to work. He matched the woman's physiology- sat the way she 
was sitting, gestured the way she was gesturing and most importantly he matched 
her breathing pattern. He could do this easily because she was in his line of sight 
The two prospective investors couldn't see the woman and didn't lmow what 
Tony Wa.s doing. 

At one point, when Tony had established a perfect match of the brunette's 
physiology and breathing, she did as most people do, unconsciously (or 
otherwise), she "felt'' something that made her tum around and look at Tony, 
whereupon he gave a wave of his hand, the familiar gesture that says "come on 
over." 
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All this time, Tony was making small talk with the two prospective investors and 
enjoying his lunch. They did not notice anything unusual about his behavior. He 
kept talking about NLP, his business idea, and their investing in the company. 

When the brunette's date got up to pay the check, and she was following him out 
of the restaurant, she passed Robbins' table, stopped and said to him; "My name is 
Sue Smith. Don't I know you?" 

Tony and Sue had an instant rapport. They exchanged phone numbers ( Tony was 
single at the time), and the two men invested in his company. 

Vary this story any way you want, but tJy it yourself. And if you don't understand 
what I've written hel'ey since it's easier to see it and tJy it than it is to talk about it, 
take Tony's class or my class or any NLP class and you'll learn how to "mirror and 
match." 

Or, perhaps you'd prefer to prove the power of your ability to communicate with 
others through the "language of the unconscious" this way. 

How to get a table in a crowded restaurant without hilving to wait (without 
bribery): 

Approach the person in charge of the waiting list Notice some attractive visual to 
which the list keeper is insensitive, something he or she has been looking at for 
days or weeks and doesn't notice anymore, something which, when it was new, 
he or she liked to look at -- maybe a grouping of artificial flowers, a new wallpaper, 
a tablecloth, the cover of a menu. Say," My, that's a good looking " 

Follow this by noticing some sound, like the high pitched whine of a bearing 
going out on the ventilation system. Say, "You know that bearing sounds like it 
needs oil." 

And then immediately take notice of an aroma, say - ribs being bar-b-qued over 
a mesquite grill. The list taker smells it night after night and so has become 
consciously desensitized to it, as he or she has become desensitized to the sound 
of the bearing and the sight of the tablecloth. (The subconscious is alert even 
when the conscious mind is asleep.) Say," That bar-b-que sure smells good." 

Follow these validations (feedback to the sensory awareness of a sight, a sound 
and a smell) of unconscious input with a positively worded suggestions," and, 
since I have to get back to th£ hospital as there are patients depending upon me, 
you will put my name at the head of your list and call out (insert your name)." 

Then follow up with a totally irrelevant question such as, "Did it rain here last 
night?" 

The listkeeper' s subconscious reacts this way: "Yeah that tablecloth is pretty. He 
was right about that I was aware of that all the time ... And, yeah, I did hear that 
squeaking bearing and lmow it needed oil. .. And, he's right again. I do think the 
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ribs smelled delicious on the bar-b-que ... This guy's right about all three of these 
sensory inputs of mine, so he must be right when he tells me that I will put his 
name at the head of the list. • 

But he or she doesn't remember thinking thal He or she doesn't remember your 
saying anything because he or she is trying to remember if it rained last nighl In 
effect he or she has amnesia to the embedded command (Jiou will put my name 
at the head of the list and call out (your name.)) 

The unconscious mind is like a big dumb machine. It goes where you direct it to 
go and once it gets going it keeps going off in the direction you've pointed il 

Then you've walked away from the listkeeper. A moment goes by until the 
listkeeper sees an open table which can accommodate your party and, even 
though it's against the boss' orders to put anybody at the head of the list, the 
listkeeper finds herself or himself o11ing your name, not knowing why be or she 
unconsciously did il 

These are simple and safe forms of "hypnosis" you can try just for fun. They 
should prove to you, beyond doubt, that there's untapped power in learning the 
"language of the unconscious." 

The CIA has a school for training its agents in these techniques of 
communication. And so does the DIA. It's time everybody learned the language of 
the unconscious. 

What follows are categories of behavior that occur in trance74: 

Dissociation- Known in waking states as "reverie" or "daydreaming". 

Caltl/epsy - A state characterized by uncommon muscular rigidity. 

Amnesia- A common phenomenon in everyday life. Like the times when you've 
had a word on the ''tip of your tongue" but can't remember il 

.Aneslhl!sia - Related to amnesia, the subject dissociates from feeling in parts of 
the body. 

Age Regression - Reliving or revivifying the past in a present context is yet 
another form of dissociation. 

Negative and Positive Hallucinations - Negative Hallucination refers to the 
trance subject's ability to delete sensory information at the hypnotist's 
suggestion. Positive Hallucination is the experience of stimuli that are not 
presenl 

,. Lankton, Steve, Prrx:ticoJ Magic, A 1'rrmsllllion of Basic NIUTO-Linguislic Programming into 
CJiniali ~~ Meta Pubtications, Box 565, Cupertino, Ca. 95015, 1980. 
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Ideomotor Activity- This refers to the involuntary capacity of the muscles and 
nervous system to respond to external stimuli. This is useful in enhancing 
suggestibility. 

Hypermnesia or Memory Recall- In deep trance people can recall events from 
their past in much greater detail than while in a "normal" waking state. 

Time Disorientation or PseudcrOrientatian in Time - A person absorbed in a 
good concert will experience the passage of time much differently from someone 
taking a difficult tesl 

Post HJIPTlotiC Design - A special kind of Pseudo-Orientation in Time. 
Programming a subject to respond to some future stimulus in a given way. 

According to U.S. Anny Psyops Colonel, Jolm B. AlexandefS "In 1983, the Jedi 
master (from George Lucas' Star Wms) provided an image and a name for the 
Jedi Project, a human-performance modeling experiment based on 
neuro-linguistic programming (NLP) skills. Sponsored by a U.S government 
interagency task force, Jedi used advanced influence teclmologies to model 
excellence in human performance. The subjects involved in Jedi were willing to be 
influenced to acquire desirable skills. 

"The Jedi Project grew out of the New Patterns of Influence Program, developed 
during the early eighties to disseminate NLP skills throughout the U.S. Army, 
under the auspices of the U.S. Army Intelligence and Security Command and, 
unti11984, the Organizational Effectiveness School.. 

Col. Alexander told us: "Under the auspices of Major General Stubblebine, a small 
interagency team ( with the U.S. Army as the lead member) was formed to see if 
NLP modeling technology could be beneficially applied to real-world training 
problems. Since the U.S. military is the largest training institution in the world, 
much time and money could be saved by improving techniques for teaching 
common skills. This team was a part of a large-scale organizational look at 
training teclmologies. 

"As team members became familiar with NLP capabilities, they started wondering 
where its boundaries might be. They came to the conclusion that such boundaries 
existed only in the minds and belief systems of individuals. New and more 
complex skills will be required of our warriors in the future, and the project was 
an attempt to adapt training skills to meet these future needs," Alexander wrote. 

I had less luck when I was seated next to Brig. General Russ Sutton of the U.S. 
Marine Corps at a Bob Hope Classic banquet in Palm Springs. I tried to convince 
the General to get the entire U.S. Marine Corps to walk on fire so that they would 
have a "winning" resource state to use when they had to go into combat 
Alexander named Wyatt Woodsmall as one of the Army's NLP instructors, and 
since I too received instruction from Woodsmall I can attest to his competency, 

n Alexander. John B .• The Wamcm Edge, William Morrow & Co •• New York, 1990. 
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efficiency and integrity, as I can to that of Anthony Robbins, whom Alexander did 
not name, but who told us about his involvement in Jedi. ( Their politics, of 
course, might be a difficult thing to attest to.) 

Alexander makes several mistakes in his book The Warrior's Edge. If I had made 
such mistakes in the first edition of this book, I would never have heard the end of 
it He demonsb'ated a philosophical incongruence, applying the highest ideals to 
the lowest purposes -- the art of war. He also omitted from his book some of the 
most important premises of NLP - premises without which it doesn't really work. 
He unforgivably misidentified the great hypnotist/psychiatrist Milton Erickson as 
Erick Erickson, and so on. To say the least, the book is fragmentary, incomplete 
and error ridden. Still, lefs give Alexander and his collaborators Janet Morris 
(co-promoter of Non Lethal Weaponry) and Major Richard Groller, U.S.A.R, high 
scores for Jeffersonian effort in making the attempt to enlighten the military 
industrial complex through education. 

One of the Army's students, former Intelligence Officer Julianne McKinney 
experienced the Army's NLP training: "It was a superficial thing," she said. "Like 
most of the military education one got it, was geared to the slowest learners. And 
you usually don't get people that swift in the military, even in the 'intelligence' 
branches. Military training is second rate education at best I can't use a bit of it 
(NLP) today." 

Of course, McKinney was trained by the people who trained the people who 
trained the people ... Things do have a tendency to get watered down. 

The military as well as major corporations have been very interested in putting 
NLP to use. The Ford Motor Company, Westinghouse, and the Calvin Klein 
Fashion House are among scores of major companies that have sent employees 
for training, according to The New York Times:16 "Kevin Garby, an author and 
researcher on "New Age" topics in Carlyle, Pennsylvania, cites an anny recruiting 
slogan "Be All that You Can Be" as evidence of what he contends has been the 
significant influence" ofNLP-like disciplines. In the early 1980's, Garby said, 
"officers at the Anny War College in Carlyle, some of whom were graduates of 
EST, and were former members of The Radical Students For A Democratic 
Society, conducted a study aimed at creating a 'New Age Anny.' The slogan, a 
derivative of the 'You Create Your Own Reality' orthodoxy of New Age groups, 
grew out of this work. n 

The study, the Times reported," according to participants, also envisaged training 
soldiers in meditation, developing skills in extrasensory perception, magic, and in 
'neurolinguistic training,' a hypnosis technique.-" 

A number of fonner students of NLP founder, Richard Sandler remember him 
boasting in class that he could commit murder and use NLP to convince a jury 

" New Age Intelligence. The New York times, Monday, Septanba' 29, 1986. 
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that he was innocent Some think that's what he may have done in 1987 when he 
was tried for murder and acquitted. 

A lengthy article in the San Jose Mercury News77 began with a quote from 
Bandler: "rm going to play some mind-games with you in this seminar, because 
the brain is my favorite toy." 

He seemed to be at the peak of his form that day, although later 
people would start to wonder. The room was full of psychotherapists, 
all laughing at his jokes. It was 1983, four years before the murder. 

Richard Sandler was talking about motivation, and how people's 
attitudes could be changed through therapy. This went to the heart of 
Neuro-Linguistics Programming, the controversial discipline he'd 
co-founded 10 years before. NLP, a mixture of hypnosis and 
linguistics, studied how people influence each other in subconscious 
ways. 

The idea was that covert manipulation could be learned and applied, 
with beneficial results. Psychotherapists had called it a dangerous 
form of mind control, but they couldn't get to the seminars fast 
enough. Neither could doctors, lawyers, corporate executives, 
salespeople - anyone who thought a little manipulation could go a 
long way. 

So on this day in 1983, about 15 therapists were sitting in their rented 
chairs, and Sandler was observing that many attitudes are thought to 
be hard to change. Most of us, for example, avoid doing certain tasks 
because we associate them with anxiety or discomfort, and we can't 
imagine feeling any other way. 

He asked for pemonal examples from the group. A male therapist 
offered one. 

"What would make you do this behavior willingly?• Sandler asked. 

•Absolutely nothing, • the man said. 

" Kathy Hohal, MIND OVER MURDER. StmJou ~ Nfti!S, No~ 8, 1987, ~ 1-4. 
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Was he sure? 

The man looked sure. 'Well, a small-caliber hand gun might do the 
job," he offered flippantly. 

Bandler reached into a pocket and whipped out a deuinger. 

Would this do?" He waved the gun in the man's face. -no you want to 
change now?" 

When be saw the gun. the therapist went into 'deep panic. • The 
incident was so embarrassing that even now, four years later, be 
agrees to discuss it only on condition of anonymity. So we '11 call him 
Dave. 

When I saw the gun.• Dave says, 'I knew he wasn't going to use it, 
but I did nat know for sure that absolutely be wouldn't. • 

Handler staied at him. -you don't think I'm going to use this, do your 
he said. He jacked up the gun and walked closer. • A1:e you sure I 
won't use it?" Then be walked away. 

Bandler kept this up for perhaps 10 minutes, walking back and forth. 
Every time he walked away. Dave would 'mtellectualize and 
dissociate.• 

Every time Bandler came closer, Dave almost •cmpped in my pants 
and ran out of the room. • Dave swung back and forth between the 
two states of mind, helpless under Handler's spell. 

Others in the room were teirified. -rhere was no one taking a breath, • 
says one observer. 

When it was over, Dave says, be vowed never to use such a 
technique on his own patients; it was far too aggressive. But a few 



Operation Mind Control 258 

months later, his attitude toward the task he'd mentioned to Bandler 
underwent a dramatic and positive shift. 

To this day, NLP trainers call the incident one of Bandler's most 
delicate and brilliant pieces of work. 

What was so funny,• Dave says, ,s that I made the suggestion 
myself. I gave him the ammunition. I guess there was a part of me 
that said, "It's time to work on this.' But I never in God's world 
expected him to have a gun in his pocket .. . " 

NLP sessions don't usually involve guns, but the "confusion" technique described 
above, put Dave into a state something like a trance, in which he was flipping 
between two states. In the opening Handler, no doubt, implanted some positive 
suggestions for change which the article does not describe. Milton Erickson was a 
master at this very useful technique. What was happening was Bandler was 
having a conversation with Dave's unconscious mind, which most of the audience 
and certainly the reporter were not trained to notice. 

The article goes on with Handler's history, telling how he cured people from 
addictions to alcoho~ cigarettes, food, drugs, any aaving one could imagine. 

But if Bandler ever tried them on himself, he never mentioned it. 

He found new thrills elsewhere. He started working with the U.S. 
Army and the Central Intelligence Agency, doing projects on 
post-Vietnam stress syndrome, marksmanship, removing foreign 
accents from speech. He did some highly sensitive work for the CIA 
on training potential hostages to withstand torture and interrogation. 
Kate Wells, a local attorney, remembers sitting in his apartment one 
day 'With the three top CIA agents in the country. They were like this 
with Richard. • She makes a goggling face. -rhey were in awe of him. 
The would've done anything to please him. Sitting in this cruddy little 
living room in Capitol. It was surreal ... 

Then, could it have been possible for the cryptocracy to frame Richard Handler for 
murder? 

All we know is that on Nov. 3, 1986, Richard Bandler was charged with killing a 
woman with a single shot to the head. The victim was Corine Christensen, 31, an 
alleged prostitute and cocaine dealer. She died in her townhouse in Santa Cruz, a 
block from Handler's. 

Handler declared his innocence, hired a lawyer, went to court and was acquitted of 
the crime. A friend of Handler's named James Marino, alleged to be a cocaine 
dealer, who was in the room at the time of the shooting failed to appear in court. 
He said he "feared for his own safety." Mter a lengthy discussion with his attorney, 
Marino was persuaded to surrender. 
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Marino was the only witness against Bandler. He gave a lengthy, rambling 
testimony which described how Bandler had shot Christensen through the face 
with a .357 magnum, which had been found in the waters off the Capitola pier, 
just where Marino had said it would be. 

When the hearing was over, Municipal Court Judge Tom Kelly spoke 
frankly. 'My mind went back and forth all week, • he said, ''about 
which man was guilty. He would order the case to trial, he said, but 
the evidence so far seemed skimpy. 

-rhe only thing I know for swe, beyond a reasonable doubt, is we had . 
a murderer in this courtroom the last week and a half, • the judge 
declaxed. "Beyond a reasonable doubt I cannot tell you who that 
pemon was.• 

A caption under a photo in the report reads: 

Bandler and UC-Santa Cruz linguistics professor John Grinder divided 
people into three broad categories depending on the sensory mode 
they prefened Some people are pmdominantly 'visual,' some 
'auditory' and others 'kinesthetic. • NLP was soon being sold as an aid 
to therapy, business, sales, even law, wbem it was promoted as a 
boon to trial work When critics attacked it as a form of dark magic, 
Bandler and Grinder retorted that people have been manipulating 
each other for centuries and they might as well understand what's 
going on 

The only thing the reader needs to know about this case, for the purposes of our 
report, is Richard Bandler was bied for murder and found not -guilty by a jury of 
his peers. 

But, a tinge of guns and drugs and the Jedi fantasies of the ayptocracy surround 
NLP, like a foul-smelling smog. Its name has been so tainted that Anthony 
Robbins no longer calls it by that name nor do many other masters of the 
Ericlcsonian art. · 

Another U.S. Army Psyops CoL Michael Aquino had an equal if opposite 
fascination with Lucas' Star Wars trilogy. Aquino's affinity was for the "dark side .. 
of the "force", the Jedi gone wrong- Darth Vader. 

In the diaries and notes of the "Presidential Model" 0, Aquino is witnessed 
wearing his Darth Vader cape to the White House: 

Much to Aquino's dismay and embairassment, Reagan admired the 
occult role that this Army Lt. Colonel played for mind control 
traumatization pmposes, as it fit in with the public promotion of 
religion Reagan had launched. Reagan claimed to believe that the 
masses were easiest to manipulate through their mligion. as wem 
mind controlled slaves like myself. 
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While Reagan had Aquino in D.C., he demanded that he wear his 
black ritual robes to a White House party to reinforce the controlling 
superstitions of a few South/Central American diplomats. Aquino 
appeared foolish in the eyes of his peers. They knew Aquino's image 
was only a guise for Psychological Warfare, but his appearance at the 
White House in costume made Aquino look like be believed his own 
facade ... 

We've already heard a lot about CoL Aquino, but now, let's see if we can find out 
anything about his personal philosophy. What did this U.S. Anny Intelligence 
Colonel do for relaxation? He wrote fiction. Specifically he used George Lucas' 
story Star Wm to explicate his dark philosophy. 

In A DARTH VADER FANTASY, "The Secret of the Sith" published in Famous 
Monsters magazine78

, Aquino's Darth asks Aquino's Princess Leia: "Who are you 
to pursue selfish policies of regional prosperity in callous disregard for the damage 
they may cause thruout (sic) the rest of the galaxy" 

A little while later Darth says: " • .Jt would be far more efficient than the Senate but 
neither my attention span nor my reasoning processes are optimum for the task. 
Nor is any other organic mind capable of such perlormance, particularly over an 
extended period of time on a continuous basis. No, the only solution is to place 
imperial sovereignty in the hands of a positronicomputer. (Sormd like De/gao's 
psychociuilizolion?) At lower levels there will be increasing latitude for aesthetic 
opinions, of course, and planetary governments can squabble to their hearts' 
content but no individual - or group of individuals.- should have the power to 
make-- or not to make decisions completely beyond their competence..." 

Aquino's Princess Leia tells Aquino's Darth later:" _J find it hard to believe that 
you have their best interests at heart. You are too far removed from them. Darth 
Vader; to you they are little more than cosmic gaming pieces which you 
manipulate not out of affection for th~ but out of curiosity to see what you can 
do with them. Perhaps you are content in such a god-like posture. I would not 
be ... " 

Aquino's Han Solo says:" ... What point is there to civilization, as you call it, if no 
one can move on impulse without causing chain-reactions of these dire 
consequences' you speak of?" 

And Darth responds " •• .As for the constriction of free will, I of all individuals, am 
opposed to that. I have spent my lifetime strengthening my own will in an 
absolute sense -- not just as opposed to others. As for impulsive decisions, they 
were tolerable when they affected only a few words at a time- altho (sic) you'd 
find it difficult to argue that they were beneficial even then. The price we pay for 

" Aquino, Michael A.. ADAR171 VADER FANI'ASY. •The S«rrt of IN Stllf, Famous MonstErs 
#148, Warren maguines, October 1978. 
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commerce and communications across an entire galaxy is the loss of impulse in 
favor of reason. Bear in mind that the benefits are reciprocal. The decision you 
make may mean happiness and prosperity for worlds far beyond yours and their 
decisions may have a corresponding effect upon your home. H you can exist in an 
environment free from unnecessary misery you will have the freedom to exercise 
your will in ways that are truly creative. That is what I would prefer ... " 

Later in Aquino's story, Darth is apparently killed:" Amidst the wreckage 
Darth Vader staggered to his feet, then stiffened in shock as a laser-bolt from 
Leia Organa's blaster struck him full in the back. The force of its impact tore 
the mask from his head and the protective plates from his chest and Leia and 
Solo saw with a thriO ofhom1r (emphasis added] that the humanoid features 
beneath were hideously decomposed and disftgured. Exposed to the air, they 
began to dissolve and gradually Darth Vader's entire body boiled away to 
nothingness ... " 

One notes "a thrill of horror" and the body disappearing when exposed to the air -
a metaphor for the ayptocracy perhaps? 

Here's a chunk of O's journal I did not previously include. It might shed some 
light on the Psyops hypnotic teclmiques and the official government operations 
with hypno-programmed Americans: 

Death's Door programming, though simplistic in its application. is as 
complex as the mind of a multiple personality disordered, mind­
controlled slave. 

As a mind-controlled slave, I had no conscious awareness of my 
personalities being switched .. either from within, or through the 
deliberate triggering of others. Since I had no ability to logically 
reason. I had no actual appreciation of time whereby I could not think 
to notice time had passed "unaccounted for- while in another 
personality. I existed only in the moment, doing exactly what I was 
told ... 

Switching personalities was so absolute that the experiences of a 
particular personality resulted in particular perceptions. Ocular (eye) 
pressure changed visual acuity fields whereby depth perception 
changed. Senses and sensations changed according to exactly which 
part of the brain was being accessed to function. Dissociation 
equated to removing myself psychologically from my experience, 
whereby I 'dis-associated' from my body and the tortures it was 
enduring. 

Prior-conditioning necessary for survival had taught me to ret.Ieat so 
deep into my mind that sensations of torture seemed to be far away 
as though it were through a long, dark tunnel. Compared to a 
personality who's non-threatened down-to-earth daily routine 
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required no such survival skills, the perceptual shift becomes more 
clearly understood. Therefore, switching personalities actually 'felt' 
(in retrospect) like a dimensional shift ... which is the perceptual, 
psychological target of Death's Door programmers. 

The CIA has numerous 'Near Death Trauma Centers' (NDTCs) for 
creating seemingly indestructible human slaves much the same way 
the military creates Delta Force soldiers. Mind-controlled slaves such 
as myself were programmed at such installations since the same high 
technology, equipment and methods were required. by attaching 
certain programming to 'natural' :MPD survival phenomena, the skills 
could be enhanced. Slowed blood flow through deep, dissociative 
trance increased chances of survival (See Laird Gutterson earlier). 

Pain could be perceived as pleasure, which furthered the benefits of 
dissociative 'mind over matter' trance. Accelerated tissue healing 
could be hypnotically induced and further enhance by switching my 
personalities whereby I no longer was aware of the tortures the other 
personality(s) had endured. As a programmed mind controlled slave, 
I was led to believe that this shifting of personalities was a shifting of 
'dimensions• to escape the pain. 

U.S. Army Lt. Colonel (then) Michael Aquino of the U.S. Defense 
Intelligence Agency's Psychological Waifare Section instilled Death's 
Door programming on me at a mind control research facility located 
on the Presidio Army Base in San Francisco, California. While I was 
being prepared for programming, I overheard Aquino talking with an 
understudy pertaining to Death's Door. Aquino's personal belief 
system and theories were included in the discussion. 

He claimed to believe that death is in itself a changing of dimensions, 
whereby "Near Death' experiences would open doors to even mom 
dimensions. Aquino told his associate that I bad been so close to 
death on numerous occasions that 'a wide path• had been wom in my 
mind towards that end. 

-rherefom,' he explained, 'she has increased her ability to enter other 
dimensions en route to death.' 

These 'dimensions' Aquino used as a means of hypnotically 
scrambling and compartmentalizing my memory of key events, 
government secrets, and identities. Anchored into the natural 
timelessness of MPD, I had been repeatedly conditioned to the idea 
of timeless' interdimensional' travel. Aquino claimed to believe that 
time existed only in the mind of man and could therefore be 
manipulated as easily as the mind. He told his colleague, 'Whether in 
principal or in theory, the results are the same since the concept of 
time is in itself abstract. • This program anchored in timelessness 
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further reinforced my inability to comprehend that time had indeed 
passed and events occurred. 

My scrambled memory of 'interdi.mensional~ experiences would have 
remained unrecoverable bad I not been deprogrammed to realize that 
my memories were ezperienced and photographically recorded right 
here in this dimension. My memory was simply compartmentalized in 
my own brain. therefore, logically it was accessible ... 

.. At the Presidio mind control research facility, I was placed in a 
sensory deprivation chamber. Aquino programmed me with what I 
suspect were harmonics through the chamber's imbedded sound 
system. This produced a physical sensation of floating weightlessly 
through space while the sound seemed to be beard from within my 
bead rather than through my ears. Aquino's suggestion that I was in 
a crematorium was readily accepted, and I could 'feel the flames' 
intensifying as my brain perceived the event virtually as reality. 

Aquino played the role of my 'savior' by leading me 'safely' and 
'painlessly' through death's door. I had no alternative but to follow 
his programming commands, and later carry out the ensuing orders 
he would embed deep within my autogenic/primitive mind. He 
hypnotically induced the sensation of my buming alive through 
affecting my histamine production. then 'shifted dimensions' in my 
mind in preparation for the orders that I would cany out 'as though 
my life depended upon it. .. • 

Aquino slowly and hypnotically led me, • ... You have deep within you 
tbe ability to slip through death's door ... an ability encoded in you 
since tbe inception of time ... since your inception and birth into this 
world of time ... this physical world of matter ... the only world where 
time matteR. Only a visitor in this dimension, you have harnessed 
your ability to come and go as you please once you access the door 
encoded in your mind. Follow me now while I lead you on a journey 
through your mind right to the door that will set you free ... 

I must break the description of the "Death's Door'' hypnotic process off at its 
beginning. This is a particularly dangerous process which could be harmful to 
those who have been similarly programmed, or adapted by experimenters to their 
own uses with destructive results. Suffice it to say this hypnotic metaphor fits well 
into Aquino's fiction, Th£ Secret ofSith. 

One grows curious about the connection between Aquino, Alexander and Bandler, 
two U.S. Anny Psyops Colonels who say they don't know each other, and a CIA 
asset who have mastered the art of the metaphor - Star Wms and others. 
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THE SLAVES WHO BURIED THE PHARAOH 

The CIA uses thought reform, programming, and indocbination on its own 
employees. Patrick J. McGarvey, a veteran of fourteen years in U.S. intelligence 
service, described the cryptocracy's more ordinary indoctrination procedures in 
his book CIA: The Myth and the Madness. McGarvey said that his indoctrination 
was carried out in a classroom which was "right out of The Manchurian 
Candidate. It was a cavernous room not unlike a nineteenth century surgical 
exhibition pit" 

That training, he said, consisted of "an admixture of common sense, insanity, 
old-time religion, and some of the weirdest lectures you can imagine." The most 
important result of this early training, as far as the CIA was concerned, McGarvey 
said, "was the attitudes they managed to inculcate" among the recruits. 

"Many among us believed in the intelligence establishment simply because we 
were part of it. This attitude lingered for years among us, and today, in middle 
age, most of us still talk about the mind-bending job they did on us during the 
training period. I am convinced that this manipulation of attitudes had been 
responsible for keeping silent the many men who have since left the craft of 
intelligence. Because of my indoctrination, I still get a visceral twinge and have 
qualms of conscience about writing this." 

McGarvey was referring to behavior modification when he said, "CIA has a 
wonderful infonnal system of rewards and punishments for the faithful and 
unfaithful." 

Other fragments of information have leaked through the memory blocks and 
security oaths of former CIA employees. They can be found scattered throughout 
the "true confessions" literature of fonner spooks. They offer further glimpses of 
the CIA's interest in mind control - but they are only glimpses. 

"The most impressive part of this initial CIA indoctrination," writes Miles 
Copeland, "is the attitude toward loyalty, security, precision, attention to detail, 
and healthy suspicion that it manages to implant in the minds of the trainees •.. 
The fact is that this aspect of the indoctrination had been designed by some of the 
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nation's best psychologists, employing the most modem tedmiques of 
'motivational research.' Certainly it achieves its purpose. The psychologists 
resent the insinuation that they are engaged in 'brainwashing,' arguing that the 
effect of what they have contributed to the training is exactly the opposite of 
brainwashing as practiced by the Chinese. Instead of conditioning a person so 
that he can accept only 'approved' ideas, it sharpens his instincts and critical 
faculties so that he can recognize specious political reasoning when he 
encounters it Also the psychologists believe their course imparts a strong sense 
of mission, which is lacking in other branches of government .m 

Despite the CIA psychologists' defense of their reverse "brainwashing," terrible 
damage has been suffered by the people who have mabiculated from the CIA's 
mind- control projects. Those techniques employed for indocbination and "loyalty 
training" of CIA personnel are but the beginning of a mind-control operation 
which is the most effective security device short of assassination. 

Institutionalized secrecy came to America on the eve of World War D. From the 
beginning, psychology was both the most important external weapon against the 
Nazis and Japanese and the internal control mechanism for the war time 
govenunent 

Psychological warfare was used in World War I, but by the beginning of World 
War D it had taken on a new dimension. Previously the inspiring, depressing, 
persuasive or misleading messages of propaganda had been delivered to target 
populations via the printed page or by word of mouth. In World WarD, for the 
first time it became possible through radio to address the entire population of a 
country at the same time. The effects of propaganda, so magnified, became an 
important tool in warfare. 

Mter the war, electronic propaganda became the staple weapon for waging the 
Cold War. Persuasion, argument, propaganda, and indoctrination went out over 
the airwaves not only to "enemy" populations but to our own civilian populations 
as welL 

The full story of the OSS and the beginnings of the CIA was not known until1976 
when a government report, The War Report ofStrali!gic Services, was 
declassified. In 1940 Gen. William J. Donovan was appointed President Franklin 
D Roosevelt's special emissary. Upon his return from a Mediterranean tour he 
reported that "neither America nor Britain is fighting the new and important type 
of war on more than the smallest scale. Our defenses against political and 
psychological warfare are feeble, and even such gestures as have been made 
toward carrying the fight to the enemy are pitifully inadequate." Donovan urged 
the President to prepare for combat in the field of irregular and unorthodox 
warfare, as well as in the orthodox military areas . ..so 

" Miles Copdand, Bqond Cloclk tmtl DotJtp: Inside 1/w CL( (New York, Shnoo &: Shustlr, 1975) 
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Five months before the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor, President Roosevelt 
added one more new bureau to the New Deal Bureaucracy. It was tagged COl, 
perhaps a fitting acronym for the publicity-shy office of the Coordinator of 
Information. Its leader was, of course, William J. Donovan. 

Donovan has been called "a queer figure who comes off three-quarters Machiavelli 
and one-quarter boy." According to Anthony Cave Bro~ he recruited 
"Communists to kill Krauts. He feared and distrusted Communists in places 
where they counted. In Italy and France, he could never quite make up his mind 
what to do politically; and, since political belief was the clandestine's primary 
motive, his policies often failed and, even when they succeeded, led to 
interminable muddles. Likeable, even admirable on occasions, he was in fact an 
Elizabethan man, swaggering about capitals in beautiful cord, displaying a fine 
calf for a riding boot, but forever dependent really upon the British for the finesse 
which that secret struggle demanded. filii 

The British Secret Intelligence Service had developed espionage and intelligence 
to a fme art during World War I. They were already masters of sabotage, guerrilla 
warfare, political warfare, deception, crypto-analysis, irregular maritime warfare, 
technical intelligence, and secret intelligence when World War ll began. During 
that war they took intelligence into the vanguard of psychology, using drugs and 
hypnosis to program couriers to cany secret messages locked behind 
posthypnotic blocks. 

The British were the first to employ a financing device known as the "Secret 
Vote," or unvouchered funds. This was money made available without recourse to 
legislation and accounted for only by personal signature. As Anthony Cave Brown 
observed, "plainly, almost unlimited opportunity for fraud existed in this 
arrangement 9182 

Donovan's COl copied the unvouchered funds financing idea, as well as many 
others, from the British. He put great emphasis on the psychological warfare ann 
of intelligence. The British had also emphasized "psy-war," but Donovan 
promoted it to the degree that he made the psychological warfare division the 
central control organ of the entire espionage agency. 

In 1941, after the birth of COl, President Roosevelt asked Donovan to make 
specific proposals for the implementation of his ideas for psychological warfare 
and the development of an intelligence plan. Donovan submitted to the White 
House a paper entitled "Memorandum of Establishment of Services of Strategic 
Information." In it he clarified his idea of the relationship of information to 
strategic planning in total war. 

110 
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Pointing out the diplomatic and defense inadequacies of the then existing 
intelligence organization, Donovan said, "It is essential that we set up a central 
enemy intelligence organization which would itself collect either directly or 
through existing departments of govenunent, at home and abroad, pertinent 
information." Such information and data should be analyzed and interpreted by 
applying the experience of "specialized, trained research officials in the related 
scientific fields (including technological, economic, financial and psychological 
scholars)." He emphasized that "there is another element in modem warfare, and 
that is the psychological attack against the moral and spiritual defenses of a 
nation. tC3 

In June, 1942, the office of Strategic Service (OSS) was created to replace COL 
Some time passed between the fonnation of the OSS and the issuance of its 
charter. The delay was created by Donovan's controversial idea that the 
psychological warfare wtit should be in charge of the entire intelligence operation. 
The intellectuals hovering around OSS argued with the Joint War Plans 
Committee about what aactly psychological warfare was, and who should direct 
it in the name of the United States of America. 

Finally a definition was agreed upon. The official definition of psychological 
warfare read: "_Jt is the coordination and use of all means, including moral and 
physical by which the end is to be attained - other than those of recognized 
military operations, but including the psychological exploitation of the result of 
those recognized military actions - which tend to destroy the will of the enemy to 
achieve victory and to damage his political or economic capacity to do so; which 
tend to deprive the enemy of the support, assistance, or sympathy of his allies or 
associates or of neutrals, or to prevent his acquisition of such support, assistance, 
or sympathy; or which tend to create, maintain or increase the will to victory of 
our own people and allies and to acquire, maintain, or increase the support, 
assistance and sympathy of neutrals." 

And, as Donovan had wished, the Joint Chiefs of Staff decreed that "All plans for 
projects to be undertaken by the office of Strategic Services will be submitted to 
the Joint U.S. Chiefs of Staff through the Joint Psychological Warfare Committee 
for approval The Joint Psychological Warfare Committee will refer such papers as 
it deems necessary to the Joint Staff Planners (JSP) prior to submission to the 
Joint U.S. Chiefs of Staff. The Joint Psychological Warfare Committee will take 
final action on all internal administrative plans pertaining to the Office of 
Strategic Services.tt14 

The lifespan of OSS was less than three years. During that short period of time it 
developed psychological warfare into an effective weapon against the minds of 
civilian and military populations foreign and domestic alike. To wage effective 
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psychological war the OSS needed background infonnation on United States 
citizens. Thus the burglary of private ftles was sanctioned. The pattern of 
extra-constitutional clandestine activities within the United States, which came to 
the public's attention with Watergate, the Iran/Contra Affair and so on, began in 
1945 when the OSS broke into the office of Amerasia magazine, an alleged 
Communist publication. The OSS illegal entry was followed by a legal FBI search 
three months later, but no evidence that Amerasia was engaged in subversive 
activity was ever found. 

Throughout the war Donovan never lost sight of the fact that whlle OSS was a 
wartime expedient, it was also an experiment to determine the nature of a 
peacetime U.S. intelligence structure in the postwar period. Eventually OSS did 
provide the framework for the peacetime intelligence service through which the 
United States supposedly continued the bitter moral and territorial struggle 
against the Communists. 

By a small, humorous twist of fate, it was on October 31, 1944- Halloween the 
traditional day for spooks and dirty tricks - when President Roosevelt once again 
turned to Donovan for his views. According to the official story, the president 
asked Donovan to develop a plan for the organization of an intelligence service 
which would function after the cessation of hostilities. In November, Donovan 
submitted to the President his proposal for the creation of a "central intelligence 
service." In his memorandum, Donovan proposed liquidation of OSS once the 
wartime necessity had ceased. He was anxious, however, to preserve the 
intelligence functions developed by OSS, so he repeated his original COl concept 
of a central authority, reporting directly to the President, which would collect and 
analyze intelligence material required for planning and implementation of 
national policy and strategy. 

"Though in the midst of war," Donovan wrote, "we are also in a period of 
transition which, before we are aware, will take us into the tumult of 
rehabilitation. An adequate and orderly intelligence system will contribute to 
infonned decisions. We have now in the Government the trained and specialized 
personnel needed for the task. This talent should not be dispersed. fi8S 

On September 20, 1945, OSS was officially terminated by Executive Order 9620. 
"Research and Analysis" functions and "Foreign Nationals Recruiting" were 
transferred to the Department of State. The remainder of the OSS functions were 
transferred to the Department of War. That same day, the new President Harry S. 
Truman sent a letter to Donovan infonning him of the executive order to close 
OSS, and thanking him for his outstanding service. 

The President wrote, in part, "You may well find satisfaction in the achievements 
of the Office and take pride in your own contribution to them. These are in 
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themselves large rewards. Great additional reward for your efforts should lie in 
the knowledge that the peacetime intelligence services of the Government are 
being erected on the foundation of the facilities and resources mobilized through 
the Office of Strategic Services during the war." 

Hidden behind the President's compliment was the fact that Donovan was shut 
out from the formation of the CIA because of a major character flaw: he had a 
strong dislike of organization. Whether Donovan was really the right man for the 
job of chief of America's first intelligence service is debatable. Success in covert 
operations depends upon an efficient bureaucracy and good judgment in 
authority. In many cases Donovan displayed neither. At the heart he was an 
activist who did not even like the personalities of conventional administrators. 
Stewart Alsop said that he ran OSS "like a country editor." 

"'n every respect, OSS was Donovan's child," OSS historian R. Harris Smith 
wrote. "He nourished the agency in its infancy, and it bore the stamp of his 
personality."86 That stamp carried over into the new peacetime intelligence 
agency, the CIA, the first in American history. 

But while Donovan was the grandfather of the ayptocracy, its teclmiques and 
much of the rationale behind them were the work of the Dulles brothers. The 
following review of the Dulles' rise to prominence shows the manner in which 
cryptocrats fonn their liaisons. 

On the evening of the day South Korea was invaded, President Truman had 
hastily returned to Washington from his home in Independence, Missouri. He 
gathered his principal advisors together at the White House to discuss the 
emergency. Unanimously, his advisors recognized the gravity of the situation and 
agreed with Gen. Ornar Bradley, then the head of the Chiefs of Staff, who said the 
intelligence reports indicated Russia was "not yet ready for war, but in Korea they 
are obviously testing us, and the line ought to be drawn now." 

Quickly, Truman ordered Gen. Douglas MacArthur to provide military protection 
for the delivery of arnis to the South Koreans and to evacuate American 
dependents. He instructed the military chiefs "to prepare the necessary orders for 
the eventual use of American writs." On the following day he said he was 
convinced that "the Republic of Korea needed help at once if it was not to be 
overrun." 

Truman was given CIA reports which indicated that Korea was a repetition, on a 
larger scale, of the Berlin blockade. The intelligence reports further indicated that 
North Korean Communists would eventually prove to be a threat to Japan, 
Fonnosa, and the American base on Okinawa. It was the first time the "domino 
theory" was used. 
• R. JWris Smith. OSS:'nle S«ftt Jlis/m7 of Ammal's Fits/ cmml bWIIigma AtJmt:l (Ber!Uy, UnMnity of 
CalifamU Press. 1972) 
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The President, acting on the advice of the CIA, ordered MacArthur to give 
immediate naval and air support to the South Korean anny, without allowing him 
to order his troops to cross the Thirty-eighth ParalleL (This act of drawing a 
political rather than a strategic boundary set the precedent in Asia for the use of 
the same tactic later in the Vietnam campaign.) 

MacArthur's zeal and military instinct disposed him to blindness concerning such 
arbitrary boundaries. His expressed urge to attack China with nuclear weapons 
eventually led to his unprecedented dismissal by Truman. MacArthur may have 
had the knowledge and the skill to win the Korean conflict unconditionally, but 
such a military victory in the light of history did not fit into the long-range war of 
attrition the cryptoaacy supported as a tool of the military-industrial complex, 
against the Communists. 

Domestic politics also served to compound the power of the new cryptocracy, 
which was then cutting its teeth in Southeast Asia. In 1952, when Dwight D. 
Eisenhower~ elected President of the United States, he appointed John Foster 
Dulles as Secretary of State, and allowed Foster's brother Allen, who was then the 
CIA's "deputy director for plans" - the clandestine operations branch of CIA- to 
take over directorship of the CIA one year later. 

According to Townsend Hoopes, who served in both the Truman and Johnson 
administrations, though the seeds were sown by Truman, it was under the 
Eisenhower administration that the Cold War was "pervasively institutionalized in 
the United States." He described the Cold War's chief manifestations as" _.a 
strident moralism, a self-righteous and often apocalyptic rhetoric, a determined 
effort to ring the Soviet Union and China with anti-Communist military alliances, 
a dramatic proliferation of American overseas military bases, and a rising flow of 
the American military equipment for foreign annies accompanied by American 
officers and men to provide training and advice. The posture of imperative, total 
confrontation," he said "thus came to full development during the Eisenhower 
period. By 1960, the United States government was not only positioned and 
determined to restrain the major Communist powers, but also determined -
through an implicit extension of logic and the inertial momentum generated by a 
large and powerful military/foreign affairs bureaucracy - to control the pace and 
character of political change everywhere." S7 

In the chill of the Cold War, few Americans remembered that John Foster Dulles 
had been pro-Nazi before Hitler invaded Poland. No one thought, either, to 
question the fact that while John Foster Dulles was running the State 
Department, and therefore dealing with friendly governments, his brother Allen 
was running the CIA, which he once described as a State Department for dealing 
with unfriendly governments. No one seemed at all disturbed by the Dulles 

Towmaxl Hoopa, 11w DaM and Jolra Fosar Dulla (Boston. A&ntic Monthly Press. 1973) 
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Dynasty, and only a handful of people realized to what extent the Dulles brothers 
held power in the Eisenhower administration. 

Lieutenant Colonel L. Fletcher Prouty (USAF) was the Pentagon's chief briefing 
officer assigned to the White House during the Eisenhower administration. He 
worked closely with Allen Dulles in Coordinating military support for the various 
clandestine political operations undertaken by the CIA. He knew the intimate 
working arrangements of the Dulles brothers and of the cryptocracy they were 
building. 

In his book The Secret Team, Colonel Prouty gave a glimpse of how the Dulles 
brothers "worked" the President "That evening, before his usual tennis game on 
his backyard court, Allen Dulles dropped by his brother's secluded house just off 
Massachusetts Avenue and discussed the operation [which involved an 
amphibious plane and Polish pilot to be run under a CIA business cover). Foster 
agreed that Eisenhower would go along with it He walked over to the wall lined 
with bookshelves and picked up the White House telephone which connected 
directly with the White House operator. All he said was 'Is the man busy?' 

Foster Dulles opened with, 'Boss, how did you do at Burning Tree today?-· Well, 
six holes is better than nothing._ Yes, I've been talking here with Allen. He has a 
proposal he wants to clear with you. He feels it is very important, and it will lift 
the morale of Frank's boys. [Frank WJSDer was then Director of Intelligence 
Clandestine Operations). You know, since Korea and Guatemala you haven't had 
them doing much. Will you see him tomorrow morning? Fine. How's Mamie? 
O.K. boss, I'll speak to Allen_. 9:30 •.. Thank you- goodnight!' 

"There was not much left to do," Prouty said, •the flight would be scheduled." 

A relevant analysis of "the brother act" is provided by David WJSe and Thomas 
Ross. "[The Dulles brothers] embodied the dualism- and indeed the moral 
dilemma - of United States foreign policy since World Warn._ Foster Dulles 
reflected the American ethic; the world as we should like it to be. While he took 
this public position, his brother was free to deal with nastier realities, to overturn 
governments and to engage in backstage political maneuvers all over the globe 
with the CIA's almost unlimited funds._ 

"This is not to say that the same tw<rsided foreign policy would never have 
evolved had the director of the CIA and the SeCreta!y of State not been brothers. 
It very likely would have. But the natural friction between the objective and 
methods of the diplomats and the 'spooks,' between the State Department and the 
CIA, was to an extent reduced because of the Dulles brothers. There was 
consequently less of a check and balance. • 

• DaWI WiK md Thomas Ross, T1w /nDidlll Goewii»IWia', 5th ed. (New York. Random Home, 1964) 
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John Foster and Allen Dulles had worked together before coming to government. 
Foster was the star attorney of the international law finn of Sullivan and 
CromwelL He persuaded his partners to take Allen in "to soften up customers," 
which Allen had a great gift for. Eventually, Sullivan and Cromwell sent Allen to 
Berlin to negotiate private affairs with the German industrial barons before the 
war. Mter the war broke out, he was sent to Switzerland with OSS, where, under 
cover, he used his former business contacts inside Germany to supply 
information for his many spectacular single-handed intelligence coups against the 
Axis. 

Though Allen Dulles was more gifted as a diplomat than his elder brother Foster, 
it was Foster who can be considered the mastermind of the Cold War Aberration. 
Foster played upon the fear of Communists and implemented the world-policing 
foreign policy of the Pax Americana which eventually led to our involvement in 
Vietnam. It was his Cold War Campaign at home that made citizens tremble in 
fear of Conununist attack and their children crouch under school desks in atomic 
air-raid drills. It was John Foster Dulles, in the company of men like Senator Joe 
McCarthy and Richard Nixon, who presented the specter of the Communist 
menace to the American public. They convinced the nation that the communists 
were about to unleash a global war and even a direct nuclear attack upon the 
United Stites. 

During Eisenhower's 1952 campaign for the presidency he promised to 
"peacefully bring about freedom for the captive nations." John Foster Dulles later 
repeated Eisenhower's promise, omitting, however, the word "peacefully." 

Lest we judge John Foster Dulles unfairly by the standards of our own time, it 
must be said that, to his mind, there must have seemed to have been good 
reasons for invoking the Communist threat. As Senator Frank Church's (1976) 
Senate Committee to Study Governmental Operations said: "the extent to which 
the urgency of the Communist threat had become a shared perception is difficult 
to appreciate." 

More likely, there was another, more insidious reason for the Cold War: the 
economy. A glance at a historical graph of the American business cycle will show 
that since the Civil War, economic depressions tend to precede and follow U.S. 
wars. Dulles' generation came to power in World War ll after having suffered the 
longest and deepest depression in American history. It could be considered 
natural for them to overreact to the recessions of 1945-46 and 1949-50 by 
fomenting war - hot or cold -- to feed the military-industrial base of the 
economy. The research and development of death-dealing technology created the 
need for unprecedented secrecy. The instrument of keeping those secrets was the 
cryptocracy. 
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The Cold War Strategy proved to be economically successful. Without having to 
risk a full-scale nuclear war and simply by arming the world against communism 
through weapons marketing, propaganda, and the psychological warfare of the 
Cold War scheme, the United States achieved a capital goods boom unequaled in 
modern history. In the most simple terms, anns constituted the bulk of United 
States exports from World War Two to the present and figured as the single most 
important industry which maintained the United States trade balance. 

The central core of the Dulles brothers' American containment policy grew from 
the CIA's covert operations and propaganda efforts. The mood of those times is 
reflected in a top-secret report submitted by the second Hoover Commission to 
President Eisenhower is September, 1954, and made public by fonner CIA man 
Harry Rositzke. The report urged the United States to make its "_.aggressive 
covert psychological, political, and paramilitary organization more effective, more 
unique, and if necessary, more ruthless than that employed by the enemy_. We 
are facing an implacable enemy whose avowed objective is world domination by 
whatever means and at whatever cost. There are no rules in such a game_. We_. 
must learn to subvert, sabotage, and destroy our enemies by more clever, more 
sophisticated, and more effective methods than those used against us._" 

According to Rositzke "The next year a National Security Council directive 
reaffirmed the Executive's commitment to covert operations. It instructed the 
CIA to continue creating problems for 'International Communism,' to reduce its 
strength and its control worldwide, and to 'increase the capacity and the will of 
peoples and nations to resist International Communism. It specific:ally reaffirmed 
CIA's authority to develop underground resistance and facilitate covert and 
guerrilla operations. • 

Although the Cold War is generally said to date from 1948, with the Berlin 
Blockade and the Greek civil war, John Foster Dulles contributed to its 
architeCture before he came to office in 1953. He epitomized the fearful gestalt of 
his generatio~ took hold of the floundering Cold War strategy, and molded it with 
his personality. He was fond of quoting Alexander Hamilton, who wrote in the 
Federalist Papers, "safety from external danger is the most powerful director of 
national conduct." Hamilton's statement, when taken at face value, seems quite 
innocent. But in the context of John Foster Dulles' materialistic and puritan 
upbringing, it is not difficult to see how he construed it to mean something quite 
different than Hamilton intended. Hamilton's thoughts gave Dulles the moral 
rationale to try to motivate national political, industrial, and economic conduct by 
posing an overwhelming external danger - the threat of a nuclear war initiated by 
the "international Communist conspiracy." 

If, at the end of World Warn, the growth of our economy, still the strongest and 
richest in the world, did depend upon the mllitary-indusbial complex for 

• Harry Rolitzb, at's S«ftt o,a.alliofas (New York. Rader's DJaest Prts$, 1971) 
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sustenance, then Dulles' Cold War saved the U.S. from certain recession. Without 
the threat of communism, what could the free world have anned against? And if 
the health of the U.S. economy continues to depend on that merger of military 
and industrial interests, then what threat will come to replace the cold war? 

In his farewell address to the nation in 1960, President Eisenhower issued his 
famous warning about the military-industrial complex: 

Our military organization today bears little relation to that known of 
any of my predecessors in peacetime - or, indeed, by fighting men of 
World War II or Korea. Until the latest of our world conflicts, the 
United States had no aunaments industry. We annually spend on 
military security alone more than the net income of all United States 
coipOrations. 

~ow this conjunction of an immense military establishment and a 
large arms industry is new in the American experience. The total 
influence- economic, political, even spiritual- is felt in every city, 
every state house, every office oftbe federal government. We 
recognize the imperative need for this development. Yet we must fail 
to comprehend its grave implications. In the councils of government 
we must guard against the acquisition of unwananted influence, 
whether sought or unsought, by the military-industrial complex. The 
potential for the disastrous rise of misplaced power exists and will 
persist. 

We must never let the weight of this combination endanger our 
liberties or democratic processes. We should take nothing for 
granted. 

And Eisenhower accurately predicted the course of the history of mind control 
research: 

The prospect of domination of the nation's scholars by federal 
employment, project allocations, and the power of money is ever 
present and is gravely to be regarded. 

Yet, in holding scientific research and discovery in respect, as we 
should, we must be alert to the equal and opposite danger that 
public policy could itself become the captive of a scientific­
technological elite.• 

The Cold War was World War m - a war waged, largely, against the human mind. 
A war waged largely with words - the most powerful tool of behavior 
modification. 

In the beginning, the men who had won World War ll with advanced weaponry 
were less artful in the use of the new psychological warfare. As the Cold War 
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escalated propaganda was followed by sabotage, assassinations, ,.paramilitary" 
covert operations, and limited "police actions .. before the arsenal for waging 
invisible war (IW) was developed. 

America had traditionally been a free and open society. But after the war, U.S. 
leaders held in their bands an awesome technological superiority. While being the 
love object of government, the new technologies, especially nuclear energy, made 
the leaders fearful of losing their monopoly. That fear gave rise to the belief that 
new secret agencies and operations were needed to guard against technological 
thefts by foreign governments. the Cold War was a "secret" war in more ways 
than one. 

Psychological warfare, originally waged only against "enemy" counbies, 
eventually came home. Nazi war aiminals, experts in the black crafts of mind 
controL were allowed to immigrate to the U.S. under Project Paperclip. Most were 
employed by the U.S. ayptoaacy. With the Nazi's in place, the psychological war 
began against the American people. It was waged against beliefs and free thought, 
by a ayptocracy which is still supported by all the power of the federal 
government, but which operates outside the chain of governmental command. 
Often it takes the fonn of "privatized .. government, with the controls appearing to 
be vested in the ordinary business community. In any event, behind it is a secret 
bureaucracy become paranoid - a cryptoaacy mad with world power whose most 
powerful weapons are aimed at the human mind. 

Although the Central Intelligence Agency has long been the convenient symbol for 
aD those who have committed atrocities in the name of national security, the 
secret bureaucracy, the ayptoaacy, does not consist solely of the CIA. It is as 
well a vast network of alliances between individUills in a mnnber of government 
agencies nonnally thought to be outside the intelligence field. 

Since the ayptoaacy violates every constitutional principle as a matter of course, 
and commits every aime lmown to man in the interest of"national security," it 
cannot entirely rely on the pabiotism of its agents to keep its secrets. Therefore, 
no single individual is told more than he has a .. need to know." 

The ayptocracy is a brotherhood reminiscent of the ancient secret societies, with 
rites of initiation and indoctrination programs to develop in its loyal membership 
the special understanding of its mysteries. It has secret codes and oaths of silence 
which reinforce the sense of elitism necessary for the maintenance of its sbict 
loyalty. It is automated, organized in the mode of a computer, where all have 
access to general knowledge and the most obvious aims and goals, but where the 
individual is isolated by bibal rituals and compartmentalization. 

It is a technocratic organization without ideology, loyal only to an unspoken, 
expedient, and undefined pabiotism. Its recruits are schooled in the writings of 
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Niccolo Machiavelli. Its members are anonymous. Its funds are secrel Its 
operational history is a secrel Even its goals are secrel It is a degenerative 
disease of the body politic which has grown rampant, spreading so invisibly that 
after nearly four decades its existence is known only to a handful of "decision 
makers." 

The cryptocracy is designed to function like a machine. It also has the feelings of 
a machine -- none at all. but, unlike a machine, it does have ambition. To it, 
hwnan beings are so much cheap hardware who perform certain set functions 
which produce certain predetermined results. They are valued relative to cost and 
efficiency. The cryptocracy is the perfect cybernetic organism - pure logic at the 
planning level - nothing but automatic response in the field. 

If a prospective agent cannot be recruited by an appeal to patriotism, he is bribed. 
If he cannot be bribed, he is blackmailed. If he refuses to be blackmailed, he is 
"programmed." If all these fail, he is killed, for it must not be known that he had 
ever been approached -- so important is "national security." 

It is sometimes hard to detennine whether the cryptocracy is working for or 
against the interests of the U.S. President, to whom its constituent agencies are 
supposed to be accountable. Many of its crimes, now a matter of public record, 
would indicate that it has often worked against the President It htzs, we know, 
worked against the U.S. Constitution and the American people. It has needlessly 
caused the death of innocent people who were working for it, just as it has 
tortured and murdered those who have stood in its way. Documented atrocities 
and criminal blunders have been revealed by congressional investigations. Few 
have been brought to bial. Of those convicted only a paltry amount of time has 
been served. Uttle congressional, judicial, or executive action has been taken to 
limit its power or ferret out its leaders. Figureheads have been changed, but the 
organization and the National Security Act which has bred this cancer remains in 
essence unchanged - rmchallenged by the press, rmnoticed by the people. 

The cryptocracy serves big business and spends a good deal of time and energy 
supplying American corporations with industrial intelligence. These favors, 
offered only to those companies friendly to the cryptocracy, may be repaid by 
such things as political campaign contributions to candidates who are either 
sympathetic to or compromised by favors from the cryptocracy. In the past the 
cryptocracy has supported both foreign and domestic politicians with such 
campaign contributions. 

The "old boy network" of retired cryptocrats working within major corporations 
plays an important role in the cryptocracy's international influence. Secret funds 
are shunted not only from one agency of government to another, but also from 
agency to corporation and then, under cover of the corporation's legal business 
activities, throughout the world, wherever expediency dictates. 
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Through its authorized functions, the cryptocracy controls the United States 
government It feeds the executive branch "intelligence reports" which are often 
slanted and sometimes falsified, so that the policy decisions which result will be 
those which fit the cryptocracy' s game plan. 

Like a fifteenth century Machiavellian princedom that has been computerized and 
automated, the cryptoaacy has systematically manipulated the American 
consciousness. By justifying its existence by citing an exaggerated danger from 
communism, it has justified its own totalitarianism by convincing key politicians 
that fire must be fought with fire. The practices of the cryptocracy, once officially 
sanctioned only in operations outside the U.S., have become internalized. Those 
practices have included spying, stealing blackmail, and murder, even within the 
borders of the country it is supposed to protect and defend. 

There was nothing hypocritical about the KGB's employment of totalitarian, 
police-state tactics. The Soviet equivalent of the CIA, the KGB, was an extension 
of the Soviet political system, which was totalitarian. Neither was there anything 
hypocritical about the Chinese use of "brainwashing" on American POWs in 
Korea. The Chinese have "brainwashed" three and a half million of their own 
people though generally they used techniques less sophisticated than mind 
contro~ but no less drastic than starvation, sleep interruption, and isolation. But 
the U.S. cryptoaacy is the ultimate hypoaisy, subversive to its own government's 
democratic sbucture. It operates with methods which are not permitted in most 
democracies and certainly not permitted by the Constitution of the United States. 

In war, a successful campaign greatly depends upon the element of surprise. 
Since the beginning of human disputes warriors have found it desirable to keep 
their strengths and weaknesses concealed. 

The use of new technology has been both the strength and the surprise which so 
often has determined the outcome of war. The first elephant to be outfitted with 
spikes and used in battle was as great a terror to the bow-and-arrow warrior as the 
atomic bomb was to the Japanese. 

The cryptoaacy has long known the only way it can maintain the upper hand in 
the global power game is to stay in the vanguard of teclmology. To that end it has 
employed all the research and development the federal government can buy. 

Since World Warn the cryptoaacy has used electronic technology to manipulate 
foreign peoples as well as the American people through a campaign of carefully 
planned misinfonnation, disinfonnation, and propaganda. The ayptoaacy's 
existence depends upon such manipulation of public belief. Since it cannot 
openly argue its cause, it relies upon persuasion and indoc- trination to 
accomplish its goals and win support for its ends. 
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The existence of the cryptocracy also depends upon absolute secrecy. Without it, 
it is powerless. At present the cryptocracy is trying to control the encryption of 
data on the proposed "infonnation highway." The cryptocracy is trying to arrange 
things ( supposedly in the interest of national security) so that it will make it easy 
to wiretap the electronic mail and computer communications between private 
citizens and businesses alike. The scheme is to ramrod a system which allows no 
other encryption than the version developed in secret by the National Security 
Agency. The adoption of this plan would also make it impossible for private 
citizens to encrypt their own communications and thus not be able to protect 
themselves against eavesdropping. What appears to be only an attempt to control 
information at its source - is actually an attempt to curb freedom of speech. The 
ultimate target, of course, is the human mind. 

It was the CIA which instigated and directed the initial mind control research, and 
with an invisible hand, kept each group of scientists isolated from the other. Each 
group researching mind control was kept apart from other groups conducting 
simultaneous interfacing experiments, so that no one except the Agency would be 
able to put all the pieces of the puzzle together. 

The basis for mind-control techniques already existed in scientific literature, but 
in a fragmented, incomplete, and unassimilated state. The cryptocracy enlisted 
the aid of scientists who then developed these fragments into usable techniques. 
These scientists worked independently, each on only one small part of the overall 
plan. And, by and large they were ignorant of the intended use of the final 
product of their research. 

Operation Mind Control was not the plan of a mere cult of intelligence; it did not 
stop at intelligence gathering, but went on to instigate active operations on its 
own. Those conspiracies against freedom which were revealed by the 
investigations into Watergate, the intelligence community and multinational 
corporations are minor compared to the conspiracy of mind control which has 
developed in this country. Although the first victims of Operation Mind Control 
were, perhaps, especially suitable personality types for such use, with the 
advances being made in the psycho-sciences all but a few of us may eventually be 
victimized. 

The power of mind control resides in its use as a superior security technique; as 
such it is almost as foolproof as that employed by the great Pharaoh of Egypt, 
who, carried to his final resting place by loyal slaves, had those same slaves killed 
and buried along with him so that all knowledge of access to the tomb would 
remain secure for centuries. Mind control arranges that "slaves" of the 
intelligence comrm.mity -- witnesses, couriers, and assassins - are "protected" 
from their own memories and guilt by amnesia. These "slaves" may be left alive, 
but the knowledge they possess is buried deep within the tomb of their own mind 
by techniques which can keep the truth hidden even from those who have 



279 W.H. Bowart 

witnessed it . It is the ultimate debriefing, the final security measure short of 
assassination. 

The conspiracy of mind control veils the secret of all secrets. It hides the cabal 
which possesses its power, so even if the CIA and the other intelligence agencies 
were closed down tomorrow, the ayptocracy would continue to function. For as 
with the Mafia, "once you are a member, you're a member for life." The power of 
mind control, and ultimately of the Cryptoaacy that uses it, resides with those 
who have cuJied the fruits of psycho-science since the late 1930s; they now 
possess the mature body of knowledge upon which the coercive art is built 

To review the labyrinth of events: Out of the natural fear of technology grew an 
unnatural reliance on secrecy. Secrecy led to covert control and produced a 
well-organized institution of national security. Institutionalized secrecy directed 
covert research and produced Operation Mind Control, the ultimate technology of 
secrecy and control. 
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BRAVE NEW WORLD IN A SKINNER BOX 

The cryptocracy's search for reliable mind control methods was one of the most 
far-reaching secret projects ever undertaken. In addition to research and 
development in drugs and hypnosis, CIA funds and cryptocracy guidance gave 
impetus to a number of behavior modification projects carried out in federal 
prisons and mental institutions. Most of the projects were arranged secretly so 
recipients of the funds would have no way of knowing that the CIA was backing 
the research. 

Even if they hlld known of the CIA's involvement, their interest in behavior 
modification probably would not have been dampened. Previously called 
conditioned reflex therapy, behavior modification, in the sixties and seventies, was 
becoming the most popular tool of psycho science since Sigmund Freud asked his 
first patient to lie down on the couch. 

Behavior modification is based on conditioning, but conditioning is a big word for 
a simple fonn of learning in which a reaction is evoked by an outside action. The 
reaction is called a response; the outside action is called a stimulus. 

In 1927 Pavlov won the Nobel Prize for his discovery of a method of making dogs 
salivate at the ringing of a belL Salivating dogs were not much good to anyone, 
and it was not for making dogs drool that Pavlov was so honored. He was 
honored with the world's most prestigious award for making dogs drool on cue. 
He called his process "conditioning". The dogs' involuntary response, he called a 
"reflex." Pavlov's discoveries provided the breakthrough which behavioral science 
needed to begin to control the human mind. 

Pavlov had begun in 1906 by seeking a simple model of the activity of the brain. 
He decided the salivary reflex in dogs could be just such a modet so he raided the 
dog pound and cut holes in the animals' cheeks to implant measuring devices for 
the flow of saliva. 

By regularly ringing a bell just before feeding the dogs he found that the stimulus 
- the sound of the bell - intrinsically unrelated to food, began to evoke the 
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salivation initially observed when the dogs were eating. His patient studies 
revealed that the quality, rate, and frequency of salivation changed depending 
upon the quality, rate, and frequency of the stimuli 

Pavlov's experiments with dogs have been repeated numerous times by different 
scientists with the same results. Science now agrees that when a hungry dog is 
given a piece of meat immediately after a bell rings, and when this procedure is 
repeated a number of times the bell alone will produce the flow of saliva almost as 
if the bell and not the meat were activating the glands. When the bell rings, not 
only will a properly conditioned dog salivate but his ears will stand up, he'll tum 
towards the food source, and even make anticipatory chewing movements. 
Conditioned reflexes in dogs, however, are a long way from the conditioning of 
volitional thinking in humans. 

But Pavlov established the groundwork by which anyone's emotional stability 
(Pavlov called it "perpetual equilibration") and sanity could be reliably balanced or 
unbalanced. To that end the Soviets and later the People's Republic of China, 
employed Pavlov's new science for the creation of the totalitarian state. 

Marshall McLuhan, writing in War and Peace in The Global Village, in 1968 
called our attention to an important element of Pavlov's experiment which has 
been largely overlooked: 

"·-The work of Pavlov, in revealing the fact of conditioned reflexes, had a totally 
different meaning for the Russian and the European. Pavlov had been unable to 
condition his dogs in his experiments until he had completely conditioned the 
laboratory environments in which they lived. Until precise thennal and auditory 
controls were introduced into the laboratories the conditioning did not occur. The 
bell did not elicit salivation. To the European it was not the conditioning of the 
laboratories but the fact of automatic salivation that created the excitement 
Indeed, the ordinary psychological effect makes no mention of the laboratory 
conditioning. The Westerner lives in a man-made environment, mechanically 
conditioned and time structured-. 

"'n the new electronic environment," McLuhan said, "we end the Pavlovian 
laboratory of mechanical civilization and are primitive once more. Living in a 
man-made environment, extremely specialized and fragmented, the Westerner 
was as oblivious of his environment as the Russian is oblivious of his tribal 
environment, which is neither mechanical nor man-made. Western mechanism 
has not penetrated the Russian psyche, any more than it has the Japanese psyche. 
Therefore, to the Russian, the exciting event in Pavlov's experiment was not the 
conditioning of the dogs but of the laboratories. But to the Westerner, the 
revelation that he was a preconditioned robot, thanks to his own ingenuity and 
machinations, was a most disagreeable discovery_. 

r 
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" ... Pavlov was the man who tipped us off that our old mechanical environment 
and its consequenes were yielding to a totally new environment created by an 
antithetic technology," McLuhan said. ''The portentous discovery he made was 
that any controlled environment, any man-made environment, is a conditioner 
that creates non-perceptive somnambulists ... n90 

While the general public in the West may continue to associate behavior 
modification with Pavlov's conditioning of dogs, the science is actually an ancient 
one. In its modern form it has its roots in the works of Descartes who, in 1664, 
put forward the idea that every activity of an organism is the reaction to an 
external stimulus. Experimental studies to test Descartes' idea did not begin until 
several centuries later. Then, simultaneously experimentation began in a number 
ofdUf~ntcounbies. 

At the same time Pavlov was experimenting with dogs in Russia, John B. Watson 
was experimenting with humans in the United States. Watson was the founder of 
the behaviorist school of psychology in the 1920s. His most notorious 
accomplishment was his series of experiments on an eleven-month-old infant 
known to history as Little Albert. (Little Albert was Watson's own child, who 
committed suicide as a young adult.) 

Watson showed Little Albert a white rat and the child reacted naturally and bied 
to pet and cuddle the animal. Mter Albert had established a playful rapport with 
the rat, Watson began to adversely condition the lad. Each time the rat would 
come into Albert's view, Watson would beat the floor with a steel bar and produce 
a deafening sound. Quite naturally, whenever Albert heard the sound he would 
jump with fright. Eventually Albert associated the loud sound with the white rat 
and became frightened of it. Every time the rat came into his view he would 
begin to cry. 

Albert became so adversely conditioned to the rat that he would exhibit fear 
whenever any small animal came into his view. He became so conditioned that 
he reacted with equal fear to rabbits, dogs, and a sealskin coat - in short, to 
anything with fur. 

Quite proudly Dr. Watson exclaimed, "Give me the baby, and I'll make it climb 
and use its hands in constructing buildings of stone or wood._ I'll make it a thief, 
a gunman or a dope fiend. The possibilities of shaping in any direction are almost 
endless. Even gross differences in anatomical structure limits are far less than 
you may think. .. Make him a deaf mute, and I will still build you a Helen Keller ... 
Men are built, not born. "111 

to .MarW11 Mcluban, WDT and f'tw1cy In The ClolxJI ~. Bantam Books, New York. 1968, p. 66-67. 
' 1 John B. Watson. &hoviorisrn, rev. ed. (New York. Norton. 1930) 
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Picking up where Watson left off new evidence suggests that the cryptocracy 
began recruiting abused and abandoned children to develop as programmed 
somnambulists. 

Watson saw things, as Pavlov did, in physical and chemical tenns. He was not 
interested in anything beyond overt and observable behavior. And Watson was 
only the first in a long line of American psycho-scientists who were to take the 
mechanistic path to control of the mind. 

Pavlov and Watson's classical conditioning did not, however, go far in producing 
a reliable science of mind-controL In the late thirties Hatvard psychologist 
Burrhus Frederick Skinner discovered new principles of conditioning which 
allowed more complete control. 

Skinner came up with what he called operant conditioning. It was based on the 
idea that reinforcement (the Repetition of either a positive or a negative response 
to an action) was at the root of all learned behavior. The distinction between 
classical and operant conditioning was made only because different techniques 
were used to elicit the responses. In essence, the effects of either kind of 
conditioning were the same. 

The three most common methods of modern behavior therapy are operant 
conditioning, aversion therapy, and desensitization. 

Operant conditioning is the reinforcement of certain behavior by reward (usually 
food), often accompanied by simultaneous sound or light stimulation. 
Reinforcement is contingent upon the occurrence of the response, and the 
reinforcing mechanisms are often built into the environment When rats are used 
as subjects, the device to be operated is a bar which, when depressed, delivers the 
reward of food or water. In this situation the behavior which is reinforced is the 
pressing of the bar. It makes no difference how the bar is pressed, whether the rat 
presses the bar with its paw, nose, or tail. Once the bar is presse<L the operation 
has been perfonned and the animal is rewarded. The dependent variable in 
operant conditioning is the response rate - the number of times the bar is 
pressed. Response rate, or the frequency of the response, is an important factor 
in judging the success of the operant conditioning. 

Aversion therapy is a technique in which an undesirable response is inhibited by a 
painful or unpleasant reinforcement such as electric shock, noxious odors, or any 
technique which produces fear and avoidance. It is an ancient fonn of 
counter-conditioning, or punishment, which has been widely used in the 
treabnent of homosexuality, stuttering, and alcoholism. 

In desensitization the subject is first trained to relax beyond his nonnal state. He 
is then presented with images which evoke mild anxiety. At flrst the images are 
very mild, and they are repeated until the subjed shows no anxiety. Then a 
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stronger image is introduced and the process is repeated. Finally the subject 
becomes desensitized to even the strongest image. Desensitization has been used 
to relieve people of phobic fears, anxieties, and in deprogramming conditioned 
responses. 

Skinner began his experiments by building a number of boxes in which pigeons 
were required to run mazes and press levers to receive the rewards of birdseed. 
By manipulating the way the reward was given, Skinner found he could control 
the rate and the style of the lever pressing. 

Eventually Skinner was able to get pigeons to bob and weave in prescribed ways. 
He was even able to get birds to distinguish colors by having them peck only at 
levers of specific colors for food. He soon learned to obtain just about any kind of 
behavior he desired from a number of different animals. 

Skinner concluded that every action is detennined by the environment and that 
all behavior is "shaped and maintained by its consequences." the behaviorists' 
mechanistic view of man was summed up by Skinner when he said, "'f by 
'machine' you simply mean any system which behaves in an orderly way, then 
man and all other animals are machines." 

Skinner's subsequent research, however, showed that behavior which is 
supported by continuous rewards stops when the rewards are withheld. Further 
experimentation showed that by shifting from continuous to intennittent 
rewards, the behavior could be kept going even though the rewards became less 
frequent This discovery made behaviorism a practical science, for now it could 
explain how behavior was maintained in the real world. 

With unshakable faith in his own science, Dr. Skinner built a large box with a 
glass window on one side. It was a soundproof cage, much like the ones he'd 
used in experiments with pigeons and monkeys. But this box was for children, 
and into it Skinner put his own child. 

This "Skinner box" was about as large as a spacious crib. The temperature of the 
box was carefully controlled, and Skinner testified proudly that "crying and 
fussing could always be stopped by slightly lowering the temperature." With the 
sound proof box, Skinner was "never concerned lest the doorbell, telephone, 
piano, or children at play wake the baby ... " And, he added, "soundproofing also 
protects the family from the baby.1192 

Apparently Skinner's scheme to produce "socialized" children was not so 
successful. In the opinion of the kindergarten teacher of Skinner's youngest 
daughter, who had received the "benefits" of spending her early childhood in her 
daddy's box, she was not an obedient automaton, but a rather independent and 

a B.F. Sllinn!r,lJqoftt/ F,..., fmll DignQ (New York. Knopf, 1971) 
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even rebellious child.93 Somehow Skinner's programming of his offspring must 
have failed in his own terms, for it would appear from his writings that Skinner's 
ideas are quite in line with the dreams of the cryptocrats who would seek to 
control us all. 

In his popular work Beyond Freedom and Dignity, Skinner wrote: "The problem 
is to free men, not from control, but from certain kinds of control, and it can be 
solved only if our analysis takes all consequences into account. How people feel 
about controL_ does not lead to useful distinctions." 

Skinner is not only concerned with controlling individuals, he desires to build a 
controlled society, ruled from aib to coffin by behavior modification. "The 
intentional design of a culture and the control of human behavior it implies are 
essential if the human species is to continue to develop," he said. 

In the '70's and '80's B.F. Skinner was the center of a personality cult. He was 
the guru and founder of the modern psycho-philosophy which holds that it is 
morally and ethically permissible to change the behavior of others as well as to 
modify others' belief. About belief Skinner wrote, "People must believe that what 
they are doing has some chance of obtaining what they want or avoiding 
something to which they are averse. But the chances are in the contingencies. 
The relation of beliefs to other conditions, such as wants and needs, can be easily 
stated: to say that desires enter into the causation of beliefs is simply to say that 
the probability of behavior with which a belief is associated depends not only upon 
reinforcement but upon a state of deprivation or aversive stimulation. IN 

Aversion stimulation was the process upon which the Cold War faith was built. 
The Cold War faith, in turn loosed the cryptocracy upon the world to murder, 
maim, or rape the minds of any who posed a real threat to its goals of "defending 
the free world from communism." 

In the words of Lewis Andrews and Marvin Karlins, "The world is, in a sense, one 
large 'Skinner box'·- 1995 And if this is not already bue, it soon may be, because 
there are behaviorists at work in practically every federal and state institution, as 
well as in the private sector. 

Using federal and state institutions for testing purposes provided many benefits to 
the cryptocracy. They functioned as recruitment centers, where selected crimin­
als were released to the custody of career spooks who could apply their skills in 
undercover work. Prisons were also valuable testing grounds. 

Philip Hilts, describing the attitude prevalent in both the cryptocracy and prison 
bureaucracies, wrote: "There are three possibilities for criminals. The first is 

• 
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deterrent Keep them from doing it again. The second is punishment Knock the 
hell out of the bastards; they desetve it. The third is treatment They're defective; 
let's fix them. 1196 Behaviorists who work the prison circuit hold that the last is the 
only humane way of reducing recidivism. Perhaps. But one also begins to sense 
in such theorizing a preview of what is to come for the whole society. 

"These behavioral engineers are growing mightily in numbers and influence, 
nourished by a law-and-order administration that though riddled by corruption 
itself, can still deliver the material goods," wrote David Rorvich. "They are not out 
to change the world but to make man adjust to it; they seek results, not 

· understanding. A thick-skinned lot they are, not loath to admit the crudity of 
some of their techniques, claiming results that would take the more elegant 
psychotherapies and social refonns years to attain_. What the world needs now in 
the setvice of 'curing' its deviant and miserable masses, proclaim the new 
psychcrtechnologists, is no more prison reform, urban renewal and nude group 
gropes but a few well- placed corrective kilovolts in the coDective brain. MP7 

The California Medical Facility at Vacaville was the center of a number of 
behavioral research projects funded by various agencies, including the Veterans 
Administration, HEW, the Bureau of Prisons, private drug companies, and others. 
Many of these agencies were fronting for the CIA 

In 1973, there was a "flap" in the press over the testing of drugs by these agencies 
under the guise of behavior modification. It was revealed that tranquilizers, · 
depressants, sedatives, narcotic antagonists, and hypnotics were being tested in 
the hospitals and prisons (see Appendix B). 

Dr. Leo E. Hollister, a medical investigator for the Veterans Administration, 
defended the practice: "The exemplary Medical Facility at Vacaville is one of the 
few places in the country where such [drug] studies are possible ... at a time when 
the demands for such facilities are increasing, in response to an urgent public 
health problem, it would be sad to see them denied to responsible and highly 
reputable clinical investigators. tt98 

It is debatable whether you can characterize the scientists who participated in all 
the projects as "responsible and highly reputable." It appears from the evidence 
that some may rather have been, as Philip Hllts playfully suggests, "hunchbacked 
wart-infested evil scientists .•. fl99 

Perhaps the greatest danger to freedom of thought and behavior is posed by the 
breed of Psycho-scientists who call themselves "behaviorists." While most 
psychologists once concerned themselves with the study of human thought and 
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the rich life of the mind, the behaviorists believe that man's problems can best be 
understood by studying his actions. What a man thinks, sees, feels, wants and 
knows - everything that a man is, behaviorists believe, can be most easily 
understood in terms of what he does. 

Behaviorism would appear to be a predictable expression of materialistic cultures, 
East and West, which value externals above all else. You will seldom hear a 
behaviorist speak of "will" or even "mind." These are considered unscientific, 
subjective tenns. Instead. the behaviorists speak only of "reflexes" which are 
reinforced by conditioning from the environment They look forward to the day 
when they can conclusively prove that conditioning begins at the moment of 
conception, and that reflexes are ultimately the very stuff of what was once called 
the soull The science of behaviorism portrays the human being as mechanistic 
protoplasm. The most avant-garde behaviorists have developed an unholy alliance 
with biochemists who together are exploring genetics, hoping to find the key for 
breeding selected behavioral characteristics. Certainly a person born with all his 
limbs will behave differently from a person who is born with genetic damage and 
without limbs. But beyond that, what some behaviorists are looking for is a 
genetic factor which controls anger, docility, and other personality tendencies. 
While many new scientific insights have come from behaviorism, so have many 
new dangers - especially to the freedom of choice. 

"The day has come," said Professor James V. McConne~ head of the Department of 
Mental Health Research at the University of Michigan, "when we can combine 
sensmy deprivation with the use of drugs, hypnosis, and the astute manipulation 
of reward and punishment to gain almost absolute control over an individual's 
behavior." Did Dr. McConnel expressed the sentiments of behavior modifiers who, 
like cryptocrats, believe that mankind's salvation resides in the control of 
individual behavior in an engineered society? And engineered by whom? 

" ••• We want to reshape our society drastically," McConnel said, "so that all of us 
will be trained from birth to want to do what society wants us to do. Today's 
behavioral psychologists are the architects and engineers who are shaping the 
Brave New World ofTomorrow."100 

In the practical American way - stripped for action - the psychology profession 
appears to be turning away from psychotherapy and is becoming dependent upon 
the time and labor saving practical mechanics of behavior modification depending 
upon principles developed largely through laboratory experimentation. Voluntary 
as well as involuntary actions can be conditioned. Once a reflex is trained into a 
subject, he becomes an automaton, responding to the artificial stimulus to which 
he has been programmed. 

liD hmesMcCoond,Ps,c:mlow TodDfl, .May, 1970. 
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When light shines into the pupil of the eye, it contracts, and when the light is 
removed, it dilates. This pupillary reflex is involuntary; the individual has no 
conscious control over it, but it can be conditioned. 

C.V. Hudgins demonstrated this by conditioning the pupil to a bell using a light as 
the unconditioned stimulus. He would tum on the light. which shone directly 
into the subject's eyes at the same instant he rang a bell. The light made the 
pupil contract every time just as meat made Pavlov's dog drooL 

Hudgins then taught his subjects to use their own hands to operate the bell and 
light mechanisms. Then he would say "contract" and the subject would press the 
switch. When he said "relax'' the subject would relax and tum off both bell and 
light After only a few hours' training, Hudgins found that he could do away with 
the bell, the hand switch, and the light He had only to say the word "contract," 
and the pupil would contract 

A modem apologist of conditioning, Andrew Salter, asserts that hypnosis in 
essence is the same as conditioning. Salter said that after he had conditioned the 
reader of his book to contract his pupi4 as Hudgins had done, he would take him 
to an ophthalmologist 

"Doctor," Salter would declare, "here is a splendid hypnotic subject I control this 
person so thoroughly that at my command his pupil will contract, and 
perceptibly ... 

"Come now," the doctor would say, "you know very well that pupillary contraction 
is involuntary. You need light for that" 

Salter would then tell his conditioned reader "contract," and the reader's pupil 
would obey every time, and the doctor would be perplexed. 

"How do you like hypnotism?" Salter would ask the doctor. 

"'t's amazing," he would answer, but his interest would diminish after Salter 
explained how, paralleling Pavlov and Hudgins, the reader's pupil had been· 
conditioned. "Well," he would say, "come back next time when you have real 
hypnotism." 

"Our doctor is wrong," Salter said. '7here, in the conditioned reflex, he had seen 
the essence of hypnosis. (And parenthetically, when we see that the essence of 
hypnotism is conditioning - or quite loosely, that the essence of the 'unconscious 
mind' is conditioning - we are in a strategic position to develop a sound 
understanding of the deepest wellsprings of human behavior.) "101 
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The cryptocracy, having discovered the wonders of hypnosis, drugs, behavior 
modification, and even more revolutionary electronic and sonic manipulations of 
the brain, learned how to reliably control individual behavior. Whether or not the 
Constitution protects the individual's free thought and speech, and whether one 
regards mind control as bondage or a necessary tool for social engineering, one 
must recognize that the power to control the mind exists - and is being used. 

Did Philip Hilts know how close he'd come when he offered his chilling 
description of the crypto-behaviorists? He wrote: "Suppose a dozen controllers 
with that incurable twitch for power are meeting, now, in some secret mountain 
cabin. There, amid piles of rat-behavior charts, rows of cumulative recorders, and 
reams of human-foibles data, they are designing an environment. They are 
creating blueprints for a system that would produce the most terrible, violent, and 
antisocial peop}e possible. nUIZ 

Debbie Skinner in the 'Skinner Box· dad designed for her. On the right is Dr. 
B.F. Skinner. On the left is Mrs. Skinner who is touching both little Debbie and 
the box with apparent equal affection. Uke some other offspring of famous 
masters of behavior modification, Debbie committed suicide in her twenties. 

Hilts, opdt 
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A SCHOOL FOR ASSASSINS 

The cryptocracy recruited their assassins from among people who had already 
demonstrated a violent nature, people who had few reservations about taking 
human life. No homicidal maniacs were recruited because they could not be 
controlled. The ayptocracy needed killers who would not murder on impulse, 
but only upon command. 

Once selected, the assassin candidates were turned over to the military, where, 
under the guise of "combat readiness" training, they tmderwent a complete 
program of conditioning. Graduates of the program would forever after act with 
ruthless efficiency. They would eliminate local political leaders in a foreign 
country, or undertake "search and destroy" missions in violation of national and 
international laws. They would be given a cover allowing them to enter the 
Foreign Service; or they would pose as embassy marine guards. 

In July, 1975, the Srmdtly Ti11li!S03 in London quoted a U.S. Navy psychologist 
who admitted that U.S. Naval Intelligence had taken convicted murderers from 
military prisons, conditioned them as political assassins, and then placed them in 
American embassies around the world. This admission came shortly after the 
Senate Intelligence Committee had scolded the CIA for plotting a number of 
political assassinations around the world. From the congressional reports, 
however, one got the feeling the cryptocracy was being chastised not for the 
assassinations it had successfully accomplished, but for those which it had 
attempted, but failed. The attempts on the life of Fidel Castro drew the greatest 
notice from the congressional committees and the press. 

According to the Sunday Times story, naval psychologist Ll Comdr. Thomas 
Narut was assigned to the U.S. Regional Medical Center at Naples, Italy. When he 
first made public the navy's part in programming assassins, he was attending a 
NATO conference in Oslo on "Dimensions of Stress and Anxiety." In attendance at 
that conference were 120 psychologists of all descriptions and from many 

1• The fuD siDry ofNirut 11111 rdaltd ewnts an be found in Peta- Watson's book War on II¥ Mind: 'The Milillng Uses 
and Abusa of Pst/diDiofm (Buic Books, 1978). Wabon was the sotn:e of the Sundq 7Jmn mica According to my nota, 
when ] met W&lson in London in 1978 ,he u-gued in 11 consa'VIItM fuhion tN.t tt- aprrimmts wee &mitr.d • He bdiewd 
tbllt mind control wu not 11 widespr'Ad pra.ctic:e, artllinly hlld not gone operatiolllll to the atalt l ~ it hlld. 
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countries. Many of them were involved in research on how to improve man's 
ability to cope with stress, but none of them felt compelled, as Narut did, to 
discuss their work so fully or so frankly. 

The stated objective of the conference was to exchange information on how 
soldiers and people in difficult jobs could cope with stress. Dr. Narut's talk was on 
'The Use of a Symbolic Model and Verbal Intervention in Inducing and Reducing 
Stress." His speech began with a plug for the navy. He knew, he said, that many 
of the scientists present had often encountered problems in their purely scientific 
research because of the military's inclination to research that would yield quick 
and useful results. He sympathized with those who had trouble getting subjects, 
funds, or both out of the military for their purely scientific research. But things 
were different in the nauy he said. 

In the navy, Narut bragged, there were plenty of captive personnel who could be 
used as guinea pigs. In the navy there was a computerized record of each man's 
background and psychological profile, so a quick selection of men with suitable 
psychological inclinations for experiments could be made. Navy psychologists not 
only had access to computerized records, but also to psychological tests and 
background data on a large number of people. In the navy, Narut said, funds were 
plentiful, and there were no problems with transporting subjects for study to 
nearly any place in the world. Narut stated proudly that the U.S. Navy provided 
scientists with the most advanced research facilities in the world. 

A Canadian psychologist at the conference later remarked, "Naruf s message was 
loud and clear- 'Join the navy and study the world.'" 

In his brief discourse, Dr. Narut did no more than hint at the work he had been 
doing in teaching "combat readiness units" to cope with the stress of killing. 
Later, however, during private questioning with a small group of listeners 
(reporter Peter Watson of the Srmdizy Times, a former psychologist, among 
them), Narut unfolded the amazing story of the navy's programming of assassins 
on an assembly line basis. In his mid-thirties, Dr. Narut had just completed his 
doctoral dissertation on the question of whether certain films provoke anxiety, 
and whether forcing a man to do iiTelevant tasks while watching violent fihns 
would help him cope with the anxiety they produced. 

When pressed by Watson to explain the details of this kind of conditioning, Narut 
said he had worked with "combat readiness units" which included men being 
programmed for commander type operations and for undercover placement at 
U.S. embassies. These, Narut said were "hit men and assassins" (Narut's words) 
made ready to kill in selected countries should the need arise. Dr. Alfred Zitani, 
an American delegate to the conference, was very surprised by Narut's disclosure. 
"Do you think Dr. Narut realizes what he has just said?" Zitani asked. "That kind 
of information must be classified." 
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The conditioning ofNarut's assassins was accomplished by audio-visual 
desensitization, a standard behavior modification process. These men were 
"desensitized" to mayhem by being shown films of people being killed or injured 
in a number of different ways. At. ftrst the ftlms would show only mild forms of 
bloodshed. As the men became acclimated to the scenes of carnage, they would 
see progressively more violent scenes. The assassin candidates, Narut explained, 
would eventually be able to dissociate any feelings they might have from even the 
goriest scenes they viewed. 

Narut said that of course U.S. naval psychologists would have first selected the 
candidates for tiaining by their psychological makeup. Those selected for 
assassination assignments were often from submarine crews and paratroops. 
Others were convicted murderers from military prisons who had already shown a 
proclivity for violence. 

Still others were men who had been given awards for valor. World Warn Medal of 
Honor winner Audie Murphy was a subject of extensive research. 

The best killers, according to Narut, were men whom psychologists would classify 
as "passive-aggressive" personalities. These were people with strong drives, 
usually kept under tight control Such types were usually calm, but from time to 
time would exhibit outbursts of temper during which they could literally kill 
without remorse. Narut said that through psychological testing, he and his 
colleagues were looking for more such men, for further conditioning. 

Among the tests used by the navy to determine violent natures was the Minnesota 
Multiphasic Personality Inventory, which is used widely by educators and 
businessmen to detennine psychological qualities of students and employees. 
The tests consist of hundreds of questions designed to measure such personality 
traits as hostility, depression, and psychopathy. 

According to Narut, the men selected by the tests, or by evidence of past violence, 
were taken for programming to the navy's neuropsychiatric laboratory in San 
Diego, California, or to the Naples medical center which employed Dr. Narul 

Audio-visual desensitization was the major technique used in programming the 
assassins. Psychological indoctrination completed the programming by instilling 
the desired prejudicial attitudes. 

The audio-visual desensitization began with the subject strapped into a chair with 
his head clamped so he could not look away from the screen. A special 
mechanism prevented the subject's eyelids from closing, as depicted in the fJ.Im A 
Cloclavork Orange. 

The candidate was then shown a film of an African youth being crudely 
circumcised by fellow members of his tribe. The youth was circumcised with a 
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blunt knife, painfully and without anesthetic. This well known film is used widely 
in psychological experiments to create stress. Mterwards the candidate was asked 
about details of what he had seen. He was asked, for example, to describe the 
color of the belt on the doctor's trousers, or the motif on the handle of the knife 
which cut off the foreskin. 

The next film showed a man in a sawmill, where planks were sliced from huge 
logs. In the operation of the saw the man slipped and cut off his fingers. 

As the films progressed in gruesomeness, the reactions of the candidate were 
measured by sensing devices. Heartbeat, breathing rate, and brain waves were 
recorded, very much as on a polygraph. H the physiological responses, which 
might have been great in the beginning, .slowed down and resumed nonnal 
patterns as the more bloodthirsty scenes were viewed, the candidates were judged 
to have completed this stage of conditioning. 

The last phase of conditioning, Narut said, was to indoctrinate the candidates to 
think of their potential enemies as inferior forms of life. By this stage, the 
candidates would have already been selected for assignment to particular 
countries. They would be shown fihns and given lectures which portrayed the 
customs and cultural habits of the foreign countries in a biased fashion. The 
people of those countries would be portrayed as enemies of the United States and 
were always spoken of in demeaning terms. They were often presented as if they 
were "less than human." Their customs were ridiculed, and local leaders were 
presented as evil demagogues, even if they were legitimate political figures. 

According to Dr. Narut it took only a few weeks to indoctrinate susceptible 
candidates by this process. Those who were not susceptible to the conditioning 
were dropped earlier in the program and returned to other assignments. Narut 
admitted he did not have the necessary "need to know" as to where all the 
programmed men were sent, although at one point in his conversation with Peter 
Watson, Narut specified that programmed assassins have been installed in the 
Athens embassy. He said his busiest time was when a large group of men went 
through such training towards the end of 1973 at the time of the Yom Kippur 
War. 

Mer the Oslo conference interview, Watson returned to London to file his story. 
Writing up the details, he found a few points which needed clarification but he 
could not reach Narut either at his home or in his laboratory in Naples. Watson 
then asked the U.S. embassy in London to comment on the infonnation Narut 
had volunteered. The embassy passed the buck to the U.S. Navy. 

Within a few days the Pentagon issued a categorical denial that the U.S. Navy had 
ever "engaged in psychological training or other types of training of personnel as 
assassins." They also denied any such training had ever taken place either in San 
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Diego or in Naples. The said they too had been unable to contact Lieutenant 
Commander Narut, but they did confinn he was on the staff of the U.S. Regional 
Medical Center in Naples as a psychologist But Dr. Zitani later offered to testify 
about what Narut had told him to "appropriate authorities." Watson was also 
approached later by a psychologist in Los Angeles who said he had seen the 
Pentagon denials so thought Watson would like to know that he had lent the San 
Diego psychologists a copy of his fJ.lm on circumcision which was used in the 
desensitization conditioning. 

A few days later Narut was located. He flew to London to discuss the matter 
ostensibly with Watson's paper, the Srmday Times, but instead he held a press 
conference saying only that he had been talking in "theoretical and not practical 
tenns." He then flew back to the Naples base. 

Mter his return to Naples, U.S. naval headquarters in London offered the official 
explanation for Narut's statement Narut had "personal problems." A few days 
later Watson was able to contact Narut at the U.S. hospital in Naples, but he 
refused to elaborate on his disclosure. 

During the Oslo conference interview, Narut had said several times that what he 
was saying about the assassins was "coming out anyway." He was referring to the 
congressional disclosures about CIA assassination plots. But the fact that the 
navy had been operating along lines similar to the CIA was not known to the 
public nor has it subsequently been admitted. The details of the story that 
Ueutenant Commander Narut related have been strongly and categorically denied 
in all subsequent queries of the navy. 

It came as no surprise to many that the navy had been interested in psychological 
research to help its men cope with "stress." Several years before, one of the 
organizers of the Oslo conference, Dr. Irwin Sarason, had been approached by the 
navy to work on projects similar to Narut's. At the time, the navy had said 
nothing to him about programming assassins; it said it wanted him to adapt his 
work for applications to "spies." 

In response to that request, Sarason devised a film which showed how successful 
students asked questions in school The film was shown to a group of juvenile 
delinquents for a period of time until they too learned how to pose the right 
questions. As a result, over the next two years they did much better in their 
studies and got in trouble less. The control group who had not seen the films did 
just as poorly in school as they'd always done and were just as delinquent 

Since his "symbolic modeling" study had been successfuL Sarason wanted to 
continue research and applied to the Office of Naval Research for more funding. A 
few weeks after his application was received, Sarason was called by a navy official 
who asked him if he would object to having his work classified. Sarason 
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wondered why, and the navy official told him his research would be most valuable 
to the navy's neuropsychiatric laboratory in California as spies were being trained 
there to resist interrogation. The naval official said that if Sarason would allow his 
work to be classified, he'd get all the funds he needed. 

But Sarason was interested in the peaceful scientific nature of his work, not its 
military applications, so he refused to have the project classified. His goal was the 
exception rather than the rule. 

The federal govenunent supports most scientific research in the United States. 
Enough psychologists and other social scientists haven't asked questions about 
what their research is to be used for; their main objective has been to get the 
grant, so they could support themselves and their scientific curiosity. Since too 
many of them have been politically disinterested or naive, they have been easy 
prey for the cryptocracy. Ueutenant Commander Narut was therefore but one in 
a long line of psychologists being employed for psychological warfare and illegal 
clandestine operations. 

Another such operation was the training of security officers at the Washington 
based International Police Academy by psychologists and sociologists. The 
officers were supposedly being taught interrogation techniques for Third World 
countries; actually it was a highly sensitive clandestine operation organized for 
the training of U.S. spies. Congress closed the Academy on January 1, 1974, after 
its real purpose was disclosed to the press. 

Another, uncovered in the late 1960's, was "Project CAMELOT," purportedly a 
sociopolitical analysis of Chile, but actually designed to keep Chile free of 
Communist leaders by disc-editing them. Project CAMELOT played an important 
role in the overthrow of Salvador Allende and his democratically elected leftist 
government 

In 1975, Congress questioned the navy about its development of a questionnaire 
to survey attitudes toward death. Congressmen had learned that psychologists 
were eagerly working on such a questionnaire, known as the "Value of Life" study, 
that would allow the navy to assess a reauit' s willingness and ability to kill from 
the very first day he entered the service. 

In still another government funded experiment, psychologists working for the 
Human Resources Research Organization in Alexandria., Vuginia, had conducted a 
brutal series of "stress training" experiments in the early 1960's 

In one experiment anny 'volunteers" were taken on an airplane flight. Suddenly, 
the airplane's engines failed and the plane was forced to land abruptly on a rough 
airstrip. The soldiers were later tested to see if this incident had caused a fear of 
flying. In another experiment soldiers were taken out and "lost" in a forest. 
Suddenly, a huge forest fire engulfed them, so that the men found themselves "off 
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coW"Se" and surrounded by flre. These men were tested to see if the experience 
had given them a fear of fue. 

In yet another experiment, soldiers were allowed to "stray" into an artillery target 
area. Shells were exploding all around them, and they had to get out of the area 
by keeping cool and following orders. Since artillery shells fired from a distance of 
twenty five miles away are hard to contro~ the explosions were created by 
detonating underground charges triggered by remote control from a lookout 
point Mter the realistic shelling was over the men were tested to see if they 
suffered any discernible "shell shock." 

During all these experiments the men were under visual observation. In some, 
they also wore telemetzy devices which allowed scientists to measure their pulse 
rate, respiration, and other vital signs to detennine the level of stress they were 
experiencing at the time they were exposed to the dangers. 

As this battery of experiments became known to the outside world, public opinion 
and congressional pressure supposedly brought a stop to them. The military was 
not deterred, however, from other kinds of cruel and dangerous experimentation; 
it continued its stress research in spite of the bad publicity. 

While military "stress testing" may have developed useful insights into the 
psychology of warriors, its primary goal, as Lieutenant Commander Narut pointed 
out, was the programming of assassins. These experiments were most useful in 
programming those men who were already inclined to kill. Hypnosis was sliD the 
only effective tool for motivating those who were not inclined to kill, then for 
erasing the memory of their crimes or eliciting false confessions. 

Alanned by evidence found in the assassinations of John and Robert Kennedy and 
Martin Luther King, Dr. Joseph L. Bernd of the Vaginia Polytechnic Institute in 
1968 questioned leading authorities on hypnosis about the possible use of 
hypnosis to motivate assassins. 

Bernd wanted to know if political influences could be induced by hypnosis; could 
people be hypno-programmed to operate unconsciously and take what seemed to 
be independent action? Could people be influenced to commit political 
assassination as a consequence of hypnotic influence? 

In his query Bernd asked authorities to assume that a skilled hypnotist found a 
subject who was both a good hypnotic subject and highly capable in the use of 
weapons. They were to assume that the subject also had a deep hatred for some 
political personality prominent in the news. Bernd's first question to the 
authorities was: "Could the hypnotist use hypnotic suggestion to persuade the 
weapons expert to kill the bated political personality at a time and under 
conditions suggested by the hypnotist?" 
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His second question was: "Could the hypnotic suggestion of this action be 
achieved in a way which could leave the subject assassin unconscious of and 
unable to recall to consciousness the fact that his violent act was made as a 
consequence of hypnotic suggestion?" 

The authorities who responded to Bernd's questions stated they did think it 
possible to induce a subject to kill. One expert said, "_J would say that a highly 
skilled hypnotist, working with a highly susceptible subject, could possibly 
persuade the subject to kill another human._" Another expert went further, 
saying it was possible through posthypnotic suggestion to make a subject unable 
to recall his acl "There could be a conspiracy," one expert wrote, "but a 
conspiracy of which the principal was unaware." 

It may well be that Bernd hit a nerve in the ayptocracy. His report, 
"Assassination and Hypnosis: Political Influence or Conspiracy," was never 
published. 

But despite all the efforts of the ayptocracy, slowly, the secrets of mind control 
began to emerge. Soon there surfaced other evidence that there were indeed such 
things as programmed assassins. One such assassin made bold headlines on the 
front page of a newspaper in the Philippines. 

American Institute of Hypnosis Director, Dr. William Jennings Bryan Ill, sits 
before a panel through which he could program three subjects at one time. 
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THE FOUR FACES OF A ZOMBIE 

On March 2, 1967, Luis Angel Castillo, age twenty-four, was arrested by the 
Philippine National Bureau of Investigation (NBU on suspicion of conspiring to 
assassinate President Ferdinand Marcos in Manilla. In a series of interrogation 
sessions, the NBI and Philippine Anny investigators gave him buth serum (at his 
request) and put him under hypnosis. During one of these sessions, Castillo 
revealed he had been involved in an assassination four years earlier. 

Castillo told the NBI, both under hypnosis and truth serum and also in a nonnal 
state, that he had been hypnoprogram.med to kill a man riding in an open car. 
Although Castillo did not know the identity of his target, the scene of his 
supposed "hit" was Dallas, Texas. The date was November 22, 1963. 

After revealing this infonnation, Castillo asked for political asylum in Manila. He 
was quoted in theManilll Times as saying,"' am afraid to go anywhere anyway. I 
am as good as dead now." 

"' don't know how I got into Dallas or how I got out," Castillo told reporters, "but I 
am sure I did not cany a gun." 

The Manilla Times story reported that Castillo had arrived in Manila carrying a 
Philippine passport which identified him as Antonio Reyes Eloriaga, a returning 
resident who had been expelled from America for overstaying his visa and stealing 
a car. While in the U.S., Castillo had traveled under the aliases Angelo Rodriguiz, 
Razo Hernandez, Mario Rodriguez, Ignacio Gonzales Gradjeda, and Antonio 
Eloriaga. 

Castillo told investigators that a woman with a German accent, a Mrs. Kreps, had 
given him his initial instructions in Dallas. According to Castillo, she was just one 
of many individuals who worked on him to place ~ in a deep hypnotic trance 
for the Kennedy job. Castillo said he had been a private in the Cuban militia, the 
Segunda Organizacion Defensiva in Santiago, Cuba, when he was initially chosen 
for training in espionage work. He was subsequently trained by the Defensiva 
under a Colonel Calma, at a camp located about fifteen miles from the Bay of 
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Pigs. Among the members of the training cadre, Castillo said, were a 
communications expert named Kamovsky, along with some other Cubans and a 
handful of Americans. One American he identified was James Smith, who 
attended to Castillo's needs both as a civilian in Cuba and later in the United 
States. 

Three years later, on October 2, 1966, Castillo was arrested in New Mexico and 
charged with driving without a proper auto registration. His arrest was made 
under the Eloriaga identity. Castillo was brought before New Mexico Justice of 
the Peace Elmer Bassett and sentenced to four days in jail. "The reason I gave 
him a jail sentence," Bassett said, "was I figured when a fellow has a hard time 
remembering what his name is, there's something wrong with him." Mter 
serving his sentence Castillo was turned over to U.S. immigration authorities 
because he had no proof of U.S. citizenship. 

Bassett reported that "Castillo said he was from Madison, WJScon.sin, but was born 
in the Philippines. He couldn't show that he was from the Philippines or that he 
wasn't." 

Bassett also revealed that someone had called him a few hours after Castillo had 
appeared before him and asked that the man be released." I don't know who it 
was," Bassett said, "'just told them I couldn't do that" 

According to the NBI, Castillo had Antonio Eloriaga's Philippine passport on his 
person when he was arrested in Manila. Based on infonnation provided by the 
intelligence service of the Philippine anned forces, the NBI had been searching for 
him since February. They had evidence that Castillo, in the guise of Eloriaga, had 
made contact with a guenilla group which was constantly plotting to assassinate 
Marcos and overthrow the Philippine government 

The NBI set to work grilling their captured su.Spect. They knew something of his 
aiminal pasl They knew, for example, he had been arrested in 1962 for canying 
a concealed weapon; they also knew that two years later he had been sentenced to 
a state refonnatory in Bordentown, New Jersey, for larceny. But nothing prepared 
them for the shocking story implicating him in the events in Dallas. 

They asked Castillo to submit to a lie detector test and were surprised when he 
said he preferred truth serum. Suspicious of both his strange story and his 
behavior, NBI officials called in a psychiatrist to examine him. But even after the 
psychiatrist judged Castillo normal, the NBI investigators still refused to take 
Castillo's bizarre and contradictory story at face value. 

Later, reporters connected with the Manilo. Times were equally dumbfounded by 
Castillo's strange behavior. 
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One reporter described him as a "now talkative, now reticent cloak-and-dagger 
man." He clammed up when he was asked whether he was in the Philippines to 
help implement an assassination plot against President Marcos. In his truth 
serum statemen~ he claimed he had worked with a "cell of Reds" to end 
someone's life. But during his interview with the press he said, "neither do I 
admit or deny it" When quizzed about Lee Harvey Oswald, he drew a blank. 

As a member of the Warren Commission, Gerald Ford was queried by the 
Philippine authorities about Castillo's revelations concerning the JFK 
assassination. Ford said he would not comment on the Castillo story until he had 
more information. A spokesman for the Dallas Police Department said they had 
no record on Castillo. 

Nevertheless, the U.S. embassy did agree to a closed door meeting between 
embassy officials and NBI Director Serafin Fausto on the subject of Castillo. Mter 
the meeting Fausto refused to comment further on the story, but he did tell 
reporters that, "although publication of the story had prejudiced investigation of 
the case, one good thing has come out of it; needed information is coming in 
from the United States to shed light on the case." 

Fausto also made it clear that leads obtained from the U.S. embassy justified 
continuing the investigation of Castillo's link to the assassination· of President 
Kennedy. 

Mter making an official request for assistance from the FBI, the NBI clamped a 
news blackout on the story, and nothing further was published in the press. 
Private investigations later revealed that Castillo was spirited out of the 
Philippines, but not before a series of hypnotic sessions had taken place, at the 
request of the FBI. 

The FBI wanted to have Castillo, while under hypnosis, place the time of the 
Kennedy assassination. They wanted to know when Castillo had come to Dallas, 
what time he arrived at the building, and from what location he was supposed to 
shoot They wanted to know the time he left the building, the names of any 
people involved, and any information which might indicate how the plot was 
hatched, and by whom. 

It came as a surprise to the NBI that the FBI also wanted Castillo questioned 
about the Boyeros airport, eight miles south of Havana, Cuba. The FBI requested 
the tightest possible security be kept on any testimony obtained from the 
hypnotic sessions. 

In the last of three sessions requested by the FBI, Castillo was induced into a deep 
hypnotic trance by the ordinary ta1k:ing method in an NBI interrogation room in 
Manila. While in that trance state he was questioned for more than three and one 
half hours. The hypnotist's report stated, "'nitially, the subject indicated an 
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admixture of desired susceptibility to hypnosynthesis but deep seated resistance 
due to the presence of a posthypnotic block. This block appeared to have been 
connected with the presence -- nightmarish - of a Mrs. Kreps. The total removal 
of this block may pave the way for maximum results." 

The hypnotist reported that during the preb'ance warm up, he examined Castillo 
and found little scars on his forehead, chest, stomach, and fingers. Castillo told 
him the scars were the result of a car accident in the U.S., which happened when 
some men were chasing him while he was trying to deliver "an envelope of some 
kind." Castillo mentioned that after the crash he'd awakened in bandages in a 
hospital bed. 

Names which were presented to Castillo in the pretrance interview were repeated 
while he was under hypnosis. He recognized the names of several individuals 
who were then gaining notoriety in connection with New Orleans District 
Attorney Jim Garrison's JFK assassination investigation. But Castillo revealed 
that he knew some of the people by other names. 

Throughout his recollections, Castillo suffered stomach cramps, said he felt a 
"weight on his legs," and cried out in pain a number of times. Through the 
manipulations of the hypnotist, he was able to recall that on many different 
occasions he had been taken to a factory. Mrs. Kreps and Castillo had always 
driven to the factocy in her car, and they had always entered through the front 
door. Castillo could not remember the exact location of the factory, other tlwl it 
was located "way outside Chicago." He spoke of a romantic relationship with Mrs. 
Kreps. But while one moment he spoke of her as "nice" and "kind," in the next 
breath he said he hated her. 

According to the hypnotist's report, one thing was certain. Whoever Mrs. Kreps 
was, she "controlled the subject's activities and consciousness like a nightmare." 

Eliciting information from Castillo was no easy task. Over the course of many 
interrogations, the hypnotist discovered that Castillo could be taken to four 
different hypnotic levels. It appeared to the hypnotist that each level came closer 
to the truth. He labeled these states "Zombie 4 Zombie ll, Zombie Ill, and Zombie 
IV." Depending upon which "Zombie" state Castillo was in, his mannerism and 
identity changed. 

In the first state, "Zombie L" Castillo believed he was Eloriaga, and he told tales of 
anti-American espionage. During "Zombie II," he took on the identity of a tough 
talking CIA agent in trouble. While in "Zombie m," again Castillo emerged as an 
agent whose cover had been blown. At this level, however, he experienced a 
compulsion to kill himself. On the day he was to have assassinated Marcos, 
Castillo responded to a program he had revealed in an earlier interrogation. He 
attempted suicide in his jail cell by swallowing a bottle of epoxy. 
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The "Zombie IV" state revealed that "Castillo's" true name was Manuel Angel 
Ramirez, a twenty-nine-year-old native of the Bronx, New York. In this state he 
had no recollection of his youth, except for a hazy memory of his father, who 
"Ramirez" believed was a highly placed official at "the Agency." 

As "Ramiriz," Castillo said that most of his life had been spent in training with or 
on missions for the Special Operations Group of the CIA He remembered one 
training camp where he learned clandestine and martial arts. Throughout the 
interrogations the theme of "programmed agent" emerged. Castillo's testimony 
under hypnosis was that of an individual whose identity had been completely 
erased and reconstructed several times over. 

On May 30, 1967, Castillo spontaneously went from his normal state into a 
"Zombie" state. In answering Castillo's question about transfer from the hospital 
to jail, the hypnotist unknowingly said, "That depends entirely on the big chief, 
you know." Upon hearing these words, a blank look came over Castillo's eyes and 
all efforts to wake him were at first unsuccessfuL The hypnotist then called out a 
series of phrases from Castillo's notebooks and found the phrases "I will win if I 
don't lose my nerve" and "I must believe myself or no one else will believe me" 
awakened him. 

The next day was Castillo's birthday. The NBI planned to give him a birthday 
party as an excuse to get him drunk to see if his behavior changed. Castillo, it 
seemed, had a huge capacity for liquor. Drunk to the eyeballs, he saluted one of 
the NBI agents and called him "Colonel" "Where do we fly tonight, Colonel?" he 
asked. 

The agent quickly told him he was to fly the same mission as the last one. 
Castillo said, "Haiphong," then drunkenly fell into bed. He dug his fingers into his 
throat and vomited. he aied out for a doctor and between vomit spasms, rattled 
out his mission to the hypnotist 

He said his real name was Manuel .Angel Ramirez, his rank was sergeant, and he 
was assigned to the Strategic Air Tactical Command in South Vietnam. he said 
his immediate superior was Colonel Summers. 

He was in Saigon in January, 1966, he related, and had flown B-26 missions over 
Haiphong and Hanoi. He came to Manila, he said, to kill President Marcos in 
June, when the president would make a public speech. If his assassination 
attempt failed someone else would get Marcos before the end of 1968, Castillo 
added. 

"' am dying," he groaned, and pleaded again for a doctor. He thought he was 
dying from a heart attack. "If I die today," he warned, "my secrets die with me." 
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When the NBI doctor arrived, he examined Castillo and pronounced him fit, 
except for his obviously drunken state. He tried to give him a shot to cahn him 
down, but Castillo protested violently. The doctor then asked him to take a pill, 
which he did without resistance. 

Two days later, Castillo was given another medical exantination by Dr. Alexis 
Guerrero of the NBI. A series of tests were given to measure his breathing rate, 
pulse rate, perspiration and other functions. All of these tests were perfonned in 
"Zombie" states I, II, and m. The doctor noted that in each state there was a vast 
difference in pulse rate, and assumed, because of what Castillo said, and the 
reactions of his heart and respiratio~ that he was experiencing some emotional 
agitation. 

Sodium amytal was administered while he was in the "Zombie ill" state. 
According to the Hypnotist, Castillo did not even notice he'd been given the 
injection. Soon he began to talk as he'd done previously while in the drunken 
state. "''m Sergeant Manuel Ramirez of the Tactical Air Command," he said. 
When asked to reveal his base he said, '"iou'll never know," adding,"' am a pilot 
I've flown a B-26." 

"The NBI are suckers," he said a little while later. "They thought they arrested me. 
But there I was, waiting for them to get me. I know of a great plot I am 
supposed to expose it, after I'm arrested. I know I will eventually return to my 
country [the U.S.]. I'll go through the motions of a trial, convictio~ and jail as a 
aiminal. After a couple of months I will be released for my next assignment" 

Awakened from the "Zombie" state, Castillo was told all about these various states 
and his strange behavior while in them. the hypnotist explained how he thought 
Castillo had been programmed. Castillo seemed baffled by this news. He said he 
was not told by anybody about being programmed. He said that "Papa" didn't 
even know about the "Zombie" state. He grew agitated, saying that if he were in 
the "Zombie" state he might even kill "Papa," and then "the Agency would go to 
blazes. Hell will break loose on the guy responsible for the Zombie." 

Asked in trance to identify "Papa," Castillo said that he was not just a "guy," but 
was his real father. He described him as having a mustache and smoking a pipe. 
He said he was the only one who could send the Agency to "blazes" if he, Castillo, 
was killed on this mission. He said "Papa's" initials were AD. and that his first 
name was "Allen." He said he would personally tell "Papa" about the "Zombie" 
when he got back. 

After more than forty hypnotic sessions lasting from one to five hours each, 
covering the period from April3 to June 25, 1967, the hypnotist reviewed the data 
and summarized it for the Chief of the Defense Intelligence Division of the 
National Bureau of Investigation. The summary report not only involved Castillo 
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in the assassination of John F. Kennedy; it disclosed Castillo was a hypno­
programmed "Zombie" who would kill on cue. 

The summary report stated: "The Zombie phenomenon referred to here is a 
somnambulistic behavior displayed by the subject in a conditioned response to a 
series of words, phrases, and statements, apparently unknown to the subject 
during his nonnal waking state. While under the influence of such a Zombie 
state, the subject closed his eyes, rose bodily, walked, triggered a pisto~ stared 
blankly, and fell to the floor with no apparent sense of physical pain. As far as 
could be detennined experimentally, the Zombie behavior had for its objective the 
assassination of President Ferdinand Marcos of the Republic of the Philippines." 

The report also added: "Neither the presence nor the discovery of the Zombie 
states in our subject should be regarded as noble or unique. If anything, the only 
remarkable character of the Zombie state in our subject is its deeply ingrained and 
systematic presentation, indicating a certain disturbing degree of conditioning." 

In a lengthy summary, the NBI hypnotist and deprogrammer of Castillo 
recounted the details of exactly how he had uncovered the key that unlocked the 
programmed assassin's mind. 

The letters "XBGUMIDUTYBX" were found scribbled on the white swface of a 
cigarette package which was in Castillo's possession at the time of his arrest. The 
paper had been folded carefully and tucked into the back of his watch. Castillo 
had told investigators that this piece of paper was given him by a man named Luis 
Mauricio. Castillo said Mauricio also gave him money. Mauricio was known to 
the NBI as a member of the Huk guerrillas. 

Placing Castillo in a trance, the hypnotist called the series of letters on the 
cigarette package. Castillo did not react. He then bied calling out the letters, 
pausing at different places. He found that when he paused between the G and the 
U, saying "XBG,UMIDUTYBX," Castillo would reply with "I am myself to kilL" 

The hypnotist then bied the letters one at a time, and then in different 
combinations. While many of the combinations produced no response, the 
following were significant 

When the hypnotist said "X," Castillo quickly answered "Mauricio." 

When the hypnotist said "BGU," Castillo slowly said, "I am myself." 

When the hypnotist said, "MI," Castillo answered, "to kill." 

In another session the hypnotist experimented with saying "Luis Castillo" as a 
command. The hypnotist reported, "A pathetic sight takes place after this. The 
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subject turns his pistol to his own temple and squeezes the trigger, as many times 
as his name is repeated." 

Whenever the hypnotist would say, "June 12, 1967, 12 o'clock,"" June 22, 1967," 
"July 4,1967," or "January 1, 1968," Castillo would invariably aim the pistol and 
squeeze the trigger. 

The hypnotist found that after the preparatory command to put him in a trance, if 
Castillo's eyes were open and he saw a photograph of President Marcos, he would, 
with no verbal instructions, aim and repeatedly squeeze the trigger of his pisto~ 
following the photo wherever it was taken around the room. H the hypnotist said 
the word "kill" while Castillo was following this program, he would drop heavily to 
the floor and remain motionless. 

The hypnotist's report also includes Castillo's amazing story about his 
participation in yet another organized assassination attempt Under hypnosis, 
Castillo said the assassination happened "before noon." He remembered being 
with a man called "Lake," whom he described as a tall man, weighing about 190 
lbs., with a hawklike nose, black hair, and Oriental eyes set in a long face. Lake 
spoke with a foreign accent which Castillo could not identify. He said he 
remembered meeting Lake along with four or five other men in an airport They 
then drove together in a black car to a building. Castillo said he thought the 
group included both Americans and foreigners, and he thought one man was 
Spanish. 

When the group arrived at the building, Castillo said they climbed to a second 
floor room which he described after some uncertainty as brown. The room 
contained packing crates, a short brown table, a typewriter, and two "lift-up glass 
windows overlooking a street "Lake opened a black suitcase, which Castillo 
described as a bowling bag with a zipper and lock. It contained a scope and pieces 
of a rifle, which Lake assembled. He set the scope at 500 yards and gave the rifle 
to Castillo. Castillo did not seem certain about the make or caliber of the rifle, but 
finally said he thought it was Russian. 

Lake told him to shoot a man in the back seat of an open car in the middle of the 
caravan. He said the man would be seated with a lady or another man. A mirror 
was to be flashed twice from a building across the street, so Castillo would lmow 
when he was to shoot When he saw the two flashes he was supposed to shoot at 
the next car coming into view. When he was questioned about the identity of the 
man riding in the open car, Castillo said he did not know who the victim was. 

After Lake had assembled the rifle and had given Castillo his instructions, he went 
downstairs. Later Lake rushed into the room. "They got him already," Lake told 
him. "Let's get out of here." He then grabbed the rifle away from Castillo, 
Dismantled it, and stuffed it and the scope into the black bag. 
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Castillo and Lake rushed downstairs, got into a car with two other men, and drove 
away from the building. They picked up a bald-headed, skinny man after they 
turned the first comer. Three or four blocks later the car stopped and picked up 
another man. 

Castillo said he was riding in the back seat between Lake and the man who had 
joined them at the second stop. As the car drove away from the scene of the 
crime, the unidentified man gave Castillo an injection while he wasn't looking. 
He went immediately to sleep and woke up in a Chicago hotel room with Mrs. 
Kreps. 

He and Mrs. Kreps got into a blue car and drove to Milwaukee, Castillo said. 
While driving there, they heard the news of the assassination of John F. Kennedy 
on the car radio. 

Within a few days after the hypnotist submitted his final report, Castillo was out 
of the NBI jail and had left the Philippines for parts unknown. It was later 
uncovered that Castillo was returned to the United States in 1967 and questioned 
by the FBL whose spokesman said, "We talked to Castillo and he told us that he'd 
fabricated his story about the Kennedy assassination. Said he'd made it up in 
Manila. 

The official record says Castillo was sentenced to six years in the Missouri 
Penitentiary for robbery in June, 1971. On August 1, 1974, he was released after 
serving thirty-seven months. Castillo's last known contact was with his mother 
shortly after his release from prison. Since then he has disappeared, from both 
his family and those researchers who would like to question him further. 

If Castillo had indeed "made it up in Manila," as the FBI spokesman claimed, then 
he must have had a phenomenal memory, an incredibly high tolerance to sodium 
amytal and alcoho4 and virtuoso acting ability. Neither the psychological profile 
nor the life history of Luis Angel Castillo supports the conclusion that he 
possessed any of these talents. 
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Whenever I've projected the image on the right on a screen and asked the 
audience to identify the person in it, they've shouted back with confidence: 
"Sirhan Sirhan."! then showed them the image on the left. That is the image of 
Sirhan Sirhan takend shortly after his arrest. The image on the right is the 
image of Luis Angel Castillo. Their appearance is similar. They were about the 
same size, same color. They dressed similarty and some of their peculiar habits 
were similar.They each kept a diary which strongly suggested that they were 
both programmed in a similar way 
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THEWNENUTS 

MKULTRA was fully operational when Luis Castillo was programmed. It was 
active that same decade when events blamed on three "lone assassins" changed 
the course of history. 

In a well executed, mass indoctrination campaign employing all the honor, 
prestige, and power of the U.S. government, Americans were told over and over 
again the lives of John Kennedy, Martin Luther King, and Robert Kennedy were 
all taken by lone assassins - men operating without political motivation. These 
three assassins- Lee Harvey Oswald, James Earl Ray, and Sirhan Sirhan­
conveniently left diaries, underlinings in various books, and other 
self-incriminating clues to establish their guill 

The evidence gathered on the assassinations remains fragmented and incomplete. 
Any event of such magnitude as political assassination is bound to invite a large 
number of interpretations. While in 1978 when the first edition of this book 
appeared there was not any conclusive proof of a conspiracy, more than eighty 
percent of the American public then believed there was a conspiracy. Today, after 
Oliver Stone's masterful fihn JFK, more than ninety percent of the public believe 
that John F. Kennedy was murdered by conspirators working with the U.S. 
intelligence agencies. While Congress did cite Richard Hehns for contempt, and 
declared that the FBI and the CIA did not cooperate with the Warren Commission, 
the murders of Kennedy, Kennedy and King remain unsolved mysteries in the 
public's opinion. A string of circumstantial evidence, and a knowledge of the 
fundamentals of mind control invites further speculation. 

In each case the method was the same - death by the bullel In each case the 
circumstances were the same -- murder in a public place in view of many 
witnesses. All three assassins were men whose personal histories can be 
interpreted to indicate they were mentally unstable. Evidence suggests ~ three 
had been hypnotized at one time or another. 

But the similarity in their psychological proflles, and the "coincidence" of each 
having left a trail of evidence, did not seem suspicious to the government 
investigators of the assassination. That three assassins, from three different parts 
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of the country, with three different ethnic backgrounds (and three different 
victims in three different cities), could all have had the same modus operandi did 
not seem improbable to the investigators. Those "coincidences" did not even 
warrant their notice. 

A good detective would immediately have suspected the M.O. of each assassin was 
a cover laid down by a professional hit team. 

The cryptoaacy which grew up after World War II was composed of a cadre of 
professionals, trained during the war. Professional intelligence agents in both the 
KGB and the CIA are trained to stick to the cover story that works, and use it as 
long as it does work. Even if the cover story is blown, the agent is supposed to 
stick to it and, if necessary, die with sealed lips. The "lone nut" theory- that the 
assassins of King and the Kennedys acted alone - and the evidence planted to 
support that theory, stand out as a typical professional intelligence "cover." 

The modus operandi or method of a murder is the first of two major clues 
detectives use to solve aimes. The second clue is the motive. 

Those who support the "lone nut" theory point to the fact that no clear political 
motive could be attributed to any of the three assassins. Yet even to a casual 
student of history each of the three murders was of obvious political benefit to the 
extreme right John and Robert Kennedy and Martin Luther King were all 
independent thinkers who could not be bought off. They worked for expanded 
civil rights in a manner the right wing interpreted as being Communist, e.g., it 
involved govemment legislation of civil rights. 

The Church Committee investigation clearly showed that J. Edgar Hoover had a 
personal vendetta against Dr. King, and it has been reported he lost no love for 
the Kennedy brothers. The Kennedys were not only on the wrong side of 
Hoover's FBI, they were on the wrong side of the CIA as well. JFK fired several 
top intelligence officers (he asked for Allen Dulles' resignation) and at the time of 
his death he was privately talking about reorganizing the entire U.S. intelligence 
service. 

Robert Kennedy, as attorney general, was waging a tireless campaign against 
organized aime. His campaign cut across the alliance the CIA had formed with 
gangsters who had lost their gambling and drug concessions in Cuba. Robert 
Kennedy was a close friend of Dr. King, and one rumor persists that the assassins 
had issued a dire warning to RFK not to run for president, and that King was 
sacrificed to show that the group meant business. A similar threat was issued 
against Ted Kennedy when he was entertaining presidential thoughts. Robert 
Kennedy's knowledge of the CIA-Mafia link and the CIA assassination teams might 
have been a motive behind the motive, assuming fanatical right-wing operators 
were "contracted" for the "Executive actions" against the three. 
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The obvious results of all three assassinations would indicate the extreme right 
wing, known to be widespread in the cryptocracy, had the most to gain. By their 
deaths, the civil rights movement was severely crippled, the conflict in Vietnam 
escalated, and the corrupt leaders of the cryptocracy stayed in power. 

In the late '70's a rumor was put forth by CBS News and others that Castro an<Vor 
the KGB were behind the assassinations. That theory smells like more 
d.isinfonnation from the cryptocracy. The motives of the Communists seem 
much less clear than the motives of misguided patriotic, white, right -thinking 
Americans. The cryptocracy was in a better position to benefit from the deaths of 
the three charismatic and humanitarian leaders than were the Communists. 

Following the assassination of President Kennedy, his successor appointed a now 
notorious commission to investigate the crime. Headed by Chief Justice Earl 
Warren, it included Sen. John Shennan Cooper (R., Kenhlcky), Sen. Richard B. 
Russell (D., Georgia), Rep. Hale Boggs (D., Louisiana), Rep. Gerald R. Ford (R., 
Michigan), fonner CIA director Allen Dulles, and John J. McCloy. 

After nine months of deliberation, the Warren Commission concluded Lee Harvey 
Oswald acting alone, had shot President Kennedy. Although Oswald was in tum 
assassinated by Dallas thug Jack Ruby, and although Ruby's connections with 
organized crime and the anti-Castro movement were welllmown, the 
Commission found no evidence of a conspiracy. 

The twenty-six volumes of evidence which made up the commission's final report 
left so many questions unasked that by December, 1976, a Harris Survey 
concluded 80 percent of the U.S. population did not believe the commission's 
conclusion. 

From the beginning, the investigation was slanted towards proving Oswald was 
guilty and had acted alone. The commission had proceeded with haste to put to 
rest forever the question: Was there a conspiracy behind the Kennedy 
assassination? In its haste it had overlooked key facts and ignored witnesses who 
did not support the foregone conclusion that there was no conspiracy - that 
Oswald was just a "lone nut" 

Throughout the Warren Commission hearings there was conflicting testimony 
about Oswald. There was testimony that Oswald did not drive a car. There was 
other testimony that he did drive, and very well. Some of his acquaintances said 
he was a poor shot, too poor to have accomplished the feat of marksmanship in 
Dealy Plaza. others said he was a fine marksman. Some said, by turns, he was a 
Communist, a pro-Castro and an anti-Castro sympathizer. His own mother said 
he perfonned undercover work for the U.S. governmenl Out of this mass of 
conflicting evidence, the Warren Commission simply took what was needed to 
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support its foregone conclusion, and relegated the rest to published transcripts or 
to top-secret files in the National Archives. 

There were so many conflicting descriptions of Oswald that many independent 
assassination investigators subsequently concluded there must have been at least 
two Oswalds - the "real" one and an intelligence double. H, however, one 
considers that Oswald might have been controlled in the same way as Candy 
Jones or Luis Casb1lo - split into multiple personalities - another explanation for 
some of the conflicting descriptions of the assassin becomes credible. He might 
have been an excellent shot in one zombie state, and in another he might have 
been blocked so he could not even aim a rifle. In one state he might have had the 
ability to drive a car, whlle in another state he might have had a posthypnotic 
block so that he could not drive. 

Oswald said he didn't kill anybody. His statement was recorded in the basement 
of the Dallas Pollee Station on the day after the assassination. Captured on film 
by a local CBS film crew, Oswald told reporters, "' positively know nothing about 
this situation here. I would like to have legal representation." In answer to an 
inaudible question from one reporter Oswald said, "WeD, I was questioned by a 
judge. However, I protested at that time that I was not allowed legal 
representation during that very short and sweet hearing. I really don't know what 
this situation is about Nobody has told me anything, except that I'm accused of 
murdering a policemen. I know nothing more than that I do request someone 
to come forward to give me legal assistance." 

"Did you kill the President?" another reporter asked. 

"No," Oswald answered, "' have not been charged with that In fact, nobody has 
said that to me yet The first thing I heard about it was when the newspaper 
reporters in the hall asked me that question." 

Ten years after Oswald made that statement, George O'Toole applied a newly 
developed "truth detector," the Psychological Stress Evaluator (PSE), to the 
soundtrack of the film whiCh recorded Oswald's protestation of innocence. The 
PSE, unlike the polygraph, does not have to be connected to the body to measure 
stress. It measures subaudible micro-tremors in the human voice which occur 
whenever an individual experiences even mlld anxiety or stress. The 
micro-tremors form a distinct pattern on the PSE chart and can then be 
compared to stress patterns in other parts of the statement A deliberate lie, 
especially one which involves personal jeopardy, stands out clearly from the other 
stress patterns that might represent situational stress or vague anxiety. Oswald 
was in a situation of high stress that day. He had been grilled for hours by the 
police. He had been manhandled and accused of killing not only a police officer 
but also the President of the United States. 
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Yet the PSE analysis of Oswald's statement showed he exhibited far more stress 
when he was talking about not being represented by a lawyer than he did when he 
denied murdering the President or the police officer. George O'Toole concluded, 
as have many other investigators, that Oswald was innocenl He could not have 
been consciously involved in the assassination as a fall guy -- a patsy - or he 
would have shown stress in his answers to these key questions on PSE. 

Posing as a Look reporter, fanner CIA employee O'Toole conducted and recorded 
interviews with local police officials and FBI men who were the original 
investigators in the Kennedy case. Too many of their PSE patterns showed levels 
of stress which could only be interpreted as having been the result of willful 
deception. In his book The Assassination Tapes, O'Toole offers the details of his 
PSE analysis, and concludes, not surprisingly, there was a conspiracy behind the 
assassination of John F. Kennedy. 

But what if he had been hypo-programmed so he could remember nothing of his 
involvement in the assassination plot? Then every lie-detector test in the world 
would prove him innocent, since conSciously he would believe he was innocent 
Classical conditioning or deep hypnosis is the only reliable way to defeat a lie 
detector, whether it be a polygraph or the more advanced PSE; 

Among the evidence concealed from the commission was a CIA document 
obtained under the Freedom of Infonnation Act in 1976, which quoted an 
unidentified CIA officer reporting to his superiors on Oswald. According to that 
memo, which had been written only three days after JFK' s assassination, Agency 
officials had discussed interviewing Oswald for intelligence purposes in the early 
1960's. The same document revealed that Allen Dulles had secretly coached the 
CIA on how the Agency should deny having any connection with Oswald. 
According to one of the memos, Dulles strongly recommended CIA Director 
Hehns deny under oath that the CIA had any material in its files which suggested 
an Agency relationship with Oswald. Later disclosures revealed Oswald did indeed 
have a CIA "201 file." 

In sworn testimony before the Warren Commission in 1964, Richard Hehns 
applied the artful deception which came from a lifetime of CIA training; he 
testified the Agency had "never even contemplated" making any contact with 
Oswald prior to the assassination. That the CIA did make contact with him was 
never disclosed to the commission. 

Despite the attempts of Allen Dulles to steer commission investigators away from 
other information which linked Oswald to both the FBI and CIA, the rumor that 
Oswald had been sent to Russia as an intelligence agent persisted. 
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In an attempt to scotch that rumor, Dulles told the commission it would be 
impossible for anyone to prove or disprove that Oswald had or had not been an 
agent or informer. He said, astonishingly, that Oswald could have been a CIA 
agent without anyone knowing about it! 

During one meeting of the commission, Senator Russell asked Dulles, "'f Oswald 
never had assassinated the president, and had been in the employ of the FBI, and 
somebody had gone to the FBI, would they have denied he was an agent?" 

"Oh yes," the ex-CIA chief replied. "They would be the first to deny it" 

"Your agents would have done the same th.ing?" Senator Russell asked 
incredulously. 

"Exactly," Dulles answered. 

At another juncture, John J. McCloy said he had received several inquiries about 
the Oswald-agent rumor. He asked Dulles point blank, "What is there to this 
story?" 

Dulles went in circles: "This is a terribly hard th.ing to disprove, you know. How 
do you disprove a fellow was not your agent?" 

"You could disprove it, couldn't you?" Congressman Boggs aske<L 

Dulles replied, simply, "No." 

"So I will ask you," Boggs continued, "did you have agents about whom you had 
no record whatsoever?" 

"The record might not be on paper," Dulles said. "But on paper would have been 
hieroglyphics that only two people lmew what they meant, and anybody outside 
the agency would not know and you could say this meant the agent and 
somebody else could say it meant another agent" 

The discussion then turned to U-2 pilot Francis Gary Powers. Dulles explained 
Powers was a different kind of agent. He had signed a contract with the CIA. 

Alluding to the Oswald-CIA relationship, Boggs asked Dulles, "Let's say Powers did 
not have a signed contract but was recruited by someone in the CIA. The man 
who recruited him would know, wouldn't he?" 

"Yes," Dulles replied, "but he wouldn't tell." 

"Would he tell it under oath?" Chief Justice Warren wondered. 

"'wouldn't think he would tell it under oath, no," Dulles replied matter of factly. 
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"Why?" asked Warren. 

"He ought not to tell it under oath," Dulles said, offering Warren a lesson which 
years of legal training made him incapable of learning: the cryptocracy operates 
completely outside of the law and, because of the power of the "national security" 
rationale, it operates completely above the law. 

Dulles admitted later, while responding to a question from McCloy, that a CIA 
operative might not tell the truth even to his own superior. 

"What you do," Boggs indignantly said, "is you make our problem, if this be true, 
utterly impossible because you say this rumor [that Oswald was a CIA agent] can't 
be dissipated under any circumstances." 

"'don't think it can, Dulles admitted, "unless you believe Mr. Hoover, and so forth 
and so on, which probably most of the people will." 

Hoover, of course, had written a carefully worded response to a Commission 
inquiry about Oswald's FBI connections. He denied all association between 
Oswald and the FBI. 

Also ignored by the Warren Commission was information about the cryptocracy's 
attempts to assassinate Fidel Castro. Dulles presumably knew about the plots 

, which took place during his tenure with the Agency, but he remained mute. 
Richard Helms was the only CIA official on active duty to have direct contact with 
the Warren Commission, and although he provided them with information on a 
number of things, he volunteered nothing about the unsuccessful plots against 
Castro- plots which would have been within the commission's "need to know" 
since they showed that the cryptocracy had practical experience in assassination 
planning. 

Testifying before the Senate select Committee to Study Governmental Operations 
with Respect to Intelligence Activities, Helms revealed how the cryptocracy evaded 
and withheld information from the Warren Commission. His testimony 
illustrated the cryptocracy's contempt for the helpless commission, the American 
people, and above all the truth. 

During the Church Committee's investigation of the CIA's involvement in 
assassinations, Senator Church asked helms: "Since you had knowledge of the CIA 
involvement in these assassination plots against Castro, and knew it at the time ... 
I would have thought. .. that ought to have been related to the Commission, 
because it does bear on the motives, whatever else." 

Helms: " .. .Mr. Allen Dulles was a member of the Warren Commission. And the 
first assassination plot happened during his time as director. What he said to the 
Warren Commission about this ... I don't know. But at least he was sitting right 
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there in [the commission's] deliberations and knew about this, and I am sure the 
same thought that occurred to you must have occurred to him." 

Senator Morgan: "You were charged with furnishing the Warren Commission 
information from the CIA Information that you thought was relevant?" 

Hehns: "No sir, I was instructed to reply to inquiries from the Warren 
Commission for information from the Agency. I was not asked to initiate any 
particular thing." 

Morgan: " •. .In other words if you weren't asked for it, you didn't give it?" 

Hehns: "That's right sir." 

Nevertheless. despite the denials of Dulles and Hoover, the rumor persisted that 
Oswald had defected to Russia on a clandestine mission for the CIA. Some 
believed he had been uncovered by the KGB and subsequently programmed like 
the Manchurian Candidate to return to the U.S. and act as an unconscious 
"sleeper agent," a programmed assassin. 

Following up on this rumor, J. Lee Rankin, General Counsel to the Warren 
Commission, wrote a letter to CIA Director Helms requesting all information the 
CIA had on Russian "brainwashing" capabilities. 

In response, Hehns claimed there were " major methods of altering or controlling 
behavior," and the Soviets were interested in both. He said the first was 
psychological and the second was phannacological. "The two may be used as 
individual methods or for mutual reinforcement," Helms wrote. "For long term 
control of large numbers of people the former method is more promising than the 
latter. 

"In dealing with individuals, the U.S. experience suggests the pharmacological 
approach (assisted by psychological techniques) would be the only effective 
method." 

Hehns told the Warren Commission that while the Soviet drug research was 
extensive, it had consistently logged about five years behind Western research 
That was an interesting admission, for in the MKULTRA flles which were 
declassified over a decade later the CIA was using the Soviet success in mind 
control to motivate our own scientific program. 

Hehns' memorandum told the commission the Soviets had adopted a 
multidisciplinary approach to mind control, integrating biological, social, and 
what he called "physical-mathematical research" in attempts to control human 
behavior in a "manner consonant with national plans." 
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But while attempting to tell the Warren Commission what the Soviets were up to, 
Hehns was, at the same time. revealing the cryptocracy's own intentions. His 
conclusions stated "there is no evidence the Soviets have any techniques or 
agents capable of producing particular behavioral patterns which are not available 
in the West." Appended to the memorandum (Commission Document 1113, 
reproduced here as Appendix N were several hundred pages of reports on Soviet 
mind-control techniques and an extensive bibliography on brainwashing, which 
for some reason remained classified even after the main body of the 
memorandum was declassified. 

The question of whether Oswald had been hypno-programmed was raised in 
another context when New Orleans district Attorney Jim Garrison began his inde­
pendent investigations of the Kennedy assassination. 

Garrison told an anxious press he was going to crack the Kennedy case wide open: 
"The plain fact is that our federal intelligence agencies are implacably detennined 
to do whatever is necessary to block any further inquiry into the facts of the 
assassination. 

"The arrogant totalitarian efforts of these federal agencies to obstruct the 
discovery of the truth is a matter which I intend to bring to light when we have 
finished doing the job they should have done." 

One of the central targets of Garrison's investigation was David William Ferrie, 
who was both a hypnotist and a CIA operative. Coincidentally, Ferrie had been in 
a New Orleans Civil Air Patrol group in the fifties with Lee Harvey Oswald. One 
witness said Ferrie had been the man who had instructed Oswald in 
marksmanship. 

When New Orleans police raided Ferrie's apartment, they confiscated a number of 
weapons, various drugs, and three blank U.S. passports - things that any good 
CIA operative would keep at his elbow. much later researchers realized the 
importance of some of the evidence obtained in the raid -- several voluminous 
abstracts on posthypnotic suggestion and a library on hypnotism. 

A salesman for the Equitable Life Insurance Company, Perry Raymond Russo, told 
a New Orleans grand jury that Ferrie's apartment had been the scene of many 
"parties" where hypnosis had been used as "entertainment" One evening, Russo 
said, Ferrie hypnotized a young man to whom he apparently had a strong 
homosexual attraction. Another evening, Russo said, he himself hypnotized a 
young woman and made her irmnobile. He stuck pins in her hand and burned 
her anns just to demonstrate the extent of the control he had over her. 

At Russo's request, his story was tested by Garrison's investigators. Under both 
sodium pentothal and hypnosis, Russo told the identical story he had told to the 
grand jury. He testified that he had been with Ferrie, a man named Leon Oswald, 
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and a third man named Clem Bertrand in Ferrie's apartment during the summer 
of 1963. The three had discussed an assassination attempt in which diversionary 
tactics were to be used. 

Russo quoted Ferrie as saying "there would have to be a minimum of three people 
involved. Two of the persons would shoot diversionary shots and the third ... 
shoot the 'good' shot" Ferrie said one of the three would have to be the 
"scapegoat" He also said Ferrie discoursed on the "availability of exit," saying the 
sacrificed man would give the other two time to escape. 

On February 23, 1967, a few days before Luis Castillo was arrested by the NBI in 
the Philippines, Garrison subpoenaed David Ferrie. That evening George Lardner 
of the Washington Post went to Ferrie's for an interview. Ferrie, in remarkably 
good spirits, told Lardner, "A President is no better than anyone else ... If I were 
killed, I'd expect my death to be investigated just as thoroughly. 

Lardner Left Ferrie at 4:00 a.m. Seven hours and forty minutes later Ferrie was 
found in bed with a sheet pulled over his head. He had been dead for several 
hours. 

On the dining room table was a note which read in part: "To leave this life is for 
me a sweet prospect I find nothing in it that is desirable and on the other hand, 
everything that is loathsome." 

Fifteen empty medicine bottles littered the apartment The medicine bottles had 
contained a prescription drug for a vascular disorder. 

Garrison immediately jumped to the conclusion that Ferrie had committed 
suicide because of the subpoena. The autopsy, however, revealed Ferrie had not 
died from an overdose of drugs, but from a ruptured blood vessel at the base of 
his brain. 

Dr. Ronald A. Walsh, Louisiana State University School of Medicine pathologist, 
stated in his autopsy report that David Ferrie Died of an aneurysm. Several 
forensic pathologists later concluded such an aneurysm could have been caused 
by a karate expert inflicting a blow to the back of the head in such a manner that 
no external damage would be discernible. 

A number of Ferrie's friends began to fear for their lives. One, Jack Martin, came 
out of hiding long enough to suggest that Oswald had been programmed by Ferrie 
to go to Dallas and Kill the president Immediately following the assassination, 
Martin had reported to the Assistant District Attorney Herman S. Kohlman that 
Ferrie and Oswald had been friends, and that Ferrie had instructed Oswald in the 
use of a telescope sight on a rifle. But in 1963 no one followed up on Martin's 
story. 



Operation Mind Control 318 

Another of Ferrie's friends was a Reverend Raymond Broshears, who had roomed 
with Ferrie three years before Ferrie's death. Broshears stated in a television 
interview: "David admitted being involved with the assassins. There's no question 
about thal" 

The Warren Commission must have had some suspicions about Ferrie, for in 
Volume 24, Exhibit 2038, of the Wmren Commission Report, NBC cameraman 
Gene Barnes is quoted as saying, "Bob Mulholland, NBC news, Chicago, talked in 
Dallas to one Fairy [sic) ... Fairy said Oswald had been under hypnosis from a man 
doing a mind reading act at Ruby's 'Carousel.' Fairy was said to be a private 
detective and the owner of an airplane who took young boys on flights 'just for 
ki ks' " c •.. 

Ferrie did own an airplane, and he did work for Guy Bannister, the New Orleans 
private eye and CIA contract agenl 

Bob Mulholland later came forward to say he had been misquoted by the Warren 
Reporl What he had actually overheard were FBI agents saying Ferrie might have 
been involved in the assassination with Oswald: he had merely relayed that 
infonnation to his reporters in Dallas. 

In any event, there was enough substance to the David Ferrie angle to cause both 
the FBI and the Secret Service to have interviewed him immediately following the 
assassination. Yet there were no reports, official or otherwise, as to the outcome 
of that interview. 

Those not disposed to believe in conspiracies against the American people by its 
own government might well ask, "If there is a conspiracy by a cryptocracy, why 
wouldn't we, by now, have proof of it? Why wouldn't there have been at least one 
deathbed confession by one of the conspirators?" 

Two such confessions to the JFK assassination conspiracy. were made and 
ignored. 
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David W. Ferrie, 48, a figure in the New Orleans district attorney's 
investigation of a conspiracy to assassinate President Kennedy, was found 
dead in bed at his New Orleans aparbnent. District Attorney jim Garrison 
said he planned to arrest Ferrie in connection with the case. Ferrie was 
known to be adept at hypnosis and was an old acquaintace of Lee Harvey 
Oswald. Ferrie also used to fly covert missions for the CIA. 
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THE IGNORED CONFESSIONS 

Only an understanding of the techniques and applications of mind control could 
begin to bring meaning to the fragmented ramblings of Jack Ruby. 

On June 7, 1964, Jack Ruby was questioned in jail in Dallas, Texas, by Earl Warren 
and Gerald Ford. In that session Ruby continually pleaded for a lie-detector test 
or for sodium pentothal. He desperately wanted to prove his honesty so Warren 
and the commission would know he was telling the truth. 

Said Ruby: "I would like to be able to get a lie-detector test or truth serum of what 
motivated me to do what I did at that particular time, and it seems as you get 
further into something, even though you know what you did, it operates against 
you somehow, brainwashes you, that you are weak in what you want to tell the 
truth about, and what you want to say which is the truth." 

"As I started to trial," Ruby continued, "I don't know if you realize my reasoning, 
how I happened to be involved-- I was carried away tremendously emotionally, 
and all the time I tried to ask Mr. Belli [Melvin Belli, Ruby's first lawyer], I wanted 
to get up and say the truth regarding the steps that led me to do what I have got 
involved in, But since I have a spotty background in the nightclub business, I 
should have been the last person to ever want to do something that I had been 
involved in. In other words I was carried away tremendously. You want to ask 
me questions?" 

Warren asked Ruby to just "tell us what you want, and then we will ask you some 
questions." 

"Am I boring you?" Ruby replied. 

He pleaded with Warren to be taken to Washington where he could be questioned 
in safety. Possibly either his control agent was in the room, or Ruby felt that he 
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was, for again and again he hinted to Warren that he had something quite 
important to say but could not say it at that moment in Dallas. 

"Gentlemen, unless you get me to Washington, you can't get a fair shake out of 
me. If you understand my way of talking, you have to bring me to Washington to 
get the tests. Do I sound dramatic? Off the beam?" 

"No, you are speaking very, very rationally," Warren replied," and I am really 
surprised you can remember as much as you have remembered up to the present 
time. You have given it to us in great detail." 

Again Ruby pleaded with Warren: "Unless you can get me to Washington, and I 
am not a aackpot, I have all my senses -- I don't want to evade any crime I am 
guilty of." Then Ruby asked that the sheriff and the law enforcement officers 
leave the room, and after they were gone he said, "Gentlemen, if you want to hear 
any further testimony, you will have to get me to Washington soon, because it 
has something to do with you, Chief Warren. Do I sound sober enough to teD you 
this?" 

"Yes, go right ahead," Warren said. 

"I would like to talk to you in private," Ruby told him. 

Warren seemed to miss the import of Ruby's statement "You may do that when 
you finish your story. You may tell me that phase of il" 

"I bet you haven't had a witness like me in your whole investigation, is that 
correct?" Ruby asked. 

"There are many witnesses whose memory has not been as good as yours. I tell 
you that honestly," Warren replied. 

"My reluctance to talk," Ruby went on, "you haven't had any witnesses in telling 
the story, in finding so many problems." 

"You have a greater problem than any witness we have had," Warren retorted. 

"I have a lot of reasons for having those problems," Ruby explained. Then after 
another exchange about going immediately to Washington, Ruby said, 
"Gentlemen, my life is in danger here. Not with my guilty plea of execution. Do I 
sound sober enough to you as I say this?" 

Warren assured him he did sound sober. "From the moment I started my 
testimony, haven't I sounded as though, with the exception of becoming 
emotional, haven't I sounded as though I made sense, what I was speaking 
about?" Ruby asked. 
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"You have indeed," Warren again assured him. '1 understand everything you have 
said. If I haven't it is my fault." 

"Then I follow this up," Ruby blurted out. "I may not live tomorrow to give any 
further testimony. The reason why I add this to this, since you assure me that I 
have been speaking sense, then I might be speaking sense by following what I 
have said, and the only thing I want to get out to the public, and I can't say it 
here, is, with authenticity, with sincerity of the truth, of everything, and why my 
act was committed, but it can't be said here. 

"It can be said, it's got to be said amongst people of the highest authority that 
would give me the benefit of the doubt. And following that, immediately give me 
the lie-detector test after I do make the statement. 

"Chairman Warren, if you felt that your life was in danger at the moment, how 
would you feel? Wouldn't you be reluctant to go on speaking, even though you 
request me to do so?" 

Warren again reassured Ruby that he was making perfect sense. "I wish that our 
beloved President, Lyndon Jolmson, would have delved deeper into the situation, 
hear me, not to accept just circumstantial facts about my guilt or innocence, and 
would have questioned to find out the truth about me before he relinquished 
certain powers to these certain people ... Consequently, a whole new form of 
government is going to toke over our country [emphasis added], and I know I 
won't live to see you another time. Do I sound sort of screwy in telling you these 
things?" 

"No," Warren said, "I think that is what you believe or you wouldn't tell it under 
oath." 

"But it is a very serious situation," Ruby said, "I guess it is too late to stop it, isn't 
it? Now maybe something can be saved. It may not be too late, whatever 
happens, if our President, Lyndon Johnson, knew the truth from me ... But if I am 
eliminated, there won't be any way of knowing. 

"Right now, when I leave your presence now, I am the only one that can bring out 
the truth to our President, who believes in righteousness and justice. But he has 
been told I am certain, that I was part of a plot to assassinate the President. I 
know your hands are tied; you are helpless." 

Earl Warren said, "Mr. Ruby, I think I can say this to you, that if he has been told 
any such thing, there is no indication of any kind that he believes it." 

When it became apparent that Warren did not realize Ruby had intended to 
confess to being a part of the plot to kill President Kennedy, Ruby exploded. "' am 
sorry, Chief Justice Warren, I thought I would be very effective in telling you what 
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I have said here. But in all fairness to everyone, maybe all I want to do is beg that 
if they found out I was telling the truth, maybe they can succeed in what their 
motives are, but maybe my people won't be tortured and mutilated ... " 

Warren could find no meaning in Ruby's testimony. He merely assured him that 
neither he nor his family would be tortured or mutilated by anyone. "You may be 
sure of that," the Chief Justice added. 

"No," Ruby answered. "The only way you can do it is if he knows the truth, that I 
am telling the truth, and why I was down in that basement Sunday morning, and 
maybe some sense of decency will come out and they can still fulfill their plan, as 
I stated before, without my people going through torture and mutilation." 

Warren assured Ruby that the President would know everything he had said. "But 
I won't be around, Chief Justice," Ruby said. "' won't be around, Chief Justice," 
Ruby said."' won't be around to tell the President" 

Then one of the aides asked the first intelligent question of the day, "Who do you 
think is going to eliminate you, Jack?" 

Ruby replied, "' have been used for a purpose, and there will be a certain tragic 
occurrence happening if you don't take my testimony and somehow vindicate me 
so my people don't suffer because of what I have done .•. " 

Jack Ruby was subsequently given a polygraph test which proved to be 
inconclusive due to high levels of stress. 

In 1965 syndicated colwnnist Dorothy Kilgallen interviewed Ruby in his Dallas 
cell. She was the only major journalist allowed to interview him. She told a few 
friends that from what Ruby had told her, she was able to obtain evidence which 
would 'blow the JFK case sky high." Within a few days, Dorothy Killgallen died of 
a massive overdose of barbiturates combined with alcohol. Her apartment was 
found in shambles. The transcripts of her interview with Ruby were missing. Her 
death was ruled a suicide. 

In early 1967 Ruby complained he was being poisoned. He was diagnosed as 
having cancer, but a few weeks after complaining of being poisoned, he died not 
of the cancer, but of a "stroke" similar to the one that had killed David Ferrie. 

Another deathbed confession supports what Jack Ruby was trying to tell the 
Warren Commission. That confession was made by Professor George de 
Mohrenschildt, a fanner intelligence agent who was also a friend or Lee Harvey 
Oswald. 
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De Mohrenschildt was hom in 1911 in the Ukraine. following the revolution, in 
1921 he and his parents fled Russia for Poland. He attended a Polish military 
academy for a year, and later, in 1938, received a doctorate in international 
commerce. He emigrated to the United States soon thereafter and, in 1949, 
became a citizen. 

Mer becoming interested in the exploration and generation of oil, de 
Mohrenschildt received his master's degree in petroleum engineering. Sometime 
thereafter he became acquainted with right-wing oil magnate H.L. Hunl 
Although the basis of their relationship is unknown, de Mohrenschildt, in an 
interview with Dutch journalist Willem Oltmans, stated, "' knew Hunt, now the 
late Mr. Hunt, intimately. For some twenty years I was invited to his parties." 

FBI disclosure in 1976 suggested Lee Harvey Oswald was also acquainted with 
Hunt And de Mohreschildt knew Oswald. Apparently he had introduced himself 
to Oswald after hearing about him through a Russian speaking group in the 
Dallas-Fort Worth area. 

Marina Oswald told the Warren Commission: "Lee did not have any close friends, 
but at least he had - here in America - he had a great deal of respect for de 
Mohrenschildt.. He considered him to be smart, to be full of joy of living, a very 
sympathetic person .•. " 

It was the conclusion of the Warren Commission, after extensive investigation, 
that de Mohrenschildt had exhibited no signs of subversive or disloyal conduct 
The Warren Report stated: "Neither the FBI, CIA, nor any witness contacted by the 
Commission has provided any information linking de Mohrenschildt to subversive 
or extremist organizations. Nor has there been any evidence linking them in any 
way with the assassination of President Kennedy." 

It was subsequently revealed, however, that de Mohrenschildt had indeed been 
associated with various intelligence operations over the years. He was connected 
with French intelligence during World War ll and was also linked to the CIA Bay 
of Pigs operation. 

In late March, 1977, de Mohrenschildt' s name was brought before the newly 
formed House Select Committee on Assassinations. Willem Oltmans told the 
committee that de Mohrenschildt held the key to the Kennedy assassination; that 
de Mohrenschildt had privately confessed to him that prior to the assassination he 
was aware of a conspiracy to murder the President in Dallas. According to 
Oltmans, de Mohrenschildt was about to have a book published which would 
reveal the details of his knowledge of the assassination. 

Mer Oltmans' testimony, a spokesman for the House Committee on 
Assassinations said the committee would investigate his claims and would, if 
warranted, track down de Mohrenschildt for questioning. He was located a week 
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later in Pahn Beach, Florida, but he could not be called to testify. George de 
Mohrenschildt was found dead the victim of a gunshot would in the head. Local 
officials tenned his death a suicide. 

Following de Mohrenschildt' s death, his Dallas attorney Pat Russell, supported 
Olbnans' claims to the Commission. He verified the fact that before his death, de 
Mohrenschildt had insisted that persons other than Lee Harvey Oswald had 
participated in the slaying of President Kennedy. The attorney revealed that he 
had in his possession tapes, a book length manuscript and a photograph which de 
Mohrenschildt had turned over to him earlier. He said the tapes consisted of ten 
reels of interviews with de Mohrenschildt about the Kennedy assassination, 
which, he claimed, were fli'Sthand accounts of the late professor's recollections of 
~d. . 

Russell said although he did not know if the tapes or the book contained any new 
evidence, the photograph should be of particular interest to assassination 
investigators. He claimed that although the photo was similar to a well-known 
picture obtained by the Dallas police which showed Lee Harvey Oswald holding a 
rifle and wearing a pistol, what made the photo interesting was it was 
autographed on the back by Oswald and dated May 4, 1963, approximately six 
months prior to the assassination. 

After de Mohrenschildt's death Willem Oltmans released a portion of his interview 
with the deceased. Olbnans desaibed him as "Oswald's most intimate friend," 
and, without offering an explanation, said he had been intimate with Oswald 
during "the years when Oswald's brain was being programmed toward the murder 
or the century." 

In the interview dated February 23, 1977, de Mohrenschildt told Oltmans "'n 
June, 1976, I completed a manuscript. That's when disaster struck. You see, in 
that book I played the devil's advocate. Without directly implicating myself as an 
accomplice in the JFK·assassination, I still mentioned a nwnber of names, 
particularly of FBI and CIA officials who apparently may not be exposed under any 
circumstances. I was drugged surreptitiously. As a result I was committed to a 
mental hospital. I was there eight weeks and was given electric shocks and as a 
consequence I sometimes forget certain details temporarily •.. " 

De Mohrenschildt went on to say that as a result of the drugs and shocks, he 
could take no more. "' tried to commit suicide five times ... One of these days I 
will put a revolver to my head ... " 

According to Oltmans, de Mohrenschildt left Dallas in the middle of the night on 
March 3, 1977, telling him, "I don't want anybody to see me." Oltmans reported 
that at that time de Mohrenschildt was in a state of panic, constantly worried 
whether "they" would let him leave the countey. "He always felt watched and 
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followed," Oltrnans said. "I really cannot see how somebody who does not have 
anything to his would develop such behavior."104 

On the day he died, George de Mohrenschildt was being interviewed by author 
Edward Jay Epstein for his book, The Legend of Lee Haroey Oswald. They broke 
for lunch at one o'clock and Epstein walked de Mohrenschildt to his car. They 
were supposed to resume the interview at three p.m., and when de Mohrenschildt 
didn't return, Epstein called his room and heard a distraught maid tell him de 
Mohrenschildt had taken his own life. De Mohrenschildt's daughter, Alexandra, 
told Epstein she believes her father took his own life after having had a post­
hypnotic suggestion triggered by a voice over the telephone in his room. 

The last days of George de Mohrenschildt sound strikingly similar to those of the 
victims of mind controL Could it have been that when drugs and "electric shock" 
failed to erase his memory, the final solution was prescribed? Or was he 
programmed to self-destruct? 

Willem Oltmans,Ailos, ay 1977. 
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Ukraine born George De Mohrenschildt, oilman, friend of right-wing 
billionaire H.l. Hunt, took a phone call at his hotel room, put the phone 
down and fatally shot himself. De Mohrenschildt told a reporter that he had 
been drugged, committed to a mental hospital and given electric shocks 
by CIA and FBI officials he knew who were involved in the assassination of 
President John F. Kennedy. His daughter believes that he took his life 
acting upon a post-hypnotic suggestion implanated by the cryptocracy. 
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ANOTHER HYPNO-PATSY? 

On April4, 1968, Nobel laureate Dr. Martin Luther King was murdered on a 
second floor balcony of the Lorraine Motel in Memphis Tennessee. Half of the six 
thousand man FBI force was assigned to the task of bringing the killer to justice. 

The FBI should have had an easy job. There was an abundance of evidence left 
behind on the second floor of a rooming house a block from the Lorraine Motel. 
There were fingerprints on the window ledge of a bathroom next to a room which 
had been rented to an "Eric S. Galt" On the sidewalk in front of the house was a 
weapon, a high powered assault rifle with telescopic sight Neighbors said they 
had seen a white Mustang roar away moments after the shooting. 

Nevertheless, the killer got away. 

A ham radio operator broadcasting from a fixed station posed as a CB operator in 
a Mobile unit. He broadcast a convincing account of a high speed chase between 
a white mustang and a blue Pontiac. He reported that the two cars were shooting 
at each other. While police concentrated their search in the area described by the 
ham operator, the white Mustang they were seeking sped away from Memphis in 
the other direction. The ham operator's actions were explained away by 
authoriti~ as a hoax. Within a few days local police and federal authorities forgot 
the incident While the use of a high powered ham radio on the eleven meter CB 
band and the broadcasting of false emergency information are two clear violations 
of the Federal Communications Code, the identity and fate of the Ham "prankster'' 
are not known. 

The FBI soon discovered the fingerprints left at the scene of the crime belonged to 
the man who had rented the room, Eric S. Galt. Through a computer search they 
later found Galt's real name was James Earl Ray. 
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The day after Robert F. Kennedy was assassinated in Los Angeles, James Earl Ray 
was captured in London. He was apprehended by British customs inspectors 
while attempting to leave the country on a passport issued to a Canadian 
constable. 

Ray was quickly extradited to Tennessee for bial. The lengthy search and 
investigation, billed as "the most complete manhunt in history," was followed by 
one of the shortest trials in history. On March 10, 1969, less than one year after 
the assassination, Ray had his day in court, literally. By most standards his was 
not a trial but a deal. The deal had been arranged by Ray's attorneys, who had 
urged him to plead guilty so he would get ninety-nine years instead of the death 
penalty. 

Under Tennessee law, even if a defendant enters a guilty plea, a jury is required to 
attend the plea and to "ratify" the plea and the sentence. In a courtroom sealed by 
the tightest possible security, twelve jurors heard prosecutor Canale say he would, 
as required by law, outline the evidence which would have been presented had the 
case gone to formal bial. Canale then asked the jury if they each could sit as 
jurors and accept the guilty plea from the defendant They nodded in unison. 

Canale told the jury: " •.. There have been rumors going all around - perhaps some 
of you have heard them -that Mr. James Earl Ray was a dupe in this thing, or a 
fall guy or a member of a conspiracy to kill Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. 

"' want to state to you, as your Attorney General, we have no proof other than that 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr., was killed by James Earl Ray, and James Earl Ray 
alone, not in concert with anyone else. Our office has examined over five 
thousand printed pages of investigation work done by local police, by national 
police organizations, and by international law enforcement agencies. We have 
examined over three hundred physical bits of evidence, physical exhibits. Three 
men in my office, Mr. Dwyer, Mr. Beasly, and Mr. John Carlisle, the Chief 
Investigator of the Attorney General's Office ... have traveled thousands of miles all 
over this country and to many cities in foreign countries on this investigation, 
our own independent investigation, and I just state to you frankly we have no 
evidence there was any conspiracy involved in this ••. " 

The state had not charged Ray with conspiracy; it had charged him with murder 
in the first degree. Nevertheless the prosecutor felt compelled to deny that Ray 
had collaborators. 

Though it was not presented at the "trial," Ray's version of the story had already 
been published. In a series of magazine articles written by William Bradford Huie, 
Ray had confessed he had been the unwitting pawn in a conspiracy to kill Dr. 
King. 
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Stranger still was the reaction of defense attorney Percy Foremen, a man who had 
never lost a case, to the remarks of the prosecuting attorney. As soon as Canale 
had finished issuing his disclaimer of conspiracy, Foremen rose and faced the 
jwy. "'t is an honor to appear in this Court for this Case. I never expected or had 
any idea when I entered this case that I would be able to accomplish anything 
except perhaps save the defendant's life ... It took me a month to convince myself 
of that fact which the Attorney General of these United States, and J. Edgar 
Hoover of the Federal Bureau of Investigation announced last July, that is, what 
Mr. Canale has told you-- that there was not a conspiracy." 

Just as the jury was about to rubber stamp "the deal," Ray rose to his feel "Your 
Honor," he said, "I would like to say something .•. I don't want to change anything 
I have said, but I just want to enter one other thing. The only thing I have to say 
is that I can't agree with Mr. Clark." 

"Ramsey Clark?" Foremen asked. 

The Judge said, "Mr. who?" 

Mr. J. Edgar Hoover," Ray said. "I agree with all these stipulations, and I am not 
trying to change anything." 

The judge said, "You don't agree with whose theories?" 

" •• .Mr. Canale's, Mr. Clark's, and Mr. J. Edgar Hoover's about the conspiracy. I 
don't want to add something that I haven't agreed to in the past," Ray answered, 
making sure he didn't blow the deal. 

Foremen tried to explain. "I think what he said is he doesn't agree that Ramsey 
Clark is right, or that J. Edgar Hoover is right I didn't argue that as evidence in 
this case, I simply stated, underwriting the statement of General Canale [sic! that 
they had made the same statement You are not required to agree with it all." 

The judge wanted nothing to sidetrack the smooth proceedings. "You still ... your 
answers to these questions I asked you would still be the same? Is that correct?" 

"Yes, sir," Ray answered. 

And so the proceedings continued with Canale's presentation of a report of what 
would have been the evidence had this been a real trial. 

After hearing from eyewitnesses that Dr. King had been killed on the balcony of 
the Lorraine Motel Canale called experts from the Memphis Police Department 
and the FBI to testify on how they accumulated physical evidence linking Ray to 
the scene of the crime. 
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In the boarding house room which Ray (a/k/a Eric Starvo Galt) had rented, the 
FBI and police found a green bedspread, a pair of pliers and a hammer, some 
shaving articles, binoculars, beer cans, a newspaper, a T -shirt, shorts, a transistor 
radio, and two leather straps for binoculars. The testimony established that the 
white Mustang was found in Atlanta, Georgia. It had a sticker on it that indicated 
it had been obtained in Los Angeles, California, as had the T -shirt and shorts. In 
the bathroom from where the shot was supposed to have been fired, the 
investigators found scuff marks in the bottom of the tub. They found the 
window of the bathroom opened and the screen forced off. 

"This [window] sill was ordered removed, was cut away and was subsequently 
sent to the FBI for comparison," Canale said, "and the proof would show through 
expert testimony that the markings on this sill were consistent with the machine 
markings as reflected on the barrel of the 30-06 rifle which had heretofore been 
introduced to you." 

-H this were a tria,l Canale said, eyewitnesses would be called to testify that Ray 
had purchased the rifle in Birmingham, Alabama, that he'd stayed at a motel in 
that city and had checked out on the nineteenth of December and had returned to 
Los Angeles. Also Dr. Russell C. Hadley of Hollywood, California, would be called 
by the state to testify that "in his capacity as a plastic surgeon, he did perfonn an 
operation on the nose of the defendant under the name of Eric Galt on March 5, 
1968." 

Canale placed in evidence a photo he said was of James Earl Ray, a photo of a 
graduating class from the International School of Bartending. 

Other evidence Canale said would have been presented in a trial was the expert 
testimony of FBI fingerprint analyst George Bomebreke. The fingerprint expert 
would testify that he found a "print of sufficient clarity on the rifle ... another print 
of sufficient clarity for identification of the scope mounted on the rifle •.. a print on 
the binoculars ... a print on the front page of the April 4th issue of the Memphis 
Commercial Appeal ... " and "prints of sufficient clarity" on maps of Atlanta, 
Binningham, Texas, Oklahoma, Louisiana, California, Arizona, New Mexico, and 
Mexico, all of which, it could be proved, were the fingerprints of James Earl Ray. 

The entire presentation of the case took just under three hours. There was a 
recess for lunch, after which Ray was ordered jailed for ninety-nine years. 

As soon as Ray began to seNe his sentence he renewed his protestations of 
innocence and began working for a new trial. He fired attorneys Percy Foremen 
and Arthur Hanes, alleging he had not had a fair trial. He said he'd been "set up 
to take the rap" for a crime he didn't commit. At Ray's hearing on a new trial, he 
stated, under oath, "I personally did not shoot Dr. king, but I may have been 
partly responsible without lmowing it." 
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H Ray's psychological profile made him a likely victim for anyone who might need 
a fall guy in a murder, he was equally well suited to be a victim of mind control. 
The crimes for which he had previously been tried and convicted were all 
robberies in which no one was harmed. They were all remarkable for one thing -­
the chase that followed. 

Each time Ray committed a crime, he left a trail of evidence. Each time he left 
the scene in either a footrace or a hair raising car chase, with outraged citizens or 
police or both in hot pursuit In each crime, Ray behaved like a little boy who'd 
just stolen money from his father's pockets and was then daring him to catch and 
punish him. He was from a deprived family, the eldest of eight children. Many 
individuals who were once emotionally deprived children learn to seek negative 
attention since positive attention was unavailable to them in their formative years. 
James Earl Ray fit that pattern. In the opinion of a psychologist he may have 
committed his daring daylight robberies not out of a need for money, but out of a 
subconscious desire to receive love. 

The only evidence which cast light on Ray's possible motive for the assassination 
was an eyewitness report that he had spoken passionately of his hatred of blacks 
in a Los Angeles bar. 

A few days after Ray's sentencing, other evidence came to light which suggested 
the FBI had a stronger motivation than James Earl Ray to kill Martin Luther King. 
On November 19, 1975, the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence made public 
the fact that the FBI had sent a compromising tape recording with an anonymous 
letter to Dr. King in late 1964 in a crude attempt to blackmail him into silence. 
Dr. King had thought the tape and letter were an effort to drive him to suicide. 

King received the package thirty-four days before he was to receive the Nobel 
Peace Prize. The tape was allegedly of a sexual encounter of Dr. King and a young 
woman. It was accompanied by an unsigned note that read, "King there is only 
one thing left for you to do. You know what it is. You have just thirty-four days 
in which to do it. (This exact number has been selected for a specific reason.) It 
has definite practical significance. You are done. There is but one way out for 
you." 

A month after Dr. King received his copy of the tape, a duplicate was sent to his 
wife. Mrs. King said publicly she and her husband had listened to the tape 
together and had concluded it had nothing on it that would discredit King. 

The Senate subcommittee said that at about the same time Mrs. King had 
received her copy of the tape, a copy was submitted to FBI Director J. Edgar 
Hoover. Accompanying that tape was a memorandum written by the FBI Chief of 
Counter-Intelligence William Sullivan. The memo suggested the FBI discredit 
King by "knocking him off his pedestal." 
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The Senate committee disclosed further that the FBI had kept tabs on Dr. King for 
six years prior to his death. It had instituted sixteen different wiretap operations 
and had planted eight room bugs in its attempts to catch him in some 
compromising situation which could be used for blackmail or public 
discreditation. The shocked Senate select committee members discovered the 
taps and bugs had produced "thousands of hours of tapes." 

In addition, it was discovered that Hoover had ordered some of his men to rewrite 
reports which had originally indicated King was not a threat to the country. 
Those officials who were ordered to change their reports readily did so, the 
committee said, because they feared for their jobs. 

Mter the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence made these facts known, Mrs. 
Corrett.a King said what she had. feared to say before. She said she believed her 
husband had been killed by a government conspiracy. 

"The way he was documented and followed around by Hoover and the CIA, when 
he was abroad, it [his assassination] would have to have been attached to the 
forces of our government that felt he was a threat to the system as it existed," said 
Mrs. King. 

A few days after Mrs. King issued that statement, Maryland private investigator 
Harold Weisberg used the Freedom of Infonnation Act to obtain previously 
classified FBI reports. These reports revealed that directly conb'ary to claims 
made by Canale at Ray's "trial," the FBI had been unable to find any physical 
evidence that a rifle had been fired from the window in Ray's rooming house, 
either on the weapon or in the room from which the assassin had allegedly fired. 
This was a crucial discovery, in that it was the rifle alone which linked Ray to the 
killing. 

H the rifle was not fired from the second story room, then, no matter how Ray's 
fmgerprints got on the weapon, reasonable doubt existed that Ray was the 
assassin. No ballistics evidence links the rifle to the bullets in King's body. The 
FBI's evidence, which was kept secret, had all the while pointed to the conclusion 
that the rifle could have been planted in front of the rooming house to implicate 
Ray while the real assassin had fired from a location outside the rooming house. 

A few months after Weisberg's find, Newsday published a copyrighted story 
reporting that a top law enforcement official in Memphis had removed one 
particular black detective who had been assigned to protect Dr. King just hours 
before he was assassinated. The Newsday article suggested that Detective Ed 
Redditt had been pulled from his post because he had developed a contingency 
plan to apprehend any assassin who might make an attempt on King's life. 
Redditt's plan was to seal off a four block area in the event a shot was fired. 
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Earlier the same week, Newsday had revealed that the Memphis Police 
Department had assigned "provocateurs" to protect King. The paper charged that 
men who had previously participated in anti-King riots were "protecting" the civil 
rights leader at the moment he was shol 

The activities of James Earl Ray during the year preceding the assassination could 
be interpreted to suggest the possibility that Ray was a patsy in the mold of 
Oswald. Ray had been to Mexico, New Orleans, and Los Angeles, places which had 
figured prominently in the activities of Oswald and the others who were indicted 
by Jim Garrison. 

Facts which were not presented at Ray's quick "trial" included the following: Ray 
had escaped from prison one year before the King assassination. Evidence 
indicated that he had been helped by someone in his escape. During the year he 
was "on the lam," he received an estimated $12,000 from a source he identified 
only as "RaouL" He had no difficulty in obtaining a car and several complete sets 
of identification. Each set belonged to a living individual, something an 
intelligence agent would prefer if he were to set up a false identity. Ray had no 
difficulty traveling all over the United States, Canada and Mexico with his fake 
papers. 

The contradictory history of Ray's activities in Los Angeles led private 
investigators to consider, as they had in the Oswald case, that there may have 
been two James Earl Rays. One, the James Earl Ray who had been in prison was a 
painfully shy fellow who seldom opened his mouth and hardly ever raised his 
voice. Fellow inmates found they had a hard time describing him, since he 
maintained such a low profile. He had been raised dirt poor, had never graduated 
from a school of any kind, and there is no record of his ever having expressed a 
political idea about anyone. In Los Angeles, the "other" James Earl Ray was 
described as an outgoing fellow. He enrolled in and graduated from bartending 
school; he became involved in an altercation with a girl in a bar who objected to 
his making slurs about the black race; he was very conscientious about his 
appearance and was an impeccable dresser, who even wore expensive alligator 
shoes; and he was a right-wing politician who conspicuously campaigned for 
George Wallace . 

. One other bit of evidence gives unity to the contradictions - Ray had been 
hypnotized while in Los Angeles. · 

It was not mentioned in Ray's "trial," but at the time of his arrest in London, he 
had in his possession three books on hypnotism: Self-Hypnotism: The technique 
and Its use in Daily Living by Leslie M. LeCron, How to Cash In on Your Hidden 
Memory Power by William D. Hersey, and Psychocybemetics by Dr. Maxwell 
Maltz. Ray had told William Bradford Huie, "I took a course in Hypnosis while in 
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LA I had read a lot about in prison on how it was used in dentistry and 
medicine." 

On November 27, 1967, Ray appeared in the office of Dr. Mark Freeman, a 
psychologist who practiced in Beverly Hills. Dr. Freeman remembered that Ray, 
who'd given his real name, asked to be hypnotized because he wanted to sleep 
better and remember things better. 

"This fellow really wanted to improve his mind," Dr. Freeman said. "He had an 
awe of learning. He had a bent for reading. He didn't fight hypnosis. He learned 
something." 

Dr. Freeman told George McMillan, author of The Maldng of an Assassin, "You've 
got to keep in mind that I get a lot of angry people around here. A lot of people 
who come to me want to teach me how to do it I get a lot of rough stuff around 
here. I mean psychotic, that stuff. But I couldn't pick up on any of that with Ray. 
He made a favorable impression on me. He was a good pupil I'd show him how 
to go under, and pretty soon he'd be lying on the couch on his back and start 
talking. I taught him eye fixation, bodily relaxation, how to open himself to 
suggestion. I gave him lots of positive feelings of confidence." 

It may have been that Freeman found Ray so suggestible because he had been 
hypnotized before. His contact with Freeman and other hypnotists (he told Huie 
he'd been to as many as eight) may have been prompted by an unconscious urge 
to undo what had already been done to him - hypnotically induced multiple 
personalities, one which was programmed to kill upon command, or merely one 
which was programmed to run away, following his nonnal pattern, but this time 
on command. Ifs easy to program someone to do under posthypnotic cue what 
he normally does. And it's a lot easier to program a patsy than it is to program a 
hit man. 
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(IIY2-Apr11 20)..COULD BE 'l'BB SAME MAK-Ir1c Stano Oalt,sCJU«ht 1rl the sla11ng ot Dr.Ma.rtiJ:I Luther / 
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This strip of photos was cirulated when James Earl Ray was a fugitive/ 
suspect in the King assassination. One employee of a psychiatrist who 
specializes in treating DID patients looked at the strip without knowing who 
it was and said, lhis obviously must be a Multiple Personality Disorder 
patient.• 
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CONFESSION BY AUTOMATIC WRITING 

The circumstances of Robert Kennedy's death are well known. On June 5, 1968, 
at 12:15 a.m., Sen. Robert Kennedy was shot in the pantry of the Ambassador 
Hotel in Los Angeles. Karl Uecker grabbed the gun, a .22 caliber Iver-Johnson 
revolver. It was smoking in the hand of Sirhan Beshara Sirhan, a Palestinian 
refugee. 

The Los Angeles police immediately took Sirhan into custody. At. first they 
appeared to be taking every precaution so they wouldn't make the same mistakes 
the Dallas police had made. They taped every interrogation session with the 
suspect and kept him under surveillance through a closed-circuit TV camera in 
his cell. They took every measure to protect the life of this man, the second "lone 
nut" to gun down a Kennedy. 

Trying to avoid anything which would be an infringement on the rights of the 
alleged assassin, the police carefully informed Sirhan of his legal rights before 
trying to interrogate him. 

Through the fli'St hours of questioning, Sirhan chose to remain silenl For some 
time, no one knew who the curly-haired, swarthy man in custody was. 

It wasn't until the police found a truck in the parking lot of the hotel, and traced it 
to Sirhan Beshara Sirhan, that they were certain of his identity. Police 
immediately went to his house and searched his bedroom. On the floor next to 
Sirhan's bed was a large spiral notebook. On the desk was another notebook. 
There was a third small notebook, a good deal of occult literature, a brochure 
advertising a book on mental projection, and a large brown envelope from the 
Internal Revenue Service on which someone had written, "RFK must be disposed 
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of like his brother was." At the bottom of the envelope was scrawled 
"Reactionary." 

In one of the notebooks there was a page which was used later in the trial to prove 
premeditation: "May 18, 9:45a.m. - 68. My determination to eliminate RFK is 
becoming more the more of an unshakable obsession ... RFK must die -- RFK 
must be killed Robert F. Kennedy must be assassinated •.. Robert F. Kennedy must 
be assassinated before 5 June 68 Robert F. Kennedy must be assassinated I have 
never heard please pay to the order of of of of of of of of of this or that pleas pay to 
the order of .•• " Also drawn on the page were spirals, diamonds, and doodles. 

While Los Angeles mayor Sam Yorty ignorantly told the press Sirhan was a 
"member of numerous Communist organizations, including the Rosicrucians," 
Sirhan's neighbors told a different story. One said he was "very religious." 
Another reported that he was "just a normal kid." He took cars and bikes apart 
and put them back together again." Neighborhood kids said he was "nice." When 
asked if Sirhan was the angry type, a black girl in his Neighborhood said, "He 
didn't show it" Arthur Bean, another neighbor said, "Someone talked that kid 
into gunning down Kennedy." 

When Irwin Garfinke~ a deputy attorney in the public defender's office, asked 
Sirhan about the shooting, he said, "I don't remember much about the shooting, 
Sir. Did I do it? WeR yes, I am told I did it I remember being at the 
Ambassador. I was drinking tom collinses. I got dizzy. I went back to my car so I 
could go home. But I was too drunk to drive. I thought I'd better find some 
coffee. The next thing I remember I was being choked and a guy was twisting my 
knee." 

George Plimpton, editor of the Paris Review, was in the hotel pantry when 
Kennedy was shot He was one of the men who wrestled Sirhan down. According 
to Newsweek, Plimpton "offered some eloquent testimony that appeared to some 
to support the defense's contention that Sirhan Beshara Sirhan had, in fact, been 
in a 'trance' during the shooting. 'He was enormously composed,' recalled 
Plimpton. 'Right in the midst of this hurricane of sound and feeling, he seemed 
to be almost the eye of the hurricane. He seemed purged.'" 

The chief counsel for the Los Angeles chapter of the American Civil Liberties 
union, A.L. Wlrin, went to Sirhan • s defense within hours of his arrest On his 
second meeting with the accused, Wuin brought the local papers with him. 
Sirhan read the headline "KENNEDY'S DEAD," then he dropped his head in grief. 
After fighting to control his emotions, he looked at Wuin through tear-filled eyes 
and said, "Mr. Wlrin, I'm a failure. I believe in love and instead of showing love ... " 
Then, Wlrin recalled, "he muttered something about having betrayed his own 
primary beliefs." 
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That night, Sirhan complained of being sick. He became very dizzy and had 
severe stomach cramps, just as had Castillo and Candy Jones. For several weeks 
Sirhan was given a half grain of phenobarbital at night to help him sleep. 

The Los Angeles police went through the motions of looking into the possibility 
that a conspiracy was behind the RFK assassination. They looked for the girl in 
the polka-dot dress who witnesses said had been standing next to Sirhan, smiling 
and talking to him just before he began shooting in the pantry. Sirhan also said 
he'd been talking to the girl after he'd drunk several tom collinses. The girl in the 
polka-dot dress was not found, and conflicting statements cast doubt on whether 
there had ever been such a girl. Forty-five "top men" from the Los Angeles Police 
Department (LAPD) were assigned the job of tracking down all leads to a 
conspiracy, but incredibly, they came up empty handed. 

A bag of women's clothing, which included a polka-dot dress and new 
undergarments, was found by the LAPD in an alley, but police could not find out 
who'd bought them or who'd worn them. According to Sirhan's biographer 
Robert Blair Kaiser, " •.• The police and FBI hardly did all they could [to find the 
owner of the polka-dot dress]. They used faulty logic and browbeat witnesses to 
eliminate the girl in the polka-dot dress."105 

To penetrate Sirhan's amnesia, the defense decided to call in an expert hypnotist, 
Dr. Bernard L. Diamond of the University of California. Diamond was the 
associate dean of UCLA's School of Criminology and a professor of both law and 
psychiatry. No one knew more about law, psychiatry, and hypnosis than 
Diamond in those days. 

In a prehypnosis interview, Diamond asked Sirhan to tell him about his 
notebooks, and Sirhan said he couldn't recall writing them. 

Diamond asked if he thought what he had done helped things, and Sirhan said, 
"I'm not proud of what I did." 

"What do you mean, you're not proud of it?" Diamond asked him. "You believe in 
your cause, don't you?" (Sirhan had been contacted by Arab sympathizers and 
others who insisted the reason he'd killed Kennedy was out of sympathy for the 
PLO.) 

"I have no exact knowledge, sir, that this happened yel I'm all, it's in my mind, 
but goddamn it, when my body played with it. .. I couldn't understand il I still 
don't believe il My body outsmarted my brain, I guess." 

"What did your body do?" Diamond asked. 

1a Robert Blair Kaiser, R.F.K Musl Dit, 2nd ed. (New York. Dutton, 1970) 



340 W.H. Bowart 

"Pulled that trigger," Sirhan said. 

"Does your body remember it, even if your mind doesn't?" 

"I don't give a damn, Sir, in a way. Now I don't even care," Sirhan said. 

Diamond asked Sirhan if he'd thought about suicide. 

"Hell, no," Sirhan said, "I couldn't do thal" 

Then Diamond expressed a thought which contained a significant "Freudian slip." 
"Why didn't you turn the gas on yourself, ah, why didn't you tum the gun on 
yourself after you killed Kennedy?" 

Sirhan waved his hand in front of his face. "It was all mixed up. Like a dream." 

Diamond hypnotized Sirhan on six of eight visits. At one point, reliving the 
killing, Sirhan grabbed at his belt on the left side. Until them police had no idea 
where he'd carried the weapon. Under hypnosis Sirhan also created writings 
similar to those in his notebooks. 

In one session Diamond had Sirhan climb the bars of his cell like a monkey. After 
he'd been brought out of trance, Sirhan explained the reason for his climb. He 
said he was only getting exercise. Then Diamond played the tape to prove to 
Sirhan that he, Diamond, had given the instructions to Sirhan to climb the cage. 
But Sirhan denied that he'd done it because he'd been hypnotized. 

At the trial Dr. Diamond, acting as the director of Sirhan's defense, testified that 
Sirhan was a paranoid schizophrenic. His testimony was supported by several 
other doctors who had examined the psychiatric "evidence" obtained from tests, 
interviews and hypno-interviews conducted by Dr. Diamond. 

Dr. Diamond did not consider that Sirhan had been other than self-programmed. 
Having worked for the Anny Medical Corps in World War II, he apparetnly hadn't 
had the need to know that the U.S. ayptocracy developed mind control and used 
it to control the political destiny of the nation. 

Sirhan was given yet another battery of tests by Dr. Eric Marcus, a 
court-appointed psychiatrist for the defense. Among the tests was the Minnesota 
Multiphasic Personality Inventoey (MMPI), which contains more than 500 
questions requiring true-false answers. Psychologists interpret the answers to the 
MMPI according to a set of statistical norms. Two of Sirhan's non responses were 
significant, since usually nonresponses are considered to be more important than 
the "yes-no" responses. The questions Sirhan did not respond to were: 291. At 
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one or more times in my life, I felt that someone was making me do things by 
hypnotizing me ... " and 293. Someone had been trying to influence my mind." 

By the second visit, Dr. Marcus had time enough to familiarize himself thoroughly 
with Sirhan's notebooks. On one page of the notebooks Sirhan had written: "I 
advocate the overthrow of the current President of the fucken United States of 
America. I have no absolute plans yet, but soon will compose some. I am poor -
this country's propaganda says she is the best country in the world-- I have not 
experienced this yet- the U.S.- says life in Russia is bad ... I believe the U.S. is 
ready to start declining, not that it hasn't - it began in November 23, '63, but it 
should decline at a faster rate so the real Utopia will not be too far from being 
realized during the early seventies in this country." 

In one of the notebooks the name "Peggy Osterkamp" was written over and over. 
"'love you, Peggy," in one place and in another, "Peggy Osterkamp Peggy 
Osterkamp Peggy Osterkamp Peggy Sirhan." 

When Dr. Marcus asked Sirhan who Peggy Osterkamp was, he said she was just a 
girl he'd met a few times at the ranch where he'd worked as an exerciser of 
horses. Dr. Marcus asked Sirhan if he'd ever dated her, and Sirhan told Marcus 
the story he'd told the public defender the night of the assassination. 

That night, Sirhan said he had gone to a shooting range and practiced with his 
pistol until the range closed. Then he went with a friend, a foreign student 
named Mistri, to get a hamburger at Bob's Big Boy Restaurant While eating, 
they talked about horses. For some reason Sirhan showed his friend a pocketful 
of bullets. He then was given a current newspaper and in it he read a news item 
about a Zionist rally in Hollywood. He became very angry over this and made up 
his mind to go to the rally. When he could not find that rally, he wandered into 
the campaign headquarters of Senator Kuchel and there heard there would be a 
party at the Ambassador Hotel nearby. 

When he got to the hotel he was fascinated by the television lights. He went to 
the bar and ordered two tom collinses. He got dizzy and said to himself that he'd 
better go home. He was reluctant to drive in his drunken condition and the next 
thing he remembered was being choked in the pantry of the Ambassador Hotel. 

Dr. Marcus didn't buy Sirhan's amnesia. He thought it was only a convenient 
cover-up, and that Sirhan was a paranoid. In his testimony at Sirhan's trial, Dr. 
Marcus selected another page from Sirhan's notebook to illustrate his 
psychological evaluation. On June 2, 1967, Sirhan had written: 
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A Declaration of War Against American Humanity ... when in the course of 
human events it had become necessary for me to equalize and seek revenge 
for all the inhuman treatment committed against me by the American 
people. The manifestation of this Declaration will be executed by its 
supporter(s) as soon as he is able to command a sum of money (2,000) and 
to acquire some fireanns -- the specification of which have not been 
established yet. 

The victims of the party in favor of this declaration will be or are now - the 
President, vice, etc. - down the ladder. The time will be chosen by the 
author at the convenience of the accused. The method of assault is 
immaterial -- however, the type of weapon used should influence it 
somehow. The author believes that many in fact multitudes of people are in 
hannony with his thoughts and feelings. 

The conflict and violence in the world subsequent to the enforcement of this 
decree shall not be considered likely by the author of this memoranda, rather he 
hopes that they be the initiatory milital}' steps to W. W. m - the author expresses 
his wishes very bluntly that he wants to be recorded by history as the man who 
triggered off the last war ••. 

In mid-August Sirhan's notebooks were analyzed by the FBI crime lab in 
Washington. The pages were subjected to photo and chemical analysis to 
establish when each had been written and in what order. The FBI experts 
concluded that Sirhan had penned the notes in a haphazard fashion, skipping 
around in the books. The two pages dated June 2, 1967, and May 18, 1968, the lab 
said, had actually been written on those dates. An overview of the notes shows 
that Sirhan had been concerned with three things that appeared over and over in 
the writing: money, the girl Peggy Osterkamp, and a new Mustang, in that order 
of importance -- as determined by the number of times each was mentioned. 
Several times he had written, "please pay to the order of ... ," but when asked about 
this he could not remember what it meant. He had written, "Today I must resolve 
to come home in a new Mustang. Today I must resolve to come home in a new 
Mustang. Mustang. Mustang." 

The FBI and the LAPD located Peggy Osterkamp. She was a tall, willowy blonde, 
the attractive daughter of an affluent dairyman. A horse lover, she had once 
worked at the ranch where Sirhan worked. She said she knew him only slightly 
and had been introduced to him at the Pomona Fair in 1966. She said she had 
never dated him. 
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On one page of the notebooks Sirhan had written, "Tom, My warmest salutations. 
I do not know what has prompted you to write to me ... " And on another page 
he'd written, "Hello Tom perhaps you could use the enclosed$." On yet another 
page Sirhan had written: "11 o'clock Sirhan 11 o'clock Sirhan Sirhan 11 o'clock 
Sirhan Livermore Sirhan Sirhan Pleasanton ... Hello Tom racetrack perhaps you 
could use the enclosed $." 

The FBI guessed that Sirhan had been writing about Walter Thomas Rathke, his 
first employer at the racetrack. The FBI found him working as a groom at the 
Pleasanton Race Stables, just east of Oakland. 

Rathke told investigators he had known Sirhan, and that they'd compared notes 
on the occult He said he'd written Sirhan twice and had asked him if he needed 
any money. Later it was discovered that Rathke had far more influence over 
Sirhan than he cared to admit, but the LAPD and FBI dropped him as 
uninteresting. 

In addition to examining the bizarre notebooks, investigators also made note of 
Sirhan's unusual behavior after the assassination. Sirhan, like Candy, had a 
"thing" about mirrors. In his cell he'd stare into a little mirror for hours on end. 
He also practiced concentrating on candle flames, tzying to tum them from red to 
blue to green. And he was apprehensive about drugs. 

When asked by his biographer Robert Blair Kaiser if he thought he'd get the death 
penalty, Sirhan shrugged and said, "A death penalty would only be vengeance. 
What would it gain?" Mter another pause he added, "I know I've killed a man. At 
least, I'm told of it I have nothing in my conscience about it, but .. I'm told I 
killed a man, so deserve some punishment, but maybe I could serve humanity by 
working ten years in a hospital to pay my debt you might say." Later Sirhan said 
flatly, "I don't regard myself as a criminal." 

Kaiser reported, "Sirhan talked about Gandhi, and the black revolution." He 
identified with both. '1'he Negroes," he said, "can see everything, but they can't 
get it Their only solution is to dig in and eat it" bnmediately Sirhan added: "I 
wanted a new car. I always wanted a Mustang.106 I said, 'All I need is money and 
how am I gonna get it?' They're not giving Mustangs away." Was Sirhan 
implying he killed Kennedy for money? 

The court ordered that Sirhan be fully tested to see what his mental state really 
was. They gave him an electroencephalogram to see if by chance his brain had 
been damaged by a fall he'd taken from a horse two years earlier. The EEG 
showed Sirhan had a normal brain-wave pattern. Then, just to determine if the 
alcohol had any effect on the pattern, the doctor, who'd obtained the recipe for 

•• RNd. 
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the Ambassador Hotel's tom collins, gave Sirhan the equivalent of four drinks and 
measured his brain patterns again. Still there was nothing unusual in them. 

But even though the EEG showed no unusual brain activity, Sirhan got very 
drunk and shivered violently for ten minutes. He became irrational, agitated and 
restless. He screamed out curses. 

When someone told him, "Dr. Marcus is here," Sirhan screamed, "Get that bastard 
out of here!" The doctor ordered Sirhan taken back to his inner cell, and Sirhan 
seemed confused. "What the hell is going on here?" he asked, then grabbed his 
throat violently (as Castillo had), and appeared to be choking. The doctor noted 
that he was in a state of delirium. 

Robert Kaiser again asked Sirhan about his notebooks and Sirhan explained 
everything he could about them. He said that they were writings about the 
occult, that he had been studying the objective mind in relation to the universal 
mind. "H you give your subjective mind an intense command by your objective 
mind, your subjective mind will gather the information to cany out the 
commands of the objective mind. .. " 

Sirhan said that he'd been sitting in front of a mirror after he'd seen a replay of 
Robert Kennedy on television reporting in 1948 on the Arab-Israeli war in 
Palestine. ."'concentrated on RFK in the mirror," he said. "'had to stop him. 
Finally, his face was in that mirror instead of my own. Then I went to my 
notebook and started writing. It was part of the auto-suggestion necessary to get 
my subjective mind to get my objective mind moving. I read in the Rosicrucian 
magazine how if you wanted to do anything you should write it down. It 
automatically works toward the realization of what you want 

"With that power," Sirhan said with intensity, "'could have been a millionaire! A 
millionaire! Ohh shit!" 

"Why did I not go to the races that day?" Sirhan asked Kaiser. "Why did I not like 
the horses? Why did I go to that range? Why did I save those Mini-Mags [the high 
powered bullets used on Kennedy}? Why did I not expend those bullets? Why did 
I go to Bob's? Why did Mistri give me that newspaper? Why did I drink that 
night? It was," he said, "like some inner force." 

"But you wrote in your notebook 'RFK must die,'" Kaiser said. 

"After the bit with the mirror," Sirhan told him, "Forgot it all. J'he idea of killing 
Kennedy never entered my mind, sir."107 

'" llid. 
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During Sirhan's trial for murder, the judge refused to authorize the use of lie 
detectors or truth serum. Sirhan like Ray, was quickly "put away" for life. 

There were those, however, who refused to let the matter rest. In 1973, while 
Sirhan sat in prison, Dr. Edward Simpson, the San Quentin prison psychiatrist, 
submitted an affidavit to the California courts requesting Sirhan be granted a new 
trial and the Robert Kennedy case be reopened. 

Dr. Simpson testified that the "expert" psychiatric- psychological testimony at 
Sirhan's trial was full of numerous factual errors and misleading to the jury. 
"Most of the doctors testifying," Simpson said, "saw their role as proving why 
Sirhan killed Kennedy, which required a focus on pathology (mental illness) that 
I found does not exist. They failed to consider the real facts in a more objective 
light and failed to consider the possibility, clearly suggested by the ballistic 
testimony and Sirhan's own testimony under close scrutiny, that perhaps Sirhan 
did not kill Robert F. Kennedy." 

"Sirhan's trial," Dr. Simpson wrote, was not handled properly by the mental health 
professionals. In retrospect, a close study of the trial testimony and my own 
extensive study of Sirhan leads to one irrevocable and obvious conclusion: 
Sirhan's bial was, and will be remembered, as the psychiatric blunder of the 
century." 

Dr. Simpson knew whereof he spoke. For six years he had worked at San Quentin 
Prison and had made a study of men on Death Row. For two years he'd been in 
charge of the prison's psychological testing program. In 1969 he interviewed and 
tested Sirhan extensively during twenty weekly visits. After these visits were 
terminated, Sirhan requested that his family contact Simpson for the purpose of 
reviewing the psychiatric testimony given at his trial. 

After examining Sirhan, and reviewing the "expert" psychiatric testimony, Dr. 
Simpson discussed his findings with the prison's chief psychiatrist, Dr. David G. 
Schmidt. Together they concluded their fmdings did not confinn "but in fact 
were strictly in conflict" with the findings reported at Sirhan's trial. 

"Nowhere in Sirhan's test response," Dr. Simpson said in the affidavit, "was I able 
to fmd evidence that he is a 'paranoid schizophrenic' or 'psychotic' as testified by 
the doctors at the trial ... The fact is, paranoid schizophrenics are almost 
impossible to hypnotize. They are too suspicious and do not trust anybody, 
including friends and relatives, not to speak of a hypnotist from, for him the most 
hated race. Psychotics in general are among the poorest subjects for hypnosis. 
They cannot concentrate, they do not follow instructions and basically do not 
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trusl Sirhan, however, was an unusually good hypnotic subjecl Sirhan asked 
me to hypnotize him, which I did not do, in order not to contaminate my test 
findings with fantasies. He himself had manufactured a hypno-disk, and was 
practicing self-hypnosis in his cell, an activity requiring considerable self control 
which no psychotic has. The fact that Sirhan was easy to hypnotize, as testified 
by Dr. Diamond, proves he was not a paranoid schizophrenic. 

"Dr. Diamond," Simpson continued, "used hypnosis in six sessions out of eight 
with Sirhan. What was the purpose of it? To plant ideas in Sirhan's mind, ideas 
that were not there before? To make him accept the idea that he killed Robert F. 
Kennedy? 

"When Dr. Diamond was unable to get Sirhan to admit he wrote the notebooks, he 
testified ' ... so I undertook some experiments on possible hypnotic suggestion.' 
This admission strongly suggests the possibility of hypnosis being used for 
implanting hypothetical ideas in Sirhan's mind, rather than uncovering facts ... A 
lie detector, not hypnosis, should have been used in finding out whether Sirhan 
killed Robert Kennedy. 

"Why was a lie detector not used' It should have been, as it is much more reliable 
than hypnosis, which often provided contaminated results ... Dr. Diamond's 
testimony is wrong, as he states: 'I have very little or no faith in the accuracy [of a 
lie detector).' The truth is, the polygraph exceeds in accuracy certain teChniques, 
such as hypnosis, that tend to fuse and contaminate experiences from past and 
present and also can be influenced significantly by the operator [hypnotist]; it 
makes a significant difference who the hypnotist is ... " 

In 1975 when the California investigation into the RFK killing was briefly 
reopened, the public learned that crucial physical evidence, such as ceiling tiles 
from the hotel pantly and bullet fragments, had been destroyed or lost by the 
LAPD. And, as in the Oswald case, critical testimony had been ignored. [The 
above testimony, of Dr. Simpson, pointed to the possibility that Sirhan was a 
hypno-programmed assassin.] 

Also in 1975, seven years after the crime, former high ranking U.S. intelligence 
officer and one of the developers of PSE, Charles McQuiston, analyzed recordings 
of Sirhan's interview with psychiatrists in San Quentin. 

Sirhan said, "To me, sir, he [Kennedy] is still alive ... I still don't believe what has 
happened ... I don't believe he is dead. I have no realization still that I killed him, 
that he is in the grave." McQuiston's PSE analysis showed that on this statement 
Sirhan exhibited very little stress. 
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"After analyzing the tapes," McQuiston said, " I'm convinced that Sirhan wasn't 
aware of what he was doing. He was in a hypnotic trance when he pulled the 
trigger and killed Senator Kennedy ... Everything in the PSE charts tells me that 
someone else was involved in the assassination -- and that Sirhan was 
programmed through hypnosis to kill RFK. What we have here is a real live 
Manchurian Candidate. "108 

After examining Sirhan's PSE charts, Dr. Jolm W. Heisse, Jr., president of the 
International Society of Stress Analysis agreed with McQuiston. Dr. Heisse, who 
had studied hundreds of people under hypnosis using the PSE, said, "Sirhan kept 
repeating certain phrases. This clearly revealed he had been programmed to put 
himself into a trance. This is something he couldn't have learned by himself. 
Someone had to show him and teach him how. 

"' believe Sirhan was brainwashed under hypnosis by the constant repetition of 
words like 'you are nobody, you're nothing, the American dream is gone' until he 
actually believed them. At that stage someone implanted an idea, kill RFK, and 
under hypnosis the brainwashed Sirhan accepted it" 

Dr. Herbert Spiegel, who wrote the introduction to The Control of Candy Jones, 
has been billed as one of the country's leading medical experts on hypnosis. 
Spiegel said of Sirhan's case: "'t's very possible to distort and change somebody's 
mind through a number of hypnotic sessions. It can be described as 
brainwashing because the mind is cleared of its old emotions and values which 
are replaced by implanting other suggestions ... This teclmique was probably used 
with Sirhan. From my own research, I think Sirhan was subjected to hypnotic 
treatment" 

Even in the early days of the investigation, there were those who found it easy to 
believe the hypno-programming theory. Among them was writer Truman Capote, 
who had Jor a long while been a friend of Jacqueline Kennedy and her sister Lee 
Radziwill. After writing his best seller In Cold Blood, Capote was regarded as 
something of an expert on murder. On the NBC '1'onight " show Capote 
suggested Sirhan and his accomplices had been intensively trained and 
brainwashed trigger men. Their purpose, Capote proposed, was to drive the 
United States to its knees by assassinating all its leaders. 

According to Robert Blair Kaiser, "With a little more diligence than they exercised, 
and a great deal more intelligence than they had, the police might have 
established links between Sirhan and the underworld, between Sirhan and the 
right wing, between Sirhan and the left wing, between Sirhan and AI Fatah ... "1

0P 

Clwles McQuiston, Nalionol Enquim-, October 20, 1975 
twser, op.ciL 
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But neither the police nor the FBI showed any interest in Sirhan's "connections" 
- perhaps because there were so many. Like Lee Hatvey Oswald, Sirhan was a 
contradiction. He could be linked to many different groups, all of which could 
easily have had a political motive to kill Robert Kennedy. So the LAPD did the 
same thing the Warren Commission did; it took what evidence it needed to prove 
its case for a "lone nut" and ignored the rest. 

Defense director Diamond, subsequently explaining his tactics in Sirhan's bial, 
said he was surprised when he first tried to hypnotize Sirhan. "Most people may 
take an hour or more to go under hypnosis the first time," Diamond said. "A 
schizophrenic usually takes much longer, if he goes under at all. But it took less 
than ten minutes for Sirhan to go into a deep authentic sleep." 

Sirhan, Dr. Diamond concluded, had obviously had experience with hypnosis 
before. He found Sirhan was reluctant to speak under hypnosis but that he could 
easily write without being posthypnotically blocked. "Writing under hypnosis is 
called automatic writing," Diamond said, "and the term aptly describes the way 
Sirhan would write like a robot and keep on repeating a word or phrase until I 
stopped him." 

Taking a sheet of a legal pad lying nearby, Diamond asked Sirhan to write his 
answers to the questions put to him in the hypnotic trance. He showed Sirhan a 
sample of his diary page. 

"'s this crazy writing?" Diamond asked. 

"YES YES YES," Sirhan wrote. 

"Are you crazy?" Diamond asked 

"NO NO," Sirhan wrote. 

"Well why are you writing crazy?" Diamond asked. 

"PRACTICE PRACTICE PRACTICE," Sirhan responded. 

"Practice for what?" Diamond asked. 

"MIND CONTROL MIND CONTROL MIND CONTROL" is what Sirhan wrote.110 

lit 
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Perhaps now, looking back, we can understand more about Sirhan from David. 
David was a good Air Force candidate for mind control: He was an obedient 
soldier, penitent, and patienl His amnesia, you'll recall, was so total, so 
complete, that it took years of psychotherapy to restore his memory. This is what 
he had to say on the subject of forgetting and remembering: 

'7he air force used hypnosis for opening up my subconscious mind. It's the 
subconscious mind that remembers everything. That was the way it was 
explained to me. The subconscious mind must trust the person who is 
conditioning il So if a person gets another's subconscious mind to trust them, 
then that subconscious mind will tell them everything it has seen or heard from 
the day it was born even back to when it was in its mother's womb. 

"So under a voice or word command the infonnation can be brought out once the 
subconscious has been conditioned to respond to the right command. It might 
respond to one voice or a group of voices. I'd be given a certain cue and I would 
remember what I was supposed to remember. I was tested constantly. And then, 
when the meeting was over, I would be unable to remember, and automatically 
my subconscious would close. 

'7he cue command would be at the beginning of a meeting. I don't think you 
need a dual command. I think you need only a command to start, then once 
something is finished, the process stops automatically. During the training period 
I'd do whatever I wanted for a couple of days, then go back and the next thing I 
knew I was remembering the computer numbers again. A word would be said 
and I'd just begin remembering. They'd give a command, and if your 
subconscious has really trusted the person conditioning you, that triggers the 
memory. I don't know who the person I trusted was, because I was usually only 
talking to the tape recorder. I was actually thinking I was talking to someone that 
was very close. That would be the person who'd listen to the tape I guess. 

"Really I was talking to myself, but behind this was that person -- no name, no 
face, just that friendly trustworthy person who had conditioned me. And at the 
same time it was myself. Who would I trust more than myself? 

'7hey must have told me that after I got out of the setVice I'd be unable to 
remember anything of a sensitive nature. I suppose they told me in a way that 
made it acceptable. But I don't think I ever thought I would have the problems 
which resulted from loss of my memory ... When you can't remember things in 
sequence about your life, you have no idea what that does to you. It interferes 
with your whole identity." 
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Considering the connections between Cuba or Cubans and Lee Harvey Oswald, 
Jack Ruby, James Earl Ray's Latin accomplice "Raoul," and Luis Castillo's Cuban 
Intelligence training one cannot help but wonder whether a variation on a 
scenario written in 1943 by hypnotist George Estabrooks wasn't being played out 
in the assassinations. 

In his book HJIPTlotism, Estabrooks outlined a plan in which suddenly the Cubans 
had become belligerent and were "building a great naval base at Havana, an 
obvious menace to our overseas trade." He suggested that a Cuban oil executive 
be hypno-programmed to spy on the Cuban government "Neither he nor the 
group in question (his oil company) need know anything of the arrangements. 
The instructions to his unconscious in hypnotism are veey definite. Find out 
everything possible about the naval base. He is shown maps of this before he goes 
and coached as to just what is important Nor is he ever allowed to submit 
written reports. Everything must be handed on by word of mouth to one of the 
very few individuals who are able to hypnotize him ... Under these circumstances 
we may count on this man doing everything in his power to collect the 
information in question." 

Estabrooks explained: "There are certain safeguards if we use hypnotism. First, 
there is no danger of the agent selling out, but this would probably not be of great 
importance in this particular case. More important would be the conviction of 
innocence which the man himself had, and this is a great aid in many situations. 
He would never 'act guilty' and if ever accused of seeking information would be 
quite honestly indignant This conviction of innocence on the part of a criminal 
is perhaps his greatest safeguard under questioning by authorities. Finally, it 
would be impossible to •third degree' him and so pick up the links of a chain. 
This is very important, for the most hardened culprit is always liable to •talk' if the· 
questioners are but ruthless enough." 

Then Estabrooks expanded his point "Far more useful than the foregoing 
purpose, however, would be that for a counterespionage service, built along the 
same lines. This would require both care and time to perfect, but once working it 
might prove extremely effective. Here the best approach would probably be 
through those of enemy alien stock within our own gates. Once again let us 
choose the aggressive Cubans as examples. In the event of war, but preferably 
well before the outbreak of war, we would start our organization. We could easily 
secure (say) one hundred or one thousand excellent subjects of Cuban stock who 
spoke their language fluently, and then work on these subjects. 

"In hypnotism we would build up their loyalty to this country; but out of 
hypnotism, in the 'waking' or normal state we would do the opposite, striving to 
convince them they had a genuine grievance against this country and 
encouraging them to engage in 'fifth column' activities. Here we would be 
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coming very close to establishing a case of 1 dual personality. I There is nothing at 
all impossible in this. We know that dual, and even multiple, personality can be 
both caused and cured by hypnotism. Moreover, that condition, the Dr. Jekyll and 
Mr. Hyde combination, is a very real one once it is established. 

'1'hey would, as we before said, be urged in the waking state to become fifth 
columnists to the United States, but we would also point out to them in 
hypnotism that this was really a pose, that their real loyalty lay with this country, 
offering them protection and reward for their activities. Through them we would 
hope to be kept infonned of the activities of their 'friends,' this information, of 
course being obtained in the trance state." 

As to the possibility of hypno-programming assassins, Estabrooks wrote: "Strange 
to say, most good subjects will commit murder. In the writer's opinion there can 
be very little doubt on this score. They commit a legal, but not an ethical murder, 
so to speak. For example, we hypnotize a subject and tell him to murder you with 
a gun. We hand him a loaded revolver. In all probability he will refuse. Frankly 
for very obvious reasons, the writer has never made the experiment. Corpses are 
not needed in psychological laboratories." 

That, Estabrooks suggests, best be left to the intelligence agencies. And now we 
know they took up the challenge.111 
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THE PATRIOTIC ASSASSIN 

An the assassins in the cryptocracy' s anny of hit men are not, by any means, 
programmed. There are other ways besides mind control to motivate the 
commission of murder. 

In 1298 Marco Polo returned from his Asiatic travels with a tale of assassins who 
were motivated by an unusually clever technique. Polo described a fortress he 
had visited in the valley of Alamut in Persia. He said the valley was the 
headquarters of a notorious group known as the Ashishin, from which the word 
"assassin" evolved. 

Polo's story echoed numerous legends about an "Old Man of the Mountain," 
named Allahudin, who used subtle and elaborate psychological tricks to motivate 
simple co~try boys to undertake fearless acts of murder. The Old Man had 
created an inescapable valley between two mountains by building up high walls at 
both ends. He turned the valley into a beautiful garden, the largest and most 
beautiful that had ever been seen. In this valley he planted every kind of fruit tree 
and built several elaborate, ornamented pavilions and palaces which were said to 
be of such elegance they could not be described in words. Everything that could 
be, was covered with gold. The buildings housed the most exquisite collection of 
paintings and sculpture in the lmown world. Man-made streams flowed wine, 
milk, honey, and water. 

Also in the Old Man's garden was a harem of the most beautiful houris in the 
world, trained to play all manner of instruments, and to sing and dance in the 
most sensuous and seductive manner. All had also been highly trained in the fine 
art of lovemaking, and were reputed to lmow every possible way in which to make 
a man happy. 

The garden was well fortified, and there was no way to get in or out of it except 
through the Old Man's castle. None were allowed to enter the Old Man's Garden 
except those who had been selected to be among theAshishin. 
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Youths from the countryside were attracted to the Old Man's court, lured by tales 
of the fantastic paradise. They believed that the Old Man was one of God's elect, 
and that angels did his bidding. Only those ranging in age from twelve to twenty 
years who displayed a taste for soldiering and were in prime physical condition 
were admitted to the Ashishin. 

The Old Man's garden duplicated every detail of Paradise as described in the Koran 
by the Prophet Mohammed. A young man selected for the Ashishin would soon 
come to believe in the Old Man just as he already believed in Mohammed. 

After the proper indoctrination was completed, the Old Man would have his 
candidate drugged with a mysterious potion that would cast him into a deep 
sleep. Once asleep, the candidate would be lifted and carried into the garden and 
would wake up to find himself in a place he was certain must be Paradise. 

As time went on, he'd become more and more convinced that he was in Paradise. 
Ladies offered everything a young man could want, beyond even the wildest 
expectations of these simple folk. Mter only a few days in this garden, no young 
country boy would have left of his own accord. 

When the Old Man wanted to send one of his young Ashishin on a mission, he 
would again have him given the mysterious potion, and carried in his sleep from 
the garden to the castle. There the youth would be dressed in his old clothes and 
placed into the original position in which he'd fallen asleep before being taken 
into the Garden. 

Upon awakening to "reality" he would experience a great sense of loss at fmding 
that he was no longer in Paradise. Then, as if meeting this young man for the 
first time the Old Man would ask him where he had come from. Usually the youth 
would reply that he had just come from Paradise, and in great excitement explain 
that it was exactly as Mohammed had described it in the Koran. This would, of 
course, give eavesdroppers an even greater desire to get there, and the strongest 
among them would, days later, wake up in the arms of the houris of paradise. 

When the Old Man wanted a rival prince killed, he would command such a youth 
who'd just returned from Paradise, "Go thou and slay So-and-so; and when thou 
returnest, my angels shall bear thee back into Paradise. But shouldst thou die in 
the process, nevertheless, even so will I send my angels to carry thee back into 
Paradise." 

With this psychological ruse the Old Man would motivate youths to transcend the 
fear of death. Usually there was no order that a youngAshishin would not obey, 
no peril he would not risk, so great was his desire to get back to Paradise. 
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In this manner the Old Man got his Ashishin to murder anyone he named. He 
inspired such dread in the princes of other kingdoms that they offered tribute to 
him in order that they might live in peace. 

Marco Polo's story of early mind control has elements which bear a striking 
similarity to today' s modem Ashishin of the cryptocracy. 

In the 1950's the CIA smuggled a captive Soviet Air Force officer to the United 
States for interrogation. he was taken from a West Berlin prison to the CIA's 
Langley, Vuginia, "fann" where he was interrogated at length. Once he'd begun 
to fear for his life, the CIA men showed him clemency. They took him to New 
York, where he attended a baseball game, and enjoyed a full sampling of the 
nectar of freedom. He was plied with wine, women, song, and, in the true 
American tradition, hot dogs. 

Mer a few weeks of high living, the officer was returned to the West Berlin 
prison, where he was thrown into a dark cell. At an opportune moment he was 
allowed to escape. Mter the CIA had established that he was back at his post, 
flying the kind of aircraft they needed, they placed an ad in a Western paper which 
was circulated in the underground behind the Iron Curtain. The ad said that a 
certain group, not identified with the CIA, would pay $100,000 and arrange for 
political asylum for any pilot who would deliver the specified Soviet aircraft to the 
Wesl 

A few days after reading the ad, the Soviet officer flew his plane to the West, 
collected his $100,000, gained political asylum, and entered the "paradise" he had 
glimpsed for only two weeks. 

It should come as no surprise that many men will murder for simple, 
old-fashioned motives: sex, love, or money. One psychologist found that a sizable 
percentage of Americans would be willing to kill another human being if they 
were offered enough money and assured they would never be caught. 

In 1976 a Pasadena, California, psychologist, Dr. Paul Cameron, put the 
murder-for-pay question to 452 persons. Those questioned were divided into 
groups. The first group included those who had already deliberately killed or 
attempted to kill another human being -- usually in military service. The second 
group consisted of those who had never attempted to kill another person. 

The question was: "What is the least amount of money you would take to push a 
button to kill a person inside a black box -- if no one would ever know what you 
did?" 

To Cameron's surprise, 45 percent of those who had killed before said they would 
be willing to push the black box button for an average price of only $20,000. 
Twenty-five percent of those who'd never killed said they'd be willing to commit 
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murder for an average price of $50,000, about the price of a house in the suburbs 
in those days. 

Mind control is not needed to motivate assassins; it is however, most useful to 
protect assassins and their employers from their own incriminating memories. 

In the course of researching this book I talked with a number of retired 
intelligence personnel (from various government agencies) who had either 
committed assassination or admitted having heard tales of assassins in their work. 
Few had heard of an assassin being mind-controlled. One man I consulted, 
however, took a special interest in the stories of David and Castillo. A chemist 
who had worked for one of the intelligence research labs, he developed new ways 
for killing quickly and quietly. And he had met several of the killers who were to 
use his formulas. 

Over a three year period I talked with this chemist on a number of occasions. He 
came to trust that I would reveal no names and endanger no lives in telling the 
story of mind-control. After hearing details of my research, he offered to 
introduce me to a man he had met while working at the lab. This man had been a 
high ranking officer in the military, retired after thirty years of service. He had 
served as an officer in World War ll and Korea. During the Vietnam conflict 
because of his special knowledge of "black science," he was induced to sign on 
after he retired from military service as a private contractor for the cryptoaacy. 
During the next eighteen years, he accepted several simple assassination jobs. He 
told the chemist about some of his friends having come back from similar 
missions with "holes in their memories." 

The chemist had arranged a meeting in a noisy public restaurant in a small New 
Mexico town. Having promised to take no notes, I had secreted in my pocket the 
smallest tape recorder made, which allowed me to record three hours of the 
assassin's talk, amid clanking glasses and the general restaurant noise. 

When I fmally sat across from him, my heart raced. The retired assassin was a 
sixty-year-old man, gray haired, but as strong as a man twenty-five years his 
junior. He had a .44 magnum revolver strapped to his side, as did the man he 
introduced as his bodyguard. As a cover for the guns, he and the bodyguard both 
wore National Rifle Association patches sewn prominently to the pockets of their 
crisply pressed khaki clothes. 

The chemist had already informed his friend about the book I was researching. As 
we sat down and were introduced by first names only, I told the assassin I was 
especially interested in finding out why men had been returned to civilian life 
with amnesia. 



Operation Mind Control 357 

I mentioned the ad I had placed and the number of people who had responded. I 
mentioned also that the majority of those who responded, and who had reason to 
believe their minds had been tampered with, had been enlisted personnel. 

Career officers, he explained, were legally bound by security oaths and 
economically dependent upon pensions and the privileges of rank, but enlisted 
personne~ while perhaps bound by an oath, were likely to separate from the 
service knowing more than they needed to know. Somebody had to man the 
high-technology instruments of war and those who were merely computer fodder 
had to be protected against their knowledge - they could not be trusted. 
Patriotism, especially during the Vietnam era, was a waning motivation. Their 
memories had to be erased. But, he explained, mind control was not needed to 
make a killer. Professionals didn't usually need to be motivated. Most members 
of search-and-destroy or "executive action" teams were already willing to kill­
men, women, or children -- if their superiors ordered it. 

I concluded that he meant a career killer didn't need to be debriefed by mind 
control When I said that, he contradicted me. "You want to bet?" he said. 
"They'd all kill, but they might not be able to keep the secret. It would depend 
entirely upon what activities they were involved in, whether the assignment was 
combat, mop-up, search-and-destroy, political assassination, or whatever •.. 

"This debriefing is done in such a way, in many cases, as to cause actual memory 
damage. As things have gone along and progressed, the techniques have been 
smoothed out, but memory damage still occurs. In certain cases memory recall is 
so critical that they bend over backwards to be damned sure that you can't 
remember. 

"Many of the things that occur are not as pretty as you'd like the public to think," 
he said. 

"So you've witnessed many atrocities of war?" I asked. 

"I don't call them atrocities," he countered. "I call them military actions. There's 
a lot of conflict of interest there- the politicians against the military ... " 

I let him rail a while about the evils of the government and then brought him 
back to my point of interest. "OK, who killed JFK, RFK, King, and who was 
behind Bremer?" I asked. He didn't remember who Bremer was, so I explained 
that he was the man who'd shot Wallace. 

"Oil, yeah," he said. "Bremer was just a kook. But whoever got the Kennedys and 
King probably got a gold medal. (Evidence indicates that Bremmer was 
programmed at one of the cryptocracy' s mind control academies.) 
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"We were set up to wipe Castro out. Kennedy interfered at the last minute. You 
want to take a guess at who killed him? ... Oswald was just a patsy. I've ftred the 
same kind of rifle Oswald was supposed to have used. You can't rapid-fire that 
thing like he was supposed to have done. Now who do you suppose killed 
Kennedy? 

" ••• Don't kid yourself. This country is controlled by the Pentagon. All the major 
decisions in this country are made by the military, from my observations on the 
clandestine side of things. 

"The CIA's just the whipping boy. NSA [the National Security Agency] are the 
ones who have the hit teams. Look into their records - you won't find a thing. 
Look into their budget- you can't. For the life of you, you can't find any way 
they could spend the kind of money they've got on the number of people who are 
supposed to be on their payroll. Even if they had immense research and 
development programs, they couldn't spend that kind of money. 

"The CIA's just a figurehead. They are more world-wide --like the FBI is. They're 
accountants, lawyers, flle clerks, schoolboys. They are information gatherers. 
They've pulled a lot of goddamned shenanigans, rm not going to deny that, but 
as far as intelligence goes the NSA' s far, far superior to them - far in advance in 
the 'black arts.' 

"The CIA gets blamed for what NSA does. NSA is far more vicious and far more 
accomplished in their operations. The American people are kept in ignorance 
about this - they should be, too." 

"'n other words," I responded, "what you're saying is the military is more 
dangerous to our democracy than the CIA or other intelligence groups?" 

"The CIA gathers information, but the military heads the show. Look at how 
many former officers work for the multinational corporations. Can't you figure it 
out?" 

"What are you suggesting, that there is an invisible coup d'etat which has 
occurred in the United States?" I asked. 

"OK. There is a group of about eighteen or twenty people running this country. 
They have not been elected. The elected people are only figureheads for these 
guys who have a lot more power than even the President of the United States." 

"You mean the President is powerless?" I asked. 

"Not exactly powerless. He has the power to make decisions on what is presented 
to him. The intelligence agencies tell him only what they want to tell him. 
however, they don't tell him any more than they have to or want to. 
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"You have to wonder at American stupidity. How much does it take to get people 
to wake up to what has happened? It's public knowledge that the CIA has falsified 
documents and given Presidents fake intelligence reports so that he can only 
arrive at one conclusion -- the conclusion they want him to arrive al 

"What people don't know is that the global corporations have their own version of 
the CIA. Where they don't interface with the CIA, they have their own 
organizations -- all CIA trained. They also have double agents inside CIA and 
other intelligence organizations who are loyal to those corporations -- I mean 
where's the bread buttered? Would you rather take the government pensions, or 
would you rather work a little for the corporation on the side and get both 
government pensions and corporate benefits after you retire? Most men retire 
after twenty years, and they're only in their mid-forties ... then they go to work for 
the corporation they've been working for while they were in government service. 
They get both the pension and the corporate paycheck that way! 

"Together with what the corporations do on their own, they have a worldwide 
espionage system far better than the CIA's. There is a network of what amounts 
to double agents - they do work for the government, and may appear to be 
government agents, but they are first loyal to the corporations. They report to 
those corporations on the government and on what foreign governments might 
be planning which would interfere with those corporations foreign invesbnents. 
These guys are strictly free enterprise agents." 

"You call these guys contract agents?" I wondered. 

"Oh, no, no, no •.. Take, for example-- we develop a new death ray. We've got the 
best security in the United States on it, which is tied in second place for the best 
security in the world. Tied for first place are the Russian and Chinese security 
systems. 

"Now even with all this security, before FACI [First Article Configuration 
Inspection, the government's checking system on the manufacturing of military 
hardware] on a government contract -- that death ray is up for grabs in every 
nation in the world. Any amount of military security can't keep it secrel" 

"What you're saying," I interrupted, "is American people are selling secrets, 
wholesale, to the highest bidder? That is to say, I assume, if the highest bidder is 
an American company?" 

"And even if it's not," he said. "Usually it is another nation. I've dealt with 
weapons and usually the nation that wants it most will pay the most for il Once 
in a while these companies, these government contractors, will fmd that someone 
has stolen one of their secrets and there'll be a big flap. But the big boys in the 
military are an entirely different ball of wax. •. the big guys get away with il 
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"When one of these companies fmds someone inside it selling secrets, they take 
him on a fishing trip, a boat ride, and get rid of him. It's quite common," he said. 
"For example, if I was tied in with one of these companies where money is no 
object, and they wanted me to get rid of you, I'd obtain a passport or a duplicate 
passport with your smilin' face on it. After I'd obtained it, I'd put whoever's face 
on it I wanted. Then after we dumped you, that 'someone' whose face was on 
your passport would take a trip to Australia. 

"Later your friends or family would notice you were missing and people would 
begin to inquire as to your whereabouts. Eventually they'd check with the 
Australian customs who'd say, yes, this guy entered the countzy on such and such 
a date. By then the guy who'd traveled over there on your passport would have 
already come back on his own, and as far as the best detective could tell you've 
gone to Australia and you've never come back." 

"What do you know about the military or the intelligence agencies' use of 
pain-drug hypnosis?" I asked. 

"They used several different things. I've seen, actually seen, guys coming back 
with blanks only in certain places of their memory. Let's say that I know 
positively, not by hearsay, that it's done." 

"You've seen it?" I asked. 

"You'll never get me to admit it," he grinned. 

"Well, how is it done?" I asked. 

"They use hypnosis and hypnotic drugs. They also use electronic manipulation of 
the brain. They use ultrasonics, which will boil your brain. When they use 
hypnosis, they'll at the same time be using a set of earphones which repeat 'You 
do not know this or that,' over and over. They tum on the sanies at the same 
time, and the electrical patterns which give you memory are scrambled. You 
can't hear the ultrasonics and you can't feel it, unless they leave it on -- then it 
boils your grey matter." 

Unless the assassin had done the same research I had, he could only have known 
this through firsthand experience. The CIA documents released in 1976 revealed 
that ultrasonic research was undertaken for a period of more than twenty years. 
But the documents said the research had stopped, so I asked him about that. 

"Yeah. The research has stopped. They've gone operational. It ain't research any 
more. They know how to do it," he said. 

"Do you mean that it is your opinion that it hasn't stopped, or do you mean that 
you know it hasn't stopped?" I asked. 
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"I mean I know it hasn't stopped," he said. "For example, suppose that a dictator 
in some South American country is setting up real problems and we try to kick 
him out. We call in some of my former group and say, 'Look, the bastard has got 
to have a fatal accident, and it's gotta look good --like he fell on a bar of soap and 
broke his neck in the bathtub or something.' So we go down there and get the 
job done. 

"But it could be quite embarrassing if any of the guys were cross-examined about 
where they'd been and what they'd done ... So the guys who were in on the job 
suddenly have a cold or something, and they are put in a hospital for maybe just a 
routine checkup. They come out of the hospital in about fifteen days. They're 
alive. They're well. They're healthy. And they're happy, too. Lots of luck if you 
question them: they don't remember anything. 

"That's one way it's used. The other way is to use it to improve memory- say, 
with couriers. You want a secret message carried, outside the chain of command 
--there's no need to have it carried by a person if it's a legal message because the 
military's got a thousand ways of sending messages which are unbreakably secret. 
But if it's outside the chain of command, as so many things are these days, if it's 
an illegal message, and our Constitution doesn't permit us to do much that is 
legal -- then you have a hypno-prograrnmed guy carry the message. You improve 
his memory so he can carry an entire coded book of what appears to be gibberish, 
and when he's got it down you give him amnesia and seal off that message by a 
posthypnotic code word, and whammo! You got a real good secret courier, 
because he can be tortured to death but he can't remember. Unless the proper 
cue is uttered. 

"Then if the courier's going to operate against the enemy, who might have the 
techniques of hypnosis down, you give him several layers of post hypnotic 
command. In the first layer, he'll confess a false message. In the second layer, 
he'll confess another different false message. Finally, maybe on the fourth or flfth 
layer is the real message. 

"Our guy who is supposed to get the message knows that the first three cues, say, 
are fake, and he gives.the fourth cue and out comes the correct message. H the 
courier was in enemy hands he could be there for years before anybody will figure 
out where he was in all those layers .•. Each identity will probably be that of a real 
'cut out' -- a person enough like him, so the enemy will think that they've got the 
real guy. 

"Many of the men in my unit were given assignments, after which they were so 
'persuaded' they didn't remember anything. I mean to say, they'd gone in 
believing the only thing in life that meant anything to them was completing the 
assignment -- to get it done, and when they got done with it they couldn't 
remember anything about it " 



362 W.H. Bowarl 

"Could these guys have been that way without hypnosis?" I asked. 

"Well, they could have believed their mission in life was that particular 
assignment. They usually had no family affiliations, no friends, nothing but their 
careers. But I don't think they'd have forgotten about those kind of assignments. 
Not without a little help, let us say." 

"What was the conditioning these guys had? Was it drugs, hypnosis, or 
something else?" I wanted to know. 

"Hypnosis, electro-therapy, programming them by tapes, by voice-over earphones, 
awake or in trance, or asleep. By a number of methods." 

"How widespread was this mind control?" I asked. 

"Well, I was - well, that is something I can't really answer. I know of several 
different groups upon whom it was used- I know it was used in some of the 
hairier areas of Korea and Vietnam, and it was started in World War Two, but it 
has been refined far more since then. How much of it was used, I don't know. I 
know of several groups that I was affiliated with that had it used on them." 

"Would you say this kind of thing did not exist before World War Two?" I asked. 

"Oh, it did. But it was not in such a sophisticated fonn. If s as old as man, but 
now it is refined to an art. Before it was torture and psychological pressure -- that 
can accomplish a lot. We've been trained to use it in primitive field situations. 
But now it's done with the idea that the mind can be put under complete controL 
Just like they used to use rubber hoses at the police stations. They don't do that 
anymore. Well, rubber hoses still work, but they don't work as well as some other 
things which the police now have." 

Are you saying the police also use mind control?" I asked. 

"At the highest levels, yes. The FBI certainly uses it, and they, of course, give a lot 
of help to the local police. There are certain areas of the brain which control your 
inhibitions. When they control those centers, then the subject will go on with his 
assignment, regardless. I've seen men whose mother could be sitting there 
having coffee, and if they'd been instructed to kill her, they'd walk right in and 
shoot her, and it wouldn't even upset their appetites for supper. They were 
conditioned to do it in such a way that they have no guilt. They wouldn't have 
guilt because after they were through they wouldn't even remember it. 

"Let me tell you something: the cheapest commodity in the world ~ human 
beings. Most assassins don't need to be programmed to kilL They're loyal to 
command. They're conditioned, first by the circumstances of their own early life, 



Operation Mind Control 363 

then by a little 'loyalty training.' The command is their only justification for 
living. It is also their only protection once they're into il •. 

" .•. When I came out of the service and went to work for the government, I had a 
colonel assigned to me as a bodyguard. When he retired I hired him," he said, 
pointing to his bodyguard. "He's still with me, and that's why we have these ... " 
He pointed to the .44 magnum -- the most powerful handgun in the world -
strapped to his side in plain sighl 

"Who are you worried about? The Russians? The Chinese?" 

"Well, I'll tell you. You can damned near put a pin in the map anywhere you 
wanl I got into military security before the Second World War. I was just a kid. 
Over the years I was assigned to thirty-two different countries. So you can draw 
your own conclusion." 

"But what you've been talking about is a political action, not a military one. How, 
then, as a military security man did you get involved in political actions?" 

"Well, suppose there were countries that were doing teclmological research on 
things which could be injurious to the welfare of the United States. I'd be one of 
the guys assigned to destroy those scientists who were involved in the research. 
That was with friendly and unfriendly governments. So, naturally, if they found 
out I was in on it, even now, they'd come after me. 

"In other cases I was involved in knocking off some dictators. Then we'd change 
the people's voting ideas when they had to elect someone." 

I returned to the main thread of our conversation. "OK now, since we have this 
mind-control teclmology, what is to keep the guys in the cryptocracy or the 
military, as you maintain, from programming Presidents as soon as they take 
office, or immediately after they get elected?" 

"I have always wondered about Nixon," he mused. "He was very pro-military. He 
gave them just about everything they wanted in the world. But he wanted to 
create a monarchy with himself as king. And, slowly but surely, he tried to take 
over the military and the CIA through subordinate officers who were loyal to him 
only. 

"All you hear about are left-wing conspiracies to overthrow our govemmenl You 
never hear about right-wing conspiracies. 

"Well, some of these right-wing groups are far more dangerous than the left wing. 
The left wing's mostly kids with dreams. The right wing is usually retired 
military. They're hard. They're trained. They've got anns. But if the right wing 
took over right now, there should be just a military dictatorship, and the military 
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would find its best plans were not upset at all. I'm saying if a dictatorship took 
over. Hell, we've got one right now, but it ain't overt, it's subtle." 

"You mean those twenty men you were talking about?" I asked. 

"Yeah ... if the people of this country actually knew, they would say 'no' the next 
time they were asked to go to Vietnam. We need the people behind us to fight a 
war, and if they knew the true facts, who's running things, there wouldn't be the 
following we'd need to defend the country. That fact alone keeps the sham of 
politics and 'free elections' going." 

"'f that is the case, then the results would be different?" 

"Yes. If people knew they had a dictatorship. Have you ever heard of a factory 
slowdown, a strike? Well, Russia has run up against the problem, and so have we 
in supporting the foreign dictators we support. The American people like most 
people, have to feel that they have some right; that they're the 'good guys.' This 
is the reason we have never lost a war and have never won a peace. 

"You've got to maintain the sham of freedom, no matter what. It wouldn't make 
any difference what party is in charge or whether it was the elected government or 
what you call the cryptocracy running it; from an operational sense, the 
government would operate as it presently is. From the point of view of people 
paying taxes and defending their country, well, we found in Latin America that 
people won't fight if they think they have a dictator who is just as bad as the 
enemy who is attacking. 

"That's probably why it would be fairly easy to take over the Soviet Union, short of 
nuclear war. The Soviets could probably be convinced by psychological warfare 
that their government is certainly a lot more evil than ours. And if we went to 
war with them we could eventually win .•. That is until the H-bombs started to fall, 
then nobody'd be the winner." 

Changing the subject I asked, "What area of the military were you involved in?" 

"I don't think I ought to answer that. Let's say there was a group which first 
sought to solve problems politically. If that didn't work, then there was another 
group which went in and tried to buy solutions. If that failed, then my group was 
sent in to be damned sure things were accomplished the way we wanted them to 
be." 

"So you were operational, and not research at all?" I asked. 

"No I had been in the lab for a long time. The knowledge I developed was very 
valuable in an operational sense. I was put into the field because of this 
lmowledge." 
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"You're talking about pretty sophisticated equipment, not commando stuff!" 

"Right For example, I won't say the name of the country, but it was a South 
American country. We had a leader that we had supported there who suddenly 
got the idea that he was going to go off on his own. They hied to reason, 
negotiate, buy off his affections. When all that failed, my team was sent in to 
correct the situation. 

"We went in very quietly and left very noisily. We went in as tourists, but the 
important material we brought in was the turning point Let's say we couldn't 
reason with the man anymore. We were there about six days, and the problem 
disappeared. Not many bodies, just the important ones." 

The assassin was very specific telling about some of the jobs he'd accomplished. 
Several included actions taken against a well-known political figure - that, the 
assassin said, was the only assassination he'd ever "blown." His rifle 
malfunctioned at the critical moment when he had his target in the aosshairs of 
his sight 

I cannot say that I had originally believed the assassin's clahns, but after running 
the Psychological Stress Evaluator on all the critical portions of his interview, and 
finding no areas which unexpectedly or inexplicably produced stress, I believed 
that the assassin was telling the truth. The newspaper office he had men- tioned 
was bombed when he said it was, but he could have gained that knowledge from 
newspaper reports. The target of his unsuccessful hit was subsequently "taken 
care of' in another way which did not cost him his life. 

The assassin confinned many of my own conclusions which had been based only 
on research: that an invisible coup d'etat had taken place in the United States: 
that the CIA was only the tip of the ayptocracy iceberg; and that ultrasonic, 
electronic and other sophisticated fonns of memory erasure were used to protect 
"search-and-destroy" operators from their own memories. I've received anecdotal 
confirmation of this over and over since I did this interview. As I toured the U.S. 
and then Europe lecturing on this subject I was approached by a number of 
individuals who confllllled the infonnation I'd heard from this assassin. 

Before I interviewed this man, I'd had some indication that the ayptocracy had 
investigated such techniques (a 1951 CIA document had briefly cited the need for 
such research), but the assassin's disclosure in 1976 that the cryptocracy had 
developed invisible forms of sonic and electronic influences of the human brain 
for mind control sent me back to the libraries. 
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Here a 1940's beauty, maybe one of the first Mon­
arch "Models", who stays obviously dissociated 
from the pain whjle the man (R) measures her 
blood pressure as she's pierced with a hefty 
needle (inset) by the man (U. Could the numbers 
be for programming like survivors describe today? 
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26 

SLEEPER AGENT 

Joe called me one day from Australia. I was still working on Grub Street as editor 
of Palm Springs Life. He told me what most of the victims of mind control have 
told me: "' read your book. You saved my sanity. I know now that I'm not crazy. 
Thanks so much for writing it." 

That was reward enough for doing it, I suppose, but I didn't want to do it again. I 
wanted nothing more to do with mind controL I was burned out on the subject, 
so Joe got a polite but disinterested reception from me. 

He kept up a correspondence with me anyway from the outback. At first his letters 
were fragmented, disjointed, mine were polite, encouraging, brief. I couldn't tell 
where he was coming from, but, what do you expect from a victim whose mind 
has been scrambled? He began by talking about some missing British Scientists: 

During the 1980s at least 25 British Defense Scientists died in extremely 
unusual circumstances. None came to my attention until early 1987 when 
a scientist named David Sands did a high speed tum on a main road, 
drove down a slip road and slammed into a disused 'little Chef cafe at 
an estimated speed of eighty miles an hour. 

The police apparently thought it was an unfortunate accident, despite 
the fact there were no skid marks or signs of evasive action, nor any 
tangible reason for the car to enter the slip road at all. David, badly 
disfigured by some exploding petrol cans in the boot of the car, could 
only be identified from his dental records. 

When I read the story it was early in the morning and I was sleepy. By 
the time I finished it, I was wide awake. In January 1986, my Ford Capri 
3 liter Ghia had suddenly gone into a high speed spin on a nanow 
straight ice free road, with perfect visibility, for no good reason. 

Later in-depth investigation by expert psychologists using both clinical 
and hypnotic procedures determined I had attempted a handbrake tum 
at over seventy miles per hour but had no conscious recollection of the 
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event. The first I knew of the matter was finding myself desperately 
trying to use skid control techniques to conect the spin; well proven 
techniques that had got me out of trouble many times before when I 
worked near the snowbound Alaska highway in northern Canada . . 
My expertise proved of no use in January, 1986 because unknown to me 
at the conscious level my cars' rear wheels had been locked solid by the 
handbrake, making it impossible for the car to respond. I lived to tell the 
tale but was extremely lucky to survive the vicious impact. 

Once again I read the article about David Sands and my disquiet grew. 
There was an uncanny similarity some where but I did not have the full 
details. In the end I checked the name of the person responsible for the 
story, Tony Collins of Computer News, promising myself I would call him 
the following morning. 

My own story started in 1983 when I was approached to implement a 
drilling fluids project in West Bengal by HDF International, subsidiary of 
a massive American defense contractor. I was told from the outset, the 
project would be of a tripartite nature involving India, the Soviet Union 
and lastly myself representing the U.SA. The fact I was an Australian 
rather than an American seemed of no concern to HDF International 
Initially there were no problems at all. The Indians and Soviets were 
very friendly, with everything being prepared for the eventual change to 
the HDF high performance drilling fluid system. Although I controlled 
the HDF project in India, pennission had been refused when I asked to 
select my own relief engineer who would look after the system if I was 
away or on rotating leave break. HDF was adamant its US headquarters 
insisted an American national fill the post. The man in question, Gerald 
Smith, told me immediately on arrival be knew nothing about the system 
we were to use ... 

I encouraged Joe to keep writing, for therapy, if for no other reason. Here are 
excerpts from another letter: 

I recovered with the help of the professors and the Medical Foundation 
for Torture Victims in London. But they recovered only the relatively 
shallow 'decoy' hypnotic level induced in Calcutta. True 
memory-recovery of the deeper somnambulistic hypnotic level did not 
commence until the end of 1992, and when it did the shock almost killed 
me112 .. . Clearly it would have been impossible to write the book in the 
first-person during 1991. At that time there were very few memories from 
1983-84 .... (There are) savage fiscal penalties imposed on those who are 
unwittingly targeted with these techniques and then discarded if 

10 VW.. Joe, Letter to the Author, April17, 1994 
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termination fails after the event. In the case of this family we lost our 
$175,000 house in England, and we lost my tax-paid annual salary of 
$105,000 from 1986 to 1994. In all that comes to nearly a million U.S, 
dollars net, and for the life of me I can see nothing wrong in trying to 
reverse the damage by selling the only thing available to me -- the truth. 
The memory-recovery of the deep Mike-Alpha- Delta-3level came as a 
hell of a shock at the end of 1992 and was prompted, I think, chiefly by 
environmental factors. 

In mid-1991 I started writing articles about George Bush's personal war 
in the Persian Gulf, though 'war' is perhaps the wrong word to use. 
Massacre is probably more accurate when you've just slaughtered 72,000 
innocent Iraqi women and children. At the time I was writing only about 
current events, and then the U.N. Security Council shifted its sights 
across to Libya and I naturally started to write about that as well -- once 
again in the cunent sense. Then in mid-1992 for no apparent reason I 
called the ABC and asked for a copy of all the footage they had on the 
assassination ofWPC Yvonne Fletcher outside the Libyan People's 
Bureau in London during April 1984. After three requests I finally got the 
footage, then promptly wrote a comprehensive ballistics report and drew 
an accurate diagram of the killing zone from memory {?) on an 
assassination canied out eight years earlier. At that stage it never 
occurred to me I was doing anything unusual, or that ex-air force 
personnel don't write ballistics reports at all ... 

Towards the end of that year (late November or early December 1992) I 
was sitting quietly in our dining room late at night when I suddenly 
remembered I wasn't in India between 9 April and 21 April 1984. A few 
seconds later I remembered a few more details that pushed my blood 
pressure up to levels which later turned out to be exceedingly 
dangerous. 

My first action that night was to tell my wife I hadn't been in India 
between those dates. Her {natural) reaction was to tell me that was 
rubbish - saying there would be company documents and personal 
letters in our files proving I was in Calcutta. We dragged the files out of 
storage and, unfortunately, they proved my point completely. There was 
a void space between those two dates: absolutely nothing in the way of 
proof that I'd been in Indian at all. However, there was conclusive proof 
that on 8 April 1984, while in 'transit' at the Holiday Inn in Singapore, I 
was provided with details of a certain Hughes office building in London, 
complete with the 24 hour contact telephone numbers of a senior 
Hughes vice-president. 
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From that point onwards memory-recovery was intermittent, but when it 
occurred it was crystal-clear. For a while I became very ill, with 
conventional drugs proving completely incapable of reducing my 
staggering blood pressure of 205/135. In the end it came back down to 
130/80 with a lot of help from alternative medicine. That was a close call. 
It seems to me the brain has a 'stress-limiting' facility that shuts the 
thought processes down (in this case memory-recovery) if the body is 
under dire threat. That may have happened in my case, because it was 
not until November 1993 that most of the remaining details emerged. 
More shock and more high blood pressure, but by then I was learning 
how to cope with it - more or less. 

Viewed subjectively, all memories remain intact but are somehow 
disconnected from each other after a mission - something like a large 
roll of cine film cut into its individual frames, which are then scattered 
across the floor. The data is all there and complete with visual, audio 
and olfactory effects, but each frame has to be painstakingly put back in 
the right place for it to make sense. After a certain amount of memory is 
recovered the process seems to speed up, as though three memories 
recover three more each. then those nine recovered memories recover 
nine more each etc. A sort of accelerate 'exponential' effect very difficult 
to explain adequately in writing. 

Seemingly it is quite easy to 'build' a second personality, so stories 
about induced multiple personalities based on childhood trauma may 
have been leaked as disinformation, or were simply not used in my case. 
The selection of appropriate potential candidates may be very important 
however. In my case I was simply 'locked into' an earlier age, with all 
details of future life events hypnotically suppressed. For all practical 
purposes I was 27 years old again and still in the military: a chmingly 
simplistic approach but devastatingly effective. For further details see 
Mike-Alpba-Delta-3, my novel. I think it highly unlikely that any 
unbalanced 'macho' individuals have been used on programs such as 
this, because they would tend to be unreliable. Incredibly, it seems far 
more likely that balanced, ethical individuals will have been carefully 
chosen, making detection almost impossible. Without a previous track 
record of psychotic behavior, most candidates would simply be 
'computer-invisible' to police or intelligence service checks. 
It may be that the techniques are still being used, though I am drawing 
a long bow in reaching that (tentative) conclusion. .. 

The last 18 months have been more difficult to live with than the 
preceding eight years. I now have to live with a sequence of events that 
appall me, but am powerless to right the wrong ... 
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Joe was having trouble remembering details, but as he began to write the details 
flowed. It were as if his "fmgers" remembered. Still he was blocked, then he 
started writing his adventures as a "novel" in the third person and his mind freed 
up some more. Quickly he wrote a 110,000 word manuscript in the third-person. 
It was essential that he write in third person anyway, because of the assassination 
of WPC Yvonne Fletcher in St. James Square, London, exactly 10 years before. It 
was something his terrifying memories told him he was the trigger man on. How 
could anyone write such a thing in first-person and hope to stay out of jail? 

A month later the next letter came from Joe: 

Yes the (mind control) facility existed in central Morocco during early 
1984, though I have no idea whether it is still there. That said, the 
accommodation was substantial and King Hassan m is still in the 
pockets of the US covert people. Why move the facility somewhere else 
under such favorable circumstances? 

As to accuracy, the story is about as accurate as possible bearing in 
mind that there were periods where memory-recovery would be difficult 
i.e. when zapped-out by heavy drugs during parts of the process. The 
data on procedures is correct where appearance and equipment is 
concerned, but I was understandably never told exactly how the drugs 
worked in conjunction with the ELF fields, or how in tum they interacted 
to achieve accelerated learning ability, perceptual distortion, hypnotic 
control and post-hypnotic amnesia. There is more detail in parts 2 & 3 
which provides a broader overview than part 1 alone. part 2 is attached 
for your own attention, while part 3 is taken from towards the end of the 
book. when X travels to London. Part 3 is the nastiest bit, a s you might 
expect . 

... Don't stick with the idea that Special Operations specifically programs 
assassins. It would be more accurate to describe candidates as 
'multi-role' i.e. capable of wide-ranging terrorist activity which happens 
to include assassination. 

Number of Joe's? Three if you count the normal waking state i.e. 1. 
Normal waking, 2 Decoy level, and 3 Operational. But it still comes down 
to narco-electronic-hypnotic trickery and, at the very worst, a duality of 
personality based on modified but authentic behavior from a younger 
adult age. No misleading childhood trauma or other wobbly stuff like 
that. Hence my claim that 3. most will almost certainly be 
self-disciplined, well-balanced, ethical individuals with the right 
background. Certainly not undisciplined psychos from the funny farm. 
with the resulting extra-high requirements for control and training. 
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The following are excepts from Joe's "factional" novel, Mike,-Alpha-Della-3, parts 
of which first appeared in Nexus magazine. Reprinted with pennission of the 
author. 

Otto Jewell lay strapped to the spotless white operating table while 
Special Operations technicians checked the electrodes on his scalp, and 
adjusted the two high-resolution lenses mounted directly above his head, 
designed to reflect images from the visual-input projector at the foot of 
the operating table directly onto the retina of each eye. On each side of 
Otto's head, two extra-low-frequency generators built into special 
headphones pulsed slowly and smoothly, enveloping both hemispheres of 
his brain with high-intensity electromagnetic fields. 

Off to one side of the room was located the ELF generator control 
console, and a sophisticated electroencephalograph (EEG) linked to four 
green computer screens, each displaying one of Otto's four brain 
frequency groups: Alpha, Beta, Theta and Delta. As the generators pulsed 
slowly, the delta screen showed a brilliant green trace while the other 
three remained blank, apart from an occasional brief green 'spike' on the 
alpha screen. Directly beneath the four green screens a larger color screen 
was on standby, ready to repeat all data relayed to the retina of Otto's 
eyes by the visual-input projector. 

To the left of the computer bank stood a standard medical aiTay, 
monitoring Otto's vital signs including respiration, pulse and skin 
conductivity. All was well in The Terrorist Factory: Otto was sleeping like 
a baby and programming would continue as soon as the staff were ready. 

CIA controller Julia Long nodded to the others and walked out of the 
climate-controlled operating room into the blazing hot Moroccan 
sunshine. Although it was still early in April1984, the sun beat down 
remorselessly and Julia thought again how unfair it was that the 'special 
access' facility had to be sited in the middle of Morocco- a countiy she 
personally found far too backward for her tastes. Unfortunately there was 
little choice as the US Congress had banned experiments on human 
targets back in 1973, at which point Special Operations had secretly 
moved the facility to Beirut in the Lebanon. She smiled bitterly to herself. 
Beirut had been wonderful, and ideally sited until the Russian military 
had blown more than two hundred US marines apart with a pair of 
special bombs. 

Beirut was also an ideal launching point for her more normal 'clients': 
Arabs, including Palestinian refugees with a military background, 
programmed to believe they were operating under the direct orders of the 
PLO as they bombed their way across Europe, creating mayhem and 
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fanning blind hatred against the nations of the Middle East. Most of the 
'patriotic PLO terrorists' were killed during their missions of course, and 
those who survived could not provide their interrogators with any 
information at all, even under intense torture. US techniques in 
manufacturing electro-hypnotic dual personalities had been developed 
over a thirty-year period and were the very best, totally resistant to 
expert probing by anyone up to and including the Russian KGB. 

It had never OCCUlTed to Julia Long that what she was doing was wrong. 
to her, the end justified the means entirely when spreading the doctrine 
of CIA 'democracy' across the globe. If a few dozen or a few hundred 
people had to die in front of television cameras in order to manipulate 
public opinion, then so be it. Julia was in the business of deh'berately 
generating public anger by staging honific, obscene operations that 
shocked the public via the television screen. After seeing bloodied, 
mangled bodies attributed to the PLO, Shining Path, or whichever group 
was selected by the CIA as the 'culprit' for the atrocity of the day, the 
public was happy to cheer the US bombers which then proceeded to blow 
the 'terrorists' and their wives and children off the face of the Earth. The 
fact no one would have died at all without the intervention of her small 
deadly Special Operations group was of no concern. For Julia, the world 
was run by CIA covert operations, and nothing else was of consequence. 

As Julia sat in the hot sunshine smoking a cigarette, she thought briefly 
of Otto. It was nearly ten years since one of the facility's clients had been 
subjected to such an intense program although the rationale was 
inescapable: as an Englishman, Otto had to be word-perfect in every way, 
in the event he was captured and interrogated during the special mission 
planned for him in the West End of London. 

It was one thing interrogating an Arab who was 'obviously' PLO; quite 
another interrogating an Englishman with a high-profile professional oil 
background. British Intelligence would pull out all the stops and try 
especially hard to break Otto if he were taken alive during or after the 
mission. 

A little grimly, Julia cast a sidelong glance at the smoky Atlas Mountains 
in the background as she crushed the cigarette under her boot. She would 
allow no mistakes with Otto: not one. As she opened the door of the 
operating room, cool air controlled at exactly 68 degrees Fahrenheit 
swept over her. Taking her seat at the control console and donning a set 
of headphones, Julia turned with long famiJiarity and moved two sliding 
controls. Immediately the green trace on the delta screen started to 
diminish and the alpha screen came alive slowly with a full-lenth trace 
instead of the intermittent spikes. 
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As Otto started to show signs of stirring, Julia flicked a switch across to 
the 'binaural' position and the electromagnetic fields were thrown out of 
synchronization, flooding Otto's left and right brain hemispheres with 
fractionally different frequencies. The effect on Otto was to force his 
brain to tty and 'match' the continually shifting frequencies. Unable to 
do so, his brain became entrained by the alternating beat. In less than 
ten seconds, Otto was in a full-blown electromagnetic hypnotic trance. 

With high technology at its disposal Special Operations had not used "you 
are feeling sleepy ... " hypnotic techniques for years, though a large team of 
tame, well-funded academics was held in reserve to assure the gullible 
public that hypnosis was "quite safe" and "could not be used to make a 
person act against his own personal moral code." Recalling the tame 
academics, Julia smiled a slow, sardonic smile: all Special Operations had 
to do was point a professor at the public, and his hurriedly~mposed 
excuses were instantly accepted without question by citizens and media 
alike. 

Julia swung around on her chair and spoke briefly to the team 
psychiatrist by the operating table: "I need maximum pupil dilation five 
minutes from now." With a mute nod, the heavy-set bearded psychiatrist 
turned to the drip leading into Otto's left forearm and waited as the drug 
slowly flowed into his vein. The powerful hypnotic drug rapidly 
reinforced Otto's trance state while a 'cocktail' derived from curare 
limited the movement of his eyelids. Nodding with satisfaction, the . 
psychiatrist slowly started to administer atropine. 

As the atropine started to take effect, the pupils of Otto's eyes grew 
steadily larger despite the intense overhead lighting and the eye's natural 
inclination to shut out light under such circumstances. The visual-input 
projector now had direct and unrestricted access to the retina of each of 
Otto's eyes. Julia spoke clearly into a special boom microphone positioned 
less than an inch away from her lips 

"Okay, Otto, I am going to take you back to 1970 when you were flying 
over Oman. Do you remember the mission we talked about before, when 
your helicopter was covering the fighter-bombers attacking the fort 
occupied by Yemeni terrorists?' 

"Yes," Otto replied tonelessly without moving a muscle. 

"Right. You are there again in the cockpit just before the fighters started 
their attack run ... " 



Operation Mind Control 375 

• • • 
.. .Ignoring the empty shell cases and black belt-links being ejected into 
the helicopter slipstream, Otto continued firing carefully spaced 
five-round bursts, until inteiTUpted by Julia Long: 

"Otto, report. Otto, report your current activity!" 

"Air-to-ground suppressive fire." 

"Good, Otto, very good! Listen carefully to my voice, listen carefully to my 
voice. I am relaying a new assignment to you from headquarters. You 
have been requested on an exchange program with Special Operations in 
Morocco. The security classification is Cosmic International, and you are 
promoted to the rank of lieutenant colonel. Open your eyes wide Otto, 
open your eyes wide. You are still flying on operations. You are still flying 

ti " on opera ons .... 

At the flick of a switch Julia Long turned on the projector at the foot of 
the operating table, the beam of which was promptly split and relayed 
directly to the retina of Otto's eyes by the accurate high-resolution lenses 
above his head. As new images started flickering from the projector, his 
detailed memories of the mountains of Oman started to shimmer and 
slowly dissolve, to be replaced by similar scenery passing more quickly. 

When Julia increased the alpha field to maximum and decreased delta to 
minimum, Otto watched transfixed as his Northrop F5 fighter-bomber 
swooped low over the Western Sahara, firing a burst of 20-mimmeter 
cannon shells at two enemy vehicles teying to escape behind a large sand 
dune. As the first vehicle exploded, Otto kicked off deflection and fired 
another burst at the second. With black flecks of soot from the cannon 
speckling his windshield, Otto pulled back viciously on the controls and 
slammed the twin throttles through the afterburner gate. For an instant 
in time, he looked down at the devastation below as green tracer shells 
weaved lazily around the wings of the F5. 

The radio crackled in his headphones: "Good run, colonel, good run! Now 
get the hell out of there and return to base." 

• • • 
Still strapped to the operating table, Otto watched obediently as he and 
his aircraft broke off the action and returned to base. The runway 
threshold rushed towards him and with a very real screech from its tires 
the F5 settled gracefully on the tarmac, slowly decelerating and turning 
at the intersection to head towards the dispersal area and the waiting 
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ground crew. A post-mission flood of adrenaline rushed through Otto, 
and Julia swiftly adjusted the alpha and delta fields to compensate for 
his rapidly increasing pulse rate and skin conductivity. After stabilizing 
his vital signs, Julia Long turned again and spoke once more into her 
sensitive boom microphone: 

WWe will now conduct our debriefing, colonel The mission was a complete 
success. Listen carefully to my voice, listen carefully to my voice. you are 
tired from your mission and will be allowed to sleep. When you wake 
again, you will have forgotten all life events after the age of 27 years. I 
repeat, when you wake you will have forgotten all life ~vents after the age 
of 27 years. All you will remember, I repeat, all you will remember is 
that you are a lieutenant colonel on exchange duties with Special 
Operations, at a classified base in Morocco for multi-role training 
required for your mission. Congratulations, colonel! Enjoy your sleep." 

As Julia moved her controls, the green trace on the delta-wave screen 
slowly increased at exactly the same rate as the alpha trace decreased. 
Within minutes Otto lay passively unconscious, his sleep disturbed only 
by intermittent green spikes on the alpha screen. Once more Julia turned 
to the psychiatrist waiting next to the operating table: "Put him out for 
about eight hours please, then have the technicians take him to his room. 
Put a discreet guard outside, but don't worry, when Otto wakes again he 
will believe he really is a 27 -year-old lieutenant colonel He will remember 
nothinga bout his life beyond that point." 

Under his busy eyebrows, the psychiatrist's eyes glittered slightly as he 
prepared the powerful tranquilizer and watched Julia Long as she 
strolled out of the room. Though in her forties, Julia was a very attractive 
woman capable of turning many male heads. 

As Julia sat down a the table in the officers' mess and slowly stirred her 
cup of hot coffee, she thought back over the chain of events that had 
finally resulted in Otto being delivered to the 'special facility' in Morocco. 
Julia smiled a wan smile. 

It was perhaps the height of irony that another Englishman, John Dwyer, 
had brought Otto to the attention of a retired American CIA operative in 
Salt Lake City, Utah. For years Dwyer had worked as a sub-contractor for 
the CIA's African desk, and thought Otto's qualifications might be of use 
to his masters at the Central Intelligence Agency ... 

... Discreet CIA inquiries revealed Otto spent much of his spare time at a 
rifle range near his home, so an 'accidental' meeting was arranged. Earl 
Haggard, a veteran of the notorious Phoenix psychological operation in 
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Laos, turned up at the range and casually befriended Otto. As the weeks 
rolled by, Earl became convinced Otto Jewell could be of great use to the 
Agency. As a top trouble-shooter in the oil field service industry, Otto had 
immediate and unquestioned access to almost any country in the world. 
His strong military background was also in his favor, as were his 
demonstrated lethal skills as a marksman with pistols, rifles and 
automatic weapons. 

The question of how or where Otto might best be used by the CIA was 
none of Earl's concern, so, after sending a long, detailed assessment of 
Otto's potential to Langley Headquarters in VIrginia, he returned to his 
favorite golf course and forgot all about the Englishman. 

CIA headquarters in Langley showed immediate interest. It was not every 
day that an Englishman of Otto's qualifications was brought to the 
attention of its intelligence analysts - one of whom noted Otto had spent 
much time in the Middle Eastern countries before carefully circling the 
single word 'LffiYA' with a bold stoke of his red pen. Otto's background 
pointed to his obvious use on covert missions under the aegis of Special 
Operations. Within a week, Otto Jewell's file was hand~ed by special 
courier to a small low-key CIA facility located in New Orleans, Louisiana, 
where it was placed in the 'in' tray of one Gordon NoveL From that point 
fol"WBI'd, only paper files would be kept on Otto: computers were far too 
vulnerable to researchers leaning on the CIA under the Freedom of 
Information Act. 

Julia Long moved uneasily on her chair in the officers' mess as she 
thought about Novel, the man legend said coordinated the assassination 
of President John F. Kennedy in Dallas. Nobel was an animal: a known 
CIA heavy who took considerable pleasure in breaking limbs and, where 
necessary, shooting people though the back of the head with a 
heavy-ailibre pistol. Most people in Special Operations were afraid of him 
and literally jumped to obey his every command. Julia was no exception 
and had all but sat rigidly to attention when he called her during 1983. 

"Julia? Hi!" The voice was deceptively soft when Gordon Nobel spoke on 
the secure intemationallandline from New Orleans to Morocco. "Listen, I 
have a new client for you, an oilman with a good, solid military 
background. Initially we intend to use him on a tripartite drilling 
operation in West Bengal, then we'll get around to his special mission a 
little later." 

"Fine, Gordon, where is he now?" 
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"We just had one of Howard Hughes' subsidiary companies hire him as 
project engineer for a drilling operation near Calcutta It's an interesting 
job: the Russian.s are helping the Indians to drill a deep oil and gas well in 
the Ganges delta, and our man is going in there to help them drill it with 
an advanced American fluid system. Or at least he thinks he's going to 
help them. The whole thing is basically a cover for the special mission 
he'll go on later, but he doesn't know that. We think it's a hell of a deal 
We can really screw those Russian and Indian Commie bastards at the 
same time!" 

... "Take your time, Julia. Have a couple of weeks' holiday, then fly to 
Dakar in Bangladesh. We'll arrange diplomatic cover for you and attach 
you to the local US AID team. From there you can go in and out of 
Calcutta as a diplomatic commuter. Your contact will be Louis McCaul at 
our local Calcutta consulate. He's in deep cover and there are no known 
documented links between him and the CIA or Special Operations. Louis 
will arrange for your special equipment to be canied in the diplomatic 
mail bag. The name of your new client is Otto Jewell, and he'll be staying 
at the Oberoi Grand Hotel. We've bought a couple of the hotel executives, 
so, acress to Otto's room will not be a problem. Louis will arrange all 
that. Okay 80 far?" 

Julia thought for a few seconds. "Okay Gordon. What do you want me to 
do with this Otto Jewell? In other words, what mission are we preparing 
him for exactly? I want to get the procedures right." 

"On this mission we operate 'need to know', Julia. All you need to know 
at this stage is that you spend the first month or 80 observing Otto from a 
distance. Watch his behavior patterns carefully. We'll be doing our bit by 
screwing the Commies out at his rig Bite, 80 Otto will be under plenty of 
stress trying to figure out what the hell is going on. When you get word 
from me via Louis, I want you to start building a shallow 'decoy' hypnotic 
level - not too easy to break, but not too hard either. Have your Marine 
technicians rough him up under hypnosis and threaten his children - you 
know, the usual things. Make it as nasty as you can Julia, because if he's 
taken alive on the real mission early next year, that is all, I repeat, all 
that any interrogator is going to sweat out of him: the decoy level you 
develop in Calcutta. You'll get more orders later. ' 

• • • 

Julia Long sat on the couch in room 352 at the hotel and relaxed with a 
glass of iced lime juice while looking carefully for tell-tale signs of her 
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Special Operations 'modifications'. There were none at all. both ELF 
generators were carefully concealed and had been mhorated so that each 
would deliver an equal strength electromagnetic field to each hemisphere 
of Otto's brain as he lay in bed or sat watching TV. The resulting effect 
was simi1ar to conventional stereo, though these powerful ELF 
generators emitted no audible sound. The ELF generators sent out fields 
only in the range of human brain activity, at frequencies between 0.1 and 
25 cycles per second. By varying the output of the generators Julia would 
be able to introduce a 'binaural split', where the electromagnetic fields 
from each ELF stereo channel sent fractionally different signals to each 
hemisphere, entraining Otto's brain with an electromagnetic beat 
frequency and rendering hiin powerless to resist conditioning. 

Julia would only use extra low frequency 2.5 to 1.2 cycle Delta fields on 
Otto initially, as the program called for a shallow hypnotic trance to be 
supplemented by drugs. Once he was under basic control the team would 
be able to enter the room at any time without Otto's knowledge to 
physically condition him, after which the Delta field pattern would 
continue to be used every night to stabilize his sleeping pattern. A little 
later Alpha fields would be introduced, forcing Otto into a relaxed alert 
state while subJiminal data was fed to him via the television. 

Julia Long glanM across at the innocent-looking 22" Sony TV in its 
carved wooden cabinet. It was a state-of-the-art Trinitron model with a 
revolutionary tube providing far better resolution than other models. 
Resolution was very important because this particular television would be 
displaying two entirely different pictures to Otto at the same time: the 
first clearly vislole to his conscious brain, with the second perceived only 
by his subconscious. As with initial hypnotic induction and post-hypnotic 
suggestion, special operations was way ahead of the academics. Most 
visual-subliminal techniques used by academic researchers and the media 
were based on simple 1/50th second flashing messages woven into the 
standard television frames: subliminal because they were too fast for the 
brain to see consciously, but far too crude for special operations. 

Special Operations used fast, efficient full-frame color input that was also 
completely ·undetectable. In room 350 Julia Long had a series of VHS 
video tapes that would be used to inteiTUpt the normal video films fed to 
Otto via the in-house hotel video system. They looked the same simply 
because they had the same film content as those shown in the hotel TV 
guide. Unfortunately for Otto, each of Julia's tapes had been subjected to 
a special editing process where ultra low-light images had been overlaid 
on the magnetic tape. Too dim to be detected by the conscious brain or by 
sophisticated ultraviolet analysis, every one of the thousands of images 
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would be readily absorbed by Otto's subconscious. The Alpha fields from 
the ELF generators would force Otto to remain alert but oompletely 
relaxed. Experiments had proved full relaxation to be a critical 
requirement: a single stressful distraction lasting a millisecond oould stop 
the subconscious 'seeing' any subliminal input at all. 

As Julia Long finished her iced lime juice and walked out of room 352, 
she smirked to herself. Though dozens of earnest authors had warned of 
techniques such as these, the mainstream media had ~hed every single 
one. Fortunately for Special Operations it was beyond the capability of 
Joe Public to believe that he or she oould be influenced in this way, much 
less be brought under total oontrol within minutes. In fact the ELF fields 
were quite capable ofln11ing unwitting victims by remote oontrol, as 
Special Operations had proved on numerous occasions. 

There were politicians and scientists out there who persistently refused to 
heed discreet intelligence oommunity warnings about their behavior, 
which in turn led to them being found dead in hotel rooms after 
apparently indulging in bi.za!Te sexual rituals or drinking themselves to 
death. Too much of the same thing tended to draw attention, so the 
routine was occasionally varied with a few being programmed to take 
spectacular flying leaps from tall suspension bridges, drive into buildings 
at high speed, or hook themselves up to the electrical mains. 

With normal targets the procedure was easy enough. When the ELF fields 
entrained the human brain with a binaural beat it was standard 
procedure to ensure that the target's breathing was brought under 
control. If starting in high Beta, slower Delta fields were steadily 
introduced to decrease the rate of respiration prior to full electro-hypnotic 
induction. In order to kill a target the silent ELF generators were turned 
up to full power in binaural mode. Completely at the mercy of the special 
operations controller, the target's physiology would be manipulated until 
systolic and diastolic blood pressures became identical, at which point the 
heart ceased to function and the target died. There was one drawback: 
powerful ELF fields always increased the level of senun-triglycerides in 
the target, which could prove embarrassing at post-mortem. It was a 
simple matter to splash aloohol into the mouth of the target after death, 
then throw a bottle of booze on his bed or into his car. Basic stuff indeed, 
but it was enough to fool most pathologists ... 

• • • 
After supper in the hotel ooffee shop Otto returned to room 352, 
showered and then climbed wearily into bed. Within minutes he drifted 
off into what seemed to be a natural dreamless sleep. It was no such 
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thing. As soon as Otto lay down, Julia Long in room 350 switched on the 
highly-directional ELF generators, selected Delta band and flooded both 
hemispheres of Otto's brain with a powerful2.5 cycle electromagnetic 
field. Switching to binaural, Julia adjusted the power setting and slowly 
started to decrease the Delta field frequency. Otto's respiration followed 
the silent beat and in less than 60 seconds his brain was entrained at the 
optimum somnambulistic hypnotic induction frequency of 1.2 cycles. 
Julia listened carefully to Otto's breathing, faithfully replayed to her by 
the 'pinhole' audio bug drilled into the separating wall between the two 
rooms. 

"OK you two," Julia turned to her marine technicians. "Use the pass key 
and start the program. Be sure to cough before you approach the bed so I 
can turn the fields off. We don't want to knock you out as well, now do 
we?" 

It was a rhetorical question. The marines had learned long ago that Julia 
was not given to idle backcbat, so they quickly made their way from room 
350 to room 352, Hank switching on a small battery-powered generator in 
his pocket, connected by concealed wires to an insu1ated pad stuck to the 
palm of his right hand. As they approached the foot of Otto's bed Hank 
coughed discreetly and one second later unclenched his right hand, 
placing it flat on the exposed skin of Otto's arm. Faster than a striking 
cobra, the powerful zapper discharged a five-microsecond pulse which 
temporarily paralyzed Otto' s central nervous system, simultaneously 
destroying his spatial and time orientation. 

Not wasting a second, Hank's colleague wrapped a tourniquet around 
Otto's arm, exposed a vein and swiftly injected sodium pentathoL the two 
marines were fast. From point of entry the entire sequence was complete 
in twelve seconds. both had done the same job many times before. 
Minutes later Julia slipped through the door carrying an aluminum 
briefcase from which she withdrew a special pair of headphones that the 
marines placed over Otto's bead. The briefcase contained a miniature 
version of the laboratory equipment, designed to generate powerful 
electromagnetic fields in the immediate area of Otto's head without 
endangering the special operations team. 

And so it was that Julia Long started to build a 'decoy' hypnotic level into 
Otto Jewell. In short sessions over two weeks be was trained to revert to 
a hypnotic trance only if given two complex trigger-words. Most evenings 
as Otto watched television be was unwittingly bombarded with 
subHminal films designed to enhance American 'patriotism', desensitize 
him to violence, and force him to respond immediately to orders 
presented at the deep subliminal level. His handling by the marine 
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technicians was savage: Otto was beaten under electro-hypnosis and the 
marines warned him that if he failed to cany out their orders, his two 
young children would be sexually abused and killed. Slowly but surely, 
without his knowledge or oonsent, Otto was forcibly recruited as a 
lifelong member of Special Operations. 

Once past the basic stage of induction Julia Long left Otto in the care of 
her two marine technicians, but oontinued to fly in occasionally from 
Morocco and Dakar to check on his progress . 

• • • 
The oonditioning had gone well. In less than a week, Otto had been 
transformed from a 41-year-old oilman into a 27-year-old member of the 
RAF, and then converted into a patriotic 27-year-old member of US 
Special Operations - all life events beyond that age being ruthlessly 
BUppressed by electromagnetically-induce<L drug-reinforced, 
post-hypnotic suggestion. There was no question of Otto Jewell being a 
'zombie', howe'Ver. He was a fully-conscious human being with a 
chronological age of 41 years, but with the memory and reaction times of 
a 27 -year-old. Julia Long considered the new Otto a marked improvement 
over the old. 

Where before conditioning Otto had been slightly hesitant, he was now 
supremely confident. AB with all terrorists manufactured by special 
operations, Otto believed he was invincible and that nothing could go 
wrong with his mission. Where in India Otto had been overweight, he was 
not trim enough to slide easily into a Northrop Tiger. The intense stress 
induced by sustained exposure to ELF electromagnetic fields and 
visual-input, burned off weight faster than the most drastic diet ever 
devised by the medical fraternity. In all, Otto had shed nearly 30 pounds, 
virtually without m9ving a muscle. With his graying hair now dyed 
jet-black to match his own perception of himself as a 27 -year-old, 
"MiJre.Alpha-Delta-3" was indeed a new man. 

Exactly at the preammged time, Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 picked up the 
specially-shortened Heckler & Koch assault rifle from the table. The 
Heckler & Koch was fitted with a juno muzzle-brake on its stub barrel to 
muffie the direction of the shots, and a short-range parallax-corrected 
telescopic sight. He'd been briefed the flush ammunition-clip forward of 
the HK's trigger-guard held only five high-velocity fragmentation rounds, 
but they would be enough. Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 had been ordered to shoot 
for maximum media effect, and needed only three. 
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Carefully placing his left foot on the low table and cocking the Heckler & 
Koch with his left hand, he wound his left arm firmly through the sling to 
steady the weapon, then pressed the fire selector down to semi-automatic 
with his right thumb. Next, Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 rested the weapon 
alongside his left knee and took up the slack on the sling to reduce recoil 
effect. Because he was firing a long way back from the window to avoid 
detection, there was only a limited field of fire but he knew the 
killing-zone by heart. Looking through the scope and studying the area, 
Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 moved the weapon slightly until he could see the 
exact killing-zone and a small part of the inner pavement and central 
gardens. 

Breathing slowly and steadily, Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 waited for the two 
quick flashes of light that would tell him the selected target was just 
about to enter the killing-zone. It was not up to Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 to 
pick random targets: that job was reserved for his special opemtions 
controller. A helmeted man in a blue uniform walked straight through 
the cross-hairs of his telescopic sight, but Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 ignored 
him. Then there were two brief flashes ofbrilliant white light in the 
upper left quadrant of the scope, and his finger automatically took up the 
first pressure on the Heckler & Koch's trigger. One second later, a slim, 
blond woman walked slowly into the cross-hairs of the telescopic sight. 

Mike-Alpha-Delta 3' s eyes showed no emotion, his strict code of conduct 
completely destroyed by covert conditioning: the target had to die to 
protect true democracy for the world as a whole. His trigger-finger a blur, 
Mi.ke-Alpha-Delta-3 fired three aimed shots so fast, the muzzle blasts 
blended into a single cacophony of sound that echoed round the square. 
the first bullet hit the woman in the stomach and she doubled over, her 
hat flying into the gutter, while the second and third bullets exploded on 
the inner pavement, hurling shmpnel into the small crowd of 
demonstrators. Mike-Alpha-Delta-3 turned swiftly away from the table 
and removed his balaclava. then, as he walked downstairs and closed the 
back door of 8 St. James Square softly behind him, the carefully 
precalculated media hype started in earnest: 

"This is an urgent news flash. Minutes ago, shots mng out from the 
Libyan People's Bureau at No. 5 St. James Square ... " 

And so it was that Julia Long achieved her objective of creating intense 
public anger by staging an obscene mission that shocked the British 
public. As the news flashed round the country, millions were outraged by 
the slaughter in St. James Square, their perception of the Libyans 
forcibly distorted for all time. Less than 24 months later, US F-111 
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bombers took off from British bases and headed south to destroy the 
"tem>rists" responsible, and their wives and children. 

With the British media pack in full ery, the American bombers launched a 
premeditated attack on the civilian populations of Tripoli and Benghazi 
in Libya, and special operations scored a small personal bonus - a token 
sacrifice for true democracy for the world as a whole. Colonel AI 
Qadhafi's fifteen-month-old daughter, Hannah, was murdered by a 
monstrous 2,000-pound laser bomb, guided unerringly to its tiny target 
by an American F-111 bomber. Listening to the news on the radio, Julia 
Long nodded approvingly as she lit a cigarette, before turning 
triumphantly to her two Marine Special Operations technicians. "That 
should teach the tem>rist sonofabitch a lesson, huh?' 

• • • 
The feedback I've gotten on Joe's description of the programming is: it's close, 
but not quite exact Later we '11 discuss the various fonns of electronic · 
programming and hear from experts and other survivors. No need to split hairs, 
Joe's book needs to be published. It tells things like they are in the world where 
the long tentacles of the CIA entwine with the slimy gums of MI-5. 

Due to British fear of the Official Secrets Act, no U.K. publisher has yet published 
Joe VJalls' book, Mike-A/plw-De/ta-3.113

" Joe might just be an author of the 
stature and sales potential of Tom Clancey, but under the curious customs of the 
Realm, Joe is ignored and banished to the out-back because the Kingdom's fear of 
officaldom is stronger than the Kingdom's passion for the liberation of the human 
spirit, for truth, justice and ... say, wasn't England the original home of Common 
Law? (See the film Defending The Realm.) 

m Joe VW. can be ruched at 45 Ma-lin DrM, Carine, WA 6020, Auslnlia; phone: 61 9 2.46 2029. 
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If Joe Vialls' story of CIA and British secret service entanglement 
in a brainwashing conspiracy isn't true, he is either crazy or a 

brilliant pathological liar. He says he is neither . . . and three of 
Britain's top psychologists agree with him. This is his story. 
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27 

DEEP PROBE 

Jose Delgado stood sweating in the center of a bull ring in Madrid. He was 
sweating from the heat of the sun reflected on the sand. He felt a twinge of 
natural fear as the door at one end of the walled ring swung open, and a huge 
black bull lunged forth from the darkness into the plaza de toros. 

This was a very good bull, one the best matador would have desired. It charged as 
if on rails, straight at Delgado. In front of a ton of black beef, two sharp horns 
aimed to gore the vital parts of his body. 

Delgado stood face to face with the charging Andalusian toro. But Delgado was no 
matador. He stood in the ring alone in his shirtsleeves. He wore no "suit of 
lights" and he carried no cape. Instead of a sword, he held only a little black box. 

He wanted to wait until the last possible moment, but he could not contain his 
fear. When the bull was thirty feet away, he pressed the button on the box. The 
bull immediately quit his attack and skidded to a halt. Toro looked right, then 
left. Then, as if bewildered, he turned his broad side toward Delgado and trotted 
away. 

From the stands it was difficult to see the metal box between the horns which 
held that small radio receiver which picked up Delgado's signal and transmitted it 
as an electric impulse through a probe inserted into the center of the bull' s brain. 
Delgado was not living out the boyhood fantasy of being a TTUllador, nor was he 
demonstrating his bravery. he was demonstrating his faith, as a scientist, in the 
power of electronic brain stimulation. 

Jose Delgado was a neurophysiologist at the Yale University School of Medicine. 
By 1964, when he made his dramatic demonstration with the bull, he had already 
been experimenting with electronic stimulation of the brain (ESB) for nearly two 
decades. His work, supported by the Office of Naval Research, had been inspired 
by the Spanish histologist Santiago Ramon y Cajal, who said that knowledge of 
the physicochemical basis of memory, feelings, and reason would make man the 
bue master of creation. Cajal suggested that man's most transcendental 
accomplishment would be the conquest of his own brain, and upon this premise 
Jose Delgado began his relentless quest to make his mentor's dream come true. 
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"From ancient times," Dr. Delgado said, "man has tried to control the destiny of 
other human beings by depriving them of liberty and submitting them to 
obedience. Slaves have been forced to work and to serve the caprices of their 
masters; prisoners have been chained to row in the galleys; men were and still are 
inducted into the armed forces and sent thousands of miles away to create havoc, 
take lives, and lose their own. 

"Biological assault has also existed throughout recorded histocy. In ancient 
China, the feet of female children were bound to reduce their size. In many 
countries thieves have been punished by having their hands cut off; males have 
been castrated to inhibit sexual desire and then placed as eunuchs in charge of 
harems; and in some African tribes it was customacy to ablate the clitoris of 
married females to block their possible interest in other men and insure their 
fidelity. "m 

The Spanish-born Delgado believed that, thanks to electronic brain stimulation, 
science was at last on the verge of "a process of mental liberation and 
self-domination which is a continuation of our evolution." He believed that 
through the direct manipulation of the brain, society could produce "more 
intelligent education, starting from the moment of birth and continuing 
throughout life, with the preconceived plan of escaping from the blind forces of 
chance." 

Delgado believed that by direct influence of the cerebral mechanisms and mental 
structure it would someday be possible to "create a future man... a member of a 
psycho-civilized society." He said the needed research could not be "generated by 
scientists themselves, but must be promoted and organized by governmental 
action declaring • conquering of the human mind' a national goal at parity with 
conquering of poverty or landing a man on the moon. "115 

Delgado insisted that brain research was much less expensive than going to outer 
space and would produce benefits to society equal to, if not greater than, those 
produced by space technology. 

By the time Delgado's remarks were published, the ccyptocracy had already come 
a long way in developing the techniques to create the "psycho-civilized society" 
Delgado dreamed of. Delgado himself had been funded by grants from the 
ayptocracy but, like other researchers, was kept isolated and compartmented. He 
had no way of knowing about the other government-directed brain control 
research that was going on simultaneously ~th his own. A number of 
govenunent agencies were actually at work on projects similar to Delgado's. 
Through these projects the cryptocracy had gained the technology for direct 
access to the control of the brain and through it, the mind. 

m Jo1e Deligdo, Plpical (J)mol olllw Mnd (New York, HllJIG', 1969) 
m Rlid. 
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In 1949, Dr. Irving Janis of the Rand Corporation had recommended the air force 
Wldertake a study of the "effects of electricity on the brain." His report said tha~ 
in research based on the literature of the 1940's, there were at least some 
indications that electric shocks to the brain might be conducive to mind controL 

Janis wrote: "Many studies have shown there is a temporary intellectual 
impairment, diffuse amnesia, and general 'weakening of the ego' produced during 
the period when a series of electroshock convulsions is being administered." 

Dr. Janis was not talking about electronic brain stimulation; he was referring to 
electro-convulsive therapy (ECT), a crude treatment for schizophrenia originated 
in HWlgary in the 1930's which consisted of passing a strong electrical current 
through the entire brain at once. 

Unlike ESB, ECT was riot aimed at the microscopic neural centers of the brain. It 
was just one large jolt of electricity, which produced, rather than a specific neural 
event, a massive convulsion. Electrical current administered in such a way 
temporarily affected the electrical properties of all the neurons in the brain. It 
produced sharp biochemical changes in the levels of glucose, oxygen 
consumption, protein synthesis, and other functions. It also produced amnesia, 
sometimes temporary, sometimes pennanenl 

As biochemist Steven Rosen said, "The [ECT] treatment is analogous to 
attempting to mend a faulty radio by kicking it, or a broken computer by cutting 
out a few of its circuits. "116 Often the extreme convulsions induced by ECT 
produced such strong muscular contractions that the bones of the subject's body 
snapped like breadsticks. 

But Dr. Janis did not seem to think it too severe a treatment for use in mind 
controL "From my own and other's investigations of the psychological effects of 
such treatments," he wrote, "I would suspect that they might tend to reduce 
resistance to hypnotic suggestions. It is conceivable therefore, that the 
electroshock treatment might be used to weaken difficult cases in order to 
produce a hypnotic trance of great depth. "117 

Meanwhile, astonishing discoveries were being made which indicated the use of 
electronic stimulation of the pleasure center of the brain as a reward for 
performance could be used to enhance learning. Experiments conducted at the 
end of World Warn showed that rats learned to run around mazes and perform in 
Skinner boxes better after they had received properly applied electronic 
stimulation of their brains. Repeated experiments showed that when the animals 
were rewarded with electricity applied to the pleasure center of the brain, they 
learned much more rapidly than did animals who were conditioned by rewards of 
food. One Department of Defense project graphically illustrated the use of such 
pleasure stimulation conditioning. 

"' Stew:n R<*fl. F'uJurw Facts 1New York. Simon«~. 1976) 
t t r Irving Jlllis, ~1M Cominfrmn Coumia Usitw H,pmrsis T«<rniqws to EJidJ Conks.sions in Public TriDisJ 
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The Sandia Corporation in New Mexico was asked by the Department of Defense 
to set up a demonstration of ESB and fJ.lm the results. Sandia produced a striking 
film which showed electrodes being implanted into the brain of an anny mule. 
Mter the mule recovered from surgery, a brain stimulator was placed in a pack on 
its back, along with a prism and mirror which were arranged so that they operated 
a photocell when the animal was facing directly toward the sun. When sunlight 
struck the photocell, it turned on a brief burst of electricity which was sent along 
wires into the pleasure center of the mule's brain. When the mule turned away 
from the sun, the stimulation stopped. But when the mule faced the sun again, 
the pleasurable stimulation resumed. 

So wired, the mule marched over hill and dale across the barren land of New 
Mexico, always facing the sun. Finally it came to the boundary of the property, 
where a scientist was waiting. The mirror was reversed and then the mule 
retraced its steps by keeping its back to the sun. Mules are not noted for being 
cooperative beasts, but this electrically stimulated mule traced and retraced its 
path without deviation, just as long as the stimulation continued. 

Sandia's mule fihn created a great deal of enthusiasm at the Pentagon. Quickly, 
the officers saw the military significance of the experiment: mules could be made 
to clear minefields! They could be used to deliver explosives to assigned targets, 
much as the Russians had used trained dogs to carry explosives against Gennan 
tanks during World War U! And what mules could accomplish on land, porpoises, 
with much greater intelligence, could accomplish in the sea! 

It soon became dear to the cryptocracy that electronic brain stimulation held the 
greatest promise for specific, selective mind control. The usefulness of drugs in 
manipulating human behavior had been limited by the inability of researchers to 
control either the desired or the undesired effects of the drugs with any precision. 
ESB, however, used in conjunction with psycho-surgery and behavior 
modification, offered unlimited possibilities. Mter experiments on laboratory 
animals met with success, human experimentation was enthusiastically 
undertaken in the quest of the most reliable and absolute method of remote 
control of the mind. 

Because human behavior is influenced by many more variables, experimentation 
on humans proved to be more complex than with animals. Experimenters were 
constantly reaching false conclusions. Often the observed effects of stimulating 
certain areas of the brain turned out to be only indirectly related to the 
stimulation. 

For example, a fifty-year-old female mental patient was stimulated in what was 
thought to be her pleasure center. She had been an extremely withdrawn and 
melancholy person whose expression always seemed impassive and dour. When 
electronic stimulation was applied at irregular intervals and different times of day, 
she would laugh or smile. The scientists concluded that they were stimulating a 
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strong pleasure region in her brain and grew confident that they had found a way 
to cure the woman of her melancholia. They began to discuss their findings 
openly in her presence, until one day she became angry and told them she did not 
enjoy the experiments at alL She explained to the scientists that the stimulus was 
not giving her pleasure, it was creating a rhytlunic contraction of certain pelvic 
muscles. She had smiled and laughed from being tickled! 

Mter many years of experimentation, it is still unknown just exactly which effects 
of electronic brain stimulation are psychological, which are physical, and which 
are psycho-physicaL For every experiment suggesting that a particular behavior 
change is due to the direct effect of electricity applied to a center of the brain, 
there are others which suggest that the effect is a result of some psychological 
response to the initial stimulus. 

From the Brain Research Institute at the University of California came a report by 
Dr. Mary Brazier that one patient continued to "self-stimulate even after electricity 
was turned off and there was no more current in the electrode." Others gave 
similar reports, saying that some subjects continued to press a lever which had 
rewarded them with pleasurable stimulation long after the current was cut off. 
These subjects pushed the lever hundreds of times when they were receiving no 
stimulation at all, and kept on doing it until the experiment was terminated. 

Several experimenters reported that ESB elicited sexual feelings and in some cases 
orgasms. In a report summarizing seven years of research with ESB, Dr. R.G. 
Heath told of one melancholic patient who had attempted suicide a number of 
times. When all else failed to elevate his mood, doctors resorted to ESB. An 
electrode implanted in his hypothalamus was activated and the subject smiled. 
Mter the experience he said, "' feel good. I don't know why, I just suddenly felt 
good." Upon further questioning the patient admitted that there might have been 
sexual overtones in his experience. He said, "'t's like I had something lined up for 
Saturday night. .. a girl." 

Heath reported that in several instances ESB led to orgasm. While orgasms may 
have been caused by genital sensations created when certain areas of the brain 
were stimulated, Heath said he did not believe that genital sensations had to be 
present for orgasm to occur. He observed that self-stimulation usually stopped 
after orgasm was reached. He concluded that stimulation of the orgasm center of 
the brain, if that was what had produced the orgasms, appeared to be no more 
compelling than masturbation. 

From the Soviet Union came a report typical of many of the surprising results of 
ESB. A thirty-seven-year-old woman suffering from Parkinson's disease was 
given ESB treatments to alleviate the effects of palsy. The stimulation evoked 
sexual sensations which eventually led to orgasm. The woman then began to 
hang around the laboratory. She would initiate conversation with aides and 
assistants whenever she could. She even waited for them in the hospital corridors 
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and the garden trying to fmd out when the next session was scheduled. She was 
especially affectionate toward the doctor who was throwing the switch to activate 
the probes in her brain. When she was fmally told that there would be no more 
stimulation, she displayed extreme dissatisfaction. 

Strangely, the stimulation did not give the woman any sexual pleasure until her 
menstrual cycle, which had been absent for eight years, resumed as a result of the 
stimulation. Soviet investigators expressed their belief, based on studies such as 
this, that the motivational consequences of ESB are subject to conscious controL 
This conclusion is supported by the results of many experiments in the West as 
well. 

In 1964 Richard Helms reported to the Warren Commission (see Appendix N that 
the trend in the Soviet Union was to build "the New Communist/Man" through 
cybernetics (the use of machines as control mechanisms). Helms quoted an 
unidentified Soviet author saying: "Cybernetics can be used in 'molding of a 
child's character, the inculcation of lmowledge and techniques, the amassing of 
experience, the establislunent of social behavior patterns ... all functions which can 
be summarized as control of the growth process of the individual.'" The Helms 
memo indicated that the Soviets did not possess any knowledge which the West 
did not have, and in some areas even lagged far behind U.S. research. The tone of 
his memo seemed to suggest that the U.S. cryptocracy was also interested in 
creating a "new man" - a cyborg. 

ESB has, meanwhile, been strikingly successful in other areas. It has been used 
to modify mental mechanisms, to produce changes in mood and feelings, to 
reinforce behavior both positively and negatively. It has been used to activate 
sensory and motor regions of the brain in order to produce elementary or 
complex experiences or movements, to summon memories, and to induce 
hallucinations. It also has been used to suppress or inhibit behavior and 
experience and memory - outside of the conscious control of the owner of the 
brain. 

ESB has inhibited the intake of food. It has inhibited the aggressiveness and even 
the maternal instinct. It has been widely used in medical research to help stroke 
victims recover from paralysis and to block epileptic conwlsions. It has proved to 
be an aid to paraplegics in controlling their bladders and it has helped certain 
kinds of paralysis victims to walk again. It has been found to be effective in 
blocking even the most severe pain. 

ESB has been used by psychiatrists to improve mood, increase alertness, and 
produce orgasm. It has been used as a conditioning tool to "cure" undesirable 
social behavior. And in 1974, the first victim of Parkinson's disease treated by 
ESB walked gracefully out of a San Francisco hospital under his own power, 
thanks to portable ESB. He had a "stimoceiver" implanted in his brain which he 
could activate from a battery-powered device in his bell The "stimoceiver," which 
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weighed only a few grams and was small enough to implant under his scalp, 
permitted both remote stimulation of his brain and the instantaneous telemetric 
recording of his brain waves. 

Ten years before, Dr. Delgado had foreseen the day when a psycho-civilized 
society would resort to the use of such stimoceivers for control of the masses. He 
had said, "A two-way radio communication system could be established between 
the brain of a subject and a computer. Certain types of neuronal activity related 
to behavioral disturbances such as anxiety, depression, or rage could be 
recognized in order to trigger stimulation of specific inhibitory structures .•• "118 

What he was describing was a society kept under emotional control by electronic 
brain manipulation. Rather than have man control a machine with his brain, 
Delgado wanted the control of man by machine. 

The present state of Western technology enables man to open garage doors, fly 
model airplanes, and change television channels by remote controL The 
government communicates via telemetry with satellites far out in the solar 
system. Medical scientists monitor heartbeats and vital functions of patients in 
hospitals and astronauts on the moon. And by the late 1960s, the "remote 
control" of the human brain - accomplished without the implantation of 
electrodes - was well on its way to being realized. From the testimony of a 
number of people we've interviewed it would appear that the techniques have 
been perfected. Prevalent are reports of hearing voices - even holding two way 
conversations, and being eavesdropped on by person or persons unknown. In 
another day this would have been diagnosed by psychiatrists as schizophrenia. 
Today scientists are not so quick at making their diagnosis. In a day when all the 
sympoms of acute mental illness can be induced by remote contro~ the doctors 
are beginning to take another look. 

A research and development team at the Space and Biology Laboratory of the 
University of California at the Los Angeles Brain Research Institute found a way to 
stimulate the brain by creating an electrical field completely outside the head. Dr. 
W. Ross Arley stimulated the brain with electric pulse levels which were far below 
those thought to be effectual in the old implanting technique. 

In one experiment, Dr. Adey analyzed the brain waves of chimpanzees who were 
performing tasks that involved learning. He established that there were two very 
distinct brainwave patterns which accompanied correct and incorrect decisions. 
Building on this, Dr. Arley attempted to control the rate at which the chimps 
learned by applying force fields to the outside of the head to alter behavior, moods 
and attention. Dr. Arley's research indicated his subjects were able to remember 
new information faster and better with stimulation. 

In the vanguard of brain technology, Dr. Adey worried about misuse of ESB when 
applied to humans. "My personal concern," he said, "is that we do it well. That if 

Ill Delpdo, op.dL 
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we decide this manipulation is feasible, we do it in ways which are socially 
acceptable. "m 

Eight years before Dorothy Burdick published her book, on February 5, 197 4 an 
article in the San Francisco Chroncile reported that a small computer had been 
invented that sorts electrical signals picked up from the human brain and sorts 
them out Headlines "Brain Waves May Tell What's On Your Mind," the story by 
Charles Petit read: 

A study is underway at the Langley Proter Neuropsychiatric Institute 
hexe to learn if brain waves can xeveal a person's natural aptitudes 
and intelligence - and possibly a person's thoughts. 

Crucial to the study is the use of a small compuer that sorts electrical 
signals picked up by eight electrodes fastened like a crown around 
the scalp. 

With the computer, researchers can discover where in the brain 
various types of high frequency, low energy brain waves originate. 

Scientists think that brain waves, instead of being non-functional side 
effects of cexebral electrical activity, may actually be carrying 
messages form Oll8 place in the brain to another. 

Dr. Enoch Callaway, a psychiatrist, is directing the xesearch with a 
grant from the Office of Naval ReAarch. (My emphasis.) 

The Navy's intexest, he said, is mainly to see if computer analysis of 
brain waves could be useful in determining the aptitudes of new 
Iecruits. 

During an interview, the 50-year-old Callaway said it was 100 years 
ago that a German psychiatrist named Hans Berger first discovexed 
brain waves. Berger hoped the rhythmic energies of the mind would 
xeveal the secrets of extrasensory perception. 

However, the use of the waves bas been largely xestricted to 
electroencephalograms that detect irregularities in brain waves -- a 
means of diagnosing organic brain disease. 

Considerable attention bas also been paid lately to the conscious 
control of low-frequency brain waves, the most obvious example 
bieng •alpha wave bio-feedback,• techniques. 

However, Callaway's intexest lies deeper in the brain whexe fleeting, 
high frequency waves of •electrical potential" flicker in curtains across 
the brain, often bypassing the neural pathways, usually thought to 
transmit the mind's internal mssages. 

111 Pred W&nhofslcy, 1'/w Como/ of Ulr: 77w 21st C1tturJ (New York. VIking. 1969) 
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Callaway is using computer techniques developed by a partner in 
research, Peter Harris, a sennior computer programmer. 

Other things volunteers are asked to do are stare at flashing lights, or 
lights that change color, read a book or stare at a picture a while their 
brains are being monitored, said Harris. 

By running tests repeatedly, the computer can pick out which 
electrical signal always accompany a specific stimulus. 

So far, Callaway and others in the field can distinguish between a 
person looking at a gteen light and one looking at a red light. They 
have also found that quickness of response is in some unexplained 
way related to IO as measured with standard intelligence tests. 

In addition, he bas found that concrete, analytical thinking is 
accompanied by increased electrical activity in the left hemisphere of 
the brain, while Intuitive and abstract thought brings the right 
hemisphere into dominance. 

What it adds up to, said Callaway, is the possibility of charting areas 
of dominance in indivual brains and correlating them with mental 
skills displayed by those individuals. 

Further in the future is the possibility of monitoring the actual 
messages -- if they exist - being transmitted across the brain. It may 
then be possible to use electronics to tell what a person is thinking, 
he said. 

Callaway admitted that the Orwellian possibilities •are undeniable. • 
Among the misuses possible, although far in the future, would be 
government thought control. 

The Los Angeles Times carried a story on March 20, 1976 headlined: "Sci-Fi 
Comes True, MIND READING MACHINE TELLS SECRETS OF THE BRAIN. 
By-lined Norman Kempster, datelined Washington, the story was of a govemmnet 
mind reading machine which could show, among other things; whether a person 
is fatigued, puzzled or daydreaming. 

"If the project lives up to its promise, the machines could be in use in airplane 
cockpits before the end of this decade to warn a pilot that his mind is wandering 
and he is failing to perform essential duties," Kempster wrote. 

"Since 1973, a little-lmown Pentagon agency has been studying ways to plug a 
computer into an indivual's brain waves - or electroencephalograph (EEG) 
signals in the scientist's lexicon. The Advanced Research Projects Agency says the 
$1 million-a-year program has passed its initial laboratory tests and is ready for 
determination of its military uses." 



396 W.H. Bowart 

The story revealed that scientists at UCLA, Stanford, MIT, the Unviersity of lllinois 
and the University of Rochester and in laboratories "at other facilities" had been 
able to detemtine an individual's alertness from their brain waves. They could also 
tell how they preceive colors and shapes. "But there may come a day when the 
EEG will be used to perform far more bizarre tasks," Kempster wrote. 

"At UCLA," Kempster wrote, "scientists are working on the use of the EEG to 
control machines. To give it a trivial application, a spiritualist could use thought 
waves to make a table levitate." 

In 1975 a primitive "mind reading machine" was tested at the Stanford Research 
Institute. The machine is a computer which can recognize a limited amount of 
words by monitoring a person's silent thoughts. This technique relies upon the 
discovery that brain wave tracings taken with an electroencephalograph (EEG) 
show distinctive patterns that correlate with individual words- whether the 
words are spoken aloud or merely subvocalized (thought of). 

The computer initially used audio equipment to listen to the words the subject 
spoke. At first the vocabulary was limited to "up," "down," "left," and "right." At 
the same time the computer heard the words, it monitored the EEG impulses 
coming from electrodes pasted to the subject's head and responded by turning a 
camera in the direction indicated. After a few repetitions of the procedure, the 
computer's hearing was turned off and it responded solely to the EEG "thoughts." 
It moved a television camera in the directions ordered by the subject's thoughts 
alone! 

This "mind reading machine" was the creation of psychologist Lawrence Pinneo 
and computer experts Daniel Wolf and David Hall. Their stated goal was 
eventually to put a highly skilled computer programmer into direct 
communication with the computer. Their research indicated that a nonsymbolic 
language -- brainwave patterns - did exist. By teaching computers this language, 
the time consuming practice of speaking or writing computer instructions could 
be abandoned. Faster programming would result in an information explosion 
whose effects could cause a transformation of our civilization unlike anything that 
has happened since the Industrial Revolution. 

Many beneficial effects of the Stanford "mind reading machine" may eventually 
accrue. Physically handicapped people may be able to use mini computers to 
interpret signals from their environment and compensate for the loss of some 
bodily functions. The deaf may be able to hear; the blind to see, the paralyzed to 
walk. 

Military applications of a "mind reading machine" will someday allow faster 
computer input and output of information, remote control of war machines, and 
even the creation of animal or human robots to do the bidding of the military. 
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Norbert Wiener, the "father of cybernetics," once said the human brain, while 
functioning in a manner parallel to the computer, actually imitates only one run 
of il Rudolph Flesch clarified Wiener's statement, adding that it was the 
computer which had the advantage since it had the ability to store memory away 
until needed for the consideration of a new problem. He said that while the 
machine starts each new problem from scratch, man carries his past with him 
until he dies. 

One young scientist at Rockefeller University, Dr. Adam Reed, worked under a 
Department of Defense contract to change all that At a 1976 symposium of the 
American Association for the Advancement of Science, Dr. Adam Reed said, 
"'deally, the computer of the future should be an electronic extension of the 
natural brain functioning in parallel with some of the existing brain structures 
and using the same program and data languages." 

According to Dr. Reed, within two decades it will be possible to encode and 
transmit brain waves from a small device implanted inside the skull. It will be 
linked by radio control to a large computer with a huge memory bank which, he 
said "will have stored in it everything you might want to know about foreign 
languages, mathematics, music, history - and any other subject you would want 
to add. You'll enjoy instant recall. The information stored in your own memoey 
cells and in your computer will be readily accessible. You won't be able to forget 
things ... You'll also be able to calculate even the most complicated problems with 
split second speed." 

But Dr. Reed admitted there were very real dangers to mental freedom posed by 
the brain technology now being developed. "'t is essential that people be able to 
use them [computers) for their own purposes rather than for purposes imposed 
on them by the political structure." 

While Dr. Reed conceded it was "conceivable that thoughts could be injected" into 
a person's mind by the government, he indicated he did not believe it had already 
been done. "If the political system changes and massive abuses appear likely," he 
said, "that would be the time to disappear from the society." 

Dr. Lawrence Pinneo at the Stanford Research Institute also discouraged the idea 
of a conspiracy to create a "psycho-civilized," mind-controlled society. When 
asked if there weren't a real and present danger of government control of the 
thoughts of citizens posed by brain-computer technology, Pinneo told a San 
Francisco reporter, "Anything is possible. But government could lock us all up 
today, so this sort of thing doesn't really change that possibility. It is really up to 
us to be vigilant against misuse. "1

%0 

Typically, the scientists have not been vigilant enough for the cryptocracy already 
has developed remote controlled men who can be used for political assassination 
and other dangerous work, as is the cyborg in the "Six Million Dollar Man"-- but 

uo La~ Pinneo, San FtTI7'fCisco ClrtoiW:ll, June 28, 197 4. 
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for less noble purposes. Cyborgs -- altered and controlled humans - are far less 
expensive than fully mechanical robots. Due to the high cost of technology men 
are cheaper than machines, and much more expendable. 

Among the many reports we've received about this invasive technology, the 
following is worth repeating, since many of the EM-Target victims think it's 
authentic and say that it fits the phenomena they're suffering. It appeared on 
August 15, 1993 on the altmindcontrol newsgroup on the Internet The author 
was Patrick A. Warden, who we could not locate. The e-mail report would appear 
to be autobiographical: 

From: Newsgroups: alt.mindcontrol Subject:ESPCIA Date: Aug 15, 
1993 Organization: PC-OHIO PCBOARD - Cleveland, OH, Patrick A 
Warden CompuServe address 73121,1417 

Subject: mind cotnrol and mental telepathy 

August 1, 1993 

In 1969 Mr. Warden scored in the 98th percentile in a standardized, 
high school intelligence test. He was a National Merit Finalist, and 
graduated from the University of California at Berkeley with honors. 
His background is in the liberal arts with an introduction to the 
physical sciences. He again scored in the 98th percentile in the verbal 
and mathematical sections of the Graduate Record Exam in 1977. For 
what he is about to relate, Mr. Warden was hospitalized twice on 
psychiatric wards for paranoid schizophrenia, first for ten days and 
then for two weeks, culminating in forced confinement to a state 
mental institution for eight months in 1986. Today he works as a 
public relations writer for a non-profit organization providing 
disability services in Los Angeles. 

Circa 1980 he was the subject of a recruitment attempt and an 
experiment involving mental telepathy, conducted by the Central 
Intelligence Agency. Shortly thereafter he was contacted by means of 
mental telepathy, operated by the governments of the United States 
and other major world powers, in particular, that of the fonner Soviet 
Union. The purpose of the contact was, first, to inform him of the true 
nature of the disembodied voices he had been hearing in his mind 
that by the medical profession had been ascribed to schizophrenia. 
and second, to recruit him as a public relations officer for the CIA and 
the Mental Telepathy System (MTS). 

The MTS is operational on the public and involves what might 
commonly be known as mind control. It is a system of technology 
that operates apparently by radio and microwaves, and that can 
broadcast voices and sensations, and affect the autonomic nervous 
sytem across distances. It is a hardware-based system that involves 
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transmitters, antennas and amplifying devices. Though in its most 
primitive form the MTS mimics psychic phenomena, it involves 
man-made technology as distinct from whatever natural psychic 
phenomena may have occurred throughout time. 

Without their knowledge, many people are under the influence of the 
MTS, which due sometimes to foreign control, can manifest itself in 
the bizarre and disturbing psychopathic outbreaks that appear from 
time to time in the news media. The voices that the Son of Sam serial 
killer thought he heard from the dog in the backyard of the 
neighboring apartment building in the mid-to-late 1970's probably 
resulted from he MTS. The foreign student at UC Berkeley who took 
hostages at the street cafe around 1991, claiming he was under the 
influence of government mind control experiments, also probably was 
affected by the MTS. Events such as David Koresh's control over the 
Branch Davidian cult in Waco, Texas during 1993 can also fully be 
accounted for by, and probably were the result of, his being 
unknowingly influenced by the worst aspects of the MTS. 

BACKGROUND 

The MTS goes back as far as the time of the Kennedy Administration 
and the outbreak of Beatlemania shortly after the President's 
assassination. It's actual origins are unclear, but may have had 
something to do with Nazi war experiments. In the early 1960's the 
Soviet Union had the advantage with this technology, and deployed it 
in western nations in the form of a mood altering broadcast wave that 
put people under its sway. Known a few years later as the 
Biofeedback 'I'ransponding Crowd Control System, the Soviet mind 
control technology was installed in places such as Berkeley, 
California, where it was used for subversive purposes to foment mass 
demonstrations, and also for international exchange and 
quasi-diplomatic efforts to promote understanding and sympathy for 
the Soviets among American people. Mental telepathy technology 
was the joint and evolving development of the intelligence forces of 
the United States, the CIA, and the Soviet KGB. Reflecting the 
international tensions between the two countries, it grew in a 
manner similar to the competition of the space race, with civilian and 
military implications. The Soviets, who had the upper hand on the 
mental telepathy technology, used it in the US for espionage and 
subversion, trying to gain access to the minds of scientists involved 
in government weapons research, and to foment civil unrest and pro 
socialist sympathy among the younger generation of Americans. 

Faced with the missile gap of the late 1970's, the advances by the 
Soviets with their particle beam accelerator, and similar national 
defense issues, the Reagan Administration came to power and began 
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a concerted push, known as COINTELPRO - the counterintelligence 
Program. Through COINI'ELPRO, the defense buildup and the 
beginning of the space shuttle program. which was able quickly to 
put into orbit more of the intelligence and communications satellites 
that operate the MTS at its upper levels; the US was able to gain the 
upper band in the MTS. Truth as we know it in the US won out over 
the disinfonnation propagated by the Soviet mental telepathy system. 
known infonnally as "Vodka. • Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union 
the mental telepathy wars conducted between telepaths, or mental 
telepathy operatives, of the CIA and the KGB have come to an end, 
although why psychopathological outbmaks continue among the 
population mmains unclear 

The American MTS, which was influenced and partially operated by 
the KGB in particular during the 1970's, politically fell under the 
observation and verification clauses of the SALT I and n treaties. 
When it because clear that the Soviets wem gaining too much 
influence over the American public, SALT n drew increasing 
discontent among govemment leaders and was scuttled. Under the 
provisions of SALT, the Soviets wem permitted to operate mental 
telepathy in diplomatic colony zones such as Berkeley, also known as 
!!pacifica. • The US essentially was blackmailed into accepting the 
Soviet proposal of mental telepathy operation in this country, due to 
their mlative superiority in msearch and development in the field of 
artificial mental telepathy. COINTELPRO mcruited a sufficient 
number of Americans, however, to develop the American MTS, and 
the intelligence satellites that play a primary role in propagating it 
across wide ai8as, to the point whem it effectively could combat the 
Soviet Vodka telepathy. 

Pie sent control of the MTS is improving, with better mental and 
psychological conditions for the telepaths who 818 affected by it, 
because the KGB is no longer intact to propagate its particular brand 
of psychological mischief and violence; but because the MTS still 
mmains under wraps, the heirs of the Soviets, apparently the 
Russians and affiliated republics, probably still continue to foment 
the violence that periodically erupts in the form of serial killers with 
bizarre and demented notions, and other fonns of psychopathology in 
the news media. 

The provisions of the Detente-era treaty governing the MTS and 
Vodka hold that Russian telepathy will continue in the US until the 
MTS is operated en plaine jour, or in broad daylight without 
government camouflage and denial, in the US-or elsewhere in the 
world of that matter. In other words, the Russians will continue to 
operate Vodka in the US, though at a more hospitable level, until the 
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govenunent, or someone, ''blows the cover' on mental telepathy, and 
this new technology becomes public knowledge. 

Mental health professionals say that there are approximately two or 
three million people in the US who are affected by some form of 
schizophrenia or related abnormal mental phenomenon. Many of 
these people probably hear voices in their minds, and most of them 
probably are under the influence of the MTS and Vodka. The number 
of these •subjects• who are fully consciously aware of the MTS, and of 
the source and the nature of the voices and visual images, or both. 
that they hear and see in their minds, is unclear. A guess at an 
estimate places it at from a few to several percent. Thus, there are 
probably a few to several tens of thousands of people in the US who 
are conscious telepaths, many of them operating in consonance with 
the CIA, which is the governmental agency responsible for the MTS. 
Among the telepaths there is a code of silence that the MTS itself 
propagates to llpreserve appearances" and to maintain one's personal 
reputation and credibility. Some telepaths seem to make personal 
contact with one another and to have their experience of the MTS 
thereby confirmed. Other telepaths operate solely by remote control, 
as it were, receiving messages and directives only through the voices 
and visual images in their minds, and never making objective contact 
with anyone else who can substantiate their experience. Still, the 
MTS is quite real and apparent to the telepath. and not delusional, 
because he or she receives other means of verification, such as 
foreknowledge of events before they occur, because the MTS can and 
often does orchestrate happenings through other MTS subjects who 
are influenced by the MTS, but who are not aware of its actual source 
and nature. 

THEORY 

The human brain emits electromagnetic waves, known to 
biofeedback researchers as alpha, beta and delta waves. These fall 
into the frequency range of from about 10 to 15 Hz. An 
electroencephalogram reveals these waves in the stylus' trace upon 
the paper. They have a definite frequency that corresponds to the 
mood and mental state of the person. Different parts of the brain 
emits slightly different waves, and when EEGs are made and 
different traces are obtained from each of the various electrodes 
pasted to the person's scalp. When a radio receiver is configured to 
tune into these waves on the order of 10-15 HZ, as opposed to the 100 
megahertz that household radios receive, then the brain's activity can 
be detected. 

A wave form analyzer is needed to decode the person's brain waves 
and correlate them with the person's speech. When the person is put 
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into an excited and energetic state, and prompted to free associate 
aloud so that whatever words the person is thinking he also is 
speaking, with no cognitive filtering or gap between the word in 
thought and the spoken word, then the person's audible speech can 
be associated with he brain was that are emanating from the speech 
area on the left side of the brain. A speech synthesizing and 
recognizing computer is needed to recognize the individual words. 
As the subject calibrates the system. individual wave foxms 
emanating from the person's brain and scalp for each word he is 
thinking can be cotrelated through the wave form analyzer with the 
audible sound produced from he person's mouth. Each particular 
wave form for each particular word can then be used by the computer 
to correlate with the individual words in the computer. Then when a 
specific word is thought by the subject, the accompanying 
electromagnetic wave emanating from his brain c an be detect ted 
and received, and analyzed by the wave form analyzer, and then fed 
to the computer, so that the computer can recognize in its vocabulary 
the particular word the subject is thinlring. Once the computer 
recognizes the word it can be output or processed in any way the 
operators of the computer wish. 

The telepathy subject can also receive messages in a similar manner. 
Once the person is calibrated so that the computer recognizes which 
wave foxms cotrespond to which particular words, those wave foxms 
can be broadcast tot he subject. Thus, the subject will hear a 
particular word in his mind when the appropriate wave fonn is 
transmitted to the proximity of his brain. 

In the MTS, computers govem the speech that passes through the 
system. Certain words can be propagated with increasing frequency 
of occurrence, and other words or ideas can be filtered out and 
disfavored so that they are not often repeated. By limiting the mental 
telepathy vocabulary, communication is facilitated among a wider 
range of subjects because they have more n common among their 
thinking and fewer idiosyncratic and subjective thoughts. ~ 
simpler is kept the level of thinking, the easier it is for the system to 
calibrate the subjects and to foster mental communication among a 
wider number of subjects. Easier than words are to detect and 
decode, a person's mood, and agreement or disagreement to a 
statement or set of circumstances, can be detected. Thus, at a 
rudimentary level, words can be broadcast to a person by the 
telepathy computer, and even if that person has not been calibrated, 
the waves emanating from t be person's brain can be detected and 
correlated with a positive, or truth. disposition; or with a negative, or 
lie , disposition. By determining which proposition elicits one of 
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dislike or disagreement, the computer can gain a personality profile 
of the subject. 

While it is fairly easy to understand how electromagnetic waves can 
be broadcast from different, distant locations to MTS subjects who 
receive them as words in their minds, it is more difficult to 
understand how antennas can be brought near enough to the 
subjects to detect the relatively weak signals emitted by their brains 
amid the background noise and intelference from the preponderance 
of energy fields in the urban environment. Apparently, power lines, 
household wiring and telephone lines play a role in receiving the 
signals from subjects' minds. Since any fluctuating energy field 
induces a current in a nearby conductor, the household wiring and 
telephone lines that are seemingly everywhere could also serve as 
antennas for the subjects' brain waves if they were tapped into by 
MTS receiver circuits and the extraneous noises were filtered out. 
Since this naturally involves greater technical difficulty than 
broadcasting thought waves, it is safe to say that more people 
receive the MTS signal in their minds than have their thoughts read 
and received by the MTS computer. Still, by prompting subjects and 
broadcasting to them thoughts that pretend to be their own, the 
subjects' simpler states of agreement and pleasure, or disagreement 
and dislike, can be detected by the MTS; to pick up verbal thoughts 
of the subject, apparently he has to be calibrated according to 
something like the above described process. 

CONCLUSION 

Since the undercover telepathy war between the telepaths of the US 
and the CIA, and the telepaths of the Soviet Union and the KGB has 
ended with the resolution of the Cold War, telepathy conditions have 
improved. While the espionage and subversion aspects of Vodka as 
operated by the USSR are no longer as serious as they once were, still 
the incidence of telepathy contact does not appear to have 
diminished. The level of activity in each telepath's, or subject's, mind 
may have decreased to a more comfortable level, but there do not 
appear to be a fewer number of people who feel that something 
strange is going on in their minds, who have thoughts and mental 
phenomenon that appear to them as alien to their usual way of being. 

With the apparent success of COINTELPRO and the US government's 
policy of containment toward Soviet telepathy, there still appears not 
to be any retraction of the basic deployment of the MTS. Under the 
Detente-era SALT agreements, the Russians continue to propagate 
telepathy in the US and elsewhere, and the CIA in tum must operate 
the MTS to counteract Vodka's influence. Lately in the telepathy 
system there has been reference to the Artificial Intelligence Program 
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(AIP). AIP would be the equivalent of the CIA and the KGB or the 
Russians beating the swords of the undercover telepathy wars 
between the MTS and Vodka into plowshares. The MTS could be 
used for peaceful and civilian puzposes to foster communication 
among disparate groups of people. Once it is operated en pleine jour, 
the Russians would feel that the agreement between our and their 
governments had been fulfilled, and they would withdraw their 
telepathy system. The CIA could tum off the MST and free thousands 
upon thousands, if not millions, of people who have had their lives 
and their minds disrupted by thoughts that are not their own. From 
the vantage point of one who has been a conscious subject of the 
MST for 12 years, and who has been unconsciously under the sway of 
friendly and enemy telepathy ever since he had his first 
pseudonervous breakdown at the age of 21, telepathy that is 
controlled by others beyond one's reach certainly is not any invention 
to be heralded. Many people have suffered, and a number of innocent 
people have lost their lives at the bands of hapless psychopaths who 
stumbled into Vodka's telepathy and were remotely motivated to 
commit violent atrocities. Still. AlP holds promise for the future, for it 
the US and Russia can emerge from the Cold War as friends and allies 
more than as enemies, then the MTS and Vodka will have 
accomplished something. If AIP were better controlled by its subject 
telepaths, then it would be a development more positive in its 
implications than negative. Above all, one's greatest hope should be 
for freedom from extemal control and liberty to enjoy a restored 
privacy of the mind. 

Disinfonnation or the real thing? Put it in the research mill and see what else 
comes up. Ask some researchers in the former Soviet Union if they've heard of 
"Vodka",not the liquor, the mental telepathy machine. Which is what makes me 
suspect this memo, despite its serious tone, could be a joke. 

When promoting OMC in 1978 I was on the Gay Bern show in Ireland (a 
one-a-week Tonite Show format). I managed to hold the well-read Irish audience's 
interest for 20 minutes, which the producer told me was a difficult thing to 
accomplish. Following me was John McGuffin who had written The Human 
Guinea Pigs a year before. It tells about the British use of mind control 
technology in the fields and prisons of Northern Ireland. This time McGuffin was 
flogging his new book, Poteen. It was a well-researched, illustrated tome about 
the illegal potato liquor which is traditionally made in the bathtubs of Ireland 
much as Moonshine is made in the Mountains of Kentucky. 

"Mind control," McGuffin said, holding up a glass of poteen, "This is mind 
control" Likewise, I'm told that in Russia Vodka ( the alcoholic kind) is the 
dominant form of mind self-control. 
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Spanish matador Dr. Jose Delago with a mind-controlled bull (above). He 
holds only a radio transmitter in his hand behind the cape. When the bull got 
too close he dropped the cape, (below) and, with bad form, pushed the 
button on the transmitter. There was no elegant pass of the toro through his 
cape. The bull simply went into reverse. Though the CIA threw money at 
Delgado, he was not awarded even a trophy ear for his bullfight 
performance/demo of ESB 
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Dr. John Lilly, author of Center of the Cyclone and most noted for his work 
with Dolphins, is shown here preparing a monkey for tests by implanting a 
stimoceiver into its brain. The movie Day of the Dolphin was based on Lilly's 
dolphin research days. 
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FROM BIONIC WOMAN TO STIMULATED CAT 

In 1967 a writer named Lincoln Lawrence published a book which asked the 
question: Was Lee Harvey Oswald a robot -assassin programmed by a sophisticated 
technique known as RHIC-EDOM? The letters stood for Radio Hypnotic 
Intra-Cerebral Control-Electronic Dissolution of Memory. 

Lawrence speculated that Oswald had been behavior-controlled and prepared 
during his "defection" to the Soviet Union as a "sleeper" agent programmed to 
return to the United States and murder on cue. It was the Manchurian Candidate 
theme, with one exception. Lawrence insisted that the Russians had not 
masterminded the RHIC-EDOM plan. It had been masterminded, he thought, by 
an international cartel of commodities merchants who sought to make millions by 
driving the market with the assassination of a president - any president 

Lawrence wrote, "Lee Harvey Oswald was to be utilized as •.. (and now you must 
clear your brain and put aside your preconceived notions of what espionage and 
sabotage are today) .•. an RHIC controlled person ... somewhat like a mechanical 
toy. An RHIC controlled person can be processed (as Oswald was in Minsk, 
allowed to travel to any country •.. and be put to use even years later by the 
application of RHIC controls. In short, like the toy, he can in a sense be 'wound 
up' and made to perform acts without any possibility of the controller being 
detected. 

"Under RHIC, a 'sleeper' can be used years later with no realization that the 
'sleeper' is even being controlled! He can be made to perform acts that he will 
have no memory of ever having carried oul In a manipulated kind of kamikaze 
operation where the life of the 'sleeper' is dispensable, rune processing makes 
him particularly valuable because if he is detected and caught before he perfonns 
the act specified .•. nothing he says will implicate the group or government which 
processed and controlled him. "121 

m Uncoln L.awrmce. Wew Wt Como/ltd? 1'ht Assassination of Pruitlm Kmtwtlp (New York. Uniwnity Books, 
1967) 
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Mr. Lawrence used as evidence the official Russian records that Oswald had been 
admitted to the hospital in Minsk at 10 a.m. on March 30, 1961. The records state 
that he was admitted with complaints about suppuration from the right ear and a 
weakening in hearing. Lawrence said this was a cover-up for "the real reason" for 
Oswald's stay-- but there was one oversight He was hospitalized for eleven days 
for an 'adenoid' operation. Eleven days for an 'adenoid' removal is, of course, 
preposterous. In austere Soviet Russia it was particularly ridiculous!" 

What really happened, according to Lawrence, was that during the operation a 
small electrode was implanted inside Oswald's mastoid sinus. The electrode 
responded to a radio signal which would make audible, inside Oswald's head, 
certain electronic commands to which he had already been posthypnotically 
conditioned to respond. (The autopsy report in Dallas noted that there was a 
small scar on the mastoid sinus behind Oswald's ear.) 

In 1967 the idea sounded utterly preposterous. Mr. Lawrence's book, Were We 
Controlktll found only a minuscule audience. Lawrence, on the other hand, may 
have had much more evidence than he was allowed to present His credentials 
indicated he had been 'Working in liaison with the department of defense." 

In 1975 the RHIC-EDOM story surfaced again. This time a Tennessee journalist 
said he had been given'top secret documents by two former CIA officials whom he 
would not identify. The journalist, James L. Moore, said the papers in his 
possession described the details of "a military technique of mind control called 
Radio-Hypnotic Intra-Cerebral Control--Electronic Dissolution of Memory." 

Moore described the RHIC-EDOM file as a 350 page scientific report, which was 
prepared by the CIA immediately after the murder of President John F. Kennedy. 
He said it described a way of turning men into electronically controlled robots 
programmed to kill on command. 

According to Moore, in the initial (RHIC) stage of programming the prospective 
killer is put into a deep hypnotic trance, and conditioned to go into trance at the 
sound of a specific tone. "A person may be placed under this control with or 
without his knowledge, programmed to perform certain actions and maintain 
"certain attitudes" whenever he hears the tone. "Effective for a lifetime," Moore 
said, "control may be triggered weeks, months, or even years after the first 
'hypnosis' and programming." 

"Medically," Moore continued, "these radio signals are directed to certain parts of 
the brain. When a part of your brain receives a tiny electrical impulse from 
outside sources, such as vision, hearing, etc., an emotion is produced -- anger at 
the sight of a gang of boys beating an old woman, for example. This same 
emotion of anger can be created by artificial radio signals sent to your brain by a 
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controller. You could instantly feel the same white hot anger without any 
apparent reason." 

The second part of the process, electronic dissolution of memory (EDOM), Moore 
said, is more complex. "In the brain is a chemical called acetylcholine, which 
carries electrical impulses from the eyes, ears, nose, nerve endings etc., to the 
part of the brain where memory is located. Memory is nothing more than the 
recording of these electrical impulses, and acetylcholine is the path (or 'wire') that 
connects the inner brain to the nerves of your eyes and ears ... By electronically 
jamming the brain, acetylcholine creates static which blocks out sights and 
sounds. You would then have no memory of what you saw or heard; your mind 
would be a blank." 

Moore said that according to CIA documents, this method can be used either to 
block the memory completely, or to slow it down so events seem to have 
happened later than they actually have. According to a knowledgeable CIA source, 
this is what happened in Dallas and later in Los Angeles," Moore stated. 

Moore quoted his unidentified source as saying, "That was the first thought to hit 
us at CIA. It's pretty obvious Ruby was programmed to kill Oswald, even by 
Ruby's own words ... As for Sirhan there is no other explanation; it's a proven fact 
that his memory has been completely erased." 

"The assassination of John Kennedy," Moore said "was carried out by disgruntled 
CIA and FBI personnel, using Mafia and Cuban exile flunkies. "122 

The claims of James L. Moore would sound fantastic were it not for the 
abundance of information to support the possibility of their validity. 

The Helms memo to the Warren Commission mentioned something called 
"biological radio communication." Although the term was not fully explained, 
Helms related it to ESB: "Current research indicates that the Soviets are 
attempting to develop a technology for control in the development of behavioral 
patterns among the citizenry of the USSR in accordance with politically 
determined requirements of the system. Furthermore, the same technology can 
be applied to more sophisticated approaches to the 'coding' of information for 
transmittal to population targets in the 'battle for the minds of men.'" 

It seems entirely possible that the "radiomagnetic waves" Moore referred to and 
the "biological radio communication" Hehns referred to may be one and the same. 
Both terms probably describe waves radiated in the electromagnetic spectrum. 
Both sound waves and radio waves have been studied for their coercive effect on 
the mind. Ultrasonics are sound waves, traveling in a medium different from the 
radio medium. 

m Junes Moore, Modem Propk, August 18, 1975. 
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A 1951 MKULTRA CIA memo also described what could be related to 
RHIC-EDOM. "There is no reason to believe that Russia and some the satellites 
have not investigated the effects of ultrasonics on man, perhaps to the extent of 
its possible use in the future for interrogation purposes. We have no reports 
which indicate past use of ultrasonics on prisoners for this purpose, but its 
possible use should be taken into consideration." 

Meanwhile, ultrasonics research was underway. Drs. W. Fry and R. Meyers of the 
University of Dlinois used focused ultJasonic waves to make brain lesions of a very 
controlled size. Their research, conducted in 1961, demonstrated the great 
advantage of ultrasonics over the psycho-surgical techniques which implanted 
electrodes in the brain. By using low-energy sound beams, Fry and Meyers 
stimulated or destroyed neural tissue at the point of focus of the beams without 
cutting or drilling into the brain. 

A few years later Dr. Peter Lindstrom at the University of Pittsburgh used a single 
unfocused sonic beam to destroy fiber tracts without damaging the nerve cells 
next to them. Lindstrom used this "prefrontal sonic treabnent" as a substitute for 
lobotomy, to destroy fiber tracts in the frontal lobes of patients who had either 
untreatable pain or severe psychiatric disorders. 

The cryptocracy' s secret funds and guidance directed a number of research 
projects into the effects on the brain of various vibrations beyond the perception 
of ordinary human senses. In one experiment recommended by Norbert Wiener, 
a sheet of tin was suspended from the ceiling and connected to a generator 
working at ten cycles per second. When large field strengths of one or two volts 
per centimeter (a very minute amount) were oscillating at the alpha frequency of 
the human brain, extremely unpleasant sensations were reported by the volunteer 
subjects. 

Scientists at the Brain Research Institute of the University of California took up 
the investigation of the effects of oscillating fields, subjects showed measurable 
degeneration in perfonnance of simple tasks. 

These and other experiments led the cryptocracy to study the effects of 
very-low-frequency sound (VLF) --the opposite of ultrasonics - as an instrument 
of war. Research revealed there is a natural wave guide between the ionosphere 
and the earth which could be used .to propagate very-low-frequency radiation and 
guide it to selected locations on the earth. Studies showed this low-frequency 
sound subtly affected the electrical behavior of the brain in much the same way 
Dr. Arley's studies had shown. 

The alpha-wave frequency of the human brain is from eight to twelve hertz (cycles 
per second). The ionospheric wave guide oscillates at eight hertz, making it a 
good hannonic carrier of low-frequency sound (LFS) waves. These are such long 
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waves that they are virtually impossible to detect Pentagon reports apply LFS to 
demobilizing the productive capacity of a civilian population in time of war~ 

Dr. Frank Barnaby, Director of the Stockholm International Peace Research 
Institute, suggested what the cryptocracy already knew: "If methods could be 
devised to produce greater field strengths of such low-frequency oscillations, 
either by natural (for example, lightning) or artificial means, then it might 
become possible to impair the perfonnance of a large group of people in selected 
regions over extended periods. "123 

Since Anton Mesmer's early experiments with animal magnetism, Western 
scientists have known that monotonous rhythms produce drowsiness and open 
the individual to hypnotic induction. Scientists found that flashing a strobe light 
at a certain frequency could induce epileptics to have seizures. Subjected to 
ultrasonic or very-low-frequency sound in hannony with alpha rhythms, an entire 
population might be lulled into a state of drowsiness by the unperceived waves, 
and radio and television - the normal channels of mass hypnosis -- could implant 
suggestions to control the behavior of entire nations. 

Soviet scientists have used electronic fields applied outside the head to induce and 
enhance the qualities of sleep. Their most widely publicized device is the 
"electrosone." It pennits low frequency pulses to be applied to the cerebral cortex 
through mild electrical stimulation - electrical current sent through electrodes 
placed on the eyelids and behind the ears. The Soviets claim this technique, 
called electronarcosis, can give the benefits of a full night's sleep in only two or 
three hours. The sleep is induced rapidly and is so deep the subject wakes up as 
fully refreshed and invigorated as if he had slept an entire nighl 

Radiation has also leapt into the vanguard of mind control technology. The 
Soviets have been studying the effects of microwave radiation since 1933. They 
have found that, among other things, microwaves can affect the central nervous 
system. They have also discovered that microwave radiation, even of low 
intensity, can seriously alter the nonnal rhythm of brain waves, causing 
hallucinations and drastic perceptual changes, including a loss of the sense of 
time. In biological studies, they found that exposure to microwaves causes 
changes in protein composition and white blood cells. A number of endocrine 
responses are also altered by microwave radiation, including the activities of the 
thyroid and other glands. And, lastly, microwaves can cause maternal lactation to 
cease and in some cases male sterility. 

In 1962 when the CIA discovered the U.S. Embassy in Moscow was being 
irradiated with microwaves, the cryptocracy reacted with silence. For years the 
U.S. government knew about the Russian research but appeared to ignore il 
Perhaps they feared any claim that microwave radiation could affect human 

m Pnn&Barmby,Nero Saimtisi • .fun£ 17, 1976. 
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behavior would bring great restrictions on the use of radar, microwave relays, and 
on booming microwave oven sales. But a less obvious reason suggests itself: the 
cryptocracy did not want to draw attention to its own use of radiation in mind 
control. 

In May, 1968, General Electric announced it was recalling 90,000 color TV sets 
which were emitting excessive amounts of dangerous X-rays. This set the gears 
in motion for Senate hearings on the problem of radiation effects. But the 
ayptocracy still protected its interests; the Defense Department sent two high 
ranking medical officers from each branch of the anned forces to assure the 
senators that safeguards to military sponsored research into the biological effects 
of radiation had been adequate. They testified that nobody in the anned forces 
was being exposed to hazardous amounts of radiation. 

Meanwhile, the microwave bombardment of the U.S. embassy continued, and the 
CIA acted as if it knew nothing at all about radiation effects, denying there was 
even a problem. 

Yet in 1964, when Dr. Milton Zaret, an ophthalmologist at New York University's 
Bellevue Medical Center, published a paper reporting that there were hannfu1 
biological and behavioral affects to micro-radiation, the CIA immediately came 
around to ask Zaret some questions. 

They wanted to know whether he thought electro-magnetic radiation beamed at 
the brain from a distance could affect the way a person might act. Dr. Zaret told 
the CIA that from what he'd read in the Soviet literature on the subject it seemed 
quite conceivable that microwaves could produce behavioral changes. On another 
occasion, Zaret said, a CIA doctor inquired of him if he thought microwaves could 
be used to "facilitate brainwashing." 

In early 1965 the CIA infonned Dr. Zaret that the Russians had been irradiating 
the American embassy. Later Zaret was called to attend a special meeting at the 
Institute for Defense Analysis in Arlington, Vuginia. There he met a number of 
people from the Defense Department's Advanced Research Projects Agency who 
were also working on the problem of radiation. 

Subsequently Dr. Zaret and others set out to duplicate the conditions of 
micro-radiation in the embassy. "'remember in one experiment we succeeded in 
replicating a Czechoslovakian study of behavioral effect in rats, but also observed 
some unique convulsions in these animals prior to death." When Dr. Zaret 
relayed that infonnation to Washington he received a telegram from the CIA 
ordering him not to pursue the investigation any further.1

2-4 

Paul Brodeur, 17w N- Yonbrr, Decanbcr 13, 1976. 
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In May, 1972, Jack Anderson broke the "Moscow Signal" story, which had been 
kept secret for ten years: the Russians were bombarding the American embassy in 
Moscow with micro-radiation. Anderson speculated the CIA had been trying to 
cover up the fact that the Russians were trying to brainwash American diplomats 
by microwave bombardment He implied (probably correctly) the CIA had created 
the cover-up to protect its own secrets of mind control by irradiation. 

After the disclosure, Anderson came under heavy attack from representatives of 
both the military and industry. There were loud protests from the microwave 
oven manufacturers, but no one refuted the brainwashing angle of 
micro-radiation. The story lay dormant until June of 1977, when it was 
announced that teams of scientists at the University of Utah and the University of 
Washington had received grants from the National Institute of Environmental 
Health Sciences to study the effects of chronic low-level microwave exposure. Dr. 
Om P. Gandhi, professor of electrical engineering and bioengineering at Utah said, 
"Most U.S. scientists are still quite skeptical of the Soviet studies." 

As hypnotists had done over the years, many scientists expressed doubt that 
electronic, conic, or radiation techniques would ever be used for such purposes. 

"The reports of new technical developments for brain stimulation have led to a 
concern that it will be used as the basis of an 'electroligarchy' where people could 
be virtually enslaved by controlling them from within their own brains ... there is 
actually little foundation for the belief that brain stimulation could be used as a 
political weapon," Dr. Elliot S. Valenstein said. "'t doesn't make sense. Anyone 
influential enough to get an entire population to consent to having electrodes 
placed in its head would already have his goal without firing a single volt "125 

Dr. Willard Gaylin agreed, saying, "Electrode implantation or surgical ablation of 
the brain sections as a direct means of political control seems unlikely -- much 
less a threat, for example, than drugs. Such an individualized and dramatic 
procedure hardly seems suited to the enslavement of populations or the 
robotization of political leaders. Drugs, brainwashing by control of the media, 
exploitation of fears through forms of propaganda, and indoctrination through the 
sources of education, particularly if preschool education or neonatal 
conditioning ... becomes an approved practice, all seem more likely methods of 
totalitarian control. "126 

The British biochemist Dr. Steven Rose issued a similar objection: "Unlike ancient 
maps marked 'here be monsters,' there will not be ..• brains transplanted into 
bodies or bottles, thought, memory or mind control, telepathic communication or 
genetic engineering, artificial intelligence or robots ••. I believe them impossible -­
or at least improbable; more importantly because scientific advance and its 
ta Elliot Valmstein. Bnnn Como/, (New York. Wiley, 1973) 
u. Wdllrd M. Gaylin, .loti S. Meista", mi Robert C. NeWie, eels.,~ on IJ. Mint:J (New York, 8uic Boob, 
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attendant teclmology only comes about in response to social constraints and 
social demands. Because there are at present no or few social demands in the 
direction of these lurid potential developments, they do not represent, in a world 
beset with crises and challenges to human survival, serious contenders for our 
concern. nl%7 

Of course, when science is developed in a piecemeal, compartmentalized fashion, 
as it is under the direction of the cryptocracy, no social constraints come into 
play. Where the public is kept ignorant, and where scientists themselves are 
manipulated by the grant system, the balance upon which Dr. Rose relies is 
absent 

On the other hand, for every scientist who denies mind control exists or will ever 
exist, there is one who sees it as a desirable form of social controL Social 
psychologist Kenneth B. Clark appears to be one of those men. 

Expressing the fear of the nuclear age, and the group paranoia of the Cold 
Warriors, Clark said, "Given the u.rgency of the immediate survival problem, the 
psychological and social sciences must enable us to control the animalistic, 
barbaric and primitive propensities in man and subordinate these negatives to the 
uniquely human moral and ethical characteristics of love, kindness, and 
empathy ••. We can no longer afford to rely solely on the traditional pre-scientific 
attempts to contain human cruelty and destructiveness." 

Clark suggested that behavior control requirements be imposed on all 
"power-controlling leaders," and even those who aspire to such leadership. He 
would require them to accept and submit to "biochemical intervention which 
would assure their positive use of power and reduce or block the possibility of 
using power destructively. 

"It would assure," Clark said, "that there would be no absurd or barbaric use of 
power. It would provide the masses of human beings with the security that their 
leaders would not sacrifice them on the altars of their personal ego. "128 

But if there were a mind-controlled President in the White house ( and there, by 
now, may well have been one- certainly Reagan came close), what guarantee 
would we have that the cryptocracy would not use such access for purely selflsh 
motives? Obviously, submission to any fonn of mind control by politicians could 
lead to Clark's "masses of human beings" being sacrificed not on the altars of 
personal ego but on the altars of national security. 

There seems to be a good deal of cultural momentum leading toward a cybernetic 
anthill society. If we can draw any inference from the numerous predictions 

117 S'-n Rose, T1w COnscious Brr1in (New York, Knopf. 1976) 
111 Kmeth Clark,Ammam Pqr:hologicDI AssoaiaDcm ~. Odober, 1971. 
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made by men of accomplishment in our society, it is that direct brain-computer 
interface, the cyborg, and the resulting mass mind control are on the horizon. 

D.C. Brennan, member of the Hudson Institute, mathematician, and expert on 
national security problems, predicted: "Computers as Sophisticated as the human 
brain will be small enough to be carried in a shoe box. "129 

Arthur C. Clarke, science-fiction writer, predicted: "The first intelligent computer 
will be the .last machine man will need to make-- and quite possible the last he'll 
be pennitted to make. "130 

Gerald Feinberg, professor of physics at Columbia University, predicted: "It will be 
possible to tinker with the brain -- to make the human memory more reliable and 
accessible at the expense, say, of breadth in sensory responses."131 

Olaf Helmer, founding member of Institute for the Future, predicted: "Slave 
robots are likely to appear. It may also be possible to devise a way for a 
disembodied brain to be kept alive so it can give instruction to a robot which will 
act as its body."132 

Stephen Rosen, a research scientist at mM, predicted the unification of physical 
medicine (like drugs and organtransplants) with behavioral techniques (like 
biofeedback, cybernetic learning, and psychology). 

And there is Jose Delgado, who predicted - among other things -- the coming of a 
psycho-civilized society. Delgado also said that the fundamental question of the 
future would be "who is going to exert the power of behavior control?" And even 
Delgado, a true believer in ESB, issued a warning that in the future the 
cryptocracy would have to be curtailed. "It is ... essential that relevant information 
not be restricted to a small elite, but be shared by all."133 

Whether created by the use of hypnosis, drugs, behavior modification, electronic 
or sonic brain stimulation, or through a combination of these tool of 
psycho-science, the cyborg is stalking us in our dreams. And just as life imitates 
art, men live out their dreams in their waking state. 

The dream, expressed by the prophetic visions of men from all walks of life, is of a 
time when the machine or the drug will take over and relieve man of his difficult 
burden of self responsibility. For better or worse, self responsibility-- where each 
individual acts consciously, and accepts the consequences of his own actions - is 
the stuff of which freedom is made. 

IJ9 , .. 
Ill 
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The prophecies of poets, writers, scientists, and futurists express what can be 
considered a regressive, devolutionary myth. Sprung from the complexity of 
technological life, where self-responsibility is largely directed by propaganda and 
indoctrination, where an ignorant rather than an enlightened public is desired, 
the majority of responsible actions can result only in cultural disaster. This, in 
tum, adds to the frustration of the individual who, weighing all the facts - or 
what were presented as facts -- thought he had made the best choice possible. 
When these decisions, based on false information, are shown to result in negative 
effects, the frustration of the individual grows. Weariness eventually sets in, and 
the individual becomes willing to surrender his self responsibility and eagerly 
awaits his liberation by some authoritarian figure. 

In the past such people as Hitler, Lenin, or Mao Tse Tung were high profile father 
figures who inspired trust and surrender by the masses. In the modern 
technological miasma, a nameless, faceless cryptocracy is manipulating world 
politics. 

The cryptocracy supports only those foreign and domestic leaders who are 
sycophants of secrecy. Of necessity keeping a low profile, the cryptocracy can 
inspire neither the allegiance nor the surrender which was inspired by the 
previous exploiters of the cult of personality. Thus, with no human image 
representing benevolent authority, the masses embrace a substitute father figure 
-technology. The dream of test tube babies, genetically engineered children, and 
electronically controlled parents visits the collective unconscious and manifests 
itself in the way we see the future and in the mysticism of the day. 

Even Uri Geller, the Houdini of parapsychology, seems to be expressing this very 
myth. His supposedly occult powers, he says, come from contact with beings 
who present themselves as "deliverers" from outer space. With superior 
intelligence, they manifest all fonns of telepathy, telekinesis, and teleportation, 
and have told Mr. Geller that they are pure mind, maintained throughout eternity 
by machines which traverse the universe and transcend time and space. 

As the psychologist Erich Fromm said, "A specter is stalking in our midst whom 
only a few see with clarity. It is not the old ghost of communism or fascism. It is 
a new specter: a completely mechanized society, devoted to maximal material 
output and consumption, directed by computers; and in this social process, man 
himself is being transformed into a part of the total machine, well fed and 
entertained, yet passive unalive, and with little feeling. With the victory of the 
new society, individualism and privacy will have disappeared; feelings toward 
others will be engineered by psychological conditioning and other devices, or 
drugs."I34 

Erich Promm,llw R«KJJuuion of Ho~W (}Urper, 1968) 
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Fromm is talking about the new myth, which anticipates a time when the 
machine or the drug will manipulate the human mind and relieve man of his 
difficult burden of freedom. From the new mythology comes the public tolerance 
of the cryptocracy as well as the hero worship of such figures as James Bond, the 
Six Million Dollar Man, and the Bionic Woman. Everywhere in modem literature 
and art and in the mass entertainment media, one can see the expressions of the 
modem myth of the techno-eroticism and the dark shadow of the priesthood of 
secrecy. There is so much of it in the media, in fact, one has to suspect the 
American public is deliberately being desensitized to the concept of mind control 
and the "psycho-civilized" society. 

The cryptocracy has gone to absurd lengths to develop remote controlled beings. 
Victor Marchetti revealed the CIA had once bied to create a cyborg cal He said 
the Agency wired a feline for sound in an attempt to use the pet for eavesdropping 
purposes. The cat was first altered electronically so it would function as a 
listening device in areas where potential enemy agents would be discussing covert 
plots. 

But problems developed, Marchetti said, and the cat had to be rewired. The cat 
would wander away from its target area, as cats will, looking for food. The CIA 
fixed that by inserting wires directly into the hunger center of the cat' s brain. The 
wires were attached to a radio receiver which would suppress the hunger pangs by 
remote control. But once that problem was solved, the CIA found the cat needed 
more circuitry in its brain to control its natural urges. Mer the hunger center 
was turned off, the cat still would wander away, this time following the sex 
instinct The CIA planted more electrodes into the sex center of the cat' s brain. 

After the electronic feline was at last ready for its assignment, it was turned loose 
on the street and was followed by a CIA support van loaded with electronic 
monitoring gear. However, before any conversations could be picked up, 
Marchetti said, "the poor thing got run over by a taxicab." 

The future should come as no surprise. In 1976 Science Digest reported that 
there was a robot population explosion in the United States, with some 6,000 
mechanical humanlike machines performing simple human tasks. According to 
the publication, "within the next thirty years there will be more robot than human 
workers in America." And the proof that everything has lived up to the timetable is 
that there are no robots among the breadlines of the homeless. When you see a 
big clumsy robot holding a cardboard sign that says, "will work for oil. .. " you'll 
1mow that things have changed again. 

The typical state of robotdom is still very expensive. Most use television to "see" 
and to review their work. A number of robots in service are busy building other 
robots. A Robot Institute of America was in existence in the 1970's. Now. in the 
'90's micromachines are approaching the size of viruses. Soon entire microscopic 
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factories will be turning out other, even smaller micro-mini-tech factories on the 
scale of atoms. While definately a boon to the computer industry, this technology 
will also be injectable into the human body, for better or worse. 

Situation comedies and children's cartoon shows embody the cyborg myth and 
condition the individual to accept the day when wires will enter his brain -- wires 
hidden inside the skull: clandestine circuitry for covert cyborgs. The most 
influencial science fiction work today describes cyberspace and "virtual reality." 
(The real is no longer good enough?) 

Bestselling books by writers such as William Gibson, Bruce Sterling and others 
romanticize a cybernetic reality. Philip K. Dick is enjoying a postumous literary 
revival. One of his books, VALIS ( acoronym of Vast Active Living Intelligence 
System) is a highly literate description of the things the "survivors" of the 
so-called MTS are describing. " .•. A perturbation in the reality field in which a 
spontaneous self-monitoring negentropic vortex is fonned, tending progressively 
to subsume and incorporate its environment into arrangements of infonnation. 
Characterized by quasi-consciousness, purpose, intelligence, growth and an 
armillary coherence ... 135ft MTV is running an action adventure series called "Dead 
at 2P, about a young man with a microchip implanted in his brain being tracked 
by the signals it gives off. The hero with the microchip implant is pursued by 
some corrupt ayptocracy. Does this mean the myth of surrender to control by 
technology is being glorified as the highest aim of the twentieth centwy version 
of the American Dream - or is it another nightmare erupting into life? 

What once was the American Dream is turning into a cybernetic nightmare in 
more ways than one. As Poet Richard Brautigan said, trying to find hope in this 
new myth: ••• one day we may all be "watched over by machines of loving grace." 
Of couse you have to take into account that, despite his optimism, Brautigan 
blew his brains out in d.ispair. 

Phillip K. Dick. VDis, (New York. htVmQge Books, 1991) 
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Every elderly person who is taken into long term care in either an old-people's home or a 

hospital is injected with this transmitter. It then transmits a radio wave which penetrates their 

brains, inducing amnesia, weakening their immune system and in general increasing their 

vulnerability lO disease. The inhumanity of connecting elderly defenceless people unwittingly 

to computers has been going on for at least ten years, the details being puhlished. along with 

the illustration above. in a book entitled .. Den Maktfullkomliga OfOrmagan .. (Thl: Dt!spotic In· 

competence) by Jan Freese. He was director-general of Data Inspection for thine~:n years and has 

a thorough knowledge of this coven dt!velopment 

After the injection of'ihe transmitter, reSearchers take over and use these elderly people in 
........ ! 

experiment.S'which last the rest of their lives. The interaction between human brains and 

computers is fundamental to the development of the "information society" and is also the 

most significant of all state secrets. It is, moreover, quite plainly a serious breach of human 

rights, for such systematic explo!tation shows a complete disregard for a person's right to privacy 

as innocent people are forced to serve as biological material for an excessive and unrestricted 

research programme. The advance towards the technocratic society, governed by ~ew ~ 

norms that breed inhumanity, goes hand in glove with state hegemony. As a natural ' 

consequence, covert surveillance systems able to control the neurological activity of the 

brain have been developed in secret and beyond public awareness. 
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29 

INVISmLE WARFARE 

Since this book first appeared in 1978 there has been a rapid acceleration in 
public awareness about mind controL It has largely replaced the term 
"brainwashing" in the press, appearing with some regularity on the front pages of 
your local daily newspaper. H you are laboring under the impression that the 
Church Committee hearings stopped Operation Mind Contro~ in these pages you 
have learned of evidence to the contrary. Instead of halting mind contro~ a whole 
new kind of warfare has developed around il The new technology makes the old 
"Project Monarch" style classical conditioning obsolete. It is the reason so many 
survivors are remembering and are allowed to talk. They are no longer needed, 
and there's a better way to control minds. 

Public awareness has been outrun by the progress in mind control technology. It 
has gone from drugs and hypnosis to the effects of microwaves, ELF waves, 
gravity waves, and modulated signals of all kinds. The basics are the same in all 
techniques - the government programmers sneak into the subconscious mind of 
individuals and the masses and influence them without their knowledge or 
consent 

It works the same way hypnosis works, in fact, whether aided by drugs, a variety 
of signals or waves, the objective is the same, to talk to the 90% of us that is 
asleep but automatically in charge of our lives most of the time. It is difficult to 
get a person to change through reason. All the logical persuasion, discussion and 
argument possible has a small chance of changing a person's core beliefs. But, it 
is easy to get a person to change by an applied covert use of language spoken to 
the unconscious. 

Certain frequencies make the majority of people suggestible. Modulated 
frequencies can be embedded behind music as messages which are constructed of 
ordinary language, carefully chosen, framed in the positive. "You are thirsty. 
Drink Coca-Cola," used in such a context will show coke sales to be positively 
affected. 

We are bathed in an environment of invisible wave stimulus, from radio waves, 
television waves, cellular phone waves, microwaves, powerline electromagnetic 
waves and gravity waves. Who notices? And if the waves act as a carrier for a 



421 W.H. Bowart 

signal, if part of them is modulated to carry a voice, sensitive individuals will hear 
the suggestions, but most won't. They'll just act on them. 

Invisible mind control weaponry has been the most sought after military prize 
since the days of Ancient China's legendary warlord, Sun Tzu. It was developed in 
India and refined through succeeding civilizations of Egypt, China, the Mayan 
Empire, Greece, Rome, Medieval Europe, Nazi Gennany, Soviet Russia, Red China 
and finally in the United States. As early as 1900 the U.S. had access to patents 
and theories which are just now being understood. Their inventor was none other 
than Nicola Testa the man who worked for both the Edison and Westinghouse 
Companies, the man who invented the famous Testa coil and alternating current. 
The man whose inventions laid the groundwork for TV, radio, telegraphy, 
electronic surveillance, Dictaphones, air purifiers, death rays and even a 
technology for the solution for our current energy crisis. 

Of course technology is neutral, it can be used to enrich and empower the human 
spirit or it can be used to enslave it. There still is much to learn about the 
electromagnetic spectrum and its effect on humanity's collective mind and body. 

"'t may be hard to convince ourselves that something we can't see, hear, touch, 
taste, or smell can still hurt us so dreadfully," Dr. Robert Becker and/or Gary 
Selden wrote in the landmark work The Body E/ectric.136 "Yet the fact must be 
faced, just as we've learned a healthy fear of nuclear radiation. Certain scientist, 
some perhaps acting in a program of deliberate disinfonnation, keep telling the 
public that we still don't know whether electropollution is a threat to human 
health. That's simply not true. Certainly we need to know more, put a multitude 
of risks have been well documented. 

'1'hree dangers overshadow all others. The first has been conclusively proven: 
EU' electromagnetic fields vibrating at about 30 to 100 hertz, even if they're 
weaker than the earth's Reid, interfere wiUz the cues tlwl keep our biological 
cycles properly timed: chronic stress and impaired disease resistance result. 
Second, the available evidence strongly suggests that regulation of cellular growth 
processes is impaired by electropollution, increasing cancer rates and producing 
serious reproductive problems. Electromagnetic weapons constitute a third class 
of hazards culminating in climatic manipulation from a sorcerer's-apprentice level 
of ignorance." 

That was the firm conclusion in 1985, after ten years of study. Andwhat's the 
conclusion after ten years of experimentation upon U.S. citizens (or is it subjects 
now) who, history demonstrates, are thought of as so many "rats" in the 
cryptocracy's maze? 

In the late 1970's, while the military was vigorously denying the very existence of 
bioeffects from electromagnetic-field exposure, Dr. Robert Becker writes, "such 

111 Bec:br, Robert 0., and Selden. Cary; Tht Bod; EJ«tnc, Elltdnnn~~g~wtisnt And Tht Foundation of Lik, , William 
Morrow. New York. 1985. 
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bioeffects were actually being explored as potential weapons -- weapons with the 
enormous advantage of being totally silent and imperceptible ... 

"The EMP [electro-magnetic pulse] concept has been extended through the 
development of devices that generate EMP pulses without the need for nuclear 
explosions. Such devices could be deployed for use against enemy command and 
control centers or against aircraft in order to produce failure in electronic 
equipment A derivative of this program is HPM (high-powered pulsed microwave, 
a system producing intense, extremely short pulses of microwave. Several types, 
ranging in frequency from 1200 MHz to 35 GHz with powers up to 1000 
megawatts, are being tested. These are also being considered for potential use as 
weapons against human beings. 

"A report derived from the testing program of the Microwave Research 
Department at the Walter Reed Anny Institute of Research states: 

Microwave energy in the range of 1 to 5 GHz, a militarily important 
range, penetrates all organ systems of the body ad thus puts all 
organ systems at risk. • Effects on the central neiVous system are 
considered very important. The testing program, begun in 1986, is 
divided into four parts: 

(1) prompt debilitation effects; 

(2} prompt stimulation through auditory effects; 

(3} work interference/ stoppage effects; 

(4) effects on stimulus-controlled behavior. 

The report goes on to state, "Microwave pulses appear to couple to the central 
nervous system and produce stimulation similar to electrical stimulation 
unrelated to heal" It appears that HPM is capable of altering behavior in the same 
fashion as Delgado's electrical stimulation. 

'1'he production of cognitive and behavioral alterations by HPM," Dr. Becker 
writes, "is a sledgehammer effect in comparison to the subtle alterations produced 
by ELF fields. 

According to an 1982 Air Force review of biotechnology, ELF has a number of 
potential military uses, including "dealing with terrorist groups, crowd controL 
controlling beaches in security at military installations, and antipersonnel 
techniques in tactical warfare." The same report states, "[Electromagnetic] 
systems would be used to produce mild to severe physiological disruption or 
perceptual distortion or disorientation. They are silent, and countermeasures to 
them may be difficult to develop." 

Becker's protest is rare among qualified research scientists. "A new class of 
weapons, based on electromagnetic fields, has been added to the muscles of the 
military organism," he said. "The C31 [command control, communications, and 
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intelligence] doctrine is still growing and expanding. It would appear that the 
military may yet be able to completely control the minds of the civilian 
population." 

Exhibiting unusual courage for a man in his position, Dr. Becker cautions: "I have 
made no attempt here to review in any detail the relationship between military 
considerations and the hazards of man-made electromagnetic fields. This 
complex and dangerous situation lies outside the scope of this book, except for an 
indication of how the political policies derived from it have effectively hampered 
the public recognition of the hazards. In my opinion, the military establislunent 
still believes that the survival of the military organism is worth the sacrifice of the 
lives and health of large segments of the American population. "137 

The ayptocracy wants us to caD it Non-Lethal Weaponry or No-Kill Warfare. More 
appropriate is the tenn Invisible Weaponry or Warfare. It began to be used on the 
common man in the 70's, after it was announced that the Soviet's were caught 
ml-handed, beaming microwaves at the U.S. Embassy in Moscow. Oddly enough, 
they'd been doing it for over twenty years, triggering cancer, heart problems, 
cataracts, and emotional stress among Embassy staff and employees and either 
nobody cared, or nobody noticed. 

It was while sweeping the embassy for bugs, they said, that security personnel 
detected a microwave beam aimed straight at the embassy in 1962. These sweeps 
are usually frequent, and technology which can detect microwave radiation goes 
back to the 40's or earlier. Supposedly, the reports say, the Pentagon and the U.S. 
Intelligence Community became "alarmed at the possibility of neurological and 
behavioral effects" this might have on diplomatic personneL in 1962. Then they 
took a wait-and-see posture. They kept the knowledge secret from the suffering 
embassy staff for 12 more years. 

It wasn't that the cryptocracy did nothing. The CIA launched Project Pandora, 
which was aimed at understanding the Soviet's motives for the microwave attack. 
The extensive investigation which was Pandora revealed the Soviet's had been 
doing research in the area for years, concentrating their studies on the emotional 
and mental effects of microwaves. 

By the summer of 1965, a Pentagon-affiliated think tank, Institute for Defense 
analysis, convened a special task force to replicate Soviet experiments and analyze 
the problem. Or so the official history goes. The Defense Advanced Research 
Projects Agency (DARPA) began experimenting on rhesus monkeys with 
microwaves at Walter Reed Army Research Institute. The results are still classified 
Top Secret, but from duplicate studies we have learned that microwaves cause 
profound effects on the central nervous system and have changed behavior in 
rhesus monkeys. 

m Becker. Robert 0 .. Cross Currms. Tarcher. Los Angeles. 1990. 
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At a summit meeting at Glassboro, New Jersey during June, 1967, President 
Lyndon Johnson asked Soviet Premier Alexi Kosygin to halt the Moscow Signal. In 
1969, leading microwave scientists gathered at the University ofVrrginia Medical 
College at Ridunond for a three day symposium on Biological Effects and Health 
Implications of Microwave Radiation. Microwave authority Dr. Karel Marha of 
Czechoslovakia declared that microwave bioeffects included pains in the head and 
eyes, fatigue and overall wealmess, dizziness and vertigo, poor night sleep, 
irritability, fear, hypochondria, tension, depression, inhibition of intellectual 
functions, and decreased memory. Yet, most of those at the symposium ignored 
the subject of human bioeffects. Radomline Research biophysicist Dr. Allan H. 
Frey was more than interested, However. Frey had detennined that humans could 
actually hear pulsed microwaves at frequencies ranging from 300 to 3,000 
megahertz. 

But, it was not until Jack Anderson broke the "Moscow Signal" story in 1972 that 
the public learned the truth about the insidious new possibilities for controlling 
the minds of millions. Several months after Anderson's microwave column, the 
Soviets accused the U.S. of irradiating chess wizard Boris Spaasky with electronic 
devices, causing him to lose a championship match to Bobby Fischer. On 
February 7, 1976, the Los Angeles Times quoted U.S. Ambassador Walter J. 
Stoessel, Jr., as telling his staff that the microwaves could cause leukemia, skin 
cancer, cataracts, and emotional illness. Stoessel himself was reportedly suffering 
from a mysterious illness resembling leukemia which caused bleeding in the eyes 
and nausea. Two of his predecessors at the embassy died of cancer. According to 
National Security Advisor Zibnew Brezhinski, U.S. embassy personnel in Moscow 
suffer the highest cancer rate in the world. We can only assume that the Soviets 
have now, at least, stopped bombarding the embassy. Project Pandora still 
remains classified. 

The U.S., of course, was not as ignorant about the potential use of microwave 
weaponry as it appeared. In 1957 the CIA and Pentagon began a project known as 
River Styx which revealed the decade long effort to coordinate various Pentagon, 
corporations, university and intelligence agencies and at the same time keep the 
lid on their intentions. 

The code name River Styx, was taken from Greek mythology. The newly dead 
souls of ancient Greece had to ford two streams before they were admitted into 
Hades. The first, the River Lethe, erased all memory of having lived in the minds 
of those immersed in its waters. The second, the River Styx, baptized the newly 
deceased Greek, making the soul "dead forever" and admitting it through the 
gates of Hades. 

"Should developments in this type of weapon be undertaken and should they 
become known to the public, charges from public and foreign sources that this is 
an atrocity weapon may be made and should be anticipated." Thus, naturally, 
when the cryptocracy began to leak the fact of their now operational capabilities in 
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the 90's it was in terms of "non-lethal", kindly warfare, anti-terrorist and mob 
control technology. 

But, with ghoulish humor, the creators of the River Styx Project had the last 
laugh. Supposedly the first invisible weapons design, River Styx was conceived as 
a way of stopping the Soviet Cavalry as it launched an overwhelming tank attack 
against Western Europe. Large microwave dishes mounted on half tracks would 
be secreted in the woods and would triangulate the advancing Soviet anny while 
on the move or while bivouacked. This, the documents said, would:" grossly 
degrade bodily functions" of "the brain, the testes, the eyes, and like organs." 

Further, the creators of these weapons claimed "there are paraphysical advantages 
that may accrue to the country and allied nations from the early realization of 
military applications of these effects." According to one Pentagon study, the Anny 
conducted microwave experiments which produced third degree bums on the 
"subjects" at the Medical Research Lab at Fort Knox, Kentucky. General Electric, 
building on its earlier independent developments of antipersonnel microwave 
weapons, participated in Project COMET which researched the psychological 
effects of EMR. These projects spanned the EMR spectrum from radiowaves to 
microwaves. 

River Styx, however, may have been just one of the many dummy projects backed 
by the cryptocracy. As Fletcher Prouty told us: "Whenever the CIA was supporting 
some important secret project, it would fund a number of dummy projects which 
looked just like the real one on the surface. They were thinking twenty years 
ahead, even before the Freedom of Information Act They knew that they were 
going to have to 'come clean' on things, and they wanted to have enough dummy 
projects in their files so that the public would never learn about the real ones." 

We learned from a prominent European microwave scientist (employed by NATO 
at the time of our interview, she asked to remain anonymous) that the supposed 
River Styx "barrier weaponry" could be defended against simply by covering the 
body with aluminum foil. At your own peril you might try putting a piece of foil in 
your microwave weapon and you '11 get a graphic if dangerous demo of how 
microwave's bounce off of metal. The River Styx mircrobeams never would have 
penetrated the tanks against which they were designed to defend. 

"A powerlul radio signal that may be affecting human health has been monitored 
in several Eugene (Oregon) locations and in the air three thousand feet above the 
city," proclaimed the Eugene Register-Guard on March 26, 1978. "The source of 
the radio signal is unknown." thus came to light news of the first electromagnetic 
biohazard suffered by a major population center in America. 

Shortly before the Register-Guard printed that, a middle-aged Eugene man, 
Walter Deposkey, came down with symptoms remarkably similar to those 



Operation Mind Control 426 

attributed to microwave sickness. He noted a strange vibration emanating from 
within his home. He heard voices. He could not sleep. He suffered burning of his 
cornea. University of Oregon industrial hygienist Marshall van Ert, called to 
investigate Deposkey's complaints, suffered the same symptoms in the man's 
home. Disturbed, van Ert recruited several local engineers to investigate. The 
engineers measured an unusual radio signal they determined was capable of 
producing potential biohazards. After dogging public health agencies to 
investigate further, van Ert broke the story to the papers. 

The Eugene Signal was described as a radio frequency pulse at 4.75 megahertz, 
1,100 cycles per second, recorded within at least two local homes as well as 3,000 
feet above the city. The signal's strength was rated at five hundred thousand watts 
-- ten times the FCC AM licensed limit The signal extended as far away as the 
next town, Corvallis. 

One-hundred-fifty documented complaints about the signal prompted Governor 
Bob Straub, Senator Mark Hatfield, and Congressman Jim Weaver to demand an 
EPA investigation. A data analysis by the State Health Department's Radiation 
Control Section suggested "probable cause" linking the complaints to the strange 
frequency."' was surprised," said Clifford Shrock, a Textronix, Inc. radio 
frequency analyst who had written CIA and NSA electronics manuals. "'' d never 
seen anything like it before." 

Reactions to the story flooded in from around the world. Calls came in from 
people telling similar stories about their own distant areas. Several calls came 
from technicians offering their hypotheses about the signal, suggesting a possible 
link to secret weapons radiation. The people of Eugene began to learn about 
Electromagnetic Radiation (EMR) biohazards in a hurry. 

No one, however, could get to the bottom of Eugene's problem. The FCC's 
Enforcement Division Assistant Chief, Richard Smith, laid the blame squarely on a 
naval transmitter at Dixon, California - the "Dixon Duck". Van Ert and others 
disputed this conclusion. The Navy denied it When the EPA technicians finally 
arrived, they decided no real problem existed and denied that there was any 
mystery signal. Van Ert, Shrock, and others strongly disagreed with them. They 
had felt the signal and had measured it But, after holding a cursory press 
conference, the EPA investigators returned to their Las Vegas headquarters and 
dodged reporters. Then the investigation folded. 

While some of the citizens of Eugene, Oregon said they continued to suffer from 
the signal effects, the Eugene Signal remained an official mystery. Marshall Van 
Ert left Eugene after he began to suffer from the EMR symptoms. YEars later he 
remained convinced he was victimized by secret IW radiation and a government 
cover-up. 

The people of Eugene weren't the only ones complaining of EMR biohazards in 
the mid '70's. Similar symptoms were reported in such places as Timmons and 
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Kirland Lake in Canada. These effects were linked to an alleged Soviet radio 
broadcast dubbed "the woodpecker" by amateur radio operators. These effects bear 
a strong resemblance to the biohazards inherent in Invisible Weapons like the 
electromagnetic pulse (EMP) which was then under development by the 
Pentagon. Although the people of Eugene didn't know it, both the U.S. and the 
Soviet military had been working for years to perfect the use of electromagnetic 
frequencies as psychological weapons. 

On October 14, 1976, radio communications throughout the globe were disrupted 
by powerful radio waves emanating from the Soviet Union. The broadcasts 
appeared irregularly and varied between very high and very low frequencies. When 
the U.S., Canada, Great Britain, and the Scandinavian countries protested the 
broadcast, the Soviets apologized, blaming the disturbance on "experiments." But 
then the nature of the wavelengths changed and huge electromagnetic standing 
waves formed, thousands of miles long, penetrating the earth and extending up 
into the ionosphere. 

Due to its characteristic sound, the signal was dubbed "the woodpecker." The 
sound ham radio operators heard all over the world can be replicated by tapping a 
pencil on a table at between eight and fourteen times each second. The 
wavelength was traced to alleged "Tesla generator" experiments in the Soviet cities 
of Riga and Gomel. The standing waves stretched down both coasts of North 
America and along the Eastern frontier of the Soviet Union. 

The "woodpecker" has been blamed for subsequent shifts in weather patterns 
resulting from altered trade winds. The change of winds created a drought in the 
western U.S. with severe effects on farming and the economy that year. Several 
agencies feared that such standing waves might well have caused the 
disintegration of ships, including oil tankers in the Atlantic. But their potential 
effect on human beings caused even greater concern.138 

111 On~ 1919, at/M Jmmw Bar in~ Colorodo, I 1fWt G man elr:J INS a mtl$llr at "Rmtt* 
Y...ow"". (His nGrtV is lllilhlwld b, his ,.,uat.) Whm 1w tultled about , 6k I /old him t1bou1, GdwtriUI'es promoling 
lhil book on t1 II10IId lour. NMI ,.oppe, in tiro« dtlp, rapo~wkd lo "'' inlomtDiion about mind c:omoi IIJiiiJ «ttwr ~( 
or htmor. & IINlS most mtltllr of iDd tmd his ~ SUI'J1ri;s«J me. 

"A lrimd timed melo ~ ,_, llw insith ofllw supfi(JMI NORAD tiUifliiJrin, I think It's mlkd CJw,mtw 
NoutUin oubide Colorado Spritp, roe rwwr "-n llwre in , bod,. NOfll, ehtlt I do is som«Nnp liltit ehtJt has b«n 
Cllll«J 'llslral ptOj«tion' or 'out ofbodllnnJel', • lw aplainaJ. •rs ~ diiTrtr'm from ehtlt Pria or s-n did in that 
lfOWhUiaml supportld ~ ~ cxpniJrw1~ at Slimlorrl Raeardl lnslillJIL 

"W«l, I eft out of, bod, tmd suddml, I IINlS insitk 1M NORAD lumlll in1ith llw mt:JU1Uin. A Weft off 
tmd IIINlS !roan, bvpped bJ St»1W ra,. M 1/houf!N IINlS Tm de«// /'I ,_.,.II« b«:k lo "-bod,." leas-of t1 lol of 
tlditliq. W171'11irw ligNs b/inJtirw, sirms bJaritw, securq guords rtnU'IIiw tn'OU1fl1 ll1ih _,ons cocJral. 

'7hm this orw S«Vrllll cNV comes up lo - tmd Ginu St»1W ldnd of tkt1itY Di me up "''- rm trapped, ttetzr 
1M ailing of this ll.ttnft. & mHis 1M IM/bQcf tmd sqs, -abzg. You am WI him 110· /l's just tl1'fiJIIwr orw of tiro« 
sl«rJtHI/otrs. 'And~ I IINlS b«:k insith tr11 bod,. 

Ahr lhDt /lhougN Gboul ehtlt rd ,_,in orw room off this ll.ttnft. r d .-n ~ htlV or6s sliK:ItJ«< on top of 
«<Ch ollwr ,_ ~ siud biqcW Ws. And I m~liud lhot ~-bfilw usa/ in on~ elich IINlS 

tk:sigrwd to inlfzwrn G loall M«Jitm II011WIDMre in Florido. LDIIr I SQil) G pic:luJw of G Tala gmnviDr tmd llloolta/ just. 
tmM slildtal up Ws. 

"I think our S«nii}OWIIUiwnl has St»1W m~IIJud Rogns /Jtdurologia to rorbol US,. lw said. ·rd •to lrtJp 
IOU ra«nrh JOUT .rond bool: • 

JlhougN it fDOUltl t. d«Jw to put a rrumbrr of rnno~-w-rs to eort lor 1M BiR of RigN:s lor G ~ tmd 
Dgtlinsi/M ~· (Of~ rd sN1 '- to do al/1/w fo/JOfll.up rD«<1'Ch to lf"Dff' ehtJt lhq Slltl1.) So, I mil«/. 
Sean, 1M famous~~ eho hod~ in 1M SRI proj«:L I ashd him to tYJ~«~t 1M,_, inside 1M 



Operation Mind Control 428 

Fonner Pentagon think-tank researcher, Lowell Ponte wrote in the late 70's: "The 
right kind of radio transmissions alter the planet's magnetic field ... The giant 
rivers of wind in the sky, like the jet stream, tend to follow that magnetic field. So, 
when you bend it or when you begin creating giant standing waves in the 
atmosphere, as our government knows they've been doing, you bend those wind 
currents, and where they go the weather goes." 

Just as the human body's nervous system operates electromagnetically, so the 
Earth has an electromagnetic "aura" which, scientists claim, can be altered to 
produce dramatic weather shifts. In fact the earth's ionosphere oscillates at 
approximately the same frequency as human brain waves making it a perfect 
"carrier" off which EMR radiations (in the brain wave range) can be bounced 
without any change of frequency. 

The relationship between the electromagnetosphere and the EM basis of the 
human body can be exploited as a strategic weapon. Everyone has experienced 
mental and emotional shifts during changes of weather. Imagine the power open 
to those who, by flicking a switch, could control the earth's atmosphere and 
change not only the weather but the brainwaves of entire populations. 
Cryptocracies around the world know that a strong pattern exists correlating 
geophysical phenomena and political disturbances, health, and mood swings. For 
these reasons the "woodpecker" gained a lot of covert attention. 

Sounds and even words can be made to appear within the human brain when 
broadcast from EMR neurological controls at a military base. Brainwave 
entrainment, coronaries, strokes, and epileptic seizures can also be triggered by 
remote control. One 1976 DIA estimate was labeled: "recommended reading 
material for those consumers who have an interest in. the application of 
microwave energy to weapons." An Army report, Analysis of Microwaves for 
Barrier Warfare, describes the use of the microwave band to control populations. 

Although few would appear to know it, the French have used invisible 
wavelengths to control crowds for years. A fonner U.S. intelligence officer even 
claims that the Nazi's used a "frenzy machine" to stir up crowds at Hitler's 
Nuremberg Rallies. The French crowd control "sirens" use various inaudible 
sounds which throw people into terror and cause loss of bowel control en masse. 

We must remember that Richard Hehns may very well have had such weapons in 
mind when he testified before the Warren Commission on June 19, 1964. Then 
Deputy Director for Plans at CIA, Helms warned: "Current research indicates that 
the Soviets are attempting to develop a technology for control in the development 
of behavioral patterns among the citizenry of the USSR. in accordance with 
politically detennined requirements of the system. Furthermore, the same 
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technology can be applied to more sophisticated approaches to the 'coding' of 
information for transmittal to population targets in the 'battle for the minds of 
men.'" In future chapters we'll examine evidence that the U.S. cryptocracy is 
advancing along the lines of this supposed Soviet plan. 

Since the 'SO's both the Soviets and the U.S. were covering up their knowledge of 
invisible weapons. When we originally interviewed the legal counsel for the State 
Department's Disarmament Agency in 1980, we heard him claim ignorance of 
such weapons. He furthennore said that such ideas were "speculative and 
futuristic." History has shown, beyond doubt, that State's counsel was lying and 
had, in fact, possession of materials concern.ing invisible weapons. Certainly, he 
was aware of the Soviet amendment to SALT ll which proposed banning of 
infrasonic and electromagnetic weapons designed to affect biological targets. 

There is hope however. Just as with computer hacker's and their demonstrated 
ability to "outsmart" government systems, an underground physics network acts 
as a perpetual thorn in the side of the invisible warriors. 

In the 1970's and '80's, colorful characters such as Bob Beck of Los Angeles' 
Biomedical Research Associates flew back and forth from Washington to Eugene 
to Canada sharing findings and investigating the "Oregon Signal", the 
"Woodpecker" and other suspected government environmental aimes. Members 
of this loosely-lmit network shared their information freely and were concerned 
about the debilitating aspects of the invisible war on the mind. 

A fanner military intelligence officer, Lt. CoL Thomas E. Bearden, USAF (Ret.), 
publishes Specu/Q, a magazine devoted to "psychotronics" and "bio-energetics." 
these two words describe what amounts to the electronic amplification of 
telepathy and what has heretofore been called ESP. Bearden is not just a 
concerned amateur, he is an experienced scientist who has several of his 
psychotronic weapons papers on file at the Defense Documentation Center 
outside Washington. The story of his fight to publish a book on the subject of 
psychotronics and bio-energetics, The Excalibur Statement, is as full of 
cloak-and-dagger intrigue as an Ian Fleming Thriller. Bearden's book was due out 
in 1978, but was "mysteriously" delayed again and again. During the time he was 
preparing the manuscript for publication, the underground lore says, one by one, 
the members of his "network" met strange fates. 

One member of Bearden's network was Ira Einhorn, an aide to Congressman 
Rose, Einhorn wrote: 

During the time that Alexander Solzhenitzyn was making the 
transition from his native land to his fortress in New England, he 
uttered a prophetic statement about the Third and Fourth World 
Wars. In essence, he said that the Russians had won the Third World 
War and that the battle was now shifting from physical combat to 
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combat of the mind ... the Fourth World War involves the struggle for 
the human mind itself.1Jg 

One day police raided Ira Einhorn's apartment. During the search they found the 
long dead body of his fellow researcher and girlfriencL Holly Maddux, in a locked 
trunk in his closet. The body had been dead so long it was mummified. While the 
downstairs neighbors had heard a woman scream several years before, there was 
no physical evidence to link Einhorn to the murder. But murder charges were 
filed and he was hied and convicted in abstentia. 

While on $45,000 bail, bond of which was posted by a Canadian liquor heiress, 
Einhorn made an impassioned plea to the press and friends. He claimed that he 
was being framed by the CIA.. Fearing that he could not get a fair trial, Einhorn 
disappeared and has been underground for the past fifteen years. Three times he 
has been seen, in Ireland and Sweden. Each time he escape capture. 

Ira Einhorn traveled in intellectual circles. He was definitely "a dangerous free 
thinker" -- dangerous to someone, and with such a passionate curiosity coupled 

· with a brilliant mind, perhaps dangerous to many. Maybe most dangerous to 
himself. 

He was deeply connected with Michael Murphy of the Esalen Institute as Wllliam 
Irwin Thompson records in The Edge of Historg140

• He was friends with 
physicists, among them, David Bohm, Fred Wolf, Peter Maddux, Fritjof Capra, 
Heinz Pagels and Jack Sarfatti. He was in fact, Sarfatti and Wolfs literary agent at 
one point. He counted among his acquaintances Astronauts Buzz Aldrin and 
Edgar Mitchell, Psychic Uri Geller, writers Martin Gardner, Arthur C. Clarke, 
Arthur Koestler, Elaine Pagels, Adrija Puharich. George LeonarcL and author and 
publisher Steward Brand, at least one knight - Sir John Whitmore, radical 
investment broker Jerry Rubin, actor/author and mariner Sterling Hayden, UFO 
author and computer scientist Jacques Vallee, f11mmakers Steven Spielberg and 
George Lucas, and EST founder Werner Erhard -- among many of the 
cognoscenti. In fact he was, as one friend said, "the central network coordinator 
for all the most radical new-physics ideas. He sent out frequent packets of 
information, and this was before Internet. One of his netowrk, a leader int he 
E-zone today, said, "Knocking Einhorn out effectively killed the disbibution of the 
new-physics information." 

Einhorn was in the thick of the students of Tesla technology, remote viewers and 
those who were at the time doing research under a project named SCANATE, a 
pet project of then President Jimmie Carter. Carter had created the project for 
remote-viewing of military targets (especially submarines) by psychics and 
intelligence reports led the executive to believe we were lagging behind the 

"' In Einhorn, A Dislurbing Cornmt~~Wtui. Co-Ewlution Quartr:rly, Wmtcr 1977-78. 
,.. William Irwin Thompson. The EdJie of Hist01JI, 
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Soviets in such research and development Everyone was thinking Invisible 
warfare. 

To give you the idea of the "dangerous free thinking" that was going on in 
Einhorn's circle. SARFA1TI'S /UUMINAT/, appeared on the internet in 1992. It 
mentions Einhorn prominently. Physicist Jack Sarlatti141 reports: "HI remember 
correctly, Brendan ( O'Regan, one of the moving forces at Stanford Research 
Institute (SRI) in that day) and I went with Uri (Geller) to his hotel room where I 
met Andrija Puharich. Sir John Whibnore and, perhaps Ira Einhorn ... I startled Uri 
by asking him if he could trigger a nuclear weapon by psychokinesis. I later found 
out from Ron McRae (author of Mind War.s) that some of our intelligence people 
were greatly concerned about that possibility. I may have initiated that concern ... " 

Later Sarlatti says: " Fonner Naval Intelligence Officer and Jack Anderson reporter 
Ron McRae told me that the Navy had been fooled by phony data on 
remote-viewing of Soviet submarines because someone had leaked the actual data 
to phony psychics. McRae seems to have omitted this story from his book. .. 
Barbara Honegger said that policy decisions on the basing of MX missles were 
made by the Reagan staff under the belief that remote-viewing worked. Harold 
Chipman believed that it worked and told me that he had used it successfully in 
his business ... " 

At the height of his popularity, while Einhorn was working with Charlie Rose and 
quietly negociating with the U.S. and Czech governments in an effort to gather 
their support and collaboration in the creation of a Nicola Tesla museum in the 
country of Tesla's origin Serbo-Coatia (then Czechoslovakia), while he was at the 
same time, promoting a movie on Tesla starring Orson Welles, as part of an 
International Year of Tesla, the dead body of his girlfriend turned up ·in the large 
which had her name on iL Einhorn said, she went to the store one day and never 
returned. In the closet with the trunk were other containers possessing her 
clothes and personal items. 

Holly Maddux disappeared during The International Year ofTesla. The movie 
Secrets Of Nicola Teslo was to have it's premiere in Prague to coincide with the 
opening of the museum. There would be patents shown that had never been seen 
in public. Tesla inventions which had never been seen would be built in minature 
to demonstrate some of the wonderful unlmown and miraculous inventions of the 
Serbo-Croatian. Tesla had practically invented the Twentieth Century single 
handedly. He'd invented radio, microwave broadcasting, electricity broadcasting, 
the alternator and the dynamo. And he'd invented the Wheatstone bridge ­
Scientology's E-meter and the polygraph's galvanic skin response monitoring 
device. Tesla invented so many things that when he died during the Second World 
War, the Secret Service cleaned out his room and the hotel safe of all his 

It! Jack smtti, SARFA 11T'S ILL1JMlNA Tl ( I looG li1Dt lllrit!Nr! ~ rough book fii'OPO$IJI ouJliring tJw 
frimds Sarfotli INS inlroduatd 1D bsJ llw irPsibk lorcG of- IDMIJ- llw bbrrlbiililfimiJIJ! Earth Waldilr's Soc:Wt,JJ Wed., 
12 Aug, 1992, 20-.59, Internet (mondo 2.32.1 
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belongings. He dreamed things up which have not yet been applied. And he 
believed that Albert Einstein and all his physics was a dead-end, like Newton's 
turned out to be. At the end of the Nineteenth Century Tesla knew about an 
entirely different physics which Einhorn's friends were (and still are) on the verge 
of discovering. ( One must remember that Sigmund Freud's best pupil, Wtllhebn 
Reich, was sent to prison, and had his books banned for 60 years, when he 
stumbled upon something he called "OR") 

Sarfatt:i says he and his friends were: 

... channeling the new physics from the future. Our basic themes since 
the early 70's have been: 

1. Quantum nonlocality essential for a physics of consciousness as 
well as paranormal. Present-day quantum mechanics is only an 
approximation for 'dead' matter. Life introduces a really new physics 
that Penrose in his new book Shadows of the Mind calls •oR• physics. 
Fred Alan Wolf and I explained it as quantum 'star waves' from the 
future to the present in addition to the more familiar quantum waves 
from past to present. Ouantum waves act within spacetime but exist 
beyond spacetime and are able to directly connect widely separated 
events in spacetime. Indeed, such quantum connections between 
different parts of our brains are needed for ordinary consciousness 
and for memory as well as for anticipation of future events. 

2. The future causes the past and gives meaning and purpose to the 
past and to our existence. I call this the •destiny matrix" (the title for 
my memoirs). 

3. Time travel to the past is necessary for our universe to exist. The 
fact that latest data from Hubble telescope shows that the universe 
may be only 8 billion years-old when we see stars that aie 16 billion 
years old tells us that our ordianry ideas about time are in serious 
trouble. 

4. We are in contact with higher intelligences from the future that use 
advanced quantum technology that breaks the speed of light barrier 
to communication. .. 142 

What would happen if this were the common belief in the early '70's. Nicola Testa 
seemed to be in agreement with this kind of thinking. So, what if, suddenly, 
Nicola Testa was all the rage? People would begin to re-examine this eccentric 
hermit's designs and theories. Maybe the Soviets and the Western Intelligence 
goons flipped a coin to see who would shut Einhorn's folly down. It only cost one 
beautiful young woman's life. That was cheap, thinking of all the oil that could be 
pumped one day longer, just one day longer, another drop of oil out of the ground 
before the new "free" energy device was discovered. 

1~ JACk Sufatti, Intercepted e-mail bio from Sufatti to Hondo2000 «lilur Wes Tb>m15, Oct 30 - 17:06:55 1994. 
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That may sound far fetched, but one has to scratch one's head over how many 
know how little about Tesla. Knowledge of the history of alternating current could 
be dangerous to the egos of the men I met who were executives of Southern 
California Edison. They graciously took me on an overnight bus tour of their 
ingenius nuclear/hydro system in Southern California. It was truly a beautiful 
adventure. I was amazed to see the lakes near Pine Top being filled by water that 
only the day before had fallen thousands of feet to a holding lake at the foot of the 
mountains. the water was pumped up to the top lakes again with the ever 
constant current of elecbicity generated cautiously by the atomic reactors at the 
five San Onofre plants. 

The limitation of nuclear power, it seems, is you can't tum it up or down. Once 
you tum a nuclear reactor on, it produces a constant flow of electricity. So, in 
order to supply the extra power demanded by Southern California's air 
conditioners in the summer, water is pumped up and stored as energy in the high 
lakes, to be released through the long-ago-paid-for hydro-elecbic stations that 
used to power Los Angeles, It costs nothing since the nuclear power plants 
surplus energy was not needed during off hours. This way, at peak demand time, 
the extra power is there in controllable quantities. The valves are opened and the 
small turbines begin to generate power from the falling water. 

Before I knew all that, on the bus winding its way from the desert floor to the 
High Sierra's, the Southern California Edison Public Relations flack did what he 
had to do. He passed out mugs and baseball caps with the SCE logo on them and 
begged us to watch the mandatory video he had to show us on the history of SCE. 
Of course the name of the company was Edison, so, it didn't matter to me that 
when Edison's D.C. systems couldn't keep up with Westinghouse /I'esla's A.C. 
systems SCE made the switch to the better way. But the video didn't seem to 
aclmowledge that Thomas Alva Edison -was the promoter of Direct Current and 
Tesla the inventor of Alternating Current. Westinghouse backed Tesla's better 
system and the better system won out in the marketplace. But Edison was 
remembered and Tesla forgotten. Why? 

I asked the tycoons of S. Cal. industry- the SCE's biggest consumers, all except 
me, who had been invited on this trip, if they lmew about Nicola Tesla. They 
didn't. I drew blank stares. One said, "Who?" I then asked the director of the tour, 
the PR guy from SCE, how come he didn't have anything to say about Tesla. And 
he didn't lmow who Tesla was. 

Could this be why Einhorn had to be put down, smudged, smeared, or framed? 
Maybe it was so important that people not educate themselves about Tesla that an 
easy t:arget was taken like so much meat in a trap, to keep Einhorn's mouth 
occupied with his legal defense, or to lock him away behind bars, where he could 
not have access to his dangerously free thinking network of friends? 
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Jack Sarfatti says it more dispassionately than most people who lmew Einhorn. 
Without 1m owing all the facts, without trying the case. Sarfatti puts it straight and 
simple, stating the facts, but allowing Einhorn the benefit of the doubt, repeating 
his former agent's side of things: "Einhorn claimed he was innocent and was 
framed by the KGB." Others said he claimed he was framed by the CIA. It could 
have been either or both. 

The question remains, was he framed, and if so, by whom? Did Einhorn have a 
motive to kill Holly? In a preview of the public opinion we've seen with the OJ. 
Simpson trial, Einhorn was reported as having abused girlfriends previously. He 
was not lmown to have murdered any before. To anyone's lmowledge he hadn't 
killed anyone, perhaps even any thing, before. One witness said that he was 
"sadistic" with animals. The "animals" turned out to be one incident in which he 
tried to persuade someone to take a cat into the shower with them. 

So,who else had the motive to kill Holly? 

It would have to be a good frame. There would have to be a lot of circumstantial 
evidence. The shadow of a doubt had be planted to succeed in locking Einhorn up 
for a good number of years. Even if he eventually proved his innocence, even if 
someone came forward and confessed to the murder, the charge of murder would 
be useful to discredit these emerging Yuppie cum New Age Dangerous Free 
Thinkers who were dabbling in new physicis. If Einhorn was tried for murder, he 
didn't even need to be convicted, many of these wierdos would be drawn into the 
testimony. 

But, if Einhorn didn't have a moment of homocidal madness, if Holly was killed 
by someone else -- for the purpose of framing Einhorn and tarnishing the 
reputation of his whole social millieu, it could have been Soviet, British or U.S. 
Intelligence agencies. 

Einhorn was naive about politics. He was a utopian visionary who hoped for a 
world with unmetered energy. Toward that end he was freely exchanging 
information on little known Tesla technology with Invisible warfare potential, He 
was knowledgable about independent Tesla research around the world. He was 
hobnobbing with the remote viewers at SRI, and Mossad "agent" Uri Geller who 
was believed to be capable of erasing computer tapes and to possess other 
menacing mind-over-matter talents. And he would give patents and diagrams and 
unpublished technical reports to anyone who requested them. With hindsight, 
Einhorn told friends, some of the people who requested hard-to-get Tesla papers 
from him may have been working for foreign intelligence agencies. 

Let's leave this to other researchers to examine the documents Einhorn was 
circulating and the state's case against him. The primary question today might be, 
what was being suppessed that Einhorn was coming close to? Probably whatever 
it was twenty years ago is now public knowledge. 
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Einhorn's name came up recently in conversations with other people who'd 
known him: Wes Thomas, editor of Mondo 2000, and Regie Siberski, a nationally 
recognized researcher of mind control and non-ionizing radiation. I did not bring 
up his name, I'd only talked to him once on the phone, nor did I know Einhorn 
knew these two. When I spoke with them over the summer of 1994, Thomas was 
in California and Siberski was in Pennsylvania. Both appeared to hold Einhorn in 
high esteem for his knowledge of Invisible Weapons technology. Both expressed 
their belief in his innocence even though he had already been convicted in 
abstencia of first degree murder. 

Ira Einhorn remains underground (if he's still alive) and the area of his research, 
Tesla technology, remains largely underground too. Research of declassified KGB 
files on Einhorn would now be a timely project as would a thorough roundup of 
physics and teclmology reports which add up to Invisible War. 

Sarfatti offers more insight into the climate of those times among these brilliant 
people: At a conference in England, Sarfatti was introduced to a "sprightly 
Englishman", Dennis Bardens, who said: 

-or. Sarfatti, may I take you to dinner'r Fred Wolf was there and be 
suggested I go with Bardens. We had a good dinner of duck in cherry 
sauce at the Blue Boa Inn. After dinner, over brandy and cigars, 
Bardens leaned towards me with a conspiratorial wink and said: 
Tirst, I want you to know that I am a cabalist. • After a dramatic 
pause he continued in a more officious tone: -or. Sarfatti, it is my duty 
to inform you of a psychic war raging across the continents between 
the Soviet Union and your country and you are to be in the thick of nr• 

Now, it would appear, with the collapse of the Soviet Union, the whole world is in 
the thick of this psychic war - and apparently most of the mind controlling forces 
are aimed at individuals and the masses. Only a few get to play with the beneficial 
aspects of the new psychotronic technology. 

In late October, 1994 a mission of the space shuttle was flown to "look at the 
ozone layer," which it was said had a hole in it About the same time the first 
HAARP signals were broadcast from Alaska, which pumped radiowave energy into 
the ozone layer, following Nicola Tesla's fifty-year-old plan. 

HAARP143 stands for High Frequency Active Auroral Research Program, a project 
which will build the world's largest high frequency (radio) transmitter. 
Construction began in early 1994. The first stage of completion corresponded 
with the shuttle mission. From HAARP documents reveal: 

The HAARP is to ultimately have a HF (High Frequency) beater with 
an Effective Radiated Power (ERP) well above 1 gigawatt 
(1,000,000,000 watts) on the order of 95-100 dBW, in short, the most 

IAI Clare Zickuhr. NO HAARP, 5316 Sborccrat Dr .. .Aochorage, AK. 99515 (907) 2.48-8189 
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powerful facility in the world for conducting ionospheric modification 
research ... 144 

The Soviets, operating at higher powers than the West, now have 
claimed significant stimulated ionization by electron-impact 
ionization. The claim is that HF energy, via wave-particle interaction, 
accelerates ionospheric electrons to energize well in excess of 20 
electron volts (eV) so that they will ionize neutral atmospheric 
particles with which they collide. Given that the Soviet HF facilities 
aie several times more powerful than the Western facilities at 
comparable mid-latitudes, and given that the latter appear to be on a 
tlueshold of a new wave-particle• regime of phenomena, it is 
believed that the Soviets have crossed that threshold and are 
exploring a regime of phenomena still unavailable for study or 
application in the West ... ws 

From the DOD (Department of Defense) point of view, however, the 
most exciting and challenging aspect of ionospheric enhancement is 
its potential to control (control is underlined) ionospheric processes in 
such a way as to greatly improve performance of C3 ( military 
abbreviation for Command, Communication and Control) systems (or, 
to deny accessibility to an adversary).148 

A key goal of the program {HAARP) is the identification and 
investigation of those ionospheric processes and phenomena that can 
be exploited for DOD purposes, such as outlined below: 

• Generation of Extrememly Low Frequency ELF waves ... to 
provide communications to deeply submerged submarines. 

• Geophysical probing to identify and characterize natural 
ionospheric processes ... so that techniques can be developed 
to mitigate or control them. 

• Generation of ionospheric lenses to focus large amounts of HF 
energy ... thus providing a means for triggering ionospheric 
processes that potentially could be exploited for DOD 
purposes. 

• Electron acceleration for the generation of m (infra red) and 
other optical emissions ... that could be used to control radio 
wave propagation properties. 

• Generation of geomagnetic-field aligned ionization to control 
the reflection/scattering properties of radio waves. 

161 Conlract spec. no. SS-HAARP.02 dated 3nl90. Mdion U.l. 
~~ Contnct specification no. SS-HMRP-02, dated 3n190, ~eetion 3.1 . 
WI Contnct no. $-HMRP-02 cWed 3nl90. Section I. 
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• Oblique heating to produce effects on radio wave propagation 
at great distances from the heater, thus broadening the 
potential military applications of ionospheric enhancement 
technology. 

• Generation of ionization layers below 90 km to provide radio 
wave reflectors ("mirrors•} which can be exploited for long 
range, over-the-horizon. HF NHF !UHF surveillance 
purposes ... a\4? 

Although HAARP is being managed by the Air Force and Navy, it is a 
purely scientific research facility which represents no threat to 
potential adversaries and would therefore have no value as a military 
target.148 

Electromagnetic systems that could be affected by HAARP 
operations at either of the sites could include high-frequency 
communications, FM radio, mobile VHF radios, wildlife trackers, 
citizen band radios, hand held transceivers, UHF communications 
equipment, VHF radio telephone systems and television.* 

The fmal Environmental Impact Statement was dated well after the contract had 
been awarded to ARCO Power Technologies, Inc. (Elsewhere, we've noted the use 
of the ionosphere as a "reflector" of brainwave frequency range signals for the 
purposes of "entrainment" of an entire geo-political group.) Is the meaning of this 
Tesla technology what Ira Einhorn was about to make public? And what's this 
really going to be used for? Probably something we haven't yet realized. 

There is much to be uncovered about the dark thoughts of the cryptocracy -
broadcast into your mind or nol Investigative journalist, Rita Hill says, "This is a 
dangerous time. We might need some journalistically nonstandard approaches. 
We are probably being fed some disinfonnation. There are also very real 
possibilities of being mind-controlled or killed. Or, as (Gunther) Russbacher told 
me: 'Keep in close contact with your networks'." Is it unthinkable that the U.S. 
cryptocracy would attack a physics network the same way it attacked the civil 
rights and anti-war movements of the Sixties?" 

One would expect to see a lot of bodies piling up in front of the doorway to 
multi-dimensional space and time, or in front of the safe that keeps the blueprints 
for a portable cold fusion reactor, or in front of the shoebox that holds the plans 
for the levitating automobile and transport engine. Remember the slaves that 
buried the Pharoah. 

Anybody who gets their hands on some multi-dimensional thing better watch out! 
They might rule the world. And God forbid they put it into the public domain so 

1" Contnct no. SS-HAARP-02 dated 3/2190. 
•• HARP PACT SHEET, 11/4193, ~ 2. 
•• HAARP Record of Decision. Pinal Environma~tallmpact SQtemcnt. 10/18193. ~ 14. 
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everybody could have one. That would really make this time and place obsolete. 
Even the metaphor is dangerous. Control mind, control thoughts, control the 
future. A place for everything and everything in its place - especially for the 
undisciplined masses. 

Clever spychologist and cryptoligarch, Timothy Leary150 said: 

-rhere are two aspects of this social conditioning regime which are 
not stressed by Skinner. To make it work. the government 
psychologists must have total control over the citizenry and there 
must be TOTAL SECRECY and censorship. 

In order to condition human behavior it is necessary to get control of 
stimulus early in childhood and to maintain this control throughout 
life. In the psychological utopia, conditioning would be accompanied 
by continual psychological testing so that special aptitudes and 
potential trouble-makers are identified early in the game and special 
conditioning programs set up, tailored to eliminate individual 
eccentricity. 

Political conditioning requires not only control of reward and 
punishment, but also secrecy ... Psychological conditioning 
techniques cannot be employed in a democracy where minority 
groups can campaign against and publicly discuss the techniques 
being used, and publish the answers to screening tests, where 
citizens have the right to avoid the conditioners. 

Thus the proposals of B.F. Skinner cannot be implemented except in a 
state where the government has total control of communications ... 

Omar V. Garrison151 cut it closer to the bone as early as 1967 when he said: 

In the totally controlled society of George Orwell's nightmarish novel, 
•1994•, the individual had one retreat that Big Brother could not 
penetrate: "Nothing was your own except a few cubic centimeters 
inside your skull. • 

But in America today, even those -mw centimeters" of cranial refuge 
are under siege ... 

The dangers of psychotechnology are real. They are being applied. We were 
warned twenty years ago, in 1974, by the U.S. Senate, 93rd Congress, 2nd Session 
which investigated and published a book which too few have read. It was entitled 
Individual Rights and th£ Federal Role in Behavior Modification: 

Dr Robert L. Schwitzebel of the Clarmont Graduate School in 
California, published a book. PSYCHOTECHNOLOGY: Electronic 
Control of Mind And Behavior in which he describes the present and 

1M Timothy Leary, Exr;Pqdtolow, SllneeM'ace Press. San Pnncilco, 1977. 
ut Omar V. Carri.lon. SPI Gwti1m~. Lyle Stulrl. New York. 1967. 
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potential use of brain implants and radio telemetry to monitor human 
emotions, location and behavior, and to control behavior in various 
fields, including law enforcement. 

Dr. Barton Ingraham and Dr. Gerald Smith, both recent recipients of 
Ph.D. degrees from the School of Criminology, University of California, 
Berkeley, advocated the permanent implantation of radio receiver­
transmJtters in the brains of parolees (See Issue in Criminology, Fall 
1972). they envision the automatic monitoring of parolees by a 
computer which, if it detected a probability of misbehavior would 
deliver an electrical shock to his brain and/or by calling the police to 
his radio-monitored location. 

Prisons aren't obsolete, but the thought of hardwiring the mind is. There's no 
need for it anymore. Why bother with Delgado's neurological plumbing approach 
when the already existing neurological wiring can be accessed. 

Within the cryptocracy, for years, there was much talk of the "UDA" machine, a 
Soviet instrument supposed to be used for "medical therapy." It finally surfaced 
when the cryptocrats of The New World Order thought about using it on David 
Koresh at Waco. It was reported they decided not to use it since there was nothing 
but a small lab model in the U.S. at the time. 

The UDA was presented as "an instrument for the treatment of neuropsychic and 
somatic disorders wherein light, sound and VHF electromagnetic field pulses are 
simultaneously applied by means of a control unit to the patient's central nervous 
system with a predetermined rate. The light and sound sources exert an adequate 
and monotonous influence on the patient's visual analyzers and auditory 
analyzers respectively." The patent claims beneficial effects in the treatment of 
"inorganically caused neuropsychic and somatic disorders, such as neuroses, 
psychoses, insomnia and hypertension." 

The UDA gives off pulsed radio fields which, it is said, can produce strong 
behavioral effects. The device was developed by L. Rabichev at Kishinev, Soviet 
Armenia and is covered by U.S. Patent number 3,773,049.152 The U.S. Navy 
received a small UDA instrument under an exchange agreement with the USSR. 
Dr. W. Ross Adey, Dr. Eldon Byrd, John Richards and Howard Sukenik tested it 
from July 19, 1982 to July 26, 1983 at the V.A. Medical Center at Lorna Linda, 
California. 

Adey, Byrd and company made a preliminary evaluation of the device using 
animal models. Rabbits were tested first, but they slept most of the time. The 
scientists then tried the tests on cats with better results. They tried the RF and 
light and pulsed sound and heat in all combinations and one at a time. From the 

w U.S.I>epvtment of the !Uvy, Possi* &h~Morul Elf«b Prodt.lced b, PuJ.l RF Fillds from SotiWJ "Lido" 
M«<iml 'l'hmzpJ lrrsln.mttm, ,.,wied tt.ough FOIA request to Armal Vactorian. Mlrch. 4, 1994. 
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report it would appear that the LIDA device lulls animals to achieve "sustained" 
states of sleep. It is apparent that the LIDA might be a good tool of conditioning. 

While the Adey/Byrd study was brief and inconclusive the researchers reported 
their interest and revealed the government's interest in a vast area of mind 
control research in the electromagnetic spectrum: 

We regard this study as of great importance in pilot studies of 
behavioral effects of environmental electromagnetic fields. The 
principal investigator is continuing data acquisition and analysis with 
the aid of a part time undergraduate student, Mr. Howard Sukenick. 
without whose help much already accomplished would remain to be 
done. Mr. Sukenick is paid from other research sources, but funding 
for an effective development of this project is essentially nonexistent. 

It is therefore requested that urgent consideration be given to an 
evaluation of the importance of this project, with a view to its 
renewal and expansion. to pemlit examination of a vast range of 
potentially important new field parameters not available with the 
LIDA instrument. Automated data analysis is becoming imperative to 
permit intercession and intersubject comparisons. Computer facilities 
for this work are readily available in our laboratory. but require 
appropriate personnel support ... 

Paul Stonehill of the Russian Ufology Research Center in Tarzana, California 
stwnbled along a parallel path.153 His work in translating UFO and related stories 
from Russian led him to find a 1991 article entitled "Once More About Psychic 
Weapons" which was authored by A.V. Kalinets-Bryukbanov who Stonehill calls, 
simply, K.B. 

K.B. stated that the first (and only) experimental model of a device to 
program the human intellect and psyche had been accepted by Soviet 
authorities back in 1965. It was to be improved, using the K.B. design 
for a .system of -remote operational influence. • ... 

However, to cover up the device's existence the Soviets did what Col. Prouty says 
the U.S. cryptoaacy routinely does, they ran a group of phony projects that 
looked like the real one. K.B. revealed that the "much buzzed about psychic 
weapons do e:xisl" Stonehill said several articles he found reveal that the research 
was done secretly in a small basement beneath the old botanical gardens of the 
Odessa State University that was the site of the Bioelectronics Scientific Research 
Department 

Test animal brains demonstrated that when cellular transformation 
resulted from fields of especially destructive force. manifestations of 
paranormal abilities like clairvoyance became possible. When the 

Paul Stooehill. Soft« Pst1cNc W~. Fa.t2 Maaazine, February 19!14, p. 70. 
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animals were treated with these fields , they could literally see 
through opaque baniers ... 

Trouble was the effects were short-tenn because the brain tissue disintegrated 
uncontrollably. But in totalitarian societies it's ''never mind"-- keep doing the 
research. Why not try humans? 

... experiments had been conducted on prisoners sentenced to death. 
The results were the same. 

Later, using the experimental data, the researchers located 
phrenological zones of the skull, responsible for motivating various 
actions of the research subjects. The topography of these zones was 
recorded in special tables. These experiments helped Soviet 
scientists find the most effective electromagnetic pulse field 
operating conditions to reproduce cerebral tissue that would create 
the planned personality characteristic. For example: 

Giorgy V. was a draftee in the Soviet Army, assigned to serve in 
Afghanistan. His health was quite good. After his assignment with 
the spetznaz forces, Girgory became indecisive. He became obsessed 
with the feeling of near death. He believed that he was not 
•sufficiently strong spirituallY' to enforce his 'international duty' (that 
is how the Soviets described their occupation of Afghanistan). 

So, he and a group of other draftees who, like him. had their doubts 
about service in Afghani.stan. were sent to Odessa to undergo the 
treatment and develop their will power and sense of duty. Magnetic 
emitters were place on his superciliary arches, the parietal area, the 
cranial arch, and the cervical vertebrae area. Grlgory was treated only 
once. 

Later that year, Girgory took part in a dangerous military mission. His 
spetznaz unit was withdrawing from a kishlak, an Afghan village. the 
kishlak was SUirounded by dosshmany, or gueriillas. During a fierce 
gun battle, Girgory protected the commanding officer with his body. 
For his valor, the fallen soldier was awarded the highest Soviet 
military honor, the star of Hero of the Soviet Union. 

Stonehill says K.B.'s article ended strangely: 

Having observed the brain as a receiving and transmitting device, the 
researchers bad discovered certain wavelengths. Using them, it is 
possible to influence various sections of the brain directly, reproduce 
cerebral tissue, and then provoke unusual changes in the qualities of 
individual psyches. Then one can program anything into the brains of 
experimental subjects. 

Just like in the movie Brainstonn? 
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In the fall of 1991, Stonehill reports, a two-partMolodaya Gvardia magazine ran a 
story under the heading "psychotronic weapons." The article said: 

The weapons are dreadful. A human being becomes a silent cog in a 
hellish machine of all-devouring fear. An individual's brain can be 
suppressed, activities curtailed, and such an individual will submit to 
any wish of the operator. 

Emil Fedorovich Bachurin, the author of the article says that the first experiments 
to create psi-weapons were conducted by the infamous Dr. Mengele in the Dachau 
concentration camp. Stonehill says Bachurin is not the only one to mention the 
Nazi foundation of psychotronic weapons. He writes: 

In July of 1993, Alexander Ryskin, a Russian journalist, published an 
article in Los Angeles, (Almanac Panorama), in which he claims that 
the Nazis were able to use such technology to hinder the Soviet 
offensive in Berlin. in May of 1945. 

Ryskin reported that the Soviets captured the results of Nazi research, and 
brought them to the Soviet Union, but more documentation to substantiate the 
claim was not presented. Ryskin's anonymous source told him that no serious 
research took place after World War Two in the USSR until1979. Stonehill says: 

But Akimov of the CNT ( Center for Non-traditional Technologies) 
indicates that the research started in the early 1960s. This is 
confumed by K.B.; 1965 is specifically mentioned. 

Stonehill says that several types of psi-oruzhiye (psychic weapons) are mentioned 
in the new open Russian literature. The first is infrasonic radiation (around 7 
hertz in frequency) which tortures and kills. The second type, he says, is high 
powered microwave and ultrasound. These affect the nervous system and induce 
insomnia. Highly portable weapons of this type have been developed. The third 
type of psychic weapon involves several systems: chronal emitters, chronal guns, 
pyramid sets and cavity structures. The destructive effect with these Buck Rogers 
devices is achieved by their emission of tiny particles, chronos, or time carriers. 
Stonehill reports that such beams can penetrate everything on their way to 
tearing to pieces the human aura. 

Should the energy circle (aura) around an individual's head be hit, the 
mental abilities of the targeted person will be affected. Such weapons 
do not kill, but maim the psyche. 

The fourth type, Stonehill says, is the most dangerous for human targets, but 
unlike some of the others it's safe for the operator. 

It is known as a psi-amplifier, and psi-data unit. And generators they 
truly are. What is being generated is electromagnetic radiation that 
confoons to brain frequencies. 
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Such radiation, when directed at the target, can be used to suggest 
and transmit anything, any feeling -love, hate, euphoria, anger, 
anguish. and suicidal thoughts. The psi-generators can be used for 
remote transmission. 

A few decades ago researchers at the University of Southern California and 
University of Dlinois began an experiment to confirm the longstanding theory that 
the brain stores memories by "hard-wiring" new connections between groups of 
neurons in the brain. Recently the culmination of the research was announced by 
Psychobiologists Richard F. Thompson of USC and William Greenough of the 
University of Dlinois. They reported several independent approaches to the 
question, all of which indicated that memories are hooked up just like ordinary 
wiring. 

In the Summer of 1989, Dr. Michael Persinger of Laurentian University in Ontario 
Canada announced he'd invented a helmet that could induce UFO abduction 
experiences. The helmet is reported to be able to send specific frequencies into the 
hippocampus area of the back brain. During such stimulace, volunteers report 
UFO abduction experiences, out-of-body experiences, and a wide range of altered 
states of consciousness.154 

In the hands of even a well-functioning democratic republic this new arms race of 
supposed "non lethal weaponry" would be a menace to our freedoms, but in the 
hands of a ayptocracy it threatens to tum our world into a zombie planel 

We can only tum to global Cybernetic Samisdats like the Internet for hope. 
Eventually the buth shall surface. Will it make us free? Researchers, mount your 
indexes! Hackers, mount your computers! Journalists, file your FOIA requests! 

New hardware will continue to overwhelm us. Perhaps the solution to our human 
dilemma, like the ultimate solutions in. Silicon Valley resides with a thorough 
understanding of software. Intimately all problems are opportunities. It's all in our 
mind. 

Tat Pile ArclJM, Tbe Kozmos Compula' BBS. 
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30 
TUNED TO A MENTAL RADIO? 

Had I not heard this story, in essence, from a half dozen other survivors of this 
kind of mind control, I would not have included it here. But we video taped a 
nwnber of credible people talking about these "voices" in their heads. People who 
experience this are what Martin Cannon referred to in his book The Controllers as 
''wavies." Cannon wrote: 

Every Senator and Congressional representative has a 'Wavie11 file. So 
do many state representatives. Wavies have even pled their case to 
private institutions such as The Christie Institute. 

And who are the wavies? 

They claim to be the victims of clandestine bombardment with 
non-ionizing radiation -- or microwaves. They report sudden changes 
in psychological states, alteration of sleep patterns, intracerebral 
voices and other sounds, and physiological effects. Most people 
never realize how many wavies there are in this country. I've spoken 
to a number of wavies myself. 155 

I don't like the term "Wavie." It's a hard-hearted term which does not show any 
sympathy for the people who are suffering this way. They're suffering just as 
much as the people who have survived the so-called Project Monarch. I think I'll 
term them E-M Targets, E-M for electromagnetic spectrwn, since the technical 
possibilities exist that they are experiencing bombardment by ELF, VLF, SHF 
microwaves, magnetic waves and other radiations of the electromagnetic 
spectrum which can be modulated so that voices can be heard inside the head, 
without implants, without speakers. 

And of course, this is the hardest thing for public agencies to believe, since, 
heretofore if you report voices in your head, you would be automatically 
diagnosed as schizophrenic -- a catch-all term of the past I must admit that when 
I listened to Mary, the frrst E-M Target I met in 1980, I had a hard time taking her 
seriously. (The biggest secrets are kept by public incredulity.) 

But then I heard another and another and now, the E-M Targets would appear to 
outnumber other types of mind control survivors. One man on the east coast is 

1~ Martin Cannon. Tlw CAJnbo/Jers, ~ Wmds Research. Santa Barban, Ca., 1993 
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pursuing his case in the Supreme Court. Another man is one of the best mind 
control researchers and lecturers around. A woman on the West Coast was driven 
near death by the voice. Another woman functions very well, but with great 
difficulty. Many of these survivors keep in touch with each other through The 
Freedom of Thought Foundation. Every day I read mail from another new person, 
saying basically the same thing. 

One of the survivors sent me this book. I've written to the author, supposedly 
Dorothy Burdick, through the vanity press who published her book. I tried the 
phone number and a query on the network. Burdick has dropped out of sight. 

I'm going to excerpt enough of her book to give the reader an idea of the kind of 
thing the E-M Targeted survivors are describing. Burdick describes it very well: 

In the beginning I only had to deal with two Voices at a time," 
Dorothy Burdick156 said. "Out back, when I was riding, it seemed that 
one Voice was using a receiving machine and that the other was 
projecting to me and watching me at the same time. They were 
probably trying to make me think that the gadgets involved were 
simple ... 

My sleep at night was constantly inhabited by Voices. I had difficulty 
sleeping. I kept trying to imagine what it was anybody could possibly 
want with me. I tried to hang on to the idea that I was really alive, 
comparatively well, and, above all, sane. I was well aware that I might 
be certifmbly insane. 

I read in the paper about a volunteer university group who got 
admitted to well-known mental health centers across the country 
because they heard voices. They volunteered. Seven were diagnosed as 
schizophrenics and one as a manic-depressive. Once incarcerated, they 
convinced psychiatrists that they had recovered and were discharged 
as schizophrenics in remission. I reflected that of the people who 
consult psychiatrists about one-third are helped, one-third stay the 
same, and one third get better on their own. I decided to get better on 
my own. 

During times when I was out riding my horse in the ring the Voices 
would tell me that they were going to make my horse stumble and 
then he would indeed stumble. Since he was sure-footed and the ring a 
good working base, I was reasonably certain that they could reach his 
nervous system but I couldn't understand how. It seemed like a direct 
hit. Unfortunately for me, the only way that Shiloh and I could 
communicate were through our mutual physical actions, his voice, my 
voice, voice tones and eye contact. 

IH Burdick. Dorothy, Such Things Are Known, Vantage Press. New York. 1982 
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One day I was walking from the stable to the house and got such a 
blow to my solar plexus that it knocked me to my knees. there was 
nobody around to see me except from the air. Evidently I had 
displeased someone, or so it seemed to me at the time. I took quite a 
ribbing from the Voices. As I walked between the house and the stable 
they would count in cadence to my stride as I marched in my boots ... 

Looking back on it I fmd it hard to describe my emotional state. I 
didn't believe in spirits. I believed in men and their ability to cause 
harm. It seemed as though someone was out to get me and I thought I 
knew why. I was thinking in terms of the horse trainer's personal 
vanity and the locale as a government security situation. I knew the 
(Linear) Accelerator (which was next door to Burdick's home) was 
valuable and the most powerful in the world. Seemingly it was wide 
open to the public and almost anyone could go in there, yet it must 
have some protection. The United States simply couldn't afford to 
have it unprotected. The only people that could be seen were so-called 
groundsmen, who were students, patrolling on their motorbikes. Yet 
right next door was the source of particle beams and many other 
things necessary to weapons research. 

There was nothing consistent in the approach to my person, or any 
pattern of events that I could identify. The main purpose at which 
"they" were succeeding, seemed to be to upset me emotionally and 
throw me off balance continuously. I felt that I was being put through 
a course in directed thinking. I never had an opportunity to have a 
blank mind, and have not since. I was never alone in my mind. I tried 
to be objective about myself, but I realized that I was so subjectively 
involved that there was no way that I could get outside the situation 
to defuse it. I took every stimulus as it came, becoming increasingly 
apprehensive. I rode on sand in the ring and trod on emotional sand 
out of the ring. It was heavy going ... 

... The information I could find indicated that the visual capability of 
computers was limited (1980's). There is a machine FOCUS (Flexible 
Optical Control Unit Stimulator) which projects hallucinatory images 
directly onto the retina of the eye. I felt that I was seen by human eyes 
because of the quality of the personal remarks I received during 
previously private routines. At times it seemed as though my own 
thoughts were bounced back to me, randomly, using different pitches 
of the same Voice. I read that some efforts had been made to simplify 
visual images into a primal sketch to cut data processing, and that 
visual mapping techniques had been applied to auditory, olfactory, 
tactile and probably emotional states. The brain was referred to as an 
information sink, and the vocal chords as a transmitting terminal. 



447 W.H. Bowart 

Machine voices transmitting signals could be received by human 
sensory organs. 

In physics and biophysics every feedback system became a 
servo-system. In education the teachers were making flow-charts. No 
human activity was unaffected by the application of computerese. I 
was aware that every computer, robot or communications system had 
to have a human mind programming and making it operate. I knew 
that the completed program could be automatic and self-correcting. An 
example is the psychiatrist who invented Parry, a man who bet 
heavily on horses and was stalked by a vengeful bookie. Psychiatrists 
at a tenninal receiving the program could not decide whether they 
were interviewing Parry or a live, paranoid patient. 

At times I was overwhelmed by feelings of not being able to cope with 
the information explosion, especially under the circumstances in 
which I was living. I felt that the machines taking me over were 
directed by some evil, human enterprise. 

At a sophisticated level programmers have to be advanced 
mathematicians, physicists and electrical engineers. They have been 
joined by the psychiatric and psychological fraternity. The best 
academic thinking seems to be that human intelligence is tied to 
human perceptions. Computers have been responsible for improved 
medicine and rehabilitation, but they have been developed in 
universities and think tanks with government money supplied by the 
taxpayers. The results are often classified. 

Machines are tireless, unlimited by a nervous system or emotions. I 
did not like what I could feel emotionally, sense physically, and 
understand intellectually. I felt both played upon and outplayed. The 
whole environment was both personal and terribly impersonal. I had 
nobody I could talk to except myself, and I was not sure that I was in 
any condition to take on the job of both internal and external listener 
and judge. I was demoralized, confused and receiving too many inputs 
which were activating too many memories. I could not seem to sort my 
information effectively. I was like the sorcerer's apprentice sweeping 
faster and faster to stem the tide. I was no computer which could 
switch through its vast memory to separate accuracy from error. I was 
a human being lost in a miasma of emotion, imagination, grasping for 
workable strategies, and all the while the Voices kept telling me. 
"You' re programmed. You're programming yourself. We're 
programming you." When I put myself to the task of sorting it out, 
they told me. "You're fucking your head off." 
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Like most victims, especially those who were experiencing the mental radio effects 
in the early eighties, Dorothy did a lot of research trying to figure out what was 
happening to her. 

Mail and phone calls coming into, or going out of, the United States 
are screened by computer. Until1976, the government consistently 
denied intercepting private communications of American citizens. The 
National Security Agency admitted that this was the purpose of 
Operation Shamrock in Senate Select Committee hearings chaired by 
Frank Church in the aftermath of Watergate. Operation Shamrock's 
immediate purpose was to uncover foreign involvement in the 
anti-war movement occurring in the Untied States, but this also 
caused domestic surveillance. 

National Security Agency headquarters at Fort Meade Maryland are 
larger than the CIA's and more modem than the Pentagon's whose 
computers work with difficulty. NSA bas the most powerful computers 
in the world. Its annual budget is estimated in excess of one and a half 
billion dollars. Nobody is sure what they spend. 

Senate Select Committee hearings brought out the fact that NSA bas 
the capacity to monitor domestic telephone traffic. The bulk of 
interception and acquisition of information sent by citizens is being 
done by the intelligence community at selected points in long-lines 
telecommunication system in this country and around the world. 

My husband had been using phone and telex communications for 
many years. At a later date a woman friend would ask me if my 
husband bad perhaps involved me in the harassment I was suffering. 
In my ignorance I denied it, but I have come to see that she was wiser 
than I. Her husband bad been involved in RAND, a government think 
tank ... 

One of the things E-M Targeted individuals are frustrated with is trying to answer 
the question "why am I targeted?" One of the survivors brought this out in the 
documentary inteview we did with him. He said, "It's pointless to try and figure it 
oul It's where everybody goes wrong. Perhaps one is targeted because they were 
in the wrong place at the wrong time. You can't figure out why they chose you." 
But Dorothy, writing at this early date could not help but try to identify her mind 
watchers . 

... 'They' seemed to be reading over my shoulder. I thought they might 
be using a new technological toy involving powerful ocular vision or 
even periscope vision. I was positive that what I was rereading was 
being read by others concurrently. I was jumpy, but not really 
frightened ... 
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... The voices did follow me to Foothill (a school at which Dorothy 
lectured). I was nervous enough facing a class of adults without being 
heckled by some unknown agency while spouting forth on nutrition. 
As I tried to concentrate on my notes and illustrate on the blackboard, 
an insidious male Voice had no trouble penetrating the ear that was 
nearest to the open doorway. I grasped the lectern securely and gazed 
into the eyes of my students, and desperately, tried to concentrate on 
what I wanted to tell them. As a last resort I asked them if there were 
any questions. They rescued me. In the give and take with the class, I 
could almost forget that an unknown Voice, unheard by the class, was 
making indecent suggestions or commenting on my perfonnance in 
less than complimentary terms. To my great relief, class was finally 
over. The students even came up and asked some more questions. 
They seemed to think that everything was normal. 

I was angry and militantly decided to try and make a call to the San 
Mateo Police Department from campus. I used an outdoor booth and 
then realized that I could be heard by someone outdoors. I went into 
an office and asked to use their phone. When I reached the police 
department they wanted to know what I was calling about, and I told 
them I was being harassed. the woman who took the call seemed 
excited and gave me a Woodside number to call when she discovered I 
was a resident of that town. I did not write it down because I was 
suddenly horrified to realize by their comments that my tormentors 
were listening to me even indoors on campus. This was a new and 
terrifying idea to me because although I could accept the fact that the 
house was bugged, and that my car was bugged, it had not until this 
point occurred to me that I could be reached anywhere. The action 
and the emotional tension . 

I left the office and still had the presence of mind to walk around the 
central part of the campus looking for a van that might contain radio 
equipment. There was such a truck here, but it was closed and I 
couldn't see into it. The Voice that bugged me during lecture always 
came from one side or overhead. I had become accustomed to the fact 
that at home I was living in a goldfiSh bowl, and that anyone could 
very easily guess my location from the sounds that issued from the 
house. I thought an eavesdropper might account for my discomfort, 
and I knew that there were some that were powerful enough to pick 
up sound over a mile or so. What puzzled me was whether they 
actually could see me and how much. I had also considered the whole 
problem from the point of view of heat sensitivity, knowing full well 
that at nocturnal temperatures below 98.6 F, I would be warmer than 
any surface in the house, and that I would be visible in an infrared 
beam ... 
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Recently I watched a popular TV program in which people reported 
receiving phone calls from the dead. How easy it would be for 
gove··nment jokesters using satellite communications to ring their 
phones and using previously recorded voice prints, manufacture voices 
to make them think that they were talking to the dear, dead departed. 
How macabre, but sadly, how possible! The only question the 
perfonnance raised in my mind was whether this was part of a real 
government program of disinformation or whether it was just the 
bored action of some government surveillance team amusing 
themselves . 

.. .I wrote my brother, a retired naval officer whom I thought quite 
knowledgeable in the fields of advanced math and physics. I needed 
somebody to talk to who wasn't emotionally involved, and I was 
convinced that there was some kind of surveillance equipment being 
used, left over or stolen from Vietnam. 

Her brother wrote her back saying: 

There were a number of very interesting devices developed in the 
Vietnam war. Of course, I am not cleared for gossip at this point, so I 
don't know any details. The business of seeing at night has been 
around for a long time int he form of the 'sniperscope,' some of which 
have found their way into surplus. It depends upon an infra red beam, 
and was refined sufficiently in Vietnam so that it was like watching 
people in broad daylight. The type of electronic devices you mention 
are known to exist and have sometimes been mentioned in the press, 
without any details. I am not sure, but I believe that the operation of 
some of that stuff is illegal. It sounds like somebody who has access to 
military or law enforcement type of equipment. What I am saying is 
that the devices do exist. What I am also saying is that not very many 
people have access to the more refined ones."" 

In another letter her brother offered suggestions we have heard over and over as 
part of the E-M Target folklore: 

"The next time you hear your friends, wrap your head in aluminum 
foil If it is being carried by ultra high frequencies, the aluminum foil 
will shield it out. But if you get no distinct decrease in volume, then 
you must consider another source. You can even use aluminum foil as 
a direction finder. If you get positive results, put a piece of aluminum 
foil in a rack about three by two feet. Then when you hear your 
friends, hold it alongside your head and rotate. The position of 
minimum volume indicates the direction of the source." 
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This gives you the ability to triangulate. H the source should be fixed, 
you could drive around in a car and eventually pin the location down 
pretty well. I don't think that the apparent aural effects as to direction 
have much significance, if UHF is the source. Of course, you would 
probably have to have a driver while you were swinging your 
aluminwn kite around. 

ffthe above give positive results, then it may well be time to obtain a 
field strength meter which operates in the gigahertz range and will 
detect a field strength of one microvolt per centimeter and doesn't cost 
too (?) much ... The meter will give you a rough estimate on distance 
with some practice. You would be able to do things like locate places 
where it was weakest, thereby giving you an opportunity to avoid the 
nuisance. 

H you can do both of the above suggested procedures, and 
demonstrate records thereof, the chances are that somebody will start 
to listen to what you have to say. I think that the Go/NOGO bit is 
important. H you can go to some clown, regardless of status, and tell 
him, "Look I can shield the stuff out," then all legitimate muttering 
concerning psychiatrists and psychologists will cease. UHF will tend 
to have some cornering effect. You may have to manufacture a tin suit 
to wear, complete with helmet. However the simple use of foil about 
the head or even putting a bucket on your head would cause a 
detectable change ... 

Dorothy said her brother's letters were "daylight in darkness" to her. Typical to 
what the others I've interviewed say, Dorothy reported: 

I have never been so alone or depressed in my life. At first I assured 
my husband that I had a great time in Pullman. It seemed easier than 
telling him the truth. I was exhausted ... 

Early in May, 1978, I asked my brother what might have the potential 
of both X-ray and periscope because I seemed to be visible whether in 
darkness or light, and visible when theoretically I should be invisible 
to outside eyes. I explained that I was a moving target, and that it was 
a little like being, in the zoo while being one of the animals. I told him 
that I thought the point of the whole thing was to make me think that 
I was Joan of Arc and hearing Voices. I wrote," This is no simple 
matter. Whomever it is using a device which transmits sound in two 
directions and is probably very small and portable. It can be aimed at 
an individual so that the person targeted can hear the sound, but 
people near them cannot. it is either part of, or used in conjunction 
with, extremely powerlul optics. It may also have a heat sensor, and 
be used at night, because they follow me in the dark. It is so powerful 
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that noises can be heard from all over the house, and it can be 
surmised what we are doing, Very possibly it is only an eavesdropping 
device, but it's definitely two-way. It seems to have a bent-angle 
optical capability. It very possibly may have been borrowed or stolen 
from the Linear Accelerator." I also wrote that it occurred to me that 
someone on security at the university or the Accelerator might be 
playing a practical joke, and included the information that all our 
telephone conversations were heard. I told him that the equipment 
involved seemed to be something more than you could buy at the local 
radio supply house. 

I had found a report in the paper about a bizarre CIA weapons 
proposal. It recounted the CIA's search for offbeat weapons designed 
to stun enemy agents into submission with electric shock. An 
electronic net sending five shocks a second into the arms of an enemy 
agent could cause pain, but not kill healthy people. In electrically 
sensitive subjects a fatal heart attack might occur. The article did not 
tell whether anima] tests took place. I had the feeling that they might 
have done a little work on this at the university. Everything I could 
put together kept leading me right back to Silicon Valley, and that 
great national resource the all-American university. "While I was 
packing for my trip I got suggestions from the Voices about what to 
take, what to leave out, what toilet articles to include and a general 
razzing. They always seemed to be able to tell what I was doing. 

In the shower I was blitzed by their comments, generally insulted, and 
in quality, the kind that the American Legion uses at conventions 
when they go out on the street slightly smashed and goose girls with 
electric probes. I did not discuss this with my husband. If he couldn't 
believe in Voices he could hardly be expected to believe in long 
distance ray-guns. 

My husband drove me to the airport. We had Voice company all the 
way to the San Francisco terminal although my husband was unaware 
of it. I thought to myself, 'They must be doing this by car. I just have 
to last to the airport. Thank God they can't follow the plane!' 

A short time after I was settled in my seat I became aware that 'they' 
seemed to be sitting behind me, toward the rear. I thought they might 
be playing a tape with added sound effects of ice tink1ing in glasses 
and the usual air travel departure noises. The male Voice and the 
girl's Voice were discussing me in none to complimentary terms. 

'I bet she thought she was going to get away from us at the airport,' 
he said. 

'Then we have a surprise for her.' 
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He continued, 'There she is trying to act natural and relaxed. Too bad 
Dorothy. Too sad, Dorothy. You aren't going to get away with a 
thing!' 

.. .I thought, This must be costing someone quite a good deal of 
money ... II 

They followed me successfully through the hall to the bathroom and 
goosed me thoroughly in the shower. They razzed me while going to 
the john and touched me here and there with light shocks. While 
cleaning my teeth I got shot bending over, and my teeth and head 
ached. I felt as though I was in place with my clothes off, or in a 
shooting gallery with no place to hide. I steeled myself to go back to 
the bedroom. I knew their stun gun could inflict pain. I had watched 
them work on the dog, who would yelp and run away biting his behind 
and looking to see what had stung him. They worked me over from 
stem to stem. My body muscles seemed to cramp one by one. The 
sensations started as a tingling and increased in intensity to painful 
spasm. The more they applied what seemed to be higher voltage, the 
more cramping and resistance my muscles developed. H they stopped 
for a minute or two I was so apprehensive that I couldn't relax. I 
turned my back thinking I could at least protect my viscera with my 
skeleton. They worked on every muscle in my back until I was tense 
with pain. I got up and walked around. I lay on my back. I felt hot, 
and broke out in a sweat. 1 could feel my blood pressure going up. My 
heart pounded, and I knew they could kill me. At one point they 
worked on my head, and a female Voice said, 'You gave me a 
headache, now I'll give you a headache!" 

They left my head and sex organs alone, quite happy with their 
stimulation of my muscles and circulatory system. At one point I put 
the mattress on the floor thinking that they wouldn't be able to shoot 
up at me so easily, or down. I couldn't tell which. I thought they were 
down in the parking lot because I could hear people walking back and 
forth, and the Voices seemed to be coming from there. 

All the time there was a constant barrage of Voices. "Let her have it." 
"You think you're so tough." "How's that?" 

Like most people who I've spoken with in this condition, Dorothy was 
driven to take action. Where does one turn? To law enforcement 
authorities. She had already been laughed at by the locals, so she tried 
the FBI: 

I dialed the FBI office in Seattle, and a very straight-up, square-type 
Washingtonian answered. I found I was going to have trouble from 
then on, both speaking and thinking coherently because my 
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tonnentors began numbing my brain. It was a distinct numbness on 
the side of my forehead nearest the windows. I had difficulty giving 
my name and location. My speech, which minutes before had been 
clear, was slUITed. I explained that I thought someone was using 
classified equipment that had been canied over state lines to 
harassment, and that the nature of the equipment was such that it 
raised my blood pressure, caused my heart to pound, and gave me 
craps in my muscles. The agent who answered told me that he knew of 
no equipment that could do any of these things, and that I really 
ought to see a psychiatrist. I did ask him if there was an FBI man in 
PnJJman I could talk to, and he assured me that nobody would talk to 
me at all. I hung up the phone feeling beat ... 

Later, I found out that radio waves or electromagnetic energy 
emanating form one little black box at 388 megacycles causes the 
recipient to become confused and lose his memory. Prolonged 
exposure may produce insanity. At the time I had not grasped the idea 
that the same principle is easily adapted to space technology. I was 
thinking in terms oflocal events and people I had seen and a 
protective government. The whole project seemed designed to keep me 
earthbound ... 

Mter some incidents in the yard and an increasing feeling of being a 
rather interesting mouse being teased to death by a cat ... 

I had difficulty accepting the idea that my mind could be read or 
thoughts anticipated. The whole concept of one's mind being read is 
hard to believe while it is going on. It's a little like having someone 
constantly looking over your shoulder. The first reaction is to reject 
the idea and to tell yourself, "You're imagining things." Then I began 
to think of ways in which what I was about to say might be picked up 
by machine, because I tend to articulate thoughts and aspirate before I 
speak what I'm going to say. Perhaps most people do this. As I 
considered how my thoughts might be picked up before I uttered 
them, I realized that I move my throat, my tongue, my glottis and 
spirate, almost forming the words with my mouth and throat before I 
speak them. I really struggled to overcome this for a while I finally 
came to the conclusion that, although all the muscles from my head 
down to my focal chords were still, what I was thinking consciously 
was being picked up in some way. This was about the end of April , 
1978 ... 

In her notes Dorothy describes some of the most common experiences of an E-M 
Target: 
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I have been fed bad language, obscene suggestions, and alternatively 
fed a line and had it withdrawn. This is part of the brainwashing 
techniques, alternating a feeling of love with hate, or feelings of 
security with insecurity. "The most popular diagnosis of my mental 
state would have to be paranoid- schizophrenia. The manic state 
coincided with pleasurable conditioning, and the depressive state with 
pain, pressure and harassment. I realize that very few people would 
believe me because (1) the won't believe it possible; (2) they would 
prefer not to believe it; and (3) they do not know that such technical 
instrumentation is available." 

Capabilities: Can be aimed from a great distance accurately. Provides 
incredible X-ray or sonar location in the whole house. Has stun-gun 
affect, which slows thought and speech. It raises the pulse rate, blood 
pressure; can produce palpitations, heal, and seems to stimulate 
vagina, clitoris, and possibly mental pleasure centers in the brain as 
well Can also cause muscle tension and pain." 

Another entry noted that she believed that she and her husband had been the 
target of "very sensitive listening equipment." She continued noting: 

We have been subjected to subliminal conditioning by someone who 
has used it before, probably in the military. One could be said to be 
conditioned for exhibitionistic sex due to the fact that I can tell by 
comments that my husband and I are being watched." 

I have accumulated enough testimony to do another volume just on the E-M 
aspect of mind control. 
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YOU ARE BEING 

BSERVE 

Have you ever considered that, when you pick up 
a telephone and talk to the party on the other end, 
perhaps others too are listening in to your conver­
sation? Not only this-it may be recorded and ana­
lyzed as well! 

The biggest Government security agency in the 
U.S. today screens and then destroys nearly forty 
tons of recorded phone calls and other messages 
each day. This agency is neither the CIA nor the FBI, 
but the NSA (National Security Agency) . The NSA's 
budget is double that of the CIA and its headquar­
ters is in Fort Meade, Maryland. It has no official 
spokesman and issues no press releases. Its 24,000 
employees are forbidden to tell anyone where they 
work. Created by President Truman in 1952, its ex­
istence was not made public until five years later. 

Working in secrecy, the NSA electronically records 
every international phone call and telegram-then 
analyzes them by computers which check for calls. 
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31 

THE WARRIOR'S TONGUE 

John Alexander is a busy man these days, not only is he one of the moving forces 
behind PSITECH, a company that sells military developed remote viewing skills 
(RVS) to private enterprise, he is the program manager for nonlethal defense at 
the Los Alamos (N.M.) National Laboratory, an author (The Wanior's Edge), and 
a practictioner of the gem of mind control arts -- Neuro-linguistics Programming. 

Today, after 32 years of military service this retired Colonel has the responsibility 
of drawing together and nurturing many nonlethal weapons devices which could 
disable key electronic equipment, blind weapons sensors or shut off the power to 
a capital city. He has drawn upon a variety of disciplines involving polymer 
chemistry, microbics, kinetics, acoustics, electrical engineering, materials science 
and information science, just to "demonstrate their feasibility," in the burgeoning 
science called Nonlethal defense, at least so said Aviation Week & Space 
Technology. 157 

"As the concept has evolved," Alexander is reported as saying, " we have come to 
focus our efforts on antimaterial systems. If you can stop the machines of war, 
you can inhibit the prosecution of conflict" 

A Special Forces Anny man, Alexander worked on advanced weapons concepts 
including directed energy devices for most of his career. Now he's employed as a 
civilian to provide allied commanders with "options to ambiguous situations," 
including the peacetime problems of counterdrug or antiterrorist operations, 
through which, many believe, the last vestages of freedom will fall. 

Alexander's teams, Aviation Week said, are developing scenarios for using the 
broad range of technologies, while he is pushing for an even greater investment in 
large-scale modeling and simulations of non-lethal weapons' capabilties and 
long-term effects. "Each use of nonlethal weapons will depend on the situation, 
and each situation will need a coherent policy approved by senior leadership." 

'1'he assumptions applied during concept development must be broadened 
beyond conventional applications of force, Alexander said. "I believe they offer 
alternatives that go far beyond just being adjuncts to traditional military 
operations." 

u• Aoiation Week & Space Technology, p. 19-20, January 24, 1994. 
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"At their most effective," Aviation Week reported, "nonlethal weapons would 
weaken combatants before a situation turns lethal. Key to the success of 
peacekeeping is the avoidance of casualties and hostage-taking, which can lead to 
heightened tensions or outright hostilities." 

One has to think of them as they will inevitably be used, against the dissident 
civilian populations of the Allied countries. Of course a number of the non-lethal 
or invisible weapons would fall under the category mind control. 

It makes no difference to Alexander. A psycho-civilized society might be very good 
for the national security. It doesn't matter how you play the game, the important 
thing is to win. "In most wartime scenarious we are going to win," Alexander said, 
"so how you win becomes important • Take Waco for example? 

Alexander may represent the lighter side of the Army's long term PSYOPS 
campaign ... if you call psychotronic weapons the lighter side. His current cause 
celeb is to sell the "Non Lethal Weapons" systems to law enforcement agencies. 

Congressman Charlie Rose is quoted as saying, "I 've seen some incredible 
examples of remote viewing-- (Alexander's specialty) so much so that I think we 
ought to pay close attention to developments in this field, and especially to what 
the Soviets are doing. If they develop a capacity to have people mentally view 
secret centers within this country, we could come to the point where we didn't 
have any secrets.158

" Is the metaphor "when information travels at the speed of 
light there is no secrecy" manifesting? 

Ron McRae, author of Mind Wars wrote: "Early in 1981, a group of investors 
asked the congressman's help in securing Pentagon funding for an electronic 
paranoia inducer. Astronics, Inc., hoped to manufacture the 'psychic neuron 
disrupter,' which according to the investors, interferes with the connection 
between nerve cells in the brain and induces temporary paranoia. The 
psychological effect, they say, is 'similar to that of hallucinogenic drugs such as 
LSD, but transmitted electronically." The range of the existing device is 
supposedly limited, but could be extended for military applications. Rose 
submitted himself to a test of the machine, and he thinks it worked: "We don't 
know how to build the hyperspatial nuclear howitzer, but we do know how to jam 
the synaptic connections of the nervous system. It deserves some research 
money." Depite weeks of negotiations and apparent interest at the Pentagon, no 
contract was signed. The company folded a year later. 

"Rose also tested telepathic hypnosis with the help of Judith Skutch, a wealthy 
New York patron of psychic research who teaches "A Course in Mircales' at the 
Army War College. With Rose standing at her side," McRae wrote,"Skutch and 
several other psychics associated with the Army War College broadcast psychic 
"' Ron McRae,Mind Wan, The True Storg of Secret Goumtmml Res«rrr:h inJo the Militarg Polenlial of Psgdic 
Weopons, (Sl Martin's Press, New York. 198.4.) 
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'love emanations' at Speaker O'Neill from the gallery of the House, commanding 
the unknowing majority leader to tum his head left and right on command, and 
then, according to one participant, commanding him to favor public works 
projects in the congressman's districl Skutch claims the same can be done to the 
Soviet leadership, and Barbara Marx Hubbard, a noted psychologist whom the 
army consults on psychic developments, hopes to 'bombard the Kremlin with 
love, not missles.' Rose refuses to comment on the incident." 

Steve Bratcher of SKBI Research, 159 suggests that Speaker of the House, Tip 
O'Neill may have died as a result of "Non Lethal Weaponry." 

"I was given a tip by an intelligence agenl He asked me, 'Why don't you see if Tip 
was killed?'" Bratcher said. "O'Neill was sucker-punched with eletronics more than 
once,.He was told about il They turned right around, used it two or three times 
on him. He knew about il He knew that it worked. They sucker-punched him 
again. Who's to say that he wasn't killed by it?" 

Whether or not O'Neill was killed by "Non Lethal Weapons" remains to be seen. It 
is well known that pacemaker's which regulate heart patients can be stopped by 
microwaves. 

For a spook, John B. ALexander has a lot on the record -- even for a spook in the 
post Cold War era. In Military Review Journal Ll Col. Alexander described 
psychotronic weapons and telepathic hypnosis. He gazed whistfully into the 
future, toward a day when the U.S. military would have "the ability to heal or 
cause disease can be transmitted over distance, thus inducing illness or death for 
no apparent cause." 

He wrote about mind weapons which could: "give psychic ability to personnel so 
they could read documents at a distance or visualize the geographic layout of an 
enemy's distant military installation," or "to discern troop, ship, or submarine 
whereabouts." He forsaw the day when the ordinary human could use their mind 
to command an enemy to do something he would not otherwise do -- at a 
distance. Sound familiar? 

Alexander spoke of what might be the ultimate weapon of the future. (Some say 
the government spent a lot of research on Radionic weaponry.) He spoke of 
"disease projection", a technology by which the U.S. military could induce illness 
or death "especiaUy heart attacks and asphyxiation"(emphasis added). He said, 
"uncontrollable fright and fear could also be generated by mind power." He 
postulated that there would come a day when we'd have "mind alteration", which 
was "the long-distance ability to cause an opponent's mind-- say, that of a 
president or prime minister -- to grow confused and unable to function." 

m Telephone interview with the author, July 2, 1994. 
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Some of it would appear to be disinfonnation -- like when Alexander spoke of 
"psychokinesis", the ability to move physical objects" through mind power." 

One's ftrst impression would be that it all was disinfonnation, all this stuff about 
psychotronic weaponry, indeed. However it is known that the cryptocracy has 
funded fifty years of reasearch into telepathy, hypnosis, and remote viewing. And 
more than one laboratory experiment has indicated that the mind can move 
physical objects -- and even erase magnetic tape and interfere with internal 
computer signals. 

Annen Victorian, an intrepid British researcher got on Alexander's case and 
published his research in Lobster Magazine160 calling Alexander "The Pentagon's 
Penguin" in the title of his article. From that time forth, Alexander and Victorian 
were not friendly. Victorian's ariticle began: 

On April 22, 1993, both BBC1 and BBC2 showed on their main evening 
news bulletins a rather lengthy piece concerning America's latest 
development in weaponry-- the non-lethal weapons concept. David 
sbukman, BBC Defence Correspondent interviewed (Retired) U.S. 
Army Colonel John B. Alexander and Janet Morris, two of the main 
proponents of the concept 161

• The concept of non-lethal weapons is 
not new. Non-lethal weapons have been used by the intelligence, 
police and defense establishments in the past 162

• Several western 
governments have used a variety of non-lethal weapons in a more 
discreet and covert manner. It seems that the U.S. government is 
about to take the first step towards their open use. 

Victorian disclosed that Alexander was the man behind the thrust to develop 
"non-lethal weapons." He pointed out that in December of 1980 he'd published 
the article "The New Mental Battleliekf' in the U.S. Anny's journal, M/Lfl'ARY 
REVIEW which, he said, caught the attention of senior Anny generals who 
encouraged him Alexander, to pursue what they termed "soft option kill" 
teclmologies. 

After retiring from the Army in 1988, Alexander had joined the Los Alamos 
National Laboratories and had begun working with Janet Morris, the Research 
Director of the U.S. Global Strategy Council (USGSC), chaired by Dr. Ray Cline, 
former Deputy Director of the CIA 163

• Victorian revealed what he had found by 
examining the backgrounds of Morris and Alexander: 

''" Annen Victorian, Non-Utholitg, John B. Allaander, The Pmlagon's Prnguin. Lobster Maguine, June, 1993. 
" ' Letter dated 2 April. 1993, to Annen Victorian from Mrs. Victoria Aleunder. 
IG The U.S. Army Chemical and Military Police used "Novel Effect Weapons• against the women protesters at the 
Greeham Common Base. 
tCJ The United States Global Strategy Cotmcil is an independmt think tank. incorporated in 1981. ilt focuses on 
long-range strategic issues. The foWlding memehen were Clare Boothe Luce, Genenl Maxwell taylor, Gmtnl Albert 
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Throughout 1990 the USGSC lobbied the main national laboratories, 
major defence contractors and industries, retired senior military and 
intelligence officers. The result was the creation of a Non-lethality 
Policy Review Group, led by Major General Chris S. Adams, USAF 
(retd.) former Chief of Staff, Strategic Air Command 164

• They already 
have the support of Senator Sam Nunn, Chair of the Senate Armed 
Services Committee. According to Janet Morris, the military attache 
at the Russian Embassy has contacted USGSC about the possibility of 
converting military hardware to a non-lethal capability. 

In 1991 Janet Morris issued a number of papers giving more detailed 
information about USGSC's concept of non-lethal weapons 166

• Shortly 
after, the U.S. Army Training and Doctrine Command at Fort Monroe, 
Virginia, published a detailed draft report on the subject titled 
"Operations concept for Disabling Measures." The report included 
over twenty projects in which John Alexander is currently involved at 
the Los Alamos National Laboratories. 

In a memorandum dated April 10, 1991, titled "Do We Need a 
Non-lethal Defense Initiative?" Paul Wolfwitz, Under Secretary of 
Defense for Policy, wrote to Defense Secretary Dick Cheney, "A U.S. 
lead in non-lethal technologies will increase our options and reinforce 
our position in the post-Cold War world. Our Research and 
Development efforts must be increased." 

But Victorian wanted to know "How lethal is non-lethal? And he reviewed the 
specious arguments put forth by the purveyors of invisible warfare: 

To support their non-lethal weapons concept, Janet Morris argues 
that while 'War will always be terrible ... a world power deserving its 
reputation for humane action should pioneer the principles of 
non-lethal defense 186

." In "Defining a non-lethal strategy," she seeks 
to establish a doctrine for the use of non-lethal weapons by the U.S. 
in crisis "at home or abroad in a life serving fashion." She totally 
disregards the offensive, lethal aspects become available to ''rogue" 
nations. Despite her arguments that non-lethal weapons should serve 
the U.S.'s interest "at home and abroad by projecting power without 

Wedemeyer, Dr. Ray Cline (Co-Chair), Junne Kirkpatrick (Co-Chair), Morris Leibman. Henry Luce Ill, J. William Middendorf 
ill, Ad mini Thoi'Jiaj H. Moorer USN (reb!), Genrnl Richard Stillwell (rel) • Dr. Michael A. Danile (President), Dr. Dalton A. 
West (Eucuti~~e VICe President). lts Research Directors were Dr. John Alexander, Dr. Roger Fontaine, Robert L. Katula and 
Janet Morris. 
1~ NONL.ETHALri'Y; DEVELOPMENT OF A NATIONAL POUCY AND EMPLOYING NONLETHAL MEANS IN A NEW 
STRATEGIC ERA - ~ project of the U.S. Global Strategy Cuncil, 1991, p.4. Other staff members of the USGSC are Steve 
Trevino, Dr. John B. Alexander and Chris Morris. 
ta The USGSC has issued a wide variety of ~pen on the Nonlethal Weapons Concepl For example, IN SEARCH OF 
NONLETHAL STRATEGY (Janet Morris); NONLETHAUt'Y; A GLOBAL STRATEGY -white paper; nonlethality briefing 
supplement onO. 1; AND NONLNETHALn'Y IN THE OPERATIONAL CONTINUUM. 
'" IN SEARCH OF A NONLETHAL STRATEGY, Janet Morris, p.l. 
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indiscriminately taking lives or destroying property 167
, 

11 she admits 
that .. casualties cannot be avoided 168 

• ., 

Closer examination of the types of weapons to be used as non-lethal 
invalidates her assertions about their non-lethality. According to her 
white paper, the areas where non-lethal weapons could be useful are 
11regional and low intensity conflict (adventurism, insurgency, ethnic 
violence, terrorism, narco-trafficking, domestic crime) 1611

.u She 
believes that ,Y identifying and requiring a new category of 
non-lethal weapons, tactics and strategic planning' the U.S. can 
reshape its military capability "to meet the already identifiable 
threats., that they might face in a multipolar world "where American 
interests are globalized and American presence widespread 170

•
11 

The inventory of invisible weapons Victorian found in Janet Morris' "White Paper'' 
recommends two types of life-conserving technologies": 

To destroy or impair electronics, or in other ways stop mechanical 
systems from functioning. Amongst current technologies from which 
this category of non-lethal weapons would or could be chosen are: 

Chemical and biological weapons for their anti-materiel agents 
'Which do not significantly endanger life or the environment, or 
anti-personnel agents which have no permanent effects 171

.• 

Laser blinding systems to incapacitate the electronic sensors, or 
optics, i.e. light detection and ranging. Already the Army Infantry 
School is developing a one-man portable and operated laser weapons 
system known as the Infantry Self-Defense System. The U.S. Army's 
Armament Research , Development and Engineer Center (ARDEC), is 
also engaged in the development of non-lethal weapons under their 
program called -r.ow Collateral Damage Munitions .. (LCDM). The 
LCDM is trying to develop technologies leading to weapons capable 
of dazzling and incapacitating missiles, armored vehicles and 
personnel. 

When inventorying the supposed "Non-lethal electromagnetic technologies", 
Morris made no mention of mind control or the well-documented destructive 
qualities of the electromagnetic spectrum. Victorian remains faithful to Morris' 
invenntory: 

m NONLETHAUI'Y; A GLOBAL STRATEGY - WHrrE PAPER. p3. 
18 IN SEARCH OF OP err. p. 3. 
•• Victorian noted that at the siege in Waco, Tau, a "nonlethal" tectmique projecting subliminal messages, was used 
to try to influence Konsh - without effecl 
170 NONLETHAUrY: A GLOBAL STRATEGY- WHrrE PAPER. p. 2. 
171 Victorian cites: The computer data base compiled during the CWAnny's Project OFTEN, aaroining several 
thousand chemical compounds, during 1976-1983, is a most likely candidate for any chemical agents for nonlethal weaporu. 
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Non-nuclear Electromagnetic Pulse weapons 172
• As General Norman 

Schwartzkopf has told the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, one such 
weapons stationed in space with a wide-area-pulse capacity has the 
ability to fry enemy electronics. But what would be the fate of enemy 
personnel in such a scenario? 

In a joint project with the Los Alamos National Laboratories and with 
technical support from the Army's Harry Diamond Laboratories, 
ARDEC are developing High Power Microwave (HPM) Projectiles. 
According to ARDEC, the Diamond lab has already ''completed a radio 
frequency effects analysis on a representative target setw for (HPM). 

Among the chemical agents, so-called supercaustics - "Millions of 
times more caustic than hydrofluoric acid1731

'- are prime candidates. 
An artillery round could deliver jellied super-acids which could 
destroy the optics of heavily armored vehicles or tanks, vision blocks 
or glass, and Ncould be used to silently destroy key weapons systems 
174 u 

From the covert to the ridiculous, Victorian's article covered the "less lethal 
aspects" of invisible warfare. It talked about the, now widely publicized use of 
net-like entanglements for SEAL teams, and "stealthy" metal boats with low or no 
radar signature, "for night actions, or any seaborne or come-ashore stealthy 
scenario"175

• It described as "more colourful concepts" the use of chemical metal 
embrittlement, often called liquid metal embrittlement and anti-materiel 
polymers" which are supposed to be used in aerosol dispersal systems, spreading 
chemical adhesives or lubricants ( i.e. Teflon-based lubricants) on enemy 
equipment from a distance. You can just see the Iraqi tank battallions now, 
spinning their treads on the crossroads of Kuail 

Was this kind of stuff just to soften us up for the "anti-personnel non-lethal pitch? 
Janet Morris was not to be the first science fiction writer who had worked for the 
cryptocracy. Remember there was L. Ron Hubbard, Robert Heinlein, and a host of 
others in the "Philadelphia Experiment" days. 

Janet Morris, co-author of THE WARRIOR'S EDGE, was best known as a science 
fiction writer but had been a member of the New York Academy of Sciences since 
1980. She was also a member of the Association for Electronic Defense and was 

112 The British MoD is already developing a "microwave bomb". Work on the weapon is going on at 
the Defense Research Agency at Famborough Hampshire. See SUNDAY TELEGRAPH, Seprember Zl, 1992, 
partly reproduced in LOBSTER 24, p. 14. The Royal Navy is already in possession of laser weapons which 
dazzle aircraft pilots. The Red Cross has called for them to be banned under the Geneva Convention because 
the could permanently blind. 
112 IN SEARCH OF A NONLETHAL STRATEGY, P. 13. 
170 Ibid. 
m The U.S. Navy, through its Project SEA SHADOW. has already dewloped a stealth boal Like the Lockheed Fll7 A. 
stealth fighter, it leaws no radar signature- BBC, Newround, Apri128, 1993. 
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the Research Director of the U.S. Global Strategy Council (USGSC). She was 
initiated into the Japanese art of bioenergetics, Joh-re, the Indonesian 
brotherhood of Subud, and graduated from the Silva course in advanced mind 
control. She had been conducting remote viewing experiments for ftft:een years 
and had worked on a research project investigating the effects of the mind on 
probability in computer systems. Her husband, Robert Morris, was a former judge 
and a key member of the American Security Council 176

• 

According to Victorian, Morris' inventory of "Non-Lethal Personnel Weapons" 
included hand-held lasers which were meant "To dazzle," but could also cause the 
eyeball to explode and to blind the target She pushed for isotropic radiators -­
explosively driven munitions, capable of generating very bright omni-directional 
light, with similar effects to laser guns, and high-powered microwaves (HPM) -
which she revealed the U.S. Special Operations command already had as a 
portable microwave weapon 177

• 

Myron L. Wolbarsht, a Duke University opthalamist and expert in laser weapons 
stated: "U.S. Special Forces can quietly cut enemy communications but they also 
can cook internal organs 178

." 

Victorian said that another "non-lethal weapon" Morris and Alexander waxed 
poetic over was Infrasound -- acoustic beams. In conjunction with the Scientiflc 
Applications and Research Associates (SARA) of Huntingdon, California, ARDEC 
and Los Alamos laboratories were busy "developing high power, very low 
frequency acoustic beam weapons." At the same time they were exploring 
methods of projecting non-diffracting (i.e. non-penetrating) high frequency 
acoustic bullets. ARDEC scientists were also looking into methods of using pulsed 
chemical lasers. This class of lasers could project "a hot, high pressure plasma in 
the air in front of a target surface, creating a blast wave that will result in variable 
but controlled effects on materiel and Personnel." 

"Of course it's public knowledge," Victorian said. "that some governments have 
used infrasound as a means of crowd control -- e.g. France -- as they have used 
very low frequency (VLF) sound (20-35KHz), or low-frequency RF modulations 
to cause nausea, vomiting and abdominal pains. "Some very low frequency sound 
generators, in certain frequency ranges, can cause the disruption of human 
organs and, at high power levels, can crumble masonry179

." 

The CIA had a similar program in 1978 called Operation Pique, which included 
bouncing radio or microwave signals off the ionosphere to affect mental 
functions of people in selected areas including Eastern European nuclear 
installations 180(emphasis added). 

tn 
IT7 

tn 

119 

Victorian's taped converstaion with Janet Morris. March 1. 1993. 
THE WALL STREET JOURNAL, January 4, 1993. 
IN SEARCH OF A NONlEI'HAL STRATEGY, p. 14. 
REMOTE CONTROL TECHNOLOGY, Anna Keller (FULL DISCLOSURE, Ann Arbor U.S.A., 1989) p. 11. 
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Victorian thought that the non-lethal weapon concept opens up a new Pandora's 
box of unknown consequences. He discovered that the main personality behind 
NLW was retired Colonel John B. Alexander. Born in New York in 1937, Alexander 
spent part of his career as a Commander of green Berets Special Forces in 
Vietnam, led Cambodian mercenaries behind enemy lines, and took part in a 
number of clandestine programs, including Phoenix. He currently holds the post 
of Director of Non-Lethal Programs in the Los Alamos National Laboratories. 
Alexander obtained a BS from the University of Nebraska and an MA from 
Pepperdine University. In 1980 he was awarded a PhD from Walden University 
(20) for his thesis "To determine whether or not significant changes in spirituality 
occur in persons who attend a Kubler-Ross life/death transition workshop during 
the period June through February 1979." His dissertation committee was chaired 
by Elizabeth Kubler-Ross. Victorian said Alexander had "long been interested in 
what used to be regarded as 'fringe' areas." As an example of "fringe areas" 
Victorian said that Alexander had while a Captain in the infantry at Schofield 
Barracks, Honolulu, gone "diving in the Bimini Islands looking for the lost 
continent of Atlantis. He was an official representative for the Silva mind control 
organization and a lecturer on Precataclysmic Civilizations181

• Alexander is also a 
past President and a Board member of the International Association for Near 
Death Studies; and, with his former wife, Jan Northup, he helped Dr. C.B. Scott 
Jones perform ESP experiments with dolphins 182 

." 

More than just exploring the "fringes" of science, retired Major General Albert N. 
Stubblebine ( Fonner Director of U.S. Anny Intelligence and Security Command) 
and Alexander were both on the board of a "remote viewing" company called 
PSI-TECH. The company also employed Major Edward Dames (ex Defense 
Intelligence Agency), Major David Morehouse (ex 82nd Airborne Division), and 
Ron Blackburn (former microwave scientist and specialist at Kirkland Air Force 
base). 

Victorian said that Alexander's company, PSI-TECH, had "received several 
government contracts. For example, during the Gulf War crisis the Department of 
Defense asked it to use remote viewing to locate Saddam's Scud missiles sites. In 
1992 the FBI sought PSI-TECH's assistance to locate a kidnapped Exxon 
executive. 183 

JIG Walden Uniwnity, 801 Anchor Road Driw, Naples, Fl33904, USA. Waldm University considers itself a 
non-traditioml university and does oot offer any undergraduate courses to its students. 
111 The U.S. Army Command and General College, Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, issued this on 
Alexander's career. "Colonel John B. Alexander, U.S. Army Retired, manages Antimareriel Technology at 
Los Alamos National Laboratories, Los Alamos, New Mexico. His militny assignments included; Advanced 
Systems Concepts Office, Laboratory Command; manager, Technology Integration Office, Army Material 
Command; assistant deputy chief of staff, Technology Planning and Management. Anny Materiel Command; 
and chief, Advanced Human Technology, Inrelligence and Security Command." 
112 Taped telephone conwrsation with Dr. Scott Jones, Aug. 17, 1992. 
113 Taped relephone conversation with Maj. Edwanl Dames, June Zl, 1992; and THE BUll.ETIN OF 
ATOMIC SCIENTISTS, Dec. 1992, p. 6. 24. THE WARRIOR'S EDGE, Col.. John B. Alexander, Maj. Richard 
Groleir and Janet Morris, (William Morrow Inc., New York. 1990). 



466 W.H. Bowart 

PSI TECH's promotional material184 says that it specializes in "proprietary studies 
for science and industry on a contract basis." That's the way the CIA often likes il 

The material says that "PSI TECH consists of a select, technically qualified group 
of professional analysts who provide a unique data collection capability not 
available anywhere else in the world. We are a team of highly trained Remote 
Viewing specialists." Remote Viewing is a science, it says, which "has been 
validated by governmental and private scientific groups over the last two decades. 
Briefly stated, a remote viewer is able to locate and accurately describe things 
and events distant in time and space (italics are theirs.)" It says the company has 
"developed applied remote viewing into a powerful investigative tool," and it can 
"provide you with reliable information that simply may not be available via any 
other means!" 

Among the "potential applications" the brochure lists: 

• Increase understanding of natural and scientific phenomena 
• Concept development: describe alternative {often unique) 

approaches, seed ideas; help focus R&D into high-payoff pathways 
• Establish cause/effect, connectivity/linkage; discover 'hidden 

variables" 
• Quickly sort, analyze and project the most promising critical, 

enabling technologies 
• Review the key aspects of prior events, re-look accidents, establish 

the source of device or experiment failure 
• Penetrate, survey and describe locations that are inaccessible via 

any other means 
• Conceptual and detailed subject sketches;target geometries 

Among the attempts at remote viewing for hire, the company advertises: 

The Crisis Profile of Saddam Hussein. 

A large company with strategic oil interests in the Mid East wanted the remote 
viewers to look at the Gulf War's effects upon the near and far term price of oil 
and analyze Saddam Hussein himself. Psi Tech tried to look at his intent, 
motivation, and emotional and behavioral states, penetrated his war room, gather 
information concerning his battle plans, operations, force strengths, and possible 
deception schemes, and to provide a six-month general outlook for the region. 

Investigative Report: Hydrogen-based Automobile Power Plant RDT&E 

1.,. GWBAL COMPETn'NE STRATEGIES, PSI TECH, "At Work in the Mind of Science•, Box 212, Albuquerque, New 
Mexico, 87125. 1994. 
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A major auto company hired PSI TECH to peform a world-wide search for key 
research and applied engineering work related to hydrogen-powered automobiles. 
The brochure says: "We located and described engineering projects in North 
America, Japan, France, China, Germany and the USSR. Our fmal report placed 
emphasis upon the most potentially successful of the projects, and included 
sketches of prototype designs, and descriptions of essential associated engineering 
features such as turbines, flywheels, hydraulic and electric components,etc. 
(Interestingly, we determined that the most potentially successful design would 
not belong to our customer!)" 

Projected Key Technologies for Lunar In-Situ Resource Processing 

This client was a large engineering company who wanted help in selecting -- or 
creating -- the "most economical technologies with which to extract lunar 
elements (primarily oxygen) for intended use as a possible lunar base energy 
source, and as a source of propulsion for Moon-Mars expeditions. PSI TECH 
furnished the company descriptions/sketches of actual future lunar mining and 
resource processing operations, and recommendations with regard to power 
generation devices." 

• Other PSI TECH contracts are only listed by their descriptive title: 
• Enigma Penetration: Soviet Phobos II Space Craft Imaged Anomaly 
• Projected Technologies: Advanced Deep Space Propulsion Systems 
• Cladestine Iraqi Biological Weapons Facilities 
• A Relook of the KAL Flight 007 Shoot Down 
• Atmospheric Ozone Depletion - Projected Consequences and 

Remedial Technologies 
• Saint-Exupery Crash Site 
• A Technical Remote Viewing Survey of Martian Surface Anomalies 
• Joint US-Russian Remote Viewing Survey of Titan 
• Key Latin American Narcotics Transshipment Facilities. 

One source close to the company said, "a number of these attempts didn't bear 
reliable fruit" 

For $3,000 you can take a PSI TECH course and learn how to "remote view" 
yourself. In a mere 7 days of intensive training in the ''Technical Remote Viewing" 
(TM) Course developed by none other than SRI golden psychic Ingo Swann, you 
can learn how to acquire a target (i.e., person, thing, or event, regardless of 
location in time-space), set up and initiate a topical search, discriminate between 
target-associated data and imagination/personal analysis (which would probably 
be the most difficult part of succeeding at this) and learn a system by which you 
can structure "elaborate target-associated information" and several 
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"analysis-facilitating formats." One would suspect that the processes of NLP are 
put to good use here. 

Should you wish to attend one of PSI TECH's courses, the brochure says, allow an 
extra day to visit Los Alamos National Laboratory and/or the Santa Fe Institute. 

"With Major Richard Groller and Janet Morris as his co-authors, Alexander 
published THE WARRIOR'S EDGE in 1990. 185 The book describes in detail 
various unconventional methods which would enable the practitioner to acquire 
"human excellence and optimum performance" and thereby become an invincible 
warrior86

• The purpose of the book, the author's write is "to unlock the door to 
the extraordinary human potentials inherent in each of us. To do this, we, like 
governments around the world, must take a fresh look at non-traditional methods 
of affecting reality. We must raise human consciousness of the potential power of 
the individual body/mind system- the power to manipulate reality. We must be 
willing to retake control of our past, present, and ultimately, our future." 

Alexander is a friend of Vice President AI Gore's. Their relationship dates back to 
1983 when Gore was in Alexander's Neuro-Linguistics Programming (NLP) 
training ( by Wyatt Woodsmall a student of Anthony Robbins and Richard 
Bandler.) So, one would assume, most of PSI TECH's customers are government 
agencies or government contractors. 

In his book The Warrior's Edge, Alexander said that NLP was "presented to 
selected general officers and Senior Executive Service members187

" a set of 
techniques to modify behavior patterns. 188 Among the ftrst generals to take the 
course was then Lieutenant General Maxwell Thurman, who later went on to 
receive his fourth star and become Vice-Chief of Staff at the Army and 
Commander Southern Command. 11111 Among other senior participants were Tom 
Downey and Major General Stubblebine, former Director of the Army Intelligence 
security Command. In 1983, the Jedi master (from the Star War.s movie)-­
provided an image and a name for the Jedi Project. 100 

" The Jedi Project's aim was 
to "seek and construct teachable models of behaviorable/ physical excellence using 
unconventional means." 

According to Alexander the Jedi Project was to be a follow-up to Neuro-Linguistic 
Programming skills. By using the influence of friends such as Major General 

liS Ibid 

'" Ibid 
111 Ibid 
•• Ibid 
"' Ibid 
190 The American Security Cotmcil (ASC) 80s 8, Boston • Virginia 22713, USA ASC is militarist. 
anti-Communist and right-wing. Fonned in the mid 1950s, the Council acts as a right-wing think tank on 
foreign policy and lobbies for the expansion and strengthening of U.S. military forces. In 1985 the ASC has 
330,000 members. See, for example. the entry for the ASC in THE RADICAL RIGHT, A WORLD 
DIRECTORY, complied by Ciaran 0. Maolain (Longman. London 1987.) 
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Stubblebine, who was then head of the U.S. Anny Intelligence and Security 
Command, he managed to fund Jedi. In reality the concept was old hat, 
re-christened by Alexander. 

Victorian wrote: " The original idea which was to show how 'human will power 
and human concentration affect performance more than any other single factor ' 
using NLP skills, was the brainchild of three independent people; Fritz Erickson, a 
Gestalt Therapist, Vrrginia Satir, a family therapist and Erick Erickson, a hypnotist 
(sic)."' 

The above is incorrect, and is misquoted from Alexander's book THE WARRIOR'S 
EDGE. But it was incorrect in that too. NLP practitioners, Sandler and Grinder 
modeled successful therapists who were Fritz Perles (father of Gestalt therapy), 
Vrrginia Satir ( a remarkably talented family therapist) and Milton Erickson ( a 
victim of polio, genius hypnotist and the true father of the basic NLP 
breakthrough information = communication is 90% behavioral, 5% tonal and 5% 
contenl 

All of Erickson's work is now in prinl He was a master of the therapeutic 
metaphor. I interviewed him in 76-77 while doing my basic research for Operation 
Mind Control. Anthony Robbins told me about teaching the army how to improve 
their skills as marksmen and at the training I received from him, Wyatt 
Woodsmall (mentioned in Alexander's book) taught us some courses, one of 
which was "Sort Patterns." Alexander's book contains errors such as the above, 
naming Milton Erickson, Eric Erickson. He also seems to miss one of the most 
valuable lessons which makes NLP succeed: the person doing the "nulping" must 
remain unattached to the other person's content, must not second guess their 
outcome, and must assert their intention toward a win/win situation. This allows 
the unique power of the creative imagination to surprise the NLP practicioner. It 
would seem from his writing that Alexander didn't have a clue about this, and like 
most defensive people, felt quite at home in the defense business. 

In a telephone conversation with Victorian, Janet Morris191 conftrmed John 
Alexander's involvement in mind control and psychotronic projects in the Los 
Alamos National Laboratories. She told Victorian: "Alexander and his team have 
recently been working with Dr. Igor Smirnov, a psychologist from the Moscow 
Institute of Psychocorrections.n 

Victorian said after Morris visited Russia in 1991, top Soviet mind-controllers 
were invited to the U.S. Morris was shown a technique which was pioneered by 
the Russian Department of Psycho-Correction at Moscow Medical Academy. The 
Russians employ the technique to "electronically analyze the human mind in 
order to influence il 

111 Taped telephone conversation between A. Victorian and Janet Morris, Much 1, 1993. 
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"They input subliminal command messages," Victorian reported,"using key words 
transmitted in 'white noise' or music. 192 Using an infrasound very low 
frequency-type transmission, the acoustic psycho-correction message is 
transmitted via bone conduction. Ear plugs would not restrict the message. To do 
that would require an entire body protection system. According to the Russians 
the subliminal messages by-pass the conscious level and are effective almost 
immediately." 

Another one of Alexander's collaborators, Victorian revealed, was C.B. Scott Jones, 
the former assistant to Senator Clairbome Pell ( Democrat, Rhode Island). Scott 
Jones was a member of U.S. Naval Intelligence for 15 years, as well as ~sistant 
Naval Attache, New Delhi, India, in the 1960's. "Jones has briefed the President's 
Scientific Advisory Committee" and has "testified before House and Senate 
Committees on intelligence matters," Victorian said. Mter the navy he "worked in 
the private sector research and development community involved in the U.S. 
government sponsored projects for the Defense Nuclear Agency (DNA), Defense 
Intelligence Agency (DIA) and U.S. Army Intelligence and Security Command. He 
has been head of the Rockefeller Foundation for some time and also chairs the 
American Society for Psychical Research. 193

" 

Victorian said the people he mentioned were all "Birds of a Feather." He explained 
the meaning of that by explaining their code names: "Alexander and C.B. Jones 
are members of the AVIAfr{, a group of intelligence and Department of Defense 
officers and scientists with a brief to discredit any serious research in the UFO 
field. Each member of the Aviary bears a bird's name. Jones is FALCON, John 
Alexander is PENGUIN." 

The literature of UFOlogy was filled with stories about one other agent of the 
so-called AVIARY-- a UFO researcher known as William Moore, who was 
introduced to John Alexander at a party in 1987 by Scott Jones. Moore went 
public, confessing in front of an audience at a conference held by the MUTUAL 
UFO NETWORK (MUFON) on July 1, 1989, in Las Vegas, that he was promised 
inside " information by the senior members of the AVIARY in return for his 
obedience and service to them." Moore revealed how he participated in the 
propagation and dissemination of disinformation which had been fed to him by 
various members of the AVIARY. He also confessed how he had been instructed to 
target one individual in particular, an electronics expert named Dr. Paul 
Bennewitz. What made Bennewitz a target, according to Victorian was: he had 
accumulated some UFO ftlm footage and documentation of electronic signals 
which were taking place in 1980 over the Menzano Weapons Storage areas, at 
Kirtland Air Force Base, New Mexico. Victorian said that, "as a result of Moore's 

lt:l In 1989 a U.S. Depl of Defense consultant and conlnctor explained to Victorian how he was uked to ewnine the 
possibility of devising operational mtlhods of transmitting subliminal mwagtS through the 1V. 
192 'Will the Real Scott Jones plwt stand up?" Victorian refm to an unpublished paper by Gerge Hanstn and Robert 
Durant dated Feb. 20, 1990. 
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involvement, coupled with some surreptitious entries and psychological 
tedmiques, Bennewitz ended up in a psychiatric hospital." 

Just before the publication of Victorian's first paper unmasking two members of 
the AVIARY, he says he was visited by two of their members (MORNING DOVE 
and HAWK) who had traveled to the U.K. with a message from the senior ranks 
advising Victorian not to go ahead with his expose. Victorian says he rejected the 
proposal. 

Immediately after the publication of Victorian's paper, John B. Alexander 
confessed that he was indeed a member of the AVIARY. He said his nickname was 
PENGUIN. The accuracy of Victorian's information was further confirmed to him 
by yet another member of the AVIARY, Ron Pandolphi, PEUCAN. Pandolphi, 
Victorian said, was a PhD in physics and works at the Rocket and Missile section 
of the Office of the Deputy Director of Science and Technology, CIA. 

In his book, OUT THERE, 194 the NEW YORK TIMES journalist Howard Blum 
refers to "a UFO Working Group" within the Defense Intelligence Agency. Despite 
the DIA' s repeated official denials, His the existence of this working grouphwas 
been confinned to Victorian by more than one member of the group itself, 
"including an independent source in the Office of Naval Intelligence," he said. 
'1'he majority of the group's members are senior members of the AVIARY: Dr. 
Christopher Green (BLUEJAY) from the CIA, 196 Harold Puthoff (OWL) ex-NSA; Dr. 
Jack Verona (RAVEN) (DoD, one of the initiators of the DIA's Sleeping beauty 
project which aimed to achieve battlefield superiority using mind-altering 
electromagnetic weaponry); John Alexander (PENGUIN) and Ron Pandolphi 
(PEUCAN). The mysterious "Col. Harold E. Phillips" who appears in Blum's OUT 
THERE is none other than John B. Alexander. 

John Alexander's position as the Program Manager for Contingency Missions of 
Conventional Defense Technology, Los Alamos National Laboratories, enabled 
him to exploit the Department of Defense's Project REUANCE ''Which encourages 
a search for all possible sources of existing and incipient technologies before 
developing new technology in-house 197 "to tap into a wider range of exotic topics, 
sometimes using defense contractors, e.g. McDonnell Douglas Aerospace. 
Victorian said he had several reports," some of which were compiled before his 
departure to the Los Alamos National Laboratories when he was with Anny 
Intelligence, which show Alexander's keen interest in any and every exotic subject 
- UFOs, ESP, psychotronics, anti-gravity devices, near death experiences, 
psychological warfare and non-lethal weaponry. 

,,. Howard Blum, Ol1I' THERE, Simon and Schuster, 1990. 
116 DIA's lelttn to Victorian dated July 12. 1991, July 8, 1992, and December 18, 1992. 
1" Dr. Christopher "Kit" Green. BLUEJAY, I:w admitted that the CIA has compiled over 30,000 file5 on UPOs, 200 of 
which are extrememly interesting. Green was a CIA member in examining the UPO problem for seYen! years, Victorian 
notes. 
197 Los Alamos National Laboratory, lnstitional Plan Fi.scal Year, 1992. Victorian's notes. 
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"John Alexander utilizes the bank of information he has accumulated to try to 
develop psychotronic, psychological and mind weaponry," Victorian wrote. "He 
began thinking about non-lethal weapons a decade ago in his paper The New 
Mental Bafflelield. He seems to want to become a "Master." If he ever succeeds in 
this ambition the rest of us ordinary mortals had better watch out," Victorian said. 

But, Annen Victorian didn't watch out enough. Just before this edition was 
printed, received a letter from Victorian which read: 

What I am about to tell you is stuff that I always thought would 
happen to others and not to us, until it did happen. Despite the long 
research experience of dealing with the dirty tricks orchestrated by 
various governments to harass and frighten members of the public, I 
have to confess that at this pint of time myself and my family feel 
somewhat confused, and if I don't add frightened, I might not be 
telling the truth. 

1. On June 21, 1994, a rainy day, I was on my way back from our 
weekly shopping, driving in a busy urban road, where a car parked on 
the side of the road, without using his indicator veered in front of me 
(attempting to make aU-tum), as a result I collided with him and my 
car was written off. I am lucky that no serious injuries occurred to me, 
and I escaped whilst badly shaken. There were two people in the car, 
which was an old brown colour Volvo. Immediately after the accident 
the driver (male) came out and attempted assault on me. His 
companion, a female, shouted at him, he returned to his car (which 
was only dented on the side) and drove away. I managed to take his 
number plate etcetra. 

2. On June 23 (two days later), after returning home with my children 
from their school, I noticed a red colour car parked in front of our 
house, with two passengers in it, a male and a female. After we 
entered, the male passenger (very well dressed) came out, walked to 
our front window, gazed into our room for a couple of minutes, then 
he went back to his car. A few minutes later he returned with his 
female companion and rang our door bell. When I opened the door he 
addressed me with a very friendly voice (as though he had known me 
for years) calling me by one of my previous pen names which I have 
not used for a few years. I told him that I am not the person he just 
addressed. He produced a card, clinched in his hand which I could 
not see anything of, and asked if they could come in, which I refused. 
He then looked at his female companion (who was standing beside 
him). They then walked away, got into their car and drove away. 

3. On July 14, whilst I was away on business, I received a call from 
my wife. She was clearly distressed. She told me that the police had 
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raided our house and had arrested her, taking away some of my 
research work as well as our personal documentation. At this point 
the receiver was grabbed from her band and a male voice introducing 
himself as a police officer asked me to introduce myself at a certain 
police station as soon as possible. He told me that he tried to avoid 
the embarrassment of anesting me by his colleagues at where I was. 
I drove back to Nottingham and introduced myself to the police 
station they had named. They were still keeping my wife in custody. 
Eventually they tried to interview me in front of a solicitor I had asked 
to be present. I maintained my right of silence throughout. We were 
both released on bail pending further investigation. The alleged 
charges which makes me laugh for the heavy handedness they had 
applied to us is; •obtaining the British Telecom Services with 
deception•. Which we both totally xeject. It is to our mind a plan to 
frame me, using my wife as perhaps a bargain chip. 

4. On July 31, 1994 (Sunday) whilst I was washing the dishes after 
lunch. I noticed some unusual marks on our kitchen window glass. 
Upon closer examination I noticed that someone bad attempted to cut 
the glass. To us it was just a signal. I reported it to the police. Our 
house has been burgled on five previous occasions. I have written 
several letters to the Home Office and other British authorities with 
no response to date. All my direct and indirect inquiries as to who 
carries out such surreptitious entries has been either ignored, or 
responded to with silence. In each occasion only research work and 
personal and financial documents have gone missing. Furthermore, 
since 1989 (I have records) my mail has been continuously tampered 
with. Some mail has been opened, some gone missing. My inquiries 
to the Royal Mail have bom no fruit. 

6. On August 4, 1994, I had gone to meet my solicitor (attorney). I 
parked my car in a multi-story car park in a shopping mall, adjacent 
to their offices. When I returned, the door on the passenger side was 
wide open. Nothing had gone missing. Again I reported it to the 
police. 

6. The CIA in a recent response to my PA request has aclmowledged 
that they do indeed keep a file on me. 

7. I might have told you that I possess a Memorandum in Confidence, 
issued by John Alexander where he openly admit s that he has 
approached the CIA, NSA and the State Department in an attempt to 
•sort me out. • He goes further to add that the US agencies in return 
have been in contact with the British Intelligence about my research 
work. 
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8. On July 15, 1994, I went to the office of our local Nottingham City 
Council for a routine inquiry about our Council Tax. The VDU 
(computer screen) was facing myself and the clerk. When he punched 
my name into the computer, to my surprise the computer showed all 
the details about my arrest. According to the Data Protection Act· of 
1984, it is ILLEGAL to have any such records on anyone. These 
records must be kept on the Police National Computer (PNC) ONLY. 
The police have assured us that even they did not make such an 
input in PNC, because there have been no charges. The question is 
who has leaked this information out? I have already filed a complaint 
against he City Council through the Data Protection Registrar 
pending its outcome. I don't hold my hopes high. 

So, here we are. In a short period of time we have been through the 
stuff the movies are made of. 

If you want to publicize my case you are more than welcome and 
indeed I would welcome- it. In brief we need help. I never thought I 
am such a thom in their eyes. I seldom publish anything. 
Tell me, if you will, what is your advice. 

Arman Victorian 
P.O. Box99 
Nottingham, NG8 -3NT 
England 

One might not give as much credence to Victorian's troubles if Martin Cannon 
hadn't also had troubles. Both Cannon and Alexander were researching UFO 
phenomenon and mind control. They both asked a lot of people a lot of questions 
about John Alexander. They both believe they are targets of harassment or worse 
from the cryptocratic connections of Alexander. 

I listened to the tape recorded tape Cannon provided me. He identified the voice 
as that of his old friend, fellow UFO research, John Alexander's wife, Vickie. On the 
tape she told Cannon "John and Ed, are really steamed up over what you've 
written and they're asking Gordon ( Cannon explained he thought Mrs. Alexander 
meant it was Gordon Novel, a CIA asset alleged to be involved in the Kennedy 
assassination) to do something about it." 

My attempts to interview John Alexander have not succeeded. I've tried to contact 
him through friends and at his e-mail address. There so far has been no response. 
I'll say it as the newspaper reporters do: John Alexander was not available for 
comment at press time. 
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CULT CONTROL 

In 1990 spychiabist Dr. Louis Jolyon West, M.D., Professor of Psychiatry, 
University of California, pet shrink of the cryptocrao/98 gave a speech on cults. As 
usual it was soft on fact and hard on the cryptocracy line: 

It is estimated that there are more than 2500 cults in the United 
States ... 

Now there must be a lot more "cults" than that since, the Oxford English 
Dictionary said the word cult meant "1. worship-- 2. a particular form of 
religious worship; esp. in reference to its external rites and ceremonies -- 3. 
devotion to a particular person or thing ... " Some would say that includes the 
Moose, Elks, Shriners, Optimists, Boy Scouts, certain football teams, religions of 
all denominations, hang gliding clubs, sky diving clubs, James Joyce reading 
groups and on and on. But without further argwnent, West's comments on 
"CULTS-- PSYCHIATRIC ASPECTS:" 

Ten different varieties can be identified, but most of them are 
religious or mystical. All share certain characteristics that 
differentiate them from religious sects on the one hand, 
counter-culture communes on the other. Some cults appear to be 
relatively benign, others harmful, some deadly. 

•• Resume of W. West, M.D., includes proudly~ owrtty notes his service to the T~vistock Institute. Center for 
Advanced Study in the Behavionl Sciences. U.S. Anny (enlisted), U.S. Air Force (officer), Chief, Psyc~try Service, Lacldand 
Air Force Base, Consultant in Psyc~try. USAF Hospitals, Leo J. Ryan Awvd from the Cult AwMmeSS Network. Euminer 
Amaic:m Board of ~try. Advisory Council Behavionl Sciences Oiv. USAF Office of Scientific Resw-ch, National 
Consultant in Psychi~try to the Strgeon Genenl USAF, Professional Advisory Council National Association for Mmtal HWth, 
Consultant US Jnfonnation Agency (CIA front) , Exec. Council Committee on Behavioral Resw-ch (Advisory on Disaster 
Resw-ch to the Office of Emergency Planning). National Resw-ch Council Consu!Wlt USAF Aero-Space Medial Center, 
Consultant Puce Corps, Consu!W1t Btrau of Social Resw-ch. Inc. (beliewd to be cowrtly CIA funded), Member USA 
Medial Resw-ch and DeYelopmmt Advisory PaneL ConsuiW1t V .A. Health Care Committee, N~tional Research Council 
Division of Medial Sciences, and so on for 2.4 pages ending in~ Bihlio~aphy, the last entry of which is: A Review of 
Combolilw Cull Mind Conlrol. West's finaa1n'ints il"'! d owr some of the Nazi-like ideas~ !XJM!rimmts in mind control 
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Under certain conditions, people can be deliberately manipulated, 
influenced and controlled to a considerable degree, even to their 
detriment, and induced to express beliefs and exhibit behaviors far 
different from what their lives up to then would have logically or 
reasonably predicted. Furthermore, persons in such situations may 
suffer harm -- psychological, physical, financial and other -- as a 
consequence of their having been thus manipulated, influenced and 
controlled. 

Such words as brainwashing, thought reform, coercive persuasion, 
and the more ominous-sounding 'lnind control11 are often employed to 
account for the domination and manipulation by some cults of their 
members. Roughly one-third of the people who leave cults, either 
voluntarily or through the efforts of concerned family members, will 
exhibit some kind of psychopathology ... 

Of course West would not dare mention the cult of intelligence, or satanic and 
pagan cults which have been co-opted by the cryptocracy and utilized as valuable 
assets. 

At the time, there was a rabid anti-cult audience, so West held the easily led 
"mental health" community in thrall, especially since the public hadn't yet 
recovered from the biggest cult mass murder in American history -- Jonestown. 

The "Jonestown Massacre", as it came to be called, began when Jim Jones ordered 
his followers to commit suicide. It ended with nine hundred plus bodies rotting in 
the Guyanese jungle, most of them black. Nearly three hundred children dead, 
along with three journalists and the first U.S. Congressman assassinated in the 
line of duty, machine-gunned on the airport runway. The whole story about 
Jonestown still hasn't been revealed. Too many bodies were buried too fast Too 
many "official" lies were told. But in light of the events in Waco, Texas and our 
knowledge of mind contro~ it's worthwhile to take another look: 

On November 19, 1978, the day after the so-called Jonestown cult suicide I 
received a call from Mae Brussell. "Jonestown was a mind control experiment," 
she said in her usual get-down-to-business style. "There was a Soviet base nearby 
and the CIA was using the place for something -- maybe just a cover, then Ryan 
got involved and they decided to see if they could trigger a mass program. The 
ultimate test - mass suicide -- to test their mastery at mind control..." 

Mae Brussell was one of a kind. The daughter of a Jewish Los Angeles judge and 
the granddaughter of I. Magnin, Mae had devoted her life to research. It was her 
passion. She was devoted to citizen's intelligence gathering, and was therefore 
aware, before any other ordinary citizen ( I mean, without being one who was an 
accomplice to the crime) that Nazi war criminals had been admitted to the United 
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States in wholesale numbers, given citizenship, new identities and put to work for 
the cryptocracy. 

When the first edition of this book was published, Mae went out of her way to 
meet with me. She congratulated me heartily and thanked me for writing this 
book. In hindsight, I may have been among the first to confrrm (without knowing 
it) some of her conclusions about a totalitarian cryptocracy which was taking over 
America. 

When we talked in San Francisco, that first time, I had the impression that this 
tiny grandmotherly woman was suffering from input overload. She talked 
breathlessly, jumping from one subject to another, swimming in facts, weaving 
together important pieces of a vast patriot's quilt which covered a "conspiracy to 
invisibly corrupt the constitution." Now, after almost 17 years, I understand only 
a fragment of what Mae Brussel knew then, and I hold her on a plateau of respect 
which has levitated through time. 

She called me again when John Lennon was assassinated. "Mark David Chapman, 
Lennon's killer was one of the CIA sleeper agents, programmed to kill like a 
Manchurian Candidate", she said. (See Who Killed John Lennon 199 by Fenton 
Bressler). And she called again when Ronald Reagan was shot, telling me that his 
assailant, David Hinkley was hypno-programmed in the same schools as 
Lennon's assassin. 

Mae never got over Jonestown. She knew all about it. She even called it "Camp 
Mind Control" And, as it turned out, Mae was often ahead of everybody else, but 
she was seldom wrong. 

To refresh your memory: Jim Jones was the leader of a San Francisco-based 
church known as The People's Temple Christian Church. A powerful orator, Jones 
drew to his pews the poor, social activists, Hispanics, and mostly Blacks both 
young and old. His message was peppered with socialistic philosophy. In fact 
Jones was "a self-proclaimed Marxist fanatic, a white revolutionary who 
commanded a huge black following of thousands.11200 If we've learned anything 
from the revelations of COINTELPRO and other covert FBI political operations, 
we can assume that Jones captured the immediate attention of the cryptocracy. 

He was even assisted in his meteoric rise to become the head of an illegal 
multimillion dollar empire. Building a network of connections with legitimate 
politicians, Jones was appointed by Mayor Mosconi as the Director of the San 
Francisco Housing Authority . He supported from the pulpit, and was, in tum, 
supported by both Ronald Reagan and Richard Nixon. At the same time he was 

1" Fmt.on Brasier, Who Ki1kd John /.lnnon, DeD. 1992. 
* Sil\lennan, Art, The UnllTlSlDered Questions ofJonestOflm, Calendar Magazine, San Francisco 
Weekly, December 1-15, 1988. 
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caching weapons, experimenting with brainwashing techniques, using high 
voltage shock to program the small children of his parishioners, and building an 
international presence in South America. 

Debbie Layton, a former Temple member, told the syndicated TV program In 
Search Of: "Jones wasn't a Christian. He was an atheist He called Christ, the sky 
god ... He was clever, deceitful and evil. He read all the books on psychology and 
brainwashing, and he lmew all the hicks that would get people to do what he 
wanted them to do ... " 

Jones spoke of justice, racial harmony and he spewed fire and brimstone in his 
criticism of the hypocrisy of this world. At its peak, the Peoples Temple was the 
largest, richest, and most tightly organized group of self-proclaimed 
'revolutionaries' in the entire country. And after gaining such a huge following 
Jones naturally became the target of the local press. 

Jim Jones and his church became the feature of a number of scathing news 
articles. Jones claimed the negative press attention was motivated by those who 
opposed his newly-found apocalyptic religion. He used the bad press, especially an 
1977 article in New West, as an excuse to move most of the members of his 
church to the 'promised land' in Guyana. But the stories of beatings, kidnappings, 
sexual abuse and mysterious deaths continued to surface. 

Before the events of November 1978, there were no less than a dozen 
investigations of Jim Jones underway by various law enforcement agencies. 
Included in these were his alleged involvements in drug smuggling, gun running 
in the Caribbean, kidnapping, arson, money laundering, customs violations, 
welfare fraud, illegal broadcast of coded messages, abuse of tax-exempt status, 
forging trust deeds and even murder. Each of these inquiries was abandoned, 
stalled, botched, or compromised until it was too late. In several of these cases, 
classified investigative leads and informants were revealed to Jones. A number of 
investigative files were found in Jones' cabin in Guyana after the massacre. 

All this activity was brought to the attention of congressional members, and Leo 
Ryan in particular since his electoral dishict was the bay area, from which most of 
the complaints against Jones issued. Ryan was not warned about the activities at 
Jonestown, in fact, it is believed that intelligence agencies intervened with the 
State Department to limit inquiries and discussions on Jones. 

Ryan decided to go to Guyana and investigate the situation for himself. When 
Ryan and a group of reporters landed on the tiny airship at Port Kaituma, briefly 
visited Jonestown and were murdered as they were attempting to leave Guyana at 
the airport Ryan was posthumously awarded the Congressional Medal of Honor, 
and was the frrst Congress member to die in the line of duty. 
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Then followed the "White Night," a supposed mass suicide pact, which was 
executed by the entire population of Jonestown. Some of the community, made 
up mostly of Black, women and children, drank cyanide from paper cups of 
Kool-Aid at the urging of Jones. Others refused and were either injected or shot A 
modem Masada, children and their mothers died around the main pavilion where 
Jim Jones allegedly shot himself in the head. For days, the body count mounted 
from 400 to nearly 1,000. The bodies were flown to the United States and later 
cremated or buried in mass graves. 

Pete Hammill called the corpses, "all the loose change of the sixties." Hammill 
now wishes he'd never written thal 

Mae Brussell's friend and fellow researcher, John Judge saw it differently. In a 
essay The Black Hole of Guyana, 201 he wrote: "The effect (of Jonestown) was 
elecbic. Any alternative to the current system was seen as futile if not deadly. 
Protests only led to police riots and political assassination. Alternative lifestyles 
and drugs led to 'creepy-crawly' communes and violent murders. And religious 
experiments led to cults and suicide. Social utopias were dreams that turned into 
nighbnares. The television urged us to go back to 'The Happy Days' of the 
apolitical 50s. The message was, get a job, and go back to church. The unyielding 
nuclear threat generated only nihilism and hopelessness. There was no answer 
but death, no exit from the grisly future. The new ethic was personal success, 
aerobics, material consumption, a return to 'American values,' and the 'moral 
majority' white Christian world. The official message was clear." 

One early headline read:" Cult Dies in South American Jungle: 400 Die in Mass 
Suicide, 700 Flee into Jungle.202

" Statements of People's Temple members and 
accounts in the press claimed there were 1,100 people at Jonestown. 
Eight-hundred-nine adult passports were found there, and there were reports of 
300 children being there, supposedly 276 found among the dead with 210 not 
identified. Almost a week later the "official " Guyanese body count was issued by 
the American Military. That count came to only 913 bodies. Sixteen survivors 
were then reported to have returned to the U.S.203 

Numbers don't lie, so at their frrst chance Americans claimed that the Guyanese 
"could not counl" Next, the Americans proposed another theory -- the Guyanese 
had missed seeing a pile of bodies at the back of the pavilion. Then, finally, the 
Americans gave the "official" reason for the discrepancy -- bodies had fallen on top 
of other bodies, adults covering children.204 

101 Judge, John. 7'hR Block Hole of Guyana, 1'hR Unlo/JJ Story oflhe Jonestoam Massacre, Judge for 
YOW'Self, Prevailing Winds Research. Santa Barbara. Ca. 1993. 
• Net1J York Post, 11!21/78. 
)13 Guyana Daily Mirror, 11/23185. 
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"It was a simple, if morbid, arithmetic that led to the first suspicions," Jotm Judge 
wrote. 205 "The 408 bodies discovered at frrst count would have to be able to cover 
505 bodies for a total of 913. In addition, those who first worked on the bodies 
would have been unlikely to miss bodies lying beneath each other since each body 
had to be punctured. Eighty-two of the bodies first found were those of children, 
reducing the number that could have been hidden below others. A search of 
nearly 150 photographs, aerial and close-up, fails to show even one body lying 
under another, much less 500. 

"It seemed the frrst reports were true, 400 had died, and 700 had fled to the 
jungle. The American authorities claimed to have searched for people who had 
escaped but found no evidence of any in the surrounding area. At least a hundred 
Guyanese troops were among the first to arrive, and they were ordered to search 
the jungle for survivors. In the area, at the same time, British Black Watch troops 
were on "training exercises," with nearly 600 of their best-trained commandos. 
Soon, American Green Berets were on site as well. The presence of these soldiers, 
specially trained in covert killing operations, may explain the increasing numbers 
of bodies that appeared." 

A new phrase was put out in the American press, "Suicide-murder." But was it 
suicide or was it murder? 

Dr. Leslie Mootoo, the top Guyanese pathologist arrived at the scene within hours 
of the massacre. He turned away the assistance of U.S. pathologist and 
accompanied the teams that counted the dead, examined the bodies and worked 
to identify the deceased. While the American press was screaming about "Kool-Aid 
Suicides," Dr. Mootoo was coming to a very different conclusion. 

While news reports held that the people of Jonestown died from drinking cyanide 
laced Kool-aid, Dr. Mootoo could find no evidence of cyanide poisoning. In fact, 
all signs of cyanide poisoning were absent in the Jonestown dead whose limbs 
were limp and relaxed. The faces showed no signs of distortion, the tell-tale sign 
death by cyanide. 

Cyanide blocks the messages from the brain to the muscles by changing body 
chemistry which affects the central nervous system. Involuntary functions like 
breathing and heartbeat get mixed neural signals from cyanide poisoning, the 
muscles begin to spasm, limbs twist and contort and facial muscles draw back 
into a deadly grin called "cyanide rictus."206 

Dr. Mootoo found that 80-90% of the Jonestown victims had fresh needle marks 
in the back of the leR shoulder blades.201 Others were shot or strangled. The gun 
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that reportedly shot Jim Jones was lying nearly 200 feet from his body, not next to 
it as would a suicide weapon. The Guyanese grand jury investigating the mass 
death concluded that all but three of the people were murdered by "persons 
unknown." The grand jury concluded that only two people had committed 
suicide. 

Lt. Col. Schwer, the U.S. Anny spokesman for the massacre cleanup announced, 
"No autopsies are needed. The cause of death is not an issue here." The forensic 
U.S. doctors who did autopsies at Dover, Delaware later, were not aware of Dr. 
Mootoo's fmdings.208 

Despite the Guyanese grand jury's fmdings the Guyanese government participated 
with the Americans in a deep cover-up of the real story. The Americans brought in 
16 C-131 cargo planes, planes made for carrying tanks, trucks, troops and 
ammunition at the same time. The Americans claimed they cou1d carry only 36 
caskets out at one time. The removal of the bodies took nearly a week. The bloated 
and rotten corpses that were eventually returned from the tropics of Guyana were 
impossible to autopsy. 

Thanks to the media blitz (including a movie of the week) that followed the 
massacre, today 98% of the American population recognize the name "Jonestown" 
and believe it was the mass suicide of a black cu1t of religious fanatics led by Jun 
Jones. But what really happened at Jonestown? 

The cite of the massacre was the Matthew's Bridge section in Guyana, originally 
the site of a Union Carbide bauxite and manganese mine which had earlier been 
one of seven possible sites chosen for the relocation of Jews after World War II.209 

Once the site had been prepared by a crew of select Temple members, the 
"parishioners" were loaded into busses in San Francisco, driven to Florida and 
loaded onto Pan American charter planes which flew them to Guyana. When they 
arrived at the airport, the Temple parishioners were taken off the plane, bound 
and gagged.210 

"The deception had fmally been stripped bare of all pretense. The Blacks were so 
isolated and controlled that neighbors as close as five miles from the site did not 
know that Blacks lived at Jonestown," John Judge wrote211

• '11le only public 
representatives seen in Guyana were white. 
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"According to survivors' reports, " Judge continued, "they entered a virtual slave 
labor camp. Worked for 16 to 18 hours daily, they were forced to live in cramped 
quarters on minimum rations, usually rice, bread and sometimes rancid meat. 
Kept on a schedule of physical and mental exhaustion, they were also forced to 
stay awake at night and listen to lectures by Jones. Threats and abuse became 
more common. The camp medical staff under Dr. Lawrence Schacht was known 
to perfonn painful suturing without anesthetic. They administered drugs, and 
kept daily medical records. Infractions of the rules or disloyalty led to increasingly 
harsh punishments, including forced drugging, sensory isolation in an 
underground box, physical torture and public sexual rape and humiliation. 
Beatings and verbal abuse were commonplace. Only the special guards were 
treated humanely and fed decently. People with serious injuries were flown out, 
but few ever returned. Perhaps the motto at Jonestown should have been the 
same as the one at Auschwitz, developed by Larry Schacht's namesake, Dr. 
Hjalmar Schacht, the nazi minister of economics, 'Arheit Macht Frei,' or 'Work 
will Make You Free.' Guyana even considered setting up an 'Auschwitz-like 
museum' at the site, but abandoned the idea." 

By the time Jones moved the parishioners of The People's Temple to Jonestown, 
he had amassed a fortune. Press estimates range from $26 million to $2 billion, 
including bank accounts, foreign investments and real estate. Much of this 
wealth, listed publicly after the massacre, disappeared. Judge says," It was a 
fortune far too large to have come from membership alone. The receivership set 
up by the government settled on a total of $10 million. .. In addition there are 
indications that (George Philip) Blakey and other members were supplementing 
the Temple funds with international smuggling of guns and drugs." (This 
seemingly random allegation will take on greater significance as you read further.) 

Jolm Judge sums up his conclusions of the significance to the Jonestown 
massacre for the purposes of this study: "To comprehend this well-financed, 
sinister operation, we must abandon the myth that this was a religious commune 
and study instead the history that led to its fonnation. Jonestown was an 
experiment part of a 30-year program called MK-ULTRA, the CIA and military 
intelligence code name for mind control. A close study of Senator Ervin's 1974 
report, Individual Rights and the Government's Role in Behavior Modification, 
shows that these agencies had certain "target populations" in mind, for both 
individual and mass control. Blacks, women, prisoners, the elderly, the young, 
and inmates of psychiatric wards were selected as 'potentially violent.' There were 
plans in California at the time for a Center for the Study and Reduction of 
Violence, expanding on the horrific work of Dr. Jose Delgado, Drs. Mark and 
Ervin, and Dr. Jolly West, experts in implantation, psychosurgery, and 
tranquilizers. The guinea pigs were to be drawn from the ranks of the 'target 
populations, ' and taken to an isolated military missile base in California. In that 
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same period, Jones began to move his Temple members to Jonestown. They were 
the exact population selected for such tests. 

"The meticulous daily notes and drug records kept by Larry Schacht disappeared, 
but evidence did nol The history of MK-ULTRA and its sister programs 
(MK-DELTA, ARTICHOKE, BLUEBIRD, etc.) records a combination of drugs, 
drug mixtures, electroshock and torture as methods for control. The desired 
results ranged from temporary and permanent amnesia, uninhibited confessions, 
and creation of second personalities, to programmed assassins and preconditioned 
suicidal urges. One goal was the ability to control mass populations, especially for 
cheap labor. Dr. Delgado told Congress that he hoped for a future where a 
teclmology would control workers in the field and troops at war with electronic 
remote signals. He found it hard to understand why people would complain about 
electrodes implanted in their brains to make them 'both happy and productive.' 

"On the scene at Jonestown, Guyanese troops discovered a large cache of drugs, 
enough to drug the entire population of Georgetown, Guyana ( well over 200,000) 
for more than a year. According to survivors, these were being used regularly 'to 
control' a population of only 1,100 people. One footlocker contained 11,000 doses 
of thorazine, a dangerous tranquilizer. Drugs used in the testing for MK-ULTRA 
were found in abundance, including sodium pentathol (a truth serum), chloral 
hydrate (a hypnotic), demeral, thallium (confuses thinking), and many others. 
Schacht had supplies of haliopareael and largatil, two other major tranquilizers as 
well. The actual description of life at Jonestown is that of tightly run 
concentration camp, complete with medical and psychiatric experimentation. The 
stresses and isolation of the victims is typical of sophisticated brainwashing 
teclmiques. The drugs and special tortures add an additional experimental aspect 
to the horror. This more clearly explains the medical tags on the bodies, and why 
they had to be removed. It also suggests an additional motive for frustrating any 
chemical autopsies, since these drugs would have been found in the system of the 
dead. 

"The story of Jonestown," writes Judge, "is that of a gruesome experiment, not a 
religious utopian society. On the eve of the massacre, Forbes Burnham was 
reportedly converted to 'born again' Christianity by members of the Full Gospel 
Christian Businessman's Association, including Lionel Luckhoo, a Temple lawyer 
in Guyana. This same group, based in California, also reportedly converted 
Guatemalan dictator Rios Montt prior to his massacres there, and they were in 
touch with Jim Jones in Ukiah.( And they conducted the White House prayer 
breakfasts for Ronald Reagan.) With Ryan on his way to Jonestown, the seal of 
secrecy was broken. In a desperate attempt to test their conditioning methods, the 
Jonestown elite apparently tried to implement a real suicide drill. Clearly , it lead 
to a revolt and the majority of people fled, unaware that there were people waiting 
to catch them." 
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Jim Jones was surrounded by CIA agents or afflliates. He had a long-term 
friendship with Dan Mitrione, whom he joined forces with in Riclunond, Indiana 
during the 1950's where Mitrione was Chief of Police. Mitrione moved on to the 
CIA fmanced International Police Academy, where police are trained in 
counter-insurgency and torture teclmiques.212 Fonner Green Beret, Charles 
Beikman was with Jones "to the end." later charged with the murders of several 
Temple members in Georgetown, following the massacre. 

Deputy Chief of Mission for the U.S. Embassy in Guyana, Richard Dwyer was the 
CIA agent on the scene at the time of the massacre. Present at the camp site and 
the airport, Dwyer's accounts were used by the State Department to confirm the 
death of Congressman Ryan. At the massacre site, Jones said, "Get Dwyer out of 
here" just before the killings began.213 

Other U.S. Embassy personnel in Guyana, knew the situation well at Jonestown. 
U.S. Ambassador John Burke, who served in the CIA with Dwyer in Thailand, and 
was an Embassy official described by Philip Agee as working for the CIA since 
1963. was well aware of the situation. A Reagan appointee to the CIA, Burke was 
employed by the Agency on State Department assignments. Burke made a futile 
attempt to stop Ryan's investigation of Jones. Also at the Embassy was Chief 
Consular Officer Richard McCoy who worked for military intelligence "on loan" 
from the Defense Departrnenfu at the time of the massacre. He was described as 
being "close" to Jones. 

According to Judge: "The U.S. embassy in Georgetown housed the Georgetown 
CIA station. It now appears that the majority and perhaps all of the embassy 
officials were CIA officers operating under State Department covers ••. " 

The State Department concealed all reports of violations at Jonestown from 
congressman Leo Ryan, yet the Embassy regularly provided Jones with copies of 
congressional inquiries under the Freedom of Information Act. It is well known 
that Ryan was no friend of the cryptocracy's. He had challenged the Agency's 
overseas operations as a member of the House Committee responsible for 
oversight on intelligence. He authored the controversial Hughes-Ryan 
Amendment that would have required CIA disclosure in advance to the 
congressional committees of all planned covert operations. This Amendment was 
defeated shortly after his death. 

Dan Webber, who was sent to the site of the massacre a day later, was also named 
asCIA.215 
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"The connection of intelligence agencies to cults is nothing new. A simple but 
revealing example is the Unification Church, tied to both the Korean CIA (i.e., 
American CIA in Korea) , and the international fascist network known as the World 
Anti-Communist League. The Moonies hosted WACL's fU'St international 
conference. What distinguished Jonestown was both the level of control and the 
openly sinister involvement It was imperative that they cover their tracks," Judge 
said. 

"The direct orders to cover up the cause of death came from the top levels of the 
American government. Zbigniew Brezezinsky delegated to Robert Pastor, and he 
in tum ordered Lt Col. Gordon Sumner to strip the bodies of identity," Judge 
wrote. 

After the Jonestown massacre, Pastor was promoted to the position of Deputy 
Director of the CIA. "One can only wonder," Judge wrote, "how many others tied 
to the Jonestown operation were similarly promoted? 

"The ultimate victims of mind control at Jonestown are the American people," 
Judge said. "If we fail to look beyond the constructed images given us by the 
television and the press, then our consciousness is manipulated, just as well as 
the Jonestown victims' was ... " 

There never has been a full investigation of the Ryan assassination or the Peoples 
Temple massacre. There were special Congressional hearings held in the 
aftermath, but these were so flawed as to be farcical. Subpoena power was not 
invoked to compel testimony. The staff of the U.S. Embassy in Guyana weren't 
even called. Only a watered-down report was issued, of which 5,000 pages were 
classified and withheld from release. 

The only trial to result from Jonestown was criminal prosecution of temple 
functionary Larry Layton, who was tried once in Guyana and twice in the United 
States. The Guyanese acquitted him of murder charges on the grounds that he 
had been brainwashed. The second trial was held in San Francisco. The charges 
were conspiring to kill Congressman Ryan. It ended in a hung jury. The third trial 
saw Layton convicted on conspiracy charges and sent to prison as Jonestown's 
single scapegoat. 

The judge in Layton's case summarily denied defense motions to obtain 
documents and testimony regarding State Department or CIA involvement with 
the Peoples Temple. A group of Jonestown survivors and relatives also filed a $50 
million civil action against the Federal government alleging such involvement, 
but their case was thrown out almost immediately on procedural grounds and all 
subsequent appeals were turned down. 

Jim Jones opened his fU'St temple in Indianapolis in the late fifties. He sold live 
monkies door-to-door to help fmance it. He took a sabbatical in 1961-62, living 
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under somewhat mysterious circumstances in Belo Horizonte, a small city on the 
Brazilian coast. A reporter from the San Jose Mercury News, traveled to Belo 
Horizonte after the killings. he reported that several of Jones' neighbors from 
1961 said a staff car from the US Embassy visited him there weekly.216 

When he returned to Indianapolis, Jones announced the temple would move to 
Northern California. "'t may very well be just a coincidence," said reporter Art 
Silvennan, "but another man made the same pilgrimage from Indianapolis to 
South America at about the same time. he was Dan Mitrione, the Indianapolis 
police chief at the time of Jones' first Peoples temple. Mitrione later became 
infamous as the US torture instructor -- working for the CIA under the cover of 
the Agency for International Development -- who was kidnapped, interrogated and 
finally murdered by the Tumpamaro guerrillas in Uruguay. Mitrione's story was 
told in Costa-Gravas' filin State of Siege. 

"Did Jones and Mitrione know each other? Here we move into the twilight zone of 
conspiracy theories and speculations. A number of years ago I called Mitrione's 
son, Dan Jr., himself an FBI agent, and asked that very question. 

"'No,' he said emphatically. 

"And," Silvennan wrote, "that was the end of it until March 1985, when Dan 
Mitrione Jr. was in the papers himself. He had just pleaded guilty to federal 
charges of possessing 90 pounds of cocaine and was about to be sentenced to 
prison." 

"There are still people who believe in Jim Jones," narrator Leonard Nimoy said at 
the close of In Search of Jim Jones. " Some of them still sleep with Jones' 
picture." 

One of John Judges most important sources, Michael Meiers made a thorough 
study of Jonestown and wrote a book entitled Was Jonestoum A CIA Medical 
Experiment? A review of the Evidence.217 His conclusions are worth repeating: 

.. . While living in Brazil, Jones receive his life assignment with the 
CIA's ... MK UL TLRA program. .. By the time Jones was brought into 
the program, MK ULTRA was fifteen years old and many of the 
laboratories bad since filed their final reports with the agency before 
disbanding. The experiments, conducted in university research 
departments, mental hospitals, and prison medical clinics 
represented the most authoritative source of information on their 
assigned subjects within the limits of a laboratory environment. The 
agency complied a library containing data that needed to be collated 
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into a comprehensive science of behavior modification. The task was 
assigned to Jim Jones, who would require another fifteen years to 
complete his findings in a major field test known as Jonestown ... 

Of course as we've noted in this work, there was a lot of redundancy in the 
programs. Jones, no doubt knew nothing of the other programs going on at the 
same time. While he is reported using some of the so-called Monarch techniques 
(researcher's have raised enough evidence to suspect that Bonnie 
Mahnin!Burnhain/l'hielmann,218 "the blonde bomber" may have been a Monarch 
"model"), it would appear that his focus was on mass control largely through 
drugs . 

... While in Rio, Jones was briefed on MK tntra and took advantage of 
the locale to study voodoo and the African religion, Macumba, as well 
as the faith-healing preacher, David Martins de Miranda, who 
exhil:>ited extraordinary control over his followers who referred to 
their leader as 'The Envoy of the Messiah. • This modem-day John the 
Baptist imparted much of his knowledge to the aspiring Jim Jones. 

A lot happened in 1963. In October Britain suspended the constitution of Guyana 
and the leftist government fell. In November President Kennedy was assassinated, 
and in December the first of several military coups destroyed any hold the 
Communists had on the Brazilian government 

... (In) 1963, Truman and many others recognized that the executive 
branch of government was no longer in control of the agency but no 
one questioned who was in control. Everyone assumed that the CIA 
had gone its separate way under its own power. No one could see 
that the Nazis who helped establish the agency had used the need to 
know security system to continue the Third Reich in the United States 
under the impenetrable cloak of national security. 

The Nazis hiding in the CIA were relatively quiet for the first few 
years after World War ll that it required to convince the American 
public that their true enemy was not fascism but communism. The 
success of the McCarthy Era propaganda campaign in the early 
1950's marked a distinct change in U.S. intelligence. No longer 
satisfied with merely gathering information about world events, as 
was their chartered function. the CIA began to create events that 
shaped history. 

With the formation of the National Security Agency in 1952, the CIA 
was relieved of most of the responsibility for gathering intelligence 
but even though it had outlived its original function, the agency 
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continued to grow in personnel and budget. They were left with little 
more to do that play 'What if1 games; speculative contingency 
planning like, IIJs there a pharmaceutical solution to the growing 
unrest among Blacks and Native Americans?11 The experiment in 
Jonestown was conceived from just such speculation 

Jim Jones worked for the CIA but that does not exclude the distinct 
possibility that he only worked through the agency for his true 
employer, the Nazis. As a youngster he studied the Nazis, later he 
would employ Nazis in his Peoples Temple that was structured along 
fascist lines. When the FBI searched Jones' San Francisco office after 
the massacre they found that half the books in his personal library 
were about behavior modification and the other half were about Nazi 
Germany. The odyssey that ended in Jonestown. began some fifteen 
years earlier in Brazil when Jones received his life assignment, 
presumably but not necessarily, from his CIA employer ... 

... Until 1983, the chief Nazi-hunter in the U.S. government was Allen 
Ryan, but, by this third year of the Reagan administration, most 
attempts to identify Nazis in government {and particularly in the CIA) 
were circumvented by President Reagan and Vice President Bush { a 
former director of the CIA). Reagan gave the agency sweeping new 
powers to spy on American citizens at home, operate domestic front 
companies and prosecute anyone who identified Agency personnel. 
He increased their budget and approved construction of a new wing 
on their headquarters. The recent growth of the CIA is indicative of a 
fascist, right wing wave that is presently rampant in the United 
States ... 

Where is the accountability of our government? Itemized accounting shows that 
Jones received millions of dollars from the federal government which he used to 
fmance the experiment in Jonestown. Even the tractor that transported the 
assassins to the site of congressman Ryan's murder was "U.S. government 
surplus." Meiers asks: 

Had Jones only mastered the system and taken advantage of its 
bureaucratic inefficiencies, or did he have inside help? 

As we have heard from the Monarch survivors, sex was used by the cryptocrats to 
blackmail and reward politicians. Meiers notes this also was the pattern in the 
People's Temple: 

Sex was also used to reward and blackmail politicians both in 
California and later in Guyana where Jones would provide a number 
of Temple women to government officials who were then shown 
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photographs of their encounter and be reminded that if they refused 
to cooperate with the Temple their public careers would be ruined ... 

And from looking at some of Jones' practices we might assume that we might fmd 
them in use by the cryptocracy. Meiers says that Jones required his closest 
trustees to sign a "self-confession statement" as a test of "loyalty:" 

The three basic confessions, dictated by Jones and signed by the 
member, attested to child molestation, homosexual acts or conspiracy 
to assassinate public officials. It wasn't long before the signer 
realized his confession might be used to blackmail him into Jones' 
service. This fear helped to blind the subject to the true danger, the 
•sheet of paper. • Jones required his top aides to sign the lower 
right-hand comer of a blank sheet of paper. It appeared harmless 
enough in comparison with the self-confession letter, but it was 
deadly ... 

The blackmailed aides would become the Temple hierarchy, the 
ruling elite and, for the most part, the only survivors of the massacre 
in Jonestown. 

Meiers does as one is wont to do, sound the a1ann - our freedoms are 
endangered: 

For our democracy to survive into the 21st century, Americans need 
to understand that their lives and freedom are in danger from an 
enemy that most believe was defeated over forty years ago. We are 
now only fifty years into Rimmler's plan to purify the race of man in 
the first one hundred twenty-five years of the Thousand Year Reich. It 
would seem that the plan is still on schedule. Fifty years ago, the 
Nazis had to manually identify homosexuals and drug addicts, 
transport them to the death camps that they had to build, pay for the 
guards, the cyanide, and the disposal of the corpses, all under public 
scrutiny and the chance that eventually they would have to answer 
for their genocidal crimes ... 

... The Himmlers, Mengeles, Laytons, and Joneses of this world have 
planned a "wat' very different from the nuclear demise that most 
envision but nonetheless devastating. Just as the Crystal Night 
began the first Holocaust and the second World War, so too the 
White Night began he second holocaust and your future . It is very 
important. Millions of lives are in the balance. 

Meiers presents an annotated bibliography of over 30 books written about 
Jonestown. "Some are government propaganda," Meiers writes, "others are a 
defense of the author's or the church's involvement with Jim Jones." He traces 
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the media propaganda and the cover-up that ensued in the aftermath of 
Jonestown: 

... the most interesting aspect of the New York Times' treatment of 
the Jonestown subject is not the contributors or distortions but, 
oddly, the placement of the articles in their newspaper. Most are 
adjacent to the articles on the CIA and the Nazis. A prime example is 
the December 4, 1980 edition which included the CIA's ultimate 
defense. The article, entitled "House Committee Clears CIA of Role in 
People's Temple Cult• reported, 

The House Intelligence Committee has found 
'no evidence at all" that the Central Intelligence 
Agency was involved with the People's Temple 
commune in Guyana before the mass murders and 
suicides there in November 1978. 

The House Intelligence Committee was responding to Congressman 
Ryan's staff and others close enough to the story to at least suspect 
that the CIA sponsored the experiment. Their 'no evidence at all" 
statement was one of the most blatant lies in the post-Jonestown 
propaganda campaign. 

Adjacent to that story, the Times printed an article entitled, •CIA 
Linked to Mind-Control Drug Experiments." Citing documents 
released a day earlier under the Freedom of Information Act, the story 
outlined how the CIA had conducted a mind-control experiment on 
eight Black inmates at the Federal Addiction Research Center in 
Lexington, Kentucky back in 1963. Previously released documents 
detailed the CIA's mind-control experiments with LSD at that same 
facility but these later experiments used a mysterious hallucinogenic 
called BZ that ~ a very long lasting drug which causes marked 
changes in mental functioning. • According to the article, "The Army 
had a similar program,• (presumably within the Army's Chemical 
Warfare Division under the c:liiection of Dr. Laurence Layton). 

It was more than just a coincidence that the CIA would be absolved 
of any wrongdoing in the Jonestown affair on the same day that they 
released documents incriminating themselves in a smaller scale 
experiment. The uncanny timing suggests that the agency's M K 
ULTRA division was plea-bargaining. Cleared of the major crime, 
they admitted to a lesser one. An overall study of the Times' habit of 
placing articles on Jonestown adjacent to articles on the CIA and the 
Nazis raises questions as to their motives. Perhaps they simply 
recognized that these three seemingly unrelated subjects would 
interest the same type of reader but there is a strong chance that the 
New York Times recognized the truth about Jonestown but were 
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either afraid to print it or censored from doing so. By placing articles 
on these three subjects together, they implied a connection to the 
amazement of conspiracy researchers and, no doubt, the irritation of 
the CIA. 

Perhaps we do have The New York Times editors to thank for their attempt to say 
what they were not allowed to say outright There had been a concerned attempt, 
Meiers concludes, to suppress information, stifle investigations, censor writers 
and manipulate public opinion . 

... The propaganda campaign that assaulted society following the 
experiment in Jonestown is extremely complex and, in many ways, 
more difficult to comprehend than the experiment itself. The story is 
full of agents and counteragents, provocateurs and informants of 
dubious intention. Some worked for Jim Jones or the CIA, others for 
themselves as a self-defense of their personal involvement with the 
Peoples Temple. Those few who worked for the truth were too often 
misled by their sources. The only conclusion that can be reached with 
any certainty is that the group of people who helped formulate the 
public's opinion of the White Night was comprised of various villains 
and victims. 

Meiers' most startling revelation is that Jones and those closest to him escaped 
after the massacre into Venezuela: 

The Reverend Jim Jones is alive, wealthy, secure and conceivably 
sipping pina coladas on the veranda as he reads this first published 
account of his escape from the carnage he created in Jonestown. 

It was reported by a number of his followers that Jones had several doubles. 
Meiers believes the body which was supposed to be Jones' was a double. 

In the aftermath of the massacre, a corpse was discovered in front of 
the throne among the nine hundred others in and around the pavilion. 
It was tentatively identified as J"un Jones. Unlike most of the other 
victims, the body had not been poisoned but shot once behind the 
left ear. It was presumed that he had been murdered by a disen­
chanted follower as the gun was found some thirty yards away but 
this will never be established for certain because nitrate and neutron 
activation tests were not performed to determine if there were 
trances of gunpowder on Jones' hands. Such tests are standard 
procedure in deaths where there is a question as to murder or 
suicide ... 
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The corpse, identified as Jim Jones, was allowed to rot in the jungle 
heat for four days before it was removed. No attempt was made to 
presetve the remains. The body was not refrigerated ( not even in the 
temporary morgue set up at the Georgetown airport). This may be 
due in part to the U.S. State Department's original plan to bury all the 
dead in a mass grave in Jonestown. without identification or 
autopsy ... 

... The FBI was not positive that the body was Jim Jones, only that the 
body was the same man arrested as Jim Jones five years earlier. 
There were no other records of Jones' prints. The authenticity of the 
LAPD files was never questioned and the case was mistakenly 
closed ... 

Meiers says that the CIA is not responsible for the Jonestown atrocity, but they are 
accountable for il He states the obvious, that any government or agency is only 
as good or as bad as the people it employs. And he laments the lack of chain of 
command in the CIA which is not typical of say, military organizations. But 
methinks he lets the CIA off too easy, at least for the murder of Leo Ryan. One of 
the first things a homicide dick does in a murder investigation is to establish a 
motive. The CIA certainly had the motive to lure Congressman Ryan to Jonestown 
and to certain death . 

... (Ryan's) interest in the CIA became the dominant factor in Ryan's 
life in Washington. .. (his) concern over the CIA's domestic spy 
operations was legitimate and well founded. It bad been reported 
that there were more intelligence agents illegally operating in Ryan's 
San Mateo county and the adjacent Santa Clara County than in all 
other parts of the United States combined; Washington. D.C. 
included. The area, dubbed Silicon Valley, bad evolved to become the 
center of high technology in the U.S. and boasted the highest 
concentration of military and industrial secrets in the world ... 

... Ryan, who was a member of the Government Information and 
Individual Rights Subcommittee, accurately perceived the CIA's 
presence in California as a threat to the rights of the citizenry. The 
main problem was that many CIA operatives were violating the law 
in the pursuit of their work. Innocent citizens were being hurt in the 
name of national security, and Ryan was concerned. 

Meiers notes that several factors encouraged the CIA to break the laws of 
California. There were no detailed instructions to operatives, after all, and too 
much was left up to the discretion of individual agents. Besides, in a 
compartmentalized agency where the need-to-know applies, the right hand 
usually does care what the left one is doing. 
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Many agents believed that their secretive work in U.S. security was 
above the law and their higher purpose gave them license to break 
the law. Some thought their work was special, others thought that 
they were special. This egotistical attitude remains a problem to this 
day. 

Also, there were agents who used their cover and contracts to further 
criminal activities they would have pursued even if they were not 
employed by the agency. This group was the inevitable criminal 
element found everywhere ... 

In 1994, one of our sources reported that organized crime was giving large sums 
of money to help undennine the CIA which "has taken over drugs, prostitution, 
pornography, and the slave trade." According to this Don, "Now, we work for 
them, and we don't like il There's no honor among them." 

If Congressman Leo Ryan had lived, things today would have been differenl 
Almost as soon as he got to Washington Ryan authored the Hughes-Ryan 
Amendment to the National hsistance Acl It would be the only piece of 
legislation he would introduce in his six years in Congress. It transferred 
responsibility for overseeing the CIA from the Anned Forces Committee, which 
too often turned a blind eye to the agency's activities, to the International 
Relations Committee of both houses of Congress. The CIA fought the Act mightily 
and would have succeeded in squelching it had it not been for Ryan's impeccable 
timing -- Ryan introduced the bill at the height of the Watergate scandal. 

-
The Hughes-Ryan Amendment passed into law, earning Leo Ryan 
two distinctions; a seat on the International Relations CIA Oversight 
Committee and a very prominent position on the CIA's list of 
enemies .. 

Ryan's new legislation required the agency to account for all the money it spent 
for covert operations after congressional approval. It was as part of his work on 
the Committee that Ryan discovered evidence to support the contention that the 
CIA had sponsored several cults that practiced mind control. He was quoted as 
saying, "Well, something has to be done about those people." 

Instead, they did something about Congressman Ryan. 
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33 

THE FIRE IN WACO 

Perhaps not since the Reichstag flre in Nazi Germany have flames leaped so 
visibly onto the pages of history. The flames in both Waco and the Reichstag ftres 
were fueled by mind control. At least that's the impression you get when you read 
attorney Paul D. Wllcher's letter to Attorney General Janet Reno. 

Dated May 21st, 1993 the letter begins with no salutation, the phone numbers of 
Ms. Reno, Justice Department Communications Director Carl Stem, 
Appointments Secretary Melilssa Muller, Assistant Attorney General Richard 
Scruggs, and James Kramarsic, Special Ops - CIA. With a typical lawyerly lack of 
style the letter begins: 

RE: (1) Vital NEW information concerning the conflagration at David 
Koresh's Branch Davidian compound, "Ranch Apocalypse," outside 
Waco, Texas, on Monday, April 19th, 1993, which is now being kept 
from you and covered up- i.e., that what happened was NOT a 
"mass suicide," but rather a MASS MURDER. 

(2) The meaning and significance of this NEW information -
particularly with respect to the Justice Department's ongoing Waco 
investigation, and future indictments and prosecutions- i.e., you are 
headed totally in the WRONG direction (italics are shown as 
underlinings in the letter) - because Bush Administration holdovers 
in the Justice Department, along with others tied to the CIA, are 
preventing you from ever learning the truth about what actually 
happened in Waco; 

(3) The extreme sensitivity of this information, and my specific 
proposal as to how you should handle it. The lives of key participants, 
other witnesses, and even myself are now in grave danger as a result 
of my passing this information on to you. If you let this information fall 
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into the hands of the wrong persons, some or all of those who know 
the truth about Waco and are now prepared to come forward and 
testify could well be "silenced" (i.e., MURDERED in the ve.ry near 
futur). 

(4) And the extreme importance of this information to the overall 
quality of justice under the Clinton Administration, to your own place 
in history as Attorney General, and to President Clinton's very life 
and personal safety. This information, if handled in the manner I 
have spelled out in detail below, presents you and President Clinton 
with a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to expose, confront, and 
hopefully root out much of the system-wide corruption wbicb bas been 
at the core of the federal government for at least the past 30 years. 

The letter then reads:" DEAR ATTORNEY GENERAL RENO" in caps. 

The purpose of this letter ... is for me to deliver to you extremely 
sensitive information about the deaths of the 86 men, women, and 
children who perished at the Branch Davidian compound on Monday, 
April 19th, 1993, and the truth about how it all happened. 

But even more important, my purpose here is to demonstrate how the 
Waco tragedy fits into a much bigger (and far uglier) picture, and to 
present my specific, detailed plan as to how you should attack the 
overall problem at its root causes. 

The plan I am offering here is not at all what you might expect, at 
first glance, for it is far more comprehensive, and deals with far 
deeper root causes than you have thus far been made aware of (sic). 
Indeed, although you may not realize it, you are still surrounded in 
the Justice Department, the FBI, the BA TF and elsewhere throughout 
the government by Reagan-Bush holdovers many of whom are 
determined that you will NEVER learn about the core issues and 
ugly truths which I have laid out for you here in some detail .. . " 

Full of hope, and apparently not knowing Janet Reno, WJ.lcher expressed his 
optimism that Ms. Reno would use her good office to "attack the system-wide 
corruption which has been at the core of the federal government for at least the 
past 30 years, and to bring about the most fundamental and far-reaching changes, 
in terms of restoring basic honesty and integrity, which have occurred in our 
national government for at least the past generation." 

WJ.lcher then launched into a long section entitled Wli4T IS THE RIG In' THING 
TO DO? The prose is filled with citations of law and excerpts from Reno's own 
rhetoric. Especially noteworthy is where WJ.lcher quotes Reno saying: 
" ... sometimes doing the right thing is very politically unpopular, Sometimes it 
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will be painful, for it will, of necessity, hurt someone. But with strength and 
courage, let us face that question unafraid, and together seek justice for all." 

The subject of mind control is introduced on page four when Wilcher writes: 
"David Koresh had an extensive CIA background ... he was known in CIA circles as 
a "sleeper" -someone who had been subjected to extensive CIA "mind control" 
training and programming ... " 

Wilcher said that it was not a coincidence that all these events were occurring in 
or near Waco, Texas -"since Waco is a major center for such CIA "mind control" 
experimentation and programming - with much of this activity occurring at the 
CIA's Leadership Management Institute in Waco." Wllcher pointed out that 
"similar CIA-sponsored "cults" are located across the country including in such 
places as Salt Lake City, Utah; Provo, Utah; Logan, Utah; Boise, Idaho; and San 
Francisco, California," and that one or all of these other "cults can likewise 
'explode' onto the front pages of the press at any time the CIA deems appropriate, 
in order to accomplish its pre-determined, hidden, right-wing political agenda." 

Wllcher indicated to Reno that he knew who had committed the murders, who 
had ordered them, and who had been part of the chain of command. He then 
lapsed into more recitation of Disciplinary Rules and Codes of Professional 
Responsibility from the American Bar Foundation all of which had bearing on 
ethical considerations for Reno. In fact he was outlining for Reno reasons why she 
must begin to weed her own garden in the Justice Department as well as within 
the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the Bureau of Alcohol Tobacco and 
Firearms (BATF) . 

Thoroughly covering the details of the lies told by government employees at 
Waco, Wllcher wrapped up the motivational part of his argument and launched 
into a background briefing on events leading to the February 28th BATF raid on 
the Davidian compound: 

1) To begin with, Vernon Wayne Howell, also known as David 
Koresh, had connections to the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). 

2) Indeed, he and six (6) of the men in his inner circle were known 
among CIA covert operatives as "sleepers1

' - persons whom the 
Agency had performed mind control experiments on, and who had 
been preprogrammed to carry out specific pieces of CIA "dirty 
business" at some point in the future, once a specific cue or signal 
was given to them by their contact persons or "handlers" within the 
Agency. 

3) Third, David Koresh was vezy mucb like the Reverend Jim Jones, 
in that he, too, was 'a gangster who used a Bible instead of a gun ... ' 
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In a Note, Wtlcher remarked: "Jonestown was NOT a mass suicide, any more than 
Waco was. Instead, Jonestoum, like Waco, was a mass murder- in order to 
guarantee that there would be NO survivors to tell about the CIA's extensive mind 
control experiments which had been performed on those mostly-black victims in 
Guyana. 

The letter resumed: 

4) Fourth, David Koresh was also very much like Charlie Manson, in 
that he, Jones, and Manson all demanded and received total 
domination over, and total submission from, all of the men, women, 
and children in his group. 

5) And like the Reverend Jim Jones and Charlie Manson, David 
Koresh likewise had received much of his mind control training at the 
hands of the CIA, and was a product of their system. 

6) In other words, David Koresh may have been what most people 
would consider a thoroughly disgusting, and mentally disturbed, 
megalomaniac. But he was the CIA's megalomaniac- or at least 
someone they were all to happy to use for their devious right-wing 
purposes if and when the opportunity ever presented itself. 

7) Indeed, David Koresh and these six (6) other men in his inner circle 
had apparently been pre-programmed by the CIA to become, on cue, 
'Manchurian-Candidate- type' robot assassins. 

Here Wtlcher inserted another note: 

This is one of the most crucially important pieces of information 
concerning this entire scenario. Koresh and his six (6) fellow 'sleepers' 
were apparently pre-programmed by the CIA to become 'wind up, use 
once, then throw away' robot-type assassins -much like: 

(a) Sirhan B. Sirhan, the man used as the CIA 'patsy' iD the 
assassination of Senator Robert Kennedy on June 5th 1968 .. . 

(b) David Hinckley, the man used as the CIA 'patsy' in the 
attempted assassination of President Ronald Reagan on March 31, 
1981 ... 

8) The CIA has apparently been able to produce 
'Manchurian-Candidate-type' robot assassins ever since the late 
1940's, using methods reminiscent of the 'brain washing' we have all 
heard about in Soviet (and American) prisoner of war camps and 
prisons - as well as far more sophisticated and sinister techniques 
which have been developed and perfected over the intervening years. 

9) One of the most important features of this kind of mind control 
programming of 'brain washing' is the fact that critical segments of 
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the subject's memory - including most or all of the programming 
experience itself- are erased (or at least suppressed and deeply 
buried), with new false 'memories' implanted into the subjects 
unconscious mind in their place. Indeed, all of this mind, behavior, 
and memory alteration is done at the subconscious or unconscious 
level. 

Indeed, once the CIA's programming has been completed, memory 
blocks are installed into the subject's subconscious mind to make it 
next-to-impossible for him ever to recover these critical mind- and 
behavior-altering experiences from his internal memory bank. 

Therefore, since he is unable to remember what was done to him­
or when, where, how, or under what circumstances it happened- he 
is also virtually helpless to confront and overcome what his CIA 
programmers have done to him. he is thus at their 'mercy' from then 
on- though, of course, they have NO mercy. 

10) Then, at some time in the future, upon being given a specific 
secret signal - known in advance only to his CIA 'handlers' and his 
subconscious mind, and which to any untrained person (such as a 
husband, wife, coworker, etc.) would be overlooked as being totally 
innocuous - he will automatically revert back to carrying out 
whatever behavior he has been pre-programmed to perform on cue -
nearly always some violent or criminal act against a person or group 
the CIA has targeted for destruction. At least, that's how such mind 
control programming is supposed to work. 

11) It is also important to note that such mind control programming 
generally includes one or more pre-programmed 'self-destruct' 
responses, so that the subject can be ordered by his handlers to 
commit 'suicide'- again, as a kind of mindless, trance-like, robotic 
response which he would not even be consciously aware he was 
being ordered to do, or that he was actually carrying out, until it was 
too late to save him - if and when his handlers ever deem it 
necessary for him NOT to be available for questioning by persons 
who might be able to uncover the truth about his secret programming 
and/or what tasks he had been pre-programmed to perform in his 
trance-like robotic state. 

These 'self-destruct' responses would typically be triggered by the 
subject's handlers once he had successfully performed his 
preassigned mission, or once that mission had been called off or 
altered - or under any other scenario under which he would no 
longer be of any value to the Agency - as a way of protecting his 
handlers, and the Agency itself, from any exposure, liability or 
accountability - under what is called 'plausible deniability.' 
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David Koresh's psychological profile, however, showed him NOT to 
be a person ever likely to commit suicide. 

Wilcher went on to cover the programming of Candy Jones and the death of 
George DeMohrenschildt, much as it has been covered in this book before. He also 
devotes a number of pages to the CIA's use of D.C. Police and U.S. Park Service 
Officers to cover what Wilcher says were CIA covert operations in which six black 
men were murdered in Pershing Park, two blocks from the White House. These 
pages are all worth reading, but due to space considerations I have deleted them. 
We pick up the letter again after that: 

16) Mind Control and Memozy Blocks to Ease the Consciences of the 
CIA's PROFESSIONAL killers: 

Thus far, we have been discussing mind control and memory blocks 
in the context of the CIA's 'Manchurian- Candidate-type' robot 
assassins- those low-level individuals -like Sirhan Sirhan, David 
Hinckley, Mark David Chapman (who assassinated the Beatles' lead 
singer/songwriter John Lennon), and the six (6) Black men murdered 
in Pershing Park- persons who are programmed by the Agency to 
be used only once then 'thrown away' and discarded- i.e ., persons 
who are destined e ither to be killed or imprisoned for the rest of their 
lives, once they have performed their pre-ordained secret mission. 

In other. words, these low-level individuals are highly expendable -
particularly when getting rid of them will preserve the 'plausible 
deniability' that the Agency had anything to do with their training, 
conduct, or activities. 

In the context of these low-level individuals, the mind control 
programming we have been discussing is used not only to condition 
the desired robotic response to a pre-ordained secret signal, but also 
to prevent the subject from remembering anything to do with their 
training, conduct, or activities. 

In the context of these low-level individuals, the mind control 
programming we have been discussing is used not only to condition 
the desired robotic response to a pre-ordained secret signal, but also 
to prevent the subject from remembering anything about the 
conditioning and programming experience, so that he is virtually 
helpless to counteract or overcome it - without many years of deep 
hypnosis and therapy - as in the case of Candy Jones ... 

There is, however, a totally different category of covert operatives 
employed by the CIA- the real PROFESSIONAL killers- who are 
used for multiple high-level, top secret missions, over an entire 
lifetime. These top-level'black' operatives are generally PJ,en of 
extraordinary intelligence, education, talent, training, and experience, 
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and it is into their hands that most of the real 'dirty work' of the 
Agency- including top-level assassinations - is entrusted. 

For example, the Agency will use a low-level programmed robot -
like a Sirhan Sirhan or a David Hinckley - to be the 'patsy' for a 
top-level assassination, or assassination attempt (like the murder and 
attempted murder of Senator Robert Kennedy and President Reagan, 
respectively). But they rarely entrust the task of actually pulling the 
trigger in such a high-profile case to such a low-level 'cut-out. ' 

Instead, the real work in such top-level assassinations is carried out 
only by the Agency's true PROFESSIONAL killers -persons who are 
NOT used just once and then discarded, but who, instead, are used 
over and over again, year in and year out, for nearly all of the 
Agency's most secret and sensitive 'dirty work.' 

'Wet' Ops: Such 'dirty work' is generally referred to, among 'black' 
operatives within the Agency, as 'wet' operations- operations 
where one or more persons are to be killed, where human blood is to 
be spilled. 

•DEBRIEF1NGS AFTER CIA 'WET' OPERATIONS 

The normal procedure is that after each 'black' or 'wet' operation, all 
persons participating in or connected with the operation are totally 
debriefed by a special debriefing team sent from Agency 
headquarters - including a psychiatrist skilled in the various mind 
control and memory block techniques we have been discussing. 

In this debriefing, each member of the 'wet' team is required to recite 
to the debriefing team exactly what happened dwing the operation, 
in a precise, step-by-step, detailed manner. Each member's recitation 
is generally repeated several times - once normally, once under 
hypnosis, once with a polygraph, and once under scopolamine - and 
only when the debriefers are fully satisfied that they have gotten ALL 
the details and that there are no glaring inconsistencies between 
these different recitations, is the debriefing brought to a close. 

Part of the reason for this debriefing process is to provide detailed 
records and feedback to the Agency concerning all of these top-level 
'black' and 'wet' operations- i.e., Precisely what was done? Was 
the operation a 'success '? Did it go off as planned? What mistakes, if 
any, were made? And what improvements can be made so that on 
succeeding operations, the task at hand can be accomplished even 
more professionally and expeditiously. 

WLlcher inserts another note stating that his point cannot be overstated: 
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... this means that deep within the bowels of the Central Intelligence 
Agency - if you only know where to look - you can find the detailed 
debriefing records on all of the 'black' and 'wet' operations carried 
out by the CIA over the past 30 years or so. 

You should subpoena these records immediately, Attorney General 
Reno. And once you get them- IF you ever get them- you should 
put them under the tightest security imaginable to protect them from 
being tampered with or destroyed." 

It's hard to believe that someone who could write a letter which contains the 
information this one does would be so naive as to not understand how successful 
the cryptocracy has been under the National Security Acl Wilcher appeared 
ignorant of the extent of the cryptocracy's indoctrination. It has gotten virtually 
everyone in Congress and the Judicial and the executive to support it so that it 
can hide behind the tacit agreement among politicians that the security of this 
nation does not lie with the people, but with a secret government 

Summing up his comments on the "wet" debriefing process, Wtlcher wrote: 

Then, at the conclusion of the debriefing, once the debriefers are 
confident they have gotten ALL of the factual details, each operative 
is put under deep hypnosis, and the psychiatrist in the team implants 
memo.ry blocks into his subconscious memory: 

(a) first, to make it far more difficult for him to remember what he 
and his other 'wet' team members did during the operation- i.e., to 
block many of the gorey details as to precisely how each of the 
persons targeted for 'eUmination ' was 'taken out' (i.e., murdered)­
so that he will be less likely to be troubled by recurring nightmares 
concerning what be and his team members have just done; and 

(b) second, to alleviate the guilt which would otherwise be 
associated with these memories, and to allow him to justify in his 
mind, to the extent he is able to remember what happened, that what 
be and his fellow team members did was 'praise-worthy' rather than 
highly criminal - i.e ., that the person or persons they murdered were 
a 'menace' to society and deserve to die, and that he was doing this 
country a valuable service by eliminating these 'targets' from society. 

Of course, these memories of what he and his fellows have done on 
these various 'wet' operations are never completely erased, and can, 
with work, be fully recovered (barring physical damage to the brain). 
But at least these mental blocks make it easier for the operative to 
live with himself and his conscience, and help to keep these vivid 
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and gorey images from flooding into his consciousness, and 
becoming obsessive thoughts and recurring nightmares. 

These memory blocks are also a way for the operative to justify his 
having acted as the targets' accuser, prosecutor, judge, jury, and 
executioner- all in one fell swoop, without the target's having been 
given the benefit of ANY due process whatsoever- i.e ., NO notice, 
NO hearing, NO right to confront and cross-examine his accusers, NO 
right to put on a defense, NO right to testify personally or call 
witnesses in his behalf, and NO right to be tried before an honest 
judge and a jury of his peers, according to the laws and the 
Constitution of the United States. 

These memory blocks thus help the operative to suppress all these 
troubling thoughts which might otherwise disturb his waking hours 
or his restful sleep - thoughts which might otherwise force him to 
re-examine his calling as one of the CIA's top professional killers, and 
to consider seriously whether he ought to pursue some other line of 
work. 

In discussing the pros and cons of "wet" operations, Wtlcher revealed the extent 
to which he, himself, had bought into the "myth of National Security." He said 
that there may be some argument in favor of such 'wet' operations to take out 
foreign agents. Overlooking the glaring historical reality that whenever a "good" 
civilization employed ruthless and immoral tactics of an "evil" enemy civilization 
to fight it, those tactics eventually came to be applied at home against the people, 
and the "good" nation became as "evil" as the one it was fighting. Islam teaches 
that the greatest war is always the war one f.ghts within. The result of sinking to 
the level of the enemy has always been, both in the sphere of geopolitics as well as 
in the singular life of an individual, self defeat. Or as Pogo said, "I have seen the 
enemy and the enemy is us." 

Wtlcher did argue, however, that he could see no excuse for using '"wet" 
operations to take out innocent American men, women and children such as the 
85 who were killed at the Branch Davidian compound. 

Returning to the letter at point 17, Wtlcher wrote: 

The point to be made here is that David Koresh and bis 6 fellow 
'sleepers' were low-level 'Macburian-Candiate-type' programmed 
robot assassins - who were scheduled to be used at some point in 
the future, but who had NOT been used for their pre-ordained secret 
missions-

Note Well: whereas the 'wet' team that went in to 'take them out' 
were some of the CIA's top professional killers. 

The term 'sleeper' in this context connotes: 
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(a) that the mind control programming which had been done on 
Koresh and his inner circle had probably been done a number of years 
earlier; 

(b) that the secret instructions implanted deep into their 
subconscious memories had lain dormant over the intervening years; 

(c) that the CIA now had to arouse Koresh and the other 6 from their 
'sleep' -i.e., to reactivate the secret conditioned responses 
implanted into their subconscious memories - in order to get them 
to perform their pre-ordained secret missions on cure, wherever the 
CIA deemed it appropriate: and 

(d) that the CIA could also activate the secret 'self-destruct' signal, 
discussed on pages 20 to 22 above, to cause the robotic 'suicides' of 
Koresh and his inner circle, one they had been (sic) performed their 
secret mission, or at any other time the CIA decided they were no 
longer of any use to the Agency. 

Wilcher then went on to discuss Koresh's enormous stockpile of weapons, saying 
that he believes the arms were accumulated with the apparent knowledge and 
consent of the CIA over a period of several years. Wilcher believed that Koresh had 
acquired the arsenal for a specific purpose which was not just self defense, but 
rather for the purpose of carrying out whatever secret assignments they were to 
be given by their CIA 'handlers." 

He said the reason Koresh was so skilled in controlling his followers was that he 
and the other five "sleeper agents" in his inner circle had been through such 
intensive and total mind control programming themselves. It is not clear whether 
he presumes they had been totally or partially deprogrammed along the way so 
that they could remember their programming codes, cues and triggers. Without 
them, and without full recall and extensive deprogramming the fact that they had 
been through such a process would be of no use to their "conscious" minds. 

Wilcher says that the reason behind the original raid by the BATF on February 
28th was "not to surprise Koresh, or to take him peacefully. The purpose was to 
be as heavy handed, and as UNsubtle, as possible - so that Koresh and his fellow 
"sleepers' could not possibly miss the message: "Either shape up and get back 
into line, or 'take you out'- Le., 'WE WILL KILL YOU." 

In the letter to Reno, Wilcher said that the message the cryptocracy wanted to 
give was not for the six "sleepers" within the compound, but to others who might 
be getting out of line elsewhere: 

"Be prepared to carry out the orders we will give you, exactly as you have been 
pre-programmed to do, or you and all your loved ones will have hell to pay for 
your disobedience." 
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Wucher makes note of what others were also to independently note, that in the 
ensuing siege of the Branch Davidian compound there were certain BATF agents 
who were targeted to be killed. Linda Thompson's video of the Waco siege shows 
four ATF agents being killed by a fifth agent after they've crawled into a window 
from the roof. 

Wtlcher told Reno that Waco was an important tool of a psyops campaign waged 
against the American people. "The bottom line here," he said, "is that this 
propaganda we were being fed by the CIA was to pave the way for a general 
acceptance of the imposition of martial law when situations like this 'get out of 
hand' which is the way the CIA wants us to view its 51-day siege of the Branch 
Davidian compound in Waco." 

Maintaining that the main purpose of the Waco attack by the BATF was "to 
control the subconscious minds and wills of Koresh and his followers", Wtlcher 
told Reno that a variety of technologies were used over the entire 51-day siege 
following the initial February 28th raid. The news reported some of the psyops 
aspects of the siege accurately. They made no secret that the FBI was shining 
high-powered spotlights onto the compound at night and bombarding it with 
various kinds of sounds like "acid rock music, Tibetan chants, Christmas songs" 
and so forth. It was obviously meant to annoy and deprive the people inside the 
compound of sleep. The news accounts quoted the FBI spokesmen as saying that 
if the sounds worked the inhabitants of Apocalypse Ranch would become more 
pliable to the FBI's demands to surrender peacefully and there would be no loss of 
life. Wtlcher told Reno the truth was far different: 

... these incessant loud and obnoxious noises .. . were merely the cover 

... for what was really bombarding the compound and its occupants 
- 20 gigahertz microwave transmissions, designed to be as stressful 
and destructive to the human physiology, inner ear, psyche, and 
mental stability as possible. 

In short, the CIA has perfected the use of such high-intensity 
microwave transmissions on human subjects to such an extent they 
are absolutely certain that over time, such transmissions are beyond 
the ability of most human beings to endure, and that sooner or later, 
they will drive any normal person crazy -literally- or provoke him 
or her to suicide or murder. 

One example of the CIA's use of the high-intensity microwave 
transmissions on a human subject occurred during the U.S. invasion 
of Panama, when General Manuel Noriega fled to the Vatican 
Embassy for sanctuary. What the press reported was that the military 
bombarded the Vatican Embassy with very loud acid rock "music." 
What they didn't tell us was that ... 'music' was, again, only the mask 
to cover what was really being beamed at General Noriega - these 
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same density microwave transmissions (are) known to be beyond the 
limits of most human beings to endure - at least over any extended 
period of time. 

"And remember," WJ.lcher wrote, "that at the Branch Davidian compound, these 
high-intensity microwave transmissions continued, almost without interruption, 
day and night, throughout the entire length of the 51-day siege - and that there 
were more than 20 children in the compotmd all this time! 

((No wonder you were concerned about the gross mistreatment of these children, 
Attorney General Reno!" WJ.lcher wrote. "But what the Reagan and Bush 
holdovers in the Justice Department, FBI, and BATF failed to tell you was that it 
was our oum FBI and CIA who were responsible for mistreating these children -
through these high-intensity microwave transmissions bombarding the 
compound for 51 days/" 

Apparently what no one told WJ.lcher was, with the cryptocracy in control of the 
public consciousness there is nothing but "holdovers" from one administration to 
another. In fact, it doesn't matter whether a Democrat or a Republican is in the 
White House. Whoever is there, occupies it with the consent of the cryptocracy. 
This goes for appointees as well, Janet Reno included. 

"Also included in these bombarding transmissions," WJ.lcher wrote, "were 
Nero-Linguistic Programming (NLP) and other subliminal messages designed to 
reach the subconscious minds of Koresh and his 6 fellow 'sleepers,' in order to 
reassert the CIA's mind control over them, and to make them more pliant and 
obedient to the CIA's commands and domination ... " 

(The reader is advised to obtain Genie Laborde's landmark book on NLP entitled 
Influencing With Integrity, by Syntony Press, or any of Anthony Robbins works to 
gain a balanced view of this emerging science.) 

Wtlcher's letter to Reno maintains that the original plan behind the siege of 
Koresh's compound (which we assume he got from his informants who were 
ready to come forward) was to have "The Delta Force" make a night raid on the 
compound. The Delta Force is no secrel It is an elite commando style military 
unit composed of specially trained members of the Army, Navy, Air Force, and 
Marines, operating under the command of the Joint Chiefs of Staff and the CIA. 
Delta was to apply the elements of surprise and lightning-quick speed for which · 
they are especially trained, to bring everyone out alive except for David Koresh 
and his six fellow "CIA sleepers." 

"Those seven men," WJ.lcher wrote Reno, "were to be killed- no questions asked 
-period." 
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"You have reported to the nation, Attorney General Reno," Wtlcher reminded 
her," that you met with President Clinton on Sunday, April 18th, and that after 
outlining the plan you had given to him, and going over it in some detail, he told 
you to go ahead -IF YOU THOUG!n' THIS WAS THE RIG In' THING TO DO. 
(Wtlcher' s caps.) 

You have also reported to the nation that having given the ultimate 
go ahead for the plan, you (and President Clinton) are the ones 
ultimately responsible for what happened in Waco on Monday, April 
19th, 1993. 

That, however, is simply NOT true, Attorney General Reno. What 
happened in Waco is NOT your fault. Nor is it President Clinton's 
fault. For, the Reagan and Bush holdovers at the Justice Department, 
the FBI, the BATF, and the CIA, etc., who carefully planned and 
orchestrated this disaster, never informed you as to what their secret 
right-wing political agenda was in all this . Therefore, neither you nor 
President Clinton had any idea what had actually been planned for 
this operation in Waco - much less any hint of the secret agenda 
which was to be served by this mass murder and cover up to protect 
the criminal machinations of the CIA. 

Here, we think ,Wllcher was wrong again in his assumption that the occupants of 
the oval office and their appointees are not part of the cryptocracy (until the 
National Security Act is repealed and the cryptocracy weeded out or overthrown). 

But to continue with Wllcher's letter in which his "sources" have informed him 
on the details of events that, if true, only insiders could have known. 

On the 18th the Parkland Hospital in Dallas was alerted to be prepared to receive a 
large number of serious bum victims from Waco the following day. 

On the morning of the 19th Delta Force commandos were on alert, ready to carry 
out the first plan, had it been approved. Wllcher said that this was not just an 
ordinary Delta team, but a special team of select CIA professional killers trained to 
accomplish a mass murder so that it could be covered up to look like a Jonestown 
style mass suicide. 

This Delta Force team was composed of 15 men, Wllcher said, headed by a 
Lieutenant Colonel who was a CIA liaison officer. They flew into Texas on their 
own C-130 belonging to "Triangle". Of the 15 men there were two 4-man teams, 
the one which actually made the insertion into the compound and a backup team, 
which apparently was never used. The team wore black, and looked like all the 
other FBI officers on the ground. 

The nation watched on CNN that morning as the Ml-Al tanks punched holes in 
the exterior walls of the compound's living quarters. What was not visible was the 
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gas that was pumped into the compound, gas which the press later reported to be 
tear gas. 

This tear gas, had been designed to be used for crowd control- i.e., 
it was so virulent and irritating that even in a fresh air, out-of-doors 
situation, it was guaranteed to cause people to flee from its presence 
instantly simply in order to be able to breathe ... 

Now, it was being used in a closed, indoor, living quarters situation 
where 95 men, women, and children were trapped inside. The logical 
expectation would have been that all 95 of these persons would have 
fled out-of-doors instantly, just to be able to breathe. But strangely, 
not a single person came out of the compound - even after this 
noisome substance had been poured into the compound in enormous 
quantities over a period of several hours. 

The logical question therefore arises, Why? Why did not ANY of 
these 95 men, women, and children- particularly, the women and 
their children - instantly flee for fresh air into the out of doors? 

The answer given by the FBI spokesman and repeated by the newsmedia was that 
Koresh and his church members had outfitted themselves with gas masks. 
WJ.lcher told Reno that the reason the Davidians inside the compound didn't flee 
was because the tear gas contained a neuro toxin - "NERVE GAS - a virulent 
poisonous substance like curare - which instantly paralyzed and rendered 
totally helpless and defenseless all of the 95 men, women, and children inside the 
compound- except for those 9, later rescued ... For all the others, they could no 
longer coordinate their muscles in the effort required even just to get up, much 
less to flee to the life-sustaining fresh air outside, only a few feet away." 

Wilcher inserted a note after this set off, in wider margins. He wrote: 

This is an extremely serious matter, Attorney General Reno. For it 
means that here the U.S. military, the FBI, and the Justice 
Department -- all directed by the CIA -- used nerve gas on innocent 
men, women, and children in our civilian population -- and then 
proceeded to murder them in cold blood, as is set forth in detail 
below. This clearly rises to the level of War Crimes on a civilian 
population during peace time, an unspeakable human rights 
violation. 

And it was commited by our "intelligence• community against 
innocent men, women, and children -- simply to bury the truth 
concerning the CIA's criminal use of mind control programming to 
"manufacture11 Manchurian Candidate type robot assassins, whose 
very existence is an unspeakable outrage, in and of itself. 
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According to Wilcher, after the tear gas/nerve gas combination had time to do its 
paralyzing work on the men, women and children in the compound, a four-man 
"Delta Force" team, some of the CIA's top profesional assassins, made its entry 
into the compound after they were dropped onto the roof by one of the low-flying, 
heavily anned military helicopters which hovered overhead most of the day. With 
TV cameras focused on the tanks, the actual insertion into the building came at 
approximately 10:25 AM. 

Before they entered the compound .. . this 4-man team of assassins 
had received shots of atropine, the antidote to the nerve gas, so that 
they, too would NOT be overcome and paralyzed by it. 

Wilcher's letter says that the flrst thing the team did once it was inside the 
building was to subdue and kill David Koresh by putting a single bullet in the 
middle of his forehead about an inch above his eyes. The bullet was ftred from 
about four inches away. 

Relevent to this claim is an article in The Washington Post, on Tuesday, May 18th, 
1993. The article quotes forensic pathologist, Dr. Cyril H. Wecht of Pittsburg, who 
completed an independent autopsy of the bodies of David Koresh and one of his 
chief lieutenants, Steve Schneider. Wecht said that the gunshot wound in the 
middle of the forehead which killed Koresh, and the gunshot wound in the back of 
the head of Schneider, were "not typical of suicide." 

Note also that the FBI's psychological proflle of Koresh showed him not to be 
suicidal. Wilcher points out that the FBI (thorough the CIA) had access to all of 
the relevant information on him --

-- dating back to, and including, his programming to become one of 
the CIA's Manchurian Candidate type robot assassins. They must 
have known, even that early on, that the normal "self-destructH 
programmed response implanted into the subconscious psyche of 
most CIA "sleepers" would not work on Koresh. 

Consider also the point made by a teenage girl, on the NBC Nightly 
News, Tueday, May 4th, 1993, who had been a member of the Branch 
Davidian cult in Waco until shortly before the April 19th disaster. She 
stated in this interview that all of the children in the compound were 
repeatedly girlled by Koresh on precisely how to commit suicide -­
either by taking cyanide poison, or by gunshot. But she said Koresh 
always insisted that you must put the gun IN YOUR MOUTH before 
pulling the trigger. "'f you put the gun to your temple, there is always 
the danger that you might survive (as a vegetable)." 



508 W.H. Bowar! 

The New York Times, May 5th, 1993, reported that two-thirds of the bodies 
autopsied had bullet wounds in them which examiners said had been inflicted 
after the date of the initial BATF raid on February 28th. The same article stated 
that 17 of the children were killed by means of poisonous injections. Wt.lcher goes 
on to say: 

... Although I have no specific information on that point, all my other 
information-- including the fact that everyone else in the building, 
except those 9 who had been targeted to be saved -- were paralyzed 
by the nerve gas and thus had been rendered incapable of moving at 
all -- strongly suggests that these children were likewise 'taken out" 
by this CIA 'Wet' team. 

WJ.lcher went on to say that the fires were fueled by White Phosphorous, one of 
the most rearsome incendiary devices imaginable, and a favorite of "wet" teams. It 
ignites instantly, burning immediately with a white hot intensity which consumes 
everything beyond all recognition, destroying all possible forensic evidence in its 
path. WJ.lcher said: 

CIA 'Wet" teams have also been known to comer their intended 
targets into a closed quarter, and then throw "Willie Peter' (White 
phosphorous) into their midst, so that these victims were instantly 
immolated right before the team's eyes. The fire which "Willie Peter' 
produces is so intense, and the combustion so complete, that victims 
-- as was the case in Waco -- can only be identified by their dental 
records .. . 

... while the 'Wet" team did kill many of those inside the compound 
prior to setting the fires ... they apparently did not murder all of the 86 
men, women, and chilfen who ultimately died in the tragedy -­
meaning that many of those who died were left paralyzed by the 
nerve gas, unable to get up or free themselves from this disaster in 
progress, and were thus consigned to being consumed alive in the 
giant conflagration brought on by the white phosphorous. 

And those consigned to this horrible fiery fate -- being burned alive -­
apprently included men, women, and children. 

WJ.lcher inserts another note for emphasis, totalling up the number of men 
women and children (86) murdered in the compound on that Monday, April 19th, 
1993 at the hands of 4 Delta Force members. He naively tries to let Attorney 
General Reno and President Clinton off the hook saying that other "high ranking 
officials in our government ... including senior Reagan and Bush Administration 
holdovers in the Justice Department, the FBI, the BATF, the Pentagon, and the 
CIA-- all knew in advance" that this Waco operation was designed from the start 
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to be a mass murder in which only those few individuals whom the CIA had 
targeted in advance would be saved. 

Pointing out the importance of mind control to the cryptocracy Wucher wrote: 

... one of the uses the CIA makes of its mind control sophistication is 
to implant memory blocks into the subconscious memories of its top 
professional assassins -- in order to allow them to live with what they 
have done, and not to be overcome by flashbacks and nightmares of 
their uruutdiwork. u 

NOTE WELL: I have been informed that those memory blocks are 
NOT holding very well in this instance -- and that some or all of the 
four members of this particular "wet" team are sickened by what they 
were ordered to do, and what they did, in fact, "accomplish," in Waco 
on April 19th. To these hardened, seasoned, professional assassins, it 
was all"too easy." The people inside the compound (as a result of the 
nerve gas) simply "never had a chance." 

It would appear that some of the contacts Wucher had were among these Delta 
Force assassins, and twelve others (16 in all) who, were ready to come forward 
and testify about what happened inside the compound. 

Wt.lcher spoke of a "Shadow Government" which used the CIA to achieve its own 
ends. He said that it was responsible for the murder of John F. Kennedy and 175 
or more key witnesses to his assassination; Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and a 
number of witnesses to his murder; Senator Robert F. Kennedy, and witnesses; 
Malcohn ~ J. Edgar Hoover and his close associate Tolson in the midst of the 
"Watergate" scandal, Martha Mitchell, Senator John Tower, Senator John Heinz, 
Congressman Ted Weiss and John Lennon. He also said that the attempt on the 
life of President Ronald Regan was engineered by this "Shadow Government", of 
which the identity of leader would be revealed to Reno by the sixteen covert 
operatives who wished to come forward. 

Wt.lcher went on to say that the "October Surprise" caper was "treason by which 
George Bush, Ronald Reagan, and a select group of present and former CIA covert 
operatives rigged, and thus stole, the 1980 U.S. Presidential Election on 
November 4th, 1980. He claimed 50 or so witnesses were murdered over the 
years, witnesses "who could have testified as to the truth of what actually 
happened in the "Odober Surprise" and Iran -Contra scandals. 

He called this "Shadow Government" "the mother of all corruption. " .. .for the 
tentacles of this giant RICO conspiracy extend all across our nation and reached 
into all levels and functions of the federal government" He said: 
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... this ''Shadow Government" operates those functions of govememnt 
which it controls in the same manner that organized crime uses to 
run its myriad criminal racketeering enterprises. 

Indeed, that is the whole point here -- that this "Shadow Government" 
conducts the business of government, NOT in an open. honest, 
legitimate, and forthright manner, according to the laws, 
Constitution, and democratic principles of the United States, but 
rather in a secret, clandestine, and utterly illegal manner, as if they 
were running a criminal racketeering enterprise ... 

He pointed to the "wholesale theft of billions and billions of dollars from the 
Savings & Loans Associations and banks of this country by the "Intelligence .. 
community, saying that 

-- the proceeds of this massive thievery largely (was) used to fund the 
illegal "black11 operations ... (which involved) illegal gun running (out of 
this country), iillegal drug smuggling (back into this country), and 
illegal money laundering (in both directions) -- all on a massive scale 
by the 'mtelligence• community ... 

Other than the testimony ofWtlcher's client Gunther Russbacher, there is 
evidence that Koresh was the subject of hypontic programming and used it 
himself on members of his church. Among other telltale signs of mind controL 
Koresh's songs and sermons contained obvious phonetic embeds, like those used 
in hypnoprogramming. 

Phonetic embeds are a linguistic phenomenon where words are embedded inside 
other words in such a way that no one could deny thay are there. Few laymen, 
however, would admit that these mere words can influence behavior. 
Professionals however know that, if the subliminal meanings make sense, they 
can reinforce the surface meanings and produce powerful behavioral effects. As 
one scholar quipped, "The alphabet creates the infinite regress ... 

Much of the research done on phonetic embeds has been done by scholars 
studying James Joyce's Finnegan's Wake. David Koresh's letter of January 30, 
1987, while hardly equal to Joyce's masterwork in which nearly every word is a 
phonetic embed, was full of linguistic embeds, like those used in hypnosis: 

I have seven eyes and seven horns. My name is the whirred of God, 
and I ride on a white, horse. I am here on earth to give you the 
Seventh Angel's message. I have ascended from the east with the 
seal of the living god. My name is Cyrus, and I am here to destroy 
Babylon. I have come in a way that is contrary to preconceived ideas. 
I will reprove you for your world loving. 
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I will scould your daughters for their nakedness and pride that they 
parade in my Father's house, and by my angels I will strip them 
naked before all eyes because of their foolish pride. The young men 
will abuse my kindness. They will take my life but I will arise and 
take theirs forever more. Your minister's will lament your foolishness. 
Your lost flock will tear you to pieces. PREPARE TO MEET THY GOD. 

-- David Koeresh 

Paul Wilcher tried to meet with Attorney General Janet Reno on May 5th, 1993 for 
a confidential conversation. Unable to see the Attorney General, he was instead 
seen by assistant U.S. Attorney Zipperstein. 

Obviously frustrated by the sluggish bureaucratic response, on May 21st, 1993, 
Paul Wilcher sent the 105 page letter to Attorney General Reno. TV correspondent 
Sarah McClendon describe it as "very eloquent". Other than revealing that covert 
operatives were wanting to come forward with the truth about Waco and other 
secret government operations, in it was the urgent plea on the first page: 

• ... The lives of key participants, other witnesses, and even myself are 
now in grave danger as a result of my passing this information on to 
you. If you let this information fall into the hands of the wrong 
persons, some or all of those who know the truth about Waco and are 
prepared to come forward and testify could well be "silenced" (i.e., 
MURDERED) in the very near future .. . " 

Paul Wilcher's body was found on the toilel He had bled extensively from the 
colon. An autopsy was performed by a Dr. Kim who declared his findings as: "No 
cause of death". The morgue called the Washington D.C. Medical Examiner's 
office. The office sent tissue samples and Wilcher's organs to the Anned Forces 
Institute of Pathology at Walter Reed Anny Medical Center. 

Why Walter Reed? Because it is the location of directed energy biomedical 
research. The body was quickly cremated. 

Talk on the cybersam was that Wilcher had been targeted by a highly amplified 
infrasound beam. One report from the scene described Wilcher's blood as "being 
expelled from the colon while the body was being removed." This description is 
consistent with internal organ rupture. 

Host of a mind control forum on Genie, guerilla journalist Rita Hill informed the 
world about her friend Paul Wilcher (quoted with permission): 

"Attorney Paul Wilcher died where he lived: Washington D.C. His apartment was 
in a brick building in Northeast Washington in an agreeable neighborhood in a 
city known for disagreements. In the early afternoon of June 23rd, 1993, a two 
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person NBC video crew arrived at the 637 Third Street N .E. address. White House 
correspondent Sarah McClendon was on the scene soon after. The body had been 
removed two hours before, however, and no members of the news media would 
be allowed to enter the Wilcher home on this Wednesday. 

"The Washington D.C. police had contacted the FBI at about noon. Assistant 
Special Agent in Charge, James Desarno, seven other FBI agents, and a CIA agent 
would survey the location before dusk. By the next day, the forensic evidence in 
the apartment, his notes, papers, and the files in his personal computer, had all 
been cleaned oul 

Although more than nine federal agents "investigated" the crime scene, the FBI 
claimed they were not interested in pursuing the matter. News media coverage 
was nonexistent, while the Internet ran rife with speculation. 

One of Wilcher's clients was none other than Gunther Russbacher, a key ftgure in 
the Inslaw scandal. 

Hill continued: "Gunther Russbacher had been a "deep black" CIA covert operative 
and, in 1993, was a prisoner in Missouri. Over the previous three years, Wilcher 
had become Russbacher's lawyer, and was increasingly confided in by the 
spymaster. 

"In the immoral chess game of international espionage, Russbacher had become 
Grand Champion. He has been viewed by various people as: a scoundrel, a 
martyr, a patriot, a traitor, an assassin, a hero, or all of the aforementioned ... " 

In his letter to the Attorney General, Wilcher had written: 

My client here is Gunther Karl Russbacher, a life-long covert 
operative for the CIA and the Office of Naval Intelligence ("ONI") who 
has operated at the highest levels of both of these super-secret 
organizations over the past 30 and 25 years, respectively. 

Because of his extremely high intelligence,his exceptional physical 
skills, his extensive training, his fluency in Blanguages, his 
proficiency as one of the CIA's top pilots and marksmen, and the fact 
that his father was one of the original founders (along with William 
Casey, Wild Bill" Donovan, and others) of the Central Intelligence 
Agency, back in 1947, Gunther has always operated at the highest 
levels of these "intelligence" organizations, and has been entrusted 
with carrying out some of their most difficult, sensitive, and top 
secret covert operations." 
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''The best yardstick for a character as complex as Russbacher/' Hill 
continued,"may be the measure of his familiars. Two who are well known are 
Mikhail Gorbachev and Admiral Robert Inman. The less famous include his wife, 
Rayelan, expose writer Rodney Stich, and the late Paul Wilcher. All people from 
different backgrounds, with strong principles, and a willingness to make great 
sacrifices for those principles. Because of the Iran/Contra scandal, Admiral Inman 
resigned from the CIA in 1986. This was an unprecedented action for any 
high-ranking CIA officer, let alone the Director of the Office of Naval Intelligence. 
It was as unprecedented as Gorbachev's initiatives: Glasnost and Peristroika. 

"By the late 1980s, America's intelligence community had become divided by 
scandals as well as by the Cold War's raison d'tre (or lack thereof). As a CIA 
operative in this new scenario, Russbacher found himself in no-man's-land. In 
1989 he married Raye Allan. The widow of Navy physicist John Dyer, she had 
written newsletter articles critical of the CIA. Gunther was arrested shortly after 
their marriage, and was incarcerated in one of the many increasingly harsh 
prisons he would occupy over the next four plus years. 

"On the evening of April30, 1991, Russbacher missed a helicopter flight from 
Alameda, California to Fort Ord, California. He said someone drugged his coffee, 
causing him to miss the flight. After the helicopter exploded, he started telling his 
story. 

"Journalists and concerned citizens listened for hours on end, as the darkest 
secrets of the CIA were revealed in great detail: There had truly been an "October 
Surprise" deal by the Reagan/Bush people in 1980 to keep 52 Americans hostage 
in Teheran until Reagan became President. The CIA had indeed participated in 
the looting of the S&Ls. Yes, the Agency did use directed energy mind control on 
people it wanted to control. And on, and on, and on. 

"For speaking up, Russbacher was tortured while in prison. Talk radio personality 
Dave Emory219 relayed one incident "His cellmate began not only throwing up 
blood, but defecating blood in extremes," Emory said. "Literally spewing blood 
out of both ends of his anatomy." 

"If that incident had been a warning, it had not seemed to break Gunther's 
resolve. Later, in Missouri, he endured three separate heart attacks, but kept on 
talking," Hill said. 

"Directed energy weapons can cause both heart attacks and internal organ 
ruptures," Hill explained. 

The January/ February, 1989 issue of Bioelectro magnetics Society Newsletter 
stated that Walter Reed's Department of Microwave Research had acquired the 

21' Dave Emory, ARCHIVES ON AUDIO, P.O. Box 170023, San Francisco, Ca. 94117-0023 



514 W.H. Bowart 

hardware needed to test the biologic effects of high power, pulsed microwaves by 
1987. It revealed that such microwave energy "peneb"ates all organ systems of the 
body and thus puts every organ system at risk." 

Under a subheading of "Cardiovascular Effects Research", the report continued: 
" ... the team has obtained evidence that a "non-thermal" effect postulated several 
years ago does, in fact, occur and must be considered as potentially serious." In 
November, 1993, Dr. John Brisker, of the U.S. Army Research Laboratory, was 
slated to make a presentation promoting weapons based on this research. The 
exhibition was entitled: High Powered Microwave Technology. 

"Whether or not David Koresh's Branch Davidians were planning to execute a 
quasi-military operation, as national security spokespeople would have us believe," 
Hill continued, "the real tragedy of Waco is how these people were set-up. Since at 
least the 1950s and PROJECT ARTICHOKE, the CIA has had available mind 
control (brainwashing) techniques as a way to create agent provocateurs. These 
people would be hypnotized to perform Agency dirty work upon receiving a 
pre-programmed signal. The intelligence community refers to such subjects as 
sleepers. In the last two decades, the CIA has increasingly used microwaves, 
transmitting cues directly into the subconscious minds of their sleepers. The FBI 
admitted discussing the use of such technology on Koresh. This was published in 
a July,1993 article in Defense Electronics by Mark Tapscott. 

" Paul Wtlcher heard that Koresh and six others Branch Davidians were sleepers 
on March 11, 1993," Hill said. "Wtlcher's letter shows a high degree of confidence 
in the information he received about Waco. 

"At least one of Wtlcher' s contacts says that all four members of the Delta Force 
team have been assassinated, along with many of their family members," Hill said. 

"One year after the Waco frre, (at the time of this writing) America's mainstream 
news media are no closer to exposing what government agencies and/or Branch 
Davidians were up to, than on the day that the Ml Carmel Center burned to the 
ground," Hill said." If ignorance is the middle ground between lies and the truth, 
perhaps this is an accomplishment" 

Laurette Hem, a listener to one of my radio interviews sent me a page from 
Subterranean Worlds by Walter Kafton-Minkel. It tells of Cyrus Teed who was 
born in 1839 in New York. He had a vision and believed himself to be the second 
coming of Chrisl He found that his name Cyrus in Hebrew was KORESH. He 
founded a cult and moved the colony that formed -- several hundred people -- to 
Ft. Myers, Florida. This Koresian cult bought 6,000 acres of land and were 
beginning to pose a political threat to the established politicians in the county 
when a hurricane blew the colony away. 
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Ms. Hem wrote: " I believe David Koresh was a mind control experiment (by one 
of our government's 'intelligence' divisions) and Koresh's maniacal programmer 
used a previously little known religious sect as a model for a fun scenario. I 
believe the experiment possibly got out of control and had to be terminated. No 
body could be found for autopsy as it would reveal an implant. 

"Another interesting coincidence," Hem wrote, "is that David Koresh named his 
son Cyrus." 

On November 16th and 17th, 1993, a "Non-lethal Weapons Conference" was held 
at Johns Hopkins University. Here, for the first time, proponents of directed 
energy, and other exotic weapons, were compelled to present their cases publicly. 
Many of the participating laboratories were closed in the succeeding year, but 
many other projects were scheduled at other labs. 
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96 Subtcnvnc11n Worlds 

The lawsuit generated such unfavorable publicity that Teed decided to carry his 
teachings to the world at large instead of small towns. So he moved his tiny 
band of Koreshans, now numbering /ot~r women, to a flat in Manhattan. Until 
1886, the world at large paid little attention to Koreshanity. But in September of 
that year, the Fates changed their minds about Cyrus Teed. 

Cyrus Read Teed or Koresb, the 
"'Second Christ. .. 

He was invited to address 
the convention of the National 
Association of Mental Science in 
Chicago, and the speech he deliv­
ered was so powerful, and his 
presence so charismatic, that he 
was elected president of the associa­
tion. Before the entire convention, 
Teed healed a woman who until 
then had only been able to walk a 
few steps; she walked all the way 
home, praising the powers of 
Koresh. Teed had suddenly found 
a receptive-in fact adulatory­
audience, and his fame spread 
quickly to both coasts. By the end 
of the 1880s, in addition to the 
nucleus of 126 followers Teed had . 
won in Chicago, groups of disciples 
had gathered in Lynn and 
Springfield, Massachusetts, Bal­
timore, Denver, San Francisco, 
and Portland. With money do­
nated to Teed, the Assembly of the 
Covenant (as he now styled his 
church) purchased a huge, ornate 
mansion in Washington Heights 
that Koresh christened Beth-Ophra. 
It served as a cooperative 
dormitory for the Koreshans, and 
from its bowels Teed began 
churning out another newsletter, 
The Gt~iding Star, which was soon 
succeeded by a more ambitious 
publication, The Flaming Sword. 
He also set up a ·eonege for life" at 
Beth-Ophra that held courses in 
electro-alchemy, metaphysics, and 
mental science. 










































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































